

Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 8th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children)



1035

The World Health Organization was established in 1948 as a specialized agency of the United Nations serving as the directing and coordinating authority for international health matters and public health. One of WHO's constitutional functions is to provide objective and reliable information and advice in the field of human health, a responsibility that it fulfils in part through its extensive programme of publications.

The Organization seeks through its publications to support national health strategies and address the most pressing public health concerns of populations around the world.

To respond to the needs of Member States at all levels of development, WHO publishes practical manuals, handbooks and training material for specific categories of health workers; internationally applicable guidelines and standards; reviews and analyses of health policies, programmes and research; and state-of-the-art consensus reports that offer technical advice and recommendations for decision-makers. These books are closely tied to the Organization's priority activities, encompassing disease prevention and control, the development of equitable health systems based on primary health care, and health promotion for individuals and communities. Progress towards better health for all also demands the global dissemination and exchange of information that draws on the knowledge and experience of all WHO's Member countries and the collaboration of world leaders in public health and the biomedical sciences.

To ensure the widest possible availability of authoritative information and guidance on health matters, WHO secures the broad international distribution of its publications and encourages their translation and adaption. By helping to promote and protect health and prevent and control disease throughout the world, WHO's books contribute to achieving the Organization's principal objective – the attainment by all people of the highest possible level of health.

The WHO *Technical Report Series* makes available the findings of various international groups of experts that provide WHO with the latest scientific and technical advice on a broad range of medical and public health subjects. Members of such expert groups serve without remuneration in their personal capacities rather than as representatives of governments or other bodies; their views do not necessarily reflect the decisions or the stated policy of WHO.

To purchase WHO publications, please contact: WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland; email: bookorders@who.int; order on line: http://apps.who.int/bookorders).

WHO Technical Report Series 1035

# The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines

Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 8th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children)

This report contains the views of an international group of experts, and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization



The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 8th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children).

(WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035)

ISBN 978-92-4-004113-4 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-004114-1 (print version) ISSN 0512-3054

#### © World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/ igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

**Suggested citation.** The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 8th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/ about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

This publication contains the collective views of an international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the policies of WHO.

Layout by Interligar

# Contents

Exe	cutive sun	nmary	vii		
List	of partici	pants	xli		
	laration o	f interests for Expert Committee members and visers	xliv		
1.	Introduction				
2.	Open ses	sion	3		
3.	General i	tems	5		
4.	Summar	y of recommendations	13		
5.	8th Mod	ions for the 22nd Model List of Essential Medicines and the el List of Essential Medicines for Children ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS Specific	20 20 20		
	4.2	N-acetylcysteine – addition – EML and EMLc	20		
	Section 5:	ANTICONVULSANTS/ANTIEPILEPTICS Valproic acid (sodium valproate) – change to listing – EML and EMLc	28 28		
	Section 6: 6.1		33 33 33		
		Antibacterials Antibiotics for bronchitis and bronchiolitis – new indication – EML and EMLc Antibiotics for ocular infections – new indications – EML and EMLc Antibiotics for neonatal meningitis – new indication – EML and EMLc Antibiotics for neonatal meningitis – new indication – EMLc Antibiotics for intra-abdominal infections in children – new indication – EMLc Amoxicillin – remove indication – EML and EMLc Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid – new formulation – EML Cefalexin – change indication – EML and EMLc Ceftazidime + avibactam – addition - EML Antibiotics – new formulations – EML Moxifloxacin and rifapentine – new indication – EML Pyrazinamide – new formulation – EML and EMLc Rifapentine – new formulation – EML and EMLc Rifapentine + isoniazid – new formulation – EML and EMLc Antituberculosis medicines – formulations for deletion – EML and EMLc Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations – EML and EMLC Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations – EML and EMLC Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations for deletion – EML and EMLC Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations – EML and EMLC Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations – EML and EMLC Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations – EML and EMLC Bedaquiline – new formulation – EML and EMLc Delamanid – new formulation – EML and EMLc	43 43 48 56 61 67 71 74 81 84 95 99 104 108 117 124 129 135 141		
	6.3	Antifungal medicines Echinocandin antifungals – addition – EML and EMLc	148 148		
	6.4	Antiviral medicines Antiretrovirals – formulations for deletion – EML and EMLc	165 165		

	Dolutegravir – new formulation – EMLc	169
	Abacavir + lamivudine + lopinavir/ritonavir – new formulation – EMLc	178
	Oseltamivir – deletion – EML and EMLc	185
	Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir – addition – EMLc	189
	Daclatasvir and sofosbuvir – addition – EMLc	196
	Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir – addition – EMLc	205
Section 7:	ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES	212
7.1	For treatment of acute attack	212
	Sumatriptan – addition – EML	212
Section 8.	IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS	221
8.1	Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease	221
0.1	Tacrolimus – addition – EML and EMLc	221
8.2	Antineoplastics and supportive medicines	236
0.2	Azacitidine – addition – EML	236
	Cancer medicines for low-grade glioma – new indication – EML and EMLc	242
	Cancer medicines for children – new indications – EML and EMLc	248
	Cancer medicines for head and neck cancer – review – EML	255
	Doxorubicin for rhabdomyosarcoma – review – EML and EMLc	262
	Vinorelbine – new indication – EML and EMLc	267
	BRAF/MEK inhibitors – addition – EML	272
	Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors – addition – EML	283
	Everolimus – addition – EML and EMLc	296
	Ibrutinib – addition – EML	303
	Imatinib – new indication – EML	312
	Osimertinib – addition – EML	320
	Pertuzumab – addition – EML	328
	Zanubrutinib – addition for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small	
	lymphocytic lymphoma – EML	340
	Zanubrutinib – addition for mantle cell lymphoma – EML	347
	PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors – addition – EML	353
	Daratumumab – addition – EML	376
	Tislelizumab – addition for Hodgkin lymphoma – EML	388
	Tislelizumab – addition for urothelial cancer – EML	394
	Enzalutamide – addition – EML	401
	Fulvestrant – addition – EML	412
	Rasburicase – addition – EML and EMLc	419
	CAR-T cell therapy – review	427
	: DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES	442
13.4	Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation	442
	Calcipotriol – addition – EML and EMLc	442
Section 15	: DISINFECTANTS AND ANTISEPTICS	451
15.1	Antiseptics	451
15.2	Disinfectants	451
	Hypochlorous acid – addition – EML and EMLc	451
Section 18	: MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS	461
	Simvastatin – new indication – EML	461
18.5	Medicines for diabetes	470
	Long-acting insulin analogues – addition – EML and EMLc	470

	Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors – addition – EML	486
Section 19:	IMMUNOLOGICALS	499
19.2	Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies	499
	Anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies – addition – EML and EMLc	499
	Equine rabies immunoglobulin – addition – EML and EMLc	507
Section 22:	MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE	513
22.1	Contraceptives	513
	Ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel – new formulation – EML	513
22.5	Other medicines administered to the mother	520
	Multiple micronutrient supplement – addition – EML	520
Section 24:	MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS	532
	Methylphenidate – addition – EML and EMLc	532
24.1	Medicines used in psychotic disorders	543
	Paliperidone and risperidone long-acting injection – addition – EML	543
24.5	Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use	555
	Bupropion – addition – EML	555
	Varenicline – addition – EML	578
	MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF JOINTS	601
29.2	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)	601
	Hydroxychloroquine – new indication – EML	601
29.3	Juvenile joint diseases	609
	Anakinra – addition – EML and EMLc	609
	Tocilizumab – addition – EML and EMLc	619
	Triamcinolone – addition – EML and EMLc	632
Section 30:	DENTAL PREPARATIONS	640
	Fluoride toothpaste – addition – EML and EMLc	640
	Glass ionomer cement – addition – EML and EMLc	651
	Silver diamine fluoride – addition – EML and EMLc	660
Annex 1		
WHO Mode	l List of Essential Medicines – 22nd List (2021)	667
Annex 2		
	l List of Essential Medicines for Children – 8th List (2021)	755
	a List of Essential Medicines for Children – oth List (2021)	
Annex 3		
Alphabetic	al list of essential medicines (with ATC codes & section numbers)	813
-		

v

# **Executive summary**

The meeting of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines took place virtually and was hosted in Geneva, Switzerland, from 21 June to 2 July 2021. The aim of the meeting was to review and update the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines (EML) and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (EMLc), the Model Lists.

The Expert Committee considered a total of 88 applications, including 40 proposals for the addition of 38 new medicines or medicine classes, 16 proposals for new indications for 32 currently listed medicines, 13 proposals for the addition of new formulations of 19 currently listed medicines, and three proposals for the removal of 19 medicines or formulations on the Model Lists. In accordance with applicable procedures<sup>1</sup>, the Expert Committee evaluated the scientific evidence for the comparative effectiveness, safety and cost–effectiveness of the medicines on the Model Lists (square box listings), an update to the AWaRe (Access–Watch–Reserve) classification of antibiotics to support stewardship activities, a review of the available evidence for CAR-T cell therapies for B-cell lymphoma, and reports on insulin pricing and access, and switching between originator and similar biotherapeutic products (biosimilars).

The Expert Committee did not consider any applications for the inclusion of medicines for the treatment or prevention of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). The COVID-19 pandemic has seen the quick evolution of knowledge on a previously unknown disease, rapidly evolving clinical hypotheses and proposals of potential treatments. As knowledge accumulates within an emergency framework for a pathogen that is rapidly evolving, the quality of the evidence necessarily also changes over short time frames. This scenario does not fit within the intended aim of the EML, which has a longer-term scope and gives much weight to the certainty of the value of selected medicines. In the emergency context, WHO recommendations on best-available treatments are presented as part of WHO guidelines. However, this scenario might evolve and therapeutic options for COVID-19 may be considered for inclusion in Model Lists in the future.

In summary, the Expert Committee:

- recommended the addition of 20 new medicines to the EML (13 to the core list and seven to the complementary list);
- recommended the addition of 17 new medicines to the EMLc (12 to the core list and five to the complementary list);
- recommended adding additional indications for 28 currently listed medicines;
- recommended the addition of new formulations of 23 currently listed medicines;
- recommended the deletion of two medicines and of specific formulations of a further 13 medicines;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.who.int/selection\_medicines/committees/subcommittee/2/eeb1098%5b1%5d.pdf

 updated 72 square box listings, removed the square box from seven listings, and recommended a review of a further 23 square box listings; and

 did not recommend 25 proposals for inclusion, change or deletion for 28 medicines, medicine classes or formulations.

The recommended changes bring the total number of medicines (including fixed-dose combinations) on the EML to 479 (from 460 in 2019), including 350 on the EMLc (from 336 in 2019). The total number of listed medicines takes into account the additions and deletions, as well as changes made as a result of the revision of therapeutic equivalent alternatives.

The recommendations are briefly described below in order of their appearance on the Model Lists.

A full summary of changes to the Model Lists is shown in Table 1. Applications not recommended are shown in Table 2.

# Section 4: Antidotes and other substances used in poisonings Section 4.2 Specific

The Expert Committee did not recommend listing for N-acetylcysteine for the new indication of non-paracetamol-induced acute liver failure based on very low certainty of the available evidence and heterogeneity in the results, making confidence in the estimates of benefit in this indication limited.

# Section 5: Anticonvulsants/antiepileptics

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of a cautionary note with the listings for valproic acid (sodium valproate) on the EML and EMLc, to avoid use in pregnancy and in females of child-bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated, due to the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb. The Committee did not recommend transferring the listings of valproic acid from the core to the complementary list due to concerns that doing so may reduce access and undermine the important role of this medicine in the management of epilepsy and bipolar disorder. This recommendation also applies to the listing on the EML for valproic acid in Section 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders.

# Section 6: Anti-infective medicines Section 6.1.4 (NEW) Cysticidal medicines

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the new indication of treatment of diseases caused by taeniid cestode infections. Albendazole and mebendazole are recommended for treatment of cystic echinococcosis and alveolar echinococcosis; albendazole and praziquantel are recommended for treatment of neurocysticercosis. The Committee noted that these medicines are considered treatments of choice for these neglected tropical diseases and are recommended in current WHO guidelines.

# Section 6.2.1 Access group antibiotics Section 6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics Section 6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of cefiderocol on the EML for treatment of adults with multidrug resistant infections due to carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales and carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and endorsed cefiderocol as a Reserve antibiotic in the AWaRe classification. The Committee noted that cefiderocol is one of the few medicines that has activity against carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter baumannii*, which are ranked as "Critical Priority" on the WHO Priority Pathogens List. Cefiderocol was shown to be non-inferior to carbapenems with regard to microbiological/ clinical response and mortality (with the possible exception of infections due to carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter* spp., where higher mortality has been observed in patients receiving cefiderocol) in settings where there are few alternatives for multidrug-resistant Gram-negative organisms producing metallo-betalactamases. The Committee highlighted the importance of antibiotic stewardship activities to assure appropriate use, while preserving access for patients in need of this medicine.

The Committee did not recommend empiric use of any antibiotics for the treatment of bronchitis and bronchiolitis, noting that these infections are usually caused by respiratory viruses and the available evidence does not suggest benefit of antibiotic use compared with placebo and symptomatic treatment.

The Committee: recommended empiric antibiotic treatment options for endophthalmitis (ceftazidime, ceftriaxone and vancomycin), necrotizing fasciitis (ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin), neonatal meningitis (gentamicin) and intra-abdominal infections in children (ampicillin and gentamicin); revised the existing treatment recommendations for lower urinary tract infections (removing amoxicillin as a recommended treatment) and skin and soft tissue infections (recommending cefalexin as a first-choice treatment option); and recommended the addition of new strength formulations for a number of currently listed antibiotics. The Committee also endorsed the current listings on the EML and EMLc for systemic and topical antibiotic treatment of trachoma, and topical antibiotic treatment of bacterial blepharitis, conjunctivitis and keratitis.

# Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of new strength, child-friendly formulations of bedaquiline and delamanid on the EMLc for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children.

The Committee recommended inclusion of a new strength formulation of rifapentine and a fixed-dose combination formulation of rifapentine + isoniazid on the EML and EMLc for tuberculosis preventive treatment (previously known as treatment for latent tuberculosis infection) to reduce the pill burden and improve treatment adherence to WHO-recommended tuberculosis preventive treatment regimens.

The Committee recommended inclusion of rifapentine and moxifloxacin on the core list of the EML for the new indication of treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis, in line with updated WHO recommendations for a 4-month treatment regimen comprising rifapentine, isoniazid, pyrazinamide and moxifloxacin as an alternative to the standard 6-month regimen with rifampicin, isoniazid, pyrazinamide and ethambutol. The Committee also recommended inclusion of a new strength formulation of pyrazinamide on the EML and EMLc for use in treatment regimens for drug-susceptible tuberculosis, which will offer a reduced pill burden for patients.

The Committee did not recommend the addition of injectable formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin to the EML and EMLc for the treatment of tuberculosis in specific patient populations, notably patients with severe forms of tuberculosis associated with poor outcomes, patients with acute or chronic gastrointestinal disease or malabsorption disorders, patients with severe comorbidities, and patients unable or unwilling to take oral dosage forms. The Committee judged as insufficient the evidence presented in the applications on differences in terms of important benefits (e.g. mortality) between oral and injectable formulations by severity of illness. Important factors influencing this decision included the consistent preference for oral treatment for tuberculosis instead of intravenous administration in WHO guideline recommendations, the limited availability of these formulations in most countries, the potential for unnecessary use of intravenous formulations, and related hospitalization in patients otherwise able to take oral therapy.

The Committee recommended deletion from the EML and EMLc of various formulations and strengths of amikacin, amoxicillin + clavulanic acid, isoniazid, isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin, linezolid, p-aminosalicylic acid and pyrazinamide, noting that they are not optimal formulations and strengths for tuberculosis treatment, in line with recommendations in current WHO treatment guidelines. The Committee recommended the addition of new injection solution formulations for amikacin, which have the advantage over powder for injection formulations of not requiring reconstitution for administration. The Committee did not recommend deletion of the oral liquid formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and pyrazinamide, nor a 125 mg tablet formulation of ethionamide at this time, due to concerns about limited uptake and availability of preferred dispersible tablet formulations in some countries.

#### Section 6.3 Antifungal medicines

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of the echinocandin antifungal micafungin (with a square box indicating caspofungin and anidulafungin as therapeutic alternatives) on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the empiric treatment of suspected or proven invasive *Candida* infections in adults and children. The evidence presented suggested that echinocandins were associated with greater treatment success when compared with amphotericin B or triazole antifungals and supported the use of echinocandins in the empiric treatment of suspected or proven invasive *Candida* infections in critically ill patients, especially where there is a high probability of azole resistance. Furthermore, echinocandin antifungals were associated with a more favourable tolerability profile compared with non-echinocandin antifungals (e.g. amphotericin B). The Committee did not support listing for indications of

prophylaxis of invasive *Candida* infections, nor treatment of invasive *Aspergillus* infections due to more limited evidence and the availability of effective alternatives already included on the Model Lists.

# Section 6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of a new strength, child-friendly formulation of dolutegravir on the EMLc for the treatment of HIV infection in children. The Committee also recommended the deletion of various formulations and strengths of abacavir, atazanavir, efavirenz, lamivudine, lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine, lopinavir + ritonavir, raltegravir, and ritonavir from the EML and/or EMLc, in line with recommendations in WHO HIV treatment guidelines and the updated Optimal Formulary and Limited-Use list for Antiretroviral Drugs for Children. The Committee did not recommend listing the fixed-dose combination formulation of abacavir + lamivudine + lopinavir/ritonavir, noting that this formulation did not demonstrate bioequivalence with the reference product and does not yet have regulatory approval.

# Section 6.4.3 Other antivirals

The Committee recommended deletion of oseltamivir oral powder formulation from the complementary list of the EML and EMLc, noting that this formulation is no longer manufactured or marketed.

# Section 6.4.4.2 Medicines for hepatitis C

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of fixed-dose combinations of daclatasvir + sofosbuvir, glecaprevir + pibrentasvir and sofosbuvir + velpatasvir, as well as single agent daclatasvir and single agent sofosbuvir to the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of children with chronic hepatitis C virus infection, based on evidence of pan-genotypic effectiveness and acceptable safety. The Committee also recommended the inclusion of the fixed-dose combination of daclatasvir + sofosbuvir on the core list of the EML.

# Section 7: Antimigraine medicines Section 7.1 For treatment of acute attack

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of sumatriptan on the core list of the EML for the treatment of adult patients with acute migraine. Sumatriptan is associated with improvements in clinically meaningful outcomes such as pain freedom, headache relief and reduction in the use of rescue medication. Compared with acetylsalicylic acid and paracetamol, the analgesics currently included in the Model Lists for acute migraine treatment, sumatriptan has a different toxicity profile, and may offer long-term safety advantages, particularly in patients who experience frequent migraine attacks. The Committee considered that, overall, the available evidence indicated a positive benefit to risk profile for sumatriptan and that listing would provide an additional treatment option for patients who cannot tolerate or do not respond adequately to alternative analgesics already listed.

xi

# Section 8: Immunomodulators and antineoplastics Section 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of tacrolimus on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use as maintenance immunosuppression following organ transplantation, based on evidence of a favourable benefit to harm ratio. Tacrolimus significantly reduces acute rejection and graft loss when compared with ciclosporin, an alternative listed in the EML, and it has a different toxicity profile. The Committee recognized the public health importance of survival of transplanted organs and transplant recipients, given the shortage of donor organs and the significant investment of resources associated with organ transplantation.

## Section 8.2 Antineoplastic and supportive medicines

A total of 23 applications for cancer medicines were received from various sources. Several applications were the product of efforts of the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group to engage with expert stakeholders to identify and prioritize the most effective cancer medicines for indications where they have clinically relevant benefits, in line with the criteria established by the Expert Committee in 2019 for magnitude of clinical benefit (European Society of Medical Oncology – Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale (ESMO-MCBS) score) and median overall survival gain (at least 4 to 6 months median).

Applications for both the inclusion of new cancer medicines as well as for new indications for currently listed cancer medicines were considered by the Expert Committee. All applications were also reviewed by the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group prior to the meeting, which provided written comments to inform the Expert Committee's considerations. The Committee also considered a review of the available evidence for CAR-T cell therapy for relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, in which no request was made for inclusion on the Model Lists at this time.

The Expert Committee recommended listing for the following new medicines and/or new indications.

#### Recommendations for inclusion of new cancer medicines

Inclusion of enzalutamide on the complementary list of the EML as a therapeutic alternative to abiraterone for treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Enzalutamide appears to demonstrate comparable efficacy to abiraterone, has a different mechanism of action and a different toxicity profile, and may be an option for patients unable to be treated with abiraterone. Enzalutamide and abiraterone are both oral treatments but enzalutamide is administered as monotherapy, while abiraterone is co-administered with corticosteroids to reduce toxicity and requires regular monitoring of liver enzymes. The availability of different treatment options with similar efficacy may provide opportunities for countries to negotiate better prices as part of their national procurement processes.

- Inclusion of everolimus on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of subependymal giant cell astrocytoma associated with tuberous sclerosis complex in patients, mostly children, who are not eligible for surgery. The recommendation was based on limited evidence indicating a favourable benefit to harm ratio in a patient population for whom an unmet clinical need exists. Everolimus is associated with relevant reductions in tumour volume and improved control of resulting disorders (seizures, developmental delays). The Expert Committee did not endorse the use of everolimus for indications other than subependymal giant cell astrocytoma.
- Inclusion of ibrutinib on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (with and without chromosome 17p deletion), based on evidence of a major sustained benefit in terms of overall survival and progression-free survival, less acute toxicity, and minimal risk of secondary leukaemias compared with chemoimmunotherapy. The Committee noted that targeted therapy with ibrutinib is replacing chemoimmunotherapy as the accepted standard of care in the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. The Committee acknowledged the potential role for ibrutinib in the first-line treatment setting, but considered that the available evidence, while promising, was currently immature and therefore did not recommend listing for first-line treatment at this time. The Committee would welcome a submission with updated survival data in the first-line treatment setting for consideration at its next meeting.
- Inclusion of rasburicase on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of tumour lysis syndrome. The Committee noted that rasburicase can markedly and rapidly decrease uric acid levels, and is associated with relevant clinical advantages over allopurinol (currently listed for this indication) in terms of efficacy outcomes and safety in paediatric and adult patients at high risk of tumour lysis syndrome. The Committee noted the high cost of rasburicase, and acknowledged numerous experimental studies suggesting that a single-dose treatment regimen is likely to be as effective as daily treatment for 5 days in lowering uric acid levels, at a much lower cost.

#### Recommendations for new indications for existing listed cancer medicines

- Current listings of carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine and vincristine on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc be extended to include the new indication of low-grade glioma. These medicines are recognized as the standard of care for low-grade glioma. Their benefits and harms are well known from extensive use in adults and in other indications for children.
- The current listing for carboplatin on the complementary list of the EML be extended to include the new indication of head and neck cancer as a radiosensitizer. Listing of carboplatin for this indication provides an alternative option for patients unable to tolerate cisplatin.

- The current listing for imatinib on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc be extended to include the new indication of Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph+) acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, based on evidence of a relevant survival benefit compared with conventional chemotherapy and acceptable safety.
- The current listing for vinorelbine on the complementary list of the EML be extended, and vinorelbine be included on the complementary list of the EMLc for treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma in children and adolescents at high risk of relapse. Maintenance treatment with vinorelbine in combination with cyclophosphamide demonstrated relevant survival benefits and acceptable toxicity. The Committee also recommended the addition of new oral formulations of vinorelbine to the EML and EMLc.
- Additional indications were recommended for 12 cancer medicines currently included on the EMLc for treatment of various cancers in children. Efficacy and safety were accepted based on extrapolation of the well-known benefits and harms of use of these medicines in adults, for other indications in children, and as part of standard cancer care in children. Refer to Table 1 for details.

The Expert Committee did not recommended listing for the following new medicines and/or new indications:

- Azacitidine for the treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia in adults, due to lack of a clinically relevant survival benefit compared with listed medicines, such as cytarabine and daunorubicin, and substantial toxicity.
- BRAF and MEK inhibitor combinations (dabrafenib + trametinib, encorafenib + binimetinib, vemurafenib + cobimetinib) for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with BRAF V600 mutation. The Committee noted that BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations are associated with important gains in terms of overall survival, but the magnitude of benefit is not as large as that seen with immunotherapies such as nivolumab and pembrolizumab, which are currently listed and remain the preferred therapy for metastatic melanoma. The Committee also noted that the limited availability of genomic testing to identify patients with tumours carrying the BRAF V600 mutation could be a potential barrier to access and appropriate use in many settings.
- Cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib for the treatment of hormone receptor positive/human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER2)-negative advanced or metastatic breast cancer, in combination with endocrine therapy (aromatase inhibitors, tamoxifen or fulvestrant). The Committee noted that based on the available evidence, these medicines appear to be associated with a positive benefit to harm ratio, but that survival data, while promising, are currently immature. Particularly in the first-line setting, it is not yet confirmed if improvements in disease-free survival will translate to an overall survival benefit in the long term. There is also uncertainty about optimal

dose and duration of therapy and use in early-stage disease, and whether relevant clinical differences exist between agents within the pharmacological class. Additionally, the Committee noted that at the current high prices, these medicines have not been found to be cost-effective and would pose serious affordability challenges, especially in low-resource settings. The Committee would welcome a resubmission, with updated survival data at its next meeting.

- Daratumumab for the treatment of newly diagnosed and relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. The Committee acknowledged that daratumumab was associated with a consistent and clinically important survival benefit, in first-line, newly diagnosed, transplant eligible and transplant ineligible, and relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Adding daratumumab to conventional therapy was associated with a modest increase in toxicity. However, the Committee noted that the available evidence was not yet mature, with trial follow-up still ongoing. The Committee would welcome a resubmission, with updated survival data at its next meeting. The Committee also noted that at current prices, daratumumab is prohibitively expensive and has not been found to be cost-effective, even in high-income settings. The Committee was also concerned about the potential budget impact of listing daratumumab, which would be used as part of regimens that include other expensive medicines, i.e. bortezomib and lenalidomide, included on the EML since 2019.
- Doxorubicin for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma, based on evidence of an unfavourable benefit to harm ratio.
- Fulvestrant for the treatment of hormone receptor positive/HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer because of low-certainty evidence of survival benefit, compared with aromatase inhibitors and the need for longer follow-up data. Furthermore, multiple medicines (e.g. aromatase inhibitors, tamoxifen) are currently included on the EML for treatment of endocrine-responsive breast cancer. In addition, the Committee noted the high price of fulvestrant and the likely very large eligible patient population, which would have a significant financial impact on both patients and health systems.
- Osimertinib for first-line treatment of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-mutated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. Despite evidence that indicates the third-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor osimertinib to have meaningful overall survival benefit compared with the first- and second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors currently listed on the EML (erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib), the available data are currently immature, limiting confidence in the actual magnitude of benefit. In addition, at the current high price, osimertinib has not been found to be cost-effective and would pose serious affordability challenges, especially in low-resource settings. The Committee considered whether osimertinib could be included as a therapeutic alternative under the current listing for erlotinib but decided against this option due to the risk of considerable additional expenditure at the country level when the currently listed tyrosine kinase inhibitors are likely to be more affordable

and accessible, with some generics currently available. The Committee would welcome a resubmission, with updated survival data at its next meeting.

- PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors (atezolizumab, durvalumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab) for the treatment of non-oncogene addicted, locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. The Committee acknowledged that these medicines are associated with a relevant median overall survival benefit as first-line treatment, well over the EML threshold of 4 to 6 months, based on evidence from several studies, and have substantially improved outcomes for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer in practice. The greatest benefits are reported in the population of patients whose tumours have high (≥ 50%) PD-L1 expression. The addition of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors to conventional chemotherapy was associated with modest increases in toxicity, which may require highly specialized management in selected cases. Overall, the Committee considered that these medicines had a favourable benefit to harm ratio. However, listing was not recommended because at current prices, these medicines are prohibitively expensive in many settings. The issue of treatment costs and appropriate use of these medicines is further complicated by the need for diagnostic testing to identify patients most likely to benefit, uncertainties about the optimal duration of treatment, the significant disease burden and the likely large eligible patient population. The Committee considered that the financial implications of listing PD 1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors for this indication would result in unstainable expenditures for many patients and health systems.
- Pertuzumab for use in combination with trastuzumab and taxane chemotherapy for first-line treatment of HER2-positive unresectable or metastatic breast cancer. The Committee accepted that pertuzumab, in combination with trastuzumab and a taxane, is associated with relevant overall survival benefits. However, the Committee noted that survival benefit is limited to the metastatic setting, with uncertainty about the clinical benefit in early-stage breast cancer. Pertuzumab and trastuzumab are both highly priced medicines and, despite trastuzumab having been included on the EML since 2015 and the availability of WHO prequalified biosimilars, access and affordability of trastuzumab remains very limited in resource-constrained settings. The Committee was concerned that also adding pertuzumab to the EML would result in considerable additional expenditure at the country level, diverting resources that should be prioritized for improving access to and affordability of trastuzumab, which is highly effective across all breast cancer stages.
- Tislelizumab, an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma, due to the availability of only limited efficacy and safety data from early phase trials, no comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments, the current high price and unknown cost–effectiveness. The Committee would welcome a resubmission when mature survival data for tislelizumab, and data on the comparative efficacy of tislelizumab and other

immune checkpoint inhibitors in the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma are available.

- Tislelizumab for the treatment of urothelial carcinoma in patients with high PD-L1 expression who have failed prior platinum-based chemotherapy, due to the availability of only limited efficacy and safety data from early phase trials, no comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments, the current high price and unknown cost–effectiveness.
- Zanubrutinib, a Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor, for the treatment of relapsed/ refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, due to the availability of only limited efficacy data from early phase trials, with small patient numbers and short follow-up, significant toxicity concerns, and unlikely cost–effectiveness at the reported price. The Committee would welcome a resubmission, with more mature survival data and evidence of comparative effectiveness and safety in relation to other EML listed medicines for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, at its next meeting.
- Zanubrutinib for the treatment of relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma, due to the availability of only limited efficacy data from early phase trials, significant toxicity concerns, no comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments, and unlikely cost–effectiveness at the reported price.

#### Review of evidence for CAR-T therapy for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma

The Expert Committee considered a review of the available evidence for chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cell therapy for treatment of relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Notably, this review did not propose inclusion of CAR-T cell therapies on the Model Lists at this time, and the Committee was not required to make any recommendation for listing. The Committee noted that CAR-T cell therapy is very highly specialized, requiring dedicated health system resources well beyond those currently available in most settings. Current treatment and management costs are also prohibitively high, exceeding affordability thresholds in almost all countries.

The Committee acknowledged that currently, the available evidence is limited and of very low certainty. Nevertheless, it was noted that the immature data from multiple studies indicate that CAR-T cell therapy can induce durable complete responses which may lead to clinical cures in some patients. Currently, the main uncertainties about the clinical benefits of CAR-T therapy relate to the proportion of patients achieving long long-term disease-free survival, and when CAR-T cell therapy is best deployed in the overall treatment algorithm. Safety concerns include cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicity, both of which occur in a high proportion of patients, may be life-threatening and require highly specialized medical management. Data on long-term safety are currently limited.

The Committee considered that CAR-T cell therapies are an area of significant interest and therapeutic relevance in the treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, and potentially other indications. The Committee considered that the evidence base for these therapies should continue to be monitored by WHO on an ongoing basis. If future evidence is favourable, there

will be need for a strong leadership and advocacy role for WHO in facilitating affordable and equitable access to these treatments.

# Section 13: Dermatological medicines Section 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of topical calcipotriol on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of moderate forms of psoriasis. Listing was recommended with calcitriol and tacalcitol as therapeutic alternatives. The Committee noted evidence that calcipotriol is effective compared to placebo, but not superior to topical corticosteroids. It has a favourable safety profile compared with topical corticosteroids due to low systemic absorption. Calcipotriol may be a beneficial alternative treatment in patients who are unable to use or tolerate topical corticosteroids.

# Section 15: (RENAMED) Antiseptics and disinfectants

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of hypochlorous acid solution on the EML and EMLc for use in antisepsis and wound decontamination. The clinical effectiveness evidence was sparse, and results were judged to be inconclusive, primarily due to heterogeneity in study design and small study sizes. The Committee would welcome a future resubmission including data from ongoing studies and a more structured and systematic review of the literature.

With regard to use of hypochlorous acid solution as an environmental disinfectant, the Committee noted that the Model Lists currently includes hypochlorous acid as part of the broader class – chlorine-based compounds. The Committee recommended that this listing should be amended to specify the different recommended formulations to provide greater clarity for national selection. With this recommended amendment, the Committee considered that a separate listing for the proposed formulation of hypochlorous acid solution was not necessary.

# Section 18: Medicines for endocrine disorders

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of simvastatin on the EML for the new indication of treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. The Committee considered that while the available evidence suggests simvastatin is associated with improvements in biochemical markers in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome, there was inadequate evidence of improvement in relevant clinical outcomes. The Committee also noted that simvastatin use is contraindicated in pregnancy due to risk of harm to the fetus. As polycystic ovary syndrome mainly affects women of reproductive age and one aim of treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome is to improve fertility, the Committee considered that this was an important safety concern.

# Section 18.5.1 Insulins

The Committee recommended inclusion of long-acting insulin analogues (insulin detemir, insulin degludec and insulin glargine, and their quality-assured biosimilars, as therapeutic alternatives) on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus who are at high risk of experiencing hypoglycaemia with human insulin.

xviii

The current application was the fourth time that the Expert Committee has considered longacting insulin analogues for inclusion on the EML and EMLc. The Committee again acknowledged that insulin is a life-saving essential medicine for which a compelling public health need exists. Yet, achieving reliable, equitable and affordable access to insulin remains a significant public health challenge in many countries. Once again, the available evidence showed that the magnitude of clinical benefit of long-acting insulin analogues over human insulin for most clinical outcomes was small, making the large price differential between insulin analogues and human insulin difficult to justify. However, the Committee considered that the observed benefits of insulin analogues over human insulin with regard to lower incidence of symptomatic and nocturnal hypoglycaemia were consistent and clinically important, particularly for the subset of patients at high risk of hypoglycaemia, justifying the decision to recommend inclusion.

The Committee noted that insulin prices offered to patients and procurers differ considerably among countries. Long-acting insulin analogues are often much more expensive than human insulin. However, overall use of analogues seems to be expanding and prices are decreasing for those no longer under patent protection. Some countries are implementing dedicated policy actions on insulin prices to increase affordability and access. In settings where cost-containment actions and efficient negotiations are in place, prices for insulin analogues are decreasing and aligning with those of human insulin.

The Committee noted and shared the concerns expressed by several stakeholders related to potential effects of the inclusion of insulin analogues on the Model Lists on the human insulin market, currently dominated by three pharmaceutical companies, and the financial implications for patients and health systems where insulin analogues are not available or affordable. The Committee was unequivocal that affordable access to human insulin remains a critical priority globally.

The Committee noted that significant efforts made by WHO to seek expressions of interest for prequalification of human insulin had not resulted in the submission of dossiers from any manufacturers. However, an interest by manufacturers in a prequalification process that includes more types of insulin has emerged. The inclusion of insulin analogues on the Model Lists represents a first step that can facilitate the insulin prequalification process, if insulin analogues are included in the call for expressions of interest. The Committee considered that this could lead to prequalified human and analogue insulins becoming available, and an increase in the number of insulin manufacturers. The Committee encourages WHO to evaluate the impact of the EML listing of insulin analogues on global availability, accessibility and price of insulins. The Committee also highlighted the importance of commitment and action from Member States, insulin producers, procurement agencies and other stakeholders to address the problem of equitable and affordable access to insulin products globally.

## Section 18.5.2 Oral hypoglycaemic agents

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of the sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitor empagliflozin (with canagliflozin and dapagliflozin as therapeutic alternatives) on the core list of the EML as add-on treatment for adults with type 2 diabetes with or at high risk of cardiovascular disease and/or diabetic nephropathy. This recommendation was based on high-

quality evidence of reduced risk of all-cause mortality, major cardiovascular adverse events and adverse renal outcomes, and a reasonable safety profile.

# Section 19: Immunologicals Section 19.2 (RENAMED) Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of equine rabies immunoglobulin and antirabies virus monoclonal antibodies to the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as part of rabies postexposure prophylaxis, in line with WHO recommendations and on the basis of a favourable benefit to harm ratio. The Committee considered that the availability of a range of alternative options on the Model Lists for use in rabies postexposure prophylaxis would facilitate access to treatment, which remains suboptimal in many settings. In addition, the inclusion of anti-rabies monoclonal antibodies will potentially address some of the supply and production limitations currently experienced with both human and equine rabies immunoglobulin.

# Section 19.3 Vaccines

This section was reviewed by the Secretariat for consistency and full alignment with the latest WHO recommendations for routine immunization (September 2020). No changes to the current vaccine listings on the EML and EMLc were required.

# Section 22: Medicines for reproductive health and perinatal care Section 22.1.6 Intravaginal contraceptives

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel contraceptive vaginal ring to the core list of the EML, based on evidence of comparable contraceptive efficacy and tolerability compared with combined oral contraceptives. The Committee noted that the combined contraceptive vaginal ring is included as a contraceptive option in the WHO guidance on medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use, and considered that inclusion on the EML supports the principle of choice for patients in the provision of family planning and contraception.

# Section 22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of multiple micronutrient supplement tablets on the core list of the EML for use as an antenatal supplement in pregnant women, based on public health need and evidence of benefit in pregnancy outcomes including reduced risk of stillbirth, low and very low birth weight, small for gestational age births, and preterm births compared with iron and folic acid supplementation. The Committee considered the financial impact on health systems associated with multiple micronutrient supplements was likely to be small. The Committee acknowledged the WHO guideline recommendations for use of multiple micronutrient antenatal supplements only in a research-specific context. The Committee considered that inclusion on the EML may facilitate and should not prevent such research.

# Section 24: Medicines for mental and behavioural disorders

The Expert Committee welcomed and supported the proposal from the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use for a comprehensive revision of the mental health chapter on the EML and EMLc to be carried out in the next biennium to ensure that the Model Lists are updated and consistent with existing WHO recommendations for the management of mental health disorders.

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of methylphenidate on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). The current application was the second time that the Expert Committee considered methylphenidate, following a recommendation not to include it in 2019 due to uncertainties in the estimates of benefit and concerns about the quality and limitations of the available evidence for benefit and harm.

New evidence was presented from a network meta-analysis of trials evaluating the comparative efficacy and tolerability of medicines for ADHD. However, the Committee considered that the updated evidence, in continuity with relevant limitations of previous data, still did not support inclusion of methylphenidate on the Model Lists. The Committee considered that methylphenidate is associated with relatively large reductions in symptom with short-term use. However, the benefit to harm ratio of methylphenidate remained uncertain for long-term use while the medication carries significant risks. Specifically, the Committee noted that most of the included studies in the network meta-analysis in both children/adolescents and adults were judged to have an unclear or high risk of bias. In addition, there were few included studies that measured outcomes beyond 12 weeks of treatment, which the Committee considered was a major limitation, given that ADHD is a longer-term condition and treatment is usually administered for months to years. In addition, the Committee considered that the outcome measure of tolerability, defined as the proportion of patients who dropped out of studies because of adverse effects, did not provide adequate information on the frequency and severity of specific adverse effects associated with methylphenidate use. The Committee advised that evidence of the effectiveness and safety of methylphenidate in the treatment of ADHD of at least 52 weeks duration, outcomes of the revision of the WHO mhGAP guidelines, and evaluation of health system capacity to provide appropriate diagnostic, non-pharmacological and pharmacological treatment and monitoring in low-resource settings would be informative for any future consideration for inclusion of methylphenidate on the Model Lists.

## Section 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of paliperidone 1-month long-acting injection, with a square box indicating risperidone long-acting injection as a therapeutic alternative, to the core list of the EML for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adults stabilized on oral therapy. The Committee noted that the effectiveness and overall safety of first- and second-generation antipsychotics is similar. The Committee considered that the availability of different treatment alternatives was important to meet the public health need for such treatments, particularly given the uncertainty of the current and future availability of fluphenazine injection, currently the only long-acting antipsychotic injection included on the

EML. The Committee also noted the public health need for long-acting antipsychotics in settings where close follow-up of patients with psychotic disorders is difficult.

#### Section 24.5: Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of bupropion and varenicline on the core list of the EML for use as an aid to smoking cessation, based on evidence of acceptable benefit to risk ratios, in an area of major public health need. Currently, the only smoking cessation therapy included on the EML is nicotine replacement therapy. The Committee noted that varenicline has been shown to be more effective than bupropion, but the Committee considered that the availability of different smoking cessation treatments with different toxicity profiles would provide valuable options and choice for both patients and clinicians. In addition, the Committee considered that the inclusion of different pharmacological interventions on the EML for smoking cessation could facilitate increased market competition, reduce costs and improve access for national health systems. The Committee also noted that the success of pharmacological interventions for quitting smoking is optimized when patients are prepared to quit and receive quit advice, education, counselling and support from health care providers. Therefore, a comprehensive approach to smoking cessation should be optimized at the country level, together with strengthening of national tobacco control policies.

# Section 29: Medicines for diseases of joints Section 29.2 (RENAMED) Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of hydroxychloroquine on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment cutaneous lupus erythematosus, based on evidence of a favourable overall benefit to harm ratio compared with other available treatments (e.g. corticosteroids). The Committee noted that the main safety concern related to long-term use of hydroxychloroquine is increased risk of irreversible retinopathy and therefore recommended that availability of ophthalmological monitoring be a condition for its use.

The Committee noted that hydroxychloroquine is currently only included on the EMLc for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus in children. The Committee accepted that hydroxychloroquine is also an established and effective disease-modifying treatment option for systemic lupus erythematosus in adults and recommended that hydroxychloroquine should also be included on the complementary list of the EML for this indication.

## Section 29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

The Expert Committee considered three applications for the inclusion of new medicines for the treatment of juvenile joint diseases and recognized the public health relevance of effective treatments for these diseases.

The Committee did not recommend inclusion of anakinra for the treatment of children with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SOJIA) with macrophage activation syndrome (MAS), nor tocilizumab for the treatment of children with SOJIA because of uncertainty in the estimates

of clinical benefits, as well as concerns about access and affordability in different settings, noting these are both highly priced medicines. The Committee acknowledged that other treatments of SOJIA are recommended in guidelines and used in clinical practice (e.g. methotrexate, adalimumab, canakinumab) but these were not considered in the application, limiting the Committee's ability to identify treatments with the best risk-benefit profile.

The Committee did not recommend inclusion of triamcinolone hexacetonide for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis, due to concerns about the quality of evidence, risks associated with the intra-articular injection procedure and limited generalizability of findings from highincome settings to low- and middle-income settings. The Committee considered that evidence on the role and comparative benefits and risks of intra-articular corticosteroids compared with oral corticosteroids or disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs would be informative in any future consideration.

The Committee noted the proposal received from the Paediatric Global Musculoskeletal Task Force for changes to the presentation of previous recommendations for medicines for joint diseases in children on the EMLc and the electronic EML. In response, the Committee recommended that Section 29.2 "Disease-modifying agents used in rheumatoid disorders (DMARDs)" be renamed "Disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)". However, the Committee recommended that any further changes should be deferred at this time and requested that a comprehensive review of this section of the Model Lists be undertaken for the next Expert Committee meeting.

# Section 30: (NEW) Dental preparations

The Expert Committee recommended the establishment of a new section on the EML and EMLc for dental preparations. The Committee noted that the burden of oral diseases, particularly untreated dental caries, represents a significant public health problem globally.

In consideration of the application requesting inclusion of fluoride toothpaste on the core list of the EML and EMLc, the Committee recommended that the current listing for sodium fluoride be transferred from Section 27 (Vitamins and Minerals) to the new section for dental preparations. The listing should be amended to 'fluoride', noting that topical fluoride-containing preparations utilize fluoride in a variety of forms. Fluoride toothpaste is recommended for inclusion as a specifically defined formulation of fluoride (paste, cream or gel containing between 1000 and 1500 ppm fluoride, any type) because of its proven effectiveness in preventing dental caries and for better control of the quality of fluoride content. The Committee requested WHO to identify and define the alternative fluoride-containing formulations that are recommended for use in the prevention of dental caries so that these can be specifically indicated in the Model Lists in 2023 to provide clear guidance to countries.

The Committee also recommended inclusion of glass ionomer cement and silver diamine fluoride preparations on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of dental caries. The Committee noted that these products offer relevant benefits and can be used in atraumatic restorative treatment techniques and in non-specialized settings in alignment with WHO guidance on oral health interventions.

# Other matters considered by the Expert Committee Highly priced medicines

Throughout the meeting, the Expert Committee noted the trend of continually increasing prices of new medicines over time, particularly in the areas of cancer, autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases and rare diseases. Among new highly priced medicines, few offer additional relevant benefits sufficient to reach the status of essential medicines.

However, some of these medicines are associated with large, clinically relevant benefits and favourable safety profiles, yet the prohibitively high price – multiples of median annual household incomes making them unaffordable even in high-income countries – has delayed or prevented the Committee from recommending inclusion on the Model Lists. The problem of affordability is not only limited to new medicines, as some "old" highly effective medicines, such as insulins, are also often priced at a level that represents a major barrier to access given the need for chronic, sometimes lifelong, treatment.

The Committee highlighted the ongoing challenge of making such medicines more affordable for the people and communities who need to access them. For low- and middle-income countries, this is especially important given that the number of people living with diseases that may require these medicines is steadily increasing.

The Committee recommended establishing a standing EML Working Group to support the Expert Committee to provide advice to WHO on policies and rules to make highly priced essential medicines more affordable and accessible. Tasks of the Working Group should include:

- exploration of thresholds at which specific essential medicines become affordable in relation to countries' and patients' ability to pay;
- identification of prices that represent "fair value" for the benefits expected from essential medicines;
- identification of interventions by policy-makers and other actors that could facilitate relevant and rapid decreases in prices to reach universal access to these treatments; and
- development of a strategy to monitor price and availability trends of essential but unaffordable medicines, to be proposed as part of the next WHO General Programme of Work.

The Working Group should collaborate closely with groups within WHO and other external stakeholders working to increase affordability and transparency of prices and costs of health products.

The Committee reiterated the important role of the Medicines Patent Pool in facilitating affordable access to essential medicines through negotiation of public health-oriented licences with patent holders to allow generic manufacture and supply of medicines in low- and middle-income countries. The Committee welcomed the expansion of the Medicines Patent Pool's mandate to patented essential medicines beyond HIV, hepatitis C and tuberculosis, to include

other small molecules included in the Model Lists, and medicines with strong potential for future inclusion. Among the new medicines recommended for inclusion on the Model Lists at this meeting, the Committee requested the Medicines Patent Pool explore licensing possibilities for enzalutamide, ibrutinib and the SGLT2 inhibitors. A number of patented medicines were not recommended for inclusion on the Model Lists at this meeting, either because they were considered not to be cost-effective at current prices, or because the available evidence was promising but not yet sufficiently mature. However, the Committee considered that cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors, daratumumab, osimertinib, PD 1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors and zanubrutinib all had potential for future inclusion and recommended the Medicines Patent Pool explore the application of its licensing model to these medicines.

#### Switching between originator and similar biological products

The Expert Committee considered reports of the available evidence for switching between originator and similar biological products (biosimilars) of antitumour necrosis factor (TNF) biologicals, erythropoietins and insulins. The Committee noted that a substantial body of evidence exists that the switch from originators to biosimilars for anti-TNF medicines does not affect safety, immunogenicity and efficacy in a variety of conditions. More limited evidence suggests similar conclusions for erythropoietins and insulin analogues. Differences in discontinuation rates in open-label studies comparing originators with biosimilars are often driven by the so-called nocebo effect due to patients' negative expectations with regard to biosimilars and not the pharmacological action of the medicine itself.

The Committee considered that reducing uncertainties about the use of biosimilars and supporting strategies promoting interchangeability at the procurement and clinical level have a great potential to increase global access to effective biological medicines. For the biological medicines included on the Model Lists, the Committee recommended that quality-assured biosimilars should be considered interchangeable and eligible for selection and procurement at the country level for national essential medicines lists (see also Review of square box listings, below).

## **Review of square box listings**

The square box symbol is intended to indicate similar clinical performance of different medicines within a pharmacological class, and that suitable therapeutic alternatives may be considered for selection at the country level for national essential medicines lists. The Committee recognized that considerable heterogeneity exists in the Model Lists with the use and application of both the square box symbol and other ad hoc notes intended to indicate acceptable therapeutic alternatives.

To provide greater clarity for national EML selection committees, the Committee recommended that the square box listing concept should be used consistently and exclusively, replacing notes where they exist. In addition, square box listings should be qualified to explicitly indicate the recommended therapeutic alternatives. Alternatives may be individual medicines, or multiple medicines within a pharmacological class or therapeutic subgroup, defined at the fourth level

of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification. The Committee therefore endorsed proposals made by the Secretariat for amendments and reviews of current square box listings. Refer to Table 1 for details.

For biological medicines, the Committee considered that quality-assured biosimilars represent appropriate therapeutic alternatives to originator biologicals for selection at the country level. In the same way that the square box is not used to indicate alternative generic brands of the same small molecule medicines, the square box should not be used to indicate alternative quality-assured biosimilars of biological medicines. Nevertheless, the Committee recognized that increased availability of biosimilars could lead to greater market competition, improved access and reduced costs for patients and health systems. To support the uptake of quality-assured biosimilars, the Committee recommended that listings for biological medicines on the Model Lists should include a separate note specifying that quality-assured similar biological products are appropriate alternatives to consider for selection at the country level.

Finally, the Committee recommended that the square box symbol should be removed from the Model Lists in 2023 and replaced with specific references to the accepted therapeutic alternatives.

## Update to the AWaRe classification of antibiotics

The Expert Committee noted the increasing uptake and utilization of the AWaRe classification of antibiotics by Member States, and the efforts being made to achieve the country-level target of 60% of total antibiotic consumption being Access group antibiotics.

The Committee acknowledged the contributions of the EML Antibiotics Working Group to review and update the AWaRe classification with newly registered antibiotics and antibiotics not previously classified. The Committee endorsed the Working Group's recommendations for the update of the AWaRe classification. An additional 81 antibiotics were classified (40 as Access, 34 as Watch and seven as Reserve) and will be included in the 2021 update of the AWaRe classification database.

The Committee also noted the request from the WHO Department of Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) for a comprehensive review of Reserve group antibiotics currently included on the Model Lists, as well as newly approved Reserve group antibiotics. The Committee agreed that providing more focused guidance for WHO Member States on which antibiotics should be considered essential from a public health perspective and included in national access programmes would be beneficial. The Committee therefore requested the Secretariat and the EML Antibiotics Working Group to undertake this review for consideration by the Committee at the next meeting.

All applications and documents reviewed by the Expert Committee are available on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/groups/expert-committee-on-selection-and-use-of-essential-medicines/23rd-expert-committee

# Table 1 Recommended additions, changes and deletions on the 2021 EML and EMLc

EML – New medie	cines added	EMLc – New medicines added	
Medicine	Indication	Medicine	Indication
Anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies	Rabies postexposure prophylaxis	Anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies	Rabies postexposure prophylaxis
Bupropion	Smoking cessation	Calcipotriol	Psoriasis
□ Calcipotriol	Psoriasis	Daclatasvir	Hepatitis C
Cefiderocol	Infection due to multidrug-resistant pathogens	Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Hepatitis C
🗆 Empagliflozin	Type 2 diabetes mellitus	Equine rabies immunoglobulin	Rabies postexposure prophylaxis
Equine rabies immunoglobulin	Rabies postexposure prophylaxis	Everolimus	Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma
Everolimus	Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma	Glass ionomer cement	Dental caries
Glass ionomer cement	Dental caries	Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir	Hepatitis C
Hydroxychloro- quine	Cutaneous lupus erythematosus, systemic lupus erythematosus	Long-acting insulin analogues	Type 1 and 2 diabetes in patients at high risk of hypoglycaemia
Ibrutinib	Relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia	☐ Micafungin	Invasive Candida infection
□ Long-acting insulin analogues	Type 1 and 2 diabetes in patients at high risk of hypoglycaemia	Rasburicase	Tumour lysis syndrome
□ Micafungin	Invasive <i>Candida</i> infection	Silver diamine fluoride	Dental caries
Multiple micronutrient supplement	Antenatal supplement	Sofosbuvir	Hepatitis C
□ Paliperidone	Schizophrenia	Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir	Hepatitis C

EML – New medicines added		EMLc – New medicines added	
Medicine	Indication	Medicine	Indication
Rasburicase	Tumour lysis syndrome	Tacrolimus	Organ transplant rejection
Silver diamine fluoride	Dental caries	Trimethoprim	Lower urinary tract infection
Sumatriptan	Migraine	Vinorelbine	Rhabdomyosarcoma
Tacrolimus	Organ transplant rejection		
Trimethoprim	Lower urinary tract infection		
Varenicline	Smoking cessation		

EML – New/char	nged indications	EMLc – New/changed indications	
Albendazole	Diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts	Albendazole	Diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts
Carboplatin	Head and neck cancer (as a radio-sensitizer), low-grade glioma, nephroblastoma, ovarian germ cell tumours, testicular germ cell tumours	Ampicillin	Complicated intra- abdominal infections
Ceftazidime	Endophthalmitis	Carboplatin	Low-grade glioma, nephroblastoma, ovarian germ cell tumours, testicular germ cell tumours
Ceftriaxone	Endophthalmitis, necrotizing fasciitis	Ceftazidime	Endophthalmitis
Cisplatin	Low-grade glioma	Ceftriaxone	Endophthalmitis, necrotizing fasciitis
Clindamycin	Necrotizing fasciitis	Cisplatin	Low-grade glioma
Cyclophospha- mide	Low-grade glioma, nephroblastoma	Clindamycin	Necrotizing fasciitis
Dactinomycin	Ewing sarcoma	Cyclophospha- mide	Low-grade glioma, nephroblastoma

xxviii

EML – New/changed indications		EMLc – New/changed indications	
Dexamethasone	Burkitt lymphoma	Dactinomycin	Ewing sarcoma
Etoposide	Acute myeloid leukaemia, nephroblastoma, osteosarcoma	Dexamethasone	Burkitt lymphoma
Hydrocortisone	Burkitt lymphoma	Etoposide	Acute myeloid leukaemia, nephroblastoma, osteosarcoma
lfosfamide	Burkitt lymphoma, nephroblastoma	Gentamicin	Complicated intra- abdominal infections, neonatal meningitis
Imatinib	Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia	Hydrocortisone	Burkitt lymphoma
Irinotecan	Nephroblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma	lfosfamide	Burkitt lymphoma, nephroblastoma
Mebendazole	Diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts	Imatinib	Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
Mesna	Burkitt lymphoma, nephroblastoma	Irinotecan	Nephroblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma
Methotrexate	Burkitt lymphoma	Mebendazole	Diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts
Methylpredniso- Ione	Burkitt lymphoma	Mesna	Burkitt lymphoma, nephroblastoma
Metronidazole	Necrotizing fasciitis	Methotrexate	Burkitt lymphoma
Moxifloxacin	Drug-susceptible tuberculosis	Methylpredniso- lone	Burkitt lymphoma
Ofloxacin	Conjunctivitis	Metronidazole	Necrotizing fasciitis
Piperacillin + tazobactam	Necrotizing fasciitis	Ofloxacin	Conjunctivitis
Praziquantel	Diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts	Piperacillin + tazobactam	Necrotizing fasciitis
Rifapentine	Drug-susceptible tuberculosis	Praziquantel	Diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts

EML – New/changed indications		EMLc – New/changed indications	
Vancomycin	Endophthalmitis, necrotizing fasciitis	Vancomycin	Endophthalmitis, necrotizing fasciitis
Vinblastine	Low-grade glioma	Vinblastine	Low-grade glioma
Vincristine	Low-grade glioma	Vincristine	Low-grade glioma
Vinorelbine	Rhabdomyosarcoma		

EML – New formu	llation/strength	EMLc – New form	ulation/strength
Amikacin (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Injection: 100 mg/2 mL, 250 mg/mL in 2 mL vial	Amikacin (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Injection: 100 mg/2 mL, 250 mg/mL in 2 mL vial
Amoxicillin	Solid oral dosage form: 1 g	Bedaquiline	Tablet: 20 mg
Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid	Tablet: 875 mg + 125 mg	Cisplatin	lnjection: 10 mg/10 mL, 20 mg/20 mL
Cefalexin	Solid oral dosage form: 500 mg	Cyclophospha- mide	Powder for injection: 1 g, 2 g in vial
Ceftriaxone	Powder for injection: 2 g	Delamanid	Tablet (dispersible): 25 mg
Ciprofloxacin	Solid oral dosage form: 500 mg	Dolutegravir	Tablet (dispersible, scored): 10 mg
Cisplatin	lnjection: 10 mg/10 mL, 20 mg/20 mL	lsoniazid + rifapentine	Tablet (scored): 300 mg + 300 mg
Clindamycin	Injection: 600 mg/4 mL, 900 mg/6 mL	Pyrazinamide	Tablet: 500 mg
Cyclophospha- mide	Powder for injection: 1 g, 2 g in vial	Rifapentine	Tablet (scored): 300 mg
Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	Tablet: 60 mg + 400 mg	Vinblastine	Injection: 10 mg (sulfate)/10 mL
Ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel	Vaginal ring: 2.27 mg + 11.7 mg	Vincristine	Injection: 1 mg (sulfate)/mL, 2 mg (sulfate)/2 mL
lsoniazid + rifapentine	Tablet (scored): 300 mg + 300 mg		
Phenoxymethyl- penicillin	Tablet: 500 mg		

ххх

.....

EML – New formu	ulation/strength	EMLc – New formulation/strength
Prednisolone	Retention enema: 200 mg/100 mL (as sodium phosphate)	
Pyrazinamide	Tablet: 500 mg	
Rifapentine	Tablet (scored): 300 mg	
Sofosbuvir	Tablet: 200 mg	
Vancomycin	Powder for injection: 500 mg, 1 g	
Vinblastine	Injection: 10 mg (sulfate)/10 mL	
Vincristine	Injection: 1 mg (sulfate)/mL, 2 mg (sulfate)/2 mL	
Vinorelbine	Capsule: 20 mg, 30 mg, 80 mg	

#### Table 1 continued

EML – Medicines	/formulations deleted	EMLc – Medicine	s/formulations deleted
Amikacin (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Powder for injection: 100 mg, 500 mg, 1 g in vial	Abacavir	Tablet (dispersible): 60 mg
Atazanavir	Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg, 300 mg	Amikacin (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Powder for injection: 100 mg, 500 mg, 1 g in vial
Efavirenz	Tablet (scored): 200 mg	Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Oral liquid: 125 mg + 31.25 mg/5 mL
Isoniazid	Tablet (scored): 50 mg	Atazanavir	Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg
lsoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin	Tablet: 75 mg + 400 mg + 150 mg	Efavirenz	Tablet (scored): 200 mg

EML – Medicines	/formulations deleted	EMLc – Medicine	s/formulations deleted
Lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine	Tablet: 150 mg + 200 mg + 300 mg	lsoniazid	Tablet (scored): 50 mg
Linezolid (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Injection for IV administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag Tablet: 400 mg	Lamivudine	Tablet: 150 mg
Lopinavir + ritonavir	Oral liquid: 400 mg + 100 mg/5 mL	Lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine	Tablet: 30 mg + 50 mg + 60 mg
Oseltamivir	Oral powder: 12 mg/mL	Linezolid (Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines only)	Injection for IV administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag Tablet: 400 mg
p-aminosalicylic acid	Tablet: 500 mg	Lopinavir + ritonavir	Oral liquid: 400 mg + 100 mg/5 mL
Pyrazinamide	Tablet (scored): 150 mg	Oseltamivir	Oral powder: 12 mg/mL
Raltegravir	Tablet (chewable): 100 mg	p-aminosalicylic acid	Tablet: 500 mg
Ritonavir	Oral liquid: 400 mg/5 mL	Pyrazinamide	Tablet (scored): 150 mg
		Raltegravir	Tablet (chewable): 100 mg Tablet: 400 mg
		Ritonavir	Oral liquid: 400 mg/5 mL Oral powder: 100 mg in sachet

Updated square box listings					
Section	Medicine	Specified therapeutic alternatives	List		
1.1.2	Propofol	Thiopental	EML & EML		
2.3	Ondansetron	Dolasetron, granisetron, palonosetron, tropisetron	EML & EML		
3	Loratadine	Cetirizine, fexofenadine	EML & EML		
3	Prednisolone	Prednisone	EML & EML		
5	Lorazepam (parenteral)	Diazepam (parenteral), midazolam (parenteral)	EML & EML		

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

Updated	Updated square box listings						
Section	Medicine	Specified therapeutic alternatives	List				
6.2.1	Cloxacillin	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (J01CF Beta-lactamase resistant penicillins)	EML & EMLc				
6.2.2	Clarithromycin	Erythromycin as second choice treatment for pharyngitis	EMLc				
6.2.2	Meropenem	Imipenem + cilastatin as second choice treatment for severe complicated intraabdominal infections and high-risk febrile neutropenia	EML & EMLc				
6.2.5	Cycloserine	Terizidone	EML				
6.2.5	Ethionamide	Protionamide	EML & EMLc				
6.2.5	Meropenem	lmipenem + cilastatin	EML				
6.4.1	Aciclovir	Valaciclovir	EML				
6.4.2.5	Efavirenz + emtricitabine + tenofovir	Lamivudine (for emtricitabine component)	EML				
6.4.2.5	Emtricitabine + tenofovir	Lamivudine (for emtricitabine component)	EML				
6.5.1	Metronidazole	Tinidazole	EML & EMLc				
8.2.4	Anastrozole	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (L02BG Aromatase inhibitors)	EML				
8.2.4	Bicalutamide	Flutamide, nilutamide	EML				
8.2.4	Leuprorelin	Goserelin, triptorelin	EML				
8.2.4	Prednisolone	Prednisone	EML & EMLc				
9	Biperiden	Trihexyphenidyl	EML				
9	Levodopa + carbidopa	Benserazide (for carbidopa component)	EML				
10.3	Deferoxamine	Deferasirox	EML & EMLc				
12.1	Isosorbide dinitrate	Remove square box	EML				
12.3	Amlodipine	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives)	EML				
12.3	Enalapril	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain)	EML & EMLc				

Updated square box listings					
Section	Medicine	Specified therapeutic alternatives	List		
12.3	Hydrochlorothiazide	Chlorothiazide, chlorthalidone, indapamide	EML		
12.3	Lisinopril + amlodipine	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) (for lisinopril component) Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives) (for amlodipine component)	EML		
12.3	Lisinopril + hydrochlorothiazide	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) (for lisinopril component) Indapamide, chlorthalidone, chlorothiazide (for hydrochlorothiazide component)	EML		
12.3	Losartan	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain)	EML		
12.3	Telmisartan + amlodipine	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) (for telmisartan component) Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives) (for amlodipine component)	EML		
12.3	Telmisartan + hydrochlorothiazide	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) (for telmisartan component) Indapamide, chlorthalidone, chlorothiazide (for hydrochlorothiazide component)	EML		
12.4	Enalapril	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain)	EML		
12.4	Furosemide	Bumetanide, torasemide	EML		
12.4	Hydrochlorothiazide	Chlorothiazide, chlorthalidone, indapamide	EML		
12.4	Losartan	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain)	EML		

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

xxxiv

Table	1	continued
-------	---	-----------

Updated square box listings			
Section	Medicine	Specified therapeutic alternatives	List
12.6	Simvastatin	Atorvastatin, fluvastatin, lovastatin, pravastatin	EML
13.1	Miconazole	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (D01AC Imidazole and triazole derivatives) excluding combinations	EML & EMLc
13.3	Betamethasone	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (D07AC Corticosteroids, potent (group III))	EML & EMLc
13.3	Calamine	Remove square box	EML
13.3	Hydrocortisone	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (D07AA Corticosteroids, weak (group I))	EML
13.4	Podophyllum resin	Podophyllotoxin	EML & EMLc
13.5	Benzyl benzoate	Precipitated sulfur topical ointment	EML & EMLc
14.1	Tropicamide	Atropine, cyclopentolate	EML & EMLc
15.1	Ethanol	Propanol	EML & EMLc
15.1	Povidone iodine	lodine	EML& EMLc
15.2	Chlorine base compound	Remove square box, specify alternative formulations (powder, solid, liquid)	EML & EMLc
15.2	Chloroxylenol	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (D08AE Phenol and derivatives)	EML & EMLc
16	Furosemide	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (C03CA Sulfonamides, plain)	EML
16	Hydrochlorothiazide	Chlorothiazide, chlorthalidone, indapamide Chlorothiazide, chlorthalidone	EML
17	Pancreatic enzymes	Remove square box	EMLC
17.1	Omeprazole	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (A02BC Proton pump inhibitors) excluding combinations	EML & EMLc
17.1	Ranitidine	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (A02BA H2-receptor antagonists) excluding combinations	EML & EMLc
17.2	Ondansetron	Dolasetron, granisetron, palonosetron, tropisetron	EML & EMLc

## Table 1 continued

Section	Medicine	Specified therapeutic alternatives	List
17.3	Sulfasalazine	Mesalazine	EML
17.3	Hydrocortisone	Remove square box for hydrocortisone retention enema. Add independent listing for prednisolone retention enema	EML
17.4	Senna	Bisacodyl	EML
18.4	Medroxyprogesterone acetate	Norethisterone	EML
18.5.2	Gliclazide	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (A10BB Sulfonylureas)	EML
21.1	Gentamicin	Amikacin, kanamycin, netilmicin, tobramycin	EML & EMLc
21.1	Ofloxacin	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (S01AE Fluoroquinolones)	EML & EMLc
21.1	Tetracycline	Chlortetracycline, oxytetracycline	EML & EMLo
21.3	Tetracaine	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (S01HA Local anaesthetics) excluding cocaine and combinations	EML & EMLc
21.4	Pilocarpine	Carbachol	EML
21.4	Timolol	Fourth level ATC chemical subgroup (S01ED Beta blocking agents) excluding combinations	EML
21.5	Atropine	Homatropine hydrobromide, cyclopentolate hydrochloride	EMLc
22.3	Ergometrine	Methylergometrine	EML
22.6	Ibuprofen	Indomethacin	EMLc
22.6	Prostaglandin E	Representative medicine prostaglandin E1, therapeutic alternative is prostaglandin E2	EMLc
24.2.1	Fluoxetine	Citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine, sertraline	EML
25.1	Beclometasone	Remove separate listing for beclometasone, consolidate with listing for budesonide	EML

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

xxxvi

.....

Updated square box listings			
Section	Medicine	Specified therapeutic alternatives	List
25.1	Budesonide	Beclometasone, ciclesonide, flunisolide, fluticasone, mometasone	EML & EMLc
25.1	Budesonide + formoterol	Budesonide + salmeterol, beclometasone + formoterol, mometasone + formoterol, fluticasone + formoterol, fluticasone furoate + vilanterol	EML
25.1	Salbutamol	Terbutaline	EML & EMLc
25.1	Tiotropium	Aclidinium, glycopyrronium, umeclidinium	EML
26.2	Sodium lactate compound solution	Remove square box	EML & EMLc
27	Ergocalciferol	Colecalciferol	EML
27	Colecalciferol	Ergocalciferol	EMLc
27	Nicotinamide	Remove square box	EML
28	Ciprofloxacin	Ofloxacin	EMLc

## Table 1 continued

Other changes to listings			
Abiraterone	Addition of a square box, indicating enzalutamide as a therapeutic alternative	EML	
Amoxicillin	Remove indication for lower urinary tract infections	EML & EMLc	
Bedaquiline	Change age limit from $\geq$ 6 years to $\geq$ 5 years	EML & EMLc	
Benzathine benzylpenicillin	Correction of formulation description	EML & EMLc	
Cefalexin	Change from second choice to first choice for skin and soft tissue infections	EML & EMLc	
Efavirenz	Remove age/weight restriction as no longer included on EMLc for treatment of children	EML	
Ethambutol	Replace tablet formulation strength range with specific strengths	EML	
Isoniazid	Replace tablet formulation strength range with specific strengths	EML & EMLc	

### Table 1 continued

Other changes to listings			
Sodium fluoride	Transfer listing from Section 27 (Vitamins and Minerals) to the new section for dental preparations; amend the listing to "fluoride"; include toothpaste formulation and strength, with other formulations and strengths of topical fluoride preparations to be reviewed.	EML & EMLc	
Valproic acid (sodium valproate)	Add note "avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb."	EML & EMLc	

Changes to sections and subsections of the Model Lists		
	2019	2021
Section 6.1.4	N/A	Medicines for taeniid cestode cysts/ cysticidal medicines
Section 6.4.2.5	Medicines for prevention of HIV- related opportunistic infections	Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines
Section 6.4.2.6	N/A	Medicines for prevention of HIV- related opportunistic infections
Section 15	Disinfectants and antiseptics	Antiseptics and disinfectants
Section 19.2	Sera and immunoglobulins	Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies
Section 29.2	Disease-modifying agents used in rheumatoid disorders (DMARDs)	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)
Section 30	N/A	Dental preparations

xxxviii

# Table 2 Applications and medicines not recommended for 2021 EML and EMLc

Additional medicines	
Addition of azacitidine for treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia	EML
Addition of anakinra for treatment of systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with macrophage activation syndrome	EML & EMLo
Addition of BRAF/MEK inhibitors for use in combination for the treatment of metastatic melanoma harbouring BRAFV600 mutation (dabrafenib + trametinib, encorafenib + binimetinib, vemurafenib + cobimetinib)	EML
Addition of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors for treatment of hormone receptor positive/HER2 negative advanced or metastatic breast cancer (abemaciclib, palbociclib, ribociclib)	EML
Addition of daratumumab for treatment of newly diagnosed and relapsed/ refractory multiple myeloma	EML
Addition of fulvestrant for treatment of metastatic breast cancer	EML
Addition of hypochlorous acid solution for use in antisepsis and wound decontamination	EML & EMLo
Addition of methylphenidate for treatment of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder	EML & EMLo
Addition of osimertinib for treatment of EGFR-mutation positive advanced non- small cell lung cancer	EML
Addition of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors for treatment of locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (atezolizumab, durvalumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab)	EML
Addition of pertuzumab for treatment of HER2-positive unresectable or metastatic breast cancer	EML
Addition of tislelizumab for treatment of relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma	EML
Addition of tislelizumab for treatment of locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer	EML
Addition of tocilizumab for treatment of systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis	EML & EMLo
Addition of triamcinolone hexacetonide for treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis	EML & EMLo
Addition of zanubrutinib for the treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia	EML
Addition of zanubrutinib for the treatment of relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma	EML

## Table 2 continued

Additional formulations/strengths	
Injectable formulation of ethambutol for treatment of severe forms of tuberculosis	EML & EMLc
Injectable formulation of isoniazid for treatment of severe forms of tuberculosis	EML & EMLc
Injectable formulation of rifampicin for treatment of severe forms of tuberculosis	EML & EMLc
Fixed-dose combination of abacavir + lamivudine + lopinavir/ritonavir for treatment of HIV infection	EMLc
New indications	
New indication for N-acetylcysteine for management of non-paracetamol- induced acute liver failure	EML & EMLc
New indication for doxorubicin for treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma	EML & EMLc
New indication for simvastatin for treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome	EML
Deletions	
Deletion of formulations of antituberculosis medicines (ethambutol oral liquid 25 mg/mL; isoniazid oral liquid 50 mg/5 mL; pyrazinamide oral liquid 30 mg/mL; ethionamide tablet 125 mg)	EML & EMLc

# List of participants

## **Expert Committee Members**

- Zeba Aziz, Professor of Medical Oncology, Rashid Latif Medical College, Lahore, Pakistan
- Rita Banzi, Head of the Centre for Health Regulatory Policies, Mario Negri Institute, Milan, Italy (Rapporteur)
- **Graham Cooke**, NIHR Research Professor of Infectious Diseases, Department of Infectious Disease, Imperial College, London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (Chair)
- **Elisabeth de Vries**, Professor of Medical Oncology, University Medical Center, Groningen, the Netherlands (Vice-Chair)
- **Sumanth Gandra**, Associate Professor, Division of Infectious Diseases, Washington University School of Medicine in St Louis, St Louis, United States of America
- **Myriam Khrouf**, Professor of Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Monastir, Monastir, Tunisia
- **Gilbert Kokwaro**, Professor of Health Systems Research, Strathmore University, Nairobi, Kenya; Professor of Pharmaceutics, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya
- Patrick Okwen, Primary care clinician, district medical officer and health economist, Bali, Cameroon
- **Gabriela Prutsky Lopez**, Assistant Professor of Pediatrics, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, United States of America; co-founder of Unidad de Conocimiento y Evidencia (CONEVID), Universidad Peruana Cayetano Heredia, Lima, Peru
- Rachel Riera, Medical rheumatologist, Associate Professor for Evidence-based Medicine, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil; coordinator of health technology assessment, Hospital Sírio-Libanês, São Paulo, Brazil
- Andrew Roberts, Clinical haematologist, Royal Melbourne Hospital/Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre Melbourne, Australia; Professor and Cancer Theme Leader at the Walter & Eliza Hall Institute and the Metcalf Chair of Leukaemia Research, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia
- **Mike Sharland**, Professor of Paediatric Infectious Diseases, St George's University, London, United Kingdom
- Shalini Sri Ranganathan, Professor in Pharmacology and specialist in Paediatrics, University of Colombo, Colombo, Sri Lanka
- Fatima Suleman, Professor of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa; Director of the WHO Collaborating Centre for Pharmaceutical Policy and Evidence-Based Practice, Durban, South Africa

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

**Ellen 't Hoen**, Director of Medicines Law & Policy, founder and former executive director of the Medicines Patent Pool and a Global Health Law Fellow at the Faculty of Law, University of Groningen, Groningen, the Netherlands

- Verna Vanderpuye, Clinical oncologist, senior consultant, National Center for Radiotherapy, Oncology and Nuclear Medicine, Korlebu Teaching Hospital, Accra, Ghana
- **Mei Zeng**, Professor and Director, Department of Infectious Diseases and Chief, Infectious Diseases Unit, Children's Hospital of Fudan University, Shanghai, China

## **Temporary advisers**

- Andrea Biondi, Professor of Pediatrics and Director of the Pediatric Residency Program, University of Milano-Bicocca, Monza, Italy
- Antonio Fojo, Professor of Medicine, Colombia University, New York, United States of America
- Indah Widyahening, Associate Professor, Community Medicine Department, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

## **United Nations agencies**

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

**Akthem Fourati**, Chief, Medicine & Nutrition Centre, UNICEF Supply Division, Copenhagen, Denmark

## **WHO** regions

WHO Regional Office for Africa

Aissatou Sarassa, Technical Officer, Essential Drugs and Medicines, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

WHO Regional Office for the Americas/Pan American Health Organization

- Jose Luis Castro, Advisor, Essential Medicines and Biologicals, Washington DC, United States of America
- **Edgard Robin Rojas Cortes**, Technical Officer, Safe Use of Medicines, Washington DC, United States of America

WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

Adi Al-Nuseirat, Technical Officer, Access to Pharmaceuticals, Cairo, Egypt

WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia Uhjin Kim, Technical Officer, Essential Drugs and Medicines, New Delhi, India

## WHO Headquarters Geneva – Secretariat

- **Benedikt Huttner**, Secretary of the Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, Department of Health Products Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products
- **Bernadette Cappello**, Technical Officer, EML Secretariat, Department of Health Products Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products

xlii

.....

- **Albert Figueras**, Consultant, EML Secretariat, Department of Health Products Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products
- Lorenzo Moja, Scientist, EML Secretariat, Department of Health Products Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products
- **Clive Ondari**, Director, Department of Health Products Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products

# Declaration of interests for Expert Committee members and temporary advisers

WHO requires that experts serving in an advisory role disclose any circumstances that could give rise to actual or ostensible conflicts of interest. Declarations of interest and management of any disclosures is an important process governed by the WHO Guidelines for Declaration of Interests (WHO Experts).

Prior to being invited to participate in the 23rd meeting of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, all experts submitted written declarations of interest for consideration. In reviewing and assessing the declarations of interest, the WHO Essential Medicines List Secretariat sought the advice of the Office of Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics.

The declaration of interest process resulted in the participation of the Expert Committee Members and Temporary Advisers, as reported in the list of participants.

Experts who declared having no conflicts of interest were: Zeba Aziz, Sumanth Gandra, Gilbert Kokwaro, Patrick Okwen, Gabriela Prutsky-Lopez, Rachel Riera, Fatima Suleman, Verna Vanderpuye, Indah Widyahening and Mei Zeng.

The following experts disclosed interests, which were assessed by the Secretariat for actual or potential conflicts.

Rita Banzi disclosed that her research unit and institution has received research funding below the threshold of significant financial interest from Janssen Pharmaceuticals to support an educational programme for systematic review methodology. She also disclosed funding to her research unit and institution from AC.TA s.r.l. to support a series of ongoing investigator-initiated clinical trials on the use of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the surgical treatment of different cancers. These disclosures were not considered to be related to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and were determined not to represent a conflict.

Graham Cooke disclosed receiving payment below the threshold of significant financial interest for consultancy services from 30 Technology, a biotech company developing therapies using nitric oxide delivery. He also disclosed funding below the threshold of significant interest paid to his research unit for clinical trials involving remdesivir for COVID-19. These disclosures were not considered to be related to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and were determined not to represent a conflict.

Elisabeth de Vries disclosed that she serves as an expert in data safety monitoring committees for trials promoted by a non-profit research programme (National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Colon Project) and a for-profit company (Daiichi Sankyo). Trial sponsors provide funding to her institution (University Medical Center Groningen) to cover her time commitment. The matters under consideration by the data safety monitoring committees are unrelated to the medicines under evaluation by the Expert Committee.

She also disclosed that her institution is involved in early phase clinical trials to explore the therapeutic and diagnostic/prognostic roles of cancer medicines and biomarkers. Her institution

xliv

receives research funding from Amgen, Bayer, CytomX, Crescendo Biologics, Genentech, G1 Therapeutics, Regeneron, Roche, Servier and Synthon. These trials are considered not to be directly related to medicines under evaluation by the Expert Committee.

She is a current member of the European Society for Medical Oncology Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale (ESMO-MCBS) Working Group, having served as its Chair from 2013 to 2019. She is also Chair of the ESMO Cancer Medicines Committee. ESMO is a non-State actor in official relations with WHO. She is also co-Chair of the Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours (RECIST) Working Group, and Chair of the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group. All these positions are unpaid.

These disclosures were judged not to be directly related to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and not to represent a conflict.

Myriam Khrouf disclosed having received personal remuneration below the threshold of significant financial interest for consultant and advisory services to pharmaceutical companies and clinical research organizations relating to generic drug development and bioequivalence studies, and as a board member of HOPIPHARM, the Association of Francophone Hospital Pharmacy. She also disclosed receiving financial research support from the British Society of Infectious Diseases, EUROQOL, Quality and Research Association and WHO for research into antimicrobial stewardship, health economics and outcomes research, and quality of life research. She also disclosed financial support from various pharmaceutical companies (Abbott, Merck, Novo Nordisk, Roche and Sanofi) and the Société Française de Pharmacie Oncologique for herself or her spouse for attendance at congresses, symposia and workshops, including travel and accommodation costs, registration fees and some remuneration. All amounts received were below the threshold of significant financial interest. These disclosures were judged to be non-significant and unrelated to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting, and were determined not to represent a conflict.

Ellen 't Hoen disclosed that she was the founding Director of the Medicines Patent Pool, a non-State actor in official relations with WHO. She remains a member of the expert advisory group of the Medicines Patent Pool. She disclosed having received grant funding from UNITAID to conduct a summary review on access to health products related to COVID-19. These disclosures were judged not to be directly related to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and not to represent a conflict.

Andrew Roberts disclosed research support to his institution and/or research unit from pharmaceutical companies for investigator-initiated trials and laboratory research. AbbVie and Janssen Pharmaceuticals made donation of drugs (venetoclax and ibrutinib, respectively) for trials on mantle cell lymphoma. Servier provided financial support for laboratory-based research on B-cell lymphoma-2 inhibitors. This disclosure was considered non-significant and determined not to represent a conflict.

He also disclosed that he receives financial benefit from his employer, the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute (WEHI), in the form of a share of the income the Institute has received related to the drug venetoclax. Venetoclax was created during a partnership between the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute and the pharmaceutical companies AbbVie and Genentech. AbbVie and Genentech are responsible for the commercial development of venetoclax. The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute has no role in its clinical trial development, commercialization or marketing. The Institute has a commercialization policy that allows distribution of a small share of any royalties and commercial income to staff who have invented or made a major contribution to the product. The amounts received by individual staff are based on specific criteria related to their contributions, and are not related to outcomes of clinical trials nor future drug sales. In 2017, the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute entered a commercial agreement with CPPIB Credit Europe S.à r.l., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board, trading future venetoclax royalties for a lump-sum payment. He disclosed that he was a major contributor to research that lead to venetoclax and to early clinical trial discovery research, but is not a patent holder. His contributions predate the 2017 commercial agreement with the Canadian pension fund. For his contribution, he has been awarded a small fraction of this pension fund, which is diversified, independently managed and paid by his employer.

Venetoclax was not under evaluation by the Expert Committee at this meeting, but it can be used as an alternative to or in combination with ibrutinib. An application for ibrutinib was under evaluation by the Expert Committee for treatment of chronic lymphatic leukaemia. The EML Secretariat sought the guidance of the WHO Office for Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics in relation to the above-mentioned disclosure. An interest or interests that could directly influence, or could appear to influence, his professional judgement in relation to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting were not identified.

Mike Sharland disclosed that he is the Vice-Chair and Board Member of the Penta Foundation, an Italian charitable foundation that runs global trials to advance treatments for paediatric infectious diseases. These positions are unpaid. Penta collaborates with multiple pharmaceutical companies on the optimal design and conduct of observational and interventional trials of medicines. In his role with Penta, he has provided advice to pharmaceutical partners on improving the quality of the design and conduct of antibiotic trials in children, including to Shionogi & Co., Ltd for the design of paediatric trials of cefiderocol, an antibiotic under consideration by the Expert Committee in this meeting for use in adults. He has not provided advice nor had any discussions with pharmaceutical companies on antibiotic trials or studies in adults. He is Chair of the EML Antibiotics Working Group, an unpaid position. His disclosures were determined not to represent a conflict.

Shalini Sri Ranganathan disclosed that she received research funding below the threshold of significant financial interest from the Colombo University, where she is employed, to conduct a survey on availability and affordability of essential medicines for children in Sri Lanka, and to conduct a study on neonatal antibiotic use. These disclosures were considered non-significant and determined not to represent a conflict.

### **Temporary advisers**

Andrea Biondi disclosed having received honoraria below the threshold of significant financial interest for his attendance at educational courses, symposia and advisory board meetings funded directly or through agencies by pharmaceutical companies (Amgen, Bluebird, Celgene-BMS, Incyte, Novartis, Takeda). He also disclosed having received honoraria for annual site visits to

Stichting Kinderen Kankervrij (KiKa Foundation) in the Netherlands, and for services rendered as a grant reviewer for the KiKa Foundation, Solving Kid's Cancer (United Kingdom), and Institut National du Cancer (France). He receives financial royalties from Oxford University Press for publication of the book *Cancer in Children: Clinical Management, 6th edition*, of which he was a co-editor. These disclosures were considered non-significant and determined not to represent a conflict.

He also disclosed that he served as co-principal investigator for a phase II trial of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor dasatinib in paediatric patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Dasatinib was not under evaluation by the Expert Committee at this meeting, but it can be used as an alternative to imatinib. An application for imatinib was under evaluation by the Expert Committee for this indication. This disclosure was considered non-significant and determined not to represent a conflict.

During the meeting, he disclosed that he is Scientific Director of the Fondazione Tettamanti, a not-for-profit research organization devoted to leukaemia and lymphoma research in children. The research units of Fondazione Tettamanti received financial support from competitive grants and from charities for research projects in the fields of genetics and immunotherapy of childhood leukaemia and lymphoma. The Fondazione has also filed a patent on a new technique for development of CAR-T cells. The research units of the Fondazione Tettamanti received research grants from Colmmune Inc., who acquired the licence for the above-mentioned CAR-T development technique, and that he personally received monetary support from Colmmune for consultancy services in relation to the CAR-T development technique. A review of the available evidence for CAR-T cell therapy in the treatment of relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma was submitted for consideration by the Expert Committee at this meeting: however, the review did not propose inclusion of CAR-T cell therapy on the EML at this time and a recommendation to list it was not requested. Nevertheless, this disclosure was judged to be significant and to represent an actual or ostensible conflict. After consultation with the WHO Office for Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics, it was determined that he could participate in the meeting as a temporary adviser, but that he should be excluded from the discussion related to the review of CAR-T cell therapy. He recused himself from the meeting while the review of CAR-T cell therapy was being discussed.

Antonio Fojo disclosed that he will be conducting a trial on a generic version of abiraterone for the treatment of prostate cancer in Veterans Administration Medical Centres. His research unit will receive research support and a donation of drugs from Sun Pharmaceutical Industries Limited. This activity is not associated with a direct salary or monetary support to him individually. Abiraterone may be used as an alternative to enzalutamide, a medicine under evaluation by the Expert Committee for metastatic prostate cancer at this meeting. This disclosure was considered non-significant and determined not to represent a conflict.

During the meeting, he disclosed that his spouse will be soon hired by Pfizer as a consultant, receiving direct salary support, to lead bioinformatics analyses of the PALOMA 3 clinical trial, a double-blind phase III study of palbociclib in metastatic breast cancer. Palbociclib is a medicine under evaluation at the present meeting, as part of the application for inclusion of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors on the EML. This disclosure was judged to be significant

and to represent an actual or ostensible conflict. After consultation with the WHO Office for Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics, it was determined that he could participate in the meeting as a temporary adviser, but that he should be excluded from the discussion, deliberation and decision-making related to the application for CDK 4/6 inhibitors. He recused himself from the meeting while the application for CDK 4/6 inhibitors was being discussed.

xlviii

# 1. Introduction

The meeting of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines took place virtually and was hosted in Geneva, Switzerland, from 21 June to 2 July 2021. The aim of the meeting was to review and update the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines (EML) and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (EMLc), the "Model Lists".

The meeting agenda included 88 applications involving over 100 medicines, medicine classes and formulations for addition, deletion, amendment and review in order to update the EML and EMLc.

The meeting was opened by Clive Ondari, Director, Health Products Policy and Standards Department, on behalf of WHO Director-General, Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreysus. Dr Ondari welcomed Committee members and temporary advisers, representatives from WHO regional offices and other UN agencies.

In his opening remarks, Dr Ondari highlighted that access to essential medicines remains a top priority, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic, with medicines proven to be effective for the treatment of COVID-19 (oxygen and dexamethasone) included on the Model Lists for over 40 years. Unfortunately, the pandemic has also illustrated that access to some essential medicines remains a problem in many settings. He described some of the opportunities to improve access to essential medicines, including WHO prequalification, increased use of biosimilar medicines and expansion of the work of the Medicines Patent Pool.

Dr Ondari drew attention to the large number of applications for cancer medicines for consideration by the Committee, which comprised 40% of all applications for new medicines on the agenda. In addition, he noted that the high price and complex infrastructure required to use some of these proposed medicines appropriately are significant barriers to access, and requested the Committee advise WHO which, if any, of these medicines should be considered essential, despite the high prices.

The Access–Watch–Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics was also highlighted. First proposed by the Committee in 2017, this classification has gained widespread support as a tool to ensure access to essential antibiotics, and for guiding antibiotic stewardship. An update of the AWaRe classification, proposed by members of the EML Antibiotics Working Group, will be reviewed by the Committee. The EML Antibiotics Working Group have also developed a complementary tool – the WHO EML antibiotic book – to support the appropriate use of antibiotics and achievement of the target that 60% of antibiotic consumption should come from the Access category by 2023. This book will provide up-to-date, evidence-based guidance on the management of over 35 infectious syndromes, including first- and second-choice antibiotics to use and when no antibiotics are needed, and is aligned with the recommendations in the Model Lists and AWaRe.

Dr Mariângela Simão, Assistant Director-General, Access to Medicines and Health Products, also addressed the Committee, and presented an overview of the division's programme covering diabetes and reiterated WHO's commitment to improve access to diabetes therapies. She advised that a comprehensive strategy for access to insulin and other medicines for diabetes needs to include not only the medicines but also devices for administration and blood sugar measurement. She reported that efforts made by WHO to encourage manufacturers to invest in quality-assured human insulin through the prequalification programme had not been successful in prequalifying any human insulin products. She noted that applications for insulin analogues and sodium-glucose transport protein 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are once again before the Committee for consideration, having not been recommended on multiple occasions in the past. Dr Simão recognized the challenge of capturing the benefits of therapeutic innovation while managing the accompanying financial burden, and the importance of better negotiation in addressing this challenge. Creating transparency on what fair pricing for essential medicines constitutes will be an important step to help countries increase the number of people that can benefit from important medicines and make progress towards universal health coverage. With reference to the applications before the Committee for smoking cessation medicines, she also highlighted reports of increased tobacco use in some countries as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated stress, and how evidence has confirmed that current and former smokers are at greater risk of severe COVID-19 infection.

Dr Simão reminded Committee members and temporary advisers of their obligation to provide advice to WHO in their individual capacities as experts, and not as representatives of their governments, institutions or organizations. She acknowledged the considerable work already undertaken by members and temporary advisers in reviewing applications and thanked them for the time they had spent in preparation, as well as for dedicating their time over the coming weeks of the meeting to contribute to and support the WHO's work.

# 2. Open session

The open session of the meeting was held virtually and was chaired by Benedikt Huttner, Secretary of the Expert Committee. It was attended by a variety of interested parties including representatives of WHO Member States, nongovernmental organizations, academia and civil society.

Updates from the WHO Secretariat were presented by Dr Huttner and Francis Moussy, Secretary of the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts for Essential In Vitro Diagnostics.

Chairs of the EML Working Groups for antibiotics (Mike Sharland) and cancer medicines (Elisabeth de Vries) presented updates of the work undertaken by the respective working groups since the last Expert Committee meeting.

Navindra Persaud, Associate Professor at the University Toronto, Canada, presented findings from the CLEAN Meds randomized control trial which evaluated the impact of providing selected essential medicines free of charge to primary care patients on treatment adherence, care costs and well-being.

Christopher Booth, Professor of Oncology at Queen's University Cancer Research Institute, Kingston, Canada, presented results from a survey of frontline oncologists on availability of and access to essential cancer medicines.

Daniela Garone, International Medical Coordinator at Médecins Sans Frontières, gave a presentation on the role of essential medicines in emergency and humanitarian settings.

Additional presentations and/or statements were made by the following participants:

- Nine Steensma, Clinton Health Access Initiative
- Rosa Giuliani, European Society for Medical Oncology
- Hans Hogerzeil, Groningen University
- Margaret Ewen, Health Action International
- Ayesha Sitlani, International AIDS Vaccine Initiative and Wellcome
- Sara Amini, International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associates
- John Wiernikowski, International Society of Oncology Pharmacy Practitioners
- Kavian Kulasabanathan, Knowledge Ecology International
- Esteban Burrone, Medicines Patent Pool

- Katherine Souris, T1 International

- Neelu Paleti, Universities Allied for Essential Medicines

Copies of all presentations and statements are available on the WHO website<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.who.int/groups/expert-committee-on-selection-and-use-of-essential-medicines/23rd-expert-committee

# 3. General items

# **Highly priced medicines**

Throughout the meeting, the Expert Committee noted the trend of continual increases in prices of new medicines over time, particularly for cancer, autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases and rare diseases. Among new highly priced medicines, few offer additional relevant benefits sufficient to reach the status of essential medicines. For instance, in cancer, only a minority of all the medicines approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency over the past 2 decades have reached undisputable results of prolonging survival by 4-6 months, a guiding criterion for a cancer medicine to be considered for addition on the EML (1-4). Nevertheless, some of these medicines are associated with large, clinically relevant benefits and favourable safety profiles, yet their prohibitively high price - multiples of median annual household incomes making them unaffordable even in high-income countries - has delayed or prevented the Committee from recommending their inclusion on the Model Lists. The problem of affordability is not only limited to new medicines, as some "old" highly effective medicines, such as insulins, are also often priced at a level that represents a major barrier to access given the need for chronic, sometimes lifelong, treatment.

The Committee recognized the ongoing challenge of making such medicines more affordable for the people and communities who need to access them. For low- and middle-income countries, this is especially important given that the number of people living with diseases that may require these medicines is steadily increasing. Coverage of high-priced medicines requires national budget surpluses that are unlikely to be available for decades, even in emerging market economies. Therefore, it is likely that availability of these medicines without reimbursement policies will increase disparities between patients living in the same country. Alternatively, countries might increase their budget deficit, which would have negative implications for their national or regional debt.

The Committee noted the increasing tension between the desire to include medicines in the EML that show major benefits and the concerns about budget implications for countries if these medicines are eventually listed. The class of medicines that best represents this state of tension is the immune checkpoint inhibitors for treatment of lung cancer, which are prohibitively expensive even in countries with advanced economies and strong financial negotiation power.

The Committee recommended establishing a standing EML Working Group to support the Committee to provide advice to WHO on policies and rules to make highly priced essential medicines more affordable and accessible. Tasks of the Working Group should include:

- exploration of thresholds at which specific essential medicines become affordable in relation to countries' and patients' ability to pay;
- identification of prices that represent "fair value" for the benefits expected from essential medicines;
- identification of interventions by policy-makers and other actors that could facilitate relevant and rapid decreases in prices to reach universal access to these treatments; and
- development of a strategy to monitor price and availability trends of essential but unaffordable medicines, to be proposed as part of the next WHO General Programme of Work.

The Committee highlighted that price barriers may require a more granular and focused approach. High-level recommendations on pharmaceutical pricing policies (e.g. use of external reference pricing) might identify broad interventions to address price inflation at country level. However, it might be difficult to foresee the implications of such policies for single medicines or classes. The Committee suggested WHO investigate innovative targeted price policy actions which governments can take to control prices of single essential medicines or classes, such as insulins or immune checkpoint inhibitors, in which price represents a major obstacle to access. Equity, greater equality of access and affordability should be main pillars of any proposed solutions.

The Working Group should collaborate closely with groups within WHO and other external stakeholders working to increase affordability and transparency of prices and costs of health products.

The Committee reiterated the important role of the Medicines Patent Pool in facilitating affordable access to essential medicines through negotiation of public health-oriented licences with patent holders to allow generic manufacture and supply of medicines in low- and middle-income countries. The Committee welcomed the expansion of the Medicines Patent Pool's mandate to patented essential medicines beyond HIV, hepatitis C and tuberculosis, to include other small molecules included in the Model Lists, and medicines with strong potential for future inclusion. Among the new medicines recommended for inclusion on the Model Lists at this meeting, the Committee requested that the Medicines Patent Pool explore licensing possibilities for enzalutamide, ibrutinib and the sodium-glucose transport protein 2 inhibitors. A number of patented medicines were not recommended for inclusion on the Model Lists at this meeting, either because they were considered not to be cost-effective at current prices, or because the available evidence was promising but not yet sufficiently mature. However, the Committee considered that cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors, daratumumab, osimertinib, PD 1/PD-L1 immune

checkpoint inhibitors and zanubrutinib all had potential for future inclusion and recommended the Medicines Patent Pool explore the application of its licensing model to these medicines.

### References

- 1. Boyle JM, Hegarty G, Frampton C, Harvey-Jones E, Dodkins J, Beyer K, et al. Real-world outcomes associated with new cancer medicines approved by the Food and Drug Administration and European Medicines Agency: a retrospective cohort study. Eur J Cancer. 2021;155:136–44.
- Davis C, Naci H, Gurpinar E, Poplavska E, Pinto A, Aggarwal A. Availability of evidence of benefits on overall survival and quality of life of cancer drugs approved by European Medicines Agency: retrospective cohort study of drug approvals 2009–13. BMJ. 2017;359:j4530.
- Gyawali B, Hey SP, Kesselheim AS. Assessment of the clinical benefit of cancer drugs receiving accelerated approval. JAMA Intern Med. 2019;179(7):906–13.
- Ladanie A, Schmitt AM, Speich B, Naudet F, Agarwal A, Pereira TV, et al. clinical trial evidence supporting US Food and Drug Administration approval of novel cancer therapies between 2000 and 2016. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(11):e2024406.

## Switching between originator and similar biological products

The Expert Committee noted that the introduction of biological medicines (or biotherapeutic products) into clinical use has markedly improved outcomes for many serious and rare conditions that were previously difficult to treat. Biological medicines are often highly priced, limiting access in many settings. Similar biological products (biosimilars) are biological medicines that are highly similar in terms of quality, safety and efficacy to an already licensed biological product. Over the past few years, the expiry of patents and/or other data protection certificates of biological medicines has fueled interest in increasing the availability of biosimilars since they have the potential to improve access to safe and effective biological medicines by reducing prices through competition.

Since biological products are often large and complex proteins, they are more complicated to produce than small molecules and difficult to copy exactly. Biosimilars may therefore differ slightly in the structure from the originator product (e.g. the degree of glycosylation), thus requiring a different regulatory framework for licensing than for generics of small molecules. Although the exact criteria for biosimilarity differ among countries and regions, regulatory authorities approve biosimilars based on the assessment of quality and structural, functional, preclinical and clinical similarity with respect to the originator. Approved biosimilars are expected to produce the same clinical results as the originator product. Therefore, regulatory authorities do not usually require specific studies assessing if alternating between the biosimilar and its originator or switching from the biosimilar to its originator affect safety and/or efficacy. It is important to note that changes in the manufacturing process (and hence the structure) of biological medicines are common and that it therefore can be assumed that the risk of switching from an originator to a biosimilar is similar to switching between two batches of any biologic medicines.

The Committee acknowledged that there is an intense debate on the interchangeability of originator and biosimilar products. Policies on interchangeability (both substitution and switching) of biological medicines and their biosimilars vary across settings. However, these policies are often restrictive in nature, and countries face limitations in choice of potential alternatives, and possibly a reduction in access to affordable medicines. This concerns especially "substitutions", i.e. the replacement of one product for another at the pharmacy level, or "non-medical switches", i.e. switching treatment in patients for non-clinical reasons, such as cost or procurement issues. Several professional societies and patient groups strongly advocate that any decision to exchange an originator with a biosimilar should remain the responsibility of the physicians in consultation with their patients. Most high-income countries do not allow substitution at the pharmacy level, but rather encourage physicians to prescribe the best-value treatment possible, which often means substituting the originator with a biosimilar. Several low- and middle-income countries facing financial constraints have implemented substitution practices without apparent major detrimental effects on the efficacy or safety of treatments.

The Committee noted that there is a need to increase physicians' and patients' confidence in biosimilar medicines and suggested that regulators and health authorities should promote policies on biosimilar interchangeability. Active postmarketing surveillance of adverse events associated with switching to biosimilar products should be assured. In addition to data supporting biosimilarity at the time of approval, these data should reassure prescribers about interchangeability.

The Committee considered the reports submitted of the available evidence for switching between originator and biosimilar products for antitumour necrosis factor (TNF) biologicals, erythropoietins and insulins. The Committee noted that a substantial body of evidence exists that switching from originator to biosimilar products of anti-TNF medicines does not affect safety, immunogenicity and efficacy in a variety of conditions. More limited evidence suggests similar conclusions for erythropoietins and insulin analogues. Differences in discontinuation rates in open-label studies comparing originators with biosimilars are often driven by the so-called nocebo effect due to patients' negative expectations of biosimilars and not the pharmacological action of the medicine itself.

The Committee considered that reducing uncertainties about the use of biosimilars and supporting strategies promoting interchangeability at the procurement and clinical level have a great potential to increase global access to effective biological medicines. For the biological medicines included on the Model Lists, the Committee recommended that quality-assured biosimilars should be considered interchangeable and eligible for selection and procurement at the country level for national essential medicines lists (see also Review of "square box" listings below). These recommendations, together with other guidance provided by WHO promoting the use of quality-assured generic and biosimilar medicines (1), will support countries in making evidence-based, timely and informed choices when considering the inclusion of biological medicines and biosimilars on their national lists.

#### References

 WHO guideline on country pharmaceutical pricing policies. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/335692).

## **Review of square box listings**

The Expert Committee noted that the square box symbol is intended to indicate similar clinical performance of different medicines within a pharmacological class, and that suitable therapeutic alternatives may be considered for selection at the country level for national essential medicines lists. The Committee recognized that considerable heterogeneity exists in the Model Lists with the use and application of both the square box symbol and other ad hoc notes intended to indicate acceptable therapeutic alternatives.

To provide greater clarity for national EML selection committees, the Committee recommended that the square box listing concept should be used consistently and exclusively, replacing notes where they exist. In addition, square box listings should be qualified to explicitly indicate the recommended therapeutic alternatives. These may be individual medicines, or multiple medicines within a pharmacological class or therapeutic subgroup, defined at the fourth level of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.

For biological medicines on the Model Lists, the Committee considered that quality-assured biosimilars are appropriate therapeutic alternatives for selection at the country level. However, in the same way that the square box is not used to indicate alternative generic brands of the same small molecule medicines, the square box should not be used to indicate alternative qualityassured biosimilars of biological medicines. Nevertheless, the Committee recognized that greater availability of biosimilar medicines could lead to greater market competition, improved access to medicines and reduced costs to both patients and health systems. To support the uptake of quality-assured biosimilars at the country level, the Committee recommended that listings for biological medicines on the Model Lists should include a separate note specifying that quality-assured biosimilars are appropriate for selection. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

The Committee endorsed the proposals made by the Secretariat for amendments and reviews of the current square box listings, with the following exceptions.

- An independent listing for erythromycin on the EMLc as a second-choice treatment for pharyngitis was not recommended. Instead, a square box was added to the listing for clarithromycin, indicating erythromycin as an alternative.
- A review of ophthalmological anti-inflammatory medicines was recommended before any changes are made to the square box listing for prednisolone eye drops on the EML and EMLc.
- A review of the square box listing for amlodipine as an antihypertensive medicine on the EML was not recommended. Alternatives should be dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers, defined at the fourth level ATC classification.
- For the listing of prostaglandin E on the EMLc, it was recommended to retain the square box but assign it to prostaglandin E1, and specify prostaglandin E2 as an alternative.

Refer to Table 1 of the Executive Summary for details of the updated square box listings.

# Update to the AWaRe classification of antibiotics

The Expert Committee acknowledged the contributions of the EML Antibiotics Working Group and endorsed the Working Group's recommendations for the update of the AWaRe classification of antibiotics. An additional 81 antibiotics were classified (40 as Access, 34 as Watch and seven as Reserve) and will be included in the 2021 update of the AWaRe classification database, to support stewardship and monitoring of antibiotic use.

The Committee also noted the request from the WHO Department of Global Coordination and Partnership (Antimicrobial Resistance Division) for a comprehensive review of the Reserve group currently included on the Model Lists, as well as newly approved Reserve group antibiotics. The Committee agreed that providing more focused guidance for WHO Member States on which Reserve antibiotics should be considered essential from a public health perspective and included in national access programmes would be beneficial. The Committee therefore requested the Secretariat and the EML Antibiotics Working Group to undertake this review for consideration by the Committee at the next meeting.

# Disease-modifying therapies for multiple sclerosis – update

In 2019, the WHO Expert Committee provided feedback on the application by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation to add the disease-modifying therapies glatiramer acetate, fingolimod and ocrelizumab to the Model Lists for treatment of multiple sclerosis. Feedback given by the 2019 Expert Committee included the need to review commonly used disease-modifying therapies that were not, or were only partly, reviewed in the original application, such as azathioprine, natalizumab and rituximab. Furthermore, it was noted that the superiority of the disease-modifying therapies included in the application over other therapeutic options with regard to benefits, harms and affordability did not clearly emerge. The 2021 Expert Committee acknowledged the update by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation that a revised application addressing the issues outlined above would be submitted in 2022, for evaluation by the Committee for the update of the Model Lists in 2023.

# Comprehensive review of essential medicines for mental health conditions

The Expert Committee welcomed and supported the proposal from the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use for a comprehensive review of the mental health chapters of the EML and EMLc to be carried out in the next biennium, to ensure that the Model Lists are updated and consistent with recommendations in WHO guidelines for the management of mental health disorders. The Committee agreed that providing more focused guidance for WHO Member States on which medicines for mental health conditions should be considered essential from a public health perspective and included in national access programmes would be beneficial.

## Therapeutic drug monitoring – advice for SAGE-IVD

The Expert Committee considered a report and request for advice from the Secretary of the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on In Vitro Diagnostics (SAGE-IVD). The SAGE-IVD requested the Committee's endorsement or modification of a prioritized list of essential medicines for which therapeutic drug monitoring is required. This would then inform a call for submissions for relevant in vitro diagnostic tests for therapeutic drug monitoring to be evaluated for inclusion on the WHO Model List of Essential In Vitro Diagnostics.

The Expert Committee advised that it considered the proposed prioritized list of medicines to be appropriate, with the exception of methotrexate. Because the use of methotrexate is common in clinical practice for several diseases, the Committee recommended that therapeutic drug monitoring of methotrexate be considered a high priority to reduce the incidence of toxicity, especially when methotrexate is used in high-dose treatment protocols.

Following recommendations made at the meeting for the inclusion of everolimus and tacrolimus on the Model Lists, the Committee also advised that these medicines be considered as moderate priority candidates for therapeutic drug monitoring assays. In addition, the Committee considered that there is a role for therapeutic drug monitoring of voriconazole in *Aspergillus* infections due to its pharmacokinetic characteristics and potential for drug–drug interactions. Therefore, the Committee advised that voriconazole be considered a moderate priority candidate for therapeutic drug monitoring assays.

12

# 4. Summary of recommendations

# **Changes to Sections of the Model Lists**

Refer to Table 1 of the Executive Summary for details of changes to sections and subsections of the Model Lists.

# Additions to the Model Lists

<u>Section 6.2.1</u>: Trimethoprim was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc as an Access group antibiotic for treatment of lower urinary tract infections.

<u>Section 6.2.3</u>: Cefiderocol was added to the complementary list of the EML as a Reserve group antibiotic for treatment of infections due to multidrug-resistant organisms.

<u>Section 6.3</u>: Micafungin, with a square box, was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of invasive candida infections. Therapeutic alternatives under the square box listing are anidulafungin and caspofungin.

<u>Section 6.4.4.2.1</u>: Daclatasvir, daclatasvir + sofosbuvir, glecaprevir + pibrentasvir, sofosbuvir and sofosbuvir + velpatasvir were added to the core list of the EMLc as pan-genotypic treatment for children with chronic hepatitis C virus infection.

<u>Section 7.1</u>: Sumatriptan was added to the core list of the EML for the treatment of acute migraine.

<u>Section 8.1</u>: Tacrolimus was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of graft rejection following organ transplantation.

<u>Section 8.2.1</u>: Vinorelbine was added to the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma.

<u>Section 8.2.2</u>: Everolimus was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of subependymal giant cell astrocytoma associated with tuberous sclerosis complex. Ibrutinib was added to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia.

Section 8.2.5: Rasburicase was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment and prevention of tumour lysis syndrome.

<u>Section 13.4</u>: Calcipotriol, with a square box, was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of psoriasis. Therapeutic alternatives under the square box listing are calcitriol and tacalcitol.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

<u>Section 18.5.1</u>: Long-acting insulin analogues, with a square box, were added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of types 1 and 2 diabetes in patients at high risk of hypoglycaemia. Therapeutic alternatives under the square box listing are insulin degludec, insulin detemir and insulin glargine, including quality-assured biosimilar products.

<u>Section 18.5.2</u>: Empagliflozin, with a square box, was added to the core list of the EML for the treatment of adults with type 2 diabetes with or at high risk of cardiovascular disease or diabetic neuropathy. Therapeutic alternatives under the square box listing are canagliflozin and dapagliflozin.

<u>Section 19.2</u>: Anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies and equine rabies immunoglobulin were added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for rabies postexposure prophylaxis.

<u>Section 22.5</u>: Multiple micronutrient supplement was added to the core list of the EML for use as an antenatal supplement.

<u>Section 24.1</u>: Paliperidone long-acting injection, with a square box, was added to the core list of the EML for the treatment of schizophrenia and related chronic psychotic disorders. A therapeutic alternative under the square box listing is risperidone long-acting injection.

<u>Section 24.5</u>: Bupropion and varenicline were added to the core list of the EML for use in smoking cessation.

<u>Section 29.2</u>: Hydroxychloroquine was added to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus and systemic lupus erythematosus.

<u>Section 30</u>: Glass ionomer cement and silver diamine fluoride were added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of dental caries. The listing for sodium fluoride was transferred from Section 27, and amended to fluoride, to accommodate listing for fluoride toothpaste and other topical fluoride-containing preparations for the prevention and treatment of dental caries.

# **Deletions from the Model Lists**

Section 6.2.5: Amikacin 100 mg, 500 mg and 1 g powder for injection, isoniazid 50 mg scored tablet, linezolid 400 mg tablet and 2 mg/mL intravenous injection, p-aminosalicylic acid 500 mg tablet, and pyrazinamide 150 mg scored tablet formulations were deleted from the EML and EMLc. Isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin 75 mg + 400 mg + 150 mg tablets were deleted from the EML.

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 125 mg + 31.25 mg powder for oral liquid was deleted from the EMLc.

<u>Section 6.4.2</u>: Atazanavir 100 mg solid oral dosage form, efavirenz 200 mg scored tablet, lopinavir + ritonavir 400 mg + 100 mg/5 mL oral liquid, raltegravir 100 mg chewable tablets, and ritonavir 400 mg/5 mL oral liquid were deleted from the EML and EMLc. Atazanavir 300 mg solid oral dosage form and lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine 150 mg + 200 mg + 300 mg were deleted from the EML. Abacavir 60 mg dispersible tablets, lamivudine 150 mg tablets, lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine 30 mg + 50 mg + 60 mg tablets, raltegravir 400 mg tablets and ritonavir 100 mg oral powder were deleted from the EMLc.

Section 6.4.3: Oseltamivir 12 mg/mL powder for oral liquid was deleted from the EML and EMLc.

# **New indications**

<u>Section 6.1.4</u>: New indications of diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts (cystic echinococcosis, alveolar echinococcosis and neurocysticercosis) were added for albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel on the EML and EMLc.

<u>Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2</u>: Additional indications for Access and Watch group antibiotics were included in the EML and EMLc as follows:

- Endophthalmitis (EML and EMLc): ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, vancomycin
- Necrotizing fasciitis (EML and EMLc): ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam, vancomycin
- Complicated intraabdominal infections (EMLc): ampicillin, gentamicin
- Neonatal meningitis (EMLc): gentamicin.

<u>Section 6.2.5</u>: The new indication for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis was included for moxifloxacin and rifapentine on the EML.

<u>Section 8.2</u>: Additional indications for antineoplastic and supportive medicines were included in the EML and EMLc as follows:

- Acute myeloid leukaemia: etoposide
- Burkitt lymphoma: dexamethasone, hydrocortisone, ifosfamide, mesna, methotrexate, methylprednisolone
- Ewing sarcoma: dactinomycin
- Head and neck cancer (EML only): carboplatin (as a radiosensitizer)

15

- Low-grade glioma: carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine, vincristine
- Nephroblastoma: carboplatin, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, ifosfamide, irinotecan, mesna
- Ovarian germ cell tumours: carboplatin
- Osteosarcoma: etoposide
- Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph+) acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: imatinib
- Rhabdomyosarcoma: irinotecan, vinorelbine
- Testicular germ cell tumours: carboplatin

<u>Section 21.1</u>: The new indication of bacterial conjunctivitis was included for ofloxacin eye drops on the EML and EMLc.

## New formulations/strengths

<u>Sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2</u>: Additional formulations and/or strengths of the following Access and Watch group antibiotics were included on the EML:

- Amoxicillin: solid oral dosage form 1 g
- Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid: tablet 875 mg + 125 mg
- Cefalexin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg
- Ceftriaxone: powder for injection 2 g
- Ciprofloxacin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg
- Clindamycin: injection 600 mg/4 mL, 900 mg/6 mL
- Phenoxymethylpenicillin: tablet 500 mg
- Vancomycin: powder for injection 500 mg, 1 g

<u>Section 6.2.5</u>: Additional formulations and strengths of the following medicines for the treatment of tuberculosis were included:

- Amikacin (EML and EMLc): injection 100 mg/2 mL, 250 mg/mL in 2 mL vial
- Bedaquiline (EMLc): tablet 20 mg
- Delamanid (EMLc): tablet (dispersible) 25 mg
- Isoniazid + rifapentine (EML and EMLc): tablet 300 mg + 300 mg
- Pyrazinamide (EML and EMLc): tablet 500 mg
- Rifapentine (EML and EMLc): tablet 300 mg

<u>Section 6.4.2.4</u>: A 10 mg dispersible, scored tablet formulation of dolutegravir was included in the EMLc for the treatment of HIV in children.

<u>Section 6.4.4.2.1</u>: Sofosbuvir 200 mg tablets and a fixed dose combination tablet of daclatasvir + sofosbuvir 60 mg + 400 mg were included in the EML for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection.

<u>Section 8.2.1</u>: Additional formulations and strengths of the following cancer medicines were included:

- Cisplatin (EML and EMLc): injection 10 mg/10 mL, 20 mg/20 mL
- Cyclophosphamide (EML and EMLc): powder for injection 1 g, 2 g in vial
- Vinblastine (EML and EMLc): injection 10 mg (sulfate)/10 mL
- Vincristine (EML and EMLc): injection 1 mg (sulfate)/mL, 2 mg (sulfate)/2 mL
- Vinorelbine (EML): capsule 20 mg, 30 mg, 80 mg

<u>Section 17.3</u>: Prednisolone retention enema formulation 20 mg/100 mL (as sodium phosphate) was included in the EML for the treatment of Crohn disease and ulcerative colitis.

<u>Section 22.1.6</u>: A combined contraceptive vaginal-ring formulation of ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel was included in the EML.

# Other changes to listings

<u>Sections 5 and 24.2.2</u>: Addition of cautionary note on the use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential to the listings for valproic acid (sodium valproate) on the EML and EMLc.

<u>Section 6.2.1</u>: Removal of the indication for lower urinary tract infection from the listing of amoxicillin on the EML and EMLc. Change to the listing for cefalexin on the EML and EMLc from second choice to first choice for skin and soft tissue infections.

<u>Section 6.2.5</u>: Change to the age limit for bedaquiline from  $\geq$  6 years to  $\geq$  5 years. Replacement of formulation strength ranges with specific formulation strengths for ethambutol and isoniazid.

<u>Section 6.4.2.2</u>: Removal of the age and weight limit for efavirenz on the EML as efavirenz is no longer included on the EMLc for treatment of children with HIV.

<u>Section 8.2.4</u>: Addition of a square box to the listing of abiraterone on the EML, specifying enzalutamide as a therapeutic alternative.

<u>Section 27</u>: Transfer of the listing of sodium fluoride from Section 27 (Vitamins and Minerals) to the new section (Section 30) for dental preparations; amendment of the listing to "fluoride"; inclusion of toothpaste formulation and strength, with other formulations and strengths of topical fluoride preparations to be reviewed.

Refer to Table 1 of the Executive Summary for details of changes made following the review of square box listings on the Model Lists.

# Applications not recommended

<u>Section 4.2</u>: New indication of non-paracetamol-induced acute liver failure for N-acetylcysteine (EML and EMLc).

<u>Section 6.2.5</u>: Inclusion of intravenous formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin for severe forms of tuberculosis (EML and EMLc). Deletion of oral liquid formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and pyrazinamide, and 125 mg tablet formulation of ethionamide.

<u>Section 6.4.2.5</u>: Inclusion of a fixed-dose combination formulation of abacavir + lamivudine + lopinavir/ritonavir for HIV infection in children (EMLc).

Section 8.2: Applications for the following cancer medicines:

- Inclusion of azacitidine for acute myeloid leukaemia (EML)
- Inclusion of BRAF/MEK inhibitors (dabrafenib + trametinib, encorafenib + binimetinib, vemurafenib + cobimetinib) for metastatic melanoma with BRAFV600 mutation (EML)
- Inclusion of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors (abemaciclib, palbociclib, ribociclib) for hormone receptor positive/HER-2 negative advanced or metastatic breast cancer (EML)
- Inclusion of daratumumab for newly diagnosed and relapsed/ refractory multiple myeloma (EML)
- Inclusion of fulvestrant for metastatic breast cancer (EML)
- Inclusion of osimertinib for EGFR mutation-positive advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (EML)
- Inclusion of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors (atezolizumab, durvalumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab) for locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (EML)
- Inclusion of pertuzumab for HER-2 positive unresectable or metastatic breast cancer (EML)

- Inclusion of tislelizumab for relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma and locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer (EML)
- Inclusion of zanubrutinib for relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma (EML)
- New indication of rhabdomyosarcoma for doxorubicin (EML and EMLc)

<u>Section 15</u>: Inclusion of hypochlorous acid solution for use in antisepsis and wound decontamination (EML and EMLc).

Section 22: New indication of polycystic ovary syndrome for simvastatin (EML).

<u>Section 24</u>: Inclusion of methylphenidate for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (EML and EMLc).

<u>Section 29.3</u>: Inclusion of the following medicines for juvenile joint diseases on the EML and EMLC:

- Anakinra for systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with macrophage activation syndrome
- Tocilizumab for systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis
- Triamcinolone hexacetonide for juvenile idiopathic arthritis

# 5. Applications for the 22nd Model List of Essential Medicines and the 8th Model List of Essential Medicines for Children

# Section 4: ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS

# 4.2 Specific

N-acetylcysteine - addition - EML and EMLc

## **N-acetylcysteine**

## ATC Code: V03AB23

## Proposal

Addition of N-acetylcysteine on the EML and EMLc for a new indication for the management of non-paracetamol-induced acute liver failure caused by etiologies that deplete glutathione.

## Applicant

Jill M. Pulley, Rebecca Jerome; Vanderbilt Institute for Clinical and Translational Research, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, United States of America

## WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Neglected Tropical Diseases. The technical department advised that the evidence presented in the application for incorporation of N-acetylcysteine for treatment of dengue-associated liver injury or failure is based on incomplete reports. Further studies are needed to strengthen the evidence. It must be very clear that including N-acetylcysteine as an essential medicine does not represent a recommendation for its use in dengue-induced liver failure.

The technical department had no objection to including N-acetylcysteine as an essential medicine for liver failure in general, if there are sufficient data in the application.

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

4.2 Antidotes and other substances used in poisonings - Specific

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 200 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule Oral liquid: 10%, 20%

#### Core/Complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Acetylcysteine injection was added to the EML in 1999 and to the EMLc in 2007 for the treatment of paracetamol poisoning. The oral formulation was added in 2009.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Acute liver failure is a serious clinical condition, with high morbidity and mortality in the absence of supportive clinical care and potentially liver transplantation (1, 2). It affects all age groups, and there are many causes. This application focuses on acute liver failure with known involvement of glutathione, since this protein is targeted by N-acetylcysteine.

Acute viral hepatitis infections are responsible for most cases of acute liver failure globally, with variation in causative viral pathogen in different regions (e.g. hepatitis A, B, E; dengue virus) (3). It has been estimated that 390 million dengue virus infections occur a year, of which 96 million show clinical symptoms (of any severity of disease) (4). A growing number of reports describe links between climate variations and the emergence of "climate-sensitive infectious diseases", which would include all of the mosquito-borne diseases, including dengue, chikungunya and Zika virus disease (5), suggesting the global burden these diseases could be worsening. Dengue is endemic in more than 120 countries, with about 3.9 billion people at risk of infection (6). Liver injury and failure may complicate the disease course in a substantial portion of individuals affected by dengue; in an analysis of 347 patients hospitalized for dengue during one outbreak in Thailand, 219 patients (63%) had hepatic failure (7).

Heat stroke is another cause of acute liver failure. The global incidence of heat stroke is difficult to estimate due to lack of an accepted system to capture and report cases. In the USA, for example, one study estimated more than 4100 emergency department visits for heat stroke occur each year, an annual national incidence rate of 1.34 visits/100 000 people and a case fatality rate of 3.4% (8).

Amatoxin toxicity from consumption of poisonous mushrooms is a global problem, although it is difficult to estimate incidence because of the great likelihood of underreporting. While more common in some regions such as Europe, the literature includes reports of mushroom poisoning in many regions around the world. People with mushroom poisoning who develop acute liver failure have a poor prognosis in the absence of considerable supportive care and potentially liver transplantation (9, 10).

Acute liver failure caused by excess alcohol intake is another serious condition, with an estimated 30 day mortality of 30% (11). The exact incidence is unknown, but some estimates suggest that up to 20% of alcoholics suffer from acute liver failure (12). The estimated global prevalence of heavy episodic drinking was about 18% in 2016, and such drinking was more common in some areas such as Eastern Europe and sub-Saharan Africa (13), suggesting that some regions may be at risk of an increased prevalence of this type of acute liver failure.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### General non-paracetamol-induced acute liver failure

A 2015 systematic review and meta-analysis of four clinical trials (616 participants, 331 receiving N-acetylcysteine (oral or intravenously) and 285 controls) evaluated the efficacy and safety of N-acetylcysteine in nonparacetamol-associated acute liver failure (*14*). For the outcome of overall survival, no significant difference was identified between treatment groups (71% versus 67%; odds ratio (OR) 1.16, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.81 to 1.67. Significant differences favouring the N-acetylcysteine group were observed for the outcomes of transplant-free survival (41% versus 30%, OR 1.61, 95% CI 1.11 to 2.34) and post-transplantation survival (85.7% versus 71.4%, OR 2.44, 95% CI 1.11 to 5.37).

A randomized study of 80 patients with non-paracetamol-induced acute liver failure evaluated the effect of N-acetylcysteine treatment on mortality, as well as efficacy and safety (*15*). More patients (72.5%) survived in the N-acetylcysteine group than in the control group (47.5%; P = 0.025) and among those who survived, the length of hospital stay was about 2.5 days shorter in the group treated with N-acetylcysteine (P = 0.002).

### Heat stroke-associated acute liver failure

Three case reports have suggested improvement in liver function and other clinical outcomes associated with use of intravenous N-acetylcysteine in patients with heat-related acute liver failure (*16–18*).

### Severe acute alcoholic hepatitis

A systematic review of 22 studies (2621 participants) evaluated the comparative effectiveness of five pharmacological interventions for the treatment of acute alcoholic hepatitis requiring hospitalization (19). A network meta-analysis found

good-quality evidence that corticosteroids alone (relative risk (RR) 0.54, 95% credible interval (CrI) 0.39 to 0.73), or in combination with N-acetylcysteine (RR 0.15, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.39) or pentoxifylline (RR 0.53, 95% CrI 0.36 to 0.78), reduce the risk of short-term mortality. Addition of N-acetylcysteine to corticosteroids may be superior to corticosteroids alone for reducing short-term mortality. No treatment was effective in reducing medium-term mortality.

# Mushroom-induced acute liver failure

A systematic review of 13 studies (506 participants) evaluated the efficacy and safety of N-acetylcysteine in patients suffering amatoxin intoxication (20). Mortality in patients treated with N-acetylcysteine was 8% excluding liver transplant cases and 11% including liver transplant cases. The liver transplantation rate was 4.3%. Various laboratory values related to liver function and coagulopathy improved over 4–7 days after mushroom ingestion. Anaphylactic reactions occurred in 5% of cases. The review concluded that N-acetylcysteine treatment, combined with other therapies, appears to be safe and beneficial in this type of poisoning.

# Acute viral hepatitis

Two small retrospective case series describe N-acetylcysteine use in children with acute liver failure in the context of acute viral hepatitis (*21,22*). Hepatitis A was the most common etiology. Both reports indicated improvement of liver enzymes and coagulation parameters and satisfactory medication tolerance with the use of N-acetylcysteine in this population.

### Dengue

A retrospective cohort study (23), five case series (24-28), and seven case reports (29-35) including a total of 43 patients with dengue infection receiving N-acetylcysteine in addition to usual care were identified. Denguerelated illnesses ranged in severity, but no patients appeared to have mild disease. Outcome measures included liver function tests, mortality, measures of morbidity such as need for transplant, length of hospital stay and other laboratory measures relevant to dengue and its sequelae. All patients recovered except for three patients with disease level III-IV who already had dengueassociated acute liver failure before treatment. In one case with dengueassociated severe hepatitis (a 53-year-old), liver enzymes reached peak values of aspartate aminotransferase of 16261 U/L and alanine aminotransferases of 4545 U/L on day 4 of admission (day 7 of illness) before N-acetylcysteine treatment (31). After treatment, there was marked improvement in liver enzyme values, with levels dropping by more than half after 48 hours of treatment. In a retrospective case series, 13 people with moderate to severe hepatitis received N-acetylcysteine and had hepatic recovery faster than less sick patients who

did not receive N-acetylcysteine (23). The application also summarized data from case series and case reports that described gradual normalization of liver function tests in patients receiving N-acetylcysteine for moderate to severe dengue.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The safety and tolerability profile of N-acetylcysteine as an antidote for the treatment of paracetamol poisoning is well established. Adverse events observed in the literature presented in the application are consistent with the broader evidence on N-acetylcysteine.

### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of acute liver failure are not currently available.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness data were presented in the application.

N-acetylcysteine is widely used globally and is generally affordable. Considering liver transplantation as an extreme outcome of acute liver failure, liver transplantation has varied costs and availability in different settings; in the USA, for example, it has been reported that the average liver transplant costs more than US\$ 800 000 per patient (*36*). The resources required for transplant and follow-up are likely substantial in most settings, compounded further by the limited availability of organs for transplant. The comparatively low cost of N-acetylcysteine and the potential for averting significant adverse outcomes later, such as the need for liver transplantation, would suggest it is a cost-effective treatment.

### Availability

N-acetylcysteine is widely available across the world. To date, N-acetylcysteine does not have regulatory approval for the prevention or treatment of liver injury from causes other than paracetamol overdose.

# Other considerations

The applicants reviewed a set of data from a phenome-wide association study (PheWAS). These studies can identify diseases or conditions (phenotypes) that are associated with a specific gene/genetic variant (*37*). PheWAS makes use of existing data from the Exomechip genotyping platform (about 250 000 coding

variants across the protein coding region of the genome) and electronic health records of about 35 000 patients. Because PheWAS rationale can be applied to identify other types of phenotypic manifestations of pharmacological targeting (such as with N-acetylcysteine) of a given gene product in humans, these methods are used for drug repurposing (*38*). As a glutathione synthetase "stimulator", N-acetylcysteine is hepatoprotective. This is has been established in its use in paracetamol overdose. The phenotypes associated with a missense single nucleotide polymorphism (R418Q) in the glutathione synthetase gene are risk-causing, so in this regard we can say the single nucleotide polymorphism is behaving as a glutathione synthetase inhibitor (the opposite of the drug). Thus, a variety of liver phenotypes strengthens the inference that decreased glutathione synthetase is associated with a broad range of liver injury, as is true in the etiologies of acute liver failure represented in the current application.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted acute liver failure is relatively rare, but has a range of etiologies, including medicine-associated toxicity, viral infections and other causes. In some cases, liver transplant is needed and the prognosis can be poor with high short-term mortality, particularly where transplantation is unavailable.

N-acetylcysteine is currently included in the Model lists for use as an antidote to paracetamol overdose. The Committee noted this application is for expanding the indication of N-acetylcysteine to conditions where acute liver failure is mediated by glutathione deficiency, including dengue and other causes of viral hepatitis, mushroom toxicity, alcoholic hepatitis and heat stroke. These conditions affect numerous people, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

From the review of the literature presented, the Committee considered that the effects of N-acetylcysteine on mortality, need for transplant and duration of hospitalization are still not established because of the very low certainty of the available evidence. The Committee noted the heterogeneous effects across different patient populations, and the limited information on patient age or severity of illness due to insufficient trial data. The Committee also noted the lack of clinical guidelines on the use of N-acetylcysteine for indications other than paracetamol-induced liver toxicity. In addition, the Committee noted that N-acetylcysteine does not have regulatory approval for indications other than paracetamol overdose.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend listing N-acetylcysteine for the new indication of non-paracetamol-induced acute liver failure because of limited confidence in the estimates of benefits. The Committee considered that higher quality studies may be feasible and would be beneficial to inform any future consideration for listing N-acetylcysteine.

# References

- 1. Khan R, Koppe S. Modern management of acute liver failure. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2018;47(2):313–26.
- 2. Carrion AF, Martin P. Non-intensive care unit management of acute liver failure. Clin Liver Dis. 2018;22(2):389–401.
- 3. Manka P, Verheyen J, Gerken G, Canbay A. Liver failure due to acute viral hepatitis (A-E). Visc Med. 2016;32(2):80–5.
- 4. Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, et al. The global distribution and burden of dengue. Nature. 2013;496(7446):504–7.
- Filho WL, Scheday S, Boenecke J, Gogoi A, Maharaj A, Korovou S. Climate change, health and mosquito-borne diseases: trends and implications to the Pacific Region. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(24):5114.
- 6. Pathak VK, Mohan M. A notorious vector-borne disease: Dengue fever, its evolution as public health threat. J Family Med Prim Care . 2019;8(10):3125–9.
- Wichmann O, Hongsiriwon S, Bowonwatanuwong C, Chotivanich K, Sukthana Y, Pukrittayakamee S. Risk factors and clinical features associated with severe dengue infection in adults and children during the 2001 epidemic in Chonburi, Thailand. Trop Med Int Health. 2004;9(9):1022–9.
- 8. Wu X, Brady JE, Rosenberg H, Li G. Emergency department visits for heat stroke in the United States, 2009 and 2010. Inj Epidemiol. 2014;1(1):8.
- 9. Santi L, Maggioli C, Mastroroberto M, Tufoni M, Napoli L, Caraceni P. Acute liver failure caused by Amanita phalloides poisoning. Int J Hepatol. 2012;2012:487480.
- 10. Karlson-Stiber C, Persson H. Cytotoxic fungi—an overview. Toxicon. 2003;42(4):339–49.
- 11. Mathurin P, Mendenhall CL, Carithers RL, Jr., Ramond MJ, Maddrey WC, Garstide P, et al. Corticosteroids improve short-term survival in patients with severe alcoholic hepatitis (AH): individual data analysis of the last three randomized placebo controlled double blind trials of corticosteroids in severe AH. J Hepatol. 2002;36(4):480–7.
- 12. Naveau S, Giraud V, Borotto E, Aubert A, Capron F, Chaput JC. Excess weight risk factor for alcoholic liver disease. Hepatology. 1997;25(1):108–11.
- 13. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274603, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 14. Hu J, Zhang Q, Ren X, Sun Z, Quan Q. Efficacy and safety of acetylcysteine in "non-acetaminophen" acute liver failure: a meta-analysis of prospective clinical trials. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2015;39(5):594–9.
- 15. Nabi T, Nabi S, Rafiq N, Shah A. Role of N-acetylcysteine treatment in non-acetaminopheninduced acute liver failure: a prospective study. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(3):169–75.
- 16. Monzon B, Hegarty K, Rech MA. A knack for "NAC": treatment for heat stroke induced acute liver injury. Am J Emerg Med. 2020;38(4):853.e1–853.e3.
- 17. Aquilina A, Pirotta T, Aquilina A. Acute liver failure and hepatic encephalopathy in exertional heat stroke. BMJ Case Rep. 2018;2018:bcr-2018-224808.
- 18. Will JS, Snyder CJ, Westerfield KL. N-acetylcysteine (NAC) for the prevention of liver failure in heat injury-mediated ischemic hepatitis. Mil Med. 2019;184(9–10):565–7.
- 19. Singh S, Murad MH, Chandar AK, Bongiorno CM, Singal AK, Atkinson SR, et al. Comparative effectiveness of pharmacological interventions for severe alcoholic hepatitis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 2015;149(4):958–70.e12.

.....

- 20. Liu J, Chen Y, Gao Y, Walline JH, Lu X, Yu S, et al. N-acetylcysteine as a treatment for amatoxin poisoning: a systematic review. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2020;58(11):1015–22.
- 21. Saleem AF, Abbas Q, Haque AU. Use of N-acetylcysteine in children with fulminant hepatic failure caused by acute viral hepatitis. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2015;25(5):354–8.
- 22. Sotelo N, de los Angeles Durazo M, Gonzalez A, Dhanakotti N. Early treatment with N-acetylcysteine in children with acute liver failure secondary to hepatitis A. Ann Hepatol. 2009;8(4):353–8.
- Paramasivam R, Balakrishnan T, Choo KS, KI Z, Dass EP, Mokhtar H, et al. Poster Presentations, P1046. Viral hepatitis (+antiviral therapy). Outcome of hepatitis in dengue after administration of N-acetylcysteine in Klang Hospital. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;28(S3):418–9.
- 24. Tan SS, Bujang MA. The clinical features and outcomes of acute liver failure associated with dengue infection in adults: a case series. Braz J Infect Dis. 2013;17(2):164–9.
- Kumarasena RS, Mananjala Senanayake S, Sivaraman K, de Silva AP, Dassanayake AS, Premaratna R, et al. Intravenous N-acetylcysteine in dengue-associated acute liver failure. Hepatol Int. 2010;4(2):533–4.
- 26. Senanayake MP, Jayamanne MD, Kankananarachchi I. N-acetylcysteine in children with acute liver failure complicating dengue viral infection. Ceylon Med J. 2013;58(2):80–2.
- 27. Kularatne SAM, Ralapanawa U, Dalugama C, Jayasinghe J, Rupasinghe S, Kumarihamy P. Series of 10 dengue fever cases with unusual presentations and complications in Sri Lanka: a single centre experience in 2016. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):674.
- 28. Tan JMC, Tan NWH, Ong C, Thoon KC, CY C. Dengue fever associated liver failure. Pediatric Infect Dis. 2016;1:31.
- Dalugama C, Gawarammana IB. Lessons learnt from managing a case of dengue hemorrhagic fever complicated with acute liver failure and acute kidney injury: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2018;12(1):215.
- 30. Dalugama C, Gawarammana IB. Dengue hemorrhagic fever complicated with acute liver failure: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2017;11(1):341.
- 31. Habaragamuwa BW, Dissanayaka P. N-acetylcystein in dengue associated severe hepatitis. Indian J Crit Care Med. 2014;18(3):181–2.
- 32. Manoj EM, Ranasinghe G, Ragunathan MK. Successful use of N-acetyl cysteine and activated recombinant factor VII in fulminant hepatic failure and massive bleeding secondary to dengue hemorrhagic fever. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2014;7(4):313–5.
- Abeysekera RA, Illangasekera U, Jayalath T, Sandeepana AG, Kularatne SA. Successful use of intravenous N-acetylcysteine in dengue haemorrhagic fever with acute liver failure. Ceylon Med J. 2012;57(4):166–7.
- 34. Lim G, Lee JH. N-acetylcysteine in children with dengue-associated liver failure: a case report. J Trop Pediatr. 2012;58(5):409–13.
- 35. Gan CS, Chong SY, Lum LC, Lee WS. Regular paracetamol in severe dengue: a lethal combination? Singapore Med J. 2013;54(2):e35–7.
- 36. Cook M, Zavala E. The finances of a liver transplant program. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2019;24(2):156–60.
- 37. Denny JC, Ritchie MD, Basford MA, Pulley JM, Bastarache L, Brown-Gentry K, et al. PheWAS: demonstrating the feasibility of a phenome-wide scan to discover gene-disease associations. Bioinformatics. 2010;26(9):1205–10.
- Pulley JM, Shirey-Rice JK, Lavieri RR, Jerome RN, Zaleski NM, Aronoff DM, et al. Accelerating precision drug development and drug repurposing by leveraging human genetics. Assay Drug Dev Technol. 2017;15(3):113–9.

# Section 5: ANTICONVULSANTS/ANTIEPILEPTICS

*Valproic acid (sodium valproate) – change to listing – EML and EMLc* 

# Valproic acid (sodium valproate)

ATC Code: N03AG01

# Proposal

Transfer of the current listings of valproic acid (sodium valproate) on the EML and EMLc from the core to the complementary list, and addition of a cautionary note about its use with pregnant women and women and girls of child-bearing potential.

# Applicant

Independent Fetal Anticonvulsant Trust (INFACT), United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

# WHO Technical Department

Mental Health and Substance Use

### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

5. Anticonvulsants/antiepileptics 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

All currently listed dose forms and strengths

# Core/Complementary

Transfer from core to complementary list

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Valproic acid has been included on the EML as a medicine for epilepsy since 1979. It was included on the first EMLc for this indication in 2007.

Since 1997, valproic acid has also been included on the EML for the treatment of bipolar disorder in adults.

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Valproic acid is used in the treatment of labelled indications of epilepsy and bipolar disorder, as well as off-label indications such as migraine prophylaxis, neuropathic pain and behavioural disturbances in dementia.

Valproic acid is a known human teratogen, and its use during pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of birth defects and neurodevelopmental disorders in children exposed to the drug in utero (1-7). To address these risks, regulatory agencies in many parts of the world, including Europe, the United Kingdom and the USA have issued guidance and/or restrictions on the use of valproic acid in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential (8-11).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Not applicable.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The application reproduced the warnings, precautions and contraindications for the use of valproic acid in female children, adolescents and women of childbearing potential and in pregnancy from past and current summaries of product characteristics.

The application also briefly described two studies that evaluated the effects of antiepileptic medicines, including valproic acid, on cognitive and neurodevelopmental outcomes in children exposed to the drugs in utero.

The NEAD study was a prospective, observational multicentre study conducted in the United Kingdom and USA that evaluated the effects of commonly prescribed antiepileptic medicines (carbamazepine, lamotrigine, phenytoin or valproic acid) on cognitive outcomes in children up to 6 years of age born to mothers receiving these medicines during pregnancy (12). The primary outcome of the study was intelligence quotient (IQ) of children at age 6. A total of 244 children were included in the age 6 analysis. The study found that the age 6 IQ was lower in children exposed to valproic acid compared with children exposed to other antiepileptic drugs. Children exposed to valproate also did poorly on measures of verbal and memory abilities compared with children exposed to other antiepileptic drugs. These effects of valproic acid were dose-dependent.

Another prospective, observational study of children born to women with epilepsy compared with a control group of children born to women without epilepsy was conducted in the United Kingdom (1). This study reported an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in children exposed to valproic acid as monotherapy (adjusted odds ratio (aOR) 6.05, 95%CI 1.65 to 24.53) and as polytherapy (aOR 9.97, 95% CI 1.82 to 49.40) compared with controls. Autistic spectrum disorder was the most frequent diagnosis. No significant increase in neurodevelopmental disorders was found among children exposed to carbamazepine or lamotrigine as monotherapy.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO guidelines**

The WHO *mhGAP intervention guide*, version 2.0 for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings (13) includes recommendations for the use of valproic acid in the treatment of epilepsy and manic episodes in bipolar disorder. The guide also includes warnings to avoid the use of valproic acid in women of child-bearing age and during pregnancy and breastfeeding due to the known risks to the child.

The *WHO Pharmaceuticals Newsletter* (14) states the following in relation to the use of valproic acid in pregnancy or in females of child-bearing potential.

"Medicines containing valproate (e.g. sodium valproate, valproic acid, divalproex) should be avoided in pregnant women or in females of child-bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated, because of the high risk of birth defects (such as spina bifida, facial, skull, limb and heart malformations) and developmental disorders in infants who are exposed to valproate in the womb. When alternative treatments are not available or appropriate, female patients prescribed valproate medicines should be made aware of the risk and use effective contraception methods."

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

# Availability

Not applicable

### Other considerations

Not applicable

# **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized the serious risks associated with the use of valproic acid in pregnant women and in females of child-bearing potential. While most of the evidence and regulatory measures described in the application are from Europe, the risks with valproate when prescribed to women and girls of child-bearing potential are equally relevant globally.

Sodium valproate is currently listed as an essential medicine for use in the treatment of epilepsy and bipolar disorder, indications for which it has

30

regulatory approval. Furthermore, valproic acid is recommended for the management of epilepsy and bipolar disorder in the WHO *mhGAP intervention guide*. These guidelines also include a strong recommendation to avoid the use of valproic acid in women of child-bearing age. The Committee considered that inclusion of a cautionary note with the listings of valproic acid to indicate that use should be avoided in pregnant women and females of child-bearing potential was appropriate, although it is aware the EML does not replace prescribing information issued by national medicine regulatory authorities.

The Committee did not recommend transferring the listing of valproic acid from the core to the complementary list. The Committee considered doing so may have negative implications for access to valproic acid and undermine its important role in the management of epilepsy and bipolar disorder, particularly in resource-constrained settings, where access to valproate and alternative treatments is limited.

The Committee supported the need for patient and prescriber education on the risks and appropriate use of valproic acid, including its use for off-label indications, but considered this to be a responsibility of the relevant national decision-makers.

The Committee recommended the following note be included with the listings for valproic acid on the EML and EMLc:

"Avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated, because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb."

### References

- Bromley RL, Mawer GE, Briggs M, Cheyne C, Clayton-Smith J, García-Fiñana M, et al. The prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders in children prenatally exposed to antiepileptic drugs. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(6):637–43.
- Bromley R, Weston J, Adab N, Greenhalgh J, Sanniti A, McKay AJ, et al. Treatment for epilepsy in pregnancy: neurodevelopmental outcomes in the child. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;2014(10):Cd010236.
- Banach R, Boskovic R, Einarson T, Koren G. Long-term developmental outcome of children of women with epilepsy, unexposed or exposed prenatally to antiepileptic drugs: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Drug Saf. 2010;33(1):73–9.
- 4. Kaneko S, Battino D, Andermann E, Wada K, Kan R, Takeda A, et al. Congenital malformations due to antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsy Res. 1999;33(2–3):145–58.
- Diav-Citrin O, Shechtman S, Bar-Oz B, Cantrell D, Arnon J, Ornoy A. Pregnancy outcome after in utero exposure to valproate: evidence of dose relationship in teratogenic effect. CNS drugs. 2008;22(4):325–34.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 6. Dravet C, Julian C, Legras C, Magaudda A, Guerrini R, Genton P, et al. Epilepsy, antiepileptic drugs, and malformations in children of women with epilepsy: a French prospective cohort study. Neurology. 1992;42(4 Suppl 5):75–82.
- 7. Weston J, Bromley R, Jackson CF, Adab N, Clayton-Smith J, Greenhalgh J, et al. Monotherapy treatment of epilepsy in pregnancy: congenital malformation outcomes in the child. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;11(11):Cd010224.
- 8. Casassus B. France bans sodium valproate use in case of pregnancy. Lancet. 2017;390(10091):217.
- PRAC recommends new measures to avoid valproate exposure in pregnancy [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 9 February 2018 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ news/prac-recommends-new-measures-avoid-valproate-exposure-pregnancy, accessed 5 May 2021).
- 10. lacobucci G. MHRA bans valproate prescribing for women not in pregnancy prevention programme. BMJ. 2018;361:k1823.
- FDA drug safety communication: valproate anti-seizure products contraindicated for migraine prevention in pregnant women due to decreased IQ scores in exposed children [internet]. Washington, DC: US Food and Drug Administration; 2016 (https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drugsafety-and-availability/fda-drug-safety-communication-valproate-anti-seizure-productscontraindicated-migraine-prevention, accessed 5 May 2021).
- 12. Meador KJ, Baker GA, Browning N, Cohen MJ, Bromley RL, Clayton-Smith J, et al. Fetal antiepileptic drug exposure and cognitive outcomes at age 6 years (NEAD study): a prospective observational study. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(3):244–52.
- mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in nonspecialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) – version 2.0. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250239, accessed 12 August 2021).
- 14. WHO Pharmaceuticals Newsletter No. 5, 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336439, accessed 5 May 2021).

# Section 6: ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES

# 6.1 Anthelminthics

# 6.1.4 Medicines for taeniid cestode cysts (new-subsection)

Albendazole, mebendazole, praziquantel - new indication - EML and EMLc

Albendazole	ATC Code: P02CA03
Mebendazole	ATC Code: P02CA01
Praziquantel	ATC Code: P02BA01

# Proposal

Extension of the indications for albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel on the EML and EMLc to include treatment for diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts: cystic echinococcosis, alveolar echinococcosis and neurocysticercosis.

# Applicant

WHO Department of the Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases

# WHO technical department

Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

6.1.4 Cysticidal medicines (new subsection)

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Albendazole: Tablet (chewable): 400 mg Mebendazole: Tablet (chewable): 500 mg Praziquantel: Tablet: 500 mg, 600 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

Individual/square box listing Individual The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel have not been previously considered for inclusion on the Model Lists for treatment of diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts.

All three medicines are included on the Model Lists for other anthelminthic indications.

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

# Cystic echinococcosis

Human infection with Echinococcus granulosus leads to the development of one or more cysts located most often in the liver and lungs, and less frequently in the bones, kidneys, spleen, muscles and central nervous system. The asymptomatic incubation period of the disease can last many years until hydatid cysts grow large enough to trigger clinical signs. The clinical signs of E. granulosus infection vary depending on the number, location and size of the cysts. They and manifest commonly as pain and compromised organ function, which worsen as the cysts enlarge. Infection is debilitating and fatal in some patients. Cystic echinococcosis is globally distributed and is most prevalent in communities where pastoral activities predominate, as the most common transmission cycle involves dogs and sheep (but can also involve other livestock species). Such communities are found in all countries bordering the Mediterranean Sea, many regions and countries in central Asia, and parts of China, Australia and South America. In endemic regions, the incidence of cystic echinococcosis in humans can reach more than 50 per 100 000 person-years, and prevalence levels as high as 5-10% may occur in parts of Argentina, Central Asia, China, East Africa and Peru (1).

# Alveolar echinococcosis

Infection in humans with *E. multilocularis* is characterized by an asymptomatic incubation period of 5–15 years and the slow development of a primary tumourlike lesion, which is usually located in the liver. Clinical signs include weight loss, abdominal pain, general malaise and signs of liver failure. Larval metastases may spread either to organs adjacent to the liver (for example, the spleen) or to distant locations (such as the lungs or the brain) by dissemination of the parasite via the blood and lymphatic system. If left untreated, alveolar echinococcosis is progressive and universally fatal. Alveolar echinococcosis is confined to the northern hemisphere, in particular to regions of China, the Russian Federation, Central Asia and countries in continental Europe.

# Neurocysticercosis

Neurocysticercosis is caused by the larval stages of *Taenia solium* encysting in the central nervous system. In many cases, neurocysticercosis is asymptomatic,

but the most common sign of symptomatic neurocysticercosis are epileptic seizures. Neurocysticercosis is thought to be the leading cause of preventable epilepsy worldwide. Neurocysticercosis can also cause chronic headaches, blindness, focal deficits and psychiatric symptoms. Clinical signs will vary depending on the number, location and size of the cysts. Parenchymal brain cysts are associated with seizures and epilepsy and are more amenable to treatment, particularly in individuals with viable or degenerating cysts. Extraparenchymal neurocysticercosis is associated with hydrocephalus, meningitis, focal neurological deficits, and sometimes death, and it is more difficult to treat. T. solium is endemic in South and Central America, South and South-East Asia, and parts of sub-Saharan Africa where pigs roam free (pigs are the intermediate host), and where open defecation is practised. It is a disease of poverty, principally affecting the most marginalized communities. Few data are available on the burden of disease caused by T. solium. Two different research groups estimated the number of epilepsy cases associated with neurocysticercosis globally to be 370 710 in 2010 (2) and 1.93 million in 2015 (3). WHO estimates the burden of T. solium to be 2 788 426 disabilityadjusted life years (2). In areas endemic for cysticercosis, about 30% of people with epilepsy show lesions of neurocysticercosis on imaging (4).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Cystic echinococcosis and alveolar echinococcosis

Benzimidazoles (albendazole and mebendazole) are indicated for patients with inoperable liver or lung cystic echinococcosis (patients with multiple cysts in two or more organs, or with peritoneal cysts). Small (< 5 cm) cystic echinococcosis 1 and cystic echinococcosis 3a cysts in the liver and lung respond well to benzimidazole alone. Benzimidazoles should be used to prevent recurrence following surgery, or puncture, aspiration, injection, reaspiration (PAIR) (5).

Albendazole is currently the drug of choice for cystic echinococcosis. Mebendazole may be used if albendazole is not available or not well tolerated. The standard dosage of albendazole of 10-15 mg/kg a day for 3–6 months has about a 30% cure rate. The number of patients with clinical or ultrasound improvement increases with longer durations of treatment while the proportion of patients with cure does not significantly change (6,7). Albendazole is more effective in young patients and for small cystic echinococcosis 1 and cystic echinococcosis 3a cysts. Benzimidazoles are less effective for cystic echinococcosis 2 and cystic echinococcosis 3b (6,7). The importance of cyst stage and size in determining response to treatment was confirmed by a systematic review (8). Sole treatment with a benzimidazole is also indicated for patients with inoperable liver or lung

cystic echinococcosis; patients with multiple cysts in two or more organs and patients with peritoneal cysts. Drugs alone are not effective against giant cysts (> 10 cm in diameter) (9).

Benzimidazoles are also used as an adjunct to surgery or interventional procedures to: reduce the cyst's internal tension; complement mechanical removal of the cyst or the chemical sterilization of the parasite; and prevent secondary echinococcosis (9). Albendazole in combination with PAIR has been shown to reduce the chance of cyst recurrence (10).

Benzimidazole treatment is required for several years in all patient with inoperable alveolar echinococcosis and following surgical resection of the parasite lesions. Since residual parasite tissue may remain undetected at radical surgery, including liver transplantation, benzimidazole should be given for at least 2 years and these patients should be monitored for a minimum of 10 years for possible recurrence. Presurgical benzimidazoles administration is not recommended except in the case of liver transplantation. Albendazole is the drug of choice for alveolar echinococcosis. Mebendazole may be given if albendazole is not available or not tolerated.

Controlled, but non-randomized, studies showed that long-term benzimidazole treatment improved the 10-year survival rate in patients with alveolar echinococcosis who had not had radical surgery compared with historical untreated control patients, from 6–25% to 80–83%, respectively (11), and prevented recurrences after radical surgery (12).

#### Neurocysticercosis

A meta-analysis of 11 randomized trials of albendazole and praziquantel for the treatment of neurocysticercosis evaluated the effect of cysticidal drugs on neuroimaging and clinical outcomes in 942 patients with neurocysticercosis (464 with cystic lesions, 478 with enhancing lesions) (13). Cysticidal drug therapy was associated with significantly higher rate of complete resolution of cystic lesions (44% versus 19%; P = 0.025) and with improved, though not statistically significant, resolution for enhancing lesions (72% versus 63%; P = 0.38). Excluding an outlier trial from the analysis, the difference in response for enhancing lesions became statistically significant (69% versus 55%; P = 0.006). The risk of seizure recurrence was lower after cysticidal treatment in patients with enhancing lesions (14% versus 37%; P = 0.001). The single trial evaluating the frequency of seizures in patients with cystic lesions showed a 67% reduction in the rate of generalized seizures with treatment (P = 0.006).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel have been used as treatments of choice for diseases caused by taeniid cestodes cysts for over 30 years.

### Cystic echinococcosis and alveolar echinococcosis

Benzimidazoles are well tolerated in 70–80% of cases, but more adverse effects are seen in patients with immunosuppression (14). The most commonly reported side-effects are hepatotoxicity, elevation of aminotransferases, proteinuria, transient hair loss, gastrointestinal disturbances, leukopenia, thrombocytopenia and neurological symptoms, including sleeplessness and vertigo (15).

In cystic echinococcosis, benzimidazoles are contraindicated in cysts at risk of rupture and in early pregnancy. In addition, benzimidazoles must be used with caution in patients with chronic liver disease and avoided in patients with bone-marrow depression. In alveolar echinococcosis, due to the severity of the condition, contraindications are limited mainly to life-threatening sideeffects (5).

For cystic echinococcosis, follow-up visits, including ultrasound examination should be performed every 3–6 months initially, and then annually once the situation is stable. Leukocyte counts and aminotransferase measurements are recommended at monthly intervals to monitor for adverse reactions (5). For alveolar echinococcosis, monitoring of liver enzymes and blood cell counts are recommended every 2 weeks for the first 3 months, then monthly for 1 year, then every 3 months. Decreased leukocyte count below  $1 \times 10^9$ /L indicates benzimidazole toxicity and warrants treatment withdrawal (5).

#### Neurocysticercosis

The main side-effects of albendazole in patients treated with doses of 15 mg/ kg a day or lower for 28 days are due to parasiticidal activity and treatmentinduced inflammation and include headaches, seizures and dizziness. There is a transient increase in the number of seizures after therapy. Hepatotoxicity and leukopenia are known adverse effects of albendazole and are considered relative contraindications to continued use. Monitoring of liver enzymes and complete blood counts is recommended during the first month of treatment (*16*).

Randomized trials of albendazole for neurocysticercosis have found no significant differences in adverse events between patients treated with albendazole or placebo (17, 18).

The main side-effects of praziquantel in patients with neurocysticercosis are due to its cysticidal activity, and include headache, dizziness and seizures. Doses up to 100 mg/kg a day for up to 28 days have been used in neurocysticercosis without additional laboratory adverse effects. More than 10% of patients treated with praziquantel experience gastrointestinal side-effects including nausea, vomiting and abdominal pain. As with albendazole therapy, monitoring of liver enzymes and complete blood counts is recommended (*16*).

Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of *T. solium* neurocysticercosis were approved (with revisions) by the WHO Guidelines Review Committee in October 2020.

The guideline includes two proposed recommendations on antiparasitic treatment.

Recommendation 1: Anthelminthic therapy in combination with corticosteroids should be provided to individuals with symptomatic neurocysticercosis and viable parenchymal brain cysts for better outcomes in terms of cyst resolution, and potentially improved seizure control (strong recommendation, moderate quality of evidence).

Rationale: The quality of evidence was moderate for the effect of anthelminthic therapy on cyst resolution, and for the effect of anthelminthic therapy in improving seizure control. It was decided that this should be a strong recommendation because the potential benefit – cyst resolution and possibly improved seizure control – likely outweighs any potential harm associated with the use of anthelminthic therapy.

Remarks:

- Albendazole, in combination with corticosteroids, has been shown to be superior to either corticosteroids only or no treatment at all.
- Dual therapy with praziquantel and albendazole has been shown to be more effective than treatment with albendazole alone in individuals with two or more parenchymal brain cysts.
- Evidence on the use of albendazole in pregnant women was not evaluated; pregnant women should seek expert advice before receiving treatment with albendazole.
- There is no evidence that anthelminthic therapy in children should be different to that of adults.
- Although evidence is lacking, the clinical experience of experts indicates that anthelminthic drugs should not be used in patients with symptomatic neurocysticercosis and encephalitis. If inflammation is pronounced in these cases, patients should be treated with corticosteroids alone.

 Enhanced dosing schedules of corticosteroids (i.e. of 28 days duration) were associated with better clinical outcomes compared with shorter dosing schedules (e.g. of 10 days duration); however, this may not be the optimal schedule.

Recommendation 2: Anthelminthic therapy in combination with corticosteroids should be provided to individuals with symptomatic neurocysticercosis and a single enhancing lesion for better outcomes in terms of cyst resolution and potentially improved seizure control (moderate recommendation, moderate to very low quality of evidence).

Rationale: The quality of evidence was considered low for the effect of anthelminthic therapy on cyst resolution, and very low for the effect of anthelminthic therapy in improving seizure control. It was decided that this should be a conditional recommendation because of the methodological differences between studies. However, all studies found the combination of albendazole and corticosteroids to have a beneficial effect.

Remarks:

 Many studies are available on the use of anthelminthic therapy in combination with corticosteroids in individuals with a single enhancing lesion; however, significant limitations are present in the synthesis of these data in existing meta-analyses.

The application included a summarized version of the evidence on which these recommendations were based. Notably, only studies related to albendazole were included, because the studies that included praziquantel had methodological problems (19-21). However, based on expert opinion, and a study of the combination of albendazole and praziquantel (22), praziquantel was also included in the recommendation.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The cost of albendazole (400 mg tablets) varies widely. The cost of 3 months of treatment for cystic echinococcosis in endemic countries for generic or locally produced albendazole ranges from US\$ 39.60 in Turkey to US\$ 987.30 in Chile.

For the minimum 14-day treatment of neurocysticercosis in endemic countries, the cost for generic or locally produced albendazole ranges from US\$ 10.50 in Zambia to US\$ 39.50 in Uganda. For praziquantel, the 14-day treatment costs range from US\$ 16.80 in Uganda to US\$ 132.30 in Mexico.

Mebendazole tablets are donated to WHO from the manufacturer.

#### Availability

Albendazole 400 mg tablets are available in originator and generic brands.

Mebendazole 500 mg tablets are available in originator and generic brands. WHO receives donation of 500 mg mebendazole tablets from Johnson & Johnson.

Praziquantel 500 mg and 600 mg tablets are produced by Merck. Praziquantel 600 mg tablets are also produced by Bayer, and donated to WHO for the treatment of *T. solium* taeniasis.

#### Other considerations

Comments on the application were received from Médecins Sans Frontières, in which strong support for the proposed listings was expressed.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts (cystic echinococcosis, alveolar echinococcosis and neurocysticercosis) are neglected tropical diseases with a global disease burden for which a public health need exists for effective treatment.

The Committee noted that benzimidazoles are established as the treatment of choice for cystic echinococcosis and alveolar echinococcosis; anthelminthic therapy with albendazole or praziquantel is the treatment of choice for neurocysticercosis. These recommendations are supported by evidence for benefit from non-randomized and randomized clinical trials, expert consensus and in WHO and other international treatment guidelines. The Committee also noted that albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel have been included on the Model Lists as anthelminthic treatments for other indications for more than 30 years, and their use in clinical practice is well established.

The Committee therefore recommended expanding the listings of albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel on the EML and EMLc to include new indications for the diseases caused by taeniid cestode cysts. Specifically, albendazole and mebendazole for treatment of cystic echinococcosis and alveolar echinococcosis, and albendazole and praziquantel for treatment of neurocysticercosis. Noting the need for specialized diagnostic, monitoring and medical care for patients with these diseases, listing was recommended on the Complementary list, in a new sub-section for cysticidal medicines.

# References

- 1. Craig PS, McManus DP, Lightowlers MW, Chabalgoity JA, Garcia HH, Gavidia CM, et al. Prevention and control of cystic echinococcosis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2007;7(6):385–94.
- 2. Torgerson PR, Devleesschauwer B, Praet N, Speybroeck N, Willingham AL, Kasuga F, et al. World Health Organization estimates of the global and regional disease burden of 11 foodborne parasitic diseases, 2010: a data synthesis. PLoS Med. 2015;12(12):e1001920.

- Disease GBD, Injury I, Prevalence C. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2017;390(10100):1211–59.
- Ndimubanzi PC, Carabin H, Budke CM, Nguyen H, Qian YJ, Rainwater E, et al. A systematic review of the frequency of neurocyticercosis with a focus on people with epilepsy. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2010;4(11):e870.
- 5. Brunetti E, Kern P, Vuitton DA, Writing Panel for the WHO-IWGE. Expert consensus for the diagnosis and treatment of cystic and alveolar echinococcosis in humans. Acta Trop. 2010;114(1):1–16.
- Vutova K, Mechkov G, Vachkov P, Petkov R, Georgiev P, Handjiev S, et al. Effect of mebendazole on human cystic echinococcosis: the role of dosage and treatment duration. Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 1999;93(4):357–65.
- 7. Franchi C, Di Vico B, Teggi A. Long-term evaluation of patients with hydatidosis treated with benzimidazole carbamates. Clin Infect Dis. 1999;29(2):304–9.
- 8. Stojkovic M, Zwahlen M, Teggi A, Vutova K, Cretu CM, Virdone R, et al. Treatment response of cystic echinococcosis to benzimidazoles: a systematic review. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2009;3(9):e524.
- 9. Kern P, Menezes da Silva A, Akhan O, Mullhaupt B, Vizcaychipi KA, Budke C, et al. The echinococcoses: diagnosis, clinical management and burden of disease. Adv Parasitol. 2017;96:259–369.
- 10. Akhan O, Yildiz AE, Akinci D, Yildiz BD, Ciftci T. Is the adjuvant albendazole treatment really needed with PAIR in the management of liver hydatid cysts? A prospective, randomized trial with short-term follow-up results. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2014;37(6):1568–74.
- 11. Ammann RW, Eckert J. Cestodes. Echinococcus. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 1996;25(3):655–89.
- 12. Torgerson PR, Schweiger A, Deplazes P, Pohar M, Reichen J, Ammann RW, et al. Alveolar echinococcosis: from a deadly disease to a well-controlled infection. Relative survival and economic analysis in Switzerland over the last 35 years. J Hepatol. 2008;49(1):72–7.
- 13. Del Brutto OH, Roos KL, Coffey CS, Garcia HH. Meta-analysis: cysticidal drugs for neurocysticercosis: albendazole and praziquantel. Ann Intern Med. 2006;145(1):43–51.
- 14. Chauchet A, Grenouillet F, Knapp J, Richou C, Delabrousse E, Dentan C, et al. Increased incidence and characteristics of alveolar echinococcosis in patients with immunosuppression-associated conditions. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(8):1095–104.
- Junghanss T, da Silva AM, Horton J, Chiodini PL, Brunetti E. Clinical management of cystic echinococcosis: state of the art, problems, and perspectives. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2008;79(3):301–11.
- White AC, Jr., Coyle CM, Rajshekhar V, Singh G, Hauser WA, Mohanty A, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of neurocysticercosis: 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) and the American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene (ASTMH). Clin Infect Dis. 2018;66(8):1159–63.
- 17. Carpio A, Kelvin EA, Bagiella E, Leslie D, Leon P, Andrews H, et al. Effects of albendazole treatment on neurocysticercosis: a randomised controlled trial. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2008;79(9):1050–5.
- Garcia HH, Pretell EJ, Gilman RH, Martinez SM, Moulton LH, Del Brutto OH, et al. A trial of antiparasitic treatment to reduce the rate of seizures due to cerebral cysticercosis. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(3):249–58.
- 19. Sotelo J, Escobedo F, Penagos P. Albendazole vs praziquantel for therapy for neurocysticercosis. A controlled trial. Arch Neurol. 1988;45(5):532–4.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 20. Sotelo J, Escobedo F, Rodriguez-Carbajal J, Torres B, Rubio-Donnadieu F. Therapy of parenchymal brain cysticercosis with praziquantel. N Engl J Med. 1984;310(16):1001–7.
- 21. Carpio A, Santillán F, León P, Flores C, Hauser WA. Is the course of neurocysticercosis modified by treatment with antihelminthic agents? Arch Intern Med. 1995;155(18):1982–8.
- 22. Garcia HH, Gonzales I, Lescano AG, Bustos JA, Zimic M, Escalante D, et al. Efficacy of combined antiparasitic therapy with praziquantel and albendazole for neurocysticercosis: a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(8):687–95.

42

# 6.2 Antibacterials

- 6.2.1 Access group antibiotics
- 6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics

# 6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

Antibiotics for bronchitis and bronchiolitis – new indication – EML and EMLc

# Bronchitis and bronchiolitis

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz, Paul Alexander; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

# Introduction

Acute bronchitis is a very common respiratory syndrome that frequently leads to the prescription of antibiotics, particularly during peak periods of respiratory virus circulation such as in the autumn and winter, thus contributing to the emergence and spread of antimicrobial resistance. There are no recent estimates of the global burden of acute bronchitis, but it is one of the most common reasons for medical visits in many countries. Although infection is thought to trigger episodes of acute bronchitis, pathogens are often not identified and respiratory viruses are responsible for most episodes. Bronchitis is characterized by a transient inflammation of the trachea and major bronchi and is diagnosed clinically based on the new onset of a cough. The clinical presentation may also include sputum production, dyspnoea and wheeze.

Bronchiolitis is inflammation of the bronchioles that occurs in young children and infants for which the cause is viral, predominantly respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). Symptoms include cough, fever, wheezing and difficulty breathing. A recent study estimated that about 33.1 million episodes of acute lower-respiratory tract infections caused by RSV in children younger than 5 years occurred globally in 2015, resulting in 3.2 million hospital admissions and about 60 000 in-hospital deaths. (1).

# Summary of evidence (from the application)

The application presented the results of a search for systematic reviews and meta-analyses of antibiotic therapy for bronchitis and bronchiolitis.

# Acute bronchitis

Two systematic reviews of antibiotic therapy for acute bronchitis were identified and reviewed in detail (2, 3).

A 2017 Cochrane systematic review of 17 randomized controlled trials (5009 participants) evaluated the effects of antibiotic therapy compared

with placebo or no treatment for acute bronchitis (2). Antibiotics included amoxicillin, amoxicillin–clavulanic acid, azithromycin, cefuroxime, doxycycline, erythromycin and trimethoprim–sulfamethoxazole. No difference in clinical improvements was seen between antibiotic and placebo groups (11 studies, 3841 participants; risk ratio (RR) 1.07, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.99 to 1.15). Participants given antibiotics were less likely to have a cough (four studies, 275 participants, RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.85) and night cough (four studies, 538 participants, RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.54 to 0.83) at follow-up, however there was no difference in productive cough. A shorter cough duration (seven studies, 2776 participants) was observed with antibiotics (mean difference –0.46 days, 95% CI –0.87 to –0.04 days). There was a significant increase in adverse events in the antibiotic group (12 studies, 3496 participants, RR 1.20, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.36).

A systematic review of nine randomized controlled trials (774 participants of whom more than 276 were smokers) evaluated the efficacy of antibiotic therapy compared with placebo for smokers with acute bronchitis (3). Antibiotics included doxycycline, erythromycin and trimethoprim–sulfamethoxazole and doxycycline. A meta-analysis was not done because of the lack of subgroup reporting for smokers. Antibiotics showed no overall benefit in five of the nine trials, while adverse events occurred on average in 11% of participants in the placebo group and 16% in the antibiotic group.

#### **Bronchiolitis**

Two systematic reviews of antibiotic therapy for bronchiolitis were identified, one for acute bronchiolitis (4) and the other for persistent cough and wheezing following acute bronchiolitis (5).

A 2014 Cochrane systematic review of seven randomized controlled trials (824 participants) evaluated antibiotics for bronchiolitis in children younger than 2 years (4). Heterogeneity of the trials precluded a meta-analysis for some outcomes. No deaths were reported among the groups included in the seven trials. Pooling of three trials showed no difference between antibiotics (azithromycin) and placebo (mean difference in days of supplemental oxygenation -0.20, 95% CI-0.72 to 0.33). The three trials (350 participants overall) were small and the point estimates were all compatible with a reduction in symptoms of less than 1 day. Another three studies showed no difference between antibiotic (azithromycin) and placebo groups for length of hospital stay (mean difference in days -0.58, 95% CI -1.18 to 0.02); similarly, point estimates were < 1 day. Two of the trials found no difference in symptom measures with antibiotics (intravenous ampicillin, oral erythromycin) versus control, with point estimates indicating more symptoms in those treated with antibiotics in one trial.

A 2017 Cochrane systematic review of two randomized controlled trials (249 participants) evaluated antibiotic treatment for persistent cough or wheeze following acute bronchiolitis in children (5). No significant differences were

found between the antibiotic (azithromycin and clarithromycin) and placebo groups in the proportion of children with persistent symptoms at follow-up (odds ratio (OR) 0.69, 95% CI 0.37 to 1.28), rehospitalization at 6 months (OR 0.54, 95% CI 0.05 to 6.21) and wheezing at 6 months (OR 0.47, 95% CI 0.06 to 3.95).

### Guidelines (from the application)

The application presented the results of a search for clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) for the use of antibiotics for acute bronchitis and bronchiolitis.

### Acute bronchitis

Two clinical practice guidelines were identified (6,7). The 2019 NICE (United Kingdom) guideline recommends not routinely offering an antibiotic to treat an acute cough associated with acute bronchitis in patients who are not systemically unwell or at high risk for complications (6). The guidelines suggest offering an immediate antibiotic if the patient is systemically very unwell at face-to-face examination. The guideline refers to the NICE guideline on pneumonia to consider a point of care C-reactive protein test if after clinical assessment a diagnosis of pneumonia (rather than bronchitis alone) has not been made and it is not clear whether antibiotics should be prescribed (8). If an antibiotic is to be prescribed, the NICE guidelines recommend doxycycline as the first-choice antibiotic with amoxicillin and clarithromycin being alternative choices. For children and young adults, amoxicillin is recommended as the first choice.

The 2016 practice guidelines for acute respiratory tract infection in adults by the American College of Physicians and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention do not recommend antibiotics for patients with acute bronchitis (7).

### Bronchiolitis

Three clinical practice guidelines for bronchiolitis were identified. The American Academy of Pediatrics guideline recommends that antibiotics should not be used unless there is a concomitant bacterial infection or a strong suspicion of one (9). The guidelines outline that the incidence of serious bacterial infection in children with bronchiolitis is low.

The Italian Inter-Society consensus guideline for treatment and prevention of bronchiolitis in newborns and infants also specifies that antibiotics are not to be used routinely because of the risk of side-effects, the high costs and the risk of antibiotic resistance (10). The Canadian Pediatric Society guidelines specify that bacterial infection in otherwise healthy children with bronchiolitis is extremely rare, research on the effect of antibiotics is limited and that antibiotic treatment has failed to show benefit for this condition (11). The guideline recommends that antibiotics should not be used except in cases in which there is clear evidence or strong suspicion of a secondary bacterial infection. Rationale for antibiotic selection (from the application)

### Acute bronchitis

Based on the evidence from randomized controlled trials and the clinical practice guidelines, antibiotic treatment is not recommended for acute bronchitis in otherwise healthy people.

### Bronchiolitis

Based on the evidence from randomized controlled trials and the clinical practice guidelines, antibiotic treatment is not recommended for bronchiolitis in otherwise healthy children unless there is clear evidence of or a strong suspicion of a secondary bacterial infection.

# Committee considerations (e.g. additional evidence, dose/duration, costs)

The WHO *Pocket book of hospital care for children* recommends antibiotic treatment in children with bronchiolitis only when pneumonia is suspected (12):

- If the infant is treated at home, give amoxicillin (40 mg/kg twice a day) orally for 5 days only if the child has signs of pneumonia (fast breathing and lower chest wall indrawing).
- If there are signs of severe pneumonia, give ampicillin (50 mg/kg) or benzylpenicillin (50 000 U/kg) intramuscularly or intravenously every 6 hours for at least 5 days, and gentamicin 7.5 mg/kg intramuscularly or intravenously once a day for at least 5 days.

These antibiotics are already included on the EMLc as treatment options for children with community-acquired pneumonia.

# **EML listings**

No additional listings for antibiotics for the treatment of acute bronchitis or bronchiolitis are proposed.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that bronchitis and bronchiolitis are frequent causes of antibiotic use around the world, even though most cases are caused by respiratory viruses and not bacteria. The Committee acknowledged that inappropriate or unnecessary use of antibiotics for bronchitis and bronchiolitis can contribute to the development of antimicrobial resistance and should be discouraged.

The Committee noted the evidence presented from systematic reviews and meta-analyses indicates that antibiotics do not result in improvement in clinical outcomes in acute bronchitis and bronchitis compared with no treatment or placebo for both conditions. The Committee further noted that international guidelines do not recommend antibiotics for treatment of patients with these conditions, unless there is clear evidence or strong suspicion of a secondary bacterial infection.

The Committee considered that the appropriate treatment for most cases of bronchitis and bronchiolitis is symptom relief and no antibiotic therapy. Therefore, the Committee did not recommend listing any antibiotics on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of bronchitis and bronchiolitis due to a lack of evidence of a meaningful clinical benefit.

### References

- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. Lancet. 2017;390(10098):946–58.
- 2. Smith SM, Fahey T, Smucny J, Becker LA. Antibiotics for acute bronchitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;6(6):CD000245.
- 3. Linder JA, Sim I. Antibiotic treatment of acute bronchitis in smokers: a systematic review. J Gen Intern Med. 2002;17(3):230–4.
- 4. Farley R, Spurling GK, Eriksson L, Del Mar CB. Antibiotics for bronchiolitis in children under two years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(10):CD005189.
- 5. McCallum GB, Plumb EJ, Morris PS, Chang AB. Antibiotics for persistent cough or wheeze following acute bronchiolitis in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;8:CD009834.
- Cough (acute): antimicrobial prescribing. NICE guideline [NG120] [internet]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2019 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng120, accessed 12 August 2021).
- Harris AM, Hicks LA, Qaseem A. Appropriate antibiotic use for acute respiratory tract infection in adults: advice for high-value care from the American College of Physicians and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Ann Intern Med. 2016;164(6):425–34.
- Pneumonia (community-acquired): antimicrobial prescribing. NICE guideline [NG138] [internet]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2019 (https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/ng138, accessed 12 August 2021).
- Ralston SL, Lieberthal AS, Meissner HC, Alverson BK, Baley JE, Gadomski AM, et al. Clinical practice guideline: the diagnosis, management, and prevention of bronchiolitis. Pediatrics. 2014;134(5):e1474–502.
- Baraldi E, Lanari M, Manzoni P, Rossi GA, Vandini S, Rimini A, et al. Inter-society consensus document on treatment and prevention of bronchiolitis in newborns and infants. Ital J Pediatr. 2014;40:65.
- 11. Friedman JN, Rieder MJ, Walton JM. Bronchiolitis: recommendations for diagnosis, monitoring and management of children one to 24 months of age. Paediatr Child Health. 2014;19(9):485–98.
- 12. Pocket book of hospital care for children: guidelines for the management of common illnesses with limited resources. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/81170, accessed 12 August 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Antibiotics for ocular infections – new indications – EML and EMLc

# Antibiotics for ocular infections

### Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz, Paul Alexander; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

### Introduction

Conjunctivitis is an inflammation or infection of the conjunctiva characterized by dilatation of the conjunctival vessels and typically with associated discharge. Most episodes are from viral infection, with bacteria being the second most common cause. In children, however, bacterial infections can be more common than viral infections. The most common bacterial pathogens causing bacterial conjunctivitis are *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Moraxella catarrhalis*. *M. catarrhalis* is a frequent bacterial cause of conjunctivitis in children.

Infectious keratitis is an infection of the cornea and an important cause of visual impairment and blindness. It predominantly affects people in developing countries as well as contact lens users in developed countries. The mainstay of diagnosis is a Gram staining and culture of corneal samples to guide targeted treatment. The most common pathogens are: *Pseudomonas* sp., *Staphylococcus* sp., *Streptococcus* sp. and other Gram-negative organisms. Endophthalmitis can be exogenous (postoperative, trauma) or endogenous. Cataract surgery is the most common source of exogenous endophthalmitis with the most common causative pathogens being Gram-positive bacteria (*Staphylococcus* sp. or three *Streptococcus* sp.) while Gram-negative bacteria are a less common cause.

Endogenous endophthalmitis is caused by bacterial pathogens in about half of the cases, mostly by Gram-positive bacteria (*Staphylococcus* sp. or *Streptococcus* sp.). In East Asia, *Klebsiella pneumoniae* is reported to be the leading pathogen responsible for endogenous endophthalmitis. Microbiological diagnosis through tap biopsy or vitrectomy is required to guide targeted antibiotic treatment. Surgical debridement and/or pars plana vitrectomy is in general required if the infection spreads beyond the choroid into the vitreous. Antibiotics can be administered by topical, subconjunctival, intravitreal, and/or systemic routes.

### Summary of evidence (from the application)

The application presented the results of a search for systematic reviews and metaanalyses of antibiotic therapy for ocular infections.

### Conjunctivitis

Four systematic reviews were identified, including two on antibiotics for bacterial conjunctivitis (1, 2) and two specific to the management of *Chlamydia trachomatis* conjunctivitis (trachoma) (3, 4).

A Cochrane systematic review summarized eleven randomized controlled trials (2116 patients) that compared topical antibiotics to placebo for acute bacterial conjunctivitis (1). The topical antibiotics used included azithromycin, bacitracin, besifloxacin, ciprofloxacin, chloramphenicol, fusidic acid, moxifloxacin, norfloxacin and polymyxin. The authors reported a modest benefit from topical antibiotics (risk ratio (RR) 1.36, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.15 to 1.61) for early clinical resolution (day 2–5), and similarly for late resolution (RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.10 to 1.33) (day 6–10). There were no serious outcomes in either study arm.

An individual patient-data meta-analysis of three randomized controlled trials (626 patients) also compared topical antibiotics with placebo for acute infective conjunctivitis (2). Antibiotics included chloramphenicol and fusidic acid. Cure was more likely at day 7 with antibiotic treatment (risk difference 0.08, 95% CI 0.01 to 0.04), and for those with purulent discharge and mild severity of eye redness in subgroup analysis. The effect was, however, modest and, given that the infection is largely self-limiting, the authors recommended the use of topical antibiotics only in selected patients.

Neither of these two systematic reviews identified studies of head-tohead comparison of different antibiotics; therefore no systematic review data are available to guide the choice of antibiotics.

A Cochrane systematic review of antibiotic treatment for trachoma included nine studies (1961 patients) comparing topical antibiotics with placebo, eight studies (1583 patients) comparing oral and topical antibiotics, and four cluster-randomized studies comparing oral azithromycin with delayed or no treatment (3). There was a benefit from antibiotics versus no treatment (RR 0.78, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.89) for cure after 3 months, but no statistically significant benefit after 12 months of follow-up (RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.55 to 1.0). No interaction effect was seen between studies comparing either topical or systemic antibiotics with placebo, nor was there a benefit from systemic versus topical antibiotics in studies comparing the two modes of application at 3 months (RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.16). However, a comparison between systemic azithromycin and topical tetracycline favoured azithromycin (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.59 to 0.99) for the 12-month outcome of active trachoma, while there was no difference at 3 months (no effect size was reported).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of three randomized controlled trials and nine observational studies (292 patients) evaluated antibiotic treatment in neonates with chlamydial conjunctivitis (4). The authors assessed the efficacy of various doses of systemic macrolides. Only cure rates of each study were

reported with no direct comparisons. The only regimen that appeared to result in a lower cure rate compared to the other regimens reported was a single-dose treatment of azithromycin (60% cure rate), while a 3-day course of azithromycin and any of the regimens using 10–14 days of erythromycin had similar cure rates. No firm conclusions could be drawn on which antibiotic or regimen would be the most appropriate to use. A short course of azithromycin may be beneficial because of less concern about adherence when compared with a 14-day course of erythromycin. The cure rate of 60% in the study that used a single dose of azithromycin should be considered in the context of the original study which was a small observational study in only five neonates.

#### Keratitis

Two systematic reviews on antibiotic treatment for bacterial keratitis were identified (5, 6).

One review included eight randomized controlled trials and five observational studies that compared topical fluoroquinolones (ciprofloxacin, lemofloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin and ofloxacin) with a combination of an aminoglycoside (amikacin, gentamicin or tobramycin) plus cephalosporin (cefazolin, cefalotin, cefamandole, cefuroxime or cephaloridine) for treatment of (suspected) bacterial keratitis (5). No difference was found in achieving the primary outcome of healing between the treatment groups in the randomized controlled trials (odds ratio (OR) 1.05, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.73) but a benefit for fluoroquinolones was seen in observational studies (OR 2.37, 95% CI 1.08 to 5.21). When combining the study designs, no statistically significant effect was found (OR 1.47, 95% CI 0.90 to 2.41). When limited to microbiologically confirmed bacterial keratitis, no statistically significant benefit was seen for fluoroquinolones (OR 1.20, 95% CI 0.48 to 3.0). In the randomized controlled trials, there were fewer adverse events that were mild, while one observational study suggested a higher risk of perforations in the fluoroquinolone group, a finding not corroborated in other studies.

The second review included 16 randomized controlled trials (1823 participants) that compared different topical antibiotics for the treatment of bacterial keratitis (6). No statistically significant difference in treatment success, time to cure or serious complications (including corneal perforation) between the groups was identified. Fluoroquinolones were found to be better tolerated in terms of ocular discomfort and chemical conjunctivitis than aminoglycoside–cephalosporin combinations (RR 0.20, 95% CI 0.10 to 0.41). However, fluoroquinolones increase the risk of corneal precipitates compared with the aminoglycoside–cephalosporin combinations (RR 24.4, 95% CI 4.68 to 126.9).

### Endophthalmitis

No systematic reviews could be identified.

### Guidelines (from the application)

The application presented the results of a search for clinical practice guidelines on the use of antibiotics for ocular infections.

### Conjunctivitis

Five clinical practice guidelines were identified (7–11). The guideline by Azari and Barney, based on a systematic review of conjunctivitis diagnosis and treatment, mentions several options for management of uncomplicated bacterial conjunctivitis: no treatment, delayed treatment, or immediate antibiotic treatment (7). The likely benefits of treatment are: shorter duration of symptoms; decrease in transmissibility; and earlier return to school. If a decision is made to treat, any broad-spectrum antibiotic eye drops can be viewed as equally effective (e.g. aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones, macrolides and sulfonamides) given the lack of direct comparisons.

The Médecins Sans Frontières guideline recommends cleaning eyes four times daily with boiled water with 0.9% sodium chloride, and to apply 1% tetracycline eye ointment twice daily for 7 days for suspected bacterial conjunctivitis, i.e. where there is abundant and purulent secretions, eyelids stuck together and unilateral at onset (8).

The Conjunctivitis Preferred Practice Pattern<sup>®</sup> of the American Academy of Ophthalmology recommends considering topical agents for mild bacterial conjunctivitis, and obtaining a swab to guide targeted topical treatment given that methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* is a more frequently detected pathogen in severe conjunctivitis (9). No specific antibiotics are recommended because of the lack of data on benefit of one antibiotic over another. For trachoma, the guideline recommends either a single dose of azithromycin 1 g orally or doxycycline 100 mg twice daily for 7 days.

The Australian guideline on the management of *C. trachomatis* eye infection recommends a single dose of azithromycin at 20 mg/kg body weight up to 1000 mg (10). Bhosai et al. also recommend the use azithromycin with the same single dose for the treatment of trachoma (12). The use of topical tetracycline ointment was discouraged because of adherence concerns. This is in keeping with a WHO guideline published in 2016 that was not formally included in this review as the guideline covers the entire spectrum of *C. trachomatis* infections and only touches briefly on trachoma (11).

#### Keratitis

Two clinical practice guidelines on this topic were identified (13, 14). The United Kingdom College of Optometrists guideline on management of microbial keratitis recommends monotherapy with either topical levofloxacin or moxifloxacin, and to add (unspecified) systemic antibiotics if the lesion is close to the limbus (13). The Royal Victorian eye and ear hospital guideline on

the management of microbial keratitis recommends the use of hourly topical fluoroquinolones (ofloxacin 3 mg/mL) at least for the first 48 hours and then to reduce the frequency gradually (14).

### Endophthalmitis

Guidelines published by the United Kingdom College of Optometrists focused specifically on postsurgical endophthalmitis (15). No specific antibiotics are recommended and only general recommendations for management are provided (including the use of unspecified topical and systemic antibiotics).

A guidance document by the American Academy of Ophthalmology on endogenous endophthalmitis recommends a wide spectrum of possible systemic antibiotics depending on the (suspected) pathogen that have a good penetration into the vitreous humour, for example, aminoglycosides, clindamycin, fluoroquinolones, and third-generation cephalosporins (16). Options for intravitreal therapy in the guidance, if indicated, include ceftazidime (2.25 mg/0.1 mL) and vancomycin (1.0 mg/0.1 mL). Amikacin (0.4 mg/0.1 mL) and clindamycin (1.0 mg/0.1 mL) are suggested as alternative antibiotics if the primary regimen cannot be used.

#### Rationale for antibiotic selection (from the application)

#### Conjunctivitis

If bacterial conjunctivitis is suspected, treatment with topical antibiotics is indicated for moderate to severe infection and can also be considered in mild cases. No specific topical antibiotic can be recommended because of the lack of direct comparisons; therefore, the choice for empiric antibiotics should be based on local availability. Topical antibiotics containing fluoroquinolone are proposed (e.g. ofloxacin).

For trachoma, the treatment of choice is oral azithromycin as a single dose of 1 g (or 20 mg/kg body-weight in children) because of the potentially better efficacy and adherence with the single-dose regimen.

#### Keratitis

Topical fluoroquinolones (e.g. ofloxacin) are recommended for (suspected) bacterial keratitis. As there are no recommendations for specific agents, the choice depends on local availability. Antibiotics should be adjusted based on culture results, if possible. Adding systemic antibiotics should be considered in addition to topical antibiotics if the lesion is close to the limbus. However, no recommendation can be made on the type of systemic antibiotic.

### Endophthalmitis

No specific recommendations can be made given the lack of systematic reviews and the non-specific recommendations in the guidelines identified. Empiric antibiotic choice must target the most common pathogens (Gram-positive bacteria). For systemic treatment, given the range of pathogens, ceftriaxone plus vancomycin are proposed. For intravitreal administration, vancomycin and ceftazidime are proposed.

Committee considerations (e.g. additional evidence, dose/duration, costs)

Not applicable

### **EML listings**

Topical ophthalmological antibacterial medicines currently included in the Model Lists are summarized below.

Medicine	Formulation and strength	Indication
Azithromycin	Eye drops 1.5%	Trachoma
Erythromycin	Ointment 0.5%	Infections due to Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria gonorrhoeae
Gentamicin	Eye drops 0.3%	Blepharitis, conjunctivitis
Ofloxacin	Eye drops 0.3%	Infectious keratitis
Tetracycline	Ointment 1%	Blepharitis, conjunctivitis, infectious keratitis, trachoma

Oral azithromycin is currently included in the Model Lists as a systemic singledose treatment for trachoma. Ceftazidime and ceftriaxone and vancomycin are included in the Model Lists for other indications.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that infections of the eye and surrounding structures are frequent around the world and are an important cause of blindness. Given increasing concerns about overuse of antibiotics, the emergence of antimicrobial resistance and the need to guarantee prompt access to highly beneficial treatments, the Expert Committee noted the importance of revising and updating the Model Lists to provide clear information on the use of antibiotics in ocular infections.

With regard to conjunctivitis, topical anti-infective medicines currently included on the Model Lists are gentamicin and tetracycline (each with a square box). The Committee noted that based on the evidence and guidelines reviewed in the application, topical antibiotics are indicated for moderate to severe infection and can be considered in mild cases. The available evidence does not make it possible to identify specific, preferred antibiotics for this indication. The Committee therefore endorsed the current listings for gentamicin and tetracycline, and recommended that the indications for ofloxacin be expanded to include the treatment of conjunctivitis. For trachoma, a specific type of conjunctivitis caused by certain serovars of *C. trachomatis*, the treatment of choice is a single oral dose of azithromycin. Topical azithromycin or topical tetracycline are also indicated. The Committee also endorsed the current listings on the EML and EMLc for oral and topical azithromycin and for topical tetracycline for the treatment of trachoma.

For infectious keratitis, topical anti-infective medicines currently included on the Model Lists are ofloxacin and tetracycline (each with a square box). The Committee noted that based on the evidence and guidelines reviewed in the application, topical fluoroquinolones are indicated for infectious keratitis. The Committee therefore endorsed the current square box listing for ofloxacin for this indication. No change was recommended for the listing of tetracycline. The Committee noted that systemic antibiotics may be indicated in certain situations (e.g. with lesions close to the limbus) but the available evidence could not identify specific, preferred antibiotics. The Committee therefore did not endorse listing for systemic antibiotics for infectious keratitis.

For endophthalmitis, the Committee acknowledged the lack of high-quality evidence for antibiotic choice and specific recommendations in guidelines. Based on common practice and the range of pathogens, the application proposed ceftriaxone plus vancomycin for systemic treatment, and vancomycin and ceftazidime by intravitreal administration for the empiric treatment of bacterial endophthalmitis. The Committee acknowledged that intravitreal treatment requires specialist training and adequate infrastructure to ensure safe administration. Given that bacterial endophthalmitis is a serious, sight-threatening infection, the Expert Committee recommended the current listings for ceftazidime, ceftriaxone and vancomycin be extended to include the indication of bacterial endophthalmitis as first-choice treatment options.

# References

- 1. Sheikh A, Hurwitz B, van Schayck CP, McLean S, Nurmatov U. Antibiotics versus placebo for acute bacterial conjunctivitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(9):CD001211.
- 2. Jefferis J, Perera R, Everitt H, van Weert H, Rietveld R, Glasziou P, et al. Acute infective conjunctivitis in primary care: who needs antibiotics? An individual patient data meta-analysis. Br J Gen Pract. 2011;61(590):e542–8.
- 3. Evans JR, Solomon AW. Antibiotics for trachoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;(3):CD001860.
- 4. Zikic A, Schunemann H, Wi T, Lincetto O, Broutet N, Santesso N. Treatment of neonatal chlamydial conjunctivitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2018;7(3):e107–e15.
- Hanet MS, Jamart J, Chaves AP. Fluoroquinolones or fortified antibiotics for treating bacterial keratitis: systematic review and meta-analysis of comparative studies. Can J Ophthalmol. 2012;47(6):493–9.

- McDonald EM, Ram FS, Patel DV, McGhee CN. Topical antibiotics for the management of bacterial keratitis: an evidence-based review of high quality randomised controlled trials. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(11):1470–7.
- 7. Azari AA, Barney NP. Conjunctivitis: a systematic review of diagnosis and treatment. JAMA. 2013;310(16):1721–9.
- Conjunctivitis. In: Clinical guidelines diagnosis and treatment manual. Chapter 5: eye diseases [internet]. Geneva: Médicins Sans Frontières; 2021 (https://medicalguidelines.msf.org/viewport/ CG/english/conjunctivitis-16689724.html, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 9. Varu DM, Rhee MK, Akpek EK, Amescua G, Farid M, Garcia-Ferrer FJ, et al. Conjunctivitis Preferred Practice Pattern<sup>®</sup>. Ophthalmology. 2019;126(1):P94–P169.
- CDNA National Guidelines for the Public Health Management of Trachoma [internet]. Canberra: Communicable Disease Network Australia; 2014 (https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/ publishing.nsf/Content/cda-cdna-pubs-trachoma.htm, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 11. WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/rtis/chlamydia-treatment-guidelines/en/, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 12. Bhosai SJ, Bailey RL, Gaynor BD, Lietman TM. Trachoma: an update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2012;23(4):288–95.
- 13. Microbial keratitis (bacterial, fungal). London: The College of Optometrists; 2021 (https://www. college-optometrists.org/guidance/clinical-management-guidelines/microbial-keratitis-bacterial-fungal-.html, accessed 13 August 2021).
- Microbial keratitis. Melbourne: Royal Victorian Eye and Ear Hospital; 2016 (https://www.eyeandear. org.au/content/Document/CPG/Microbial%20Keratitis%20Clinical%20Practice%20Guideline. pdf, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 15. Endophthalmitis (post-operative) (Exogenous endophthalmitis). London: The College of Optometrists; 2021 (https://www.college-optometrists.org/guidance/clinical-management-guidelines/endophthalmitis-post-operative.html, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 16. Birnbaum F, Gupta G, Fekrat S, Scott IU. Endogenous endophthalmitis: diagnosis and treatment. EyeNet Magazine. June 2016.

Antibiotics for necrotizing fasciitis – new indication – EML and EMLc

Ceftriaxone	ATC Code: J01DD04
Clindamycin	ATC Code: J01FF01
Metronidazole	ATC Code: J01XD01/P01AB01
Piperacillin + tazobactam	ATC Code: J01CR05
Vancomycin	ATC Code: J01XA01

# Proposal

Extension of the indications for ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin to include treatment of necrotizing fasciitis, specifically:

- The combination of piperacillin + tazobactam and clindamycin for empiric treatment of necrotizing fasciitis
- The combination of ceftriaxone with metronidazole for treatment of necrotizing fasciitis after *Streptococcus pyogenes* has been ruled out as the causative pathogen
- The combination of vancomycin with one of the above-mentioned options for treatment of necrotizing fasciitis if methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* is suspected as the causative pathogen.

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO consultant

# WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Surveillance, Prevention and Control (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics (clindamycin, metronidazole)6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics (piperacillin + tazobactam, ceftriaxone, vancomycin)

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Dose forms and strengths as currently listed on the EML and EMLc, plus additional new strength intravenous formulations for ceftriaxone, clindamycin and vancomycin on the EML to better meet the dosing needs of adults for this indication.

Ceftriaxone: powder for injection 2 g Clindamycin: injection 600 mg/4 mL and 900 mg/6 mL Vancomycin: powder for injection 500 mg and 1 g

#### Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin are currently included in the EML and EMLc for multiple other indications.

A review of antibiotic treatment for skin and soft tissue infections was prepared by the Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Canada and was considered by the Expert Committee in 2017. The Committee recommended listing amoxicillin + clavulanic acid, cloxacillin and cefalexin for the treatment of mild skin and soft-tissue infections. The antibiotics proposed in the application for severe skin and soft-tissue infections (including necrotizing fasciitis) were not recommended because the Committee chose to focus on the empirical treatment of common mild to moderate community-acquired infections (1).

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Necrotizing fasciitis is a rare infection, but it is associated with significant morbidity and mortality, especially in cases of delayed diagnosis and treatment. The disease is caused mostly by bacteria and is characterized by acute and fulminant necrosis with tissue destruction and signs of systemic toxicity. Risk factors for necrotizing fasciitis include traumatic and surgical wounds, especially in patients with diabetes, peripheral vascular disease or immunosuppression (2). However, necrotizing fasciitis can also occur in otherwise healthy people irrespective of their age. Necrotizing fasciitis is very rare in children but may occur as a complication of varicella (chickenpox) or in the context of a compromised immune system.

Few data are available on time trends in the epidemiology of necrotizing fasciitis. In the USA, over a 10-year period (2003-2013), an estimated 9871 deaths related to necrotizing fasciitis occurred, corresponding to a mortality rate of 4.8 per million person-years (3). In an Asian study, an overall annual incidence of 3.2 hospitalizations per 100 000 person-years was reported between 2002 and 2011 (4). Other studies report an incidence that ranges from 0.3 to 15 cases per 100 000 population (2, 5, 6). Among all invasive *Streptococcus pyogenes* infections, necrotizing fasciitis represents only a minority of cases – about 7% for all ages combined in one study of surveillance data in the USA (7).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The 2017 McMaster review of systematic reviews, meta-analyses and guidelines published between 1996 and 2016 for antibiotics for skin and soft tissue infections included evidence for antibiotic treatment of severe skin and soft tissue infections, and is summarized in the report of the 2017 Expert Committee meeting (1). Since no important new evidence on antibiotic therapeutic options for this infection has become available since then, the evidence presented in 2017 still reflects the current evidence base.

The 2017 review included the 2014 guidelines of the Infectious Diseases Society of America on skin and soft tissue infections, which cover both paediatric and adult patients (8). These guidelines included the following recommendations for necrotizing infections of the skin, fascia and muscle: (i) piperacillin + tazobactam plus vancomycin; (ii) a carbapenem (meropenem, imipenem, ertapenem), or (iii) cefotaxime plus metronidazole or clindamycin. Antibiotics, including cefazolin, ceftriaxone, clindamycin, daptomycin, doxycycline, linezolid, penicillin G, quinupristin + dalfopristin, semi-synthetic penicillins (nafcillin, oxacillin) and vancomycin, and are listed as options for specific pathogens such as Streptococcus, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Clostridium* species, *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Vibrio* infections.

In the context of the 2017 McMaster review, ceftriaxone, clindamycin, meropenem, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin were proposed as treatment options for severe skin and soft tissue infections (including necrotizing fasciitis) for inclusion on the Model Lists. The Expert Committee did not recommend them because it decided to prioritize listing of antibiotics for mild, community-acquired infections. Therefore, the Expert Committee's decision was not a reflection of its evaluation of the evidence for benefit for these antibiotics in the treatment of necrotizing fasciitis.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin are already included in the EML and EMLc. They are widely used for many different types of infection and potential side-effects when used for

the treatment of necrotizing fasciitis do not differ from those encountered when these antibiotics are used for a different indication. Given the severity of necrotizing fasciitis and the high mortality associated with delays in treatment, the benefits of adequate antibiotic treatment outweigh the potential side-effects of each individual antibiotic.

### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO guidelines**

There are no WHO guidelines for the management of severe skin and soft tissue infections and necrotizing fasciitis.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

As the proposed medicines are already included on the Model Lists and on many national essential medicine lists, a review of the comparative costs and cost–effectiveness was not done.

# Availability

Ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin have regulatory approval globally and generic varieties are available.

# Other considerations

Following the principles of antimicrobial stewardship, meropenem has not been generally recommended as an option for the empiric treatment of clinical infections. Wide use of empiric treatment with meropenem has been associated with selection of carbapenem resistance at both a patient and hospital level. Recommendations for the use of meropenem have generally been limited to where a patient is known to be infected or colonized with a multidrug-resistant pathogen that is resistant to other recommended antibiotics.

# **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that necrotizing fasciitis is a rare but severe skin and soft tissue infection that is associated with significant morbidity and mortality, especially in cases of delayed diagnosis and treatment.

The Committee noted the previous decision not to include empiric antibiotic treatment for severe skin and soft tissue infections, and to focus rather on mild, community-acquired infections. However, given the serious consequences of delayed treatment in necrotizing fasciitis, the Committee considered recommendations for empiric antibiotic therapy would be beneficial from both a clinical and public health perspective. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

The Expert Committee reviewed the antibiotics proposed for listing for necrotizing fasciitis in the 2017 application and recommended expanding the indications for ceftriaxone, clindamycin, metronidazole, piperacillin + tazobactam and vancomycin on the EML and EMLc to include them as firstchoice treatment options for treatment of necrotizing fasciitis as proposed in the application, including the addition of new intravenous formulations of ceftriaxone 2 g, clindamycin 600 mg and 900 mg, and vancomycin 500 mg and 1 g.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 2. Stevens DL, Bryant AE. Necrotizing soft-tissue infections. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(23):2253–65.
- 3. Arif N, Yousfi S, Vinnard C. Deaths from necrotizing fasciitis in the United States, 2003–2013. Epidemiol Infect. 2016;144(6):1338–44.
- Liu TJ, Tai HC, Chien KL, Cheng NC. Predisposing factors of necrotizing fasciitis with comparison to cellulitis in Taiwan: a nationwide population-based case-control study. J Formos Med Assoc. 2020;119(1 Pt 1):18–25.
- 5. Das DK, Baker MG, Venugopal K. Increasing incidence of necrotizing fasciitis in New Zealand: a nationwide study over the period 1990 to 2006. J Infect. 2011;63(6):429–33.
- 6. Khamnuan P, Chongruksut W, Jearwattanakanok K, Patumanond J, Tantraworasin A. Necrotizing fasciitis: epidemiology and clinical predictors for amputation. Int J Gen Med. 2015;8:195–202.
- Nelson GE, Pondo T, Toews KA, Farley MM, Lindegren ML, Lynfield R, et al. Epidemiology of invasive group A streptococcal infections in the United States, 2005–2012. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(4):478–86.
- Stevens DL, Bisno AL, Chambers HF, Dellinger EP, Goldstein EJ, Gorbach SL, et al. Practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of skin and soft tissue infections: 2014 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(2):e10–52.

.....

Antibiotics for neonatal meningitis - new indication - EMLc

# Gentamicin

ATC Code: J01GB03

# Proposal

Extension of the indications for gentamicin on the EMLc to include treatment of acute bacterial meningitis in neonates.

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO Consultant

# WHO technical department

Maternal, Newborn, Child & Adolescent Health & Ageing Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

# EML/EMLc

EMLc

### Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Dose forms and strengths as currently listed on the EMLc

#### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Gentamicin is currently included in the EML and EMLc for multiple other indications. The combination of gentamicin and a beta-lactam is listed as first choice for: acute malnutrition in infants, children or adolescents; severe community-acquired pneumonia in children; and sepsis in neonates and children. Gentamicin is also listed as second choice for surgical prophylaxis in children and adults, and for gonococcal infection.

Reviews of the evidence for empiric antibiotic treatment options for meningitis and sepsis (not limited to neonates) had been prepared by the Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Canada, and were considered by the Expert Committee in 2017 (1). The evidence assessed in the 2017 reviews forms the basis for the current application.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Neonatal meningitis occurs worldwide and, according to estimates by WHO and the Maternal and Child Epidemiology Estimation group, 14% of all neonatal deaths in 2017 were due to meningitis or sepsis (these two syndromes usually overlap and it is often impossible to separate the two clinically) (2). The 2016 Global Burden of Disease study estimated that almost 20 000 neonates (i.e. children < 1 month of age) died of meningitis in 2016. However, authors of the Global Burden of Disease study acknowledged that the diagnosis is difficult and this could result in an underestimation of the burden of disease of neonatal meningitis (3). In general, the incidence and mortality of meningitis are higher in resource-constrained countries.

Risk factors for neonatal meningitis include preterm birth, low birth weight, maternal peripartum infections or and delivery-associated risk factors such as prolonged rupture of membranes or traumatic delivery (4). The causative pathogens differ from those commonly found in older children and adults with infectious meningitis. *Streptococcus agalactiae* (a group B streptococci) and *Escherichia coli* are the most frequent bacteria causing neonatal meningitis. *Streptococcus agalactiae* is still the most frequent cause of neonatal meningitis despite a decline in cases over the years in settings where maternal screening and intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis of mothers with a positive screening test for group B streptococcus is done as part of prenatal care. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Listeria monocytogenes*, bacteria commonly encountered in meningitis in older children and adults, are also pathogens in neonatal meningitis (5).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The clinical presentations of neonatal sepsis and neonatal meningitis overlap and are difficult to differentiate. The 2017 McMaster review of systematic reviews, meta-analyses and guidelines published between 1996 and 2016 included studies on sepsis in children < 5 years. This evidence is considered relevant for neonatal meningitis.

#### Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

Two Cochrane systematic reviews were included in the McMaster review (6,7). The first (two randomized controlled trials, 127 participants) compared single to combination regimens for suspected early neonatal sepsis, but results on 28-day mortality were indeterminate because of the small sample size (risk ratio (RR) 0.75, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.19 to 2.9) (6). The second systematic review examined antibiotic regimens for late onset sepsis in neonates (one randomized

controlled trial, 24 participants) and compared beta-lactams alone with betalactams combined with aminoglycosides. The results were also inconclusive (RR 0.17 for mortality before discharge, 95% CI 0.01 to 3.23; the same as the results for treatment failure) because of the small sample size (7).

# Guidelines

The 2012 United Kingdom clinical guidelines on antibiotics for the prevention and treatment of early-onset neonatal infection advise using intravenous benzylpenicillin with gentamicin as the first-choice antibiotic regimen for empirical treatment of suspected infection unless local bacterial resistance patterns suggest using a different antibiotic (8). These guidelines were updated in April 2021 and have kept the same recommendations (9).

Although not formally a guideline, a policy report by the Committee on Fetus and Newborn of the American Academy of Pediatrics published in 2012 recommends ampicillin and an aminoglycoside (usually gentamicin), for treatment of infants with suspected early-onset sepsis (10). If Gram-negative meningitis is diagnosed, cefotaxime in combination with an aminoglycoside is recommended. The 2018 update, has kept the combination of ampicillin and gentamicin as the first choice for the empiric treatment of early-onset sepsis (11).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The harms and toxicities of gentamicin are well known and have been reviewed extensively by the Expert Committee on previous occasions. Gentamicin has been included on the EML since 1977 and on the EMLc since 2007.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# WHO guidelines

Several WHO documents provide guidance on the management of neonatal meningitis/sepsis and recommend gentamicin in combination with a beta-lactam (ampicillin, ceftriaxone or cefotaxime) for empiric treatment.

The 2017 WHO recommendations on newborn health (12) includes the following recommendations for the choice of empiric antibiotics for suspected neonatal sepsis or serious bacterial infections when referral is not feasible.

- Neonates with signs of sepsis should be treated with ampicillin (or penicillin) and gentamicin as the first-line antibiotic treatment for at least 10 days. (Strong recommendation, low quality of evidence).
- Young infants 0–59 days old with clinically evident severe infection when referral is not feasible:

63

- Option 1: Intramuscular gentamicin 5–7.5 mg/kg (for low-birth-weight infants, gentamicin 3–4 mg/kg) once daily for 7 days, and twice daily oral amoxicillin, 50 mg/kg per dose for 7 days. Close follow-up is essential. (Strong recommendation, moderate quality of evidence).
- Option 2: Intramuscular gentamicin 5–7.5 mg/kg (for low-birth-weight infants, gentamicin 3–4 mg/kg) once daily for 2 days, and twice daily oral amoxicillin, 50 mg/kg per dose for 7 days. Close follow-up is essential. A careful assessment on day 4 is essential. (Strong recommendation, low quality of evidence).

The 2015 WHO guideline for managing serious bacterial infection in young infants when referral is not feasible (13) includes the following recommendations:

Young infants 0–59 days old who have any sign of critical illness (at presentation or developed during treatment of severe clinical infection) should be hospitalized after prereferral treatment with antibiotics. (Strong recommendation, very low-quality evidence (standard of care)).

Although no comparative trials are available showing the relative efficacy and safety of treatments, in cases where hospitalization is not possible at all, critically ill children should be given one of the following treatment regimens until hospitalization becomes possible (up to 7 days):

- twice daily intramuscular ampicillin and once daily intramuscular gentamicin
- once daily intramuscular ceftriaxone with or without once daily intramuscular gentamicin
- twice daily intramuscular benzylpenicillin and once daily intramuscular gentamicin
- once daily intramuscular procaine benzylpenicillin and once daily intramuscular gentamicin.

The 2013 WHO pocket book of hospital care for children (14) includes the following recommendations for treatment of meningitis in neonates.

- The first-line antibiotics are ampicillin and gentamicin for 3 weeks. Alternatively, give a third-generation cephalosporin, such as ceftriaxone or cefotaxime, and gentamicin for 3 weeks.
- The proposed dose and duration for the empiric treatment of neonatal meningitis is:
  - Ampicillin (intravenous/intramuscular) 50 mg/kg per dose, twice a day (1st week of life), 50 mg/kg per dose, three times a day (> 1st week of life) in combination with gentamicin (intravenous/

64

intramuscular) 5 mg/kg per dose once a day (1st week of life), 7.5 mg/kg once a day (after 1st week of life).

- If ampicillin is unavailable alternative options are ceftriaxone 50–100 mg/kg per dose, once a day, or cefotaxime 50 mg/kg per dose, twice a day (1st week of life) and three times a day (after 1st week of life).
- Treatment duration: 3 weeks if no pathogen is isolated.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

As gentamicin is already included on the Model Lists and in many national essential medicine lists, a review of the comparative costs and cost-effectiveness has not been undertaken for the current application.

#### Availability

Gentamicin has regulatory approval globally and is widely available

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Committee noted that sepsis and meningitis are responsible for a substantial proportion of global neonatal mortality, and that the availability of empiric antibiotic treatment options is critical to reduce this burden. Gentamicin is currently included on the EMLc for the treatment of neonatal sepsis.

The Committee noted that gentamicin, in combination with a betalactam, is recommended as first-line treatment of suspected or proven neonatal meningitis in several WHO and other international guidelines.

To ensure alignment of the EMLc with these recommendations, the Expert Committee therefore recommended extending the indications for gentamicin on the EMLc to include empiric antibiotic treatment of neonatal meningitis as a first-choice option. The Committee recognized the importance of the availability of lower strength formulations of gentamicin for the dosing of paediatric patients.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 13 August 2021).  WHO Department of maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and ageing. Data portal. Maternal and newborn – mortality/causes of death [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/data/maternal-newborn-child-adolescent-ageing/maternal-andnewborn-data/maternal-and-newborn---mortality-causes-of-death, accessed 13 August 2021).

- 3. Global, regional, and national burden of meningitis, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17(12):1061–82.
- 4. Ku LC, Boggess KA, Cohen-Wolkowiez M. Bacterial meningitis in infants. Clin Perinatol. 2015;42(1):29–45, vii-viii.
- 5. Furyk JS, Swann O, Molyneux E. Systematic review: neonatal meningitis in the developing world. Trop Med Int Health. 2011;16(6):672–9.
- 6. Mtitimila EI, Cooke RW. Antibiotic regimens for suspected early neonatal sepsis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(4):CD004495.
- 7. Gordon A, Jeffery HE. Antibiotic regimens for suspected late onset sepsis in newborn infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005;(3):CD004501.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Neonatal infection (early onset): antibiotics for prevention and treatment. Clinical guideline [CG149]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2012 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg149, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 9. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Neonatal infection: antibiotics for prevention and treatment. NICE guideline [NG195]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2021 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng195, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 10. Polin RA, Committee on Fetus and Newborn. Management of neonates with suspected or proven early-onset bacterial sepsis. Pediatrics. 2012;129(5):1006–15.
- Puopolo KM, Benitz WE, Zaoutis TE, Committee on Fetus and Newborn; Committee on Infectious Diseases. Management of neonates born at ≤ 34 6/7 weeks' gestation with suspected or proven early-onset bacterial sepsis. Pediatrics. 2018;142(6):e20182896.
- 12. WHO recommendations on newborn health: guidelines approved by the WHO guidelines review committee. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/259269, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 13. Guideline: Managing possible serious bacterial infection in young infants when referral is not feasible. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789241509268, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 14. Pocket book of hospital care for children: guidelines for the management of common childhood illnesses. Second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/81170, accessed 13 August 2021).

66

Antibiotics for intra-abdominal infections in children - new indication - EMLc

Ampicillin	ATC Code: J01CA01
Gentamicin	ATC Code: J01GB03

# Proposal

Extension of the indications for ampicillin and gentamicin on the EMLc to include treatment of complicated intra-abdominal infections in neonates and children.

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO consultant

# WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Maternal, Newborn, Child & Adolescent Health & Ageing

#### EML/EMLc

EMLc

#### Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Dose forms and strengths as currently listed on the EMLc

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Ampicillin and gentamicin are currently included in the EML and EMLc for multiple other indications. The combination of ampicillin and gentamicin is listed as first choice for: acute malnutrition in infants, children or adolescents; severe community-acquired pneumonia in children; and sepsis in neonates and children. Ampicillin is also listed as second choice for the treatment of acute bacterial meningitis in children and adults, and gentamicin is also listed as second choice for surgical prophylaxis in children and adults, and for gonococcal infection.

Inclusion of ampicillin and gentamicin for the treatment of intraabdominal infections in children will align the EMLc with current WHO guidance documents, in particular with the *Pocket book of hospital care for children* (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Community-acquired intra-abdominal infections occur in children worldwide and are caused by a variety of conditions, the most frequent of which are acute appendicitis and intestinal perforation occurring as a complication of enteric fever in endemic settings (2). Acute appendicitis is particularly frequent in children (3) and most cases (70%) are uncomplicated and with a very low shortterm postappendectomy mortality (1%) However, the incidence of appendicitis varies across settings; while a decrease has been observed in western Europe and North America since the 1990s, increasing trends are reported in Asia, South America and the Middle East (4).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Both ampicillin and gentamicin are commonly used in neonates and children and the evidence of benefits has already been extensively revised by the EML Working Group and Expert Committee.

In the context of the review of antibacterial medicines undertaken for the 2017 EML update, aminoglycosides were identified as alternative, targeted treatment options to the core antibiotics listed for complicated intraabdominal infections, based on local resistance data. The review noted that ampicillin could be considered as a treatment option if additional enterococcal coverage is needed, e.g. because the regimen used would otherwise not be covering Enterococcus spp. (e.g. ceftriaxone plus metronidazole). Since the systematic reviews gave inconclusive results, the treatment options proposed for adults and children were based on the review of national and international guidelines, notably the 2010 Infectious Diseases Society of America/Surgical Infection Society guidelines (5) and the guidelines developed at the 2010 consensus conference of the World Society of Emergency Surgery (6). In 2017, the Surgical Infection Society revised the 2010 guidelines (without Infectious Diseases Society of America collaboration) (7). The revised guidelines confirmed aminoglycoside-based regimens for neonates; in particular, the guidelines say, "Use ampicillin, gentamicin, and either metronidazole or clindamycin; ampicillin, cefotaxime, and either metronidazole or clindamycin; or meropenem in paediatric patients less than one month of age (45 weeks postconceptional age)" (7).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The evidence of harms and toxicity has already been extensively reviewed by the EML Working Group and Expert Committee and a separate review was not done for this application.

No additional evidence has emerged that would discourage use of ampicillin and gentamicin for treatment of intra-abdominal infections in neonates and children.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

The *WHO Pocket book of hospital care for children* includes the following recommendations for treatment of intra-abdominal infections in children (1).

- Appendicitis: Give antibiotics once the diagnosis is established: ampicillin (25–50 mg/kg intramuscular or intravenous four times a day), gentamicin (7.5 mg/kg intramuscular or intravenous once a day) and metronidazole (10 mg/kg intravenous or oral three times a day).
- Necrotizing enterocolitis: Start antibiotics and give ampicillin (or penicillin) plus gentamicin plus metronidazole for 10 days.

The WHO recommendations on newborn health recommend that young neonates with suspected necrotizing enterocolitis should be treated with intravenous or intramuscular ampicillin (or penicillin) and gentamicin as first-line antibiotic treatment for 10 days. (Strong recommendation, low quality of evidence) (8).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

As the proposed medicines are already included on the Model Lists and on many national essential medicine lists, a review of the comparative costs and cost–effectiveness was not done.

#### Availability

Ampicillin and gentamicin have regulatory approval globally and are widely available in brand and generic forms.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Committee noted that ampicillin and gentamicin are recommended as treatment options for complicated intra-abdominal infections in children in several WHO and other international guidelines. In addition, there is extensive clinical experience using ampicillin and gentamicin, usually combined with metronidazole, for this indication in the paediatric population.

To ensure alignment of the EMLc with these recommendations, the Expert Committee therefore recommended extending the indications for ampicillin and gentamicin on the EMLc to include treatment of complicated intra-abdominal infections in children, as first-choice treatment options.

# References

- Pocket book of hospital care for children: guidelines for the management of common childhood illnesses. Second edition. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/81170, accessed 13 August 2021).
- Seyi-Olajide JO, Ezidiegwu U, Ameh EA. Burden of complicated intra-abdominal infections in children in Nigeria: recent experience and systematic review. Surg Infect (Larchmt). 2020;21(6):501–8.
- 3. Kotaluoto S, Ukkonen M, Pauniaho SL, Helminen M, Sand J, Rantanen T. Mortality related to appendectomy; a population based analysis over two decades in Finland. World J Surg. 2017;41(1):64–9.
- 4. Ferris M, Quan S, Kaplan BS, Molodecky N, Ball CG, Chernoff GW, et al. The global incidence of appendicitis: a systematic review of population-based studies. Ann Surg. 2017;266(2):237–41.
- Solomkin JS, Mazuski JE, Bradley JS, Rodvold KA, Goldstein EJ, Baron EJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of complicated intra-abdominal infection in adults and children: guidelines by the Surgical Infection Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(2):133–64.
- 6. Sartelli M, Viale P, Koike K, Pea F, Tumietto F, van Goor H, et al. WSES consensus conference: guidelines for first-line management of intra-abdominal infections. World J Emerg Surg. 2011;6:2.
- Mazuski JE, Tessier JM, May AK, Sawyer RG, Nadler EP, Rosengart MR, et al. The Surgical Infection Society Revised Guidelines on the Management of Intra-Abdominal Infection. Surg Infect (Larchmt). 2017;18(1):1–76.
- WHO recommendations on newborn health: guidelines approved by the WHO Guidelines Review Committee. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/259269, accessed 13 August 2021).

Amoxicillin – remove indication – EML and EMLc

# Amoxicillin

ATC Code: J01CA04

# Proposal

Removal of the indication of treatment of lower urinary tract infections from the listings of amoxicillin on the EML and EMLc.

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO consultant

# WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Surveillance, Prevention and Control (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

### Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Not applicable

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Amoxicillin was recommended as a first-choice treatment option for empiric treatment of lower urinary tract infections in adults and children in 2017, as part of the comprehensive review of antibiotics for common infectious syndromes (1).

The EML and EMLc currently include alternative first-choice treatment options for lower urinary tract infection (nitrofurantoin, sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim, amoxicillin + clavulanic acid, and single-agent trimethoprim).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Lower urinary tract infections are very common worldwide and can affect people of any age. According to the Global Burden of Disease study, in 2017 for all ages and both sexes combined, an estimated 274 million new cases of urinary tract infections (lower and upper) occurred globally (2). The incidence of urinary tract infections is highest in women and increases with age and frequency of sexual activity. However, after 65 years of age, rates of lower urinary tract infections in men and women tend to be more similar (3).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Evidence supporting the requested change relies on data from a 2020 report by the Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System (GLASS) on global antimicrobial resistance (4). GLASS data from 22 countries indicate that a median of 75% (range 45–100%) of *Escherichia coli* urinary isolates are resistant to amoxicillin.

In addition, the empiric use of amoxicillin for treatment of lower urinary tract is explicitly discouraged in multiple guidelines because of high rates of antimicrobial resistance to amoxicillin (5–7).

GLASS data are not reported for amoxicillin + clavulanic acid or nitrofurantoin. However, several sources indicate that susceptibility of *E. coli* in urinary isolates remains generally high, in both adults and children (8-10). GLASS data indicate a median of 55% (range 40–70%) of *E. coli* urinary isolates are resistant to sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim (4).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Not applicable

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### WHO guidelines

Not applicable

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No applicable

# Availability

Not applicable

# Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the recent data from the Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System which indicate very high levels of resistance to amoxicillin of *E. coli* in urinary tract infections, and that for this reason the empiric use of amoxicillin for treatment of lower urinary tract infections is now discouraged in multiple international treatment guidelines.

The Committee therefore recommended that the indication of treatment of lower urinary tract infections be removed from the listings of amoxicillin on the EML and EMLc.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 13 August 2021).
- GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789–858.
- Tandogdu Z, Wagenlehner FM. Global epidemiology of urinary tract infections. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2016;29(1):73–9.
- Global antimicrobial resistance surveillance system (GLASS) report: early implementation 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332081, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 5. Urological infections [internet]. Arnhem: European Association of Urology; 2020 (https://uroweb. org/guideline/urological-infections/#3, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 6. Diagnostic et antibiothérapie des infections urinaires bactériennes communautaires de l'adulte [Diagnosis and antibiotic therapy for community bacterial urinary tract infections in adults]. Paris: Société de Pathologie Infectieuse de Langue Française; 2015 (https://www.infectiologie.com/ UserFiles/File/spilf/recos/infections-urinaires-spilf-argumentaire.pdf, accessed 13 August 2021).
- Gupta K, Hooton TM, Naber KG, Wullt B, Colgan R, Miller LG, et al. International clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of acute uncomplicated cystitis and pyelonephritis in women: A 2010 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the European Society for Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52(5):e103–20.
- Bruyndonckx R, Latour K, Atud GA, Dubovy P, Jaspers S, Hens N, et al. Time trend of prevalence and susceptibility to nitrofurantoin of urinary MDR Escherichia coli from outpatients. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74(11):3264–7.
- Sanchez GV, Baird AM, Karlowsky JA, Master RN, Bordon JM. Nitrofurantoin retains antimicrobial activity against multidrug-resistant urinary Escherichia coli from US outpatients. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;69(12):3259–62.
- Bryce A, Hay AD, Lane IF, Thornton HV, Wootton M, Costelloe C. Global prevalence of antibiotic resistance in paediatric urinary tract infections caused by Escherichia coli and association with routine use of antibiotics in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2016;352:i939.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid – new formulation – EML

#### Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid

ATC Code: J01CR02

### Proposal

Inclusion of a new strength formulation (875 mg + 125 mg) of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid on the EML for the treatment of mild community-acquired pneumonia and intra-abdominal infections in adults.

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO consultant

# WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Surveillance, Prevention and Control (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 875 mg + 125 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid, in multiple formulations, has been included on the Model Lists since 1997. Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is currently included on the EML and EMLc as a first- or second-choice empiric treatment for several bacterial infections.

The EML currently recommends amoxicillin + clavulanic acid as a second-choice option for community-acquired pneumonia because in most cases there is no need to broaden the spectrum of antibacterial activity to cover more resistant pathogens and amoxicillin (or phenoxymethylpenicillin) can

safely be used. The other reason is that amoxicillin + clavulanic is associated with more frequent side-effects than amoxicillin alone – mostly diarrhoea, including *Clostridioides difficile* infection (1).

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is also recommended in the EML as a first-choice option for the empiric treatment of mild, community-acquired intra-abdominal infections in patients who are not critically ill and there is no suspicion of sepsis or septic shock.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Community-acquired pneumonia is common worldwide and is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, with an especially high burden in low-income countries (2). According to the Global Burden of Disease study, in 2017 among all ages and sexes combined, an estimated 471 million new cases of lower respiratory tract infections (including community-acquired pneumonia) occurred globally (3). The most common causative pathogen worldwide is *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and viral co-infection is not unusual. In general, the incidence of community-acquired pneumonia and risk of death increase with age (4). Community-acquired pneumonia is curable and preventable. Most people who develop this infection can be successfully treated with a 5-day antibiotic regimen. Vaccines to prevent community-acquired pneumonia caused by certain pathogens (e.g. *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b and influenza virus).

Intra-abdominal infections include uncomplicated infections with no involvement of the peritoneal cavity and no abscess formation and complicated infections with involvement of the peritoneal cavity and/or abscess formation. The most frequent intraabdominal infections include acute appendicitis, acute cholecystitis, acute cholangitis, acute diverticulitis and pyrogenic liver abscess. Treatment of these infections usually requires a combination of antibiotics and surgery to achieve adequate control of the source of infection.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The rationale for the inclusion of the 875 mg + 125 mg formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is to increase the amoxicillin to clavulanic acid ratio from 4:1 (500 mg + 125 mg formulation) to 7:1. There is limited evidence about differences in clinical and microbiological efficacy of the different ratios of amoxicillin to clavulanic acid. However, the advantage of the 7:1 ratio formulation is increased exposure to amoxicillin without increased exposure to clavulanic acid is that increasing its dose exposes patients to a higher risk of gastrointestinal side-effects (especially diarrhoea) with only a minimal increase in efficacy against beta-lactamases (5).

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is recommended for the treatment of mild community-acquired pneumonia because it is effective against the most

likely bacterial pathogens responsible for this syndrome (notably *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Haemophilus influenzae*, including strains that produce betalactamases) and because it is safe, inexpensive and readily available in many settings. In general, amoxicillin alone remains effective against Streptococcus pneumoniae isolates in most cases because these isolates are not known to produce beta-lactam enzymes (5). However, other pathogens (mostly *Haemophilus influenzae*) produce beta-lactamases in a large proportion of cases (6, 7) and could therefore be resistant to amoxicillin alone. Such cases would therefore benefit from treatment with amoxicillin + clavulanic acid.

A key element of the treatment of community-acquired pneumonia is to maximize the chance of bacterial eradication in order to achieve clinical success and to reduce the risk of resistance developing. For beta-lactam agents, maximal clinical efficacy depends on the time that the plasma concentration of the drug remains above the level of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) for the target pathogen (T>MIC). For amoxicillin, a T>MIC of at least 30-40% between dosing intervals is required to effectively treat most pathogens responsible of mild community-acquired pneumonia. Therefore, the advantage of a formulation with a higher dose of amoxicillin is that it can improve the efficacy of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid for the treatment of pathogens with higher MICs (8). In particular, the 875 mg +125 mg formulation (given three times a day) would achieve bacteriological efficacy against strains with amoxicillin MICs of up to 4 mg/L (T>MIC 34% for MICs of 4 mg/L, 57% for MICs of 2 mg/L and 69% for MICs of 1 mg/L), while the 500 mg + 125 mg formulation (three times a day) would only achieve bacteriological efficacy against strains with MICs of up to 2 mg/L (T>MIC 43% for MICs of 2 mg/L and 55% for MICs of 1 mg/L) (9). An additional advantage of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid that applies to both its use for the treatment of mild community-acquired pneumonia and mild community-acquired intra-abdominal infections is its lower potential for resistance compared with other antibiotic options that are sometimes used for the treatment of these syndromes, most notably fluoroquinolones. In patients with community-acquired pneumonia, amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is a particularly valid option in patients who would be at higher risk of poor outcomes if initial empiric treatment were inadequate (e.g. patients with multiple comorbidities who are often more vulnerable to infections or patients with a higher risk of resistant infections due to frequent antibiotic exposure). The clinical and bacteriological efficacy of the 875 mg +125 mg formulation is high (> 90% for clinical efficacy and 80-90% for microbiological efficacy at the end of treatment in trials where this formulation has been used (10)) including in settings with a high prevalence of penicillin-resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae (11).

Many patients with intra-abdominal infections may not be able to tolerate oral treatment in the initial phase of treatment, especially those with complicated infections that require surgery; therefore, patients are often started on intravenous treatment. For the treatment of intra-abdominal infections, the use of the 875 mg +125 mg oral formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic would apply in only certain circumstances: initial empiric treatment of mild cases in patients who can tolerate oral treatment (e.g. patients managed in the outpatient setting) and intravenous to oral switch to complete the course of treatment initiated with intravenous therapy.

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid has a range of antibacterial activity that allows for the coverage of the most likely pathogens responsible for intraabdominal infections (most notably Escherichia coli, enteric streptococci and anaerobic bacteria) even though amoxicillin + clavulanic resistance rates among E. coli isolates may be of concern in some settings (12). No clinical trial was identified that directly compared the efficacy of different doses of oral amoxicillin + clavulanic acid for intra-abdominal infections. However, the 875 mg + 125 mg oral formulation has been used in several trials, especially for the treatment of uncomplicated acute appendicitis with antibiotics alone (13, 14), while lower doses of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid (500 mg + 25 mg) are generally used when treatment is started intravenously and then later switched to oral treatment (15). As detailed above for community-acquired pneumonia, the use of a higher dose of amoxicillin in combination with clavulanic acid, improves efficacy for the treatment of pathogens with higher MICs; therefore, the 875 mg +125 mg is preferable to achieve cure and reduce the risk of resistance developing when oral treatment is chosen. In serious infections, such as intra-abdominal infections, high protein binding of beta-lactams and rapid elimination can reduce the amount of antibiotic available in both the plasma and tissue, increasing the risk of treatment failure, especially in cases of pathogens with higher MICs (16). Therefore, doses should be increased and the interval between doses reduced, especially when oral beta-lactam treatment is used. In order to appropriately treat resistant pathogens, the daily dose of amoxicillin can be more safely increased than the dose of other antibiotics used to treat intra-abdominal infections such as fluoroquinolones. Fluoroquinolones have a worse safety profile, both for gastrointestinal and mild neurological reactions (nausea, vomiting, dizziness, insomnia and headache) but also for more serious adverse events such as tendinitis and tendon rupture (17), risk of arrhythmias (18) or possibly rupture of an aortic aneurysm (19).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Potential harms associated with the 875 mg + 125 mg formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid are not expected to differ from the 500 mg + 125 mg preparation, as the dose of clavulanic acid (responsible for common side-effects such as diarrhoea) remains the same. Moreover, in published trials, even higher doses of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid (2000 mg + 125 mg) have been safely used and were well tolerated (*10*).

Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### WHO guidelines

Not applicable

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

There are several suppliers of the 875 mg +125 mg formulation globally at a cost of about US\$ 10 per pack (12 tablets) in high-income countries.

#### Availability

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 875 mg + 125 mg has regulatory approval globally and is available in most countries.

### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that the proposed formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid will provide a higher dose of amoxicillin, without increasing the dose of clavulanic acid, and is particularly suitable for more unwell patients. In addition, the Committee noted that a higher ratio of amoxicillin to clavulanic acid is generally associated with less diarrhoea, a recognized adverse effect of this combination. The addition of this new formulation will also allow recommended amoxicillin doses to be achieved with a reduced pill burden for patients.

The Committee therefore recommended the addition of the new strength formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 875 mg + 125 mg tablets to the core list of the EML for the treatment of mild community-acquired pneumonia and intra-abdominal infections in adults.

# References

- 1. Salvo F, Polimeni G, Moretti U, Conforti A, Leone R, Leoni O, et al. Adverse drug reactions related to amoxicillin alone and in association with clavulanic acid: data from spontaneous reporting in Italy. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2007;60(1):121–6.
- 2. Peyrani P, Mandell L, Torres A, Tillotson GS. The burden of community-acquired bacterial pneumonia in the era of antibiotic resistance. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2019;13(2):139–52.
- 3. GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789–858.
- 4. Welte T, Torres A, Nathwani D. Clinical and economic burden of community-acquired pneumonia among adults in Europe. Thorax. 2012;67(1):71–9.

 Huttner A, Bielicki J, Clements MN, Frimodt-Møller N, Muller AE, Paccaud JP, et al. Oral amoxicillin and amoxicillin–clavulanic acid: properties, indications and usage. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2020;26(7):871–9.

- 6. Jacobs MR, Felmingham D, Appelbaum PC, Grüneberg RN. The Alexander Project 1998–2000: susceptibility of pathogens isolated from community-acquired respiratory tract infection to commonly used antimicrobial agents. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2003;52(2):229–46.
- Leven M, Coenen S, Loens K, Lammens C, Coenjaerts F, Vanderstraeten A, et al. Aetiology of lower respiratory tract infection in adults in primary care: a prospective study in 11 European countries. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2018;24(11):1158–63.
- 8. Woodnutt G, Berry V. Two pharmacodynamic models for assessing the efficacy of amoxicillinclavulanate against experimental respiratory tract infections caused by strains of Streptococcus pneumoniae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1999;43(1):29–34.
- White AR, Kaye C, Poupard J, Pypstra R, Woodnutt G, Wynne B. Augmentin (amoxicillin/ clavulanate) in the treatment of community-acquired respiratory tract infection: a review of the continuing development of an innovative antimicrobial agent. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2004;53(Suppl 1):i3–20.
- File TM, Jr., Lode H, Kurz H, Kozak R, Xie H, Berkowitz E. Double-blind, randomized study of the efficacy and safety of oral pharmacokinetically enhanced amoxicillin-clavulanate (2000/125 milligrams) versus those of amoxicillin-clavulanate (875/125 milligrams), both given twice daily for 7 days, in treatment of bacterial community-acquired pneumonia in adults. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48(9):3323–31.
- 11. Siquier B, Sánchez-Alvarez J, García-Mendez E, Sabriá M, Santos J, Pallarés R, et al. Efficacy and safety of twice-daily pharmacokinetically enhanced amoxicillin/clavulanate (2000/125 mg) in the treatment of adults with community-acquired pneumonia in a country with a high prevalence of penicillin-resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2006;57(3):536–45.
- 12. Solomkin JS, Mazuski JE, Bradley JS, Rodvold KA, Goldstein EJ, Baron EJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of complicated intra-abdominal infection in adults and children: guidelines by the Surgical Infection Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(2):133–64.
- Vons C, Barry C, Maitre S, Pautrat K, Leconte M, Costaglioli B, et al. Amoxicillin plus clavulanic acid versus appendicectomy for treatment of acute uncomplicated appendicitis: an open-label, noninferiority, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9777):1573–9.
- 14. Di Saverio S, Sibilio A, Giorgini E, Biscardi A, Villani S, Coccolini F, et al. The NOTA Study (Non Operative Treatment for Acute Appendicitis): prospective study on the efficacy and safety of antibiotics (amoxicillin and clavulanic acid) for treating patients with right lower quadrant abdominal pain and long-term follow-up of conservatively treated suspected appendicitis. Ann Surg. 2014;260(1):109–17.
- 15. Daniels L, Ünlü Ç, de Korte N, van Dieren S, Stockmann HB, Vrouenraets BC, et al. Randomized clinical trial of observational versus antibiotic treatment for a first episode of CT-proven uncomplicated acute diverticulitis. Br J Surg. 2017;104(1):52–61.
- 16. Mazzei T, Novelli A. Pharmacological rationale for antibiotic treatment of intra-abdominal infections. J Chemother. 2009;21(Suppl 1):19–29.
- 17. Wise BL, Peloquin C, Choi H, Lane NE, Zhang Y. Impact of age, sex, obesity, and steroid use on quinolone-associated tendon disorders. Am J Med. 2012;125(12):1228.e23–e28.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 18. Gorelik E, Masarwa R, Perlman A, Rotshild V, Abbasi M, Muszkat M, et al. Fluoroquinolones and cardiovascular risk: a systematic review, meta-analysis and network meta-analysis. Drug Saf. 2019;42(4):529–38.
- 19. Noman AT, Qazi AH, Alqasrawi M, Ayinde H, Tleyjeh IM, Lindower P, et al. Fluoroquinolones and the risk of aortopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2019;274:299–302.

80

Cefalexin – change indication – EML and EMLc

### Cefalexin

ATC Code: J01DB01

# Proposal

Change to the listing of cefalexin for the indication of skin and soft tissue infections from a second-choice to first-choice empiric treatment option.

# Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO consultant

# WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Surveillance, Prevention and Control (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

#### EML/EMLc

EML

### Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

All dose forms and strengths of cefalexin currently listed

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Cefalexin was recommended as a second-choice treatment option on the EML and EMLc for empiric treatment of skin and soft tissue infections in adults and children in 2017, as part of the comprehensive review of antibiotics for common infectious syndromes (1). Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid and cloxacillin were recommended as first-choice treatment options because both provide good coverage against staphylococcal (non-methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (non-MRSA)) and streptococcal infections, which are the leading causes of mild to moderate community-acquired skin and soft-tissue infections worldwide.

Cefalexin was recommended as second-choice for when first-choice options are not available or in patients allergic to penicillin who can tolerate cephalosporins.

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Bacterial skin infections occur worldwide and can affect all age groups; erysipelas is more frequent in children and elderly patients. In 2013, skin diseases (not limited to bacterial infections) were the fourth leading cause of disability worldwide (2). Cellulitis, the most common skin infection, accounted for 0.04% (4 in 10 000) of the overall burden of all diseases combined in 2013. It was the only skin condition that showed a significant decrease (-13.2%) in disability-adjusted life years (a proxy for morbidity and mortality) between 2005 and 2013; this decrease was attributed to reduced mortality (2). In 2017, the Global Burden of Disease study reported 43 million new cases of cellulitis worldwide (3). Diabetes, peripheral arterial disease, HIV infection and other causes of immunosuppression are risk factors for severe skin infections.

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Evidence of the benefits of empiric use of cefalexin for skin and soft tissue infections was reviewed and accepted by the Expert Committee in 2017.

Cefalexin offers good coverage against staphylococcal (non-MRSA) and streptococcal infections with a range of activity and tolerability that is comparable with amoxicillin + clavulanic acid and cloxacillin, the first-choice options currently recommended in the Model Lists for skin and soft tissue infections.

The application proposed that by also including cefalexin as a firstchoice option, it will indicate that the three antibiotics are equally adequate options for empiric treatment of mild, community-acquired skin and soft tissue infections. However, it is noted that for skin infections associated with bite wounds, amoxicillin + clavulanic acid remains the preferred treatment option.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Not applicable

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# WHO guidelines

Not applicable

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

Availability

Not applicable

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that cefalexin has a spectrum of activity against pathogens responsible for mild to moderate skin and soft tissue infections which is comparable to amoxicillin + clavulanic acid and cloxacillin. The Committee considered that cefalexin as a first-generation cephalosporin is also an appropriate alternative first-choice treatment option for these infections.

The Committee therefore recommended that the listing for cefalexin on the EML and EMLc be amended from a second-choice to a first-choice treatment option for mild to moderate skin and soft tissue infections.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006); 2017; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 2. Karimkhani C, Dellavalle RP, Coffeng LE, Flohr C, Hay RJ, Langan SM, et al. Global skin disease morbidity and mortality: an update from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. JAMA Dermatol. 2017;153(5):406–12.
- GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789–858.

83

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Cefiderocol – addition – EML

# Cefiderocol

ATC Code: J01DI04

# Proposal

Addition of cefiderocol to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multidrug-resistant aerobic Gramnegative organisms in adults.

# Applicant

Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Osaka, Japan.

# WHO technical department

Comments on the application were received from the Department of Global Coordination and Partnership in the Division of Antimicrobial Resistance, which supported the inclusion of cefiderocol on the EML as a Reserve group antibiotic, particularly for use: in hospitalized patients with a confirmed or suspected carbapenem-resistant infection; or when cefiderocol is the best option based on pathogen susceptibility data; or when other treatment choices are inappropriate. The technical department highlighted the need for a mechanism and/or strategy to ensure access to and global affordability of cefiderocol, as well as the need for stewardship.

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Powder for injection: 1 g (as sulfate tosylate)

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Cefiderocol has not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML, nor classified under the AWaRe (Access–Watch–Reserve) classification of antibiotics.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Antimicrobial resistance is estimated to contribute to 700 000 deaths every year globally (1–3). If action is not taken, it is estimated that 10 million lives a year will be at risk from drug-resistant infections by 2050 (1). The WHO has identified carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*, carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and carbapenem-resistant, third-generation cephalosporin-resistant Enterobacteriaceae as critical priority pathogens against which new antibiotics are needed (4). Cefiderocol is a parenteral siderophore cephalosporin antibiotic with potent activity against a broad spectrum of Gramnegative pathogens, including these critical priority pathogens.

In its 2018 surveillance report, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control reported an increase in resistance to currently available treatments across some Gram-negative pathogens between 2015 and 2018 (5). The European Centre estimates that about 700 000 infections and 33 000 deaths in the European Union and European Economic Area in 2015 were caused by from multidrug-resistant bacterial infections (2). Carbapenem resistance in *P. aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Acinetobacter* spp. contributed significantly to the number of estimated deaths (in total, about 9000 deaths). In 2015, in five countries (France, Germany, Italy, Spain and United Kingdom), the prevalence of carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative infections ranged between 0.14 per 100 000 in the United Kingdom and 3.05 per 100 000 in Italy (2). While carbapenemases appear to vary by geographical location, a recent surveillance study reports an overall increase in these enzymes (6, 7). The prevalence of carbapenem resistance has been particularly high in Mediterranean countries, South America and Asia Pacific countries, except Japan (6, 8).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The applicant conducted a comprehensive and systematic literature review for cefiderocol, including in vitro and in vivo studies and any comparative or non-comparative studies and randomized clinical trials.

#### In vitro studies

The SIDERO-WT analysis investigated the activity of cefiderocol and relevant comparators against carbapenem-susceptible and carbapenem-resistant pathogens (9-11). To date, 30 459 samples have been tested, with 9205 Gram-negative clinical isolates tested in 2014–2015, 8954 in 2015–2016 and 10 470 in 2016–2017. Cefiderocol was effective at low minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) for more than 99% of isolates in each testing period. The latest surveillance SIDERO-WT study (2016–2017) showed that cefiderocol demonstrated activity against 99.4% of Gram-negative pathogens at a MIC of 4 microgram/mL compared with 90.2% for ceftazidime + avibactam, 84.3% for ceftolozane + tazobactam and 95.5% for colistin.

In an analysis of difficult-to-treat resistant pathogens, cefiderocol demonstrated activity against 94.5% of difficult-to-treat resistant *A. baumannii*, 99.8% of *P. aeruginosa* and 98.3% of Enterobacterales; these pathogens were less susceptible to other available treatments. In addition, 98.7% of carbapenemnon-susceptible Enterobacteriaceae, and 96.4% of carbapenemnon-susceptible non-fermenters were sensitive cefiderocol at a MIC of  $\leq$  4 microgram/mL (*12*).

The SIDERO-CR study collected carbapenem-resistant isolates and multidrug-resistant non-fermenter isolates from Europe, North America, South America and the Asia Pacific region (9, 13). Cefiderocol showed potent in vitro activity against all of these pathogens, as well as activity against isolates with previously characterized resistance factors (13).

#### In vivo studies

APEKS-cUTI was a phase II, multicentre (multinational), double-blind, randomized, active-controlled, parallel-group non-inferiority study conducted in 452 hospitalized adults with complicated urinary tract infections, with or without pyelonephritis or acute uncomplicated pyelonephritis caused by Gram-negative pathogens (14). This study assessed the efficacy and safety of intravenous cefiderocol (2 g every 8 hours) compared with intravenous, highdose imipenem + cilastatin (2 g every 8 hours). The primary efficacy endpoint was the composite of clinical outcome and microbiological outcome at test of cure. The response rate for the primary efficacy endpoint was 73% (183/252) in the cefiderocol group and 55% (65/119) in the comparator group. Cefiderocol met the criteria to demonstrate non-inferiority versus imipenem + cilastatin with a prespecified 20% margin. At follow-up, sustained clinical response was higher in the cefiderocol group than the comparator group (81.3% versus 72.3%), with an adjusted treatment difference of 9.02% (95% confidence interval (CI) -0.37% to 18.41%). The microbiological eradication rate in the modified intention-to-treat population was significantly higher at test of cure in the cefiderocol group than the comparator group (73.0% versus 56.3%). The adjusted treatment difference in favour of cefiderocol (17.25%, 95% CI 6.92% to 27.58%) was statistically significant.

APEKS-NP was a multicentre, double-blind, randomized, phase III clinical study comparing cefiderocol with high-dose, extended-infusion meropenem for the treatment of hospital acquired bacterial pneumonia, ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia or health care-associated bacterial pneumonia caused by Gram-negative pathogens (15). Of the 292 patients in the modified intention-to-treat population, 251 (86%) had a qualifying baseline Gram-negative pathogen, including 92 (32%) with *K. pneumoniae*, 48 (16%) with *P. aeruginosa*, 47 (16%) with *A. baumannii* and 41 (14%) with *Escherichia coli*. The all-cause mortality rate at day 14 was 12.4% for the cefiderocol group and 11.6% for the high-dose meropenem group (treatment difference 0.8%,

95% CI –6.7% to 8.2%, demonstrating the non-inferiority of cefiderocol, as the upper limit of the 95% CI was < 12.5%. For secondary endpoints of clinical cure and microbiological eradication at test of cure, results were similar between treatment groups. Clinical cure rates were 64.8% in the cefiderocol group and 66.7% in the high-dose meropenem group (treatment difference –1.8%, 95% CI –12.7% to 9.0%); microbiological eradication rates were 47.6% for cefiderocol group and 48.0% for high-dose meropenem group (treatment difference –0.8%, 95% CI –12.1% to 10.5%).

The CREDIBLE-CR study was a small, randomized, open-label observational study to evaluate the efficacy of cefiderocol and best available therapy in patients with confirmed carbapenem-resistant infections (nosocomial pneumonia, bloodstream infections or sepsis, or complicated urinary tract infections) (16). No formal or inferential analyses were planned for any outcomes to detect differences between the treatment groups. Clinical and microbiological outcomes were similar between treatment groups overall, and by site of infection and causative carbapenem-resistant pathogen.

The quality of the randomized studies was assessed by the applicants. The analysis concluded that the APEKS studies were of high quality with low risk of bias and the CREDIBLE-CR study was of moderate quality.

Case reports of cefiderocol use for compassionate reasons and in expanded access programmes have also reported positive outcomes (17-25). A case series of cefiderocol treatment in COVID-19 and burn patients, all ventilated and with carbapenem-resistant infections of *A. baumannii* or other carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria reported a 90% survival rate after 30 days, with 70% of patients experiencing clinical success (26).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

In total, across the APEKS-cUTI, APEKS-NP and CREDIBLE studies, 386 serious adverse events were reported: 226 in patients treated with cefiderocol, 103 in patients treated with meropenem, 17 in patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin and 40 in patients treated with best available therapy.

In the total sample, 56/549 (10.2%) patients treated with cefiderocol experienced treatment-related adverse events and 45/347 (13.0%) patients using comparator treatments experienced treatment-related adverse events. Overall, there were fewer treatment-emergent adverse events with cefiderocol (344/549; 62.7%) than with comparator treatments (252/347; 72.6%). The most common adverse reactions for cefiderocol were diarrhoea (8.2%), constipation (4.6%), pyrexia (4.0%) and urinary tract infection (4.7%).

In total, 22 serious adverse reactions were reported: eight in patients treated with cefiderocol, six in patients treated with meropenem, one in a patient treated with imipenem + cilastatin and seven in patients treated with best available therapy.

The clinical safety for cefiderocol has been investigated in three randomized clinical trials, two specific to different infection sites and one specific to carbapenem-resistant pathogens. In total, 549 patients were treated with cefiderocol in these trails (14-16).

In the APEKS-cUTI study, the proportion of patients who experienced at least one adverse event was lower in the cefiderocol group than in the imipenem + cilastatin group (41% versus 51%). The most common adverse events were diarrhoea (4% versus 6%), hypertension (4% versus 5%) and constipation (3% versus 4%), and there was an increased incidence of *C. difficile* colitis in the imipenem + cilastatin group compared with the cefiderocol group. Serious adverse events occurred in a smaller proportion of patients treated with cefiderocol than patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin (5% versus 8%) (14).

In the APEX-NP study, overall, treatment-emergent adverse events and treatment-related adverse events were similar between treatment arms. Serious adverse events occurred in 36% of patients using cefiderocol and 30% of patients using meropenem. The most frequently observed adverse event was urinary tract infection (15.5% in the cefiderocol group and 10.7% in the meropenem group), hypokalaemia (10.8% cefiderocol group and 15.3% meropenem group) and anaemia (8.1% cefiderocol group and 8% meropenem group) (15).

In the CREDIBLE-CR study, the cefiderocol group had a lower incidence of adverse events and treatment-related adverse events, but a higher incidence of death, serious adverse events and discontinuation due to adverse events, compared with the best available treatment group (16). The incidence of treatment-related adverse events leading to discontinuation was similar between treatment groups. More deaths occurred in the cefiderocol group than the best available treatment group. In an assessment by the investigator and two independent committees (one blinded), no deaths were found to be causally associated with cefiderocol. The mortality rate in the cefiderocol group was consistent with previous studies in similar populations with high levels of A. baumannii infections (27-29). However, the mortality rate in the best available treatment group was substantially lower than expected from previous studies (27-35). The reason for this lower than expected mortality is not clear. Still, it may be influenced by various factors related to baseline imbalances and other anomalies (such as the low mortality associated with high APACHE II and SOFA scores).

Cefiderocol has demonstrated a manageable safety profile with the longest use being more than 90 days in a renal transplant patient where no apparent safety issues were observed (*34*).

**Additional evidence** (not in the application) Not applicable

#### **WHO** guidelines

Cefiderocol is a newly approved antimicrobial so is not yet included in many formal clinical guidelines. However, its usefulness against several multidrug resistant pathogens has been recognized by both WHO and the Infectious Diseases Society of America (36, 37).

In the 2019 WHO report on antibacterial agents in clinical development, cefiderocol was identified as a siderophore cephalosporin that is active against many WHO priority pathogens, including extended spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacterales, *K. pneumoniae* carbapenemase and oxacillinase-48-producing Enterobacterales (*36*).

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Cefiderocol is appropriate for treating infections caused by aerobic Gramnegative organisms in adults who have limited treatment options. Treatment options may be limited because of multidrug-resistant or carbapenem-resistant pathogens, which are associated with higher mortality rates and increased clinical and economic burden.

Without definitive evidence that an infection is resistant to first-line treatment, empiric therapy may be used, and appropriate treatment may be delayed. A recent systematic review examined the effect of delayed antibiotic therapy in patients with severe bacterial infections. It concluded that mortality was significantly lower in patients who did not experience a delay in receiving the appropriate therapy (38). Several systematic reviews have examined the effect of antimicrobial resistance and multidrug-resistant infections on health care costs, and all found an association between increased costs and resistance (39-41). As a result, antibiotics that can effectively treat multidrug-resistant infections can potentially provide health benefits and health care savings.

The wholesale acquisition of cefiderocol (10 vials) in the United Kingdom and the USA was reported in the application as £ 1319.00 and US\$ 1833.33, respectively. Length of treatment varies from patient to patient, depending on infection site and underlying patient conditions. The dose of cefiderocol varies with renal function, but for a normal renal function, the standard dose is 2 g by infusion every 8 hours. This represents a daily dose of six vials a day, at a cost of £ 791.40 a day in the United Kingdom and US\$ 1100 a day in the USA.

A cost-effectiveness analysis compared cefiderocol with colistin-based regimens to treat complicated urinary tract infections and hospital-acquired and ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by confirmed carbapenem-resistant pathogens (42). It concluded that cefiderocol was a cost-effective option compared with the colistin-based treatment, with an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of US\$ 14 616 per quality-adjusted life year.

#### Availability

Cefiderocol is manufactured by Shionogi & Co. Ltd (Japan) and has regulatory approval from the US Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency. It is currently available in Germany, United Kingdom and USA. Reimbursement and health-technology assessments are in process in other European countries.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee Recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that antimicrobial resistance is a global public health threat and that effective antibiotics against multidrug-resistant Gramnegative organisms, such as carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales (a critical priority pathogen on WHO's priority pathogens list), are urgently needed.

The Committee further noted that very few options are currently available to treat Gram-negative organisms that produce metallo-betalactamases, which are highly endemic in some WHO regions. Cefiderocol offers activity against some of the critical and high-priority multidrug-resistant, Gramnegative pathogens, including those producing metallo-beta-lactamases, against which other antibiotics listed on the EML have no or only limited activity. The Committee also accepted that cefiderocol has a safety profile consistent with other beta-lactams.

The Expert Committee noted that the two double-blinded studies (APEKS-cUTI and APEKS-NP) on which regulatory authority approval of cefiderocol is based applied a non-inferiority design, a common practice in antibiotic trials. Both trials demonstrated that cefiderocol was non-inferior to carbapenems with regard to microbiological and clinical response and mortality, despite large non-inferiority margins being applied. Of note, the presence of an infection caused by multidrug-resistant organisms was not an inclusion criterion in these trials. In addition, the pathogen-focused phase III CREDIBLE-CR trial comparing cefiderocol with best available therapy showed similar clinical cure for treatment of infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria. However, there was a higher mortality at the end of the study in the subset of patients infected with *Acinetobacter* spp.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of cefiderocol in the complementary list of the EML as a Reserve group antibiotic, based on an acceptable benefit-to-risk profile and high public health need. The increased mortality observed in the CREDIBLE-CR study was a major concern and deserves further, careful study. Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend cefiderocol for treatment of proven *Acinetobacter* spp. infections at this time. Given the nature of cefiderocol as a last-resort Reserve antibiotic, the Committee stressed that special attention should be given to antibiotic stewardship measures to avoid inappropriate use. Strategies and policies to ensure access to this high-cost antibiotic in low-resource settings also need to be defined.

# References

- 1. O'Neill J. Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations. The Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. London: Wellcome Trust; HM Government; 2016 (https://amrreview.org/, accessed 14 August 2021).
- Cassini A, Hogberg LD, Plachouras D, Quattrocchi A, Hoxha A, Simonsen GS, et al. Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in 2015: a population-level modelling analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(1):56–66.
- Antibiotic resitance threats in the United States, 2013. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2013. (https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/ar-threats-2013-508.pdf, accessed 14 August 2021).
- Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311820, accessed 14 August 2021).
- Surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in Europe 2018. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2019 (https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/surveillanceantimicrobial-resistance-europe-2018, accessed 14 August 2021).
- 6. Nordmann P, Poirel L. Epidemiology and diagnostics of carbapenem resistance in Gram-negative bacteria. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;69(Suppl 7):S521–S8.
- Sato T, Tsuji M, Kazmierczak KM, Hackel MM, Echols R, Yamano Y, et al. Cefiderocol susceptibility against molecularly characterized carbapenemase-producing gram-negative bacteria in north America and Europe between 2014 and 2017: sidero-WT-2014–2016 studies. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;6(S2):S315.
- Nordmann P, Naas T, Poirel L. Global spread of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17:1791–8.
- 9. Yamano Y. In vitro activity of cefiderocol against a broad range of clinically important gramnegative bacteria. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;69(Suppl 7):S544–S51.
- Tsuji M, Hackel M, Echols R, Yamano Y, Sahm D, editors. In vitro antibacterial activity of cefiderocol against Gram-negative clinical strains collected in North America and Europe: SIDERO-WT-2016. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017; 4(Suppl 1):S375–S76.
- Karlowsky JA, Hackel MA, Tsuji M, Yamano Y, Echols R, Sahm DF. In vitro activity of cefiderocol, a siderophore cephalosporin, against Gram-negative bacilli isolated by clinical laboratories in North America and Europe in 2015–2016: SIDERO-WT-2015. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2019;53(4):456–66.
- Longshaw C, Tsuji M, Hackel MM, Sahm DF, Yamano Y. In vitro activity of cefiderocol (CFDC), a novel siderophore cephalosporin, against difficult-to-treat-resistant (DTR) Gram-negative bacterial pathogens from the multi-national sentinel surveillance study, sidero-WT (2014–2017). Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;6(S2):S309–S10.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Hackel MA, Tsuji M, Yamano Y, Echols R, Karlowsky JA, Sahm DF. In vitro activity of the siderophore cephalosporin, cefiderocol, against carbapenem-nonsusceptible and multidrug-resistant isolates of Gram-negative bacilli collected worldwide in 2014 to 2016. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2018;62(2):e01968–17.
- 14. Portsmouth S, van Veenhuyzen D, Echols R, Machida M, Ferreira JCA, Ariyasu M, et al. Cefiderocol versus imipenem-cilastatin for the treatment of complicated urinary tract infections caused by Gram-negative uropathogens: a phase 2, randomised, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18(12):1319–28.
- 15. Wunderink RG, Matsunaga Y, Ariyasu M, Clevenbergh P, Echols R, Kaye KS, et al. Cefiderocol versus high-dose, extended-infusion meropenem for the treatment of Gram-negative nosocomial pneumonia (APEKS-NP): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021;21(2):213–25.
- 16. Bassetti M, Echols R, Matsunaga Y, Ariyasu M, Doi Y, Ferrer R, et al. Efficacy and safety of cefiderocol or best available therapy for the treatment of serious infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria (CREDIBLE-CR): a randomised, open-label, multicentre, pathogenfocused, descriptive, phase 3 trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021;21(2):226–40.
- 17. Edgeworth JD, Merante D, Patel S, Young C, Jones P, Vithlani S, et al. Compassionate Use of Cefiderocol as Adjunctive Treatment of Native Aortic Valve Endocarditis Due to Extremely Drug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;68(11):1932–4.
- Stevens RW, Clancy M. Compassionate use of cefiderocol in the treatment of an intraabdominal infection due to multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a case report. Pharmacotherapy. 2019;39(11):1113–8.
- 19. Trecarichi EM, Quirino A, Scaglione V, Longhini F, Garofalo E, Bruni A, et al. Successful treatment with cefiderocol for compassionate use in a critically ill patient with XDR Acinetobacter baumannii and KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae: a case report. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74(11):3399–401.
- 20. Alamarat ZI, Babic J, Tran TT, Wootton SH, Dinh AQ, Miller WR, et al. Long term compassionate use of cefiderocol to treat chronic osteomyelitis caused by XDR-pseudomonas aeruginosa and ESBL-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae in a pediatric patient. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;64(4):e01872-19.
- 21. Dagher M, Ruffin F, Marshall S, Taracila M, Bonomo RA, Reilly R, et al. Case report: successful rescue therapy of extensively drug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii osteomyelitis with cefiderocol. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(5):ofaa150.
- 22. Kufel WD, Steele JM, Riddell SW, Jones Z, Shakeraneh P, Endy TP. Cefiderocol for treatment of an empyema due to extensively drug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Clinical observations and susceptibility testing considerations. IDCases. 2020;21:e00863.
- 23. Zingg S, Nicoletti GJ, Kuster S, Junker M, Widmer A, Egli A, et al. Cefiderocol for extensively drugresistant Gram-negative bacterial infections: real-world experience from a case series and review of the literature. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(6):ofaa185.
- 24. Simeon S, Dortet L, Bouchand F, Roux AL, Bonnin RA, Duran C, et al. Compassionate use of cefiderocol to treat a case of prosthetic joint infection due to extensively drug-resistant Enterobacter hormaechei. Microorganisms. 2020;8(8):1236.
- 25. Oliva A, Ceccarelli G, De Angelis M, Sacco F, Miele MC, Mastroianni CM, et al. Cefiderocol for compassionate use in the treatment of complicated infections caused by extensively and panresistant Acinetobacter baumannii. J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2020;23:292–6.

92

- 26. Falcone M, Tiseo G, Nicastro M, Leonildi A, Vecchione A, Casella C, et al. Cefiderocol as rescue therapy for Acinetobacter baumannii and other carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative infections in ICU patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;72(11):2021–4.
- 27. Paul M, Daikos GL, Durante-Mangoni E, Yahav D, Carmeli Y, Benattar YD, et al. Colistin alone versus colistin plus meropenem for treatment of severe infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria: an open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18(4):391–400.
- Durante-Mangoni E, Signoriello G, Andini R, Mattei A, De Cristoforo M, Murino P, et al. Colistin and rifampicin compared with colistin alone for the treatment of serious infections due to extensively drug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii: a multicenter, randomized clinical trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57(3):349–58.
- 29. Sirijatuphat R, Thamlikitkul V. Preliminary study of colistin versus colistin plus fosfomycin for treatment of carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii infections. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58(9):5598–601.
- Motsch J, Murta de Oliveira C, Stus V, Koksal I, Lyulko O, Boucher HW, et al. RESTORE-IMI 1: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind trial comparing efficacy and safety of imipenem/ relebactam vs colistin plus imipenem in patients with imipenem-nonsusceptible bacterial infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;70(9):1799–808.
- Wunderink RG, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Rahav G, Mathers AJ, Bassetti M, Vazquez J, et al. Effect and safety of meropenem-vaborbactam versus best-available therapy in patients with carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae infections: the TANGO II Randomized Clinical Trial. Infect Dis Ther. 2018;7(4):439–55.
- 32. McKinnell JA, Dwyer JP, Talbot GH, Connolly LE, Friedland I, Smith A, et al. Plazomicin for infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(8):791–3.
- van Duin D, Lok JJ, Earley M, Cober E, Richter SS, Perez F, et al. Colistin versus ceftazidime-avibactam in the treatment of infections due to carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;66(2):163–71.
- Antimicrobial Drugs Advisory Committee. Cefiderocol briefing document NDA # 209445. Advisory Committee Meeting; 16 October 2019 (https://www.fda.gov/media/131705/download, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 35. Response to CHMP day 180 list of outstanding issues (clinical benefit-risk). EMEA/H/C/4829. Osaka: Shionogi; 2020.
- 2019 Antibacterial agents in clinical development: an analysis of the antibacterial clinical development pipeline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/330420, accessed 13 August 2021).
- Tamma PD, Aitken SL, Bonomo RA, Mathers AJ, van Duin D, Clancy CJ. Infectious Diseases Society of America guidance on the treatment of antimicrobial resistant Gram-negative infections. Arlington, VA: Infectious Diseases Society of America; 2020 (https://www.idsociety.org/practiceguideline/amr-guidance/, accessed 13 August 2021).
- Zasowski EJ, Bassetti M, Blasi F, Goossens H, Rello J, Sotgiu G, et al. A systematic review of the effect of delayed appropriate antibiotic treatment on the outcomes of patients with severe bacterial infections. Chest. 2020;158(3):929–38.
- Serra-Burriel M, Keys M, Campillo-Artero C, Agodi A, Barchitta M, Gikas A, et al. Impact of multidrug resistant bacteria on economic and clinical outcomes of healthcare-associated infections in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2020;15(1):e0227139.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 40. Zhen X, Lundborg CS, Sun X, Hu X, Dong H. Economic burden of antibiotic resistance in ESKAPE organisms: a systematic review. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2019;8:137.
- 41. Naylor NR, Atun R, Zhu N, Kulasabanathan K, Silva S, Chatterjee A, et al. Estimating the burden of antimicrobial resistance: a systematic literature review. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2018;7:58.
- Lopes S, Soon J, Franceschini M, Han Y, Green W, Dymond A, et al [internet]. Economic evaluation of cefiderocol for the treatment of carbapenem-resistant infections in the United States. AMCP Nexus; 19–23 October 2020 (https://amcpnexus2020.pathable.co/meetings/virtual/ PXjH3CJsGMPJmWcxb, accessed 115 August 2021).

Antibiotics – new formulations – EML

## Antibiotics – new strength formulations

ATC Code: various

## Proposal

Inclusion of new higher strength formulations of various antibiotics currently included on the EML to better align with the dosing needs of adults.

## Applicant

Mark Loeb, Dominik Mertz; McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada Veronica Zanichelli; WHO consultant

## WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Surveillance, Prevention and Control (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

#### EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Amoxicillin: solid oral dosage form 1 g Cefalexin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg Ceftriaxone: powder for injection 2 g Ciprofloxacin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg Clindamycin: injection 600 mg/4 mL, 900 mg/6 mL Phenoxymethylpenicillin: tablet 500 mg Vancomycin: powder for injection 500 mg, 1 g

## Core/complementary

Complementary (vancomycin), core (all others)

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) All of the antibiotics for which additional strength formulations are proposed are currently included on the EML is various other formulations and strengths for the indications described below (1).

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The proposed new formulations are higher strength dosage forms than those currently listed on the EML, and are aligned to meet the dosing needs of adults. The proposed higher strength formulations should enable prescribers to more effectively treat common bacterial infections.

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

## Amoxicillin: solid oral dosage form 1 g

Most adult and adolescent patients with mild community-acquired pneumonia or acute bacterial sinusitis can be successfully treated with amoxicillin 1 g every 8 hours for 5 days. The proposed 1 g oral formulation will allow for a reduced pill burden to complete the course of treatment compared with the currently listed 500 mg strength formulation, and should facilitate adherence to treatment.

## Cefalexin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg

Most adult patients diagnosed with exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, can be successfully treated with cefalexin 500 mg every 12 hours for 5 days. For bacterial pharyngitis and mild skin and soft tissue infections, most adult and adolescent patients can be successfully treated with cefalexin 500 mg every 8 hours for 5 days. The proposed 500 mg oral formulation will allow for a reduced pill burden to complete a course of treatment compared with the currently listed 250 mg strength formulation, and should facilitate adherence to treatment.

## Ceftriaxone: powder for injection 2 g

This higher strength formulation is preferable for the treatment of certain infections because it maximizes the chances of bacterial eradication in order to achieve clinical success. For example, in the case of acute bacterial meningitis, a ceftriaxone dose of 2 g every 12 hours is needed to achieve adequate concentrations of the drug in the central nervous system. The recommended duration of treatment is 10 days. For adult patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia and no risk factors for multidrug-resistant infections, ceftriaxone 2 g a day for 7 days is a recommended treatment regimen. For complicated intra-abdominal infections, ceftriaxone 2 g per day for 5 days (in combination with metronidazole) is a recommended treatment in cases where extended-spectrum

beta-lactamase strains are not suspected. For severe cases of enteric fever, if ceftriaxone is used, a dose of 2 g per day for 10 days is recommended.

## Ciprofloxacin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg

The proposed higher strength formulation will benefit adult and adolescent patients prescribed ciprofloxacin for infections including acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea, cholera, complicated intra-abdominal infections, enteric fever, low-risk febrile neutropenia and upper urinary tract infections. Treatment regimens recommend ciprofloxacin doses of 500 mg every 12 hours for 3, 5 or 7 days, depending on the indication or, in the case of cholera, a single dose of 1 g. The proposed 500 mg oral formulation will allow for a reduced pill burden to complete the course of treatment compared with the currently listed 250 mg strength formulation, and should facilitate adherence to treatment.

## Clindamycin: injection 600 mg/4 mL, 900 mg/6 mL

The higher strength formulations of clindamycin are preferable for the treatment of bone and joint infections to maximize the chance of bacterial eradication in order to achieve clinical success. For adults and adolescents diagnosed with osteomyelitis, clindamycin is an acceptable treatment option when methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) is suspected or confirmed when antimicrobial susceptibility of MRSA to clindamycin is proven or likely. Intravenous clindamycin at a dose of 600 mg every 8 hours for 4–6 weeks is a recommended dosage regimen in most cases. Clindamycin may also be used in patients allergic to penicillin.

#### Phenoxymethylpenicillin: solid oral dosage form 500 mg

Most adult and adolescent patients with mild community-acquired pneumonia, bacterial pharyngitis or dental infections can be successfully treated with phenoxymethylpenicillin 500 mg every 6 hours for 5 days; however, a longer treatment duration may be recommended in some circumstances. The proposed 500 mg strength oral formulation will allow for a reduced pill burden to complete the course of treatment compared with the currently listed 250 mg strength formulation and should facilitate adherence to treatment.

#### Vancomycin: powder for injection 500 mg, 1 g

For adult and adolescent patients with high-risk febrile neutropenia when MRSA infection is suspected, weight-based dosing of vancomycin is recommended (15–20 mg/kg every 12 hours). The 500 mg and 1 g strength formulations will allow for the achievement of recommended dose using fewer vials, compared with the currently listed 250 mg strength.

97

Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Not applicable

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

Not applicable

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No information provided

## Availability

All proposed formulations are approved by several regulatory agencies including the US Food and Drug Administration and European Medicines Agency, and are available in most countries.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of the new strength formulations of amoxicillin, cefalexin, ceftriaxone, ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, phenoxymethylpenicillin and vancomycin to the existing listings of these medicines on the EML for the indications for which they are proposed.

The Committee noted that the proposed strength formulations are higher than those currently included on the Model List, and are appropriate and aligned to meet recommended doses for treatment of adults, with the advantages of a reduced pill burden in the case of oral formulations, and facilitating a simplified and safer dose administration in the case of intravenous formulations.

## References

1. WHO Model List of Essential Medicines. 21st List. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2019. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 13 August 2021).

.....

## 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

Moxifloxacin and rifapentine - new indication - EML

Moxifloxacin	ATC Code: J01MA14
Rifapentine	ATC Code: J04AB05

## Proposal

Extension of the indications for moxifloxacin and rifapentine on the EML to include a new indication for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis in adults and children over 12 years of age.

## Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Moxifloxacin: tablet 400 mg Rifapentine: tablet 150 mg, 300 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Moxifloxacin 400 mg tablets were added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc in 2017 for use in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (*1*). In 2019, a 100 mg dispersible tablet formulation was added to the complementary list of the EMLc for this indication for use in children (*2*).

Rifapentine (150 mg tablet) was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc in 2015 for treatment, in combination with isoniazid, of latent tuberculosis infection (now known as tuberculosis preventive treatment) (*3*). A separate

application to the 2021 Expert Committee meeting requests listing for a 300 mg strength tablet of rifapentine for tuberculosis preventive treatment.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The public health relevance of medicines for the treatment of tuberculosis is well established. Globally in 2019, an estimated 10 million people fell ill with tuberculosis, 1.2 million deaths occurred among HIV-negative people and 208 000 deaths among HIV-positive people (4).

Treatment of drug-susceptible pulmonary tuberculosis is a standard 6-month daily regimen, composed of 2 months of isoniazid (H), rifampin (R), ethambutol (E) and pyrazinamide (Z) followed by 4 months of isoniazid and rifampin (2HREZ/4HR). The standard 6-month regimen is well known and widely implemented worldwide. Rifapentine-based regimens have potent antimycobacterial activity and may allow shortening of a treatment course in patients with drug-susceptible pulmonary tuberculosis.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The Tuberculosis Trials Consortium Study 31/AIDS Clinical Trials Group A5349 (Study 31/A5349) was an international, multicentre, randomized, openlabel, phase III, non-inferiority trial that aimed to determine whether treatment regimens that included rifapentine, at a once-daily dose of 1200 mg (with or without a once-daily dose of 400 mg of moxifloxacin) can provide a durable cure in participants with drug-susceptible pulmonary tuberculosis in 4 months, as compared with the standard 6-month regimen (5).

Two shorter regimens were assessed: (i) 2 months of isoniazid (H), rifapentine (P), ethambutol (E) and pyrazinamide (Z), followed by 2 months of isoniazid and rifapentine (2PHZE/2PH), with rifapentine replacing rifampin; and (ii) 2 months of isoniazid, rifapentine, moxifloxacin (M) and pyrazinamide, followed by 2 months of isoniazid, rifapentine and moxifloxacin (2PHZM/2PHM), with rifapentine replacing rifampin and moxifloxacin replacing ethambutol. These two 4-month regimens were compared with a standard 2RHZE/4RH regimen using a non-inferiority margin of 6.6 percentage points. The primary efficacy outcome was survival free of tuberculosis at 12 months after randomization, and safety was assessed through day 14 after the last dose of a trial drug.

The rifapentine with moxifloxacin regimen was non-inferior to the control regimen in the microbiologically eligible population (15.5% versus 14.6% had an unfavorable outcome; difference 1.0 percentage point, 95% confidence interval (CI) -2.6 to 4.5) and in the assessable population (11.6% versus 9.6%; difference 2.0 percentage points; 95% CI -1.1 to 5.1). Non-inferiority was shown in the secondary and sensitivity analyses.

Non-inferiority of the rifapentine without moxifloxacin regimen to the control regimen was not shown in either the microbiologically eligible population (17.7% versus 14.6% with an unfavorable outcome; difference 3.0 percentage points, 95% CI -0.6 to 6.6) or the assessable population (14.2% versus 9.6%; difference 4.4 percentage points, 95% CI 1.2 to 7.7).

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

No evidence of a difference between the rifapentine with moxifloxacin and control regimens in the primary safety outcome was found: on-treatment grade 3 or higher adverse events were reported in 159 (18.8%) participants in the rifapentine–moxifloxacin regimen and 159 (19.3%) in the control regimen (adjusted difference -0.6, 95% CI -4.3 to 3.2). The percentage of participants with on-treatment grade 3 or higher adverse events was lower in the rifapentine without moxifloxacin regimen than the control regimen (adjusted difference -5.1, 95% CI -8.7 to -1.5). In addition, all-cause mortality during treatment was low and similar across treatment regimens (0.8%, 0.4% and 0.5% in the control, rifapentine–moxifloxacin and rifapentine regimens, respectively) (5).

There was no evidence of a difference in tolerability between the rifapentine-moxifloxacin regimen and the control regimen (risk difference -1.0, 95% CI -3.6 to 1.6). The rifapentine regimen was better tolerated than the control regimen (-3.3, 95% CI -5.7 to -0.9) (5).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

The WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme received data from the Study 31 investigators and convened a guideline development group in April 2021 to review study results.

The available evidence reviewed by the guideline development group on the 4-month regimen for treatment of drug-susceptible pulmonary tuberculosis supports the use of this regimen as a possible alternative to the current standard 6-month regimen. The shorter regimen has showed similar performance to the current standard regimen, both in terms of efficacy and safety. The 4-month regimen, which is shorter, effective and all oral, would be preferred by many patients and also national tuberculosis programmes, allowing faster cure and easing the burden on both patients and the health care system. However, implementation and uptake of the new regimen in the short to medium term will be more feasible if the cost of rifapentine is reduced and its availability improved. Rigorous antibacterial stewardship will also be required to ensure the appropriate use of the first-line regimen given that it contains moxifloxacin, an antibiotic usually used for the treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis. Updated WHO policy guidelines will be released later in 2021, as part of the 2021 update of the WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. The guidelines will incorporate all current recommendations on the treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis (6).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Cost-effectiveness data were not presented in the application. The guideline development group noted that implementation and uptake of the new regimen in the short to medium term will be more feasible if the cost of rifapentine is reduced and its availability improved.

#### Availability

Not applicable

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis is a major cause of ill health and one of the top 10 causes of death worldwide. About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing tuberculosis disease of about 5–10% among those infected.

The Committee noted the results from Study 31 that a shorter 4-month regimen containing isoniazid, moxifloxacin, rifapentine and pyrazinamide was shown to be non-inferior to the standard 6-month regimen containing ethambutol, isoniazid, pyrazinamide and rifampin for patients with drug-susceptible tuberculosis. The Committee also noted that the 4-month regimen containing moxifloxacin and rifapentine will be included in the updated WHO guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis. The Committee considered that a reduction in the length of the course of treatment from 6 months to 4 months may improve patient adherence and result in cost savings.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of moxifloxacin 400 mg tablets and rifapentine 150 mg and 300 mg tablets on the core list of the EML for the new indication of treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis in adults and children older than 12 years of age.

#### References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006); https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 13 August 2021).

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 13 August 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 4. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 5. Dorman SE, Nahid P, Kurbatova EV, Phillips PPJ, Bryant K, Dooley KE, et al. Four-month rifapentine regimens with or without moxifloxacin for tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(18):1705–18.
- 6. Treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis: rapid communication. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/341729, accessed 13 August 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Pyrazinamide – new formulation – EML and EMLc

## Pyrazinamide

ATC Code: J04AK01

## Proposal

Inclusion of a new strength formulation (500 mg tablet) of pyrazinamide for the treatment of tuberculosis.

## Applicant

Jennifer Furin; Harvard Medical School, Boston, United States of America Brian Kaiser; Stop TB Partnership/Global Drug Facility

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 500 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Pyrazinamide 500 mg tablets were added to the EML in 1982 for the treatment of tuberculosis. In 1995, the 500 mg strength tablet was replaced by a 400 mg strength tablet, which remains listed currently. The current EML also includes 150 mg strength tablet formulations.

Pyrazinamide is also included in the EML as part as single-pill combinations with ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin. The strength of pyrazinamide in these combination formulations is 400 mg.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Globally, an estimated 10 million people fell ill with tuberculosis in 2019, a number that has been declining slowly in recent years. An estimated 1.2 million deaths caused by tuberculosis occurred among HIV-negative people in 2019 and an additional 208 000 deaths among HIV-positive people. Men (aged  $\geq$  15 years) accounted for 56% of the people who developed tuberculosis in 2019, women accounted for 32% and children (aged < 15 years) for 12%. Of all those affected by tuberculosis, 8.2% were people living with HIV. Drug-resistant tuberculosis continues to be a public health threat. In 2019, about half a million people developed rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, of whom 78% had multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (1).

About 85% of people who develop drug-susceptible tuberculosis and 57% who develop multidrug-resistant tuberculosis can be successfully treated with a 6-month drug regimen (1).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application highlighted that the proposed 500 mg strength formulation may lead to better adherence to treatment as a result of a reduced pill burden. WHO recommends a dose of 30–35 mg/kg a day for pyrazinamide. Recommended weight-band dosing for pyrazinamide with 400 mg and 500 mg strength tablets is shown below, highlighting the lower pill burden for patients weighing more than 30 kg with the 500 mg strength formulation. A higher pill burden has been associated with lower rates of treatment adherence, which could lead to poor treatment outcomes, increased morbidity and mortality, the development of drug resistance and ongoing transmission of tuberculosis (*2*).

Weight band (kg)	WHO-recommended dose (mg/day)	Number of 400 mg tablets	Number of 500 mg tablets
30–35	1000-1200	3	2
36–45	1500–1600	4	3
46–55	1500–1600	4	3
56–70	1500–1600	4	3
> 70	2000	5	4

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Pyrazinamide has been used in the treatment of tuberculosis for more than 50 years and its safety profile is well known.

The pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of pyrazinamide have been confirmed in many studies involving different formulations including the 400 mg and 500 mg tablets (*3–7*).

Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

Regimens including pyrazinamide are recommended by WHO guidelines for treatment of both drug-susceptible and drug-resistant tuberculosis (8–10).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Pyrazinamide 500 mg tablets are available from the Stop TB Partnership Global Drug Facility at a price of US\$ 13.40–14.00 per pack. In contrast, the price for the 400 mg tablets is US\$ 14.00 per pack. In both cases the pack size is 672 tablets.

#### Availability

There are three suppliers of pyrazinamide 500 mg tablets that are currently prequalified by the WHO Prequalification of Medicines Programme: Micro Labs, Macleods Pharmaceuticals Ltd and Antibiotice SA. Additional quality-assured suppliers are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration.

According to unpublished data from the Global Drug Facility, the procurement of pyrazinamide 400 mg and 500 mg tablets was about equal between 2014 and 2017. In 2018, however, procurement of the 500 mg tablet was more than 80% of all single formulations of pyrazinamide and was more than 60% in 2019 and 2020, indicating that this formulation is already being procured and used, despite not being on the EML.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee Recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis is a major cause of ill health and one of the top 10 causes of death worldwide. About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing tuberculosis of about 5–10% among those infected.

The Expert Committee noted pyrazinamide 400 mg tablet is already listed in the EML and the addition of 500 mg formulation would help reduce the pill burden for patients and may increase adherence to treatment. It also noted that pyrazinamide 500 mg is already listed in many national essential medicine lists.

Therefore, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of the pyrazinamide 500 mg tablet formulation in the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of tuberculosis.

## References

- 1. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 13 August 2021).
- 2. Zegeye A, Dessie G, Wagnew F, Gebrie A, Islam SMS, Tesfaye B, et al. Prevalence and determinants of anti-tuberculosis treatment non-adherence in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2019;14(1):e0210422.
- Chirehwa MT, McIlleron H, Rustomjee R, Mthiyane T, Onyebujoh P, Smith P, et al. Pharmacokinetics of pyrazinamide and optimal dosing regimens for drug-sensitive and -resistant tuberculosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017;61(8):e00490-17.
- Zhu M, Starke JR, Burman WJ, Steiner P, Stambaugh JJ, Ashkin D, et al. Population pharmacokinetic modeling of pyrazinamide in children and adults with tuberculosis. Pharmacotherapy. 2002;22(6):686–95.
- Wilkins JJ, Langdon G, McIlleron H, Pillai GC, Smith PJ, Simonsson US. Variability in the population pharmacokinetics of pyrazinamide in South African tuberculosis patients. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2006;62(9):727–35.
- Peloquin CA, Bulpitt AE, Jaresko GS, Jelliffe RW, James GT, Nix DE. Pharmacokinetics of pyrazinamide under fasting conditions, with food, and with antacids. Pharmacotherapy. 1998;18(6):1205–11.
- Denti P, Jeremiah K, Chigutsa E, Faurholt-Jepsen D, PrayGod G, Range N, et al. Pharmacokinetics of isoniazid, pyrazinamide, and ethambutol in newly diagnosed pulmonary TB patients in Tanzania. PLoS One. 2015;10(10):e0141002.
- Guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis and patient care, 2017 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/255052, accessed 13 August 2021).
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332397, accessed 13 August 2021).
- WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332398, accessed 13 August 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Rifapentine – new formulation – EML and EMLc

## Rifapentine

ATC Code: J04AB05

## Proposal

Inclusion of a new strength formulation (300 mg) of rifapentine tablets for tuberculosis preventive treatment (previously known as treatment of latent tuberculosis infection).

## Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet (scored): 300 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Rifapentine (150 mg tablet) was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc in 2015 for treatment, in combination with isoniazid, of latent tuberculosis infection (now known as tuberculosis preventive treatment) (1).

The 2015 application presented a network meta-analysis of treatments for latent tuberculosis infection for preventing the development of active disease in individuals identified at high risk of progression (2). Fifty-three randomized controlled trials evaluated treatment for latent tuberculosis infection and recorded at least one of the two prespecified endpoints (prevention of active tuberculosis and/or hepatotoxicity of grade III or above). The results of clinical trials demonstrated the effectiveness of the 12-week regimen of rifapentine

108

and isoniazid (3HP), administered once weekly for the treatment of latent tuberculosis infection in adults compared with the 6- or 9-month isoniazid regimen, considered as standard for this indication. Randomized controlled trials explored the effectiveness of rifapentine in combination with isoniazid for children aged 2 years and older (3), people with HIV-infection (4) and people without HIV infection (3). The rifapentine plus isoniazid combination was non-inferior in terms of efficacy, and had significantly better treatment adherence and completion of the 12-week regimen compared with isoniazid alone.

Universal treatment of all individuals with latent tuberculosis infection is not recommended because of uncertainties about the balance between benefit and harm. A positive benefit–harm trade-off is evident in individuals with latent tuberculosis infection who are at risk for progression to active tuberculosis disease, that is: people living with HIV; adult and child contacts of pulmonary tuberculosis cases; patients starting treatment with an antitumour necrosis factor; patients receiving dialysis; patients preparing for organ or haematological transplantation; and patients with silicosis (5, 6).

In terms of harms, the 12-week rifapentine plus isoniazid regimen was shown to be well tolerated when used for the treatment of latent tuberculosis infection, including in children and in adults with and without HIV infection (2,3). The 12-week combination regimen was associated with less hepatotoxicity and more possible hypersensitivity reactions than the standard 6- or 9-month isoniazid therapy. In total, five deaths attributable to toxicity were reported, mostly from a single trial. All deaths were due to severe hepatitis in isoniazid treatment groups, and at least four occurred in patients who were on isoniazid for 12 months or longer (2). In the TBTC-S26 main study, the overall incidence of serious adverse events was low; serious adverse events were reported in 2.7% of patients in the isoniazid arm and 1.5% of patients in the rifapentine plus isoniazid arm (3). In the paediatric substudy of TBTC-S26, serious adverse events were reported in six children (1.2%), all of whom were in the isoniazid arm. In the HIV substudy of TBTC-S26, serious adverse events were reported in 10.8% of patients receiving isoniazid and 3.9% of patients receiving rifapentine plus isoniazid.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Globally, an estimated 10 million people fell ill with tuberculosis in 2019, a number that has been declining slowly in recent years. An estimated 1.2 million deaths caused by tuberculosis occurred among HIV-negative people in 2019, and an additional 208 000 deaths among HIV-positive people. Men (aged  $\geq$  15 years) accounted for 56% of the people who developed tuberculosis in 2019, women accounted for 32% and children (aged < 15 years) for 12%. Of all those affected by tuberculosis, 8.2% were people living with HIV (7).

About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing tuberculosis disease of about 5–10% among those infected (8). Preventive treatment is available for people with tuberculosis infection. Prevention of new infections of *M. tuberculosis* and their progression to tuberculosis disease is critical to reduce the burden of ill health and death caused by tuberculosis, and to achieve the End TB Strategy targets set for 2030 and 2035. Current health interventions for tuberculosis prevention, in addition to tuberculosis preventive treatment, include the prevention of transmission of *M. tuberculosis* through infection prevention and control, and vaccination of children with the bacille Calmette–Guérin (BCG) vaccine.

Tuberculosis preventive treatment reduces the risk of progression from tuberculosis infection to tuberculosis disease by about 60% but this reduction can be as high as 90% among certain high-risk groups, such as people living with HIV (9, 10). Systematic tuberculosis preventive treatment is currently recommended by WHO for: household contacts of bacteriologically confirmed pulmonary tuberculosis patients, people living with HIV, people with silicosis, people receiving dialysis or antitumour necrosis factor treatment, and people preparing for haematological or organ transplantation. Depending upon the country context, people with risk factors other than those mentioned above (such as prisoners, non-household close contacts and people with diabetes) can also be considered for systematic screening and tuberculosis preventive treatment. At the first UN high-level meeting on tuberculosis in 2018, Member States committed to providing tuberculosis preventive treatment to at least 30 million people in the 5-year period 2018–2022, including 6 million people living with HIV, 4 million children aged under 5 years who are household contacts of people with bacteriologically confirmed tuberculosis, and 20 million household contacts in older age groups.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Evidence for the benefits of rifapentine was reviewed in 2015 (see Background section).

The effectiveness of the 300 mg formulation is not expected to differ from the 150 mg formulation, as long as the tablet is a quality-assured product with proven bioavailability.

In general, providing tuberculosis preventive treatment to high-risk individuals prevents morbidity and mortality at the individual level and reduces the tuberculosis burden by limiting its transmission from individuals who would otherwise develop tuberculosis. Recent epidemiological data from the WHO South-East Asia region indicate that tuberculosis disease prevention at scale is an essential intervention if the End TB Strategy targets are to be met. Optimal implementation of tuberculosis preventive treatment alone in certain high-risk groups, such as household contacts or people living with HIV, has the potential to reduce the annual tuberculosis incidence rate by 8.3% (95% credible interval (CrI) 6.5 to 10.8) relative to 2015, in the absence of any additional interventions (11, 12).

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Evidence for the harms of rifapentine was reviewed in 2015 (see Background section).

The harms associated with the 300 mg formulation are not expected to differ from the 150 mg formulation as long as the tablet is a quality-assured product with proven bioavailability.

Nitrosamine impurities in rifapentine have recently stopped its production and distribution (13, 14). The WHO Prequalification Unit reported on 30 October 2020 that it was in contact with Sanofi about the presence of 1-cyclopentyl-4-nitrosopiperazine in the Priftin brand of rifapentine, a medicine that had prequalified based on approval of the US Food and Drug Administration. As per its notification of 29 October 2020, the US Food and Drug Administration will not object to the temporary distribution of rifapentine containing 1-cyclopentyl-4-nitrosopiperazine below 20 parts per million. The WHO Prequalification Unit recognizes the decision of the US Food and Drug Administration for this product.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

Regimens including rifapentine for tuberculosis preventive treatment are recommended by WHO in the 2020 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis (15, 16).

The following options are recommended regardless of HIV status.

- 6 or 9 months of daily isoniazid, or
- a 3-month regimen of weekly rifapentine plus isoniazid, or
- a 3-month regimen of daily isoniazid plus rifampicin, or
- a 1-month regimen of daily rifapentine plus isoniazid, or
- a 4-month regimen of daily rifampicin.

The recommended dose of rifapentine in rifapentine-containing tuberculosis preventive treatment regimens is:

 1200 mg per week for patients aged > 14 years (for the 3-month regimen of rifapentine plus isoniazid) ■ 600 mg per day for patients aged ≥ 13 years (for the 1-month regimen of daily rifapentine plus isoniazid).

The 300 mg strength formulation would reduce the pill burden for patients.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The median cost per person treated for drug-susceptible tuberculosis in 2019 was US\$ 860 and about US\$ 5660 for treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (7). Recent modelling work in the WHO South-East Asia region showed that the number of individuals at high risk of tuberculosis disease who need preventive treatment to avert one tuberculosis case is 64 (95% CrI 55 to 74), which is considered an attractive public health proposition (12). Tuberculosis preventive treatment can result in important savings for the individual and the health system by avoiding the need for tuberculosis treatment, given the longer isoniazid monotherapy regimens needed for treatment of tuberculosis preventive treatment even more advantageous. The standard regimen of 6 months isoniazid monotherapy has been the most widely used tuberculosis preventive treatment option, costing US\$ 4–6 for a patient course. However, the uptake and completion of tuberculosis preventive treatment with this longer regimen has been limited (17).

Furthermore, WHO considers the 3-month regimen of weekly rifapentine + isoniazid and the 1-month regimen of daily rifapentine + isoniazid as equivalent options for tuberculosis preventive treatment among high-risk individuals across all epidemic settings. Individuals on shorter regimens were shown to be 1.5-3 times more likely to complete treatment, which is important to maximize its effectiveness in preventing active tuberculosis (18-21). In published literature, the cost-effectiveness of the two rifapentine-containing regimens has primarily been studied in high-income, low-burden settings using the price of Sanofibranded rifapentine (Priftin). In high-burden, low-resource settings, researchers have found the 3-month regimen of weekly rifapentine + isoniazid with directly observed therapy prevents the greatest number of tuberculosis cases compared with other regimens for latent tuberculosis infection, but at a cost of US\$ 9402 per disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted (22). If the price of rifapentine were reduced to US\$ 8, the researchers estimated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio would decrease to US\$ 535 per DALY averted. Hence, although currently more costly compared to the isoniazid-only regimen, tuberculosis preventive treatment containing rifapentine is expected to be more cost-effective option for tuberculosis programmes.

Rifapentine, although off patent, is currently only available from Sanofi, the innovator. There are no other quality-assured sources. In high-income countries, Sanofi sells the drug as a 150 mg tablet at US\$ 1 per tablet or US\$ 73 for a full patient course of the 3-month regimen inclusive of isoniazid. Through the Global Drug Facility, the company sells the drug for US\$ 0.625 per tablet or US\$ 46 per treatment course. This cost is significantly higher than the US\$ 4–6 for the 6-month isoniazid regimen. Sanofi has entered into an agreement with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria and Unitaid to reduce the price of rifapentine to US\$ 15 per adult patient course for a select set of countries with a high burden of tuberculosis.

Additional suppliers of a more suitable formulation will increase supply security and competition, leading to lower prices without the geographic limitations.

#### Availability

Two suppliers are developing a rifapentine 300 mg formulation. One supplier has successfully completed stability and pilot bioequivalence studies on the prototype product. Once 6 months of stability information is available, the product will be submitted for review by the WHO Prequalification Programme and the Global Fund's Expert Review Panel. A second supplier of the 300 mg formulation is on a similar timeline. As soon as the WHO Pregualification Programme has accepted the product dossiers for review, the products can be reviewed by the Global Fund's Expert Review Panel. The Expert Review Panel makes recommendations to the Global Fund to allow procurement while a product is undergoing quality assurance review by WHO. Rifapentine 300 mg is a priority product for review by the Expert Review Panel, meaning the recommendation could be made in only 6 weeks from the time of dossier submission. Thus, availability of this product on the market would be expected in late 2021. These new products should help alleviate some of the backlog of demand for rifapentine-based short-course tuberculosis preventative treatment. As there is currently only one supplier of a non-ideal formulation of rifapentine, a Rifapentine Consortium composed of some of the main technical and funding partners that support WHO's drive to scale-up tuberculosis preventive treatment globally was established in 2019. The function of the Consortium is to allocate the very limited available supply against the increasing programmatic demand. Having additional suppliers of a more suitable formulation should help restore the normal market dynamics for rifapentine and the Rifapentine Consortium will no longer be required.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis is a major cause of ill health and one of the top 10 causes of death worldwide. About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *M. tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing active disease of about 5–10% among people infected.

The Committee considered that tuberculosis preventive treatment reduces the risk of progression from tuberculosis infection to tuberculosis disease by about 60% but this reduction can be as high as 90% among certain high-risk groups. Systematic tuberculosis preventive treatment is currently recommended by WHO for target populations at high risk. Furthermore, with the commitments from governments and donors, the availability of shorter regimens is expected to facilitate uptake of tuberculosis preventive treatment.

The Committee noted that rifapentine 150 mg has been on the core list of the EML for tuberculosis since 2015, as part of the preferred shorter tuberculosis preventive treatment regimens of rifapentine in combination with isoniazid as a weekly dose for 3 months (3HP) or a daily regimen for 1 month (1HP). The 300 mg formulation of rifapentine would reduce the pill burden by half, thus significantly improving the likelihood of treatment adherence. In addition, individuals on shorter regimens have been shown to be 1.5–3 times more likely to complete the treatment course, which is a significant determinant of the regimen's effectiveness in preventing active tuberculosis.

The Committee considered that the overall benefit to risk ratio of the rifapentine 300 mg formulation greatly favours its use for the shorter tuberculosis preventive treatment regimens. Availability of rifapentine 300 mg on the market is expected in late 2021. Additional suppliers of this formulation will increase supply security and competition, leading to lower prices and affordability.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of the rifapentine 300 mg scored tablet formulation for the indication of tuberculosis preventive treatment on the core list of the EML and EMLc.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 2. Stagg HR, Zenner D, Harris RJ, Munoz L, Lipman MC, Abubakar I. Treatment of latent tuberculosis infection: a network meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161(6):419–28.
- 3. Sterling TR, Villarino ME, Borisov AS, Shang N, Gordin F, Bliven-Sizemore E, et al. Three months of rifapentine and isoniazid for latent tuberculosis infection. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(23):2155–66.
- 4. Martinson NA, Barnes GL, Moulton LH, Msandiwa R, Hausler H, Ram M, et al. New regimens to prevent tuberculosis in adults with HIV infection. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(1):11–20.

.....

- 5. Guidelines on the management of latent tuberculosis infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/136471, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 6. Linas BP, Wong AY, Freedberg KA, Horsburgh CR, Jr. Priorities for screening and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection in the United States. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184(5):590–601.
- Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 8. Houben RM, Dodd PJ. The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: a re-estimation using mathematical modelling. PLoS Med. 2016;13(10):e1002152.
- 9. Fox GJ, Dobler CC, Marais BJ, Denholm JT. Preventive therapy for latent tuberculosis infection-the promise and the challenges. Int J Infect Dis. 2017;56:68–76.
- 10. Semu M, Fenta TG, Medhin G, Assefa D. Effectiveness of isoniazid preventative therapy in reducing incidence of active tuberculosis among people living with HIV/AIDS in public health facilities of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: a historical cohort study. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):5.
- 11. Arinaminpathy N, Mandal S, Bhatia V, McLeod R, Sharma M, Swaminathan S, et al. Strategies for ending tuberculosis in the South-East Asian Region: A modelling approach. Indian J Med Res. 2019;149(4):517–27.
- 12. Mandal S, Bhatia V, Sharma M, Mandal PP, Arinaminpathy N. The potential impact of preventive therapy against tuberculosis in the WHO South-East Asian Region: a modelling approach. BMC Med. 2020;18(1):163.
- 13. FDA updates and press announcements on nitrosamines in rifampin and rifapentine. (https:// www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-updates-and-press-announcementsnitrosamines-rifampin-and-rifapentine, accessed 19 August 2021).
- Nitrosamine concerns for Priftin (rifapentine) Update [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization, Prequalification of Medical Products (IVDs, Medicines, Vaccines and Immunization Devices, Vector Control); 2020 (https://extranet.who.int/pqweb/news/nitrosamine-concernspriftin-rifapentine-update, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 15. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: Module 1: Prevention tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/331170, accessed 19 August 2021).
- WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis: Module 1: Prevention tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/331525, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 17. Alsdurf H, Hill PC, Matteelli A, Getahun H, Menzies D. The cascade of care in diagnosis and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(11):1269–78.
- Sandgren A, Vonk Noordegraaf-Schouten M, van Kessel F, Stuurman A, Oordt-Speets A, van der Werf MJ. Initiation and completion rates for latent tuberculosis infection treatment: a systematic review. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:204.
- Stuurman AL, Vonk Noordegraaf-Schouten M, van Kessel F, Oordt-Speets AM, Sandgren A, van der Werf MJ. Interventions for improving adherence to treatment for latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:257.
- Liu Y, Birch S, Newbold KB, Essue BM. Barriers to treatment adherence for individuals with latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic search and narrative synthesis of the literature. Int J Health Plann Manage. 2018;33(2):e416–e33.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 21. Pease C, Hutton B, Yazdi F, Wolfe D, Hamel C, Quach P, et al. Efficacy and completion rates of rifapentine and isoniazid (3HP) compared to other treatment regimens for latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review with network meta-analyses. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):265.
- 22. Johnson KT, Churchyard GJ, Sohn H, Dowdy DW. Cost-effectiveness of preventive therapy for tuberculosis with isoniazid and rifapentine versus isoniazid alone in high-burden settings. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(7):1072–8.

116

*Rifapentine* + *isoniazid* – *new formulation* – *EML and EMLc* 

## Rifapentine + isoniazid

ATC Code: J04AC51

## Proposal

Inclusion of a single-pill combination formulation of rifapentine plus isoniazid for tuberculosis preventive treatment (previously known as treatment of latent tuberculosis infection).

## Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet (scored): 300 mg + 300 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Single ingredient formulations of rifapentine and isoniazid are currently included on the EML.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Globally, an estimated 10 million people fell ill with tuberculosis in 2019, a number that has been declining slowly in recent years. An estimated 1.2 million deaths caused by tuberculosis occurred among HIV-negative people in 2019 and an additional 208 000 deaths among HIV-positive people. Men (aged  $\geq$  15 years) accounted for 56% of the people who developed TB in 2019, women

accounted for 32% and children (aged < 15 years) for 12%. Of all those affected by tuberculosis, 8.2% were people living with HIV (1).

About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing tuberculosis disease of about 5–10% among those infected (2). Tuberculosis preventive treatment is available for people with tuberculosis infection. Prevention of new infections of *M. tuberculosis* and their progression to tuberculosis disease is critical to reduce the burden of ill health and death caused by tuberculosis, and to achieve the End TB Strategy targets set for 2030 and 2035. Current health interventions for tuberculosis prevention, in addition to tuberculosis preventive treatment, include the prevention of transmission of M. tuberculosis through infection prevention and control, and vaccination of children with the bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccine.

Tuberculosis preventive treatment reduces the risk of progression from tuberculosis infection to tuberculosis disease by about 60% but this reduction can be as high as 90% among certain high-risk groups, such as people living with HIV (3,4). Systematic tuberculosis preventive treatment is currently recommended by WHO for: household contacts of bacteriologically confirmed pulmonary tuberculosis patients, people living with HIV, people with silicosis, people receiving dialysis or antitumour necrosis factor treatment and people preparing for haematological or organ transplantation. Depending on the country context, people with risk factors other than those mentioned above (such as prisoners, non-household close contacts and people with diabetes) can also be considered for systematic screening and tuberculosis preventive treatment. At the first UN high-level meeting on tuberculosis in 2018, Member States committed to providing tuberculosis preventive treatment to at least 30 million people in the 5-year period 2018–2022, including 6 million people living with HIV, 4 million children aged under 5 years who are household contacts of people with bacteriologically confirmed tuberculosis, and 20 million household contacts in older age groups.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Evidence for the benefits of rifapentine and isoniazid as tuberculosis preventive treatment was reviewed in 2015 (5).

The effectiveness of the single-pill combination formulation is expected to be similar to the combination use of the individual medicines as separate formulations.

In general, providing tuberculosis preventive treatment to high-risk individuals prevents morbidity and mortality at the individual level and reduces the tuberculosis burden by limiting its transmission from individuals who would otherwise develop tuberculosis. Recent epidemiological data from the WHO South–East Asia region indicate that tuberculosis disease prevention at scale is an essential intervention if the End TB Strategy targets are to be met. Optimal implementation of tuberculosis preventive treatment alone in certain high-risk groups, such as household contacts or people living with HIV, has the potential to reduce the annual tuberculosis incidence rate by 8.3% (95% credible interval (CrI) 6.5 to 10.8) relative to 2015, in the absence of any additional interventions (6, 7).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Evidence for the harms of rifapentine and isoniazid as tuberculosis preventive treatment was reviewed in 2015 (5).

The harms associated with the single-pill combination formulation are expected to be similar to combination use of the individual medicines as separate formulations.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

Regimens including rifapentine and isoniazid for tuberculosis preventive treatment are recommended by WHO in the 2020 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis (*8*, *9*).

The following options are recommended regardless of HIV status:

- 6 or 9 months of daily isoniazid, or
- a 3-month regimen of weekly rifapentine plus isoniazid, or
- a 3-month regimen of daily isoniazid plus rifampicin, or
- a 1-month regimen of daily rifapentine plus isoniazid, or
- a 4-month regimen of daily rifampicin.

The proposed single-pill formulation is primarily targeted for use in the 3-month weekly dosing regimen in individuals older than 14 years, in whom the recommended weekly dose is 1200 mg rifapentine + 900 mg isoniazid. The single-pill combination formulation would reduce the weekly pill burden for patients from nine tablets a week (3 x isoniazid 300 mg plus 6 x rifapentine 150 mg) to three tablets a week (9).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The median cost per person treated for drug-susceptible tuberculosis in 2019 was US\$ 860 and about US\$ 5660 for treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (1). Recent modelling work in the WHO South-East Asia region

showed that the number of individuals at high risk of tuberculosis disease who need preventive treatment to avert one tuberculosis case is 64 (95% CrI 55 to 74) which is considered an attractive public health proposition (7). Tuberculosis preventive treatment can result in useful savings for the individual and the health system by avoiding the need for tuberculosis treatment, given the longer isoniazid monotherapy regimens needed for tuberculosis disease treatment. Further reductions in the cost of rifapentine will make this tuberculosis preventive treatment even more cost-effective. The standard regimen of 6 months isoniazid monotherapy has been the most widely used tuberculosis preventive treatment option, costing US\$ 4–6 for a patient course. However, the uptake and completion of tuberculosis preventive treatment with this longer regimen has been limited (10).

Furthermore, WHO considers the 3-month regimen of weekly rifapentine + isoniazid and 1-month regimen of daily rifapentine + isoniazid as equivalent options for tuberculosis preventive treatment among high-risk individuals across all epidemic settings. Individuals on shorter regimens were shown to be 1.5-3 times more likely to complete treatment, which is important to maximize its effectiveness in preventing active tuberculosis (11–14). In published literature, the cost-effectiveness of the two rifapentine-containing regimens has primarily been studied in high-income, low-burden settings using the price of Sanofi-branded rifapentine (Priftin). In high-burden, low-resource settings, researchers have found the 3-month regimen of weekly rifapentine + isoniazid with directly observed therapy prevents the greatest number of tuberculosis cases compared with other regimens for latent tuberculosis infection, but at a cost of US\$ 9402 per disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted (15). If the price of rifapentine were reduced to US\$ 8, the researchers estimated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio would decrease to US\$ 535 per DALY averted. Hence, although currently more costly compared to the isoniazid-only regimen, tuberculosis preventive treatment containing rifapentine is expected to be more cost-effective option for programmes.

Rifapentine although off patent, is currently only available from Sanofi, the innovator. There are no other quality-assured sources. In high-income countries, Sanofi sells the drug as a 150 mg tablet at US\$ 1 per tablet or US\$ 73 for a full patient course of the 3-month regimen inclusive of isoniazid. Through the Global Drug Facility, the company sells the drug for US\$ 0.625 per tablet or US\$ 46 per treatment course. This cost is significantly higher than the US\$ 4–6 for the 6-month isoniazid regimen. Sanofi has entered into an agreement with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria and UNITAID to reduce the price of rifapentine to US\$ 15 per adult patient course for a select set of countries with a high burden of tuberculosis. The generic supplier, Macleods Pharmaceuticals, sells the single-pill combination of rifapentine

300 mg + isoniazid 300 mg, and has also entered into an agreement with the Global Fund and Unitaid to price the product at US\$ 15 per patient course through a special agreement.

#### Availability

MacLeods Pharmaceuticals has filed the proposed formulation with multiple national drug regulatory authorities, including countries with a high burden of tuberculosis such as India and South Africa.

The formulation has been submitted for assessment by the WHO Prequalification Programme. It is currently endorsed for procurement by The Global Fund's Expert Review Panel meaning the product can be procured using Global Fund funds while the product undergoes prequalification review. The formulation is available to eligible countries through the Global Drug Facility. A box of 36 tablets (a single treatment for an adult patient) is US\$ 15.

A second supplier is also at an advanced stage of development of a single-pill combination tablet of rifapentine 300 mg plus isoniazid 300 mg. The supplier has successfully completed stability and pilot bioequivalence studies on the prototype product. Once 6 months of stability information is available, the product will be submitted to WHO Prequalification Programme and the Global Fund's Expert Review Panel. The Expert Review Panel makes recommendations to the Global Fund to allow procurement while a product is undergoing quality assurance review by WHO. Rifapentine + isoniazid singlepill combination is a priority product for review by the Expert Review Panel, meaning the recommendation could be made in as little as 6 weeks from the time of dossier submission. Thus, availability of this product on the market would be expected in late 2021. As there is currently only one supplier of a nonideal formulation of rifapentine, a Rifapentine Consortium composed of some of the main technical and funding partners that support WHO's drive to scaleup tuberculosis preventive treatment globally was established in 2019 to allocate the very limited available supply against the increasing programmatic demand. Having additional suppliers of a more suitable formulation should help restore the normal market dynamics for rifapentine and the Rifapentine Consortium will no longer be required.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis is a major cause of ill health and one of the top 10 causes of death worldwide. About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *M. tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing active disease of about 5–10% among those infected.

The Committee considered that tuberculosis preventive treatment reduces the risk of progression from tuberculosis infection to tuberculosis disease by about 60% but can be as high as 90% among certain high-risk groups. Systematic tuberculosis preventive treatment is currently recommended by WHO for target populations at high risk. Furthermore, with the commitments from governments and donors, the availability of shorter regimens is expected to facilitate uptake of tuberculosis preventive treatment.

The Committee noted that WHO recommends tuberculosis preventive treatment regimens including rifapentine in combination with isoniazid as a weekly dose for 3 months (3HP) or a daily regimen for 1 month (1HP). The Committee noted that both rifapentine and isoniazid as single agents have been included as antituberculosis medicines on the core list of the EML for several years and that the effectiveness and potential harms of the two medicines are expected to be similar for the single-pill formulations and the fixed-dose combination.

Therefore, the availability of rifapentine and isoniazid in a fixed-dose combination tablet would reduce the pill burden substantially and improve adherence to treatment. This fixed-dose combination should be primarily used in the 3HP regimen for individuals older than 14 years, but it may also be used for younger children able to swallow the dosage form. Individuals on shorter regimens were shown to be 1.5–3 times more likely to complete treatment, which is beneficial as it is important to maximize its effectiveness in preventing active tuberculosis.

The Committee noted that countries have access to different formulations (in terms of registration, affordability and supply) and adding options may increase availability and the pool of suppliers.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended adding the fixed-dose combination of isoniazid and rifapentine to the core list of the EML and EMLc for tuberculosis preventive treatment for use in line with dosing recommendations in WHO guidelines.

## References

- 1. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 2. Houben RM, Dodd PJ. The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: a re-estimation using mathematical modelling. PLoS Med. 2016;13(10):e1002152.
- 3. Fox GJ, Dobler CC, Marais BJ, Denholm JT. Preventive therapy for latent tuberculosis infection-the promise and the challenges. Int J Infect Dis. 2017;56:68–76.
- 4. Semu M, Fenta TG, Medhin G, Assefa D. Effectiveness of isoniazid preventative therapy in reducing incidence of active tuberculosis among people living with HIV/AIDS in public health facilities of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: a historical cohort study. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):5.

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 99; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 19 August 2021).

- 6. Arinaminpathy N, Mandal S, Bhatia V, McLeod R, Sharma M, Swaminathan S, et al. Strategies for ending tuberculosis in the South-East Asian Region: a modelling approach. Indian J Med Res. 2019;149(4):51–-27.
- Mandal S, Bhatia V, Sharma M, Mandal PP, Arinaminpathy N. The potential impact of preventive therapy against tuberculosis in the WHO South-East Asian Region: a modelling approach. BMC Med. 2020;18(1):163.
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: Module 1: Prevention tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva, World Health Organization. 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/331170, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 9. WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis: Module 1: Prevention tuberculosis preventive treatment. Geneva, World Health Organization. 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/331525, accessed 19 August 2021)..
- Alsdurf H, Hill PC, Matteelli A, Getahun H, Menzies D. The cascade of care in diagnosis and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(11):1269–78.
- 11. Sandgren A, Vonk Noordegraaf-Schouten M, van Kessel F, Stuurman A, Oordt-Speets A, van der Werf MJ. Initiation and completion rates for latent tuberculosis infection treatment: a systematic review. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:204.
- 12. Stuurman AL, Vonk Noordegraaf-Schouten M, van Kessel F, Oordt-Speets AM, Sandgren A, van der Werf MJ. Interventions for improving adherence to treatment for latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:257.
- Liu Y, Birch S, Newbold KB, Essue BM. Barriers to treatment adherence for individuals with latent tuberculosis infection: A systematic search and narrative synthesis of the literature. Int J Health Plann Manage. 2018;33(2):e416–e33.
- 14. Pease C, Hutton B, Yazdi F, Wolfe D, Hamel C, Quach P, et al. Efficacy and completion rates of rifapentine and isoniazid (3HP) compared to other treatment regimens for latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review with network meta-analyses. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):265.
- Johnson KT, Churchyard GJ, Sohn H, Dowdy DW. Cost-effectiveness of preventive therapy for tuberculosis with isoniazid and rifapentine versus isoniazid alone in high-burden settings. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(7):1072–8.

123

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Antituberculosis medicines – formulations for deletion – EML and EMLc

Antituberculosis formulations – deletion and ATC Code: various changes

## Proposal

Deletion of and changes to listings of various antituberculosis medicine formulations on the EML and EMLc.

## Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EML and/or EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Formulations for deletion

- Ethambutol: oral liquid 25 mg/mL (EMLc)
- Isoniazid: oral liquid 50 mg/5 mL (EMLc); tablet (scored) 50 mg (EML and EMLc)
- Pyrazinamide: oral liquid 30 mg/mL (EMLc); tablet (scored) 150 mg (EML and EMLc)
- Isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin: tablet 75 mg + 400 mg + 150 mg (EML)
- Amikacin: powder for injection 100 mg, 500 mg, 1 g in vial (EML and EMLc)
- Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid: oral liquid 125 mg + 31.25 mg/5 mL (EMLc)
- Ethionamide: tablet 125 mg (EML and EMLc)
- Linezolid: injection for intravenous administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag; tablet 400 mg (EML and EMLc)
- p-aminosalicylic acid: tablet 500 mg (EML and EMLc)

Formulations for addition

 Amikacin: injection 250 mg (as sulfate)/mL in 2 mL vial (EML and EMLc)

Removal of strength ranges

- Ethambutol: tablet 100 mg to 400 mg (EML)
- Isoniazid: tablet 100 mg to 300 mg (EML and EMLc)

## Core/complementary

Core and complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

The WHO Global Tuberculosis department, and the Stop TB Partnership's Global Drug Facility carried out a comprehensive review of the 2019 Model Lists to examine the availability and appropriateness of the tuberculosis medicines and formulations listed, in the context of the latest available WHO recommendations on tuberculosis and procurement patterns.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Not applicable

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

In 2019, the Expert Committee recommended the addition of several new formulations for tuberculosis medicines for use in children be added to the core list of the EMLc, including ethambutol and isoniazid 100 mg dispersible tablet formulations. The Committee acknowledged that quality-assured dispersible tablet formulations are preferred to oral liquid formulations and recommended that the oral liquid formulations of isoniazid and ethambutol be considered for removal from the Model Lists in 2021 (1). Thus, ethambutol, isoniazid and pyrazinamide oral liquid formulations are proposed for deletion. Ethambutol, isoniazid and pyrazinamide dispersible tablet formulations have been available from the Global Drug Facility since January 2018, March 2019 and March 2018, respectively. All are available from at least one WHO-prequalified supplier.

The single-pill combination of isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin is proposed for deletion from the EML as no quality-assured supplier of this formulation has been identified. Ethambutol-containing single-pill combinations with isoniazid, pyrazinamide and rifampicin are listed and remain a suitable option with a lower pill burden for treatment of adults with drug-susceptible tuberculosis (2).

Amikacin is included in the recommendations for longer regimens to treat multidrug-resistant tuberculosis, classified in Group C (to be used to complete the regimen when medicines from Groups A and B cannot be used). Amikacin is not included in recommendations for shorter regimens for treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis (3). Amikacin powder for injection formulations 100 mg, 500 mg and 1 g are proposed for deletion, because of the unavailability of quality-assured formulations (1 g), the low efficiency in dose delivery (100 mg), and the fact that these formulations (all) require reconstitution before administration and are less preferred to liquid injection formulations. The application proposed to replace the current formulations of amikacin with a 250 mg/mL in 2 mL vial liquid injection formulation, noting that this formulation is already included on the Model Lists as an Access group antibiotic, and is available from the Global Drug Facility.

Linezolid 400 mg tablet is proposed for deletion because of unavailability of quality-assured formulations. Linezolid intravenous injection 2 mg/mL is proposed for deletion because of WHO's recommendations for use of all-oral regimens to treat drug-resistant tuberculosis (3). The oral formulations of linezolid currently listed are suitable for treatment for both adults and children.

Ethionamide 125 mg tablet is proposed for deletion given the availability of a preferred dispersible tablet formulation of the same strength, which is included on the Model Lists. The dispersible tablet formulation is available from the Global Drug Facility, and is available from WHO prequalified suppliers.

Amoxicillin + clavulanic oral liquid (125 mg + 31.25 mg/5 mL) is proposed for deletion to consolidate the market for this medicine around the 250 mg + 62.5 mg/5mL strength formulation. This higher strength formulation is included in WHO's recommended dosing schemes (4) and enables appropriate dosing of children across age groups and it uses smaller volumes for administration than the formulation proposed for deletion.

The application also proposes changes to the listing for isoniazid and ethambutol tablets, to replace strength ranges with specific strength formulations. In the case of ethambutol, 100 mg and 400 mg strength formulations deliver appropriate dosing for adults and children with tuberculosis. No quality-assured formulation within the strength range of 100 mg to 400 mg that could deliver added value to patient dosing is currently available on the market. In the case of isoniazid, 100 mg and 300 mg strength formulations are suitable to achieve appropriate dosing for adults and children. A 200 mg strength tablet formulation is available and approved in Germany; however, this formulation does not deliver added value in terms of facilitating dosing for adults or children.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Not applicable

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

The proposed changes are in alignment with recommendations in current WHO guidelines for the treatment of drug-susceptible and drug-resistant tuberculosis.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

## Availability

Not applicable

## Other considerations

Not applicable

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the deletion of the following formulations from the EML and/or EMLc as requested in the application, noting that they are not the most appropriate formulations for the treatment of tuberculosis, which is in line with recommendations in the current WHO tuberculosis treatment guidelines.

- Amikacin: powder for injection: 100 mg, 500 mg and 1 mg (as sulfate) in vial
- Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid: oral liquid 125 mg + 31.25 mg/5 mL
- Isoniazid tablet (scored): 50 mg
- Isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin tablet: 75 mg + 400 mg + 150 mg
- Linezolid: injection for intravenous administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag; tablet 400 mg
- p-aminosalicylic acid tablet: 500 mg
- Pyrazinamide tablet (scored): 150 mg

The Committee recommended the inclusion of amikacin injection solution 250 mg/mL, noting that injection solutions are preferred over powder for injection formulations as they do not require reconstitution for administration.

To better meet the dosing needs of paediatric patients, the Committee also recommended the addition of a 100 mg/2 mL strength of amikacin injection solution.

The Committee recommended that formulation strengths rather than strengths ranges for ethambutol and isoniazid tablets be specified, as requested, to facilitate rational selection and provide better clarity for countries in making national selection decisions.

The Committee recognized that dispersible tablet formulations are the preferred child-friendly formulations and provide flexible dosing options. However, because of concerns about limited uptake and availability of dispersible-tablet formulations of ethambutol, ethionamide, isoniazid and pyrazinamide in some countries, the Committee did not recommend the deletion of the oral liquid formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and pyrazinamide, nor the 125 mg tablet formulation of ethionamide at this time. To allow countries time to transition to the adoption of the preferred, listed dispersible-tablet formulations, the Committee advised that these formulations will be deleted from the Model Lists without further consideration in 2023, unless an application is received to support their retention.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 2. Guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis and patient care, 2017 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/255052, accessed 19 August 2021).
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332397, accessed 19 August 2021).
- WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332398, accessed 19 August 2021).

Antituberculosis medicines – new formulations – EML and EMLc

Ethambutol	ATC Code: J04AK02
Isoniazid	ATC Code: J04AC01
Rifampicin	ATC Code: J04AB02

## Proposal

Inclusion of intravenous formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin to the EML and EMLc for the treatment of tuberculosis in patients with severe forms of the disease associated with poor outcomes, patients with acute or chronic gastrointestinal disease or malabsorption disorders, patients with severe comorbidities, and patients unable or unwilling to take oral dosage forms. Separate applications were submitted for each medicine.

## Applicant

Communicable Diseases Intensive Care Association Civic Union (INCURE), Ukraine

## WHO technical department

Comments on the application were provided by the WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme. As was the case in 2019, the technical department did not support the inclusion of the proposed intravenous formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin. It was highlighted that WHO recommends oral treatment regimens for both patients with drug-susceptible and drug-resistant tuberculosis as the preferred options. In addition, most patients with severe forms of tuberculosis, patients with severe comorbidities and patients who are unable to take oral medicines can be treated with oral formulations, if necessary, using alternative forms of administration. It was also highlighted that for adult patients with drug-susceptible tuberculosis, a four-drug regimen including isoniazid, ethambutol, rifampicin and pyrazinamide is recommended; therefore, patients would still need to take pyrazinamide orally.

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Ethambutol: injection 1000 mg/10 mL; 2000 mg/20 mL Isoniazid: injection 100 mg/mL Rifampicin: powder for injection 600 mg in vial

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

The current applications are resubmissions of applications submitted for consideration by the Expert Committee in 2019.

In 2019, inclusion of the proposed formulations was not supported by the WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme, who in response to the applications emphasized:

- WHO recommends oral treatment regimens, ideally administered in fixed-dose combinations (where such formulations exist) for the treatment of drug-sensitive tuberculosis.
- WHO's updated treatment guidelines for multidrug-resistant and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, recommend that injectable agents no longer be included among the priority medicines when designing longer regimens for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis.
- In view of these WHO policy recommendations, in most tuberculosis patients, intravenous administration for first- or second-line medicines is not indicated.
- For most indications listed in the applications for intravenous formulations, patients can be treated with oral formulations, if necessary using alternative forms of oral administration.
- For adult patients with drug-sensitive tuberculosis, a four-drug regimen is recommended; therefore with only three of the four medicines available as intravenous formulations, patients would still be required to take pyrazinamide orally.

The 2019 Expert Committee did not recommend their inclusion on the Model Lists. The Committee noted that WHO guidelines recommend use of oral, preferably fixed-dose combination therapy for tuberculosis, but acknowledged that parenteral administration of tuberculosis medicines may be useful in a small number of critically unwell patients unable to tolerate oral therapy, or patients with tuberculous meningitis. The Committee considered that the inclusion of parenteral formulations of these medicines could result in inappropriate use of parenteral therapy in patients otherwise able to take oral therapy. The Committee also noted that the global market availability of these products was limited, and the comparative cost was unknown (1).

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The public health relevance of medicines for the treatment of tuberculosis is well established. Globally in 2019, an estimated 10 million people fell ill with tuberculosis, and there were 1.2 million deaths among HIV-negative people and 208 000 deaths among HIV-positive people (*2*).

The applications identified the severe forms of tuberculosis for which intravenous therapy would be indicated as miliary tuberculosis, caseous pneumonia, tuberculous meningitis, tuberculosis sepsis and tuberculosis pericarditis. In addition, it was proposed that intravenous treatment would also be suitable for patients with gastrointestinal malabsorption conditions, patients with severe comorbidities (HIV, diabetes) and patients unable or unwilling to take oral therapy. However, no information was provided on the burden of disease of these cases as a proportion of the total tuberculosis cases that would be eligible for intravenous treatment.

Extrapulmonary tuberculosis is reported to account for about 14% of tuberculosis cases worldwide, and particularly affects children and people living with HIV (3). Tuberculous meningitis, in particular, has been reported to account for about 1% of all tuberculosis cases worldwide and its incidence is directly related to the prevalence of pulmonary tuberculosis (4).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The clinical benefits and place in tuberculosis treatment of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin are well established and have been evaluated previously by the Expert Committee.

Compared with the 2019 applications, the current applications did not include any comparative clinical evidence for the benefits of the intravenous formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin versus oral formulations in treating severe forms of tuberculosis or in the other population groups for which listing was proposed.

As in 2019, the applications presented few pharmacokinetic data describing higher achievable peak plasma concentrations with intravenous administration compared with oral administration.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The safety profiles of ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin are well established and have been evaluated previously by the Expert Committee. The applications described common adverse events associated with ethambutol, isoniazid and rifampicin. Any differences in adverse events with oral versus intravenous administration were not specified.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

A small randomized trial evaluating the effectiveness of intravenous isoniazid and ethambutol in the intensive phase of treatment of patients with tuberculous meningoencephalitis and HIV co-infection was identified during the review process (5). Patients were randomized to receive intravenous ethambutol and isoniazid plus oral rifampicin and pyrazinamide (n = 23) or the same medicines administered orally (n = 31) for the intensive phase of therapy (2 months), followed by oral therapy for the continuation phase. Patients in the intravenous treatment group had a significant improvement in clinical symptoms and X-ray signs compared with patients in the oral treatment group. Sputum *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* positivity in the second month of treatment was 25.0% and 76.1% in the intravenous and oral treatment groups, respectively. At 6 months, mortality was significantly greater in the oral treatment group compared with the intravenous treatment group (70.9% versus 39.1%, P = 0.023).

## **WHO guidelines**

For patients with drug-susceptible pulmonary tuberculosis, the 2017 WHO guidelines recommend a 6-month rifampicin-based oral regimen (2HRZE/4HR: 2 months isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethambutol followed by 4 months isoniazid and rifampicin) (6).

The 2016 WHO target regimen profiles for tuberculosis treatment (7) state that oral formulations are optimal, but that intravenous formulations should also be available. It further states that intravenous formulations should be reserved for sever forms of disease such as central nervous system tuberculosis or tuberculosis sepsis.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No comparative cost-effectiveness data were available. The applications report that the intravenous formulations are more expensive than the corresponding oral formulations, but that oral and intravenous formulations should not be considered alternatives to each other in patients with severe forms of the disease.

## Availability

The proposed intravenous formulations have very limited regulatory approval and global availability.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis is a major cause of ill health and one of the top 10 causes of death worldwide. About a quarter of the world's population is infected with *M. tuberculosis*, with the life-time risk of developing tuberculosis of about 5–10% among those infected.

Ethambutol, isoniazid, and rifampicin are already included in EML as oral formulations. The Committee recognized that intravenous formulations may be useful for a subgroup of severely ill patients and those who have disorders affecting oral drug absorption. The Committee considered that intravenous isoniazid and rifampicin may be recommended in specific circumstances (e.g. tuberculous meningitis). However, the role of ethambutol in the treatment of central nervous system tuberculosis disease was more limited and other agents (e.g. fluoroquinolones and aminoglycosides) are often used instead.

The current applications were resubmissions following recommendations made in 2019 not to include these formulations on the EML. The Committee considered that the applications did not provide a clear estimate of the numbers of patients who might need intravenous therapy globally and included very little evidence on the comparative efficacy of intravenous formulations compared with oral formulations. The Committee was of the opinion that a large, simple, pragmatic trial is feasible in this setting and could provide information relevant for decision-making. Moreover, the Committee considered that intravenous formulations may carry a small increased risk (e.g. of infection, thrombosis) because of the need for venous access. The cost of intravenous formulations also appears to be higher than the cost of oral formulations, and market availability is very limited.

The Committee noted that no additional evidence was submitted that would give it reason to reach a different conclusion to the recommendation made in 2019. Therefore, the Expert Committee again recommended that intravenous formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid, and rifampicin not be included on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of severe forms of tuberculosis.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 19 August 2021).
- Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 19 August 2021).
- Foppiano Palacios C, Saleeb PG. Challenges in the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis. J Clin Tuberc Other Mycobact Dis. 2020;20:100164.

4. Thwaites GE, van Toorn R, Schoeman J. Tuberculous meningitis: more questions, still too few answers. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(10):999–1010.

- Butov D, Feshchenko Y, Kuzhko M, Gumenuik M, Yurko K, Grygorova A, et al. Effectiveness of intravenous isoniazid and ethambutol administration in patients with tuberculosis meningoencephalitis and HIV infection. Tuberc Respir Dis (Seoul). 2020;83(1):96–103.
- 6. Guidelines for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis and patient care, 2017 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/255052, accessed 6 February 2019).
- 7. Target regimen profiles for TB treatment: candidates: rifampicin-susceptible, rifampicin-resistant and pan-TB treatment regimens. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/250044, accessed 19 August 2021).

134

Bedaquiline – new formulation – EML and EMLc

# Bedaquiline

ATC Code: J04AK05

# Proposal

Inclusion of a new strength formulation of bedaquiline (20 mg tablet) on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis, and an amendment to the current age restriction associated with bedaquiline from children  $\geq$  6 years to children  $\geq$  5 years and weighing at least 15 kg.

## Applicant

Janssen Pharmaceutica NV, Beerse, Belgium

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet 20 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Bedaquiline 100 mg tablets were added to the complementary list of the EML in 2015 as a reserve second-line medicine for treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in adults (1). In 2019, bedaquiline 100 mg tablets were added to the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children aged 6 years and older, in line with updated WHO treatment guidelines. It was noted that the extrapolation of evidence from adult data to children suggested therapeutic bedaquiline exposure in children and no increased safety risk (2).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The public health relevance of effective treatments for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis is well established.

According to WHO's 2020 global tuberculosis report, there were an estimated 465 000 new cases of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis globally in 2019, with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis accounting for 78% of these cases. An estimated 3.3% of new tuberculosis cases and 17.7% of retreated tuberculosis cases had multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis in 2019. In total, 333 304 people (all ages) were treated for multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis in 2019. Set tuberculosis in 2018–2019, 8986 of whom were children < 17 years (3).

Based on mathematical models, about 3% of children with tuberculosis are estimated to have multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Global estimates of the burden of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children range from 25 000 to 32 000 incident cases annually (4,5).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Paediatric data for bedaquiline have come from the TMC207-C211 trial (NCT02354014), which is an ongoing, open-label, phase II trial. The trial is designed to evaluate the pharmacokinetics, safety, tolerability and antimycobacterial activity of bedaquiline in combination with a background regimen of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis medications in children and adolescents 0 months to < 18 years of age who have confirmed or probable pulmonary multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (6). The application presented data from the week 24 primary analyses of cohort 1 ( $\geq$  12 to < 18 years, using bedaquiline 100 mg tablets) and cohort 2 ( $\geq$  5 to < 12 years, using bedaquiline 20 mg tablets).

Cohort 1 included 15 patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis aged 12 to < 18 years, with baseline bodyweight ranging from 38 kg to 75 kg. These patients received bedaquiline 100 mg tablets at the recommended adult dose (400 mg once daily for 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg three times a week for 22 weeks) in combination with a background regimen. Pharmacokinetic parameters of bedaquiline in this cohort were comparable to those in adults. In a subset of patients with culture-positive pulmonary multidrug-resistant tuberculosis at baseline, treatment with bedaquiline resulted in conversion to a negative culture in 75% (6/8) of patients at week 24.

Cohort 2 included 15 patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis aged 5 years to < 12 years, with baseline bodyweight ranging from 14 kg to 36 kg. These patients received bedaquiline 20 mg tablets at a dose of 200 mg once daily for 2 weeks, followed by 100 mg three times a week for 22 weeks, in combination with a background regimen. Complete pharmacokinetic data were obtained for 10 patients. In nine of these 10 patients, the mean bedaquiline

maximum plasma concentration ( $C_{max}$ ) and area under the curve at 24 hours (AUC<sub>24h</sub>) were similar to that of adult patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis receiving the recommended adult dosage regimen. In a subset of patients with culture-positive pulmonary multidrug-resistant tuberculosis at baseline, treatment with bedaquiline resulted in conversion to a negative culture in 100% (3/3) of patients at week 24.

Model-based pharmacokinetic analysis of bedaquiline was performed on data from patients in cohorts 1 and 2 from which the recommended dosage regimens for children and adolescents were developed.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The safety assessment of bedaquiline presented in the application was based on the week 24 analysis of 30 paediatric patients in cohorts 1 and 2 (6).

In cohort 1, overall, safety was generally consistent with observations from previous clinical studies with bedaquiline in adults. The most common adverse reactions were arthralgia in 6/15 (40%) patients, nausea in 2/15 (13%) patients and abdominal pain in 2/15 (13%) patients. No deaths occurred among the 15 patients during treatment with bedaquiline. Observed laboratory abnormalities were comparable to those in adults.

In cohort 2, the most common adverse reactions were related to increased aminotransferases, including from hepatoxicity (3/15, 33%), which led to discontinuation of bedaquiline in three patients. Elevations in liver enzymes were reversible on discontinuation of bedaquiline and some of the background regimen drugs. No deaths occurred among these 15 patients. The bedaquiline dosing regimen for 24 weeks as part of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis therapy was generally safe and anticipated toxicities were manageable with careful monitoring and modifications of the tuberculosis treatment regimen.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

A 2018 study evaluated the relative bioavailability, safety, acceptability and palatability of bedaquiline 100 mg tablets suspended in water compared with intact tablets (7). Bioavailability of the 100 mg tablet was not altered when crushed and suspended in water before administration and the suspension was well tolerated. These findings suggest that the 100 mg tablet formulation may also be suitable for administration to children unable to swallow intact tablets.

## WHO guidelines

The 2019 WHO consolidated guidelines on drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment (8) recommend that bedaquiline may be included in longer multidrug-resistant tuberculosis regimens for patients aged 6–17 years (conditional recommendation, very low certainty in the estimates of effect). The recommended weight-based

regimen for patients 15–29 kg is 200 mg daily for 2 weeks, followed by 100 mg three times a week for 22 weeks.

The 2020 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis treatment note that the US Food and Drug Admiration has extended approval for the use of bedaquiline for children aged 5 years and older (9). However, these data have not yet been assessed by WHO.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V. has a long-term agreement with the International Dispensary Association for the supply of bedaquiline by order and account of the Stop TB Global Drug Facility. The Global Drug Facility is an initiative that provides a unique package of services, including technical assistance in tuberculosis drug management and monitoring of tuberculosis drug use, to patients in need in over 135 countries. To improve lead time for delivery to countries the Global Drug Facility has setup a strategic rotating stockpile, with unassigned stock always available at the International Dispensary Association.

Bedaquiline 20 mg is accessible through Global Drug Facility for US\$ 25.53 for a bottle of 60 tablets. This equates to a price of US\$ 200.00 for a full treatment cycle (470 tablets over 24 weeks) in children weighing 15 kg to < 30 kg, i.e. administering half the adult dose. Bedaquiline 20 mg tablet is also indicated for adults and/or adolescents who have trouble swallowing, for which a complete treatment cycle would require 940 tablets and cost US\$ 400.

Janssen has made bedaquiline 100 mg tablets available through the Global Drug Facility at a price of US\$ 340 for a 6-month treatment course (at the adult dose) for more than 135 eligible countries. The company will also provide an escalating percentage of free goods when certain volume thresholds are reached on an annual basis: 10% above 55 000 treatment courses, 20% above 125 000 and 30% above 200 000 (*10*).

## Availability

As the 20 mg tablet formulation of bedaquiline only received US Food and Drug Administration approval on 27 May 2020, the total distribution of this formulation has been limited so far.

## Other considerations

Bedaquiline 20 mg tablets are functionally scored tablets that can be administered by four different methods.

- swallowed whole, or divided in half, with water for patients able to swallow intact tablets;
- dispersed in water (maximum five tablets in 5 mL water) for patients unable to swallow intact tablets;

crushed and mixed with soft food;

 dispersed in water (five tablets in up to 50 mL water) and administered via nasogastric tube.

The pill burden for the 20 mg tablet is high for patients of body weight  $\geq$  30 kg, considering the adult dosage of 400 mg (20 tablets) daily for 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg (10 tablets) three times per week for 22 weeks. Thus, the adult dose would be achieved more conveniently with the 100 mg tablets.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized the importance of the availability of ageappropriate, child-friendly formulations of medicines for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis to meet the dosing and administration needs of children.

The Expert Committee noted bedaquiline, as an oral 100 mg tablet formulation, was included on the complementary list of the EML as a reserve second-line medicine for treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in adults in 2015. In 2019, it was added to the complementary list of the EMLc as a reserve second-line medicine for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children aged 6 years and older.

The Committee noted the acceptable pharmacokinetic data indicating therapeutic bedaquiline exposure at the recommended dose in children using the proposed 20 mg tablets formulation.

The Committee therefore recommended the addition of the new formulation of bedaquiline 20 mg tablets to the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children aged 5 years and older, in line with the updated WHO treatment guidelines.

The Committee did not recommend the addition of this formulation to the EML for the treatment of adults, noting the high pill-burden required to achieve the recommended adult dose. The Committee also noted that the bioavailability of the 100 mg tablet formulation, when crushed or suspended in water, was not altered. The Committee considered that the 100 mg tablet formulation, crushed or suspended in water, was a suitable alternative for adult patients unable to swallow intact tablets and allowed achievement of the recommended dose with a much lower pill burden.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 19 August 2021).  The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 19 August 2021).

- 3. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 4. Jenkins HE, Yuen CM. The burden of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2018;22(5):3–6.
- 5. Dodd PJ, Sismanidis C, Seddon JA. Global burden of drug-resistant tuberculosis in children: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(10):1193–201.
- Pharmacokinetic study to evaluate anti-mycobacterial activity of TMC207 in combination with background regimen (BR) of multidrug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) medications for treatment of children/adolescents pulmonary MDR-TB. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02354014. Washington, DC: US National Libraryof Medicine; 2015 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02354014, accessed 19 August 2021).
- Svensson EM, du Bois J, Kitshoff R, de Jager VR, Wiesner L, Norman J, et al. Relative bioavailability of bedaquiline tablets suspended in water: implications for dosing in children. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;84(10):2384–92.
- 8. WHO consolidated guidelines on drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311389, accessed 19 August 2021).
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332397, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 10. Stop TB Partnership and Johnson & Johnson, with support from USAID and The Global Fund, announce price reduction for SIRTURO<sup>®</sup> (bedaquiline) for treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis in low- and middle-income countries [internet]. Johnson & Johnson; 6 July 2020 (https://www.jnj.com/stop-tb-partnership-and-johnson-johnson-with-support-from-usaid-and-the-global-fund-announce-price-reduction-for-sirturo-bedaquiline-for-treatment-of-drug-resistant-tuberculosis-in-low-and-middle-income-countries, accessed 19 August 2021).

140

Delamanid – new formulation – EMLc

## Delamanid

ATC Code: J04AK06

# Proposal

Inclusion of a new strength formulation of delamanid (25 mg dispersible tablets) on the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis; and change to the current age restriction associated with the listing from  $\geq$  6 years to  $\geq$  3 years.

## Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

## EML/EMLc

EMLc

## Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet (dispersible) 25 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Delamanid 50 mg tablets were added to the EMLc in 2017 for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children aged 6–17 years (1). In 2019, a request to change the age restriction to  $\geq$  3 years was not recommended because it was noted that: the pharmacokinetic data used to inform WHO guideline recommendations used a 25 mg tablet formulation that differed from the formulation included in the Model Lists; the 25 mg formulation was not commercially available and had not been shown to be bioequivalent to the listed 50 mg formulation (2).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

It is estimated that 7.5 million children and young adolescents (0-14 years) are infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* each year across the world (3). The estimated incidence of tuberculosis disease in children younger than 15 years was 1.2 million in 2019. Globally, the number of tuberculosis notifications among children and young adolescents aged 0–14 years increased from fewer than 400 000 in 2015 to 523 000 in 2019. It is estimated that 230 000 children 0–14 years died from tuberculosis in 2019, with 80% of these deaths happening in children under 5 years. Children treated for tuberculosis have excellent outcomes (84% treatment success rate in the 2018 patient cohort) but, without treatment, mortality from tuberculosis is as high as 43% among children under 5 years of age (4).

More than 30 000 incident cases of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children are estimated globally each year. In 2020, for the first time, countries reported the number of children and young adolescents aged 0–14 years started on second-line treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis: the numbers were 3398 in 2018 and 5586 in 2019 (4). These figures correspond to 2.2% and 3.2% of all people started on treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (4).

In September 2018, heads of state agreed on the following main global targets: 40 million people with tuberculosis to be reached with care during 2018 to 2023 (including 3.5 million children), and 1.5 million people with drug-resistant tuberculosis (including 115 000 children) (5). However, data in the latest global tuberculosis report in 2020 show that we are far from reaching these targets, especially for children with tuberculosis The total number of children treated for multidrug-resistant and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis in 2018–2019 was 8986, which corresponds to only 7.8% of the 5-year target of 115 000 (4).

The roadmap towards ending tuberculosis in children and adolescents, launched just before the United Nations General Assembly High-Level Meeting on the Fight Against Tuberculosis, includes milestones to reaching these targets, including access to shorter and safer child-friendly regimens for prevention and treatment of drug-susceptible and drug-resistant tuberculosis. Childfriendly formulations of tuberculosis medicines are essential to facilitate correct implementation of WHO recommendations for the prevention and treatment of tuberculosis in younger children (6).

Delamanid is an essential medicine for young children with multidrugresistant and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis and extensively-drug-resistant tuberculosis, a more severe form of drug-resistant-tuberculosis. In many lowresource settings, delamanid is often used to replace painful injectable agents, which have several side-effects, when designing all-oral regimens for young children (7). As shown by the results of a recent survey of policies and practice on tuberculosis prevention, testing and treatment in 37 countries with high tuberculosis burden, countries are transitioning to injectable-free, all-oral regimens for children with uncomplicated drug-resistant tuberculosis. Among the countries surveyed, 72% had policies indicating the use of oral regimens for children (7), with most of the regimens reported including delamanid (8).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The potential benefits of delamanid were extensively reviewed and summarized at the time of the original applications and the associated evidence is available in the technical reports of the meetings (1, 9).

Since the time of the original application in 2015, WHO assessed the relative effectiveness of second-line medicines for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis during a meeting of a guideline development group. As reported in the 2020 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis, the adjusted odds ratio (aOR) for delamanid was 1.1 (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.4–2.8) for treatment failure and relapse versus treatment success and aOR 1.2 (95% CI 0.5–3.0) for death versus treatment success (10).

Based on the pharmacological and safety data reviewed by the WHO guideline development group in 2018, including cohorts of patients 3–5 years treated with delamanid 25 mg dispersible tablet (11), it was concluded that exposure profiles in children given this formulation were comparable to adults and no safety signs distinct from those reported in adults were observed (12).

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The harms associated with delamanid were reviewed and summarized at the time of the original applications and the associated evidence is available in the technical reports of the meetings (1, 9).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

The 2020 WHO guidelines on tuberculosis recommend that delamanid may be included in the treatment of multidrug-resistant and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis in children aged 3 years or older on longer regimens (conditional recommendation, moderate certainty in the estimates of effect) (10).

Delamanid is currently classified by WHO as a Group C drug for the treatment of multidrug-resistant and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis as part of longer regimens. Group C drugs are to be used in a treatment regimen when medicines from Groups A and B cannot be used (10). Delamanid is one of only a few new tuberculosis medicines that have been approved by stringent regulatory

authorities in the past few years and was first recommended for use by WHO in 2014, when the Organization issued interim policy guidance on its use. The interim policy guidance stated that "delamanid may be added to a WHOrecommended regimen in adult patients with pulmonary MDR-TB" (13). In 2016, the delamanid interim policy was extended to children aged 6-17 years, following a review of data from a 6-month safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetic trial of paediatric patients (14). In January 2018, WHO issued a position statement on the use of delamanid in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (15). Based on a review of data, an expert review panel concluded that the interim and conditional guidance on delamanid should remain in place. In 2018, additional paediatric data on the use of delamanid were reviewed to examine whether the recommendations for the use of delamanid in children could be further lowered to children younger than 6 years. The focus of this review was on safety and pharmacological exposure data available from ongoing paediatric studies. At this time, WHO convened a guideline development group which reviewed the data and recommended that delamanid could be safely used in children aged 3 years and older (11).

However, at the time, the guideline development group also noted their concerns about the feasibility of administering the correct dose to children aged 3-5 years, given that the special formulation used in the trial (i.e. a 25 mg dispersible tablet formulation) would not be available in the foreseeable future. At that time, only the adult tablet was available (i.e. 50 mg tablet), and based on the data assessed, there were concerns that bioavailability may be altered if the 50 mg tablet was halved, crushed or dissolved. The delamanid 50 mg tablet and 25 mg dispersible tablet formulations are not bioequivalent. In a crossover bioequivalence study, neither  $C_{max}$  (90% CI of the geometric mean ratio (GMR) 0.701 to 0.809) nor AUC (90% CI GMR 0.775 to 0.909) satisfied the criteria for bioequivalence as specified by regulatory agencies. As such, the formulations are not interchangeable (12). Substituting the adult formulation for the paediatric formulation will result in higher delamanid exposures than would be expected from the paediatric formulation. Delamanid 50 mg tablet is also susceptible to oxidation and heat. Therefore, retaining pill fragments for use at any time other than at the time of administration will likely result in the delivery of lowerthan-expected active compound and unspecified oxidation by-products. Broken 50 mg tablets were also noted to be bitter and unpalatable (12).

Despite these problems, clinicians and paediatric experts in the field have been manipulating the 50 mg delamanid formulation (either by splitting the tablet and then discarding the remaining part, or by giving the 50 mg tablet once a day so no manipulation of the tablet is required), as this is the only option currently available when delamanid is used in young children (Furin J, Garcia-Pratts AJ, Schaff S. Personal communication with Tiziana Masini, WHO, December 2020).

Many countries are already using delamanid as part of short, all-oral regimens under operational research conditions (8).

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Since April 2019, delamanid 25 mg dispersible tablets have been made available for compassionate use and can be obtained from the manufacturer (Otsuka Pharmaceuticals) at no charge on a patient-by-patient basis (*16*).

Delamanid 50 mg tablets are available via the Global Drug Facility at a price of US\$ 1700 for 672 tablets (24 weeks treatment).

## Availability

In September 2020, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use of the European Medicines Agency issued a positive opinion on the use of delamanid to treat pulmonary multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in adolescents and children weighing at least 30 kg (17). Otsuka is expecting an opinion from the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use for children weighing less than 30 kg in the coming months and approval of the delamanid 25 mg dispersible tablet formulation in late 2021 (Destito M, Otsuka. Personal communication with Tiziana Masini, WHO, December 2020).

Delamanid 25 mg dispersible tablets are included in the 23rd Invitation to Manufacturers of the Global Fund's Expert Review Panel to submit an expression of interest for product evaluation (18). Otsuka is exploring potential submission to the Global Fund ERP in 2021 (Destito M, Otsuka. Personal communication with Tiziana Masini, WHO, December 2020).

## Other considerations

Not applicable

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized the importance of the availability of ageappropriate, child-friendly formulations of medicines for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis to meet the dosing and administration needs of children.

The Expert Committee noted delamanid, as an oral 50 mg tablet formulation, has been included in the complementary list of the EML since 2015 and EMLc since 2017 for children aged 6 years and older.

The Committee noted the acceptable pharmacokinetic data indicating therapeutic delamanid exposure at the recommended dose in children using the proposed 25 mg dispersible tablet formulation, and that there were no additional safety signals beyond those already known in adults.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the addition of the new formulation of delamanid (delamanid 25 mg dispersible tablets) to the

complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children aged 3 years and older, in line with the updated WHO treatment guidelines.

The Committee noted that the availability of the proposed formulation was currently limited, but welcomed the intention of the manufacturer to make this formulation available through the Global Drug Facility.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 19 August 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 3. Dodd PJ, Gardiner E, Coghlan R, Seddon JA. Burden of childhood tuberculosis in 22 high-burden countries: a mathematical modelling study. The Lancet Global health. 2014;2(8):e453–9.
- 4. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/336069, accessed 19 August 2021).
- A/RES/73/3. Political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the fight against tuberculosis. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2018 (https://undocs.org/ en/A/RES/73/3, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 6. Roadmap towards ending TB in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274374, accessed 19 August 2021).
- Step up for TB: TB policies in 37 countries. A survey of prevention, testing and treatment policies and practices. Geneva: Médecins Sans Frontières, Stop TB Partnership; 2020 (https://msfaccess. org/step-tb-tb-policies-37-countries-4th-ed, accessed 19 August 2021).
- Step Up for TB: TB policies in 37 countries. Full dataset. Geneva: Médecins Sans Frontières, Stop TB Partnership; 2020 (https://msfaccess.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/StepUpForTB\_ OnlineDatabase.xls, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 9. The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 19 August 2021).
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis. Module 4: treatment drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332397, accessed 19 August 2021).
- 11. WHO consolidated guidelines on drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311389, accessed 19 August 2021).

- WHO consolidated guidelines on drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Annexes 8–10. Geneva, World Health Organization. 2019:181–4 (https://www.who.int/tb/areas-of-work/drug-resistanttb/Annexes\_8-10.pdf, accessed 19 August 2021).
- The use of delamanid in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: interim policy guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/ 137334, accessed 20 August 2021).
- 14. The use of delamanid in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in children and adolescents: interim policy guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/250614, accessed 20 August 2021).
- WHO position statement on the use of delamanid for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/WHO-CDS-TB-2018.1, accessed 20 August 2021).
- Delamanid compassionate use patient access form [internet]. Boston, MA: Sentinel Project on Pediatric Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis; 2019 (https://sentinel-project.org/2019/04/10/delamanidcompassionate-use-patient-access-form/, accessed 20 August 2021).
- 17. Deltyba. Summary of opinion (post authorisation) [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2020 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/smop/chmp-post-authorisation-summary-positive-opinion-deltyba-ii-40\_en.pdf, accessed 20 August 2021).
- Invitation to manufacturer. Geneva: Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 2020 (https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/10377/psm\_2020-11-20\_invitation-to-manufacturers\_ en.pdf, accessed 20 August 2021).

# 6.3 Antifungal medicines

Echinocandin antifungals - addition - EML and EMLc

Anidulafungin	ATC Code: J02AX06
Caspofungin	ATC Code: J02AX04
Micafungin	ATC Code: J02AX05

### Proposal

Addition of echinocandin antifungals on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of fungal infections.

### Applicant

Global Action Fund for Fungal Infections (GAFFI)

### WHO technical department

Global Coordination and Partnership (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance) Surveillance, Prevention and Control (Division of Antimicrobial Resistance)

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.3 Antifungal medicines

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Anidulafungin: lyophilized powder for infusion 100 mg Caspofungin: powder concentrate for infusion solution 50 mg, 70 mg (as acetate) Micafungin: powder for infusion 50 mg, 100 mg (as sodium)

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Micafungin with a square box including anidulafungin and caspofungin as therapeutic alternatives.

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Echinocandin antifungals had not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML and EMLc. In 2017, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of itraconazole and voriconazole to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment and prophylaxis of various invasive fungal infections. Voriconazole was specifically listed for the treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis and acute invasive aspergillosis (1). The EML and EMLc also include amphotericin B, fluconazole and nystatin for the indication of candidosis.

## Public health relevance: (burden of disease)

### Invasive candidiasis

Invasive candidiasis refers to bloodstream infections and deep-seated organ infections caused by *Candida* spp. (Infections concerning only the skin or mucosal surfaces thus do not fall into this category, e.g. oesophageal candidiasis, a common opportunistic infection in HIV patients with low CD4 counts.) An increasing proportion of invasive candidiasis cases is caused by azole-resistant strains of *Candida* spp. (2).

Invasive candidiasis is more common at the extremes of age (premature infants and older people). Several risk factors have been reported, notably intravascular catheters (for bloodstream infections), immunocompromised status (especially neutropenia), diabetes, renal dysfunction, previous antibiotic exposure (especially broad-spectrum antibiotics for prolonged durations), parenteral nutrition and prolonged stay in an intensive care unit (3, 4). The global incidence of invasive candidiasis is estimated to range from 934 800 to 2 243 500 cases a year.

Up to 40% of patients with secondary or tertiary peritonitis may develop intra-abdominal candidiasis, another subtype of invasive candidiasis (5-8). Diagnosis of intra-abdominal candidiasis is difficult as there are no specific clinical signs and blood cultures are usually negative (9). Considering these limitations, the estimated worldwide burden of these infections ranges from 60 000 to 100 000 cases a year (4) with an average global incidence of 1.15 cases/100 000 inhabitants: 5.0/100 000, 4.6/100 000, 1.5/100 000 and 1.4/100 000 in Mexico, Germany, Nigeria and Spain, respectively (10-13).

One of the associated syndromes in patients with haematological malignancy is chronic disseminated candidiasis. This syndrome is a relatively rare infection but is more common if antifungal prophylaxis is not routinely given in patients with leukaemia (14-16).

Candidaemia, a specific subtype of invasive candidiasis, is one of the most common hospital-associated bloodstream infections; it has been the fourth to the seventh cause of hospital-associated bloodstream infections worldwide for more than 15 years. The incidence of bloodstream infections related to intravascular devices (IVD) ranges from 0.5/1000 IVD-days to 2.7/1000 IVD-days depending on the catheter type and setting, and *Candida* spp. are

a frequent cause (17). More than 70% of the cases of candidaemia in nonneutropenic patients are associated with intravascular devices (18–21). These infections arise because of the ability of *Candida* spp. to form biofilms on foreign bodies such as intravascular catheters (22, 23). The incidence of candidaemia is lowest in very low-income countries and in high-income countries such as Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and countries in northern Europe, and highest in middle-income countries such as Brazil, India and Pakistan (4). The global burden of candidaemia is estimated to be between 5 and 12/100 000 population, or between 374 000 and 897 410 cases a year; short-term mortality ranges from 46% to 75% (the attributable mortality is probably much lower) (4, 24–26).

### Non-invasive candidiasis

The annual incidence of oesophageal candidiasis in the population not infected with HIV is difficult to estimate. A global total of about 1.6 million cases a year of oesophageal candidiasis is considered likely (*27*).

# Invasive aspergillosis

Aspergillus spp. are the most common filamentous fungal pathogens. These pathogens usually affect patients with underlying immunosuppression (e.g. people with leukaemia, lymphoma, lung cancer, advanced HIV disease, and organ transplant recipients), chronic pulmonary diseases (e.g. chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) or concomitant viral infections in critically-ill, intubated patients (e.g. influenza, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2). In leukaemia, lung cancer, HIV and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, the global minimum annual incidence is 860 000. With other risk groups not accounted for, the total global annual incidence is likely to be > 1 million. Invasive aspergillosis is almost always fatal unless treated (*28, 29*).

## Chronic pulmonary aspergillosis in non-immunocompromised patients

The annual incidence and 5-year period prevalence of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis has been estimated at 372 000 and 1 174 000 (30). A recent prospective study in Uganda of patients 2 to 7 years after completing antituberculosis treatment found an equal number of cases of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis in people with and without HIV infection (31). According to a study from Indonesia, 13% of patients had chronic pulmonary aspergillosis at the time of finishing their antituberculosis therapy (32).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Echinocandins are fungicidal against most *Candida* spp. and show in vitro activity against some filamentous fungi including *Aspergillus* spp. (*33*). These medicines act by inhibiting the production of the main component of the cell wall of ascomycete fungi –  $\beta$  1,3-glucan, a molecule absent in mammalian cells

(34–36). Echinocandins are not substrates of fungal efflux pumps, which makes them active against fungal strains with overexpression of these pumps (a key mechanism of azole antifungal resistance) (37, 38).

The European Medicines Agency has approved micafungin for treatment of invasive candidiasis and prophylaxis against *Candida* infections in neutropenic patients (< 500 neutrophils/µL for  $\geq$  10 days) for adults and children. The use of micafungin to treat oesophageal candidiasis is only indicated for adults (39). Caspofungin is approved for treatment of invasive candidiasis and invasive aspergillosis that are not responsive to the usual therapeutic dose and/or for treatment of invasive aspergillosis in patients unable to take amphotericin B and/or itraconazole (40). Anidulafungin is approved for *Candida* infections (candidaemia, intra-abdominal abscess and peritonitis) and oesophageal candidiasis (41).

## General considerations

In clinical practice, treatment of fungal infections is often empirical since the invasive procedures potentially required to make a microbiological diagnosis are often thought to be have too many risks in severely ill patients. This complicates making a definitive diagnosis and makes it difficult to determine objective microbiological endpoints in clinical studies. For this reason, the initial studies on echinocandins were conducted for oesophageal candidiasis, where treatment efficacy can be relatively easily evaluated (through endoscopy and/or biopsy) and a large number of potentially eligible patients are available (*42, 43*).

As a general overview of all the data analysed in the application, the authors stated that "Echinocandins are better than or at least as efficient as different comparators for all the described *Candida* infections including oesophageal candidiasis, candidaemia, different forms of invasive candidiasis and infections caused by different *Candida* species. Moreover, some good results were obtained for echinocandins as treatment options in the paediatric population and as prophylaxis and empiric therapy for invasive candidiasis in different immunosuppressed populations. Echinocandins are recommended as salvage therapy for aspergillosis that is refractory to approved therapy (amphotericin B and *Aspergillus* active azole agents)".

## Oesophageal candidiasis

In the three randomized trials identified, the cure rate with echinocandins was similar or better than treatments with comparator drugs (amphotericin B or fluconazole) (42, 44, 45). The studies drew the following conclusions.

 Caspofungin appeared to be as effective as and better tolerated than amphotericin B for the treatment of oesophageal candidiasis (42).

- At the end of therapy, the rate of endoscopic success for anidulafungin (242/249 patients treated; 97.2%) was statistically non-inferior to that for fluconazole (252/255 patients treated; 98.8%): treatment difference –1.6%; 95% confidence interval (CI) –4.1 to 0.8 (44).
- The endoscopic cure rate for 100 mg and 150 mg of micafungin per day (83.5%) was comparable to that of 200 mg of fluconazole per day (86.7%); 95% CI for the difference in endoscopic cure rate -14.0% to 7.7% (45).

# Candidaemia and common forms of invasive candidiasis

Five randomized trials were included in the analysis. Two trials compared micafungin and caspofungin for invasive candidiasis. In one of these trials, dosages of micafungin 100 mg daily and 150 mg daily were non-inferior to a standard dosage of caspofungin for the treatment of candidaemia and other forms of invasive candidiasis (46), and the other trial found that the efficacy of caspofungin and micafungin was similar (47).

Three randomized trials compared echinocandins with amphotericin B or fluconazole and reported the following:

- Caspofungin was as effective as amphotericin B in patients with candidaemia, with a favourable response in 71.7% and 62.8% of patients, respectively (difference, 10.0 percentage points, 95% CI –4.5 to 24.5) (48).
- Treatment success was observed for 181 (89.6%) patients receiving micafungin and 170 (89.5%) patients treated with liposomal amphotericin B. After stratification by neutropenic status at baseline, the difference in proportions was 0.7% (95% CI 5.3 to 6.7). Micafungin was as effective as liposomal amphotericin B as first-line treatment of candidaemia and invasive candidiasis, and caused fewer adverse events (49).
- At the end of intravenous therapy, treatment was successful in 75.6% of patients receiving anidulafungin, compared with 60.2% of patients treated with fluconazole (difference 15.4 percentage points, 95% CI 3.9 to 27.0). The results were similar for other efficacy endpoints. Anidulafungin was non-inferior to fluconazole in the treatment of invasive candidiasis (50).

The application noted that when fluconazole was used as a comparator, anidulafungin had a better response rate for all *Candida* spp. except *C. parapsilosis*. This showed for the first time that some *Candida* spp. would behave differently.

A recent network meta-analysis of 13 randomized trials with 3528 participants with candidaemia and/or invasive candidiasis treated with either an echinocandin (n = 1531), amphotericin B (n = 944) or an azole (n = 1053) showed that echinocandins were associated with greater treatment success than amphotericin B (odds ratio (OR) 1.41, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.92) and the azoles (OR 1.82, 95% CI 1.35 to 2.51) (51).

## Less common forms of invasive candidiasis

A comparative study showed that the efficacy of caspofungin in uncommon infections (endocarditis, osteomyelitis, peritonitis, and chronic disseminated and septic arthritis caused by *Candida* spp.) was similar to its observed effectiveness for candidaemia (*52*).

## Non-albicans Candida spp. infections

Some evidence suggests that echinocandins produce similar outcomes to other classes of antifungal agents (such as liposomal amphotericin B) independent of the *Candida* species causing the infection (53).

A pooled analysis of two randomized trials included one study comparing micafungin (100 mg/day) and liposomal amphotericin B, and a second study comparing different micafungin doses and caspofungin. Clinical cure rates in those receiving micafungin were similar to those randomized to the comparator (73.5% (86/117) versus 62.1% (41/66), P > 0.05). Mortality at 28 days was also similar (29.1% (34/117) with micafungin versus 34.8% (23/66) with the comparator, P > 0.05). Micafungin resulted in similar outcomes to comparators for candidaemia and invasive candidiasis caused by *C. glabrata* and *C. krusei*. The 100 mg/day dose is an acceptable option in this setting. Patient characteristics and catheter management appeared to be more important factors affecting clinical outcomes (53).

# Prophylaxis for invasive candidiasis in different immunosuppressed populations

Two randomized trials compared the usefulness of prophylactic echinocandins against invasive candidiasis in immunosuppressed populations (54, 55). In the first trial, the overall efficacy of micafungin was superior to that of fluconazole for antifungal prophylaxis during the neutropenic phase after haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (80.0% efficacy for micafungin versus 73.5% for fluconazole; 95% CI 0.9% to 12%) (54). In the second trial intravenous itraconazole and caspofungin gave similar protection against invasive fungal infection during induction chemotherapy (55).

# Echinocandins as first-line treatment against invasive aspergillosis

Azoles are the drug of choice to treat invasive aspergillosis. This fungal infection is a common complication in haematopoietic stem cell transplantation

recipients. In these patients, it is difficult to keep an equilibrium between efficacy and toxicity when using regular antifungal treatments. Three randomized trials examined echinocandin efficacy and safety to treat invasive aspergillosis (56-58). The success rate was low with caspofungin, but better for micafungin when using voriconazole as the comparator. However, based on these trials, echinocandins have not been recommended in treatment guidelines as the primary monotherapy for the treatment of invasive aspergillosis.

#### Echinocandins against aspergillosis refractory to approved therapy (salvage therapy)

Invasive aspergillosis is associated with frequent treatment failures. The mortality is worse for refractory infections, especially when the antifungal is switched to a salvage monotherapy. The results of four studies were assessed.

- A non-comparative open-label trial using micafungin alone or in combination with another systemic antifungal agent (amphotericin B) was designed to show the safety and efficacy of micafungin in the treatment of acute invasive aspergillosis that had failed to respond to previous therapy. Micafungin as primary or salvage therapy was efficacious and safe in high-risk patients with invasive aspergillosis, although there were few patients in the micafungin-only group (59).
- A non-comparative open-label study included 53 adults with documented invasive aspergillosis refractory to standard antifungal therapy or who could not tolerate standard therapy. The participants received caspofungin and another antifungal agent (at the investigator's discretion). Caspofungin, combined with a triazole or polyene, was an effective alternative as salvage therapy for patients with refractory *Aspergillus* infections (*60*).
- A prospective multicentre study analysed a series of transplant recipients who received voriconazole + caspofungin (n = 40) as primary therapy for invasive aspergillosis (proven or probable). The outcomes were compared to a control group of consecutive transplant recipients treated with lipid formulation of amphotericin B. The authors concluded that a combination of voriconazole and caspofungin could be a preferable treatment for subsets of organ transplant recipients with invasive aspergillosis, for example, patients with renal failure or *A. fumigatus* infection (*61*). The study did not analyse the effect of voriconazole alone.
- A non-comparative study included 98 haematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients with invasive aspergillosis (refractory in 83) who received micafungin either alone or in combination with other

therapies. The study found that micafungin was well tolerated, even at high doses, and concluded that micafungin was a reasonable option for treatment of invasive aspergillosis in such high-risk patients (*62*).

# Echinocandins in children

Data on the pharmacokinetics and safety of echinocandins in children are few.

- An ascending dosage study assessed the pharmacokinetics of anidulafungin in neutropenic paediatric patients (2–11 years and 12– 17 years) and concluded that paediatric patients receiving 0.75 mg/ kg/day or 1.5 mg/kg/day of anidulafungin have concentration profiles similar to those of adult patients given 50 mg/day or 100 mg/day, respectively (63).
- An open-label study included children with proven or probable invasive aspergillosis, proven invasive candidiasis or proven oesophageal candidiasis. All children received caspofungin 70 mg/m<sup>2</sup> on day 1, followed by 50 mg/m<sup>2</sup> per day (maximum: 70 mg/day) as primary or salvage monotherapy. Caspofungin was generally well tolerated in patients aged 6 months to 17 years. The efficacy of caspofungin in patients with invasive aspergillosis or invasive candidiasis was consistent with previous adult studies for these indications (64).
- A paediatric substudy was conducted of a double-blind, randomized trial to compare micafungin (2 mg/kg) with liposomal amphotericin B (3 mg/kg) as first-line treatment of invasive candidiasis. Treatment success was observed for 35/48 (72.9%) patients receiving micafungin and 38/50 (76.0%) patients receiving liposomal amphotericin B. The difference in proportions adjusted for neutropenic status was -2.4% (95% CI -20.1% to 15.3%). The authors concluded that micafungin seemed as effective and as safe as liposomal amphotericin B for treatment of invasive candidiasis in children (65).

The application also lists different guidelines published by European and North American infectious diseases societies and endorsed by different South American and Asian societies. These guidelines include echinocandins as the recommended first-treatment option for *Candida* spp. infections and as salvage therapy, or echinocandins in combination with other antifungals for *Aspergillus* spp. infections (*66–68*).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The main reported adverse effects of echinocandins are related to infusion reactions (e.g. phlebitis and fever), mild increases in liver enzymes, minor

hypokalaemia and unspecific signs (including gastrointestinal discomfort, headache or skin rash) (39-41, 69, 70).

Anidulafungin seems to produce fewer adverse effects than micafungin or caspofungin, although fewer studies have used this medicine. The most common reported adverse effects of anidulafungin were diarrhoea, hypokalaemia and elevated levels of alanine aminotransferase (all  $\leq$  3% of the patients). Compared with fluconazole, the adverse effects profile seems similar, but with a lower incidence of hepatic adverse effects among patients receiving anidulafungin (50). The most frequent adverse effects reported for caspofungin were infusion-related events because the solution is quite acidic. Reducing the rate of infusion or infusion using a central venous catheter may reduce these events. A comparison of caspofungin and amphotericin B in 224 patients with invasive candidiasis showed that caspofungin was better tolerated than amphotericin B. Nephrotoxicity and hypokalaemia were observed in both groups. However, they were significantly less frequent and milder in the group treated with echinocandin. Abnormalities in liver function markers were also mild and seen in only 8% of the patients treated with caspofungin (48). For micafungin, the most frequent adverse effects reported in clinical trials with 202 patients were infusion-related reactions, hypokalaemia, abdominal discomfort and nausea, and elevation of liver enzymes (55). According to the results of these three clinical studies, liver adverse effects related to echinocandin treatment (including increases in aminotransferases) are mild and less frequent than cases reported with fluconazole and amphotericin B (48–50).

#### Hepatocellular tumours in animal models

Hepatocellular tumours were observed in rat models using human therapeutic doses of micafungin. These effects were found after prolonged exposure (> 3 months) (71). The European Medicines Agency imposed a black box warning for micafungin and extensive phase 4 pharmacovigilance requirements (39). A multicentre cohort study was designed to determine the risk of fatal hepatocellular carcinoma among patients treated with micafungin and other parenteral antifungals with up to 12 years of follow-up. Both micafungin and comparator antifungals were associated with hepatocellular carcinoma mortality rates of < 0.2 per 1000 person-years. Given the very low event rates, the authors considered that any potential risk for hepatocellular carcinoma should not affect clinical decisions on treatment with micafungin or other parenteral antifungals investigated in the study (72).

## Drug-drug interactions

Echinocandins are poor substrates for cytochrome P450 enzymes. Thus, co-administration with cytochrome P450 inhibitors or inductors (e.g. carbamazepine and phenytoin) is not clinically significant. Caspofungin may

interact with halogenated penicillins (e.g. dicloxacillin) as it potentially induces CYP3A4 enzyme (73–76). Clinically significant interactions with caspofungin were documented with rifampicin, tacrolimus and ciclosporin (77–79). Ciclosporin showed clinically significant interactions with micafungin, but this effect was not seen when coadministered with anidulafungin (80,81).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

### WHO guidelines

Not available

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Several pharmacoeconomic evaluations have been published comparing echinocandins with azoles (fluconazole and voriconazole), echinocandins with amphotericin B, and two of the three echinocandins with each other (summarized in Table 17 of the full application (82)). Limitations of these evaluations include the fact that few included the concept of life-years gained in their cost estimations and few compared one echinocandin versus other medicines of the same group. In some of the evaluations, caspofungin was cheaper and in others, micafungin was a more cost-effective option.

When lipid amphotericin B and fluconazole were compared with echinocandins, echinocandins were more cost-effective, especially in highincome countries, since the cost of health personal and other associated expenditures are higher than in low-income countries. In low- and middleincome countries, deoxycholate amphotericin B and fluconazole are regarded as more cost-effective than the echinocandins. In these countries, the main cost drivers are drug acquisition costs.

# Availability

Micafungin is proposed as the representative of the echinocandin class because it is registered in more countries than caspofungin or anidulafungin. It also has the simplest dose regimen and there are data to support its use in neonates. Echinocandins are approved by different medicine agencies, including the US Food and Drugs Administration, European Medicines Agency and Japanese Medicines Agency. For caspofungin and micafungin, different approved generic products are already authorized.

# Other considerations

Confirmation of the fungal etiology of infection, identification of the causative agent and ideally its susceptibility to antifungals is necessary for optimal treatment of fungal infections. Specimens for fungal cultures and other relevant studies (wet mount, histopathology, serology, antigen detection, polymerase chain reaction testing and imaging) should be obtained for this purpose whenever possible.

Echinocandin minimum inhibitory concentrations are low for most *Candida* spp., including intrinsically azole-resistant species and strains with secondary resistance (*37*,*83–86*). Antifungal susceptibility testing should be performed whenever possible for any strain isolated from a normally sterile site. Echinocandin susceptibility testing can be carried out using standardized and commercially available microdilution and agar diffusion methods.

It should be noted that antifungal susceptibility testing is more difficult to perform than antibiotic susceptibility testing. Therefore such testing may be unavailable in many settings, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

#### Antibiotic Working Group considerations

The EML Antibiotic Working Group discussed the application during a virtual meeting on 14 April 2021. The Working Group agreed that echinocandins are efficacious medicines with fungicidal activity against most *Candida* spp. and some activity against *Aspergillus* spp. The Working Group also acknowledged that echinocandins generally have a good safety profile and that resistance to this class of antifungals remains low. The Working Group therefore supports the inclusion of echinocandins on the EML and EMLc, although for more limited indications than requested in the application.

Indications for which the Working Group supports the listing:

 Empiric treatment of suspected fluconazole -resistant candidaemia or suspected candidaemia/invasive candidiasis in critically ill patients treated in intensive care settings, especially patients with neutropenia.

Indications for which the Working Group does not support the listing:

- Invasive aspergillosis. The Working Group decided that given the weak evidence available, it does not support listing echinocandins at this time for the treatment of aspergillosis. For aspergillosis, it was noted that echinocandins are not the treatment of choice but rather salvage therapies for refractory cases and these indications are usually not addressed in the EML and EMLc, which focuses on empiric therapy.
- Prophylaxis for invasive candidiasis, as it was concluded that fluconazole remains effective in most cases.
- Oesophageal candidiasis, as it was concluded that fluconazole remains effective in most cases.

158

The Working Group supports the request of listing micafungin as a representative of the echinocandins class in the EML and EMLc for the reasons provided in the application (availability), noting that micafungin is not licensed for the treatment of aspergillosis. Caspofungin and anidulafungin could be listed as therapeutically equivalent alternatives so that countries have more options to choose from based on price and availability.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that there is good evidence to support the use of echinocandin antifungals in the empiric treatment of suspected or proven invasive *Candida* infections in critically ill patients (especially where the probability of azole resistance is high). Therefore, the Committee recommended echinocandins be added to the EML and EMLc for this indication. The Committee noted that fluconazole (which can be taken orally and is substantially cheaper than echinocandins) is still effective and has a good safety profile for prophylaxis and treatment of invasive and oesophageal *Candida* infections; therefore it did not recommend listing echinocandins for these indications. The Committee acknowledged the potential role for echinocandins in the second-line treatment of invasive *Aspergillus* infections but did not recommend listing echinocandins for this indication given the availability of established alternatives.

The Committee recommended listing micafungin as the representative medicine, noting that: the patent has recently expired; micafungin is approved for use in neonates and paediatric patients; it is widely available globally; and it has the simplest dosing scheme (caspofungin and anidulafungin require loading doses). The Committee recommended anidulafungin and caspofungin be included with the listing as therapeutic alternatives, and that all three echinocandins be considered equivalent for procurement purposes.

The Committee noted that echinocandins are expensive medicines and considerably more expensive than amphotericin B and fluconazole in most settings. Furthermore, antifungal resistance is becoming an increasing problem in many settings (mostly to azoles but also described for echinocandins). The Committee therefore stressed the importance of antimicrobial stewardship activities to support the appropriate use of echinocandins.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 28 August 2021).  Pristov KE, Ghannoum MA. Resistance of Candida to azoles and echinocandins worldwide. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2019;25(7):792–8.

- 3. Pappas PG, Lionakis MS, Arendrup MC, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Kullberg BJ. Invasive candidiasis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4:18026.
- 4. Bongomin F, Gago S, Oladele RO, Denning DW. Global and Multi-National Prevalence of Fungal Diseases-Estimate Precision. J Fungi (Basel). 2017;3(4):57.
- 5. Dupont H, Paugam-Burtz C, Muller-Serieys C, Fierobe L, Chosidow D, Marmuse JP, et al. Predictive factors of mortality due to polymicrobial peritonitis with Candida isolation in peritoneal fluid in critically ill patients. Arch Surg. 2002;137(12):1341–6; discussion 7.
- 6. Montravers P, Dupont H, Gauzit R, Veber B, Auboyer C, Blin P, et al. Candida as a risk factor for mortality in peritonitis. Crit Care Med. 2006;34(3):646–52.
- Bassetti M, Marchetti M, Chakrabarti A, Colizza S, Garnacho-Montero J, Kett DH, et al. A research agenda on the management of intra-abdominal candidiasis: results from a consensus of multinational experts. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39(12):2092–106.
- 8. Sandven P, Qvist H, Skovlund E, Giercksky KE. Significance of Candida recovered from intraoperative specimens in patients with intra-abdominal perforations. Crit Care Med. 2002;30(3):541–7.
- Montravers P, Lepape A, Dubreuil L, Gauzit R, Pean Y, Benchimol D, et al. Clinical and microbiological profiles of community-acquired and nosocomial intra-abdominal infections: results of the French prospective, observational EBIIA study. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2009;63(4):785–94.
- 10. Montero A, Gilsanz F, Maseda E. Aproximación diagnóstica y terapéutica a la candidiasis intraabdominal [Diagnostic and therapeutic approach of intraabdominal candidiasis]. Rev Esp Quimioter. 2016;29Suppl 1):52–5.
- 11. Hasibeder W, Halabi M. Candida peritonitis. Minerva Anestesiol. 2014;80(4):470–81.
- 12. Levallois J, Nadeau-Fredette AC, Labbé AC, Laverdière M, Ouimet D, Vallée M. Ten-year experience with fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients: antifungal susceptibility patterns in a North-American center. Int J Infect Dis. 2012;16(1):e41–3.
- 13. Vergidis P, Clancy CJ, Shields RK, Park SY, Wildfeuer BN, Simmons RL, et al. Intra-abdominal candidiasis: the importance of early source control and antifungal treatment. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0153247.
- 14. Rammaert B, Desjardins A, Lortholary O. New insights into hepatosplenic candidosis, a manifestation of chronic disseminated candidosis. Mycoses. 2012;55(3):e74–84.
- 15. Masood A, Sallah S. Chronic disseminated candidiasis in patients with acute leukemia: emphasis on diagnostic definition and treatment. Leuk Res. 2005;29(5):493–501.
- 16. Kontoyiannis DP, Luna MA, Samuels BI, Bodey GP. Hepatosplenic candidiasis. A manifestation of chronic disseminated candidiasis. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2000;14(3):721–39.
- 17. Maki DG, Kluger DM, Crnich CJ. The risk of bloodstream infection in adults with different intravascular devices: a systematic review of 200 published prospective studies. Mayo Clin Proc. 2006;81(9):1159–71.
- 18. Wagner M, Bonhoeffer J, Erb TO, Glanzmann R, Häcker FM, Paulussen M, et al. Prospective study on central venous line associated bloodstream infections. Arch Dis Child. 2011;96(9):827–31.
- 19. Diekema D, Arbefeville S, Boyken L, Kroeger J, Pfaller M. The changing epidemiology of healthcareassociated candidemia over three decades. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012;73(1):45–8.
- 20. Pappas PG, Rex JH, Lee J, Hamill RJ, Larsen RA, Powderly W, et al. A prospective observational study of candidemia: epidemiology, therapy, and influences on mortality in hospitalized adult and pediatric patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2003;37(5):634–43.

160

- Wisplinghoff H, Bischoff T, Tallent SM, Seifert H, Wenzel RP, Edmond MB. Nosocomial bloodstream infections in US hospitals: analysis of 24,179 cases from a prospective nationwide surveillance study. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39(3):309–17.
- 22. Tumbarello M, Fiori B, Trecarichi EM, Posteraro P, Losito AR, De Luca A, et al. Risk factors and outcomes of candidemia caused by biofilm-forming isolates in a tertiary care hospital. PLoS One. 2012;7(3):e33705.
- 23. Ruiz LS, Khouri S, Hahn RC, da Silva EG, de Oliveira VK, Gandra RF, et al. Candidemia by species of the Candida parapsilosis complex in children's hospital: prevalence, biofilm production and antifungal susceptibility. Mycopathologia. 2013;175(3–4):231–9.
- 24. Falagas ME, Apostolou KE, Pappas VD. Attributable mortality of candidemia: a systematic review of matched cohort and case-control studies. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2006;25(7):419–25.
- 25. Dufresne SF, Cole DC, Denning DW, Sheppard DC. Serious fungal infections in Canada. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2017;36(6):987–92.
- 26. Pfaller MA, Diekema DJ. Epidemiology of invasive candidiasis: a persistent public health problem. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2007;20(1):133–63.
- 27. Takahashi Y, Nagata N, Shimbo T, Nishijima T, Watanabe K, Aoki T, et al. Long-term trends in esophageal candidiasis prevalence and associated risk factors with or without HIV infection: lessons from an endoscopic study of 80,219 patients. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0133589.
- 28. Aspergillosis statistics [internet]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2020 (https://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/aspergillosis/statistics.html, accessed 28 August 2021).
- 29. Forum of International Respiratory Societies. The global impact of respiratory disease. Second edition. Sheffield, European Respiratory Soceity, 2017 (https://www.who.int/gard/publications/ The\_Global\_Impact\_of\_Respiratory\_Disease.pdf, accessed 28 August 2021).
- 30. Denning DW, Pleuvry A, Cole DC. Global burden of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis as a sequel to pulmonary tuberculosis. Bull World Health Organ. 2011;89(12):864–72.
- Page ID, Byanyima R, Hosmane S, Onyachi N, Opira C, Richardson M, et al. Chronic pulmonary aspergillosis commonly complicates treated pulmonary tuberculosis with residual cavitation. Eur Respir J. 2019;53(3) :1801184.
- Setianingrum F, Rozaliyani A, Syam R, Adawiyah R, Tugiran M, Sari CYI, et al. Evaluation and comparison of automated and manual ELISA for diagnosis of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis (CPA) in Indonesia. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2020;98(3):115124.
- 33. Bowman JC, Hicks PS, Kurtz MB, Rosen H, Schmatz DM, Liberator PA, et al. The antifungal echinocandin caspofungin acetate kills growing cells of Aspergillus fumigatus in vitro. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002;46(9):3001–12.
- 34. Perlin DS. Mechanisms of echinocandin antifungal drug resistance. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2015;1354(1):1–11.
- 35. Denning DW. Echinocandin antifungal drugs. Lancet. 2003;362(9390):1142–51.
- 36. Perlin DS. Current perspectives on echinocandin class drugs. Future Microbiol. 2011;6(4):441–57.
- 37. Posteraro B, Sanguinetti M, Fiori B, La Sorda M, Spanu T, Sanglard D, et al. Caspofungin activity against clinical isolates of azole cross-resistant Candida glabrata overexpressing efflux pump genes. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2006;58(2):458–61.
- 38. Cannon RD, Lamping E, Holmes AR, Niimi K, Baret PV, Keniya MV, et al. Efflux-mediated antifungal drug resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2009;22(2):291–321.
- 39. Mycamine micafungin [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https://www. ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/mycamine, accessed 28 August 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Cancidas (previously Caspofungin MSD) [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/cancidas-previously-caspofunginmsd, accessed 28 August 2021).
- 41. Ecalta anidulafungin [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https://www. ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/ecalta, accessed 28 August 2021).
- 42. Villanueva A, Arathoon EG, Gotuzzo E, Berman RS, DiNubile MJ, Sable CA. A randomized doubleblind study of caspofungin versus amphotericin for the treatment of candidal esophagitis. Clin Infect Dis. 2001;33(9):1529–35.
- 43. Arathoon EG, Gotuzzo E, Noriega LM, Berman RS, DiNubile MJ, Sable CA. Randomized, doubleblind, multicenter study of caspofungin versus amphotericin B for treatment of oropharyngeal and esophageal candidiases. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002;46(2):451–7.
- 44. Krause DS, Simjee AE, van Rensburg C, Viljoen J, Walsh TJ, Goldstein BP, et al. A randomized, doubleblind trial of anidulafungin versus fluconazole for the treatment of esophageal candidiasis. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39(6):770–5.
- 45. de Wet N, Llanos-Cuentas A, Suleiman J, Baraldi E, Krantz EF, Della Negra M, et al. A randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, dose-response study of micafungin compared with fluconazole for the treatment of esophageal candidiasis in HIV-positive patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39(6):842–9.
- 46. Pappas PG, Rotstein CM, Betts RF, Nucci M, Talwar D, De Waele JJ, et al. Micafungin versus caspofungin for treatment of candidemia and other forms of invasive candidiasis. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;45(7):883–93.
- 47. Kohno S, Izumikawa K, Yoshida M, Takesue Y, Oka S, Kamei K, et al. A double-blind comparative study of the safety and efficacy of caspofungin versus micafungin in the treatment of candidiasis and aspergillosis. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2013;32(3):387–97.
- 48. Mora-Duarte J, Betts R, Rotstein C, Colombo AL, Thompson-Moya L, Smietana J, et al. Comparison of caspofungin and amphotericin B for invasive candidiasis. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(25):2020–9.
- 49. Kuse ER, Chetchotisakd P, da Cunha CA, Ruhnke M, Barrios C, Raghunadharao D, et al. Micafungin versus liposomal amphotericin B for candidaemia and invasive candidosis: a phase III randomised double-blind trial. Lancet. 2007;369(9572):1519–27.
- 50. Reboli AC, Rotstein C, Pappas PG, Chapman SW, Kett DH, Kumar D, et al. Anidulafungin versus fluconazole for invasive candidiasis. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(24):2472–82.
- 51. Demir KK, Butler-Laporte G, Del Corpo O, Ekmekjian T, Sheppard DC, Lee TC, et al. Comparative effectiveness of amphotericin B, azoles and echinocandins in the treatment of candidemia and invasive candidiasis: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Mycoses. 2021;64(9):1098–110.
- 52. Cornely OA, Lasso M, Betts R, Klimko N, Vazquez J, Dobb G, et al. Caspofungin for the treatment of less common forms of invasive candidiasis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2007;60(2):363–9.
- Shorr AF, Wu C, Kothari S. Outcomes with micafungin in patients with candidaemia or invasive candidiasis due to Candida glabrata and Candida krusei. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2011;66(2):375– 80.
- 54. van Burik JA, Ratanatharathorn V, Stepan DE, Miller CB, Lipton JH, Vesole DH, et al. Micafungin versus fluconazole for prophylaxis against invasive fungal infections during neutropenia in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39(10):1407–16.
- 55. Mattiuzzi GN, Alvarado G, Giles FJ, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Cortes J, O'Brien S, et al. Open-label, randomized comparison of itraconazole versus caspofungin for prophylaxis in patients with hematologic malignancies. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2006;50(1):143–7.

162

 Herbrecht R, Maertens J, Baila L, Aoun M, Heinz W, Martino R, et al. Caspofungin first-line therapy for invasive aspergillosis in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant patients: a European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer study. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2010;45(7):1227–33.

- 57. Viscoli C, Herbrecht R, Akan H, Baila L, Sonet A, Gallamini A, et al. An EORTC Phase II study of caspofungin as first-line therapy of invasive aspergillosis in haematological patients. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2009;64(6):1274–81.
- 58. Kohno S, Izumikawa K, Ogawa K, Kurashima A, Okimoto N, Amitani R, et al. Intravenous micafungin versus voriconazole for chronic pulmonary aspergillosis: a multicenter trial in Japan. J Infect. 2010;61(5):410–8.
- 59. Denning DW, Marr KA, Lau WM, Facklam DP, Ratanatharathorn V, Becker C, et al. Micafungin (FK463), alone or in combination with other systemic antifungal agents, for the treatment of acute invasive aspergillosis. J Infect. 2006;53(5):337–49.
- 60. Maertens J, Glasmacher A, Herbrecht R, Thiebaut A, Cordonnier C, Segal BH, et al. Multicenter, noncomparative study of caspofungin in combination with other antifungals as salvage therapy in adults with invasive aspergillosis. Cancer. 2006;107(12):2888–97.
- 61. Singh N, Limaye AP, Forrest G, Safdar N, Muñoz P, Pursell K, et al. Combination of voriconazole and caspofungin as primary therapy for invasive aspergillosis in solid organ transplant recipients: a prospective, multicenter, observational study. Transplantation. 2006;81(3):320–6.
- 62. Kontoyiannis DP, Ratanatharathorn V, Young JA, Raymond J, Laverdière M, Denning DW, et al. Micafungin alone or in combination with other systemic antifungal therapies in hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients with invasive aspergillosis. Transpl Infect Dis. 2009;11(1):89–93.
- 63. Benjamin DK, Jr., Driscoll T, Seibel NL, Gonzalez CE, Roden MM, Kilaru R, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of intravenous anidulafungin in children with neutropenia at high risk for invasive fungal infections. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2006;50(2):632–8.
- 64. Zaoutis TE, Jafri HS, Huang LM, Locatelli F, Barzilai A, Ebell W, et al. A prospective, multicenter study of caspofungin for the treatment of documented Candida or Aspergillus infections in pediatric patients. Pediatrics. 2009;123(3):877–84.
- 65. Queiroz-Telles F, Berezin E, Leverger G, Freire A, van der Vyver A, Chotpitayasunondh T, et al. Micafungin versus liposomal amphotericin B for pediatric patients with invasive candidiasis: substudy of a randomized double-blind trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2008;27(9):820–6.
- Garcia-Vidal C, Alastruey-Izquierdo A, Aguilar-Guisado M, Carratalà J, Castro C, Fernández-Ruiz M, et al. Executive summary of clinical practice guideline for the management of invasive diseases caused by Aspergillus: 2018 Update by the GEMICOMED-SEIMC/REIPI. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin (Engl Ed). 2019;37(8):535–41.
- 67. Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes DR, Clancy CJ, Marr KA, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, et al. Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Candidiasis: 2016 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62(4):e1–50.
- Patterson TF, Thompson GR, 3rd, Denning DW, Fishman JA, Hadley S, Herbrecht R, et al. Practice Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Aspergillosis: 2016 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(4):e1–e60.
- 69. Cappelletty D, Eiselstein-McKitrick K. The echinocandins. Pharmacotherapy. 2007;27(3):369–88.
- 70. Glöckner A. Treatment and prophylaxis of invasive candidiasis with anidulafungin, caspofungin and micafungin:review of the literature. Eur J Med Res. 2011;16(4):167–79.
- 71. Bellmann R, Smuszkiewicz P. Pharmacokinetics of antifungal drugs: practical implications for optimized treatment of patients. Infection. 2017;45(6):737–79.

72. Schneeweiss S, Carver PL, Datta K, Galar A, Johnson MD, Letourneau AR, et al. Long-term risk of hepatocellular carcinoma mortality in 23220 hospitalized patients treated with micafungin or other parenteral antifungals. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2020;75(1):221–8.

- 73. Yasuda K, Ranade A, Venkataramanan R, Strom S, Chupka J, Ekins S, et al. A comprehensive in vitro and in silico analysis of antibiotics that activate pregnane X receptor and induce CYP3A4 in liver and intestine. Drug Metab Dispos. 2008;36(8):1689–97.
- 74. Lang CC, Jamal SK, Mohamed Z, Mustafa MR, Mustafa AM, Lee TC. Evidence of an interaction between nifedipine and nafcillin in humans. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;55(6):588–90.
- 75. Stone JA, Migoya EM, Hickey L, Winchell GA, Deutsch PJ, Ghosh K, et al. Potential for interactions between caspofungin and nelfinavir or rifampin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48(11):4306–14.
- Du QQ, Wang ZJ, He L, Jiang XH, Wang L. PXR polymorphisms and their impact on pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of repaglinide in healthy Chinese volunteers. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69(11):1917–25.
- 77. Ullmann AJ. Review of the safety, tolerability, and drug interactions of the new antifungal agents caspofungin and voriconazole. Curr Med Res Opin. 2003;19(4):263–71.
- 78. Sable CA, Nguyen BY, Chodakewitz JA, DiNubile MJ. Safety and tolerability of caspofungin acetate in the treatment of fungal infections. Transpl Infect Dis. 2002;4(1):25–30.
- 79. Eschenauer G, Depestel DD, Carver PL. Comparison of echinocandin antifungals. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2007;3(1):71–97.
- 80. Dowell JA, Stogniew M, Krause D, Henkel T, Weston IE. Assessment of the safety and pharmacokinetics of anidulafungin when administered with cyclosporine. J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;45(2):227–33.
- 81. Hebert MF, Townsend RW, Austin S, Balan G, Blough DK, Buell D, et al. Concomitant cyclosporine and micafungin pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers. J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;45(8):954–60.
- Application to add echinocandins to the essential list of medicines for treatment of fungal diseases [internet]. Global Action Fund for Fungal Infection (GAFFI); 2021 (https://cdn.who.int/ media/docs/default-source/essential-medicines/2021-eml-expert-committee/applicationsfor-addition-of-new-medicines/a.10\_echinocandins.pdf?sfvrsn=7f6ba5b\_4, accessed 28 August 2021).
- 83. Castanheira M, Messer SA, Jones RN, Farrell DJ, Pfaller MA. Activity of echinocandins and triazoles against a contemporary (2012) worldwide collection of yeast and moulds collected from invasive infections. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2014;44(4):320–6.
- Pfaller MA, Castanheira M, Lockhart SR, Ahlquist AM, Messer SA, Jones RN. Frequency of decreased susceptibility and resistance to echinocandins among fluconazole-resistant bloodstream isolates of Candida glabrata. J Clin Microbiol. 2012;50(4):1199–203.
- 85. Pfaller MA, Moet GJ, Messer SA, Jones RN, Castanheira M. Geographic variations in species distribution and echinocandin and azole antifungal resistance rates among Candida bloodstream infection isolates: report from the SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program (2008 to 2009). J Clin Microbiol. 2011;49(1):396–9.
- 86. Guinea J, Zaragoza Ó, Escribano P, Martín-Mazuelos E, Pemán J, Sánchez-Reus F, et al. Molecular identification and antifungal susceptibility of yeast isolates causing fungemia collected in a population-based study in Spain in 2010 and 2011. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58(3):1529–37.

# 6.4 Antiviral medicines

# 6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

Antiretrovirals – formulations for deletion – EML and EMLc

# Antiretroviral formulations for deletion

**ATC Code: various** 

## Proposal

Deletion of various antiretroviral formulations from the core list of the EML and EMLc.

# Applicant

WHO Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes

# WHO technical department

WHO Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes

## EML/EMLc

EML and/or EMLc

# Section

6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Lamivudine: tablet 150 mg (EMLc) Abacavir: tablet (dispersible, scored) 60 mg (EMLc) Efavirenz: tablet (scored) 200 mg (EML and EMLc) Ritonavir: oral liquid 400 mg/5 mL (EML and EMLc); oral powder 100 mg in sachet (EMLc) Atazanavir: solid oral dose form 100 mg (EML and EMLc); 300 mg (EML) Lopinavir + ritonavir: oral liquid 400 mg + 100 mg/5 mL (EML and EMLc) Raltegravir: chewable tablet 100 mg (EML and EMLc); tablet 400 mg (EMLc) Lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine: tablet 30 mg + 50 mg + 60 mg (EMLc); 150 mg + 200 mg + 300 mg (EML)

# Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing Individual **Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Not applicable

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Not applicable

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Recommendations were made by the WHO HIV Department to delete the above-mentioned antiretroviral formulations from the EML and/or EMLc in order to achieve alignment between WHO's 2019 *Update of recommendations on first- and second-line antiretroviral regimens* (1) and *The 2021 optimal formulary and limited-use list for antiretroviral drugs for children: policy brief* (2).

Lamivudine tablet 150 mg and abacavir dispersible, scored tablet 60 mg are proposed for deletion from the EMLc. These formulations have been excluded from the 2021 optimal formulary since a regimen of three nucleoside/nucleotide reverse-transcriptase inhibitors for tuberculosis co-treatment is no longer needed given the introduction of dolutegravir.

Efavirenz scored tablet 200 mg is proposed for deletion from both the EML and EMLc. This formulation has been excluded from the 2021 optimal formulary as efavirenz-containing regimens are not a preferred or alternative regimen for children in the WHO guidelines (1). Active phase out is being supported by major procurement agencies as regimens containing efavirenz are now considered suboptimal in light of the high level of resistance to non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors documented in many countries. The 200 mg formulation of efavirenz is not an appropriate strength formulation for treatment of adults. Efavirenz 600 mg tablets remain on the EML for adult use.

Ritonavir oral liquid 400 mg/5 mL is proposed for deletion from both the EML and EMLc. This formulation was proposed for deletion in 2019 but was retained until the availability of alternative ritonavir formulations was established. It was recommended for deletion without further discussion by the Expert Committee in 2021 (3). Furthermore, this formulation is no longer necessary for lopinavir + ritonavir super-boosting, as dolutegravir is a more suitable option for tuberculosis co-treatment. Ritonavir heat-stable tablets 25 mg and 100 mg remain on both the EML and EMLc.

Ritonavir oral powder 100 mg in sachet is proposed for deletion from the EMLc. It is no longer included in the 2021 optimal formulary, and as with ritonavir oral liquid, this formulation is no longer necessary for lopinavir + ritonavir super-boosting since dolutegravir became available.

Atazanavir solid oral dose form 100 mg and 300 mg are proposed for deletion from the EML and EMLc. Single-agent atazanavir formulations require separate administration of ritonavir; therefore alternatives are preferred (e.g. dolutegravir 10 mg or 50 mg, and solid fixed-dose formulations of lopinavir/ ritonavir). Atazanavir 100 mg was excluded from the 2021 optimal formulary for this reason.

Lopinavir + ritonavir oral liquid 400 mg + 100 mg/5 mL is proposed for deletion from the EML and EMLc. This formulation has been replaced in practice by solid oral dose forms (pellets and granules), which remain on the EML and EMLc. This formulation of lopinavir + ritonavir was also excluded from the 2021 optimal formulary.

Raltegravir chewable tablet 100 mg is proposed for deletion from the EML and EMLc, and raltegravir tablet 400 mg is proposed for deletion from the EMLc. Raltegravir 100 mg chewable tablet was replaced on the 2018 optimal formulary. It was proposed for deletion from the EML and EMLc in 2019, but was retained until the availability of the 25 mg formulation was established. It was recommended for deletion without further discussion by the Expert Committee in 2021 (*3*). Raltegravir chewable tablet 25 mg and granule 100 mg remain on the EML and EMLc. Raltegravir 400 mg tablets remains on the EML.

Lamivudine + nevirapine + zidovudine fixed-dose combinations are proposed for deletion from the EML (150 mg + 200 mg + 300 mg) and EMLc (30 mg + 50 mg + 60 mg). Nevirapine-containing regimens are not recommended in WHO guidelines as a preferred or alternative regimen (1). Active phase out is being supported by major procurement agencies as these regimens are now considered suboptimal in light of the high level of resistance to non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors documented in many countries.

### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Not applicable

### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

### **WHO guidelines**

The proposed deletions are in alignment with recommendations in current WHO guidelines and *The 2021 optimal formulary and limited-use list for antiretroviral drugs for children: policy brief.* 

#### Costs/cost–effectiveness

Not applicable

# **Availability** Not applicable

167

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the deletion from the core list of the EML and/or EMLc of the antiretroviral formulations and strengths as requested in the application.

The Committee considered the rationale behind the proposed deletions to be reasonable, and that removal of these formulations would ensure full alignment between the Model Lists and recommendations included in the most recent WHO antiretroviral treatment guidelines and *The 2021 optimal formulary and limited-use list for antiretroviral drugs for children*.

# References

- Update of recommendations on first- and second-line antiretroviral regimens. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO/CDS/HIV/19.15) (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/325892, accessed 2 June 2021).
- 2. The 2021 optimal formulary and limited-use list for antiretroviral drugs for children: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 2 June 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 10 April 2021).

6.4.2.4 Integrase inhibitors

Dolutegravir – new formulation – EMLc

# Dolutegravir

ATC Code: J05AJ03

### Proposal

Inclusion of a new strength formulation of dolutegravir (10 mg dispersible tablets) on the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of HIV-1 infection in paediatric patients at least 4 weeks of age and weighing at least 3 kg.

### Applicant

Clinton Health Access Initiative, Inc., United States of America

### WHO technical department

WHO Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes

#### EML/EMLc

EMLc

### Section

6.4.2.4 Integrase inhibitors

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet (dispersible, scored): 10 mg

### Core/complementary

Core

### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Dolutegravir 50 mg tablets were added to the core list of the EML in 2017 for treatment of adult patients with HIV-1 infection in combination with an optimized nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) background (1). In 2019, dolutegravir 50 mg tablets were added to the core list of the EMLc for treatment of paediatric patients with HIV-1 weighing 25 kg or more, in combination with an optimized NRTI background, in line with recommendations in WHO guidelines. The Expert Committee noted that the available evidence for the use of dolutegravir in children was largely limited to pharmacokinetic and

safety data from two ongoing paediatric trials, but considered that extrapolation of efficacy from adult trials was acceptable (2).

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

According to UNAIDS global aids update of 2020, there were 38 million people living with HIV/AIDS globally, 1.7 million new HIV-1 infections (a decrease of 23% since 2010) and 690 000 thousand HIV-related deaths. Over 95% of people infected with HIV live in low- and middle-income countries with inadequate resources to effectively combat the epidemic. While some countries have achieved declines in new HIV infections among adults of 50% or more, global data show that many other countries have not made measurable progress and some areas in Eastern Europe, central Asia, northern Africa and Latin America have experienced concerning increases in new HIV infections. Overall, about 25.4 million people were receiving antiretroviral therapy in 2019, an estimated two thirds of the people infected with HIV (3).

There were 150 000 new HIV infections in children aged 0 to 14 years in 2019 (3). Evidence shows that in the absence of antiretroviral therapy, more than 50% of HIV-infected infants progress to AIDS or death by the age of 2 years (4). The introduction of effective paediatric antiretroviral therapy has changed HIV infection in children from a life-threatening illness to a chronic-butmanageable infection, albeit highly dependent on good adherence to treatment. Despite recognition of the advantages of early treatment, paediatric treatment coverage still reached only 53% of children eligible for treatment in 2019 (3) and data consistently show children are less likely than adults to achieve viral suppression (5).

Antiretroviral therapy based on non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors has been widely used in paediatric patients for both prevention of HIV transmission and treatment. A recent survey of newly diagnosed children in five sub-Saharan African countries found resistance to one or more non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors in up to 53% of these children (6). The increasing prevalence of resistance to the previously recommended first-line antiretrovirals has prompted WHO to recommend rapid transition to dolutegravir-based treatment as formulations suitable for children become available.

Although global clinical experience with the use of dolutegravir in younger children is limited, it is recommended in this population based on extrapolation of efficacy from the larger, more diverse adult studies. Thus, the most recent WHO treatment guidelines for paediatric use of dolutegravir are based primarily on aligning pharmacokinetic data collected in clinical trials on children receiving dolutegravir to adult pharmacokinetic targets. As a result, adolescents and older children are increasingly receiving dolutegravirbased therapy using adult formulations found to be highly effective. Approval of dolutegravir 10 mg scored, dispersible tablets will allow the use of optimal regimens in both high- and low-income settings across all paediatric age groups.

#### Summary of evidence benefits (from the application)

The paediatric data presented and published to date is from two ongoing clinical trials, IMPAACT P1093 and ODYSSEY. Both trials evaluated dolutegravir in paediatric patients, down to 4 weeks of age and weighing 3 kg, using a combination of dispersible tablets and film-coated tablets depending on the study participants' age, weight and ability to swallow tablets. No data are currently available to support giving dolutegravir to infants younger than 4 weeks of age (neonates) or to preterm infants.

IMPAACT P1093 is an ongoing single-arm, open-label trial of dolutegravir in children with HIV. The United States (US) Food and Drug Administration's (FDA's) initial approval of dolutegravir for use in children weighing at least 40 kg was based on data from 23 adolescents who had received antiretroviral therapy but not integrase inhibitors (12 to < 18 years) (7). These data have been previously described in the application for dolutegravir 50 mg to be added to the EMLc in 2019 (2).

Data from the P1093 trial included: cohorts 1 (12 to < 18 years) and 2 (6 to < 12 years), which provided evidence supporting the use of dolutegravir 50 mg film-coated tablets in paediatric patients weighing more than 14 kg; and cohorts 3 (2 to < 6 years), 4 (6 months to < 2 years) and 5 (4 weeks to < 6 months), which provided evidence supporting the use of dolutegravir 25 mg dispersible tablets. As the study progressed, dosing in some cohorts was adjusted to achieve the pharmacokinetic targets. Seventy-five study participants received the currently approved dose (determined by weight and age) of dolutegravir film-coated tablets or dispersible tablets. These 75 participants ranged in age from 1 to 214 months, 59% were female and 68% were black or African American. Eighty per cent of participants were treatment-experienced, but all were integrase inhibitor-naïve. Of these 75 patients who received either dolutegravir 50 mg film-coated tablets or dolutegravir 25 mg dispersible tablets according to the approved dosing recommendations for their weight band, 42 received dolutegravir for at least 48 weeks. At week 48, 69% of participants achieved HIV RNA < 50 copies/mL and 79% achieved HIV RNA < 400 copies/ mL. The median CD4 count (per cent) increase from baseline to week 48 was 141 cells/mm3 (7%). The effectiveness observed in the trial was comparable to that of treatment-experienced adult patients (8–10).

The ODYSSEY trial enrolled both treatment-naive and treatmentexperienced paediatric patients in the European Union, Thailand and several African countries; this trial initially evaluated doses approved by the European Medicines Agency at the time the trial started. A total of 674 children < 18 years were enrolled; 282 children started dolutegravir as first-line therapy and 392 started dolutegravir as second-line therapy (11). Nested pharmacokinetic substudies within ODYSSEY evaluated simplified paediatric dosing aligned with WHO-recommended weight bands. Pharmacokinetic data are available from a cohort of children weighing > 25 kg who switched to dolutegravir 50 mg filmcoated tablets (12). Data from another ODYSSEY cohort reported on children weighing 20–< 25 kg who received either dolutegravir 50 mg film-coated tablets or 30 mg of dolutegravir administered as six 5 mg dispersible tablets. Both of these doses achieved area under the curve (AUC) and C<sub>max</sub> values that were higher than adult pharmacokinetic reference values, but are still acceptable, and both doses achieved C<sub>trough</sub> values that were similar to adult reference values, as was weight-band dosing for infants and children under 20 kg (13, 14).

Dolutegravir dosing in the ODYSSEY study for weight bands under 20 kg was slightly different from that in P1093, mainly because P1093 was originally designed to dose by age rather than by weight band. Both studies contributed pharmacokinetic data to the regulatory submissions for the innovator's dispersible tablet (Tivicay PD®, dolutegravir 5 mg tablets for oral suspension, ViiV Healthcare). Combined pharmacokinetic data from P1093 and ODYSSEY across all age and weight cohorts form the basis for the current FDA and WHO treatment recommendations and are summarized in Table 2 of the prescribing information on Tivicay and Tivicay PD (8). In addition, modelling and simulation studies that included uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase 1-1 (UGT1A1) maturation in infants was used to support the dose of dolutegravir down to 4 weeks of age and 3 kg.

In adult clinical studies to date, dolutegravir-based regimens were either non-inferior or superior in efficacy to comparator regimens containing other integrase inhibitors, boosted protease inhibitors and non-nucleoside reversetranscriptase inhibitors regardless of patient population. No comparative paediatric trials are available but both the WHO working groups and multiple regulatory agencies (including the FDA and the European Medicines Agency) endorse the concept of extrapolating efficacy from well designed, adequately powered adult trials on the basis of similar pharmacokinetic profiles and supplementary safety data.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The harms associated with dolutegravir were reviewed and summarized at the time of the previous EML and EMLc applications and the associated evidence is available in the technical reports of the meetings (1, 2).

The FDA clinical review of the data submitted to support registration of dolutegravir dispersible tablets describes the safety data available from P1093 up to 48 weeks of dosing. In P1093, 13 participants (17%) experienced adverse reactions attributed to dolutegravir and all were assessed as Grade 1 or Grade 2 (mild or moderate). Adverse drug reactions reported in more than one study

participant were: decreased blood bicarbonate (three participants), decreased haemoglobin (two participants), decreased neutrophil count (four participants), and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (two participants). In data evaluated by the FDA in support of the dispersible tablet registration, new adverse events occurred in seven participants (7%) in the ODYSSEY safety population (n = 97) through week 24. The only adverse event reported in more than one participant was anaemia in three participants (3%). The following adverse events occurred in only one participant each: neutropenia, diarrhoea, hepatitis A, lower respiratory tract infection, measles, cryptococcal meningitis, otitis media, pneumonia, dehydration and malnutrition. None of these adverse events were thought to be related to the study medicine by the investigators (15). Overall, the safety profile in P1093 participants was comparable to that observed in adults and both formulations were well tolerated by paediatric patients (8-10). Long-term safety assessments in the ODYSSEY trial are ongoing and final data up to 96 weeks of dosing are expected later in 2021.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable.

### WHO guidelines

WHO's 2018 updated recommendations on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens for treatment of HIV in infants and children include dolutegravir as a preferred drug for first-line therapy in all ages for which dosing recommendations and a formulation are available (*16*). This recommendation predated the availability of a child-friendly dolutegravir formulation but can now be widely applied across ages and weight bands. Dolutegravir should be given together with two nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors appropriate for paediatric patients (abacavir plus lamivudine, or zidovudine plus lamivudine). In addition, the 2018 WHO guidelines also recommend dolutegravir in combination with an optimized nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor backbone as the preferred second-line regimen for children with approved dolutegravir dosing for whom non-dolutegravir-based regimens are failing.

Dosing recommendations for dolutegravir 10 mg scored dispersible tablets for infants and children 4 weeks and older and weighing  $\geq$  3 kg are:

- 3 kg to < 6 kg, 5 mg once daily (half a tablet)
- 6 kg to < 10 kg, 15 mg once daily (1.5 tablets)
- 10 kg to < 14 kg, 20 mg once daily (2 tablets)
- 14 kg to < 20 kg, 25 mg once daily (2.5 tablets)
- $\geq$  20 kg, 30 mg once daily (3 tablets).

Alternatively, paediatric patients weighing  $\geq 20$  kg may follow the dosing recommendations using dolutegravir 50 mg tablets (50 mg once daily).

Because the dispersible tablets are more bioavailable than the previously approved film-coated tablets, 30 mg given as  $3 \times 10$  mg dispersible tablets provides similar drug exposure as one 50 mg film-coated tablet given once daily (adult dose).

HIV infection can be diagnosed with relatively simple, point-of-care, rapid testing kits or in clinic or hospital laboratories. WHO recommends treatment for all patients diagnosed with HIV infection regardless of age, clinical stage or laboratory parameters. While receiving dolutegravir as part of an antiretroviral therapy regimen, patients should be monitored for treatment failure according to national guidelines. However, specialized testing is not required for patient diagnosis or management while receiving dolutegravir-based therapy. HIV requires life-long treatment.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No known cost-effectiveness studies have been conducted for dolutegravir dispersible scored tablets.

#### Availability

At the time of the recent paediatric dispersible tablet review, the FDA revised dosing recommendations for the 50 mg tablets to allow use in children down to 20 kg. Dolutegravir 5 mg tablets for oral suspension (Tivicay PD, ViiV Healthcare) are approved for infants and children 4 weeks of age and older and weighing 3 kg or more in the United States and the European Union. Registration of tablets for oral suspension (also called dispersible tablets) produced by ViiV Healthcare is in progress in additional countries. Licence agreements for dolutegravir have been made available by innovator companies through the Medicines Patent Pool. In addition, ViiV Healthcare, Clinton Health Access Initiative, Inc. (CHAI), Mylan (now Viatris, Inc.) and Macleods Pharmaceuticals Ltd have formed a novel partnership to accelerate development of an optimized paediatric formulation of dolutegravir and bring it to market in low- and middle-income countries (*17*).

The optimal formulation to provide appropriate dosing for all age and weight bands was identified by the WHO-sponsored Paediatric Antiretroviral Drug Optimization (PADO) working group as a dolutegravir 10 mg scored dispersible tablet (*18*). This formulation was added subsequently to the WHO prequalification expression of interest list. The FDA granted tentative approval of the first generic version of dolutegravir 10 mg scored dispersible tablets (Mylan, Hyderabad) on 19 November 2020. By virtue of the FDA tentative approval, Mylan's dispersible tablets will be cross-listed on the WHO List

of Prequalified Medicinal Products. Another supplier's product (Macleods Pharmaceuticals, Mumbai) is currently under review by both the FDA and the WHO prequalification team.

# Other considerations

The FDA approved label for Tivicay branded dolutegravir 50 mg tablets and 5 mg dispersible tablets states that the two dosage forms are not bioequivalent. The relative bioavailability of Tivicay PD is about 1.6-fold higher than Tivicay; therefore, the two dosage forms are not interchangeable on a milligram-to-milligram basis.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that age-appropriate, child-friendly formulations of antiretroviral medicines, when available and quality-assured, are essential to meet the needs of paediatric patients with HIV.

The Committee noted evidence that dolutegravir-based regimens show superiority over NNRTI plus protease inhibitor regimens in paediatric patients and that the dolutegravir-based regimens have been recommended in WHO guidelines as the preferred first-line therapy in infants and children aged 4 weeks and older, for which dosing recommendations and age-appropriate formulations are available.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of the new formulation of dolutegravir 10 mg dispersible tablets to the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of children 4 weeks of age and older and weighing at least 3 kg.

The Committee noted however that the 10 mg dispersible tablet formulation and the 50 mg film-coated tablet formulation of dolutegravir have not been shown to be bioequivalent and should not be used interchangeably in patients on a milligram-to-milligram basis.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 2 June 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 10 April 2021).
- Global AIDS update 2020 seizing the moment. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2020. (https://www.unaids.org/ sites/default/files/media\_asset/2020\_global-aids-report\_en.pdf, accessed 2 June 2021).

- Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, Rollins N, Gaillard P, Dabis F. Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV-infected mothers in Africa: a pooled analysis. Lancet. 2004;364(9441):1236–43.
- 5. Progress towards the Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free targets, 2020 report. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/start-free-stay-free-aids-free-2020-progress-report\_en.pdf, accessed 2 June 2021).
- 6. Jordan MR, Penazzato M, Cournil A, Vubil A, Jani I, Hunt G, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) drug resistance in African infants and young children newly diagnosed with HIV: a multicountry analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;65(12):2018–25.
- 7. Viani RM, Alvero C, Fenton T, Acosta EP, Hazra R, Townley E, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics and efficacy of dolutegravir in treatment-experienced HIV-1 infected adolescents: forty-eight-week results from IMPAACT P1093. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2015;34(11):1207–13.
- Prescribing information. TIVICAY and TIVICAY PD [online]. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; Revised June 2020 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2020/213983s000lbl. pdf, accessed 2 June 2021).
- 9. Wiznia A, Alvero C, Fenton T, George K, Townley E, Hazra R, et al. IMPAACT 1093: dolutegravir in 6- to 12-Year-Old HIV-Infected Children: 48-Week Results. Top Antivir Med 2016;24(e-1):343.
- Ruel T, Acosta EP, Singh R, Alvero C, Fenton T, George K, et al. Pharmacokinetic and 4-week safety/ efficacy of dolutegravir (S/GSKI349572) dispersible tablets in HIV-infected children aged 4 weeks to <6 years: results from IMPAACT PI093. Presented at the 22nd International AIDS Conference, Amsterdam, 23–27 July, 2018.
- 11. Moore C, Kekitinwa A, Kaudha E, Lugemwa A, Mujuru H, Cotton M, et al. ODYSSEY: a randomised trial evaluating the efficacy and toxicity of dolutegravir-based antiretroviral therapy compared to standard of care in HIV-infected children starting first-line or second-line therapy: design, current status and baseline characteristics. Abstract 34, 10th International Working on HIV Pediatrics, Amsterdam, 21–22 July 2018. Rev Antiviral Ther Infect Dis. 2018;8:37–8.
- Turkova A, Bollen P, Kaudha E, Chidziva E, Lugemwa A, Kekitiinwa A, et al. Steady-state pharmacokinetics and early safety data in HIV-infected African children weighing ≥25kg after switching to 50 mg film-coated dolutegravir tablets in the ODYSSEY trial. Abstract 3. 10th International Working on HIV Pediatrics, Amsterdam, 21–22 July 2018. Rev Antiviral Ther Infect Dis. 2018;8:5.
- 13. Bollen PDJ, Moore CL, Mujuru HA, Makumbi S, Kekitiinwa AR, Kaudha E, et al. Simplified dolutegravir dosing for children with HIV weighing 20 kg or more: pharmacokinetic and safety substudies of the multicentre, randomised ODYSSEY trial. Lancet HIV. 2020;7(8):e533–e44.
- 14. Waalewijn H, Bollen P, Moore C, Kekitiinwa A, Amuge P, Mujuru H, et al. Pharmacokinetics of dolutegravir 5mg dispersible tablets in children weighing 6 to < 20kg dosed using WHO weight bands. Abstract, 10th IAS Conference on HIV Science, Mexico City, 21–24 July 2019.
- 15. Clinical Review and Summary CDTL. Dolutegravir (TIVICAY and TIVICAY PD) [online]. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2020 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2020/ 213983Orig1s000MedR.pdf, accessed 2 June 2021).
- 16. Updated recommendations on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens and postexposure prophylaxis and recommendations on early infant diagnosis of HIV: interim guidelines, supplement to the 2016 consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/277395, accessed 2 June 2021).

176

17. Innovative public-private partnership initiative to accelerate development of optimal pediatric formulations of dolutegravir to improve the lives of CLHIV [press release]. Brentford: ViiV Healthcare; 2018 (https://viivhealthcare.com/en-gb/media/press-releases/2018/july/innovative-public-private-partnership-initiative-to-accelerate-development-of-optimal-pediatric-formulations-of-dolutegravir-to-improve-the-lives-of-clhiv/, accessed 2 June 2021).

 Paediatric Antiretroviral Drug Optimization (PADO) meeting 4. Meeting report. 10–12 December 2018, Geneva, Switzerland. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/hiv/ pub/meetingreports/paediatric-arv-optimization-pado4/en/, accessed 2 June 2021).

# 6.4.2.5 Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines

*Abacavir* + *lamivudine* + *lopinavir/ritonavir* – *new formulation* – *EMLc* 

Abacavir + Iamivudine + Iopinavir + ritonavir

ATC Code: to be assigned

# Proposal

Inclusion of a single-pill combination formulation of abacavir, lamivudine and lopinavir/ritonavir to the core list of the EMLc for treatment of HIV infection in children.

# Applicant

Irene Mukui, Janice Lee, François Bompart, Isabelle Andrieux-Meyer, Mariana Diallo; Drugs for Neglected Diseases initiative (DNDi), Geneva, Switzerland

# WHO technical department

Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes

### EML/EMLc

EMLc

### Section

6.4.2.5 Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Oral granules in capsule: 30 mg + 15 mg + 40 mg + 10 mg

### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

This formulation had not previously been considered for inclusion on the EMLc. The component medicines are all included on the EMLc in paediatric-friendly formulations.

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

HIV infection among children is still a significant problem in developing countries, despite the global progress made in HIV prevention and AIDS

treatment. Of the estimated 1.8 million children younger than 15 years living with HIV, 88% live in sub-Saharan Africa and only 53% of the total were receiving antiretroviral therapy by the end of 2019 (1). Many factors contribute to the low treatment coverage for children living with HIV, including challenges unique to children's medicines, diagnosis, case-finding and linkage, and their retention in care (2). Diagnosis of HIV in infants (both early diagnosis and final diagnosis after 18 months) remains poor in many countries, which impedes scaling up treatment for children, especially those younger than 18 months. Even among children who do get onto treatment, retention among children is hindered for many reasons, such as the lack of and sustainable supply of appropriate formulations (3), maintaining a market share for available paediatric formulations and ensuring access in each country (4).

Globally in 2019, an estimated 95 000 children younger than 15 years died of AIDS-related causes (1). Without HIV treatment, 50% of infants infected with HIV during or around the time of birth will die by the age of 2 years (4). Many studies have shown that early initiation of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected children is associated with clinical and survival benefits (5–11).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The phase I/II LOLIPOP study is assessing the pharmacokinetics, safety and acceptability of the fixed-dose combination formulation of abacavir + lamivudine + lopinavir/ritonavir in children living with HIV (*12*). The 4-in-1 combination (test formulation) was compared with abacavir 60 mg + lamivudine 30 mg (dispersible tablets) + lopinavir/ritonavir 40 mg/10 mg (pellets) (reference formulation) in children infected with HIV and weighing 3–25 kg (inclusive) in Uganda.

Study drugs were dosed by WHO weight bands: 3–5.9 kg (weight band 1), 6–9.9 kg (weight band 2), 10–13.9 kg (weight band 3) or 14–19.9 kg (weight band 4). Children in weight bands 2 to 4 were randomly assigned (1:1) by weight band to the reference formulation followed by the test formulation for 21 days each (RT) or to the test formulation followed by reference formulation for 21 days each (TR). Children in weight band 1 only received the test formulation for 21 days. Intensive pharmacokinetic sampling was done after 21 days of treatment with each formulation.

Safety was assessed during the whole study period and efficacy at the end of the study. Children's caregivers completed an acceptability questionnaire on the 4-in-1 treatment after 21 days. The application reported interim data on the first 33 enrolled children. Of these, four children were in weight band 1. Of the 29 children in weight bands 2–4, 15 were assigned to RT and 14 were assigned to TR. All children were already on lopinavir/ritonavir therapy and 76% had been on antiretroviral therapy for 6 months or more at the time of enrolment. Most children (88%) had a viral load < 400 copies/mL at baseline.

Datasets were available for 31 children.

Interim efficacy results showed that the proportion of children with viral load < 400 copies/mL increased from 88% (29/33) at baseline to 97% (30/31) at the end of the study. The proportion with viral load < 50 copies/mL increased from 48% (16/33) to 65% (20/31), when missing data were excluded. The median change in CD4 cell count was +130 (interquartile range (IQR) –398 to +527) and, on average, there was no change in CD4% (IQR –3% to +2%) between baseline and end of the study.

Interim pharmacokinetic results showed that with the 4-in-1 formulation, the geometric means for area under the curve 0-12 (AUC<sub>0-12</sub>) for abacavir, lamivudine, and lopinavir/ritonavir were 5479 ng.h/mL, 6059 ng.h/mL and 88 398 ng.h/mL, respectively. Geometric means for maximum concentration (C<sub>max</sub>) were 1754 ng/mL, 1125 ng/mL and 10 103 ng/mL, respectively. Two children in weight band 1 (with severe wasting secondary to failure to thrive) had lopinavir 12-hour postdose concentration (C<sub>12</sub>) less than 1000 ng/mL; one remained virally suppressed and one became virally suppressed at the end of the study.

Pharmacokinetic results for abacavir showed overlapping exposure curves between the test and reference formulations. The geometric mean ratio was 94% for AUC and 76% for  $C_{max}$ . The bioequivalence criteria were met for abacavir AUC.

Pharmacokinetic results for lamivudine showed the geometric mean ratio was 82% for AUC and 69% for  $C_{max}$ . Neither AUC nor  $C_{max}$  met bioequivalence criteria, but were comparable to historical exposures in adults and children.

Pharmacokinetic results for lopinavir showed that the geometric mean ratio for AUC was 12% lower with the test than the reference formulation, with the lower limit of the 90% confidence interval outside the bioequivalence range. For  $C_{max}$ , the geometric mean ratio was 17% lower with the test formulation. Lopinavir absorption was slower with the test formulation than the reference formulation. Overall, lopinavir exposure was comparable to historical data in adults. Exposure to lopinavir by formulation and weight band showed close to the expected ranges observed in adults for weight bands 2–4. No conclusions could be drawn at this time for weight band 1 because of the small and heterogeneous population in this group.

Pharmacokinetic results for ritonavir showed the geometric mean ratio was 87% for AUC and 82% for  $C_{\text{max}}.$ 

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The safety of abacavir, lamivudine, and lopinavir/ritonavir as individual medicines has been previously evaluated.

From the interim results of the LOLIPOP study, 101 treatment-emergent adverse events were reported, most of which (96%) were mild, and none led to

treatment discontinuation. Treatment-emergent adverse events occurred more frequently with the test formulation than the reference formulation (74% versus 56%, respectively) and the same was true for treatment-related adverse events (42% versus 30%).

In terms of acceptability, among 31 caregivers interviewed, 97% reported that administering the 4-in-1 formulation was easy or very easy, and 71% reported that the child had no difficulty swallowing it.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO guidelines**

In 2013, WHO guidelines recommended the use of lopinavir/ritonavir-based regimens in combination with two nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) as first-line antiretroviral therapy for all children younger than 3 years infected with HIV, regardless of exposure to non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (*13*).

The 2018 WHO guidelines on treating and preventing HIV infection recommended a dolutegravir-based regimen in combination with abacavir and lamivudine as the preferred first-line regimen for children for whom approved dolutegravir dosing is available (14). In the absence of appropriate dolutegravir formulations and dosing for infants and young children, abacavir and lamivudine in combination with lopinavir/ritonavir is considered an acceptable alternative given the superiority of lopinavir/ritonavir over regimens based on non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors (15). As of 2020, implementation of dolutegravir-based regimens in children has only been feasible for children weighing  $\geq$  20 kg in whom dolutegravir 50 mg tablets can be used, while children weighing < 20 kg continue to use lopinavir/ritonavir-based regimens (15). Abacavir + lamivudine in combination with lopinavir/ritonavir is still an important alternative regimen for use as first-line treatment for infants and young children (14).

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application stated that the proposed fixed-dose combination formulation was not yet marketed, nor was the final price available. The manufacturer, Cipla, has announced an ex-factory price of US\$ 15 per pack of 120 capsules. This corresponds to a price per patient per year of US\$ 360 for children in weight band 3 (10–13.9 kg). In comparison, the price per patient per year for the component medicines as separate formulations in this weight band is US\$ 520.

# Availability

This formulation does not yet have regulatory approval anywhere in the world. It is currently under review by regulatory authorities in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Rwanda, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, United States of America (USA), Zambia and Zimbabwe.

#### Other considerations

Among people with the HLA-B\*5701 allele, the use of abacavir can cause fatal hypersensitivity and screening for this allele before starting therapy with abacavir is recommended in Australia, Europe and USA (16). However, data on the prevalence of the HLA-B\*5701 allele and usefulness of testing for it among black African children, who comprise most children living with HIV globally, show a low prevalence of the allele (17, 18). Furthermore, the prevalence of adverse events related to abacavir is low, and adverse events occur early in treatment and can be managed. WHO therefore recommends the use of abacavir-based regimens in first- and second-line antiretroviral regimens without the need for testing (19).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that age-appropriate, fixed-dose combination formulations of antiretrovirals, when available and quality-assured, are preferred over multiple single-agent formulations to improve treatment adherence and reduce the tablet burden for patients.

The Committee noted that dolutegravir, in combination with abacavir and lamivudine, is recommended as the preferred first-line treatment regimen for children with HIV infection in current WHO guidelines, but that abacavir and lamivudine, in combination with lopinavir/ritonavir is an acceptable alternative when dolutegravir-based treatment is not available or appropriate.

However, the Committee noted that pharmacokinetic results from the LOLIPOP study indicate that the proposed fixed-dose combination did not meet the criteria for bioequivalence when compared with the reference products, which are currently included on the EMLc. In addition, the Committee noted that the proposed formulation has not yet received regulatory approval from the US Food and Drug Administration.

Therefore, the Committee did not recommend inclusion of the fixeddose combination formulation of abacavir + lamivudine + lopinavir/ritonavir on the EMLc.

### References

- 1. Paediatric care and treatment [internet]. New York: UNICEF; 2021 (https://data.unicef.org/topic/ hivaids/paediatric-treatment-and-care/, accessed 25 November 2020).
- Global plan towards the elimination of new HIV infections among children by 2015 and keeping their mothers alive [internet]. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS); 2011 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2011/20110609\_JC2137\_Global-Plan-Elimination-HIV-Children\_en.pdf, accessed 25 November 2020).

- 3. Schlatter AF, Deathe AR, Vreeman RC. The need for pediatric formulations to treat children with HIV. AIDS Res Treat. 2016;2016:1654938.
- Progress towards the Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free targets: 2020 report [internet]. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS); 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ documents/2020/start-free-stay-free-aids-free-2020-progress-report.
- 5. Violari A, Cotton MF, Gibb DM, Babiker AG, Steyn J, Madhi SA, et al. Early antiretroviral therapy and mortality among HIV-infected infants. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(21):2233–44.
- Kuhn L, Paximadis M, Da Costa Dias B, Loubser S, Strehlau R, Patel F, et al. Age at antiretroviral therapy initiation and cell-associated HIV-1 DNA levels in HIV-1-infected children. PLoS One. 2018;13(4):e0195514.
- Shiau S, Strehlau R, Technau KG, Patel F, Arpadi SM, Coovadia A, et al. Early age at start of antiretroviral therapy associated with better virologic control after initial suppression in HIVinfected infants. AIDS. 2017;31(3):355–64.
- 8. Tagarro A, Chan M, Zangari P, Ferns B, Foster C, De Rossi A, et al. Early and highly suppressive antiretroviral therapy are main factors associated with low viral reservoir in european perinatally HIV-infected children. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;79(2):269–76.
- Veldsman KA, Janse van Rensburg A, Isaacs S, Naidoo S, Laughton B, Lombard C, et al. HIV-1 DNA decay is faster in children who initiate ART shortly after birth than later. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22(8):e25368.
- 10. Garcia-Broncano P, Maddali S, Einkauf KB, Jiang C, Gao C, Chevalier J, et al. Early antiretroviral therapy in neonates with HIV-1 infection restricts viral reservoir size and induces a distinct innate immune profile. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11(520):eaax7350.
- Schomaker M, Leroy V, Wolfs T, Technau KG, Renner L, Judd A, et al. Optimal timing of antiretroviral treatment initiation in HIV-positive children and adolescents: a multiregional analysis from Southern Africa, West Africa and Europe. Int J Epidemiol. 2017;46(2):453–65.
- 12. Lopinavir/r/Lamivudine/Abacavir as an easy to use paediatric formulation (LOLIPOP) [internet]. Washington, DC: ClinicalTrials.gov; 2019 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03836833, accessed 27 November 2020).
- 13. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/85321, accessed 27 November 2020).
- 14. Updated recommendations on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens and postexposure prophylaxis and recommendations on early infant diagnosis of HIV: interim guidelines, supplement to the 2016 consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/277395, accessed 27 November 2020).
- Considerations for introducing new antiretroviral drug formulations for children: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332906, accessed 27 November 2020).
- Nahirya-Ntege P, Musiime V, Naidoo B, Bakeera-Kitaka S, Nathoo K, Munderi P, et al. Low incidence of abacavir hypersensitivity reaction among African children initiating antiretroviral therapy. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2011;30(6):535–7.
- Jesson J, Dahourou DL, Renaud F, Penazzato M, Leroy V. Adverse events associated with abacavir use in HIV-infected children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet HIV. 2016;3(2):e64–75.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 18. Bobat R, Kindra G, Kiepiela P, Reddy S, Jeena PM, Adhikari M, et al. Use of abacavir in 30 HIVinfected children from Durban, South Africa: report from a pilot study. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2010;29(9):890.
- 19. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: Recommendations for a public health approach Second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/208825, accessed 27 November 2020).

184

.....

# 6.4.3 Other antivirals

Oseltamivir – deletion – EML and EMLc

# Oseltamivir

# ATC Code: J05AH02

### Proposal

Deletion of oseltamivir oral powder 12 mg/mL formulation from the complementary list of the EML and EMLc.

### Applicant

F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd, Basel, Switzerland

# WHO technical department

Department of Global Infectious Hazard Preparedness

### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

### Section

6.4.3 Other antivirals

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Oral powder: 12 mg/mL

### Core/complementary

Complementary

### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Oseltamivir (capsules 30 mg, 45 mg and 75 mg; oral powder 12 mg/mL) was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc in 2011 for treatment of influenza following the 2009 H1N1 influenza outbreak which was classified at the time as a public health emergency (1). In 2017, the Expert Committee reviewed additional evidence for oseltamivir in seasonal and pandemic influenza which indicated that the beneficial effect of oseltamivir on relevant outcomes of hospital admissions and mortality was lower than previously estimated. The Expert Committee therefore recommended oseltamivir be transferred from the core to the complementary list, and its use be limited to patients with severe illness due

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

to confirmed or suspected influenza virus infection in critically ill hospitalized patients (2).

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Influenza serotypes A and B infect humans and are responsible for an acute febrile infection of the respiratory tract characterized by the sudden onset of cough, fever, headache, malaise and myalgia. Illnesses range from mild to severe and even death. Hospitalization and death occur mainly among high-risk groups. Influenza is a seasonal illness, with epidemic infections occurring annually during cooler months. Annual influenza epidemics are thought to result in between 3 and 5 million cases of severe illness and between 290 000 and 650 000 respiratory deaths worldwide (*3*).

In industrialized countries, most deaths associated with influenza occur among people aged 65 years or older (4). It is estimated that 99% of deaths in children under 5 years with influenza-related lower respiratory tract infections occur in developing countries (5).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Evidence of the clinical efficacy of oseltamivir was previously reviewed by the Expert Committee in 2011 (1), 2013 (6) and 2017 (2).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Evidence for the safety of oseltamivir was previously reviewed by the Expert Committee in 2011 (1), 2013 (6) and 2017 (2).

### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO guidelines**

Not applicable

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

# Availability

Roche ceased to manufacture and supply its brand of this formulation (Tamiflu<sup>®</sup>) in August 2016, with the last commercial supply in February 2017. Global deregistration for Tamiflu 12 mg/mL oral powder is ongoing.

The approved labelling for Tamiflu<sup>®</sup> capsules includes instructions for pharmacists on compounding a 6 mg/mL oral suspension of oseltamivir using the contents of the 30 mg, 45 mg or 75 mg capsule formulations (7). The

186

application stated that generic brands of oseltamivir capsule formulations are widely available in many countries from which oral suspension formulation may be compounded.

#### Other considerations

Oseltamivir capsules 30 mg, 45 mg and 75 mg are still included on the Model Lists.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the deletion of oseltamivir powder for oral liquid 12 mg/mL from the complementary list of the EML and EMLc noting that this formulation has been discontinued by the manufacturer and is no longer marketed.

The Committee noted that the capsule formulations of oseltamivir can be manipulated for the preparation of an oral suspension, providing an alternative for patients, particularly young children, who are unable to take a solid dosage form. However, the Committee also recognized the importance of having age-appropriate formulations for children that do not need to be compounded or manipulated. The Committee noted the market availability of a 6 mg/mL oseltamivir powder for oral liquid formulation, and requested that the manufacturer be asked to clarify the status of this particular product.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2011 (including the 17th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 3rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 965; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44771, accessed 5 January 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 5 January 2021).
- Iuliano AD, Roguski KM, Chang HH, Muscatello DJ, Palekar R, Tempia S, et al. Estimates of global seasonal influenza-associated respiratory mortality: a modelling study. Lancet. 2018;391(10127):1285–300.
- Thompson WW, Weintraub E, Dhankhar P, Cheng PY, Brammer L, Meltzer MI, et al. Estimates of US influenza-associated deaths made using four different methods. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2009;3(1):37–49.
- Nair H, Brooks WA, Katz M, Roca A, Berkley JA, Madhi SA, et al. Global burden of respiratory infections due to seasonal influenza in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2011;378(9807):1917–30.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 5 January 2021).
- Tamiflu 30 mg, 45 mg and 75 mg hard capsules [internet]. emc (electronic medicines compendium); 2020 (https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/medicine/20294#, accessed 5 January 2021).

188

# 6.4.4 Antihepatitis medicines

# 6.4.4.2 Medicine for Hepatitis C

Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir - addition - EMLc

### Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir

### ATC Code: J05AP57

### Proposal

Addition of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir fixed-dose combination on the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection (all genotypes) in paediatric patients.

# Applicant

Fondazione Penta ONLUS, Padua, Italy

# WHO technical department

Global Hepatitis Programme

### EML/EMLc

EMLc

### Section

6.4.4.2.1 Pan-genotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 100 mg + 40 mg Granules: 50 mg + 20 mg in sachet

### Core/complementary

Core

### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

The fixed-dose combination of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir was added to the core list of the EML in 2019 for the treatment of adult patients with chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, based on evidence of pan-genotypic effectiveness and an acceptable safety profile. The Expert Committee noted that this combination is one of three pan-genotypic combinations recommended in the current WHO guidelines for treatment of hepatitis C and is suitable for use in patients with or without compensated cirrhosis (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Chronic HCV infection remains a main cause of liver disease globally, with an estimated 71 million people living with chronic HCV overall as of 2015 and an estimated 1.75 million new cases a year (2). Previously, interferon-based therapy was long and difficult to tolerate, had a low success rate, and required extensive clinical and laboratory monitoring during treatment. The introduction of multiple all-oral, direct-acting antiviral treatments has led to rates of sustained virological response greater than 90% with treatment courses of 12 weeks and greatly improved safety. With these improved characteristics acknowledged, in 2016, the World Health Assembly adopted targets for the elimination of chronic HCV as a public health threat by 2030 (3). Treatment of chronic HCV in adults in low- and middle-income countries has been scaled up as availability of direct-acting antiviral treatments has increased.

Little emphasis has been placed on chronic HCV in children, and the prevalence, epidemiology and natural history of infection are less well understood in children than in adults. A recently published modelling exercise estimated that 3.26 million children are living with chronic HCV infection, and 20 countries account for 80% of all cases in patients aged 0–18 years. Countries with the highest number of children with chronic HCV include China, Egypt, India, Nigeria and Pakistan (4). The main mode of acquisition of HCV infection in children is mother-to-child transmission, although older children and adolescents may become infected through unsafe injection practices or poor infection control practices. About 5% of infants born to mothers with HCV infection will acquire the infection, up to 10% if the mother is co-infected with HIV. The risk of transmission increases with increasing levels of maternal HCV RNA (5).

Most children with liver disease are asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic and cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma are rare in this age group, which allows treatment to be deferred in younger children according to previous treatment guidelines. As noted in a recent publication, including children and adolescents in national HCV surveillance, testing and treatment programmes can eventually help achieve the goal of HCV elimination (6).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The DORA study is a paediatric trial of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir in patients aged 3 to < 18 years being conducted by Abbvie. To date, the registration study has enrolled children with chronic HCV infection at sites in Belgium, Canada, Germany, Japan, Puerto Rico, Russian Federation, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and United States of America across four age groups: 12–17 years (n = 47), 9–11 years (n = 29), 6–8 years (n = 27) and 3–5 years (n = 24) (7,8).

Results from DORA part 1 were submitted for regulatory review and led to the approval of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir for use in children 12 years of age and older or weighing at least 45 kg. Across this age group, about 79% were infected with genotype 1 HCV, 6% with genotype 2, 8% with genotype 3 and 6% with genotype 4. Adolescents received 300 mg/120 mg (glecaprevir/pibrentasvir) once daily for 8 weeks or for 16 weeks (HCV genotype 3, treatment experienced), after which they were monitored for 12 weeks to assess treatment response. Overall, 100% of the study participants achieved sustained virological response (95% CI 92.4 to 100.0). The study showed that the plasma concentrations of glecaprevir and pibrentasvir in the participants were comparable to those observed in adults receiving the recommended dose (7).

DORA part 2 was a phase II/III, non-randomized, open-label, multinational study that evaluated the efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetics of a glecaprevir + pibrentasvir paediatric granules formulation in children aged  $\geq 3$  to < 12 years with HCV infection (genotype 1–6) (8). Participants were divided into three age groups. In each group, participants were first enrolled in parallel into an intense pharmacokinetics portion to characterize the pharmacokinetics and safety in each age group, followed by a non-intense pharmacokinetics safety and efficacy portion. Treatment durations were based on adult treatment recommendations in accordance with local prescribing labels. Data for the three age groups in DORA part 2 are summarized in Table 3.

Characteristic	P	Total		
	9–11	6–8	3–5	
Sample size (n)	29	27 24		80
SVR12, no. (%)	27 (93)	27 (100)	23 (96)	77 (96)
Relapse, no.	1 <sup>a</sup>	0	0	1
Treatment discontinuation, no.	1 <sup>b</sup>	0	1 <sup>c</sup>	2
Dose glecaprevir/ pibrentasvir (mg)	250/100	200/80	150/60	NA

#### Table 3 Characteristics of the participant groups in the DORA part 2 trial

SVR12: sustained virological response 12 weeks after the end of the treatment; NA: not applicable.

<sup>a</sup> One participant relapsed after treatment in week 4.

<sup>b</sup> One participant prematurely discontinued the trial due to a drug-related rash.

<sup>c</sup> One participant refused to swallow the granule formulation and prematurely discontinued the trial after having received a partial dose on Day 1. This participant did not receive subsequent doses. Jonas MM, at al., 2020 (8).

In summary, high rates of sustained virological response 12 weeks post-treatment were seen in children aged  $\geq$  3 to < 12 years with chronic HCV infection. No virological failures were seen on the dose ratio of 50 mg/20 mg.

### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

To date, the number of children treated with glecaprevir + pibrentasvir is very small.

Direct-acting antiviral treatments in general, and glecaprevir + pibrentasvir in particular, are well tolerated and serious adverse events are uncommon. Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir was generally well tolerated in the paediatric registration trial (7, 8).

In the phase II and phase III adult registration trials of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir, the most commonly observed adverse reactions (all severity grades) in participants receiving 8 weeks of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir treatment were headache and fatigue. Less than 0.1% of participants treated with glecaprevir + pibrentasvir experienced serious adverse reactions, e.g. transient ischaemic attack (9).

The most common adverse events among the 47 adolescents in the older DORA group included nasopharyngitis (26%), upper respiratory tract infection (19%), headache (17%), fatigue (11%), oropharyngeal pain (11%) and pyrexia (11%). There was no grade 3 or higher aminotransferase or bilirubin elevations, no liver-related toxicities and no cases of drug-induced liver injury (7). In the younger DORA groups, adverse events were mild and no serious adverse events occurred. One adverse event led to treatment discontinuation. The most common adverse events observed in the 80 participants included headache (14%), vomiting (14%) and diarrhoea (10%) (8).

No comparative safety data with other direct-acting antiviral regimens in paediatric patients are available. A systematic review of 39 studies that evaluated the efficacy and safety of direct-acting antiviral treatments in 1796 children and adolescents reported all regimens studied, including glecaprevir + velpatasvir, were well tolerated (*10*).

No specific safety issues associated with glecaprevir + pibrentasvir are known that would be expected to pose a different risk in an international health setting. No special laboratory monitoring is required, so no potential harm is likely to patients if this function is not available in a clinic setting in low and middle income countries.

### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Pharmacokinetic characteristics of the 50 mg + 20 mg paediatric formulation of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir were evaluated in the three age groups in part 2 of the DORA study (11). After pharmacokinetic samples were analysed, doses

were adjusted from an initial dose ratio of 40 mg + 15 mg to 50 mg + 20 mg to achieve therapeutic exposures similar to adults. The final paediatric weight-based dosages are shown in Table 4.

#### Table 4

# Final paediatric dosages of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir based on weight

Age group/weight band	Dose (glecaprevir + pibrentasvir)		
9 to < 12 years/30 kg to < 45 kg	250 mg + 100 mg		
6 to < 9 years/20 kg to < 30 kg	200 mg + 80 mg		
3 to < 6 years/12 kg to < 20 kg	150 mg + 60 mg		

The pharmacokinetic exposures of glecaprevir and pibrentasvir in paediatric patients were comparable to exposures in adults and adolescents, and the final doses used achieved target exposure levels.

### **WHO guidelines**

Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir is one of the three recommended pan-genotypic regimens for adults in the 2018 WHO Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection (2).

Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir is expected to be added as a treatment for adolescents and children with chronic HCV infection in the planned update to the guideline chapter on treatment in adolescents and children. The regimen is expected be recommended as therapy for paediatric patients for whom dosing recommendations and an appropriate formulation are available. This update will be published in mid-2021 as a rapid communication policy brief, and the updated chapter on treatment of adolescents and children will be included in the overall WHO consolidated guidelines on testing, care and treatment of viral hepatitis to be published at the end of 2021.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A recent study surveyed the current prices of originator direct-acting antiviral medicines in 50 countries (12). The cost of a standard adult course of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir compared well with that of other direct-acting antiviral combinations: median originator prices per standard course were US\$ 41 000 for sofosbuvir, US\$ 27 000 for daclatasvir, US\$ 34 000 for sofosbuvir + velpatasvir and US\$ 31 000 for glecaprevir + pibrentasvir. The variability of pricing across countries was high. Generic prices estimated based on costs of active pharmaceutical ingredients (API), excipients, manufacturing of finished pharmaceutical product, taxes and a 10% profit margin were approximately

1000 times lower than the originator prices cited above: US\$ 58 for sofosbuvir + velpatasvir and US\$ 31 for sofosbuvir + daclatasvir. The API cost data for glecaprevir + pibrentasvir were insufficient to calculate an estimated cost of a generic formulation, but the data above indicate that the price of a generically produced product could be comparable to that of generically produced alternative fixed dose combinations.

#### Availability

Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir tablets and granules are manufactured by AbbVie.

AbbVie and the Medicines Patent Pool have entered into a royalty-free licensing agreement to accelerate access to glecaprevir + pibrentasvir in 99 low- and middle-income countries and territories at affordable prices, enabling treatment scale-up with glecaprevir + pibrentasvir. Through this agreement, AbbVie will grant WHO prequalified generic manufacturers to license, manufacture and supply generic versions of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir, while maintaining the highest quality and production standards.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of the fixed-dose combination of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir to the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of children aged 3 to 12 years with chronic HCV infection, based on evidence of pan-genotypic effectiveness and an acceptable safety profile.

The Committee noted that the results from the DORA trial demonstrated high rates of virological response in children and adolescents, comparable with those observed in adults. The Committee therefore also recommended that listing of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir on the EML be extended to include adolescents.

The Committee also noted the planned inclusion of glecaprevir + pibrentasvir as one of the recommended regimens for children in the updated WHO *Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection*, and the licensing agreements in place between the manufacturer and the Medicines Patent Pool, which aims to facilitate affordable access to glecaprevir + pibrentasvir in low- and middle-income countries.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 10 April 2021).

- Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/ 273174, accessed 10 April 2021).
- Global health sector strategy on viral hepatiis 2016–2021: towards ending viral hepatitis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/246177, accessed 10 April 2021).
- 4. Schmelzer J, Dugan E, Blach S, Coleman S, Cai Z, DePaola M, et al. Global prevalence of hepatitis C virus in children in 2018: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(4):374–92.
- 5. Indolfi G, Easterbrook P, Dusheiko G, El-Sayed MH, Jonas MM, Thorne C, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection in children and adolescents. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4(6):477–87.
- 6. El-Sayed MH, Indolfi G. Hepatitis C virus treatment in children: a challenge for hepatitis C virus elimination. Semin Liver Dis. 2020;40(3):213–24.
- 7. Jonas MM, Squires RH, Rhee SM, Lin CW, Bessho K, Feiterna-Sperling C, et al. Pharmacokinetics, safety, and efficacy of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in adolescents with chronic hepatitis C virus: part 1 of the DORA study. Hepatology. 2020;71(2):456–62.
- Jonas MM, Rhee S, Kelly DA, Del Valle-Segarra A, Feiterna-Sperling C, Gilmour S, et al. Safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetic analysis of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in pediatric patients with genotypes 1–6 chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection: part 2 of the DORA study. Late breaking abstract presented at The Liver Meeting – 71st Annual Meeting of the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD), 13–16 November 2020.
- Annex 1. Summary of product characteristics. In: Maviret EPAR product information. Amsterdam: European Medicine Agency; 2017 – Last updated 22 June 2020 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ documents/product-information/maviret-epar-product-information\_en.pdf, accessed 10 April 2021).
- 10. Indolfi G, Giometto S, Serranti D, Bettiol A, Bigagli E, De Masi S, et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the efficacy and safety of direct-acting antivirals in children and adolescents with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2020;52(7):1125–33.
- 11. Posters(Abstracts 289–2348). Abstract 1551. Jonas MM, Lon HK, Rhee S, Gilmour SM, Gonzalez-Peralta RP, Leung DH, et al. Pharmacokinetics of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in children with chronic HCV infection: interim analysis of part 2 of the DORA study. Hepatology. 2019;70(S1):943A.
- 12. Barber MJ, Gotham D, Khwairakpam G, Hill A. Price of a hepatitis C cure: cost of production and current prices for direct-acting antivirals in 50 countries. J Virus Erad. 2020;6(3):100001.

Daclatasvir and sofosbuvir – addition – EMLc

Daclatasvir Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir Sofosbuvir ATC Code: J05AP07 ATC Code: to be assigned ATC Code: J05AP08

### Proposal

Addition of sofosbuvir and daclatasvir, as both the single medicines and as a fixed-dose combination, to the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection (all genotypes) in paediatric patients.

#### Applicant

Clinton Health Access Initiative, Inc., United States of America

#### WHO technical department

Global Hepatitis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EMLc

### Section

6.4.4.2.1 Pan-genotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Daclatasvir: tablet 30 mg; 60 mg Daclatasvir + sofosbuvir: tablet 60 mg + 400 mg Sofosbuvir: tablet 200 mg; 400 mg

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Sofosbuvir 400 mg tablets and daclatasvir 30 mg and 60 mg tablets were added to the core list of the EML in 2015 for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection in adults based on evidence of significantly improved sustained virological response rates and better side-effect profiles compared with interferon-based regimens (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Chronic HCV infection remains a main cause of liver disease globally, with an estimated 71 million people living with chronic HCV overall as of 2015 and an estimated 1.75 million new cases a year (2). Previously, interferon-based therapy was long and difficult to tolerate, had a low success rate, and required extensive clinical and laboratory monitoring during treatment. The introduction of multiple all-oral, direct-acting antiviral regimens has led to sustained virological response rates greater than 90% with treatment courses of 12 weeks and greatly improved safety. With these improved characteristics acknowledged, in 2016, the World Health Assembly adopted targets for the elimination of chronic HCV as a public health threat by 2030 (*3*). Treatment of chronic HCV in adults in low-and middle-income countries has been scaled up as availability of direct-acting antiviral treatments has increased. Sofosbuvir combined with daclatasvir has become the preferred pan-genotypic direct-acting antiviral regimen in low- and middle-income countries because low-cost generic products are available.

Little emphasis has been placed on chronic HCV in children and the prevalence, epidemiology and natural history of infection are less well understood in children than in adults. A recently-published modelling exercise, estimated that 3.26 million children are living with chronic HCV infection, and 20 countries account for 80% of all cases in patients aged 0–18 years. Countries with the highest number of children with chronic HCV include China, Egypt, India, Nigeria and Pakistan (4). The main mode of acquisition of HCV infection in children is mother-to-child transmission, although older children and adolescents may become infected through unsafe injection practices or poor infection control practices. About 5% of infants born to mothers with HCV infection will acquire the infection, up to 10% if the mother is co-infected with HIV. The risk of transmission increases with increasing levels of maternal HCV RNA (5). In one Egyptian study of children aged 8 to 18 years, 77.5% had a family member infected with HCV and 62.5% had an HCV-infected mother (6).

Most children with liver disease are asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic and cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma are rare in this age group, which allows treatment to be deferred in younger children according to previous treatment guidelines. As noted in a recent publication, including children and adolescents in national HCV surveillance, testing, and treatment programmes can eventually help achieve the goal of HCV elimination (7).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 39 studies (1796 patients) evaluated the efficacy and safety of direct-acting antiviral medicines in children and adolescents with chronic HCV infection (8). Regimens containing sofosbuvir were given to 1674 patients, including 206 who received sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir, with a

small number of these also receiving ribavirin. Sustained virological response ranged from 96.7% to 100% in the 11 studies reporting results for sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir included in the systematic review.

Several small observational studies in patients younger than 18 years evaluating sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir have also been done. A prospective, observational study of Indian children aged 10 to 18 years with thalassaemia major evaluated the safety and efficacy of treatment with sofosbuvir 400 mg plus daclatasvir 60 mg for 12 weeks (9). All the children in the study (n = 10) were treatment naive, did not have cirrhosis and had genotype 3 HCV. They all responded well to therapy with reported improvement in liver aminotransferases and the sustained virological response was 100%.

A study of adolescents aged 12 to 18 years infected with HCV in India assessed a decentralized public health approach to management that included optional genotype testing for patients without cirrhosis and the safety of treatment with direct-acting antivirals (10). A total of 45 patients were treated with sofosbuvir and daclatasvir, 43 without cirrhosis and two with cirrhosis. Both the patients with cirrhosis (who also received weight-based ribavirin and a longer course of treatment) and 42 (97.7%) patients without cirrhosis showed a sustained virological response.

A study in Egypt reported on the treatment of 40 treatment-naïve children aged 8 to 18 years with HCV infection, genotype 4 or mixed genotypes 4 and 1 (6). Children weighing > 45 kg received sofosbuvir 400 mg plus daclatasvir 60 mg and those weighing 17–45 kg received sofosbuvir 200 mg plus daclatasvir 30 mg. Liver aminotransferases normalized in all children by the end of 12 weeks of treatment and 97.5% showed a sustained virological response. The child who failed to achieve a sustained virological response was lost to follow-up but had undetectable HCV RNA at the end of treatment. Another Egyptian study of 17 adolescents with HCV genotype 4 who received sofosbuvir (*11*). Weight and serum albumin levels were the main factors influencing pharmacokinetic parameters in this study. These patients had pharmacokinetic profiles comparable to those observed in adults receiving the same dose and had good clinical outcomes.

A modelling and simulation study to identify optimal dosing of sofosbuvir and daclatasvir for children weighing between 14 kg and 35 kg was performed as part of the Global Accelerator for Paediatric Formulations collaboration (*12*). Data from an adolescent pharmacokinetic study were used to estimate pharmacokinetic parameters by weight bands in children between 10 kg and 35 kg receiving either 60 mg or 30 mg of daclatasvir. The simulations showed that the proportion of children with very high daclatasvir exposure increased for children weighing less than 30 kg receiving 60 mg of daclatasvir and for children 10–14 kg receiving 30 mg. It was concluded that daclatasvir 30 mg

daily would be expected to provide exposures comparable to adult values in children weighing 14–35 kg.

In the clinical studies to date, sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir regimens have not been routinely compared with other regimens regardless of the population being studied. In its guidance for industry on developing direct-acting antiviral medicines, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) notes that a development plan containing at least one comparative trial is preferred but non-comparative studies using historical controls may be acceptable. In the ENDURANCE-3 trial conducted as part of the registration package for glecaprevir plus pibrentasvir, sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir compared favourably with glecaprevir plus pibrentasvir in participants with genotype 3 HCV infection, with 97% of participants achieving sustained virological response compared to 95% in the glecaprevir plus pibrentasvir arm with no significant differences in safety profiles (13).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

To date, the number of children treated with sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir is small but increasing. As noted in the previous section, the systematic review of direct-acting antiviral medicines identified published studies that included 1674 children receiving regimens of sofosbuvir and 206 who received sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir (8). Children without cirrhosis receiving their first treatment with sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir were given a 12-week course. Treatment may be extended in those with cirrhosis and/or ribavirin may be added.

Direct-acting antiviral medicines in general, and sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir in particular, are well-tolerated and serious adverse events are uncommon. Discontinuation of treatment before completion of the 12-week course was not described in the paediatric groups reviewed. Furthermore, patients rarely discontinued follow-up before assessing sustained virological response at 12 weeks after completion of treatment.

The most commonly reported adverse events, occurring in more than 5% of paediatric patients receiving any direct-acting antiviral medicine, included headache (19.9%), fatigue (13.9%), nausea (8.1%) and abdominal pain (7.0%) (8).

In the Indian study of 45 children treated with sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir, no serious adverse events, such as anaemia or liver decompensation, and no episodes of headache, diarrhoea or fatigue were reported. Two patients developed transient elevation of liver enzymes which resolved without discontinuing treatment (10). Similarly, one of the Egyptian studies noted adverse events were mild and none required treatment discontinuation (6). In a prospective study of 30 adolescents with HCV infection receiving sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir, the following mild to moderate adverse events were reported in two to four patients each: nausea, abdominal pain, fatigue, headache and pruritus or skin rash. The authors noted no changes in haemoglobin or any other haematological

abnormalities throughout the study (14). A study on the effects of sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir treatment on weight and linear growth in adolescents reported no negative impact on linear growth or weight, unlike that reported with interferonbased therapy. Parental reports of increased appetite with treatment and non-statistically significant weight gain were also noted (15).

Few comparative safety studies have compared sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir with other direct-acting antiviral regimens in any age group. In the ENDURANCE-3 trial supporting registration of glecaprevir plus pibrentasvir, no significant differences were found in safety profile with a 1% discontinuation rate due to adverse events in the 12-week glecaprevir plus pibrentasvir arm and 1% in the sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir arm (13). The most common adverse reactions reported in the 12-week glecaprevir plus pibrentasvir arm compared with the sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir arm were: headache 17% versus 15%, respectively; fatigue 14% versus 12%; and nausea 12% versus 12%.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

### **WHO guidelines**

Sofosbuvir + daclatasvir is one of the three recommended pan-genotypic regimens for adults in the 2018 WHO guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection (2).

Sofosbuvir + daclatasvir is expected to be added as a treatment for adolescents and children with chronic HCV infection in the planned update to the guideline chapter on treatment in adolescents and children. The regimen is expected be recommended as a first-line therapy for paediatric patients for whom dosing recommendations and an appropriate formulation are available. This update will be published in mid-2021 as a rapid communication policy brief and this recommendation will also be included in the overall WHO consolidated guidelines on testing, care and treatment of viral hepatitis to be published at the end of 2021.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The median cost of treating children who can receive the adult dose of sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir, as single products or the single-pill combination, ranges from US\$ 79 to US\$ 120 for a standard 12-week course of treatment according to reference pricing guides (Table 5). The CHAI *Hepatitis C market report* published in May 2020 identified that the actual in-country prices for 12 weeks of WHO-prequalified sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir varies from US\$ 60 to US\$ 1347 (*16*).

Lack of availability of a low-cost generic version of sofosbuvir 200 mg tablets is likely to result in a higher cost for treating children weighing 14–35 kg compared with adults and adolescents. However, costs for low-dose paediatric sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir will decrease as generic products enter the global market.

# Table 5

# Cost of treatment of sofosbuvir and daclatasvir for patients weighing 14 kg to 35 kg

Reference price	Sofosbuvir 400 mg + daclatasvir 60 mg		Sofosbuvir 400 mg + daclatasvir 60 mg fixed-dose combination		Sofosbuvir 200 mg + daclatasvir 30 mg	
	Price per 28-tablet pack, US\$	Median cost 12-week course, US\$	Price per 28-tablet pack, US\$	Median cost 12-week course, US\$	Price per 28-tablet pack, US\$	Median cost 12-week course, US\$
Global Fund reference price, first quarter 2020 (17)	18.20 (sofosbuvir) 12.99 (daclatasvir)	94.00	26.25	79.00	– 10.00 (daclatasvir)	_
MSF access price, fourth quarter 2017 ( <i>18</i> )	_	120.00	_	-	_	-
UNDP health procurement mechanism, first quarter 2020 ( <i>16</i> )	_	79.00	_	_	_	_
Global Fund transaction summaryª	15.00 (sofosbuvir) 6.40 (daclatasvir)	64.20	_	_	– 8.00 (daclatasvir)	-

Global Fund: The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; MSF: Médecins sans Frontières; UNDP: United Nations Development Programme.

<sup>a</sup> Represents weighted average cost per pack.

Note: The N-dash indicates that no pricing data were available.

Innovator brand sofosbuvir is registered by Gilead Sciences as a fullstrength 400 mg tablet for adults and adolescents and a half-strength 200 mg tablet for children weighing 17–35 kg. Gilead offers "access pricing" for their branded product to government programmes in 101 selected low- and middleincome countries at a flat price of US\$ 250 per 28-tablet bottle, or US\$ 750 for a full treatment course (*19*).

No pricing information was available for the sofosbuvir 200 mg formulation.

#### Availability

Sofosbuvir 200 mg and 400 mg (Sovaldi<sup>®</sup>), registered by Gilead Sciences, is approved by the FDA, European Medicines Agency, and many other regulatory authorities. Gilead Sciences has granted licences directly to a number of generic manufacturers that distribute widely. Fourteen generic suppliers have a license for drugs developed by Gilead Sciences. Eleven Indian generic suppliers are permitted to sell sofosbuvir in 105 countries.

Daclatasvir 30 mg and 60 mg (Daklinza<sup>®</sup>), registered by Bristol Myers Squibb, is approved by the US FDA, European Medicines Agency and other regulatory authorities. Daklinza<sup>®</sup> was withdrawn from the market in highincome countries in 2019 for commercial reasons and patents were allowed to expire globally. Daclatasvir licences are available through the Medicines Patent Pool in 112 countries and 10 generic suppliers currently have a sublicence for the product. More countries outside the licensed territory to the Medicines Patent Pool will soon have access to generic versions of daclatasvir as Bristol Myers Squibb announced its decision to withdraw or allow market authorization to lapse in countries where the product is no longer routinely prescribed or where other therapeutic options are available. In addition, the WHO prequalification team has designated daclatasvir a reference drug product to allow for the development of future generic products.

Many generic suppliers have sofosbuvir, daclatasvir and sofosbuvir + daclatasvir fixed-dose combination products available globally that have been prequalified by WHO or assessed by the Expert Review Panel.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of the fixed-dose combination of daclatasvir + sofosbuvir, single-agent daclatasvir and single-agent sofosbuvir to the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of children with chronic HCV

.....

infection among patients weighting 14 kg or more, based on evidence of pangenotypic effectiveness and an acceptable safety profile.

The Committee noted that the results of a systematic review of trials, including trials involving daclatasvir and sofosbuvir, demonstrated high rates of virological response in children and adolescents, comparable with those observed in adults. The Committee therefore also recommended that listings of daclatasvir and sofosbuvir on the EML be extended to include adolescents. In addition, the Committee recommended the addition to the EML of the fixed-dose combination of daclatasvir + sofosbuvir and single-agent sofosbuvir 200 mg to the EML for treatment of adolescents and adults.

The Committee recognized that in paediatric patients with HCV infection and cirrhosis, co-administration of daclatasvir and sofosbuvir with ribavirin may be required. However, the Committee noted that there was limited evidence on the use of ribavirin in children and the number of children requiring ribavirin co-treatment was very small; therefore, the Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ribavirin on the EMLc.

The Committee also noted the planned inclusion of daclatasvir + sofosbuvir as one of the recommended regimens for children in the updated WHO *Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection*, the licensing agreements with the Medicines Patent Pool and the availability of prequalified and generic products.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 11 April 2021).
- 2. Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/273174, accessed 11 April 2021).
- Global health sector strategy on viral hepatiis 2016–2021: towards ending viral hepatitis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/246177, accessed 11 April 2021).
- 4. Schmelzer J, Dugan E, Blach S, Coleman S, Cai Z, DePaola M, et al. Global prevalence of hepatitis C virus in children in 2018: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(4):374–92.
- 5. Indolfi G, Easterbrook P, Dusheiko G, El-Sayed MH, Jonas MM, Thorne C, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection in children and adolescents. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4(6):477–87.
- Abdel Ghaffar TY, El Naghi S, Abdel Gawad M, Helmy S, Abdel Ghaffar A, Yousef M, et al. Safety and efficacy of combined sofosbuvir/daclatasvir treatment of children and adolescents with chronic hepatitis C genotype 4. J Viral Hepat. 2019;26(2):263–70.
- 7. El-Sayed MH, Indolfi G. Hepatitis C virus treatment in children: a challenge for hepatitis C virus elimination. Semin Liver Dis. 2020;40(3):213–24.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 8. Indolfi G, Giometto S, Serranti D, Bettiol A, Bigagli E, De Masi S, et al. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the efficacy and safety of direct-acting antivirals in children and adolescents with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2020;52(7):1125–33.
- Mehta R, Kabrawala M, Nandwani S, Desai P, Bhayani V, Patel S, et al. Safety and efficacy of sofosbuvir and daclatasvir for hepatitis C virus infection in patients with β-thalassemia major. J Clin Exp Hepatol. 2018;8(1):3–6.
- 10. Dhiman RK, Grover GS, Premkumar M, Taneja S, Duseja A, Rathi S, et al. Direct-acting antiviral therapy is safe and effective in pediatric chronic hepatitis C: the public health perspective. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2019;68(1):74–80.
- 11. Al-Nahari MM, Abbassi MM, Ebeid FS, Hassany M, El-Sayed MH, Farid SF. Pharmacokinetics of daclatasvir in Egyptian adolescents with genotype-4 HCV infection. Antivir Ther. 2020;25(2):101–10.
- Cressey TR, Abbrassi M, Lallemant M, Indolfi G, Al-Nahari M, Farid S, et al. Adequate daclatasvir exposures in children 14–35 kg with available adult formulations. In: Absract eBook. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (virtual). March 6–10, 2021. San Francisco, CA: The CROI Foundation/International Antiviral Society–USA; 2021 (https://www.croiconference.org/ wp-content/uploads/sites/2/resources/2021/vCROI-2021-Abstract-eBook.pdf, accessed 11 April 2021).
- 13. Zeuzem S, Foster GR, Wang S, Asatryan A, Gane E, Feld JJ, et al. Glecaprevir-pibrentasvir for 8 or 12 weeks in HCV genotype 1 or 3 infection. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(4):354–69.
- 14. Yakoot M, El-Shabrawi MH, AbdElgawad MM, Mahfouz AA, Helmy S, Abdo AM, et al. Dual sofosbuvir/daclatasvir therapy in adolescent patients with chronic hepatitis C infection. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;67(1):86–9.
- 15. Yakoot M, El-Shabrawi MH, AbdElgawad MM, Mahfouz AA, Khalil AF, Kamal NM, et al. Effects of dual sofosbuvir/daclatasvir therapy on weight and linear growth in adolescent patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2019;38(7):e154–e7.
- Hepatitis C. Market report. Issue 1, May 2020. Boston, MA: Clinton Health Access Initiative Inc. (CHAI); 2020 (https://3cdmh310dov3470e6x160esb-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/ uploads/2020/05/Hepatitis-C-Market-Report\_Issue-1\_Web.pdf, accessed 11 April 2021).
- 17. Pooled procurement mechanism reference pricing: strategic medicines used in HIV programs [online]. Geneva:Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 2021 (https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/7500/ppm\_strategicmedicineshivreferencepricing\_table\_en.pdf, accessed 11 April 2021).
- MSF secures generic hepatitis C treatment at \$120 compared to \$147,000 launch price tag. Geneva: Médecins sans Frontières; 2017 (https://msfaccess.org/msf-secures-generic-hepatitis-ctreatment-120-compared-147000-launch-price-tag, accessed 11 April 2021).
- 19. Expanding chronic hepatitis C treatment in low- and middle-income countries. HCV access fact sheet [online]. Foster City, CA: Gilead Sciences; 2019 (https://www.gilead.com/-/media/files/pdfs/ other/hcv-access-fact-sheet-061219.pdf?la=en&hash=ECF6F2AE73040656D7313C2D1BB27812, accessed 11 April 2021).

204

Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir - addition - EMLc

# Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir

ATC Code: J05AP55

# Proposal

Addition of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir single-pill combination to the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection (all genotypes) in paediatric patients.

# Applicant

Clinton Health Access Initiative, Inc., United States of America

# WHO technical department

Global Hepatitis Programme

# EML/EMLc

EMLc

# Section

6.4.4.2.1 Pan-genotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 400 mg + 100 mg; 200 mg + 50 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

The single-pill combination of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir was added to the core list of the EML in 2017 for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection in adults based on evidence of a favourable benefit–risk ratio. Efficacy outcomes from phase II and III studies of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir showed sustained virological response rates greater than 90% in all studies and for all genotypes. Safety data indicated few discontinuations due to adverse events and a rate of serious adverse events similar to that observed with other regimens (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Chronic HCV infection remains a main cause of liver disease globally, with an estimated 71 million people living with chronic HCV overall as of 2015 and an estimated 1.75 million new cases a year (2). Previously, interferon-based therapy was long and difficult to tolerate, had a low success rate, and required extensive clinical and laboratory monitoring during treatment. The introduction of many all-oral, direct-acting antiviral treatments has led to rates of sustained virological response greater than 90% with treatment courses of 12 weeks and greatly improved safety. With these improved characteristics acknowledged, in 2016, the World Health Assembly adopted targets for the elimination of chronic HCV as a public health threat by 2030 (*3*). Treatment of chronic HCV in adults in low-and middle-income countries has been scaled up as availability of direct-acting antiviral treatments.

Little emphasis has been placed on chronic HCV in children and the prevalence, epidemiology, and natural history of infection are less well understood in children than in adults. A recently-published modelling exercise estimated that 3.26 million children are living with chronic HCV infection, and 20 countries account for 80% of all cases in patients aged 0–18 years. Countries with the highest number of children with chronic HCV include China, Egypt, India, Nigeria and Pakistan (4). The main mode of acquisition of HCV infection in children is mother-to-child transmission, although older children and adolescents may become infected through unsafe injection practices or poor infection control practices. About 5% of infants born to mothers with HCV infection will acquire the infection, up to 10% if the mother is co-infected with HIV. The risk of transmission increases with increasing levels of maternal HCV RNA (5).

Most children with liver disease are asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic and cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma are rare in this age group, which allows treatment to be deferred in younger children according to previous treatment guidelines. As noted in a recent publication, including children and adolescents in national HCV surveillance, testing, and treatment programmes can eventually help achieve the goal of HCV elimination (6).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

An innovator-sponsored trial of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir in children younger than 18 years is ongoing. To date, the trial has enrolled children with chronic HCV infection in three age groups: 12-17 years (n = 102), 6-11 years (n = 73) and 3-5 years (n = 41) from sites in Belgium, Italy, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and United States of America.

In the two older age groups, about 75% of the children were infected with genotype 1 HCV, 13% had genotype 3 and smaller numbers had genotypes 2, 4 and 6. Children aged 6–11 years received 200 mg + 50 mg and those aged 12–17 years received 400 mg + 100 mg once daily for 12 weeks, after which they were monitored for 12 weeks to assess treatment response. Overall, 93.7% of the study participants achieved sustained virological response. Of the 11 children who did not achieve sustained virological response, only two experienced virological failure; in the others, the lack of sustained virological response was due to participants being lost to follow-up or spitting up or being unable to swallow the study drug. Plasma concentrations of sofosbuvir and velpatasvir in study participants were comparable to those observed in adults receiving the recommended dose (7).

The children aged 3–5 years received 200 mg + 50 mg once daily (weight  $\geq$  17 kg) or 150 mg + 37.5 mg daily, administered using an investigational granule formulation (weight < 17 kg). Mean weight in this age group was 19 kg (range 13–35 kg). It was not clear whether all children received the investigational granule formulation. The distribution of HCV genotypes in this group was: genotype 1 (78%), genotype 2 (15%), genotype 3 (5%) and genotype 4 (2%). Sustained virological response was achieved in 83% (34/41) of the children. No virological failures were documented, and the seven treatment failures were non-virological failures, either early treatment discontinuation or loss to follow-up (8).

An observational study evaluated sofosbuvir + velpatasvir in five children with relapsed and refractory leukaemia and active genotype 1b HCV infection undergoing allogeneic haematopoietic cell transplant. All the children achieved virological response and normalization of liver enzymes without significant adverse events during treatment. After a median of 15 months of follow-up, four of the children remained disease free and with a sustained virological response. No major drug interactions were observed with either cyclosporine or sirolimus (9).

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

To date, the number of children treated with sofosbuvir + velpatasvir is very small.

In general, sofosbuvir + velpatasvir has been shown to be well tolerated and serious adverse events are uncommon. In the ASTRAL-1 placebo-controlled registration trial in adults, the most commonly observed adverse reactions (all severity grades) in participants receiving 12 weeks of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir treatment included headache (22%), fatigue (15%), nausea (9%), asthenia (5%) and insomnia (5%). Most adverse reactions (79%) were mild and, with the exception of asthenia, occurred at a similar or lower frequency than placebotreated patients. Participant's with cirrhosis receiving sofosbuvir + velpatasvir plus ribavirin were more likely to have haematological abnormalities during treatment but these laboratory abnormalities occurred in less than 1% of study participants (*10*).

Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir was generally well tolerated in the paediatric trials (7,8). The most common adverse events among the 175 participants in the two older age groups included headache (23%), fatigue (18%), nausea (13%), vomiting (12%) and cough (11%). Four patients had serious adverse events reported during the trial: auditory hallucinations and constipation (two children in the younger age group), and suicidal ideation, exacerbation of bipolar disorder and suicide attempts (two adolescents in the older age group). Additional assessment of the psychiatric events showed that 27% of the study participants had some relevant psychiatric medical history (7). The most common adverse events observed in the 41 patients in the youngest age group were vomiting (27%), cough (15%), pyrexia (15%), rhinorrhoea (15%), fatigue (12%), nasal congestion (12%) and diarrhoea (12%). One patient in this age group discontinued treatment due to an adverse event but there were no serious adverse events. In addition, no negative effects on weight gain, height, body mass index, radiographic bone age, or sexual maturation were reported from treatment initiation to 24 weeks post-treatment in either boys or girls aged 3-17 years (8).

No comparative safety data with other direct-acting antiviral regimens in paediatric patients are available. A systematic review of 39 studies that evaluated the efficacy and safety of direct-acting antiviral treatments in 1796 children and adolescents reported all regimens studied, including sofosbuvir + velpatasvir, were well tolerated (*11*).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO** guidelines

Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir is one of the three recommended pan-genotypic regimens for adults in the 2018 WHO Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection (2).

Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir is expected to be added as a treatment for adolescents and children with chronic HCV infection in the planned update to the guidelines chapter on treatment in adolescents and children. The regimen is expected be recommended as therapy for paediatric patients for whom dosing recommendations and an appropriate formulation are available. This update will be published in mid-2021 as a rapid communication policy brief, and this recommendation will also be included in the overall WHO consolidated guidelines on testing, care and treatment of viral hepatitis to be published at the end of 2021.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Gilead Sciences offers "access pricing" for Epclusa<sup>®</sup> 400 mg + 100 mg tablets to government programmes in 101 selected low- and middle-income countries at a flat price of US\$ 900 for a 12-week treatment course (*12*).

At present, there is a single generic formulation of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir 400 mg + 100 mg tablet now widely available. The United Nations Development Programme's Health Procurement Mechanism lists the price as US\$ 270 for a 12-week course (13).

The introduction of additional generic products has the potential to substantially lower the cost of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir, as in India and Pakistan where local generic products are available. A 2020 study on the variability in cost of originator direct-acting antiviral products, reported on the availability of generic direct-acting antivirals globally and estimated the cost of production of some direct-acting antivirals (14).

No pricing information was available for the sofosbuvir + velpatasvir 200 mg + 50 mg formulation.

#### Availability

Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir 400 mg + 100 mg and 200 mg + 50 mg tablets, registered by Gilead Sciences, are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration and European Medicines Agency; voluntary licences are available in some low- and middle-income countries through the company.

To date, WHO-prequalified generic sofosbuvir + velpatasvir 400 mg + 100 mg tablets are available from Viatris (formerly Mylan Laboratories Ltd).

India and Pakistan are reported to have locally manufactured generic products.

#### Other considerations

The recommended dose of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir for adults and adolescents 12-17 years weighing more than 35 kg, and children 6–12 years weighing at least 30 kg (without cirrhosis) is 400 mg + 100 mg daily for 12 weeks. The approved dose for children 6–12 years weighing 17–30 kg is 200 mg + 50 mg daily for 12 weeks. Weight-based ribavirin is added to these regimens for children with cirrhosis.

Regulatory submissions to extend the weight-band dosing recommendations to children 3–5 years weighing less than 17 kg, using a dose of 150 mg + 37.5 mg daily, are currently pending.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of the fixed-dose combination of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir to the core list of the EMLc for the

treatment of children aged 3 to 12 years with chronic HCV infection, based on evidence of pan-genotypic effectiveness and an acceptable safety profile.

The Committee noted that the results of the paediatric trial demonstrated high rates of virological response in children and adolescents, comparable with those observed in adults. The Committee therefore also recommended that listing of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir on the EML should be extended to include adolescents.

The Committee recognized that in paediatric patients with HCV infection and cirrhosis, co-administration of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir with ribavirin may be required. However, the Committee noted that there was limited evidence on the use of ribavirin in children and the number of children requiring ribavirin co-treatment was very small; therefore, the Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ribavirin on the EMLc.

The Committee also noted the planned inclusion of sofosbuvir + velpatasvir as one of the recommended regimens for children in the updated WHO *Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection*, and the availability of prequalified and generic products in some settings.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 11 April 2021).
- Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/ 273174, accessed 10 April 2021).
- Global health sector strategy on viral hepatiis 2016–2021: towards ending viral hepatitis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/246177, accessed 10 April 2021).
- 4. Schmelzer J, Dugan E, Blach S, Coleman S, Cai Z, DePaola M, et al. Global prevalence of hepatitis C virus in children in 2018: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(4):374–92.
- 5. Indolfi G, Easterbrook P, Dusheiko G, El-Sayed MH, Jonas MM, Thorne C, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection in children and adolescents. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4(6):477–87.
- 6. El-Sayed MH, Indolfi G. Hepatitis C virus treatment in children: a challenge for hepatitis C virus elimination. Semin Liver Dis. 2020;40(3):213–24.
- Posters (Abstracts 289–2348). Abstract 748. Jonas MM, Romero R, Sokal EM, Rosenthal P, Verucchi G, Lin C-H, et al. Safety and efficacy of sofosbuvir/velpatasvir in pediatric patients 6 to < 18 years old with chronic hepatitis C infection. Hepatology. 2019;70(S1):465A.</li>
- 8. Posters. Abstract 931. Sokal E, Schwarz KB, Rosenthal P, Verucchi G, Lin C-H, Balistreri W, et al. Safety and efficacy of sofosbuvir/belpatasvir for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C infection in adolescents and children aged 3 to 17 years old through 24 weeks post-treatment. Hepatology. 2020;72(S1):570A.

- Jaiswal SR, Bhakuni P, Soni M, Gupta M, Thatai A, Chakrabarti S. Safety and efficacy of sofosbuvir and velpatasvir in children with active hepatitis C virus infection undergoing haploidentical transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis. 2020:e13490.
- 10. Feld JJ, Jacobson IM, Hezode C, Asselah T, Ruane PJ, Gruener N, et al. Sofosbuvir and velpatasvir for HCV genotype 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 infection. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(27):2599–607.
- 11. Indolfi G, Giometto S, Serranti D, Bettiol A, Bigagli E, De Masi S, et al. Systematic review with metaanalysis: the efficacy and safety of direct-acting antivirals in children and adolescents with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2020;52(7):1125–33.
- 12. Expanding chronic hepatitis C treatment in low- and middle-income countries. HCV access fact sheet [online]. Foster City, CA: Gilead Sciences; 2019 (https://www.gilead.com/-/media/files/pdfs/ other/hcv-access-fact-sheet-061219.pdf?la=en&hash=ECF6F2AE73040656D7313C2D1BB27812, accessed 11 April 2021).
- Hepatitis C. Market report. Issue 1, May 2020. Boston, MA: Clinton Health Access Initiative Inc. (CHAI); 2020 (https://3cdmh310dov3470e6x160esb-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/ uploads/2020/05/Hepatitis-C-Market-Report\_Issue-1\_Web.pdf, accessed 11 April 2021).
- 14. Barber MJ, Gotham D, Khwairakpam G, Hill A. Price of a hepatitis C cure: cost of production and current prices for direct-acting antivirals in 50 countries. J Virus Erad. 2020;6(3):100001.

# Section 7: ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES 7.1 For treatment of acute attack

Sumatriptan – addition – EML

# Sumatriptan

# ATC Code: N02CC01

# Proposal

Addition of sumatriptan to the core list of the EML for the treatment of adults with acute migraine.

## Applicant

Area Farmaci e Dispositivi Medici, Direzione Generale Cura della Persona Salute e Welfare, Regione Emilia-Romagna, Italy

WHO Collaborating Centre for Evidence-Based Research Synthesis and Guideline Development in Reproductive Health; Bologna, Italy

## WHO technical department

Department of Mental Health and Substance Use

## EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

7.1 Antimigraine medicines - For treatment of acute attack

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet 50 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Applications for the inclusion of sumatriptan on the EML have been considered by the Expert Committee on two previous occasions. Most recently in 2019, the Expert Committee noted that the available evidence supported the effectiveness of sumatriptan compared to placebo, but that evidence comparing sumatriptan with currently listed analgesics for migraine (acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) and

212

paracetamol) showed varying results, including no difference in effect. The Committee therefore did not recommend the addition of sumatriptan to the list. However, they noted that sumatriptan is recommended as a first-line therapy for migraine in many international guidelines and requested a future review with additional data on sumatriptan in the context of other migraine therapies (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

According to the 2019 Global Burden of Disease estimates, migraine has a global age-standardized prevalence of 14.1% (95% uncertainty interval (UI) 12.3 to 16.2) overall; 17.9% (95% UI 15.6 to 20.5) for women and 10.3% (95% UI 8.9 to 12.0) for men. About 1.13 billion (95% UI 0.98 to 1.30) people were estimated to have experienced a migraine, causing 42.1 million (95% UI 6.42 to 95.6) years of life lived with disability, corresponding to 4.8% (95% UI 0.8 to 10.1) of the total years of life lived with disability in 2019 (2).

Migraine has psychological, social and economic repercussions and can be associated with considerable morbidity as a result of the disability caused by frequent attacks and their treatment. Headache disorders are a public health concern given the associated disability and financial costs to society. For example, in the United Kingdom, 25 million working- or school-days are lost every year because of migraine alone (3), and it is estimated that more than 100 000 people are absent from work or school as a result of migraine every working day (4).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented evidence on the efficacy and safety of sumatriptan for treatment of acute migraine attacks in adults from two systematic reviews (5, 6).

Pooled data from 18 studies showed that oral sumatriptan 50 mg was more effective than placebo for the outcome of pain freedom at 2 hours for any pain-intensity at baseline. Slightly higher estimates were observed in pooled data from 21 studies of oral sumatriptan 100 mg. The number needed to treat was considered clinically meaningful for both sumatriptan 50 mg and 100 mg for this outcome and ranged from 3 to 7. For the outcomes of headache relief at 2 hours, sustained pain freedom at 24 hours and use of rescue medication, pooled analysis also showed clinically meaningful differences and numbers needed to treat favouring sumatriptan. The certainty in the estimates was rated high, according to the GRADE framework (5).

Pooled data from four studies comparing sumatriptan 50 mg or 100 mg with acetylsalicylic acid 1000 mg and acetylsalicylic acid 900 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg showed a statistically significant difference in favour of sumatriptan 100 mg compared with acetylsalicylic acid 900 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg for the outcome of pain freedom at 2 hours (odds ratio (OR) 1.62, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.17 to 2.25). In absolute terms, 26% of patients treated with sumatriptan 100 mg and 16% of those treated with acetylsalicylic acid 900 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg were pain-free at 2 hours. The absolute risk difference was 10% in favour of sumatriptan. The difference between sumatriptan 50 mg and acetylsalicylic acid 1000 mg for pain freedom at 2 hours was not statistically significant; however the point estimate favoured sumatriptan (OR 1.22, 95% CI 0.97 to 1.53). In absolute terms, 32.2% of patients treated with sumatriptan 50 mg and 26.4% of patients treated with acetylsalicylic acid 1000 mg were pain-free at 2 hours. The absolute risk difference was 15% in favour of sumatriptan (5).

For the outcome of headache relief at 2 hours, sumatriptan was more effective than both acetylsalicylic acid 1000 mg, and acetylsalicylic acid 900 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg (OR 1.27, 95% CI 1.09 to 1.47). Sumatriptan 100 mg did not show a statistically significant difference compared with paracetamol 1000 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg; however, the point estimate favoured sumatriptan with an absolute risk difference of 2% in its favour. For the outcome of reduction of rescue medication use, sumatriptan was more effective than paracetamol 1000 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg (OR 0.86, 95% CI 0.74 to 0.99). For the outcome of headache relief at 1 hour, acetylsalicylic acid 1000 mg was more effective than sumatriptan 50 mg (OR 0.78, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.98) (5).

In comparison with other triptans, for the outcome of pain freedom at 2 hours, the efficacy of sumatriptan was comparable to other triptans, with the exception of eletriptan 40 mg and 80 mg, which showed significantly better efficacy than sumatriptan 50 mg and 100 mg. Eletriptan was also superior to sumatriptan for outcomes of headache relief at 2 and 24 hours, less use of rescue medications, and relief of migraine-associated symptoms. The certainty in the estimates was rated as high, according to the GRADE framework (5).

A network meta-analysis compared the relative efficacy, effectiveness and safety of triptans (alone or in combination with other drugs and for all administration routes and any dose) for treatment of acute migraine attacks in adults (> 18 years of age) compared with other triptans, non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, acetylsalicylic acid, paracetamol, ergots and opioids (6). To account for modification of the effect related to dosage, sumatriptan doses were categorized as low (25 mg, four randomized trials including 850 patients), standard (50 mg, 23 randomized trials including 5870 patients) and high (100 mg, 23 randomized trials including 5210 patients). Efficacy was assessed for each dosage. The systematic review provided comparative effectiveness data both from direct and indirect comparisons through a network meta-analysis. Overall, considering all administration routes, freedom from pain at 2 hours was achieved in 18% to 50% of patients with acute migraine taking standard-dose triptans. Sumatriptan provided pain freedom at 2 hours in 27.7% (95% credible interval (CrI) 24.6% to 31.0%) of patients compared with 10.6% (95% CrI 10.0% to 11.3%) of patients taking the placebo. Triptans were effective in the largest proportion of patients on the outcome headache relief at 2 hours: 41.8% (95%

CrI 32.6% to 51.5%)–75.7% (95% CrI 67.6% to 82.5%) of patients compared with 26.7% (95% CrI 25.7% to 27.7%) of patients taking the placebo. About half the patients taking sumatriptan 50 mg (49.7%, 95% CrI 46.3% to 53.1%) had headache relief at 2 hours compared with 26.7% (95% CrI 25.7% to 27.7%) of patients taking placebo.

Estimates from pairwise comparisons of sumatriptan 50 mg versus placebo showed that sumatriptan was superior to placebo for pain freedom at 2 hours and other outcomes (headache relief at 2 and at 24 hours, sustained freedom from pain at 24 hours and reduced use of rescue medication). Estimates from pairwise comparisons of sumatriptan 50 mg versus other triptans showed eletriptan 40 mg to be superior for the outcome pain freedom at 2 hours (OR 0.59, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.78) and for all the other outcomes mentioned above. These results were consistent with those observed on direct comparisons in systematic review discussed earlier (5).

The efficacy outcomes reported in these two systematic reviews are those recommended in the guidelines of the International Headache Society for controlled trials of acute treatment of migraine attacks in adults (7).

An additional randomized controlled trial was identified that compared intranasal sumatriptan and oral sumatriptan in adults with migraine (8). The primary outcome was the sum of pain intensity differences 30 minutes after administration, which is not a recommended outcome measure in the guidelines of the International Headache Society. Pain freedom at 2 hours was a secondary outcome, but no statistically significant difference was found between treatment groups.

The application also presented evidence from one systematic review on the efficacy and safety of pharmacological interventions (not limited to triptans) by any route of administration for treatment of acute migraine attacks in children and adolescents (9). However, listing for sumatriptan was not proposed for children and adolescents because oral sumatriptan had not been studied in this population.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Among 20 049 patients treated with oral sumatriptan, only two treatmentrelated serious adverse events were reported: heart palpitations after treatment with sumatriptan 85 mg, and chest tightness/pressure after treatment with sumatriptan 300 mg. Withdrawals due to adverse events were uncommon: in placebo-controlled studies, excluding those using high doses of sumatriptan (> 100 mg), the proportion of patients withdrawing due to adverse events among patients treated with sumatriptan was equivalent to that of placebo (0.71% (45/6349) and 0.65% (19/2926), respectively) (5).

Pooled estimates of comparisons of sumatriptan versus other triptans did not show significant differences in adverse events. Acetylsalicylic acid 900 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg and paracetamol 1000 mg + metoclopramide 10 mg showed a significantly lower of adverse events than sumatriptan 100 mg (5). Although in migraine trials acetylsalicylic acid and paracetamol showed a lower frequency of adverse events than sumatriptan in the short term, the application noted that their long-term use at analgesic doses in patients with frequent migraine attacks posed a risk of severe and potentially life-threatening adverse events.

An industry-funded systematic review and network meta-analysis assessed the tolerability of orally administered treatments in adults with acute migraine (10). The review included 141 randomized controlled trials evaluating triptans, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs or barbiturates in any combination, without any other limitation on sample size or treatment concealing. The quality of the included studies was not formally assessed, and the results should be interpreted with caution. Data from direct comparisons were available for sumatriptan versus placebo from 39 studies. Compared to placebo, sumatriptan was associated with a significantly higher incidence of any adverse events (OR 1.80, 95% CI 1.57 to 2.05), and treatment-related adverse events (OR 2.23, 95% CI 1.86 to 2.70). Serious adverse events were uncommon resulting in estimates with wide confidence intervals.

Data from observational studies indicate that migraine, especially migraine with aura, shows an association with ischaemic heart disease, vascular events and stroke. However, a causal relationship with migraine is unclear and the occurrence of a cerebrovascular event during a migraine attack is very rare (11-13). There was initial concern about the potential adverse events of sumatriptan on the cardiovascular system, especially when different centres for monitoring adverse reactions started receiving reports of chest and angina pain soon after the marketing of sumatriptan in 1992 (14, 15), and postmarketing surveys of Dutch general practitioners (16, 17). A meta-analysis of four observational studies assessed the risk of severe cardiovascular events associated with either recent use of or intensity of exposure to triptans or ergotamine in people with migraine (18). Pooled analysis showed no significant differences in the overall risk of cardiovascular events of patients with migraine treated with triptans compared with controls in relation to intensity of treatment (OR 0.86, 95% CI 0.52to 1.43). Because of the heterogeneity of the results of the included studies, pooled analysis of the risk of cardiovascular events and stroke in relation to recent use was not done.

A meta-analysis of six controlled, observational studies assessed the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes (major congenital malformations, prematurity and spontaneous abortion) of women with migraine exposed to triptans during pregnancy compared with women with migraine not exposed to triptans and healthy women (19). Pooled analysis showed that the risk of major congenital malformations and prematurity was not increased in women with migraine taking triptans during pregnancy compared with women with migraine not taking triptans. Women exposed to triptans during pregnancy had a higher rate of spontaneous abortion compared with healthy controls, although this difference was observed in only a relatively small sample of women exposed to triptans (n = 178). Women with migraine not taking triptans had a higher risk of major congenital malformations compared with healthy controls.

A systematic review by the United Kingdom's National Clinical Guideline Centre found conflicting evidence (very low quality) for adverse pregnancy outcomes from a pooled analysis of three observational studies comparing women with migraine exposed and not exposed to triptans during pregnancy (4). The guideline panel concluded that the evidence reviewed, although inconclusive, did not indicate an increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes from the use of triptans during pregnancy.

No safety data are available on the use of oral sumatriptan in children. The overall frequency of any adverse event in adolescents taking triptans is higher than placebo, although most adverse events were mild (9).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## **WHO guidelines**

In 2007, WHO, in collaboration with Lifting the Burden and the European Headache Federation, published guidance on the management of common headache disorders in primary care, with a multilanguage information leaflet for patients (20). The guidance was based on a review of all published treatment guidelines in use in Europe and selection of the main recommendations. The guidance recommended a two-step management of acute migraine attacks, treating three attacks at each step before proceeding to the next, starting with common analgesics (such as acetylsalicylic acid, ibuprofen, diclofenac, ketoprofen, naproxen or, where these are contraindicated, paracetamol) followed, if needed, by antiemetics (such as domperidone or metoclopramide). Triptans are recommended as a second step, among specific antimigraine drugs, to be offered to all patients in whom treatment has failed in step one. The recommended starting formulation was oral; sumatriptan by subcutaneous injection was suggested when all other triptans were ineffective. Analgesics only were recommended for children.

The application identified three clinical practice guidelines that include recommendations on use of triptans for the treatment of acute migraine in adults. Sumatriptan (50 mg or 100 mg) is recommended as the first-line monotherapy treatment in adults by the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), with the suggestion of trying alternative triptans in case of failure (*21*). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)

guideline recommends an oral triptan alone or combined with a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug or paracetamol in adults and children. In young people (12–17 years), nasal triptan is preferred (4). The Canadian Headache Society guideline recommends sumatriptan, or another triptan, for moderate to severe migraine attacks in adults. If triptan alone is insufficient, its use in combination with naproxen sodium 500 mg is recommended (22).

In summary, there is overall consensus among the retrieved guidelines in recommending triptans (specifically, sumatriptan) as first-line treatment, or as an alternative to other analgesics in treating acute migraine attacks.

According to the SIGN and NICE guidelines, triptans can be used for treatment of acute migraine during pregnancy and in women in child-bearing age (4,21). The NICE guideline recommends balancing the potential side-effects of non-steroidal drugs, especially gastric ulceration and bleeding and cardiovascular risks, against the more rapid and prolonged benefit when used in combination with a triptan for treating an acute migraine episode (4).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

All triptans are currently available as unbranded generic drugs, and the cost of oral sumatriptan varies in different countries. Of all available triptans, sumatriptan is consistently the cheapest, including in low- and middle-income countries, but it is more expensive than paracetamol and acetylsalicylic acid.

The cost-effectiveness of sumatriptan in acute migraine is largely dependent on the cost of the medicine. Achieving a reduction of its average price could have a considerable impact on its cost-effectiveness when compared with less expensive alternatives, such as acetylsalicylic acid and paracetamol. If comparative cost-effectiveness modelling takes into account long-term safety, sumatriptan may become an attractive option even at its current price in situations of low willingness-to-pay by decision-makers.

#### Availability

Sumatriptan is available globally in branded and generic forms.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that migraine is a common disabling primary headache disorder characterized by recurrent moderate to severe pain. It is a cause of disability and results in a substantial socioeconomic burden, which is greater for women than for men.

The Committee noted that the available evidence supported the superior efficacy of sumatriptan compared with placebo. Evidence comparing

sumatriptan with currently listed analgesics (acetylsalicylic acid, paracetamol and ibuprofen) showed mixed results, which might correlate to little or no difference between currently listed analgesics and sumatriptan. The Committee also considered that the clinical use of sumatriptan is well established and it is recommended as a first-line therapy for migraine in some national and international guidelines.

The Committee considered that it was important for people with migraine to have a range of treatment options available to them, particularly for those who are at risk of specific adverse events from currently listed analgesics, those at risk of addiction and those who have little or no response to analgesics. The Committee noted that long-term use of acetylsalicylic acid, ibuprofen and paracetamol at analgesic or higher doses in patients with frequent migraine attacks poses a risk of severe adverse events (e.g. bleeding, hepatic impairment and medication-overuse headache). Sumatriptan appears to provide clinically relevant headache relief with few risks. Evidence of the safety of sumatriptan in pregnant women is still limited but, so far, accumulated data have not signalled that sumatriptan poses additional risks of birth defects compared with that in the general population.

Based on a positive benefit-to-risk profile, the Committee recommended the addition of sumatriptan to the core list of the EML for the treatment of adult patients with acute migraine. Inclusion of other triptans were not part of the application. Although the Committee thought there were likely to be benefits across the pharmacological class, few data were available on efficacy, safety, price and availability of other triptans. Therefore, the Committee did not list alternative triptans at this time, but would consider requests for listing in future.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 12 May 2021).
- 2. GBD VizHub. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. (https://vizhub.healthdata. org/gbd-compare/, accessed 25 November 2020).
- 3. Headache disorders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (WHO Fact sheet; https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/headache-disorders, accessed 6 December 2020).
- Headaches in over 12s: diagnosis and management. Clinical Guideline [CG150]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2012 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg150, accessed 30 August 2021).
- 5. Derry CJ, Derry S, Moore RA. Sumatriptan (oral route of administration) for acute migraine attacks in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;2012(2):CD008615.
- Cameron C, Kelly S, Hsieh SC, Murphy M, Chen L, Kotb A, et al. Triptans in the Acute Treatment of Migraine: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. Headache. 2015;55(Suppl 4):221–35.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 7. Diener HC, Tassorelli C, Dodick DW, Silberstein SD, Lipton RB, Ashina M, et al. Guidelines of the International Headache Society for controlled trials of acute treatment of migraine attacks in adults: Fourth edition. Cephalalgia. 2019;39(6):687–710.
- Tepper SJ, Cady RK, Silberstein S, Messina J, Mahmoud RA, Djupesland PG, et al. AVP-825 breathpowered intranasal delivery system containing 22 mg sumatriptan powder vs 100 mg oral sumatriptan in the acute treatment of migraines (the COMPASS study): a comparative randomized clinical trial across multiple attacks. Headache. 2015;55(5):621–35.
- 9. Richer L, Billinghurst L, Linsdell MA, Russell K, Vandermeer B, Crumley ET, et al. Drugs for the acute treatment of migraine in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;4:CD005220.
- 10. Thorlund K, Toor K, Wu P, Chan K, Druyts E, Ramos E, et al. Comparative tolerability of treatments for acute migraine: a network meta-analysis. Cephalalgia. 2017;37(10):965–78.
- 11. Spector JT, Kahn SR, Jones MR, Jayakumar M, Dalal D, Nazarian S. Migraine headache and ischemic stroke risk: an updated meta-analysis. Am J Med. 2010;123(7):612–24.
- 12. Sacco S, Ornello R, Ripa P, Pistoia F, Carolei A. Migraine and hemorrhagic stroke: a meta-analysis. Stroke. 2013;44(11):3032–8.
- 13. Sacco S, Ornello R, Ripa P, Tiseo C, Degan D, Pistoia F, et al. Migraine and risk of ischaemic heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Eur J Neurol. 2015;22(6):1001–11.
- 14. Stricker BH. Coronary vasospasm and sumatriptan. BMJ. 1992;305(6845):118.
- 15. Boyd IW, Rohan AP. Sumatriptan-induced chest pain. Lancet. 1994;344(8938):1704–5.
- 16. Ottervanger JP, van Witsen TB, Valkenburg HA, Stricker BH. Postmarketing study of cardiovascular adverse reactions associated with sumatriptan. BMJ. 1993;307(6913):1185.
- 17. Ottervanger JP, van Witsen TB, Valkenburg HA, Grobbee DE, Stricker BH. Adverse reactions attributed to sumatriptan. A postmarketing study in general practice. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1994;47(4):305–9.
- Roberto G, Raschi E, Piccinni C, Conti V, Vignatelli L, D'Alessandro R, et al. Adverse cardiovascular events associated with triptans and ergotamines for treatment of migraine: systematic review of observational studies. Cephalalgia. 2015;35(2):118–31.
- 19. Marchenko A, Etwel F, Olutunfese O, Nickel C, Koren G, Nulman I. Pregnancy outcome following prenatal exposure to triptan medications: a meta-analysis. Headache. 2015;55(4):490–501.
- 20. Steiner TJ, Paemeleire K, Jensen R, Valade D, Savi L, Lainez MJ, et al. European principles of management of common headache disorders in primary care. J Headache Pain. 2007;8(Suppl 1):S3–47.
- 21. Pharmacological management of migraine. A national clinical guideline. Edinburgh: Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network; 2018 (https://www.sign.ac.uk/media/1091/sign155.pdf, accessed 12 May 2021).
- 22. Worthington I, Pringsheim T, Gawel MJ, Gladstone J, Cooper P, Dilli E, et al. Canadian Headache Society Guideline: acute drug therapy for migraine headache. Can J Neurol Sci. 2013;40(5 Suppl 3):S1–s80.

220

# Section 8: IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

Tacrolimus – addition – EML and EMLc

# Tacrolimus

ATC Code: L04AD02

# Proposal

Addition of tacrolimus to the EML and EMLc for prevention and treatment of graft rejection following organ transplantation.

# Applicant

Tina Poklepović Peričić, Ana Utrobičić; Cochrane Croatia, University of Split School of Medicine, Split, Croatia

Svjetlana Došenović; University Hospital of Split, Split, Croatia

Livia Puljak; Cochrane Croatia, Center for Evidence Based Medicine, Catholic University, Zagreb, Croatia

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Capsules (immediate release): 0.5 mg, 0.75 mg, 1 mg, 2 mg, 5 mg Granules for oral suspension: 0.2 mg, 1 mg Injection: 5 mg/mL in 1 mL vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) The calcineurin inhibitor tacrolimus has not been previously considered for individual listing on the Model Lists. However, in 1999 a square box symbol was added to the EML-listing of the calcineurin inhibitor ciclosporin for organ transplant rejection which indicated that tacrolimus could serve as an alternative to ciclosporin (1). Following a review of square box listings on the Model Lists in 2003, this square box was removed from the listing for ciclosporin (2).

Ciclosporin was added to the EML in 1991 for use following organ transplantation. The Expert Committee recognized that immunosuppressant drugs were essential for use in organ transplant programmes, where such programmes exist (3). Ciclosporin was included on the first EMLc in 2007 (4).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Optimal maintenance immunosuppression after organ transplant is important so that transplanted organs and transplant recipients can survive for the longest time possible. This is particularly important given the shortage of donor organs (5). According to Eurotransplant statistics, in 2019, 668 hearts, 1375 lungs, 1571 livers, 176 pancreases and 3191 kidneys were transplanted in Eurotransplant member countries (Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Germany, Hungary, Luxembourg, Netherlands and Slovenia), with tens of thousands of people on an active waiting list (6).

Transplantation is the best therapy for end-stage renal failure as it improves the patient's length and quality of life, encourages occupational rehabilitation and is more cost-effective than the alternative of dialysis (5,7).

Chronic liver failure is the most common indication for liver transplantation (8). Other important indications are acute liver failure and hepatocellular carcinoma (8). The median survival after liver transplantation is more than 10 years (9, 10), and there may also be an improvement in the quality of life of people with chronic liver disease after liver transplantation (11).

Lung transplantation has become a treatment for many people with end-stage lung diseases. Currently, more than 2700 lung transplantations are reported annually worldwide, with a 1-year survival of over 80%, and 5-year survival of 60% (12). Achieving long-term survival after lung transplantation is still challenging because of the occurrence of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome and late graft failure, which are responsible for more than 40% of deaths after the first year of transplantation (12).

The therapeutic success of heart transplantation has been largely attributable to the development of effective and balanced immunosuppressive treatment regimens (13, 14).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Kidney transplantation

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 21 studies compared immunosuppression with tacrolimus and ciclosporin in adults (15). Tacrolimus

was significantly superior to ciclosporin for graft loss (relative risk (RR) 0.09, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.06 to 0.12), acute rejection (RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.71) and hypercholesterolaemia (RR 0.63, 95% CI 0.54 to 0.75). No significant differences were observed between treatment groups for mortality (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.79 to 1.45), hypertension (RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.85 to 1.08) or the frequency and type of infections (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.94). An increased but non-significant risk of diabetes was seen in the tacrolimus group compared with the ciclosporin group (RR 1.89, 95% CI 1.52 to 2.35).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 10 studies (2357 patients) compared immunosuppression with tacrolimus combined with sirolimus and tacrolimus combined with mycophenolate mofetil in adults (16). The authors concluded that the two treatment combinations were equally safe and effective. No significant differences were seen between treatment groups in the rates of delayed graft function, acute rejection, graft survival, infectious complications, anaemia or seroma. The tacrolimus + sirolimus group was associated with higher rates of diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and lymphocele compared to the tacrolimus + mycophenolate mofetil group.

A systematic review of 21 studies made an indirect comparison of the clinical effectiveness of tacrolimus and belatacept in adults (*17*). The authors concluded that both immediate- and prolonged-release tacrolimus were significantly superior to belatacept for acute rejection (RR 0.22, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.39 and RR 0.44, 95% CI 0.20 to 0.99, respectively). The two treatments were comparable for graft and patient survival.

A systematic review and network meta-analysis of 28 studies compared immunosuppressive efficacy of belatacept, ciclosporin and tacrolimus (18). Belatacept was associated with significant improvement in glomerular filtration rate compared with ciclosporin. Compared with tacrolimus, this difference was clinically meaningful but not statistically significant. The probability of being the best treatment was highest for belatacept for graft survival (68%), patient survival (97%) and renal function (89%). Tacrolimus was the immunosuppressive agent with the highest probability of being best for avoiding episodes of acute rejection (99%). Donor, recipient and trial characteristics varied across the included trials; however, little statistical heterogeneity was detected in the analysis of acute rejection, graft or patient survival, and none of the characteristics was significantly associated with the relative effect. Glomerular filtration rate in patients treated with tacrolimus was also significantly higher than in patients treated with ciclosporin (6.03 mL/min per 1.73 m<sup>2</sup>; 95% credible interval (CrI): 1.60 to 11.00). Belatacept had significantly higher odds of acute rejection than tacrolimus (OR 2.50, 95% CrI 1.21 to 4.81). Tacrolimus had the highest probability of being best for avoiding episodes of acute rejection (18).

A systematic review of five studies compared immunosuppression with tacrolimus and ciclosporin in children (19). No significant differences were seen

between treatment groups for mortality rate (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.90), graft loss (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.40 to 1.11) or acute rejection (RR 0.79, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.05). The authors concluded that tacrolimus was as effective as ciclosporin for the outcomes of graft loss and acute rejection. However, this systematic review was considered to be of poor methodological quality by the applicants.

A systematic review of eight studies (1189 participants, age not reported) compared immunosuppression with tacrolimus and sirolimus (20). Pooled results did not show statistically significant differences between treatment groups for mortality (RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.91) or graft loss (RR 1.23, 95% CI 0.76 to 1.97). Significantly more patients treated with sirolimus experienced acute rejection (RR 2.08, 95% CI 1.47 to 2.95). The risk of infection was significantly lower with sirolimus (RR 0.43, 95% CI 0.26 to 0.72). Patients treated with sirolimus were significantly more likely to be withdrawn from treatment because of adverse events (RR 1.93, 95% CI 1.32 to 2.83) than patients treated with tacrolimus.

A Cochrane systematic review of 30 studies (4102 participants) compared immunosuppression with tacrolimus and ciclosporin in adults and children (21). At 6 months, the risk of graft loss was significantly lower in patients treated with tacrolimus (RR 0.56, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.86) and this effect persisted up to 3 years. At 1 year, tacrolimus patients had a lower risk of acute rejection (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.79) and steroid-resistant rejection (RR 0.49, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.64), but more diabetes mellitus requiring insulin (RR 1.86, 95% CI 1.11 to 3.09), and tremor (RR 2.18, 95% CI 1.50 to 3.17), headache (RR 1.23, 95% CI 1.00 to 1.52), diarrhoea (RR 1.98, 95% CI 1.03 to 3.83), dyspepsia (RR 1.31, 95% CI 1.00 to 1.70) and vomiting (RR1.41, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.89). Patients treated with ciclosporin experienced significantly more constipation and cosmetic side-effects. There was no difference in infection or malignancy between patients treated with tacrolimus or ciclosporin. Compared with ciclosporin, recipients of kidney transplants treated with tacrolimus showed substantial improvement in graft survival, with a 44% reduction in graft loss (censored for death) within the first 6 months of transplantation. Treatment with tacrolimus led to 31% fewer patients experiencing acute rejection and 51% fewer experiencing severe rejection episodes that required more intensive therapy than steroids, within the first year of transplantation.

#### Liver transplantation

A Cochrane systematic review of 23 trials (3693 participants) evaluated the benefits and harms of maintenance immunosuppression interventions in adults with liver transplants (22). The pair-wise meta-analysis of ciclosporin and tacrolimus showed that ciclosporin was associated with more retransplantation than tacrolimus (very low quality evidence, hazard ratio (HR) 3.08, 95% CrI 1.13 to 9.90). Low-quality evidence from direct comparison of ciclosporin

and tacrolimus showed similar results (HR 3.07, 95% CrI 1.12 to 8.38). The combination of tacrolimus and sirolimus showed higher mortality and graft loss (HR 2.76, 95% CrI 1.30 to 6.69 and HR 2.34, 95% CrI 1.28 to 4.61, respectively) compared with tacrolimus alone. However, this finding was from a direct comparison in a single trial including 222 participants (low-certainty evidence). No differences were found between the two treatments based on network meta-analysis results (very low-certainty evidence).

A systematic review of 11 trials compared tacrolimus versus ciclosporin as primary immunosuppression in adults with liver transplants (23). Mortality in patients given ciclosporin was significantly higher than in patients treated with tacrolimus (RR 1.26, 95% CI 1.01 to 1.58) as was the risk of hypertension (RR 1.26, 95% CI 1.07, 1.47). Ciclosporin was associated with a lower risk than tacrolimus of developing new-onset diabetes after transplantation (RR 0.60, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.77). No significant differences were found for graft loss or acute rejection.

These findings are consistent with the findings of an earlier systematic review and meta-analysis of 16 randomized trials comparing tacrolimus and ciclosporin (3813 participants) (24). Most of the trials restricted enrolment to adults, but one included children and one was restricted to children. At 1 year, mortality (RR 0.85, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.99) and graft loss (RR 0.73, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.86) were significantly lower in patients treated with tacrolimus. Patients treated with tacrolimus also had a lower risk of acute rejection (RR 0.81, 95% CI 0.75 to 0.88) and steroid-resistant rejection (RR 0.54, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.74) in the first year. No differences were seen with lymphoproliferative disorder or new dialysis rates, but more new insulin-requiring diabetes mellitus occurred in the tacrolimus group (RR 1.38, 95% CI 1.01 to 1.86). The risk of withdrawal from the drug was lower for tacrolimus than ciclosporin (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.66).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 14 studies (1814 participants) evaluated the efficacy of immunosuppression monotherapy in adults (25). Tacrolimus and ciclosporin monotherapy were found to be as effective as immunosuppression with steroid-based combination therapy and associated with fewer complications. Tacrolimus monotherapy did not increase hepatitis C virus infection recurrence in hepatitis C virus-infected liver transplant recipients.

## Lung transplantation

A Cochrane systematic review of three studies (413 participants) compared tacrolimus with ciclosporin for primary immunosuppression in adult patients with lung transplant (26). No significant differences were seen between treatment groups for mortality (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.49), incidence of acute rejection (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.03), number of infections/100 patient-days (mean difference (MD) –0.15, 95% CI –0.30 to 0.00), cancer (RR 0.21, 95% CI 0.04 to 1.16), kidney dysfunction (RR 1.41, 95% CI 0.93 to 2.14), kidney failure (RR

1.57, 95% CI 0.28 to 8.94), neurotoxicity (RR 7.06, 95% CI 0.37 to 135.19) and hyperlipidaemia (RR 0.60, 95% CI 0.30 to 1.20). Tacrolimus was significantly superior to ciclosporin regarding the incidence of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (RR 0.46, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.74), lymphocytic bronchitis score (MD -0.60, 95% CI -1.04 to -0.16), treatment withdrawal (RR 0.27, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.46) and arterial hypertension (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.50 to 0.89). No significant difference was seen for arterial hypertension when analysed using a randomeffects model (RR 0.54, 95% CI 0.17 to 1.73). Diabetes mellitus occurred more frequently in patients receiving tacrolimus than those receiving ciclosporin when the fixed-effect model was applied (RR 4.24, 95% CI 1.58 to 11.40), but no statistically significant difference was found using the random-effects model (RR 4.43, 95% CI 0.75 to 26.05). The included studies were considered to have a high risk of bias.

A systematic review of three studies (297 participants) evaluated the benefits and harms of tacrolimus versus ciclosporin as primary immunosuppression in adults (27). No significant difference was found in 1-year mortality between treatment groups (odds ratio (OR) 0.94; 95% CI 0.42 to 2.10). Patients treated with tacrolimus had fewer incidences of acute rejection (MD -0.14, 95% CI -0.28 to -0.01). Pooled analysis showed a lower risk of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome in the tacrolimus group, although this was not statistically significant (OR 0.53, 95% CI 0.25 to 1.12). Fewer treatment withdrawals were seen in the tacrolimus group (OR 0.12, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.48). The likelihood of new-onset diabetes was higher in the tacrolimus group (OR 3.69, 95% CI 1.17 to 11.62). The incidence of hypertension and renal dysfunction were comparable between tacrolimus and ciclosporin (OR 0.24, 95% CI 0.03 to 1.70 and OR 1.67, 95% CI 0.70 to 3.96, respectively). The point estimate suggested a lower risk of malignancy in patients treated with tacrolimus, although this was not statistically significant (OR 0.19, 95% CI 0.03 to 1.13). The incidence of infection was comparable between the two treatments (MD -0.29, 95% CI -0.68 to 0.11).

#### Heart transplantation

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 11 studies (952 participants) evaluated primary immunosuppression with tacrolimus versus ciclosporin in adults and paediatric patients with heart transplant (*28*). No significant differences were found between the treatments for mortality (RR 0.78, 95% CI 0.54 to 1.13), grade 3A or higher rejection (RR 0.86, 95% CI 0.62 to 1.20), infection (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.84 to 1.21) or basal cell skin cancer (comparison with microemulsion ciclosporin) (RR 1.20, 95% CI 0.29 to 4.93). Patients treated with tacrolimus had significantly lower risk of hypertension (RR 0.80, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.93), hyperlipidaemia (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.74) and hirsutism (comparison with microemulsion ciclosporin; RR 0.17, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.62). The risk of diabetes

was higher in patients treated with tacrolimus but this was not statistically significant (RR 1.35, 95% CI 0.93 to 1.94). In addition, no significant differences were seen between treatment arms for renal failure requiring haemodialysis, chronic allograft vasculopathy or neurotoxicity.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of seven studies (885 participants) compared the benefits and harms of tacrolimus and microemulsion ciclosporin for primary immunosuppression in adults and children (*29*). No statistically significant difference was found in mortality at 1 year between treatment groups (RR 0.70, 95% CI 0.45 to 1.08). Tacrolimus was associated with significantly lower risks of acute rejection at both 6 months and 1 year (RR 0.61; 95% CI 0.49 to 0.75 and RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.48 to 0.98, respectively). Fewer patients taking tacrolimus than microemulsion ciclosporin stopped treatment (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.83) and experienced post-transplant hypertension (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.81 to 0.96). The rate of new-onset diabetes mellitus requiring insulin treatment was higher with tacrolimus using a fixed-effects model (RR 1.65, 95% CI 1.18 to 2.29), however no difference was found using a random-effects model. The incidence of malignancy and renal failure requiring dialysis were comparable between treatment groups.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The most frequently reported adverse effects of tacrolimus include new-onset diabetes mellitus following transplantation, neurological effects, gastrointestinal complications (nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea and dyspepsia), changes in renal function, cardiotoxicity, tremor, headache and hyperkalaemia.

A systematic review of 54 studies evaluated the reported incidence of new-onset diabetes mellitus in adult solid-organ transplant recipients receiving treatment with calcineurin inhibitors (tacrolimus and ciclosporin) (30). Overall, new-onset diabetes mellitus was reported in 13.4% of transplant recipients, with a higher incidence occurring in patients receiving tacrolimus than ciclosporin (16.6% versus 9.8%). The trend was observed across all transplant groups studied. The results of a meta-analysis of 16 studies found the frequency of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus to be significantly higher in patients treated with tacrolimus (10.4% versus 4.5%; P < 0.001).

A systematic review of 10 studies (2357 participants) found that sirolimus combined with tacrolimus may lead to higher rates of diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and lymphocele compared with a combination of tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil (*16*). This is in line with the results of a three-arm, multicentre randomized controlled trial that showed a trend toward less diabetes in the steroid-free group containing daclizumab induction, tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil (*31*). When treatment based on ciclosporin plus azathioprine was compared with tacrolimus plus mycophenolate mofetil, no significant difference was seen in

the incidence of diabetes after transplantation (*32*). Tacrolimus in combination with 2 g/day mycophenolate mofetil showed the lowest incidence of new diabetes mellitus compared with tacrolimus and azathioprine or 1 mg/day mycophenolate mofetil (*33*). Similar results were found in a randomized trial of 538 adult renal transplant patients which reported a significantly lower incidence of insulindependent diabetes if treatment was based on the combination of daclizumab, tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil (5.4% versus 0.4%; P = 0.003) (*34*).

Gastrointestinal complications were more likely in patients treated with tacrolimus than those treated with ciclosporin; however, patients given tacrolimus were less likely to experience viral infections and hypertension (*35*).

No differences have been seen between tacrolimus and ciclosporin for kidney dysfunction (RR 1.41, 95% CI 0.93 to 2.14), kidney failure (RR 1.57, 95% CI 0.28 to 8.94) or kidney failure requiring haemodialysis (RR 1.45; 95% CI 0.50–4.26) (26, 28). However, a study that monitored mean creatinine levels at 5 years showed preserved renal function in patients given sirolimus and mycophenolate mofetil versus the tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil treatment (36).

There is consistent evidence of no difference in neurotoxicity between tacrolimus and ciclosporin, as well as no difference in the rates of stroke (28). No difference was observed in the frequency and type of infections between tacrolimus and ciclosporin (28). When sirolimus is combined with tacrolimus, higher rates of infectious complications have been found, however they were not statistically significant (16).

In general, there was no difference in the malignancy rates in patients treated with tacrolimus compared with ciclosporin, with one study showing a trend toward lower risk of malignancy in patients treated with tacrolimus (21). The incidence of malignancies and opportunistic infections was low and similar for both tacrolimus and ciclosporin (27).

A systematic review of five studies (923 participants) compared the effects of tacrolimus and ciclosporin on metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk factors after renal transplantation in adults (*37*). Compared to ciclosporin, tacrolimus treatment was associated with a lower incidence of hyperlipidaemia (RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.39 to 0.64) and hypertension (RR 0.91, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.00); the difference for hypertension was not significant.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the prevention and management of organ transplant rejection are not currently available.

The use of tacrolimus for induction and maintenance of immunosuppression following solid organ transplant is recommended in the following national and international guidelines.

- Immunosuppressive therapy for kidney transplant in adults (38).
   Immunosuppressive therapy for kidney transplant in children and young people (39). National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2017)
- Renal Association. Clinical practice guidelines standardisation of immunosuppressive and anti-infective drug regimens in UK paediatric renal transplantation: the harmonisation programme (2020) (40)
- European Association of Urology. EAU guidelines on renal transplantation (2018) (41)
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Transplant Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients (2010) (42)
- Renal Association clinical practice guideline in post-operative care in the kidney transplant recipient (2017) (43)
- Canadian Cardiovascular Society/Canadian Cardiac Transplant Network position statement on heart transplantation: patient eligibility, selection, and post-transplantation care (2020) (44)
- Antibody-mediated rejection in cardiac transplantation: emerging knowledge in diagnosis and management: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association (2015) (45)
- Monitoring of nonsteroidal immunosuppressive drugs in patients with lung disease and lung transplant recipients: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2012) (46)
- Adult liver transplantation: UK clinical guideline part 2: surgery and post-operation (2020) (47)
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL clinical practice guidelines: liver transplantation (2016) (48)
- Long-term management of the successful adult liver transplant:
   2012 practice guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the American Society of Transplantation (49)

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Immediate-release tacrolimus is considered a cost-effective and clinically effective option for preventing organ rejection in children, young people

and adults having a kidney transplant (38, 39). Based on a health technology assessment report of 16 tacrolimus combinations, the only cost-effective combination was basiliximab induction followed by maintenance with immediate-release tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil at an incremental cost of £ 20 000–30 000 per quality-adjusted life year (50). Mycophenolate mofetil used together with tacrolimus is a cost-effective use of resources for preventing organ rejection in children and young people having a kidney transplant (39). Twice daily tacrolimus with mycophenolate mofetil and corticosteroids were found to be more cost-effective than belatacept in terms of acute rejection outcomes in adult kidney transplant patients (17).

A study comparing the costs of tacrolimus versus ciclosporin treatment (resource-use quantities, cost of drugs, concomitant medications, hospitalization, dialysis and rejection episodes) in 50 centres in western European countries found that per-patient savings with tacrolimus ranged from  $\notin$  524 to  $\notin$  1776. Most of the savings were due to shorter initial hospital stay, fewer rehospitalizations, lower cost of immunosuppressive drugs for graft rejection and lower incidence of dialysis (51).

Compared to sirolimus, tacrolimus was found to be a more-cost effective treatment for preventing adverse events after renal transplantation because it reduces the incidence of graft rejection and the cost of treatment with steroids and antibody therapy (52).

Prolonged-release tacrolimus administered orally as one capsule a day was not found to be cost-effective (39, 50).

#### Availability

Immediate-release tacrolimus is available globally as originator and generic products.

#### Other considerations

Evidence on bioequivalence of generic and brand-name tacrolimus is limited and is not consistent across various studies.

Data from observational studies involving kidney transplant patients who were switched from immediate-release originator tacrolimus to a generic tacrolimus suggested this switch was feasible and appeared to be safe, but required careful monitoring of patient trough concentrations for tacrolimus, plasma creatinine levels and overall patient status (53, 54). The change resulted in cost savings, despite the cost of extra monitoring (54). Similar results were found in another study of stable liver transplant patients who were switched to generic tacrolimus and followed for 6 months: the generic medicine was is effective and seemed to be safe and cost-efficient (55).

A systematic review, mostly based on observational data and studies with some risk of bias, concluded that there was no significant difference in

biopsy-proven acute rejection rates between generic and brand-name tacrolimus and even found some evidence suggesting a lower risk of biopsy-proven acute rejection with generic tacrolimus (56).

However, unlike evidence from observational studies, a randomized cross-over trial involving stable elderly kidney transplant patients found that generic and originator immediate-release tacrolimus were not bioequivalent. Patients on generic tacrolimus had significantly higher levels of systemic drug exposure, which may increase the likelihood of nephrotoxicity and other adverse effects (57).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the unmet public health need for prevention and treatment of rejection in organ transplantation. Tacrolimus has been studied for over 25 years as an immunosuppressant specifically focused on reducing graft rejection after transplantation. Originally studied in liver transplant patients, a series of trials has expanded its use to a wide range of other types of organ transplants.

Tacrolimus has been in wide clinical use for many years and it is licensed for use in children and adults in several countries. The EML currently lists azathioprine and ciclosporin as immunomodulators for use in organ transplantation. The Committee acknowledged that the available evidence suggests that tacrolimus is superior to ciclosporin with regard to graft loss and acute rejection.

Based on these considerations and the overall favourable efficacy and toxicity profile of tacrolimus, the Committee recommended the inclusion of immediate-release tacrolimus on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use in organ transplantation.

The Committee recognized that as the indication is for organ transplantation, tacrolimus would only be used in settings where organ transplantation is available and affordable. The Committee also recognized that avoiding transplant rejection and graft loss is very important in these settings given the considerable resources invested in transplantation and the scarcity of donor organs.

The Committee also noted that given its narrow therapeutic window, therapeutic drug monitoring of tacrolimus blood levels is important in the context of transplantation and recommended by most international guidelines. The Committee therefore requested that therapeutic drug monitoring for tacrolimus should be evaluated for inclusion in the next edition of the WHO model list of essential in vitro diagnostics. References

- 1. The use of essential drugs. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 1999 (including the revised Model list of essential drugs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 895; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42373, accessed 12 May 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2003 (including the 13th Model List of Essential Medicines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 920; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42826, accessed 12 May 2021).
- 3. The use of essential drugs. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 1991 (including the 7th Model List of Essential Drugs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 1992 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 825; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39646, accessed 12 May 2021).
- 4. The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43887, accessed 12 May 2021).
- 5. Wicks MN, Milstead EJ, Hathaway DK, Cetingok M. Family caregivers' burden, quality of life, and health following patients' renal transplantation. J Transpl Coord. 1998;8(3):170–6.
- 6. Annual report 2019. Leiden: Eurotransplant; 2019 (https://www.eurotransplant.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Annual-Report-2019.pdf, accessed 12 May 2021).
- 7. Beech R, Guilliford M, Mays N, Melia J, Roderick P. Renal disease. In: Stevens A, Raferty J, editors. Health care needs assessment. Vol 1. Oxford: Radcliffe Medical Press, 1994: 58–110.
- Graziadei I, Zoller H, Fickert P, Schneeberger S, Finkenstedt A, Peck-Radosavljevic M, et al. Indications for liver transplantation in adults: Recommendations of the Austrian Society for Gastroenterology and Hepatology (OGGH) in cooperation with the Austrian Society for Transplantation, Transfusion and Genetics (ATX). Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2016;128(19–20):679–90.
- 9. Schoening WN, Buescher N, Rademacher S, Andreou A, Kuehn S, Neuhaus R, et al. Twenty-year longitudinal follow-up after orthotopic liver transplantation: a single-center experience of 313 consecutive cases. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(9):2384–94.
- 10. Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA, Harper AM, et al. OPTN/SRTR 2016 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant. 2018;18(Suppl 1):172–253.
- 11. Yang LS, Shan LL, Saxena A, Morris DL. Liver transplantation: a systematic review of long-term quality of life. Liver Int. 2014;34(9):1298–313.
- 12. Christie JD, Edwards LB, Aurora P, Dobbels F, Kirk R, Rahmel AO, et al. The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: Twenty-sixth Official Adult Lung and Heart-Lung Transplantation Report 2009. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28(10):1031–49.
- 13. Taylor DO, Stehlik J, Edwards LB, Aurora P, Christie JD, Dobbels F, et al. Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: Twenty-sixth Official Adult Heart Transplant Report 2009. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28(10):1007–22.
- 14. Valantine H. Neoral use in the cardiac transplant recipient. Transplant Proc. 2000;32(3A Suppl):27S–44S.
- 15. Azarfar A, Ravanshad Y, Mehrad-Majd H, Esmaeeli M, Aval SB, Emadzadeh M, et al. Comparison of tacrolimus and cyclosporine for immunosuppression after renal transplantation: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2018;29(6):1376–85.

232

- Gao L, Xu F, Cheng H, Liu J. Comparison of Sirolimus Combined With Tacrolimus and Mycophenolate Mofetil Combined With Tacrolimus in Kidney Transplantation Recipients: A Meta-Analysis. Transplant Proc. 2018;50(10):3306–13.
- 17. Muduma G, Hart WM, Patel S, Odeyemi AO. Indirect treatment comparison of belatacept versus tacrolimus from a systematic review of immunosuppressive therapies for kidney transplant patients. Curr Med Res Opin. 2016;32(6):1065–72.
- Goring SM, Levy AR, Ghement I, Kalsekar A, Eyawo O, L'Italien GJ, et al. A network meta-analysis of the efficacy of belatacept, cyclosporine and tacrolimus for immunosuppression therapy in adult renal transplant recipients. Curr Med Res Opin. 2014;30(8):1473–87.
- Ravanshad Y, Azarfar A, Ravanshad S, Naderi Nasab M, Ghasemi A, Golsorkhi M, et al. A Comparison Between Tacrolimus and Cyclosporine As Immunosuppression after Renal Transplantation in Children, A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Iran J Kidney Dis. 2020;14(2):145–52.
- Liu JY, Song M, Guo M, Huang F, Ma BJ, Zhu L, et al. Sirolimus versus tacrolimus as primary immunosuppressant after renal transplantation: a meta-analysis and economics evaluation. Am J Ther. 2016;23(6):e1720–e8.
- 21. Webster A, Woodroffe RC, Taylor RS, Chapman JR, Craig JC. Tacrolimus versus cyclosporin as primary immunosuppression for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005;(4):CD003961.
- 22. Rodriguez-Peralvarez M, Guerrero-Misas M, Thorburn D, Davidson BR, Tsochatzis E, Gurusamy KS. Maintenance immunosuppression for adults undergoing liver transplantation: a network metaanalysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(3):CD011639.
- Muduma G, Saunders R, Odeyemi I, Pollock RF. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Tacrolimus versus Ciclosporin as Primary Immunosuppression After Liver Transplant. PLoS One. 2016;11(11):e0160421.
- 24. Haddad EM, McAlister VC, Renouf E, Malthaner R, Kjaer MS, Gluud LL. Cyclosporin versus tacrolimus for liver transplanted patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(4):CD005161.
- 25. Lan X, Liu MG, Chen HX, Liu HM, Zeng W, Wei D, et al. Efficacy of immunosuppression monotherapy after liver transplantation: a meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(34):12330–40.
- Penninga L, Penninga El, Moller CH, Iversen M, Steinbruchel DA, Gluud C. Tacrolimus versus cyclosporin as primary immunosuppression for lung transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(5):CD008817.
- 27. Fan Y, Xiao YB, Weng YG. Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine for adult lung transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(5):1821–4.
- Penninga L, Moller CH, Gustafsson F, Steinbruchel DA, Gluud C. Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine as primary immunosuppression after heart transplantation: systematic review with meta-analyses and trial sequential analyses of randomised trials. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2010;66(12):1177–87.
- 29. Ye F, Ying-Bin X, Yu-Guo W, Hetzer R. Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine microemulsion for heart transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28(1):58–66.
- Heisel O, Heisel R, Balshaw R, Keown P. New onset diabetes mellitus in patients receiving calcineurin inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(4):583–95.
- 31. Klintmalm GB, Davis GL, Teperman L, Netto GJ, Washburn K, Rudich SM, et al. A randomized, multicenter study comparing steroid-free immunosuppression and standard immunosuppression for liver transplant recipients with chronic hepatitis C. Liver Transpl. 2011;17(12):1394–403.
- Vacher-Coponat H, Moal V, Indreies M, Purgus R, Loundou A, Burtey S, et al. A randomized trial with steroids and antithymocyte globulins comparing cyclosporine/azathioprine versus tacrolimus/ mycophenolate mofetil (CATM2) in renal transplantation. Transplantation. 2012;93(4):437–43.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Miller J, Mendez R, Pirsch JD, Jensik SC. Safety and efficacy of tacrolimus in combination with mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) in cadaveric renal transplant recipients. FK506/MMF Dose-Ranging Kidney Transplant Study Group. Transplantation. 2000;69(5):875–80.
- 34. Rostaing L, Cantarovich D, Mourad G, Budde K, Rigotti P, Mariat C, et al. Corticosteroid-free immunosuppression with tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil, and daclizumab induction in renal transplantation. Transplantation. 2005;79(7):807–14.
- Sánchez-Lázaro IJ, Almenar L, Martínez-Dolz L, Buendía-Fuentes F, Agüero J, Navarro-Manchón J, et al. A prospective randomized study comparing cyclosporine versus tacrolimus combined with daclizumab, mycophenolate mofetil, and steroids in heart transplantation. Clin Transplant. 2011;25(4):606–13.
- Kaczmarek I, Zaruba MM, Beiras-Fernandez A, Reimann R, Nickel T, Grinninger C, et al. Tacrolimus with mycophenolate mofetil or sirolimus compared with calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppression (sirolimus/mycophenolate mofetil) after heart transplantation: 5-year results. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32(3):277–84.
- Xue W, Zhang Q, Xu Y, Wang W, Zhang X, Hu X. Effects of tacrolimus and cyclosporine treatment on metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk factors after renal transplantation: a meta-analysis. Chin Med J (Engl). 2014;127(12):2376–81.
- Immunosuppressive therapy for kidney transplant in adults. Technology appraisal guidance [TA481]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2017 (https://www.nice.org. uk/guidance/ta481, accessed 30 October 2020).
- 39. Immunosuppressive therapy for kidney transplant in children and young people. Technology appraisal guidance [TA482]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2017 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta482, accessed 30 October 2020).
- 40. Clinical practice guidelines standardisation of immunosuppressive and anti-infective drug regimens in UK Paediatric Renal transplantation: the Harmonisation Programme. Bristol: The Renal Association; 2020. (https://renal.org/sites/renal.org/files/Immunosuppression-regimens-in-paediatric-transplants-1.pdf, accessed 30 October 2020).
- 41. Renal transplantation [internet]. Arnhem: European Association of Urology; 2018. (https:// uroweb.org/guideline/renal-transplantation/, accessed 30 October 2020.
- 42. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(Suppl 3):S1–155.
- 43. Baker RJ, Mark PB, Patel RK, Stevens KK, Palmer N. Renal association clinical practice guideline in post-operative care in the kidney transplant recipient. BMC Nephrol. 2017;18(1):174.
- 44. Chih S, McDonald M, Dipchand A, Kim D, Ducharme A, Kaan A, et al. Canadian Cardiovascular Society/Canadian Cardiac Transplant Network Position Statement on Heart Transplantation: Patient Eligibility, Selection, and Post-Transplantation Care. Can J Cardiol. 2020;36(3):335–56.
- 45. Colvin MM, Cook JL, Chang P, Francis G, Hsu DT, Kiernan MS, et al. Antibody-mediated rejection in cardiac transplantation: emerging knowledge in diagnosis and management: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2015;131(18):1608–39.
- 46. Baughman RP, Meyer KC, Nathanson I, Angel L, Bhorade SM, Chan KM, et al. Monitoring of nonsteroidal immunosuppressive drugs in patients with lung disease and lung transplant recipients: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2012;142(5):e1S-e111S.
- 47. Millson C, Considine A, Cramp ME, Holt A, Hubscher S, Hutchinson J, et al. Adult liver transplantation: UK clinical guideline part 2: surgery and post-operation. Frontline Gastroenterol. 2020;11(5):385–96.

- 48. EASL clinical practice guidelines: liver transplantation. J Hepatol. 2016;64(2):433-85.
- Lucey MR, Terrault N, Ojo L, Hay JE, Neuberger J, Blumberg E, et al. Long-term management of the successful adult liver transplant: 2012 practice guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the American Society of Transplantation. Liver Transpl. 2013;19(1):3–26.
- Jones-Hughes T, Snowsill T, Haasova M, Coelho H, Crathorne L, Cooper C, et al. Immunosuppressive therapy for kidney transplantation in adults: a systematic review and economic model. Health Technol Assess. 2016;20(62):1–594.
- 51. Lazzaro C, McKechnie T, McKenna M. Tacrolimus versus cyclosporin in renal transplantation in Italy: cost-minimisation and cost-effectiveness analyses. J Nephrol. 2002;15(5):580–8.
- 52. Liu JY, Song M, Guo M, Huang F, Ma BJ, Zhu L, et al. Sirolimus Versus Tacrolimus as Primary Immunosuppressant After Renal Transplantation: A Meta-Analysis and Economics Evaluation. American Journal of Therapeutics. 2016;23(6):E1720–E8.
- Gonzalez F, Lopez R, Arriagada E, Carrasco R, Gallardo N, Lorca E. Switching Stable Kidney Transplant Recipients to a Generic Tacrolimus Is Feasible and Safe, but It Must Be Monitored. Journal of Transplantation. 2017; 2017:5646858.
- 54. Rosenborg S, Nordstrom A, Almquist T, Wennberg L, Barany P. Systematic conversion to generic tacrolimus in stable kidney transplant recipients. Clin Kidney J. 2014;7(2):151–5.
- 55. Vollmar J, Bellmann MC, Darstein F, Hoppe-Lotichius M, Mittler J, Heise M, et al. Efficacy and safety of a conversion from the original tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil to the generics Tacpan and Mowel after liver transplantation. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2015;9:6139–49.
- 56. Kahn J, Pregartner G, Schemmer P. Immunosuppression with generic tacrolimus in liver and kidney transplantation-systematic review and meta-analysis on biopsy-proven acute rejection and bioequivalence. Transpl Int. 2020;33(4):356–72.
- 57. Robertsen I, Aasberg A, Ingero A, Bremer S, Bergan S, Midtvedt K. Generic Tacrolimus Is NOT Bioequivalent in Elderly Renal Transplant Recipients. Abstract# B992. Transplantation. 2014;98:547–8.

# 8.2 Antineoplastics and supportive medicines 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

Azacitidine – addition – EML

# Azacitidine

# ATC Code: L01BC07

# Proposal

Addition of azacitidine to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia in adults.

# Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile

Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago-Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that, in line with the recommendation from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group, there is insufficient evidence to justify the inclusion of azacitidine on the EML at this time.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Azacitidine: powder for injection 100 mg in vial

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Azacitidine has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

Cytarabine and daunorubicin were included on the EML for induction and consolidation therapy of acute myeloid leukaemia following a comprehensive review of cancer medicines undertaken by the Expert Committee in 2015 (1).

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Acute myeloid leukaemia is a common leukaemia subtype and has a poor prognosis.

Globally, almost 120 000 incident cases of acute myeloid leukaemia were recorded in 2017, with an age-standardized incidence rate of 1.54 per 100 000. Geographically, the highest burden is seen in South Asia and Western Europe regions. Since 1990, the number of deaths related to acute myeloid leukaemia worldwide has almost doubled, from 52 000 to 100 000 in 2017 (2).

Most incident cases of acute myeloid leukaemia occur in adults older than 65 years, and this group has a particularly poor prognosis. Patients with acute myeloid leukaemia have a lower baseline quality of life than individuals with other cancers, and the quality of life may be greatly affected because of the treatment (3).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The applicants conducted a literature search for randomized trials and systematic reviews of azacitidine used in treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia and conducted a meta-analysis of the results. Risk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool, and judgements about precision, consistency, directness and likelihood of publication bias were made following the GRADE approach.

Four systematic reviews (4-7) (used to identify relevant studies) and nine randomized trials (8-16) were identified.

In general, trials included patients older than 65 years and randomized participants to receive azacitidine or a conventional treatment regimen (standard chemotherapy, cytarabine in low dose, lenalidomide or observation only). In most of the identified trials, azacitidine was used during the induction phase. It was used only in the consolidation phase after induction with standard chemotherapy in four trials (9, 13, 14, 16).

The meta-analysis undertaken by applicants included six trials (1125 participants) and showed that the use of azacitidine in patients with acute myeloid leukaemia might increase overall survival by about 0.2 months (hazard ratio (HR) 0.96, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.69 to 1.35). The certainty of the evidence was judged low due to imprecision (because the CI does not exclude potential harm with azacitidine) and inconsistency (because of unexplained heterogeneity introduced by one trial (*15*)).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Compared with standard chemotherapy, azacitidine may not increase the risk of adverse events. From the nine trials (1409 participants) included in the meta-analysis, a similar incidence of adverse events was observed with or without azacitidine (relative risk (RR) 0.99, 95% CI 0.80 to 1.23; low-certainty evidence). The most commonly reported adverse events were febrile neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, infection and gastrointestinal symptoms.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The applicants identified four cost-utility analyses that evaluated the cost-effectiveness of azacitidine for treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia (17) or myelodysplastic syndromes (18–20). One study was excluded from the evidence synthesis due to serious limitations making the results unreliable (20).

A cost-utility analysis was done from a third payer perspective based on the Canadian health system (17). Using a 25-month time horizon, the base-case incremental cost-effectiveness ratio for azacitidine compared with conventional care regimens was 160 438 Canadian dollars (Can\$) per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained. The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio was similar using a life-time horizon (Can\$ 160 373 per QALY). Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios in the range of Can\$ 50 000–140 000 per QALY gained have been reported for Canadian reimbursement decisions.

The cost-utility analyses conducted for azacitidine in myelodysplastic syndromes reported less favourable incremental cost-effectiveness ratios. However, this indication was not considered by the application.

The applicants report that national reimbursement agencies in Australia, Peru and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland have evaluated the cost-effectiveness of azacitidine and, despite ratios higher than standard reimbursement thresholds, they recommended coverage because of the lack of other effective treatments in individuals unsuitable for intensive chemotherapy.

#### Availability

Azacitidine has marketing approval from many national regulatory agencies, including the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, the European Medicines Agency, Health Canada, the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency and the United States Food and Drug Administration. It is available in branded and generic forms.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it does not support the inclusion of azacitidine injection on the EML for the treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia.

The Working Group noted that the observed magnitude of benefit for azacitidine in acute myeloid leukaemia in terms of overall survival is modest, and below the threshold for benefit established for EML consideration. The Working Group recognized that acute myeloid leukaemia is a disease with a poor prognosis and an unmet clinical need for effective treatment exists, particularly for older patients (> 60 years). However, azacitidine is not a curative treatment option and provides only a small benefit.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that despite the substantial unmet need for effective therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia in patients unsuitable for intensive induction chemotherapy, the clinical impact of injectable azacitidine on survival is small when compared with other medicines listed in the EML, such as cytarabine and daunorubicin. Moreover, treatment with azacitidine is associated with substantial toxicity and increases the need for high-level supportive care, such as red cell and platelet transfusions and antibiotic treatments. Clearer definition of subgroups of patients who benefit the most in terms of increased survival and more compelling evidence of efficacy in the maintenance setting are required before injectable azacitidine could warrant reconsideration. The Committee also noted that, despite the availability of generic formulations, prices are still high and are an important barrier to access in many countries.

Therefore, the Committee recommended that azacitidine for acute myeloid leukaemia should not be added to the complementary list of the EML at this time.

References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 2. Yi M, Li A, Zhou L, Chu Q, Song Y, Wu K. The global burden and attributable risk factor analysis of acute myeloid leukemia in 195 countries and territories from 1990 to 2017: estimates based on the global burden of disease study 2017. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):72.
- Bosshard R, O'Reilly K, Ralston S, Chadda S, Cork D. Systematic reviews of economic burden and health-related quality of life in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;69:224–32.
- 4. Shapiro RM, Lazo-Langner A. Systematic review of azacitidine regimens in myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. BMC Hematol. 2018;18:3.
- Kunacheewa C, Thongthang P, Ungprasert P, Utchariyaprasit E, Owattanapanich W. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy and adverse events of azacitidine-plus-lenalidomide treatment for patients with acute myeloid leukemia, myelodysplastic syndromes and chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (1). Hematology. 2019;24(1):498–506.
- Wen B, You W, Yang S, Du X. Indirect comparison of azacitidine and decitabine for the therapy of elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2020;9:3.
- Tikhonova IA, Hoyle MW, Snowsill TM, Cooper C, Varley-Campbell JL, Rudin CE, et al. Azacitidine for treating acute myeloid leukaemia with more than 30% bone marrow blasts: an evidence review group perspective of a National Institute for Health and Care Excellence single technology appraisal. Pharmacoeconomics. 2017;35(3):363–73.
- Seymour JF, Döhner H, Minden MD, Stone R, Gambini D, Dougherty D, et al. Incidence rates of treatment-emergent adverse events and related hospitalization are reduced with azacitidine compared with conventional care regimens in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2017;58(6):1412–23.
- 9. Müller-Tidow C, Tschanter P, Röllig C, Thiede C, Koschmieder A, Stelljes M, et al. Azacitidine in combination with intensive induction chemotherapy in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: the AML-AZA trial of the Study Alliance Leukemia. Leukemia. 2016;30(3):555–61.
- 10. Schlenk RF, Weber D, Herr W, Wulf G, Salih HR, Derigs HG, et al. Randomized phase-II trial evaluating induction therapy with idarubicin and etoposide plus sequential or concurrent azacitidine and maintenance therapy with azacitidine. Leukemia. 2019;33(8):1923–33.
- 11. Montesinos P, Vives S, Martinez-Sanchez MP, Bergua J, Algarra L, Pilar H, et al. Preliminary results of the flugaza trial: a phase iii randomized, open label study comparing azacytidine versus fludarabine and cytarabine (FLUGA scheme) in elderly patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2016;128(22):4036.
- 12. Medeiros BC, McCaul K, Kambhampati S, Pollyea DA, Kumar R, Silverman LR, et al. Randomized study of continuous high-dose lenalidomide, sequential azacitidine and lenalidomide, or azacitidine in persons 65 years and over with newly-diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2018;103(1):101–6.
- 13. Huls G, Chitu DA, Havelange V, Jongen-Lavrencic M, van de Loosdrecht AA, Biemond BJ, et al. Azacitidine maintenance after intensive chemotherapy improves DFS in older AML patients. Blood. 2019;133(13):1457–64.

240

- 14. Hunault-Berger M, Maillard N, Himberlin C, Recher C, Schmidt-Tanguy A, Choufi B, et al. Maintenance therapy with alternating azacitidine and lenalidomide in elderly fit patients with poor prognosis acute myeloid leukemia: a phase II multicentre FILO trial. Blood Cancer J. 2017;7(6):e568.
- 15. Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Hellström-Lindberg E, Santini V, Gattermann N, Germing U, et al. Azacitidine prolongs overall survival compared with conventional care regimens in elderly patients with low bone marrow blast count acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(4):562–9.
- 16. Oliva EN, Candoni A, Salutari P, Di Raimondo F, Reda G, Capelli D, et al. Azacitidine for postremission therapy in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia : final results of the Qoless AZA-Amle randomized trial. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl 1):117.
- 17. Coyle D, Villeneuve PJA. Economic evaluation of azacitidine in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia with high blast counts. Pharmacoecon Open. 2020;4(2):297–305.
- 18. Crespo C, Moreno E, Sierra J, Serip S, Rubio M. Cost–effectiveness analysis of azacitidine in the treatment of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes in Spain. Health Econ Rev. 2013;3(1):28.
- 19. Levy AR, Zou D, Risebrough N, Buckstein R, Kim T, Brereton N. Cost-effectiveness in Canada of azacitidine for the treatment of higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. Curr Oncol. 2014;21(1):e29–40.
- 20. Gidwani R, Khan ZM, Fenaux P, Beach CL, Pashos CL. A cost–effectiveness analysis of using azacitidine vs. decitabine in treating patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. J Med Econ. 2012;15(1):145–54.

*Cancer medicines for low-grade glioma – new indication – EML and EMLc* 

Carboplatin	ATC Code: L01XA02
Cisplatin	ATC Code: L01XA01
Cyclophosphamide	ATC Code: L01AA01
Vinblastine	ATC Code: L01CA01
Vincristine	ATC Code: L01CA02

#### Proposal

Extension of the indications for carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine and vincristine on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include treatment of low-grade glioma in children and adolescents.

#### Applicant

European Society for Paediatric Oncology (SIOP Europe)

#### WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that, in line with the recommendation from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group, the inclusion of the indication of low-grade glioma for carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine and vincristine on EMLc is appropriate. These medicines and accompanying treatment protocols are well established, recognized as the standard of care and associated with clinical benefits, including improved survival and reduction in the long-term sequelae from alternate treatments. The extension of the indication for these medicines also supports the effort the WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer, which has low-grade glioma as one of the six priority cancers.

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Carboplatin: injection 50 mg/5 mL, 150 mg/15 mL, 450 mg/45 mL, 600 mg/60 mL Cisplatin: injection 10 mg/10 mL, 20 mg/20 mL, 50 mg/50 mL, 100 mg/100 mL Cyclophosphamide: powder for injection 200 mg, 500 mg, 750 mg, 1000 mg and 2000 mg in vial

Vinblastine: injection 10 mg/10 mL

Vincristine: injection 1 mg/mL, 2 mg/2 mL

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Chemotherapy for the treatment of low-grade glioma has not previously been considered by the Expert Committee.

All the proposed medicines are currently included on the EML and EMLc for other cancer indications.

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Brain tumours are the largest group of solid tumours in children and account for about one quarter of all cancers in children younger than 15 years. Low-grade gliomas are the most common paediatric brain tumours, estimated to account for around 40% of all central nervous system tumours in children younger than 18 years (1). The annual incidence of paediatric low-grade glioma is 10 per 1 million in high-income countries. Incidence rates vary among high-, middle-and low-income countries; data are not available for some regions where imaging methods required for diagnosis or centralized cancer registries are not available (2). The median age at diagnosis is 6 to 8 years (3).

Low-grade gliomas are WHO grade I and II tumours (4) of glial origin; they are rather slow-growing tumours. Low-grade gliomas can occur anywhere in the brain and spinal cord, but most appear in the cerebral and cerebellar hemispheres. Dissemination develops in only a very small proportion of patients (5–10%). Low-grade gliomas can be associated with cancer predisposition syndromes, such as neurofibromatosis type 1 and tuberous sclerosis complex.

The clinical course of low-grade glioma is very varied and not always predictable at diagnosis. Age at diagnosis, histological subtype and biological tumour characteristics all affect the clinical course. Some low-grade gliomas do not need treatment but are monitored to follow the clinical course, other types need neurosurgery or chemotherapy only, and other types need a combination of chemotherapy and radiotherapy.

In general, low-grade gliomas have a 10-year overall survival rate of 90–95% and 10-year progression-free survival rate of around 44% (3, 5). However, these rates might differ for some subtypes or if additional risk factors are present, such as BRAF V600E mutation. Low-grade glioma is considered a chronic disease with periods of stable disease, followed by progressive tumour growth needing treatment, followed by a stable period again. The effectiveness and feasibility of repeated chemotherapy in progressive low-grade glioma has

been shown in a small trial (38 patients) to result in 5-year overall survival and progression-free survival rates of 86% and 37%, respectively (6).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The International Society of Paediatric Oncology–Low Grade Glioma trial (SIOP-LGG-2004 trial) is a cooperative multicentre randomized controlled trial for children and adolescents with low-grade glioma, without neurofibromatosis type 1-associated visual pathway glioma at high risk of progression (7). Paediatric oncology societies from 11 European countries participated in this trial, which consisted of two arms: (i) standard chemotherapy induction (vincristine, carboplatin), or (ii) intensified chemotherapy induction (vincristine, carboplatin, etoposide).

Both treatments were followed by a consolidation phase with vincristine and carboplatin, or, in case of allergy or early progression, with vincristine, cisplatin and cyclophosphamide.

Standard induction consisted of 10 weekly doses of vincristine 1.5 mg/ m<sup>2</sup> by intravenous (IV) bolus and four doses of carboplatin 550 mg/m<sup>2</sup> by IV infusion at 3-week intervals followed by three cycles of simultaneous vincristine and carboplatin at 4-week intervals. Intensification with etoposide 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> by IV infusion was added on days 1–3 in weeks 1, 4, 7 and 10. For consolidation, patients in both arms received 10 6-week cycles of vincristine 1.5 mg/m<sup>2</sup> IV on days 1, 8 and 15 and carboplatin 550 mg/m<sup>2</sup> IV on day 1. The total duration of chemotherapy was 18 months. Dose modifications were advised for children weighing less than 10 kg and for children younger than 6 months. Dose reductions were prescribed in case of haematological or organ toxicity. Grade I hypersensitivity reactions to carboplatin permitted the repeated administration under close surveillance, premedication and slowed infusion rate. In cases of Grade II or higher hypersensitivity reactions, replacement of carboplatin with cycles of cisplatin (30 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, day 1 and 2) and cyclophosphamide (1500 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, day 1) was recommended (7).

One of the aims of the SIOP-LGG-2004 trial was to determine if etoposide added to standard induction with vincristine and carboplatin increased progression-free survival. The trial found no difference in terms of survival and radiological response between the two arms. The 5-year progression-free survival and overall survival were 46% and 89%, respectively, in the vincristine/ carboplatin arm and 45% and 89%, respectively in the vincristine/carboplatin/ etoposide arm. If the same progression-free survival and overall survival can be reached with a two-drug regimen, this is preferred over a three-drug regimen, especially because etoposide is also known to cause considerable late effects, such as secondary haematological malignancies. These results support the role of vincristine and carboplatin as the standard of care for induction chemotherapy for low-grade glioma. Subgroup analyses of the SIOP-LGG-2004 trial also show the benefit of vincristine plus carboplatin in terms of overall survival in patients with low-grade glioma of the brainstem (8), tectal plate (9) and thalamus (10).

Vinblastine monotherapy is used in first- and second-line treatment of low-grade glioma. A phase II study evaluated the efficacy of vinblastine 6 mg/m<sup>2</sup> administered once a week for 70 weeks in 54 paediatric patients who had not received prior chemotherapy for progressive low-grade glioma. The time to best response was 52 weeks. The total response rate was 25.9%: one complete response, nine partial responses and four minor responses. Thirty-four patients had stable disease and six patients had progressive disease. After median followup of 5 years, the 5-year overall survival was 94.4% and 5-year progression-free survival was 53.2%. Two thirds of participants required a reduction in vinblastine dose, mainly due to haematological toxicity (neutropenia) (*11*).

Another phase II study evaluated the efficacy of vinblastine 6 mg/m<sup>2</sup> administered once a week for 1 year in 50 paediatric patients with recurrent or refractory low-grade glioma. The median time to best response was 12 months. The total response rate was 36%: one complete response, 10 partial responses and seven minor responses. Nineteen patients had stable disease and 13 patients had progressive disease. After median follow-up of 67 months, the 5-year overall survival rate was 93.2% and the estimated 5-year event-free survival was 42.3% (*12*).

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The most commonly reported grade 3 and 4 toxicities associated with the vincristine plus carboplatin regimen in the SIOP-LGG-400 trial were haematological events, infection and nausea/vomiting. Thirty-one patients experienced at least one allergic event to carboplatin (7).

In the phase II studies of vinblastine monotherapy, overall, treatment was well tolerated. The most frequently reported adverse events were haematological events (neutropenia), infection and fever (*11*, *12*).

Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable.

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of low-grade glioma are not available. However, low-grade glioma is one of the six tracer cancers in the WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer. This initiative seeks to increase countries' capacity to provide quality services for children with cancer, and increase prioritization of childhood cancer at national, regional and global levels. The goal of the initiative is to achieve a 60% survival rate for children with cancer by 2030 and reduce suffering from childhood cancer globally.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Based on vial prices from the Netherlands, a single treatment course of induction and consolidation chemotherapy with vincristine and carboplatin for a child with body surface area of 1 m<sup>2</sup> is estimated to cost about  $\in$  4172. A single treatment course of vinblastine monotherapy for a child with body surface area of 1 m<sup>2</sup> is estimated to cost about  $\in$  1983. The total duration of treatment (number of treatment courses) can vary largely between patients, due to the heterogeneous nature of the clinical course of low-grade glioma.

#### Availability

Carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine and vincristine are already included on the EML and EMLc and are available globally in branded and generic versions.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supported the expansion of the listings on the EMLc for carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine and vincristine to include the indication of low-grade glioma.

The Working Group recognized that the evidence presented is not always from large randomized controlled trials, but that the treatment protocols are associated with relevant benefits and are recognized as the standard of care for treatment of paediatric low-grade glioma and this supports the inclusion of these medicines on the EMLc. The Working Group acknowledged that the availability of clinical evidence in paediatrics was limited but considered that obtaining the usual level of evidence required for EML listings was unlikely. In this case, efficacy and safety could be accepted based on extrapolation of the well known benefits and harms from use of these medicines in adults, for other indications in children and as part of standard cancer care in children.

Noting that the EMLc lists medicines for the treatment of children up to 12 years of age, and that low-grade glioma also affects older children and adolescents, the Working Group also supports inclusion of these medicines on the EML for this indication.

Expanding the EMLc indications for these medicines would also support the goals of WHO's Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer and contribute towards the achievement of the best possible cancer care for children.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that low-grade glioma is the most common type of paediatric brain tumour and is one of the priority paediatric cancers in WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer.

Despite the limitation in the evidence presented in the application, treatment protocols including carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide,

vinblastine and vincristine in low-grade glioma are recognized as the standard of care and are associated with some benefits. Therefore, the Committee recommended the extension of current listings on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for carboplatin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vinblastine and vincristine to include the indication low-grade gliomas. The Committee also recommended the inclusion of additional formulations and strengths of cisplatin, vinblastine and vincristine as proposed in the application.

## References

- 1. Udaka YT, Packer RJ. Pediatric brain tumors. Neurol Clin. 2018;36(3):533–56.
- Hessissen L, Parkes J, Amayiri N, Mushtaq N, Sirachainan N, Anacak Y, et al. SIOP PODC adapted treatment guidelines for low grade gliomas in low and middle income settings. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2017;64(Suppl 5).
- Gnekow AK, Kandels D, Tilburg CV, Azizi AA, Opocher E, Stokland T, et al. SIOP-E-BTG and GPOH guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of children and adolescents with low grade glioma. Klin Padiatr. 2019;231(3):107–35.
- 4. WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. WHO classification of tumours, revised 4th edition. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2016.
- Scheinemann K, Bouffet E, editors. Pediatric neuro-oncology. First edition. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2015.
- Scheinemann K, Bartels U, Tsangaris E, Hawkins C, Huang A, Dirks P, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of repeated chemotherapy for progressive pediatric low-grade gliomas. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;57(1):84–8.
- Gnekow AK, Walker DA, Kandels D, Picton S, Giorgio P, Grill J, et al. A European randomised controlled trial of the addition of etoposide to standard vincristine and carboplatin induction as part of an 18-month treatment programme for childhood (≤ 16 years) low grade glioma – a final report. Eur J Cancer. 2017;81:206–25.
- Holzapfel J, Kandels D, Schmidt R, Pietsch T, Warmuth-Metz M, Bison B, et al. Favorable prognosis in pediatric brainstem low-grade glioma: report from the German SIOP-LGG 2004 cohort. Int J Cancer. 2020;146(12):3385–96.
- Kaufmann A, Gerber NU, Kandels D, Azizi AA, Schmidt R, Warmuth-Metz M, et al. Management of primary tectal plate low-grade glioma in pediatric patients: results of the multicenter treatment study SIOP-LGG 2004. Neuropediatrics. 2018;49(5):314–23.
- Boesten T, Gerber NU, Kandels D, Azizi AA, Schmidt R, Warmuth-Metz M, et al. Management of primary thalamic low-grade glioma in pediatric patients: results of the multicenter treatment studies HIT-LGG 1996 and SIOP-LGG 2004. Neurooncol Pract. 2017;4(1):29–39.
- 11. Lassaletta A, Scheinemann K, Zelcer SM, Hukin J, Wilson BA, Jabado N, et al. Phase II weekly vinblastine for chemotherapy-naïve children with progressive low-grade glioma: a Canadian Pediatric Brain Tumor Consortium study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(29):3537–43.
- Bouffet E, Jakacki R, Goldman S, Hargrave D, Hawkins C, Shroff M, et al. Phase II study of weekly vinblastine in recurrent or refractory pediatric low-grade glioma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(12):1358–63.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Cancer medicines for children – new indications – EML and EMLc

# Cancer medicines for children – new indications ATC Code: various

## Proposal

Addition of new indications for currently listed cancer medicines on the EMLc.

Medicine	Indication(s)
Carboplatin	Nephroblastoma, ovarian and testicular germ cell tumours
Cyclophosphamide	Nephroblastoma
Dactinomycin	Ewing sarcoma
Dexamethasone	Burkitt lymphoma
Etoposide	Acute myeloid leukaemia, nephroblastoma, osteosarcoma
Hydrocortisone	Burkitt lymphoma
lfosfamide	Burkitt lymphoma, nephroblastoma
Imatinib	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
Irinotecan	Nephroblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma
Methotrexate	Burkitt lymphoma
Methylprednisolone	Burkitt lymphoma

# Applicant

European Society for Paediatric Oncology (SIOP Europe)

# WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

# EML/EMLc

EMLc

## Section

- 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines
- 8.2.2 Targeted therapies
- 8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Dose forms and strengths currently included in the EMLc

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

# Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) The proposed medicines are all included on the EMLc for other cancer indications.

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Cancer is a leading cause of death in children globally; the most common cancer types in children are leukaemias, lymphomas and central nervous system tumours (1). Childhood cancers generally cannot be prevented or screened for, so improving outcomes for children with cancer relies on early and accurate diagnosis and access to effective treatments. In 2018, WHO launched the Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer, to provide leadership and technical assistance to Member States to build and sustain high-quality childhood cancer programmes. The goal of this initiative is to achieve at least 60% survival for all children with cancer globally by 2030 (2).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Cancer in children and adolescents is almost exclusively treated according to national and international treatment protocols. This is the case for first treatment and relapsed and refractory disease. Treatment regimens are devised by clinical experts from relevant tumour groups and are further developments of previous regimens. Often these treatment protocols consist of the standard arm that has proven to be effective based on previous experimental trials. All medicines proposed in this application are part of international treatment regimens and are considered the standard of care.

# Acute myeloid leukaemia – etoposide

Etoposide is included in multiple trial regimens as standard therapy for children with acute myeloid leukaemia, including the AML-BFM 2012 (*3*), NOPHO-DBH AML 2012 (*4*) and ML DS 2006 (5) trials.

# Nephroblastoma – carboplatin, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, ifosfamide, irinotecan

Carboplatin, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, ifosfamide and irinotecan are included as chemotherapy interventions along with dactinomycin, doxorubicin,

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

melphalan and vincristine in the SIOP 2001/GPOH (6) and Umbrella SIOP-RTSG 2016 (7) trial regimens for nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour).

# Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – imatinib

Imatinib is included in the ALLTogether trial regimen for children and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (8) and the EsPhALL trial regimen for children with Philadelphia chromosome-positive (Ph+) acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (9).

# Ewing sarcoma – dactinomycin

Dactinomycin is included in many trial regimens for Ewing sarcoma, including EICESS-92 (*10*), Euro-Ewing 2012 (*11*, *12*) and Euro-Ewing 99 (*13*, *14*) trials.

# Ovarian and testicular germ cell tumours - carboplatin

Carboplatin is included in the MAKEI-V regimen for malignant extracranial germ cell tumours (15), and is recommended in chemotherapy regimens for extracranial germ cell tumours in children and adolescents in guidelines issued by the Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (16).

# Burkitt lymphoma – dexamethasone, hydrocortisone, ifosfamide, methylprednisolone, methotrexate

Dexamethasone, ifosfamide and methotrexate are included in the LBL 2018 regimen for Burkitt lymphoma (*17*). Hydrocortisone, methylprednisolone and methotrexate are included in the Inter-B-NHL Ritux 2010 regimen (*18*, *19*).

# Osteosarcoma – etoposide

Etoposide is included in the French OS2006 regimen for osteosarcoma (20,21).

# Rhabdomyosarcoma – irinotecan

Irinotecan is included in the EpSSG FaR-RMS (*22*) and the VIT-0910 regimens for frontline or relapsed or refractory rhabdomyosarcoma (*23*, *24*).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Chemotherapy is associated with serious adverse events in the acute setting and also in the long term in cancer survivors; it therefore requires close monitoring (25-27). All proposed medicines in this application are already included on the EMLc. Their safety profiles are well known as a result of long-standing experience with their use.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

**WHO guidelines** 

WHO guidelines for the treatment of paediatric cancer are not available.

Burkitt lymphoma and nephroblastoma are among the six tracer cancers in the WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not reported in the application.

## Availability

The proposed medicines are already included on the EMLc and are available in branded and generic forms.

## Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supported expansion of the listings on the EMLc for the proposed cancer medicines for the proposed new indications. These medicines are all used in standard, multimodal chemotherapy protocols for the proposed indications. Expanding the EMLc indications for these medicines would support the goals of WHO Global Paediatric Cancer initiative and contribute towards the achievement of the best possible cancer care for children.

The Working Group acknowledged that the availability of clinical evidence in the paediatric context was limited but considered that obtaining the usual level of evidence required for EML listings was unlikely. In this case, efficacy and safety could be accepted based on extrapolation of the well known benefits and harms from use of these medicines in adults, for other indications in children and as part of standard cancer care in children.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that the incidence of paediatric tumours has been steadily increasing over the past decades with the largest increases reported in youngest children.

The Expert Committee recommended the extension of the current listings on the complementary list of the EMLc of the medicines outlined in the following table for the indications specified. Noting that these paediatric cancers also affect older children and adolescents, the Committee also recommended extending the listings for these medicines on the EML.

Medicine	Indication(s)
Carboplatin	Nephroblastoma, ovarian and testicular germ cell tumours
Cyclophosphamide	Nephroblastoma

Medicine	Indication(s)
Dactinomycin	Ewing sarcoma
Dexamethasone	Burkitt lymphoma
Etoposide	Acute myeloid leukaemia, nephroblastoma, osteosarcoma
Hydrocortisone	Burkitt lymphoma
Ifosfamide	Burkitt lymphoma, nephroblastoma
Imatinib	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
Irinotecan	Nephroblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma
Methotrexate	Burkitt lymphoma
Methylprednisolone	Burkitt lymphoma

Table continued

The Committee noted that administration of intravenous cyclophosphamide or ifosfamide required the use of the accompanying medicine mesna to prevent haemorrhagic cystitis commonly associated with these treatments. The Committee therefore also recommended the extension of the current listing for mesna on the EML and EMLc to include the indications of nephroblastoma and Burkitt lymphoma.

# References

- Steliarova-Foucher E, Colombet M, Ries LAG, Moreno F, Dolya A, Bray F, et al. International incidence of childhood cancer, 2001–10: a population-based registry study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(6):719–31.
- WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer: an overview. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/global-initiative-for-childhood-cancer, accessed 18 May 2021).
- AML-BFM-2012 Clinical trial for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia in children and adolescents. Amsterdam: EU Clinical Trials Register; 2014 (EudraCT number 2013-000018-39; https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2013-000018-39/DE, accessed 18 May 2021).
- NOPHO-DBH AML 2012 protocol. Research study for treatment of children and adolescents with acute myeloid leukaemia 0–18 years. Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2013 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01828489; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01828489, accessed 18 May 2021).
- 5. Phase III clinical trial for CPX-351 in myeloid leukemia in children with down syndrome 2018. Amsterdam: EU Clinical Trials Register; 2020 (EudraCT number 2018-002988-25; https://www. clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2018-002988-25/DE, accessed 18 May 2021).
- Chemotherapy before and after surgery in treating children with Wilm's tumor. Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2003 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00047138; https://www. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00047138, accessed 18 May 2021).

- UMBRELLA protocol SIOP-RTSG 2016 Integrated research and guidelines for standardized diagnostics and therapy of kidney tumours in children, adolescents and young adults. Cologne: Deutsches Register Klinischer Studien; 2017 (DRKS-ID: DRKS00011208; https://www.drks.de/ drks\_web/navigate.do?navigationId=trial.HTML&TRIAL\_ID=DRKS00011208, accessed 18 May 2021).
- A treatment study protocol of the ALLTogether Consortium for Children and Young Adults (1–45 Years of Age) With Newly Diagnosed Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (ALL): a pilot study. Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2019 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03911128; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03911128, accessed 18 May 2021).
- Safety and efficacy of imatinib added to chemotherapy in treatment of Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children (ESPHALL). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2006 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00287105; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00287105, accessed 18 May 2021).
- Paulussen M, Craft AW, Lewis I, Hackshaw A, Douglas C, Dunst J, et al. Results of the EICESS-92 study: two randomized trials of Ewing's sarcoma treatment--cyclophosphamide compared with ifosfamide in standard-risk patients and assessment of benefit of etoposide added to standard treatment in high-risk patients. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(27):4385–93.
- 11. Combination chemotherapy with or without peripheral stem cell transplantation, radiation therapy, and/or surgery in treating patients with Ewing's sarcoma. Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2003 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00020566; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT00020566, accessed 18 May 2021).
- 12. Brennan B, Kirton L, Marec-Berard P, Martin-Broto JM, Gelderblom H, Gaspar N, et al. Comparison of two chemotherapy regimens in Ewing sarcoma (ES): overall and subgroup results of the Euro Ewing 2012 randomized trial (EE2012). J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(15 Suppl):11500.
- 13. Le Deley MC, Paulussen M, Lewis I, Brennan B, Ranft A, Whelan J, et al. Cyclophosphamide compared with ifosfamide in consolidation treatment of standard-risk Ewing sarcoma: results of the randomized noninferiority Euro-EWING99-R1 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(23):2440–8.
- 14. Whelan J, Le Deley MC, Dirksen U, Le Teuff G, Brennan B, Gaspar N, et al. High-dose chemotherapy and blood autologous stem-cell rescue compared with standard chemotherapy in localized high-risk Ewing sarcoma: results of Euro-E.W.I.N.G.99 and Ewing-2008. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(31):Jco2018782516.
- Multicentre prospective trial for extracranial malignant germ cell tumours including a randomized comparison of carboplatin and cisplatin. Amsterdam: EU Clinical Trials Register; 2019 (EudraCT number 2016-001784-36; https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2016-001784-36/ DE, accessed 18 May 2021).
- Interim guidelines for the treatment of extracranial germ cell tumours in children and adolescents. Leicester: Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group; 2018 (https://www.cclg.org. uk/write/MediaUploads/Member%20area/Treatment%20guidelines/614\_Extracranial\_GCT\_ Guidance\_updated\_June\_2018.pdf, accessed 18 May 2021).
- International cooperative treatment protocol for children and adolescents with lymphoblastic lymphoma (LBL 2018). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2019 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04043494; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04043494, accessed 18 May 2021).
- Minard-Colin V, Aupérin A, Pillon M, Burke GAA, Barkauskas DA, Wheatley K, et al. Rituximab for high-risk, mature b-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in children. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(23):2207–19.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 19. Intergroup trial for children or adolescents with B-cell NHL Or B-AL: evaluation of rituximab efficacy and safety in high risk patients Amsterdam: EU Clinical Trials Register; 2011 (EudraCT number 2010-019224-31; https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2010-019224-31/ NL, accessed 18 May 2021).
- Combined chemotherapy with or without zoledronic acid for patients with osteosarcoma (OS2006). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2007 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00470223; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00470223, accessed 18 May 2021).
- 21. Gaspar N, Occean BV, Pacquement H, Bompas E, Bouvier C, Brisse HJ, et al. Results of methotrexateetoposide-ifosfamide based regimen (M-EI) in osteosarcoma patients included in the French OS2006/sarcome-09 study. Eur J Cancer. 2018;88:57–66.
- FaR-RMS: an overarching study for children and adults with Frontline and Relapsed RhabdoMyoSarcoma. Amsterdam: EU Clinical Trials Register; 2020 (EudraCT number 2018-000515-24; https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2018-000515-24/NL, accessed 18 May 2021).
- 23. Defachelles AS, Bogart E, Casanova M, Merks H, Bisogno G, Calareso G, et al. Randomized phase 2 trial of the combination of vincristine and irinotecan with or without temozolomide, in children and adults with refractory or relapsed rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS). J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15 Suppl):10000.
- Vincristine and irinotecan with or without temozolomide in children and adults with refractory/ relapsed rhabdomyosarcoma (VIT-0910). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2011 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01355445; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01355445, accessed 18 May 2021).
- 25. Institute of Medicine, National Research Council. Hewitt M, Weiner SL, Simone JV, editors. Childhood cancer survivorship: improving care and quality of life. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2003:224.
- 26. Landier W, Bhatia S, Eshelman DA, Forte KJ, Sweeney T, Hester AL, et al. Development of risk-based guidelines for pediatric cancer survivors: the Children's Oncology Group long-term follow-up guidelines from the Children's Oncology Group Late Effects Committee and Nursing Discipline. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(24):4979–90.
- 27. Wasilewski-Masker K, Mertens AC, Patterson B, Meacham LR. Severity of health conditions identified in a pediatric cancer survivor program. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2010;54(7):976–82.

254

Cancer medicines for head and neck cancer – review – EML

# Carboplatin

## ATC Code: L01XA02

# Proposal

The application presented an updated review of platinum-based chemotherapy for the treatment of early- and advanced-stage head and neck cancer.

Cisplatin is already included on the EML for this indication. Carboplatin is proposed for inclusion as an alternative to cisplatin.

# Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile

Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago-Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department concurred with the conclusion that carboplatin provides similar clinical benefit to cisplatin, with a different safety profile and less toxicity. The technical department agreed that the addition of carboplatin to the EML for use in the treatment of head and neck cancer as a radiosensitizer primarily relates to patients unable to tolerate cisplatin.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection 50 mg/5 mL, 150 mg/15 mL, 450 mg/45 mL, 600 mg/60 mL

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing EML

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

As part of the comprehensive review of cancer medicines undertaken by the Expert Committee in 2015, cisplatin was added to the complementary list of the EML for use as a radiosensitizer in treatment protocols for head and neck cancer. Compared with postoperative radiotherapy alone, the Committee considered that the benefits associated with the addition of cisplatin, in terms of local and regional control rates, disease-free survival and progression-free survival, were of clinical relevance. The Committee also considered that the use of primary combined chemotherapy with cisplatin and radiation was associated with a clinical benefit, compared with radiation alone, in patients who have unresectable tumours (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Head and neck cancers include many site-specific tumours, including oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers. However, about 90% of all head and neck cancers are squamous cell carcinomas (2). This group of cancers accounts for 890 000 new cases and 450 000 deaths annually and is the sixth most common cancer worldwide (3).

Although the incidence for nasopharyngeal cancers has decreased over the past 20 years, the incidence of oropharyngeal and hypopharyngeal cancers, and lip and oral cavity cancers has increased (4). The incidence of head and neck cancer varies markedly by geographical location; it is noticeably more frequent in South Asia and less frequent in western sub-Saharan Africa and Andean Latin America (4, 5).

The prognosis of head and neck cancers depends largely on the location of the tumour and its stage. Overall, the 5-year survival is 66.9%. However, localized stages have a 5-year survival ranging from 62% to 96% depending of the anatomic site, while metastatic disease has a 5-year survival in the range of 20-40% (6).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The applicants conducted a literature search for randomized controlled trials and systematic reviews of platinum-based chemotherapy for head and neck cancer, and conducted a meta-analysis of the results. Risk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool, and judgements about precision, consistency, directness and likelihood of publication bias were made following the GRADE approach.

Seventeen systematic reviews (used to identify relevant studies) were identified (7–23). No new trial evidence was found since the 2015 application.

Eight trials, in seven publications, provided data to estimate the effect of cisplatin or carboplatin on overall survival. Six trials assessed the effect of cisplatin (24-28), while two evaluated carboplatin (29, 30). In almost all of the trials, platinum chemotherapy was used as a single chemotherapy agent; in one trial, it was used in combination with 5-fluorouracil (30). Participants in most of the trials had locally advanced disease.

The meta-analysis showed that the addition of cisplatin or carboplatin to radiotherapy may increase overall survival by 2 months (hazard ratio (HR) 0.95, 95% (confidence interval (CI) 0.80 to 1.12; low-certainty evidence).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Twenty-six trials reporting data on adverse events were identified from the systematic reviews and included in the meta-analysis. The addition cisplatin or carboplatin to radiotherapy may increase the risk of adverse events (risk ratio (RR) 1.16, 95% CI 1.01 to 1.16; low-certainty evidence). In absolute terms, 52 more patients per 1000 experience adverse events. The most common adverse events were mucositis, skin toxicity, dysphagia and stomatitis.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

A meta-analysis of 93 randomized trials (17 346 participants) provides a comprehensive evaluation of the effect of chemotherapies in locally advanced head and neck cancer (31). The meta-analysis showed that chemotherapy, when compared with radiotherapy alone, was associated with a relevant benefit in overall survival, with about 4.5% more patients being alive at 5 years (absolute improvement). This benefit was larger for concomitant chemotherapy, whereas the observed benefit for induction and adjuvant chemotherapies was uncertain. Among chemotherapies, concurrent high-dose cisplatin (100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> on days 1, 22 and 43 during radiotherapy) was the most effective regimen compared with 5-fluorouracil and carboplatin. Based on these results, concurrent chemoradiotherapy with cisplatin became the preferred choice for the treatment of patients with locoregionally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck in the clinical practice guidelines of the European Head and Neck Society, the European Society of Medical Oncology and European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology, and the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (32, 33).

However, platinum-based concomitant chemoradiotherapy has acute and late toxic effects. Adding cisplatin to radiotherapy is associated with acute gastrointestinal, haematological, neurological and renal adverse effects. This

toxicity adds to the toxicity caused by radiotherapy. In randomized controlled trials, the addition of high-dose cisplatin doubled the number of cases of severe acute mucositis (34). More than one third of patients developed severe acute dysphagia (35). Severe adverse effects are also associated with decreased compliance, with a relevant proportion of patients (up to a third) unable to receive all planned cycles of chemotherapy (34, 36). Late toxicity is also extremely problematic when cisplatin-based induction chemotherapy is followed by cisplatin-based concomitant chemoradiotherapy, as it decreases the quality of life of patients for the rest of their lives. For these reasons carboplatin is frequently used in routine clinical practice when cisplatin is not tolerated or contraindicated. Based on the above-mentioned meta-analysis, carboplatin and 5-fluorouracil are considered acceptable alternatives as they are associated with gains in survival (31). Carboplatin has a similar mode of action to cisplatin, but it is associated with less acute and late toxicities (e.g. ototoxicity, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity and emesis) (37, 38). Carboplatin can be used in patients with impaired kidney function and can be easily dosed based on glomerular filtration rate (39).

## **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of head and neck cancers are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No economic evaluation studies were identified.

#### Availability

Carboplatin has marketing approval from many national regulatory agencies, including the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, the European Medicines Agency, Health Canada, the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency and the United States Food and Drug Administration. It is currently included on the Model List for other indications and is available in branded and generic forms.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group noted that concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy using cisplatin or carboplatin is the standard of care for the treatment of head and neck cancers. Both agents are effective radiosensitizers, cisplatin is more active, but also more toxic than carboplatin. The available evidence suggests that there are no significant differences between agents in terms of survival.

The Working Group therefore advised that it supported the inclusion of carboplatin on the Model List as an alternative treatment option to cisplatin for concomitant chemoradiation therapy of head and neck cancers in patients unable to tolerate cisplatin.

#### **Committee Recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy using cisplatin or carboplatin is the standard of care for treating early-stage head and neck cancers and that both agents are effective radiosensitizers.

The evidence presented in the application evaluated overall survival and found only a limited overall survival benefit associated with the addition of cisplatin or carboplatin to radiotherapy compared with radiotherapy alone, with no significant difference between the two agents. However, the Committee noted that the most relevant outcome measure for chemoradiation is local control of the disease, for which both cisplatin and carboplatin are associated with benefit, particularly in early-stage disease. More evidence is available for cisplatin, and it is already included on the EML for head and neck cancer as a radiosensitizer. However, cisplatin is associated with relevant acute and late toxicities and cannot be used in the considerable proportion of patients who are unfit for this chemotherapy. The Committee considered that carboplatin can be an alternative option as a radiosensitizer for patients in whom cisplatin is contraindicated or not tolerated, due to its different and better tolerated toxicity profile.

The Expert Committee also acknowledged that the Cancer Working Group supported the inclusion of carboplatin on the EML as an alternative option to cisplatin for this indication.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of carboplatin as a radiosensitizer for head and neck cancers in patients unable to tolerate cisplatin.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 2. Johnson DE, Burtness B, Leemans CR, Lui VWY, Bauman JE, Grandis JR. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2020;6(1):92.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- Aupérin A. Epidemiology of head and neck cancers: an update. Curr Opin Oncol. 2020;32(3):178– 86.
- Global Burden of Disease Cancer Collaboration, Fitzmaurice C, Abate D, Abbasi N, Abbastabar H, Abd-Allah F, Abdel-Rahman O, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-adjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(12):1749–68.
- 6. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; National Institutes of Health; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/, accessed 16 May 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 7. Dauzier E, Lacas B, Blanchard P, Le Q-T, Simon C, Wolf G, et al. Role of chemotherapy in 5000 patients with head and neck cancer treated by curative surgery: a subgroup analysis of the metaanalysis of chemotherapy in head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol. 2019;95:106–14.
- Suton P, Skelin M, Rakusic Z, Dokuzovic S, Luksic I. Cisplatin-based chemoradiotherapy vs. cetuximab-based bioradiotherapy for p16-positive oropharyngeal cancer: an updated meta-analysis including trials RTOG 1016 and De-ESCALaTE. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2019;276(5):1275–81.
- 9. Haussmann J, Tamaskovics B, Bölke E, Djiepmo-Njanang FJ, Kammers K, Corradini S, et al. Addition of chemotherapy to hyperfractionated radiotherapy in advanced head and neck cancer—a meta-analysis. Strahlenther Onkol. 2019;195(12):1041–9.
- Xu B, Zeng M, Zeng J, Feng J, Yu L. Meta-analysis of clinical trials comparing the efficacy and safety of liposomal cisplatin versus conventional nonliposomal cisplatin in nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN). Medicine. 2018;97(46):e13169.
- 11. Gao P, Gong L, Wang X. Induction chemotherapy in patients with resectable laryngeal cancer: a meta-analysis. Mol Clin Oncol. 2018;9(2):155–62.
- 12. Winquist E, Agbassi C, Meyers BM, Yoo J, Chan KKW; Head and Neck Disease Site Group. Systemic therapy in the curative treatment of head and neck squamous cell cancer: a systematic review. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017;46(1):29.
- 13. Jerzak KJ, Delos Santos K, Saluja R, Lien K, Lee J, Chan KKW. A network meta-analysis of the sequencing and types of systemic therapies with definitive radiotherapy in locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (LASCCHN). Oral Oncol. 2017;71:1–10.
- 14. Lacas B, Bourhis J, Overgaard J, Zhang Q, Grégoire V, Nankivell M, et al. Role of radiotherapy fractionation in head and neck cancers (MARCH): an updated meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(9):1221–37.
- 15. Vidal L, Ben Aharon I, Limon D, Cohen E, Popovtzer A. Role of Induction chemotherapy prior to chemoradiation in head and neck squamous cell cancer—systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer. 2017;23(2):79–83.
- 16. Aguiar PN Jr, Tadokoro H, da Silva GF, Landgraf MM, Noia Barreto CM, Filardi BA, et al. Definitive chemoradiotherapy for squamous head and neck cancer: cisplatin versus carboplatin? A metaanalysis. Future Oncol. 2016;12(23):2755–64.
- 17. Guan J, Zhang Y, Li Q, Zhang Y, Li L, Chen M, et al. A meta-analysis of weekly cisplatin versus three weekly cisplatin chemotherapy plus concurrent radiotherapy (CRT) for advanced head and neck cancer (HNC). Oncotarget. 2016;7(43):70185–93.
- Gupta T, Kannan S, Ghosh-Laskar S, Agarwal JP. Systematic review and meta-analysis of conventionally fractionated concurrent chemoradiotherapy versus altered fractionation radiotherapy alone in the definitive management of locoregionally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2016;28(1):50–61.
- 19. Budach W, Bölke E, Kammers K, Gerber PA, Orth K, Gripp S, et al. Induction chemotherapy followed by concurrent radio-chemotherapy versus concurrent radio-chemotherapy alone as treatment of locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (HNSCC): a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Radiother Oncol. 2016;118(2):238–43.
- 20. Strojan P, Vermorken JB, Beitler JJ, Saba NF, Haigentz Jr M, Bossi P, et al. Cumulative cisplatin dose in concurrent chemoradiotherapy for head and neck cancer: a systematic review. Head Neck. 2016;38(S1):E2151–E8.

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

- 21. Kim R, Hahn S, Shin J, Ock C-Y, Kim M, Keam B, et al. The effect of induction chemotherapy using docetaxel, cisplatin, and fluorouracil on survival in locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Cancer Res Treat. 2016;48(3):907–16.
- 22. Gupta T, Kannan S, Ghosh–Laskar S, Agarwal JP. Concomitant chemoradiotherapy versus altered fractionation radiotherapy in the radiotherapeutic management of locoregionally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: an adjusted indirect comparison meta-analysis. Head Neck. 2015;37(5):670–6.
- 23. Qian X, Ma C, Hoffmann TK, Kaufmann AM, Albers AE. Taxane-cisplatin-fluorouracil as induction chemotherapy for advanced head and neck cancer: a meta-analysis of the 5-year efficacy and safety. Springerplus. 2015;4(1):208.
- 24. Bernier J, Cooper JS, Pajak TF, van Glabbeke M, Bourhis J, Forastiere A, et al. Defining risk levels in locally advanced head and neck cancers: a comparative analysis of concurrent postoperative radiation plus chemotherapy trials of the EORTC (#22931) and RTOG (# 9501). Head Neck. 2005;27(10):843–50.
- 25. Cooper JS, Zhang Q, Pajak TF, Forastiere AA, Jacobs J, Saxman SB, et al. Long-term follow-up of the RTOG 9501/intergroup phase III trial: postoperative concurrent radiation therapy and chemotherapy in high-risk squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(5):1198–205.
- 26. Forastiere AA, Zhang Q, Weber RS, Maor MH, Goepfert H, Pajak TF, et al. Long-term results of RTOG 91-11: a comparison of three nonsurgical treatment strategies to preserve the larynx in patients with locally advanced larynx cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(7):845–52.
- 27. Rishi A, Ghoshal S, Verma R, Oinam AS, Patil VM, Mohinder R, et al. Comparison of concomitant boost radiotherapy against concurrent chemoradiation in locally advanced oropharyngeal cancers: a phase III randomised trial. Radiother Oncol. 2013;107(3):317–24.
- Ghadjar P, Simcock M, Studer G, Allal AS, Ozsahin M, Bernier J, et al. Concomitant cisplatin and hyperfractionated radiotherapy in locally advanced head and neck cancer: 10-year follow-up of a randomized phase III trial (SAKK 10/94). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):524–31.
- 29. Racadot S, Mercier M, Dussart S, Dessard-Diana B, Bensadoun RJ, Martin M, et al. Randomized clinical trial of post-operative radiotherapy versus concomitant carboplatin and radiotherapy for head and neck cancers with lymph node involvement. Radiother Oncol. 2008;87(2):164–72.
- 30. Bourhis J, Sire C, Graff P, Grégoire V, Maingon P, Calais G, et al. Concomitant chemoradiotherapy versus acceleration of radiotherapy with or without concomitant chemotherapy in locally advanced head and neck carcinoma (GORTEC 99-02): an open-label phase 3 randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(2):145–53.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

## Doxorubicin for rhabdomyosarcoma – review – EML and EMLc

#### Doxorubicin

# ATC Code: L01DB01

## Proposal

The application presented a review of evidence for doxorubicin in the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma. Based on the findings of the review, doxorubicin was not proposed by the applicants for inclusion on the Model Lists for this indication.

## Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago– Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical unit advised that in line with the recommendation from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group, the inclusion of doxorubicin in the EMLc for rhabdomyosarcoma is justified given that it addresses a cancer type of public health relevance (rhabdomyosarcoma is the most frequent soft tissue sarcoma in children) and has potential benefits as it is more feasible for use where health systems are weak (where standard chemotherapy regimens are not available or accessible).

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Powder for injection: 10 mg, 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# **Individual / Square box listing** Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Doxorubicin has been included on the EML and EMLc since the first editions of the lists in 1977 and 2007, respectively. The currently endorsed indications for doxorubicin on the Model Lists are:

- EML: acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, Burkitt lymphoma, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, early stage breast cancer, Ewing sarcoma, follicular lymphoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, Kaposi sarcoma, metastatic breast cancer, multiple myeloma, nephroblastoma and osteosarcoma
- EMLc: acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, Burkitt lymphoma, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, Ewing sarcoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, Kaposi sarcoma, nephroblastoma and osteosarcoma.

Medicines currently included on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma are those recommended in the standard ifosfamide, vincristine and dactinomycin (actinomycin-D) (IVA) regimen, and vincristine, dactinomycin and cyclophosphamide (VAC) regimens. Mesna is also included for this indication to accompany the administration of ifosfamide (1).

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Rhabdomyosarcoma is the most common soft tissue sarcoma in children and adolescents, but it is a rare cancer type responsible for around 3% of all paediatric tumours (2). Data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program were used to determine incidence of rhabdomyosarcoma in the United States from 1975 to 2005. Investigators estimated an incidence of 4.4 cases per million children/adolescents a year (3). Rhabdomyosarcoma is divided into six histological groups with different prognoses. Pleomorphic and alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma have the worst overall survival with a 5-year survival of 26.6% and 28.9%, respectively, while embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma has the highest 5-year survival rate (73.9%) (2).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Doxorubicin was considered an effective therapeutic option as a single agent for treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma before the IVA and VAC chemotherapy combinations became the standard of care. With the addition of more medicines, e.g. ifosfamide, in the combinations, the role of doxorubicin and its contribution to overall survival have become less certain (4, 5).

A multicentre, open-label, phase III randomized controlled trial evaluated the addition of doxorubicin to standard IVA chemotherapy in 484 patients with rhabdomyosarcoma aged between 6 months and 21 years (6). Median followup was 63.9 months and during this period neither median overall survival nor median progression-free survival was reached. The 3-year overall survival was 78.3% in the doxorubicin plus IVA group compared with 80.6% in the IVA group (hazard ratio (HR) 1.17, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.82 to 1.67). The 3-year event-free survival was 67.5% in the doxorubicin plus IVA group compared with 63.3% in the IVA group (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.65 to 1.16). Overall, the addition of doxorubicin to IVA chemotherapy did not show statistically significant improvements in outcomes, and may decrease overall survival (lowcertainty evidence).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

From the safety analysis of the randomized trial (6), the use of doxorubicin plus IVA was associated with an increased risk of adverse events, including neutropenia (risk ratio (RR) 1.03, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.09) and infections (RR 1.41, 95% CI 1.24 to 1.61). Grade 3 or 4 leukopenia, anaemia, thrombocytopenia and gastrointestinal adverse events were significantly more common in the doxorubicin plus IVA group than the IVA group.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

A 1977 study evaluated the dose response of doxorubicin in different tumour types. For non-metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma, single-agent doxorubicin produced a tumour response (i.e. reduction in tumour volume) in about 50% of patients. However, the duration of response was limited, with most patients experiencing disease progression after about 3 months (7).

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No economic evaluation studies were identified.

#### Availability

Doxorubicin has marketing approval from many national regulatory agencies, including the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, the European Medicines Agency, Health Canada, the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency and United States Food and Drug Administration. It is currently

included on the Model List for other indications and is available in branded and generic forms.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group noted that the addition of doxorubicin to standard chemotherapy for non-metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma was not associated with increased survival benefit and was associated with increased harms. For this reason, it was not proposed for inclusion on the Model Lists by the applicants.

However, the Working Group also considered that single-agent doxorubicin is nevertheless an effective treatment option for non-metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma and may have a place in cases where standard chemotherapy regimens are not available. As such, it was considered a valuable treatment alternative.

Therefore, the Working Group advised that it supported the inclusion of doxorubicin on the Model Lists for use as a single agent in the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma when standard chemotherapy regimens (IVA and VAC) are not available and/or affordable.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that doxorubicin when added to standard triplet chemotherapy (e.g. IVA and VAC) in patients with rhabdomyosarcoma at high risk of relapse was not associated with increased survival benefit but was associated with increased toxicity. Severe leukopenia, anaemia, gastrointestinal adverse events and infections were more common when doxorubicin was added to combination chemotherapy (e.g. IVA and VAC).

The Committee also noted that doxorubicin was also associated with important cardiotoxicity, especially in children. Therefore, cardiac function has to be evaluated at baseline and at intervals during treatment.

In addition, the Committee noted that tumour responses associated with doxorubicin used as a single agent were usually short-lived.

The Committee considered that the benefit-to-risk ratio of doxorubicin was not favourable in both low- and high-risk patients, and therefore did not recommend the addition of doxorubicin to the complementary list of the EML or EMLc for the new indication of metastatic or non-metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 16 May 2021).

- Amer KM, Thomson JE, Congiusta D, Dobitsch A, Chaudhry A, Li M, et al. Epidemiology, Incidence, and survival of rhabdomyosarcoma subtypes: SEER and ICES database analysis. J Orthop Res. 2019;37(10):2226–30.
- 3. Perez EA, Kassira N, Cheung MC, Koniaris LG, Neville HL, Sola JE. Rhabdomyosarcoma in children: a SEER population based study. J Surg Res. 2011;170(2):e243–51.
- 4. Pervaiz N, Colterjohn N, Farrokhyar F, Tozer R, Figueredo A, Ghert M. A systematic meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of adjuvant chemotherapy for localized resectable soft-tissue sarcoma. Cancer. 2008;113(3):573–81.
- 5. Eriksson M. Histology-driven chemotherapy of soft-tissue sarcoma. Ann Oncol. 2010;21 Suppl 7:vii270–6.
- Bisogno G, Jenney M, Bergeron C, Gallego Melcón S, Ferrari A, Oberlin O, et al. Addition of doseintensified doxorubicin to standard chemotherapy for rhabdomyosarcoma (EpSSG RMS 2005): a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(8):1061–71.

Vinorelbine – new indication – EML and EMLc

## Vinorelbine

# ATC Code: L01CA04

## Proposal

Inclusion of vinorelbine on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma in children and adolescents.

## Applicant

European Society for Paediatric Oncology (SIOP Europe)

## WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical unit advised that it supported the inclusion of vinorelbine on the Model Lists for the new indication of rhabdomyosarcoma. Its inclusion would also be in line with the WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer that seeks to improve childhood cancer patient survival by up to 60% by 2030, with access to essential medicines as a main foundation of the initiative. The unit highlighted that consideration should be given to patient selection (high-risk disease) and capacity for toxicity management (haematological and infections rate).

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Capsule: 20 mg, 30 mg, 80 mg Injection: 10 mg/mL in 1 mL vial; 50 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

A comprehensive review of treatment protocols for rhabdomyosarcoma was considered by the Expert Committee in 2015. The Committee noted that the use

of multidrug chemotherapy regimens comprising vincristine, dactinomycin and cyclophosphamide (VAC) and ifosfamide, vincristine and dactinomycin (IVA), in conjunction with local control measures for the primary tumour, was associated with survival rates of around 70%. The Committee recommended the inclusion of these medicines, along with the cytoprotectant mesna (to be administered with ifosfamide) on the EMLc. As rhabdomyosarcoma also affects children older than 12 years and adolescents, the same medicines were also recommended for inclusion on the EML for this indication (1).

Vinorelbine injection is currently included on the EML for use as part of chemotherapy protocols for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer and metastatic breast cancer in adults.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Soft tissue sarcomas are the fourth biggest group of malignancies in children after leukaemias/lymphomas, brain tumours and bone sarcomas. They account for about 7.4% of all paediatric malignancies. Rhabdomyosarcoma is the most common soft tissue sarcoma in children and adolescents, accounting for 3% of all paediatric cancers (2). The incidence is greatest in people younger than 20 years, with an incidence of 4.4 cases per million a year. The incidence decreases with age, with rhabdomyosarcoma responsible for 1% of solid cancers in adults (3).

Rhabdomyosarcomas are divided into four main subtypes: embryonal, alveolar, pleomorphic and sclerosing/spindle cell (4–6). Embryonal and alveolar are the two most common subtypes of rhabdomyosarcomas with frequencies of 60–70% and 20%, respectively (6). The outcome for children with embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma is much more favourable than the outcome for children with alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma (5-year event free survival 73% versus 29%) (7).

Patients newly diagnosed with rhabdomyosarcoma are assigned to a risk group that takes into account fusion status, clinical group (based on Intergroup Rhabdomyosarcoma Studies), site, nodal stage, tumour size and patient age. Treatment is subsequently adapted to risk groups.

The prognosis for paediatric patients with high-risk and metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma is still unsatisfactory. In a pooled analysis of 788 patients with metastatic (high-risk) rhabdomyosarcoma, treated with multiagent chemotherapy regimens (VAC), VAC with addition of doxorubicin and cisplatin, or VAC with addition of doxorubicin, cisplatin and etoposide, the 3-year event-free survival rate was 34% and the 3-year overall survival rate was 27% (8).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

A pilot study was conducted to define the optimal dose of vinorelbine when used in combination with oral low-dose cyclophosphamide in 18 children with highrisk refractory or recurrent sarcoma who had received prior induction therapy (9). Vinorelbine was administered at a dose of 25 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. Overall, seven objective responses to treatment were observed (one complete remission and six partial remissions). Three of the eight assessable patients with rhabdomyosarcoma had responses to treatment.

Combination therapy with oral cyclophosphamide and intravenous vinorelbine as maintenance treatment was evaluated as part of a multicentre, open-label, randomized, controlled phase III trial in 371 patients aged 6 months to 21 years with non-metastatic, high-risk rhabdomyosarcoma (10). After completion of standard treatment (nine cycles of ifosfamide, vincristine, dactinomycin with or without doxorubicin, and surgery and radiotherapy), patients in remission were randomly assigned to either stop treatment (n = 185) or to continue maintenance chemotherapy (n = 186) with six cycles of intravenous vinorelbine 25 mg/m<sup>2</sup> (days 1, 8 and 15) and daily oral cyclophosphamide 25 mg/m<sup>2</sup> (days 1–28). Median follow-up was 60.3 months.

The 5-year disease-free survival rates were 77.6% with maintenance chemotherapy versus 69.8% without (hazard ratio (HR) 0.68, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.45 to 1.02). The 5-year overall survival rates were 86.5% with maintenance chemotherapy versus 73.7% without (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.32 to 0.86).

The addition of vinorelbine 25 mg/m<sup>2</sup> to standard IVA chemotherapy (the so-called VIVA regimen) for patients with high-risk metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma was subsequently evaluated in a small prospective study (11). Preliminary results reported that after three cycles, a major partial response was seen in four (of four) cases on radiological assessment. All four patients remained alive after a median follow-up of 11 months, two in radiological complete remission and two in partial remission.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

In the multicentre, phase III study, haematological toxicities and infections were the most commonly reported adverse events among patients in the maintenance chemotherapy group (10). Grade 4 neutropenia was the most commonly reported event (45% of patients), followed by grade 3 infection (31%). Grade 3–4 leukopenia was reported in 75% of patients and grade 3–4 neutropenia in 82%. Two serious treatment-related adverse events occurred, one case of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion which resolved with treatment discontinuation, and one case of severe steppage gait with limb pain which resolved without treatment discontinuation.

In the VIVA regimen study, grade 4 neutropenia occurred in all four study participants (11). Grade 3 anaemia, requiring red blood cell transfusion, occurred in two patients. Infection or febrile neutropenia requiring intravenous antibiotics was seen in two patients. No grade 3 or 4 non-haematological toxicity was reported. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

In general, toxicities associated with vinorelbine are well known and manageable and overall tolerance is acceptable.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application estimates that one vial of generic intravenous vinorelbine 50 mg/5 mL costs between  $\notin$  120 and  $\notin$  150. At the recommended dose of 25 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, six cycles of treatment for a child with body surface area of 1 m<sup>2</sup> would cost  $\notin$  1350.

No cost information was presented for the oral vinorelbine formulation.

## Availability

Intravenous vinorelbine formulations are widely available in generic brands. A generic brand of oral vinorelbine was launched in European markets in 2019.

Intravenous vinorelbine has been included on the EML since 2015, and is included on numerous national essential medicines lists globally.

## Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supported the addition of oral and intravenous vinorelbine to the EMLc for the maintenance treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma. Vinorelbine, used in combination with oral cyclophosphamide, has relevant survival benefits in children with rhabdomyosarcoma, with a manageable toxicity profile. The Working Group noted that the use of vinorelbine in rhabdomyosarcoma is now established in current European and American treatment protocols and is considered the standard of care.

Noting that rhabdomyosarcoma also affects older children and adolescents, the Working Group also supported the inclusion of vinorelbine on the EML for this indication and age group.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that maintenance treatment with oral and intravenous vinorelbine in combination with oral cyclophosphamide was associated with relevant survival benefits in children with rhabdomyosarcoma at high risk of relapse in a randomized clinical trial. Although maintenance treatment for 6 months after induction chemotherapy was associated with more

270

severe toxicity, the overall benefit-to-risk profile of vinorelbine was favourable, with limited related costs.

The Committee therefore recommended the addition vinorelbine on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of rhabdomyosarcoma in children and adolescents at high risk of relapse.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 2. Arndt CAS, Bisogno G, Koscielniak E. Fifty years of rhabdomyosarcoma studies on both sides of the pond and lessons learned. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;68:94–101.
- Amer KM, Thomson JE, Congiusta D, Dobitsch A, Chaudhry A, Li M, et al. Epidemiology, incidence, and survival of rhabdomyosarcoma subtypes: SEER and ICES database analysis. J Orthop Res. 2019;37(10):2226–30.
- Parham DM, Barr FG. Classification of rhabdomyosarcoma and its molecular basis. Adv Anat Pathol. 2013;20(6):387–97.
- 5. Fletcher CDM, Hogendoorm PCW, Bridge JA, Mertens F. WHO classification of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Fourth edition. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2013.
- Rudzinski ER, Anderson JR, Hawkins DS, Skapek SX, Parham DM, Teot LA. The World Health Organization classification of skeletal muscle tumors in pediatric rhabdomyosarcoma: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2015;139(10):1281–7.
- Rudzinski ER, Anderson JR, Chi YY, Gastier-Foster JM, Astbury C, Barr FG, et al. Histology, fusion status, and outcome in metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2017;64(12).
- Oberlin O, Rey A, Lyden E, Bisogno G, Stevens MC, Meyer WH, et al. Prognostic factors in metastatic rhabdomyosarcomas: results of a pooled analysis from United States and European cooperative groups. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(14):2384–9.
- Casanova M, Ferrari A, Bisogno G, Merks JH, De Salvo GL, Meazza C, et al. Vinorelbine and lowdose cyclophosphamide in the treatment of pediatric sarcomas: pilot study for the upcoming European Rhabdomyosarcoma Protocol. Cancer. 2004;101(7):1664–71.
- Bisogno G, De Salvo GL, Bergeron C, Gallego Melcón S, Merks JH, Kelsey A, et al. Vinorelbine and continuous low-dose cyclophosphamide as maintenance chemotherapy in patients with highrisk rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS 2005): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(11):1566–75.
- 11. Ferrari A, Chiaravalli S, Zecca M, Recupero S, Pascale S, Bergamaschi L, et al. VIVA (vinorelbine, ifosfamide, vincristine, actinomycin-D): a new regimen in the armamentarium of systemic therapy for high-risk rhabdomyosarcoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2020;67(11):e28649.

# 8.2.2 Targeted therapies

BRAF/MEK inhibitors – addition – EML

Dabrafenib and trametinib Encorafenib and binimetinib Vemurafenib and cobimetinib

ATC Code: L01EC02 and L01EE01 ATC Code: L01EC03 and L01EE03 ATC Code: L01EC01 and L01EE02

#### Proposal

Addition of the BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations of dabrafenib and trametinib, encorafenib and binimetinib, and vemurafenib and cobimetinib on the complementary list of the EML for use in combination for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with a BRAF V600 mutation.

#### Applicant

European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO)

#### WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that given comparisons to immunotherapy for melanoma already included on the Model List since 2019, the balance does not strongly favour adopting the class of combination BRAF/ MEK inhibitors at this time.

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Dabrafenib: capsule 50 mg, 75 mg/Trametinib: tablet 0.5 mg, 2 mg Encorafenib: capsule 50 mg, 75 mg/Binimetinib: tablet 15 mg Vemurafenib: tablet 240 mg/Cobimetinib: tablet 20 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Square box, with dabrafenib and trametinib as the representative medicines, with encorafenib and vemurafenib as therapeutic alternatives to dabrafenib, and binimetinib and cobimetinib as therapeutic alternatives to trametinib.

272

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) BRAF/MEK inhibitors have not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

In 2019, the Expert Committee recommended the addition of the PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitors nivolumab and pembrolizumab to the complementary list of the EML for use as first-line monotherapy for treatment of patients with unresectable and metastatic melanoma, on the basis of evidence of significantly increased overall survival and in the absence of other EML-listed treatment options for this indication. Nivolumab was listed with a square box, with pembrolizumab specified as a therapeutic alternative (1).

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The global incidence of melanoma is increasing (2). By 2020, the number of newly diagnosed cases of melanoma worldwide was expected to reach almost 280 000 with an estimated 68 000 deaths (2). As a cancer related to the exposure of the skin to sunlight, melanoma has greater variation in incidence rates across different ethnic groups and is more commonly found in fair-skinned populations of European ancestry (3). The global age-standardized incidence rate of melanoma is 3.4 per 100 000 persons a year, but it is much higher in Australia, New Zealand, Europe and North America than in African and Asian countries.

About 40–60% of cutaneous melanomas have mutations in the *BRAF* oncogene encoding a serine/threonine protein kinase called B-Raf which is involved in the regulation of cell division. The most commonly observed *BRAF* mutation is V600E (valine [V] is substituted by glutamic acid [E] at amino acid 600), which accounts for about 90% of the mutations in the *BRAF* gene seen in melanoma (4). BRAF inhibitors can block the increased activity of the mutated B-Raf kinase; however, development of resistance is common when BRAF inhibitors are used as monotherapy. For this reason, they are combined with MEK inhibitors that block the downstream mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway.

Melanoma patients with BRAF V600 mutated melanoma can be treated with PD-1 blocking immunotherapy, which is indicated for use in both BRAF mutated and wild-type melanoma. Although there are no direct comparisons of BRAF/MEK inhibitors with immunotherapy, meta-analyses suggest that while patients treated with BRAF/MEK inhibitors may have better progressionfree survival, overall survival may be better in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors (5–7). Targeted therapy may be preferred in patients who require a fast response, such as those with higher tumour volume, symptomatic disease, a high risk of organ or function deterioration due to metastases, and in patients in whom immunotherapy is unsuitable (e.g. patients with severe autoimmune diseases).

As mentioned before, BRAF inhibitor monotherapy for advanced BRAF-mutated melanoma has been shown to induce high response rates but

is followed shortly afterwards by resistance (8-10). The use of BRAF inhibitors in combination with MEK inhibitors serves to overcome the issue of resistance and the short duration of response with BRAF inhibitor monotherapy (11). Monotherapy with BRAF inhibitors is no longer the standard of care in advanced melanoma since the combination of BRAF/MEK inhibitors improved both progression-free survival and overall survival compared with BRAF inhibitor monotherapy (12–14). Monotherapy with BRAF inhibitors should be used only if an absolute contraindication for MEK inhibitors exists (4).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The combined use of BRAF and MEK inhibitors has been investigated in randomized phase III trials and compared with BRAF inhibitor monotherapy and showed improved survival outcomes in BRAF V600 mutated melanoma.

#### Dabrafenib/trametinib

COMBI-d and COMBI-v were double-blind, randomized, phase III studies comparing dabrafenib/trametinib versus dabrafenib monotherapy or versus vemurafenib monotherapy, respectively, as first-line treatment of BRAF V600 mutated metastatic melanoma (*13*, *15*, *16*). In COMBI-d, after more than 3 years of follow-up, median overall survival in patients receiving combination therapy was 25.1 months (versus 18.7 with monotherapy), median progression-free survival was 11.0 months (versus 8.8 months with monotherapy), and overall response rate was 69%. In COMBI-v, after 23 months follow-up, median overall survival was 26.1 months in patients receiving dabrafenib/trametinib, median progression-free survival was 12.1 months and the overall response rate was 68% (18% complete response).

A pooled analysis of these studies evaluated patient survival after a median follow-up of 5 years and found the overall survival rate was 34%. A complete response was observed in 19% of the patients and, in this subgroup, the 5-year overall survival rate was 71% (17).

Based on results of the COMBI-d and COMBI-v studies, dabrafenib/ trametinib received scores of 4 and 5 on the European Society for Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 for first line treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with the BRAF V600E mutation (*18*).

## Encorafenib/binimetinib

The COLUMBUS study was a two-part randomized, open-label phase III study comparing encorafenib/binimetinib with vemurafenib or encorafenib as monotherapy in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma with BRAF V600 mutation who were treatment naïve, or had progressed following first-line immunotherapy. After 36.8 months follow-up, median overall survival was

33.6 months with the combination treatment versus 16.9 months for vemurafenib monotherapy. Median progression-free survival for the combination treatment was 14.9 months and the overall response rate was 64% (19,20).

Based on results of the COLOMBUS study, encorafenib/binimetinib received a score of 4 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 for treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with the BRAF V600E or BRAF V600K mutation (*18*).

#### Vemurafenib/cobimetinib

The coBRIM trial was a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study comparing vemurafenib/cobimetinib with vemurafenib monotherapy as first-line treatment of BRAF V600 mutated unresectable or metastatic melanoma (*21,22*). After a median follow-up of 18.5 months, median overall survival was 22.5 months for the combination treatment compared with 17.4 months for vemurafenib monotherapy, median progression-free survival was 12.3 months versus 7.2 months and the overall response rate was 70% for the combination treatment.

Based on results of the coBRIM study, vemurafenib/cobimetinib received a score of 4 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 for first-line treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with the BRAF V600E mutation (*18*).

No direct comparisons of the different combinations are available. An indirect analysis comparing all three combinations showed a non-significant risk reduction in progression and death in the subgroup of patients with elevated baseline lactate dehydrogenase (a well known negative prognostic marker (23)) receiving vemurafenib/cobimetinib compared with dabrafenib/trametinib and encorafenib/binimetinib. Therefore, in this subgroup of patients, the combination of vemurafenib/cobimetinib might be preferred (24).

#### Targeted therapy in patients with melanoma brain metastases

Melanoma brain metastases pose a particular therapeutic challenge and patients with this disease have a worse prognosis than other stage IV cancer patients (25). The studies evaluating systemic therapy in patients with advanced melanoma have systematically excluded patients with brain metastases. Trials specifically investigating immunotherapy and targeted therapy in patients with melanoma brain metastases have shown that these therapies are also effective intracranially. The intracranial response rate is similar to the extracranial response (26–29). There is currently evidence that PD-1-based immunotherapy, particularly combination immunotherapy with nivolumab and ipilimumab, might be more effective than BRAF/MEK inhibitors in treatment of melanoma brain metastases (5, 30).

The COMBI-MB trial evaluated dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma brain metastases (28). The primary and secondary endpoints were the investigator-assessed intracranial response. Preliminary data suggest that subgroups of patients with BRAF V600 mutated melanoma with asymptomatic melanoma brain metastases who had received previous local brain therapy have better progression-free survival and overall survival than other subgroups. According to ESMO recommendations, targeted therapy is preferred to immunotherapy in patients with melanoma brain metastases who have continuous dependency on corticosteroids (> 10 mg prednisolone or equivalent) at the start of systemic treatment (*31*).

#### Treatment sequence

Patients with BRAF V600 mutated melanoma can receive treatment with both targeted therapy and immunotherapy. However, the optimal sequence of therapy is not defined as there are no randomized controlled trials with direct comparisons. In the first-line setting, patients treated with targeted therapy seem to respond better during the first 12 months and when progression-free survival is evaluated, with immunotherapy showing a survival benefit after the first 12 months. In the second-line setting, data indicate that targeted therapy may provide greater benefit. Clinical trials evaluating the optimal therapeutic sequence of targeted and immunotherapy are ongoing (*32*).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The frequency of adverse events with the three available combinations of BRAF/ MEK inhibitors is similar (*33*). However, the type of adverse event differs and this frequently leads to choosing one or the other combination in clinical practice.

Dabrafenib induces almost no photosensitivity compared with vemurafenib, where it has been reported in 41% of patients. Dabrafenib might be a preferred treatment choice for patients living in countries with high solar exposure. Dabrafenib is also associated with fewer keratoacanthomas and squamous cell carcinomas than vemurafenib (7% versus 20–30%). The most commonly reported adverse events with vemurafenib include arthralgia (56%), fatigue (46%) and rash (41%) (8, 34). Pyrexia is the most common adverse event associated with dabrafenib treatment, seen in almost half of patients treated, and this often leads to (temporary) treatment interruption (33, 35). For encorafenib/ binimetinib, the most frequently reported adverse events are gastrointestinal (28–40%). Cutaneous adverse events were manageable, similar to dabrafenib/ trametinib and lower than for vemurafenib/cobimetinib (19).

Treatment with MEK inhibitors is associated with ophthalmological toxicity (such as uveitis, conjunctivitis, dry eyes), which is a class effect and typically requires treatment delay and/or suspension. The frequency of surveillance for ocular events is not uniform and depends on the MEK inhibitor type used (36-38). Regular ophthalmological evaluations might be useful for asymptomatic patients and are mandatory in cases of visual disturbances to identify potential complications of retinal vein occlusion such as macular

oedema, decreased visual function, neovascularization and glaucoma. Patients with a previous history of ophthalmological problems should be evaluated before the start of treatment (*39*).

Treatment with MEK inhibitors, alone or in combination with BRAF inhibitors, is associated with cardiomyopathy. Decreased left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was found in 4–9% of the patients in trials evaluating treatment with targeted therapy (*12*, *13*, *40*, *41*). Patients should have a cardiological assessment, particularly assessment of left ventricular ejection fraction by echocardiogram or a multigated acquisition scan before therapy initiation, after 1 month and at 2- to 3-month intervals while on treatment. A decrease in left ventricular ejection fraction is usually managed with treatment interruption, dose reduction or discontinuation. Rarely, QTc prolongation is observed with vemurafenib therapy, but not with MEK inhibitor monotherapy. In patients with QTc > 500 ms, long QT syndrome and/or being treated with medicines known to prolong the QT interval, treatment with vemurafenib is not recommended.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of metastatic melanoma are not available.

The ESMO guidelines (4) and the guidelines of the United States National Comprehensive Cancer Network (42) include BRAF/MEK combinations among the preferred regimens for first-line treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with BRAF V600 activating mutations.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

An economic evaluation of the systemic treatments for advanced melanoma that included vemurafenib/cobimetinib, dabrafenib/trametinib, ipilimumab, pembrolizumab, nivolumab and nivolumab/ipilimumab has shown that the targeted combinations were not cost-effective at current prices (often more than US\$ 10 000 per month of treatment) in any jurisdiction (43). However, it was noted that a large number of patients treated in the real-life setting do not meet the criteria for inclusion in clinical trials (44, 45). The exact cost-effectiveness in a real-world setting has not been established and reimbursement decisions have involved price negotiations or managed entry agreements with national authorities. Globally, there is significant discrepancy in access to innovative therapies for metastatic melanoma, which is correlated with economic and health system performance factors (46). No defined treatment duration exists for targeted therapy in the advanced setting, or for patients deriving benefit (i.e. with stable disease, partial response or complete response) (42). In general, patients

are treated for as long as they benefit (until disease progression) or as long as the therapy is well tolerated (i.e. without unacceptable toxicity).

Targeted therapy is restricted to patients with a BRAF V600 mutation, while PD-1 based immunotherapy can be given to all patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma (a higher number of patients). Access and costs associated with testing for the presence of BRAF V600 mutation should also be considered.

#### Availability

The proposed BRAF and MEK inhibitors are all patented medicines. Primary patents are in place until 2023 (binimetinib), 2024–2026 (vemurafenib), 2025 (trametinib), 2026 (cobimetinib) and 2019 (dabrafenib and encorafenib).

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of BRAF/MEK inhibitors on the EML for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. The Working Group acknowledged a relevant benefit associated with BRAF/MEK inhibitors in second-line treatment for metastatic melanoma. and that this is the main place for therapy with BRAF/MEK inhibitors for melanoma (after failure of immunotherapy). However, BRAF/MEK inhibitors could be used as first-line therapy in patients for whom immunotherapy is not suitable or in patients for whom a rapid response is required. The Working Group noted a preference to prioritize inclusion of first-line therapies on the Model List and the established role of immunotherapy in the first-line treatment for melanoma. It therefore did not support listing of BRAF/MEK inhibitors because first-line treatment with these drugs would apply to only the small subgroup of patients for whom first-line immunotherapy is not recommended or rapid response induction is required, and approval might result in their inappropriate use for patients outside this subgroup, with the associated toxicity risks and high cost.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the increasing incidence of melanoma globally and that treatment of metastatic melanoma is complex. With the availability of an increasing number of targeted treatments, outcomes have markedly improved for patients, at least in settings where these treatments are available. Treatment of melanoma now encompasses a series of options associated with clinically important benefits such as surgery, immunotherapy, targeted inhibition of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway, and radiation therapy of symptomatic anatomical sites of metastases.

The Committee recalled that the 2019 recommendation to include the anti-PD-1 receptor monoclonal antibodies nivolumab and pembrolizumab on

the EML for the treatment of metastatic melanoma was based on survival data from several phase III randomized controlled trials, which suggested that about 50% of patients with advanced melanoma receiving immunotherapies are alive at 5 years (historically 5-year survival rates were very low). However, responses to immunotherapy may develop slowly and patients may have a transient worsening of disease before the disease stabilizes or regresses. Furthermore, some patients may have contraindications to immunotherapy.

The Committee noted that BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations are associated with meaningful gains in terms of overall survival, but the magnitude of benefit is not as large as that seen with immune checkpoint inhibitors. The Committee considered that the three combinations proposed in the application were associated with similar benefits, suggestive of a class effect. However, it was noted that the combinations have not been compared with each other in direct randomized trials.

The Committee noted that the different BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations can vary in terms of toxicity. In real-life settings, toxicities often lead to discontinuation or dose reductions of these medicines. The Committee also noted the requirement to monitor for toxicity and adverse events in patients treated with these combinations.

The Committee considered that the optimal place in therapy for BRAF/ MEK inhibitors was likely to be as second-line options in patients who fail treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors, or as first-line options for patients with rapidly progressive disease in whom a rapid response is required.

The Committee noted the limited availability of genomic testing for identification of the BRAF V600 oncogenic driver mutation in some settings, which would be a potential barrier to access and appropriate use of BRAF/MEK inhibitors. In addition, in settings where genomic testing is unavailable or underutilized, there is a risk of unintended, harmful consequences (such as overuse of in patients who are unlikely to benefit and underuse in patients who could benefit).

Overall, the Committee considered that immune checkpoint inhibitors are still the preferred therapy for metastatic melanoma for most patients. Therefore, the Committee did not recommend listing of BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations on the EML for the treatment of metastatic melanoma in patients with the BRAF V600 mutation.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 12 June 2021).  Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.

- 3. Cormier JN, Xing Y, Ding M, Lee JE, Mansfield PF, Gershenwald JE, et al. Ethnic differences among patients with cutaneous melanoma. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(17):1907–14.
- Michielin O, van Akkooi ACJ, Ascierto PA, Dummer R, Keilholz U. Cutaneous melanoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up<sup>†</sup>. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(12):1884– 901.
- Franken MG, Leeneman B, Gheorghe M, Uyl-de Groot CA, Haanen J, van Baal PHM. A systematic literature review and network meta-analysis of effectiveness and safety outcomes in advanced melanoma. Eur J Cancer. 2019;123:58–71.
- Ugurel S, Röhmel J, Ascierto PA, Flaherty KT, Grob JJ, Hauschild A, et al. Survival of patients with advanced metastatic melanoma: the impact of novel therapies-update 2017. Eur J Cancer. 2017;83:247–57.
- 7. Ugurel S, Rohmel J, Ascierto PA, Becker JC, Flaherty KT, Grob JJ, et al. Survival of patients with advanced metastatic melanoma: The impact of MAP kinase pathway inhibition and immune checkpoint inhibition Update 2019. Eur J Cancer. 2020;130:126–38.
- 8. Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C, Haanen JB, Ascierto P, Larkin J, et al. Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(26):2507–16.
- Amaral T, Sinnberg T, Meier F, Krepler C, Levesque M, Niessner H, et al. MAPK pathway in melanoma part II-secondary and adaptive resistance mechanisms to BRAF inhibition. Eur J Cancer. 2017;73:93–101.
- Amaral T, Sinnberg T, Meier F, Krepler C, Levesque M, Niessner H, et al. The mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in melanoma part I – Activation and primary resistance mechanisms to BRAF inhibition. Eur J Cancer. 2017;73:85–92.
- 11. Villanueva J, Vultur A, Lee JT, Somasundaram R, Fukunaga-Kalabis M, Cipolla AK, et al. Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by cotargeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K. Cancer Cell. 2010;18(6):683–95.
- 12. Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, Larkin J, et al. Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAF-mutant melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015;386(9992):444–51.
- 13. Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J, Rutkowski P, Mackiewicz A, Stroiakovski D, et al. Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med. 2014;372(1):30–9.
- 14. Larkin J, Ascierto PA, Dreno B, Atkinson V, Liszkay G, Maio M, et al. Combined vemurafenib and cobimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(20):1867–76.
- 15. Grob JJ, Amonkar MM, Karaszewska B, Schachter J, Dummer R, Mackiewicz A, et al. Comparison of dabrafenib and trametinib combination therapy with vemurafenib monotherapy on healthrelated quality of life in patients with unresectable or metastatic cutaneous BRAF Val600mutation-positive melanoma (COMBI-v): results of a phase 3, open-label, randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(13):1389–98.
- 16. Long GV, Flaherty KT, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, et al. Dabrafenib plus trametinib versus dabrafenib monotherapy in patients with metastatic BRAFV600E/K-mutant melanoma: long-term survival and safety analysis of a phase 3 study. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(7):1631–9.

- 17. Robert C, Grob JJ, Stroyakovskiy D, Karaszewska B, Hauschild A, Levchenko E, et al. Fiveyear outcomes with dabrafenib plus trametinib in metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(7):626–36.
- ESMO-magnitude of clinical benefit scale. The ESMO-MCBS score card [internet]. Lugarno: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2015 (https://www.esmo.org/score/cards, accessed 12 June 2021).
- Dummer R, Ascierto PA, Gogas HJ, Arance A, Mandala M, Liszkay G, et al. Encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(5):603– 15.
- 20. Dummer R, Ascierto PA, Gogas HJ, Arance A, Mandala M, Liszkay G, et al. Overall survival in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma receiving encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(10):1315–27.
- 21. Ascierto PA, McArthur GA, Dréno B, Atkinson V, Liszkay G, Di Giacomo AM, et al. Cobimetinib combined with vemurafenib in advanced BRAF/V600-mutant melanoma (coBRIM): updated efficacy results from a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(9):1248–60.
- 22. Ascierto PA, Dréno B, Larkin J, Ribas A, Liszkay G, Maio M, et al. 5-Year Outcomes with Cobimetinib plus Vemurafenib in BRAF (V600) Mutation-Positive Advanced Melanoma: Extended Follow-up of the coBRIM Study. Clin Cancer Res. 2021.
- 23. Weide B, Martens A, Hassel JC, Berking C, Postow MA, Bisschop K, et al. Baseline biomarkers for outcome of melanoma patients treated with pembrolizumab. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(22):5487.
- 24. Glutsch V, Amaral T, Garbe C, Thoms K-M, Mohr P, Hauschild A, et al. Indirect comparison of combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma patients with elevated baseline lactate dehydrogenase. Acta Derm Venereol. 2020;100(13):adv00174.
- 25. Gershenwald JE, Scolyer RA, Hess KR, Sondak VK, Long GV, Ross MI, et al. Melanoma staging: evidence-based changes in the American Joint Committee on Cancer eighth edition cancer staging manual. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017;67(6):472–92.
- Long GV, Atkinson V, Lo S, Sandhu S, Guminski AD, Brown MP, et al. Combination nivolumab and ipilimumab or nivolumab alone in melanoma brain metastases: a multicentre randomised phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(5):672–81.
- 27. Tawbi HA, Forsyth PA, Algazi A, Hamid O, Hodi FS, Moschos SJ, et al. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in melanoma metastatic to the brain. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(8):722–30.
- Davies MA, Saiag P, Robert C, Grob JJ, Flaherty KT, Arance A, et al. Dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with BRAF(V600)-mutant melanoma brain metastases (COMBI-MB): a multicentre, multicohort, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(7):863–73.
- 29. Long GV, Trefzer U, Davies MA, Kefford RF, Ascierto PA, Chapman PB, et al. Dabrafenib in patients with Val600Glu or Val600Lys BRAF-mutant melanoma metastatic to the brain (BREAK-MB): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(11):1087–95.
- 30. Rulli E, Legramandi L, Salvati L, Mandala M. The impact of targeted therapies and immunotherapy in melanoma brain metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer. 2019;125(21):3776–89.
- Keilholz U, Ascierto PA, Dummer R, Robert C, Lorigan P, van Akkooi A, et al. ESMO consensus conference recommendations on the management of metastatic melanoma: under the auspices of the ESMO Guidelines Committee. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(11):1435–48.

- 32. Ascierto PA, Mandala M, Ferrucci PF, Rutkowski P, Guidoboni M, Fernandez AMA, et al. LBA45 First report of efficacy and safety from the phase II study SECOMBIT (SEquential COMBo Immuno and Targeted therapy study). Ann Oncol. 2020;31:S1173–S4.
- 33. Heinzerling L, Eigentler TK, Fluck M, Hassel JC, Heller-Schenck D, Leipe J, et al. Tolerability of BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations: adverse event evaluation and management. ESMO open. 2019;4(3):e000491-e.
- 34. Hauschild A, Grob JJ, Demidov LV, Jouary T, Gutzmer R, Millward M, et al. Dabrafenib in BRAFmutated metastatic melanoma: a multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2012;380(9839):358–65.
- 35. Menzies AM, Ashworth MT, Swann S, Kefford RF, Flaherty K, Weber J, et al. Characteristics of pyrexia in BRAFV600E/K metastatic melanoma patients treated with combined dabrafenib and trametinib in a phase I/II clinical trial. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(2):415–21.
- Summary of product characteristics mekinist. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2020 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/mekinist-epar-productinformation\_en.pdf, accessed 12 June 2021).
- Summary of product characteristics cotellic. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2015 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/cotellic-epar-productinformation\_en.pdf, accessed 12 June 2021).
- Summary of product characteristics mektovi. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/braftovi-epar-productinformation\_en.pdf, accessed 12 June 2021)
- 39. Stjepanovic N, Velazquez-Martin JP, Bedard PL. Ocular toxicities of MEK inhibitors and other targeted therapies. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(6):998–1005.
- 40. Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Kefford RF, Sosman J, et al. Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(18):1694–703.
- 41. Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P, Nathan P, Garbe C, Milhem M, et al. Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(2):107–14.
- 42. NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. Melanoma: cutaneous. Version 2.2021. Plymouth Meeting, PA:National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2021 (https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/cutaneous\_melanoma.pdf, accessed 12 June 2021).
- 43. Gorry C, McCullagh L, Barry M. Economic evaluation of systemic treatments for advanced melanoma: a systematic review. Value Health. 2020;23(1):52–60.
- 44. Donia M, Kimper-Karl ML, Høyer KL, Bastholt L, Schmidt H, Svane IM. The majority of patients with metastatic melanoma are not represented in pivotal phase III immunotherapy trials. Eur J Cancer. 2017;74:89–95.
- 45. Sam D, Gresham G, Abdel-Rahman O, Cheung WY. Generalizability of clinical trials of advanced melanoma in the real-world, population-based setting. Med Oncol. 2018;35(7):110.
- 46. Kandolf Sekulovic L, Guo J, Agarwala S, Hauschild A, McArthur G, Cinat G, et al. Access to innovative medicines for metastatic melanoma worldwide: Melanoma World Society and European Association of Dermato-oncology survey in 34 countries. Eur J Cancer. 2018;104:201–9.

282

Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors - addition - EML

Abemaciclib	ATC Code: L01EF03
Palbociclib	ATC Code: L01EF01
Ribociclib	ATC Code: L01EF02

# Proposal

Addition of the cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of hormone receptor positive/human epidermal growth factor receptor negative (HR+/HER–) advanced or metastatic breast cancer.

# Applicant

European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO)

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department considered there was insufficient evidence to support the inclusion of CDK4/6 inhibitors on the EML, either as a therapeutic class or as individual medicines. It was noted that while data supported minor overall survival gains from CDK4/6 inhibitors, the magnitude of these gains may be limited and that few long-term and real-world data were available. Furthermore, the need for advanced diagnostics, the high rates of toxicity (particularly neutropenia) and high prices with uncertain cost–effectiveness were acknowledged as limitations for the use of CDK4/6 inhibitors as first-line therapy in many settings.

## EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Abemaciclib: tablet 50 mg, 100 mg, 150 mg Palbociclib: tablet 75 mg, 100 mg, 125 mg Ribociclib: tablet 200 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box, with palbociclib as the representative medicines and abemaciclib and ribociclib as therapeutic alternatives.

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

CDK 4/6 inhibitors have not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

In 2015, as part of a comprehensive review of cancer medicines on the EML, the following medicines were endorsed for inclusion on the EML for use in protocols for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer: capecitabine, cyclophosphamide, docetaxel, doxorubicin, paclitaxel, vinorelbine, anastrozole and tamoxifen. Trastuzumab was also recommended for treatment of HER2+ early stage and metastatic breast cancer (1).

CDK4/6 inhibitors act on the CDK4/6 pathway which is overreactive in many breast cancers. Inhibition of the CDK4/6 pathway activates the tumour suppressor retinoblastoma-associated protein leading to cell cycle arrest.

CDK4/6 inhibitors are generally not used as monotherapy but are combined either with aromatase inhibitors or fulvestrant. Aromatase inhibitors, represented by anastrozole, are currently included in the EML. Fulvestrant is not currently included, but a separate application for listing was submitted for consideration in 2021.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in women globally, responsible for 6.6% of all cancer deaths in 2018 (2). In high-income countries, the incidence of breast cancer is high and mortality rates are low, while in low- and middle-income countries, the incidence is lower but mortality rates are higher. The overall 5-year survival rates for high-income countries are estimated to be higher than 85%. In comparison, in low- and middle-income countries, 5-year survival rates are reported to range between 38% and 60% (*3*).

While improved early detection and advances in systemic therapy for early-stage disease have resulted in some decline in breast cancer mortality since 1989, metastatic breast cancer remains largely incurable with a median survival of about 24 months (4). Factors associated with poor survival include age  $\geq$  50 years, visceral disease, shorter disease-free interval, tumours associated with aneuploidy, tumours with a high S-phase fraction, p53 accumulation, low bcl-2 expression, negative HR status and positive HER2 status (5). Five-year survival for patients with metastatic disease is about 18% in Europe (6).

The HR+/HER2– breast cancer subtype is the most common, reported in more than two thirds of all cases (7).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

# First-line therapy for HR+/HER2– advanced or metastatic breast cancer in pre- and postmenopausal women

# Abemaciclib

MONARCH 3 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of abemaciclib in combination with aromatase inhibitors as initial therapy for advanced breast cancer (8, 9). The trial included 493 postmenopausal women who were randomized 2:1 to abemaciclib plus a nonsteroidal aromatase inhibitor (anastrozole or letrozole according to the physician's choice) or placebo plus a nonsteroidal aromatase inhibitor. After median follow-up of 26.7 months, median investigator-assessed progression-free survival was 28.2 months in the abemaciclib arm versus 14.8 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 13.4 months (hazard ratio (HR) 0.54, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.42 to 0.70). Mature data for the secondary endpoint of overall survival are not yet available.

Based on results from MONARCH 3, abemaciclib received a score of 3 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 for first-line treatment in combination with an aromatase inhibitor for locally advanced or metastatic HR+/HER2– breast cancer in postmenopausal women (*10*).

## Palbociclib

PALOMA 2 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of palbociclib in combination with letrozole as first-line therapy for advanced breast cancer (*11*). The trial included 666 postmenopausal women who were randomized 2:1 to either palbociclib plus letrozole or placebo plus letrozole. Median progression-free survival was 24.8 months in the palbociclib arm versus 14.5 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 10.3 months (HR 0.58, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.72. Mature data for the secondary endpoint of overall survival are not yet available.

Based on results from PALOMA 2, palbociclib received a score of 3 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 as first-line treatment in combination with letrozole for metastatic HR+/HER2– breast cancer (10).

## Ribociclib

MONALEESA 2 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of ribociclib in combination with letrozole as first-line therapy for advanced breast cancer (*12*). The trial included 668 postmenopausal women who were randomized 1:1 to either ribociclib plus letrozole or placebo plus letrozole. After median follow-up of 26.4 months, median progression-free survival was 25.3 months in the ribociclib arm versus 16.0 months in the placebo arm, an absolute

progression-free survival gain of 9.3 months (HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.70). Mature data for the secondary endpoint of overall survival are not yet available.

Based on results from MONALEESA 2, ribociclib received a score of 3 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 as first-line treatment in combination with letrozole for metastatic HR+/HER2– breast cancer in postmenopausal women (*10*).

MONALEESA 7 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of ribociclib plus endocrine therapy (anastrozole, letrozole or tamoxifen, each combined with goserelin) as first-line therapy for advanced breast cancer (*13, 14*). The trial included 672 premenopausal women who were randomized 1:1 to either endocrine therapy with ribociclib or endocrine therapy with placebo. Median progression-free survival was 23.8 months in the ribociclib arm versus 13.0 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progressionfree survival gain of 10.8 months (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.69) (*13*). The estimated overall survival at 42 months was 70.2% in the ribociclib arm versus 46.0% in the placebo arm (HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.54 to 0.95) (*14*). An absolute gain in overall survival of 16 months for ribociclib was calculated based on the point estimate for the HR.

Based on results from MONALEESA 7, ribociclib received a score of 5 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 as first-line treatment in combination with endocrine therapy for metastatic HR+/HER2– breast cancer in premenopausal women (10).

#### Second-line therapy

#### Abemaciclib

MONARCH 2 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of abemaciclib in combination with fulvestrant as second-line therapy for advanced breast cancer (*15*, *16*). The trail included 669 women of any menopausal status who were randomized 2:1 to receive abemaciclib or placebo each combined with fulvestrant. After median follow-up of 19.5 months, median progression-free survival was 16.4 months in the abemaciclib arm versus 9.3 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 7.1 months (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.68) (*15*). After median follow-up of 47.7 months, median overall survival was 46.7 months in the abemaciclib arm versus 37.3 months in the placebo arm, an absolute overall survival gain of 9.4 months (HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.95) (*16*).

Based on results from MONARCH 2, abemaciclib received a score of 4 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 as second-line treatment in combination with fulvestrant for advanced HR+/HER2– breast cancer in postmenopausal women (*10*).

#### Palbociclib

PALOMA 3 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of palbociclib in combination with fulvestrant as second-line therapy for advanced breast cancer (17, 18). The trail included 521 women of any

menopausal status who were randomized 2:1 to either palbociclib or placebo, each combined with fulvestrant. After median follow-up of 8.9 months, median progression-free survival was 9.5 months in the palbociclib arm versus 4.6 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 4.9 months (HR 0.46, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.59) (*17*). After a median follow-up of 44.8 months, median overall survival was 34.9 months in the palbociclib arm versus 28.0 months in the placebo arm, an absolute gain in overall survival of 6.9 months (HR 0.81, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.03) (*18*).

Based on results from PALOMA 3, palbociclib received a score of 4 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 as second-line treatment in combination with fulvestrant for metastatic HR+/HER2– breast cancer (*10*).

# Ribociclib

MONALEESA 3 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of ribociclib plus fulvestrant as first- and second-line therapy for advanced breast cancer (*19*, 20). The trial included 726 postmenopausal women who were randomized 2:1 to either ribociclib or placebo, each combined with fulvestrant. Median progression-free survival was 20.5 months in the ribociclib arm versus 12.8 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 7.7 months (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.48 to 0.73) (*19*). The estimated overall survival at 42 months was 57.8% in the ribociclib arm versus 45.9% in the placebo arm (HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.92) (*20*). An absolute gain in overall survival of 16 months for ribociclib was calculated based on the point estimate for the HR.

Based on results from MONALEESA 3, ribociclib received a score of 4 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 as first- or second-line treatment in combination with fulvestrant for metastatic HR+/HER2– breast cancer in postmenopausal women (10).

## Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

A systematic review and meta-analysis of eight randomized controlled trials (4580 patients, of whom 2802 received palbociclib, ribociclib or abemaciclib in combination with endocrine therapy (aromatase inhibitors, tamoxifen or fulvestrant)) evaluated the efficacy of CDK4/6 inhibitors for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer and tested the heterogeneity between different compounds with regard to their effect to improve progression-free survival and overall survival (*21*). For progression-free survival, the pooled analysis showed a statistically significant improvement in patients treated with the CDK4/6 inhibitor in combination with endocrine therapy versus patients treated with endocrine therapy alone (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.50 to 0.59). For overall survival, the pooled analysis showed a statistically significant reduction in the risk of dying in patients receiving CDK4/6 inhibitors (HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.68 to 0.85). The effect

was independent of sensitivity or not to aromatase inhibitors. Pooled analysis of data for each CDK4/6 inhibitor showed a statistically significant reduction in the risk of dying only for ribociclib and abemaciclib; for palbociclib the HR for overall survival was 0.83, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.02.

#### **Real-world studies**

The RENATA study was a prospective study of real-world use of palbociclib in combination with endocrine therapy in 128 participants (127 women, one man) of any menopausal status treated in two centres in Argentina between 2015 and 2019 (*22*). Median progression-free survival was 36.7 months with first-line treatment and 24.2 months with second-line treatment. The overall response rate was 45.3% and 25.0% in the first- and second-line setting, respectively. Median overall survival in the entire population was not reached.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The main adverse effect of the pharmacological class of CDK4/6 inhibitors is haematological toxicity. Their use is associated with a predictable, reversible and generally non-infection-prone neutropenia – related to the cell cycle effects on the haematopoiesis of the cell cycle blockade (*23*).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of CDK4/6 inhibitors from the phase III clinical trials reported an onset of grade 3 and 4 neutropenia in 65%, 58% and 26% of patients using palbociclib, ribociclib and abemaciclib, respectively (24). However, the occurrence of febrile neutropenia indicating possible infection was reported in less than 1% of the trial population with any of these compounds. In general, the onset of moderate to severe neutropenia prompts a delay, temporary interruption or dose reduction of the CDK4/6 inhibitor and rarely requires other interventions due to the reversible nature of this side-effect. Granulocyte stimulating factors and/ or antibiotic prophylaxis are not commonly used, as febrile neutropenia occurs quite rarely (25). The only precaution recommended with the use of this class of agents therefore is a complete count blood at the beginning of each cycle and, as a precaution, 2 weeks after the start of the first two cycles to check the bone marrow reserve. Moreover, CDK4/6 inhibitors are associated with moleculespecific safety profiles that informs the clinicians' decision to use one compound over another one, along with patient preference. The different safety profiles are currently the most important factor taken into account in the treatment decision for patients with HR+/HER2- advanced breast cancer in the first- or second-line of therapy, in the absence of direct comparisons. The principal differences in the safety profiles of abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib from the phase III trials are summarized in Table 6.

Adverse event	Abemaciclib	Palbociclib	Ribociclib
Any grade 3 and 4 adverse event	58%	74%	79%
Grade 3 and 4 neutropenia	26%	65%	58%
Febrile neutropenia	< 1%	< 1%	< 1%
Anaemia	30% (7% grade 3)	24% (5.5% grade 3/4)	19%
Increased aspartate aminotransferase or alanine aminotransferase	All grade < 10%	All grade < 10%	25% (9% grade 3)
Diarrhoea	87% diarrhoea (13% grade 3)	25%	52%
Nausea	45% nausea (3% grade 3)	35%	35%

# Table 6 Adverse events in patients treated with CDK4/6 inhibitors, percentage of patients

Treatment discontinuation was highest with abemaciclib, in part related to the higher rates of treatment-related diarrhoea (25).

The use of ribociclib has been associated with a prolongation of the QT-interval. An electrocardiogram finding of a QT-interval corrected for heart rate according to the Friderica formula (QTcF) > 450 ms was observed in 7% of the patients treated with ribociclib and 1% in the placebo arm (13, 14, 26). Moreover, 10% of patients receiving ribociclib experienced a QTcF prolongation of +60 ms or more in at least one postbaseline electrocardiogram assessment compared with 2% in the placebo arm. QT prolongation was more commonly observed when tamoxifen was the endocrine agent in association (16%) than when an aromatase inhibitor was used (7%). While no clinical symptoms or arrhythmias (e.g. ventricular tachycardia or torsades de pointes) were reported with the QTcF prolongation, the treatment was interrupted or reduced in 4% of the patients in the ribociclib arm, in line with the trial protocol. The United States Food and Drug Administration recommend initial electrocardiogram monitoring for patients receiving ribociclib. No potentially clinically relevant effect on the QTc interval has been reported with abemaciclib or palbociclib (27).

Other studies have addressed the possible differences in safety of CDK4/6 inhibitors in different ethnic populations. An analysis of real-world use

of palbociclib with endocrine therapy in patients with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer in Argentina found a higher rate of febrile neutropenia than observed in the phase III trials (22). A real-world study on the use of palbociclib in 169 patients with metastatic breast cancer in South Korea reported neutropenia (mostly grade 3 or 4) in 88.3% of patients which is higher than reported in phase III studies (28). Similarly, a higher incidence of haematological toxicity was reported in a phase II single-arm trial of palbociclib plus letrozole as first-line treatment in 42 postmenopausal participants with advanced breast cancer in Japan; neutropenia (29). Sufficient data are lacking on the haematological effects of CDK4/6 inhibitors in women of African ethnicity, in whom a high incidence of benign ethnic neutropenia has been reported (30, 31). The phase II PALINA trial is evaluating the safety of palbociclib in combination with letrozole or fulvestrant in African American women; the results had not been reported at the time the application was submitted (32).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Results from the PALINA trial were published in June 2021. This trial included 35 African American women with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer. Duffy null polymorphism, which is associated with reduced neutrophil counts in individuals of African ancestry, was present in 19 participants. Grades 3 and 4 neutropenia were observed in significantly more participants with Duffy null status compared to Duffy wild-type (72% versus 23.2%). Duffy null status was also associated with significantly lower overall mean (standard deviation) dose intensity (81.9% (15.9%) versus 95.7% (5.9%)), and a significantly lower clinical benefit rate (66.7% versus 84.6%). No cases of febrile neutropenia or permanent treatment discontinuation due to neutropenia were reported.

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of breast cancer are not available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Many cost–effectiveness analyses have found CDK4/6 inhibitors unlikely to be cost-effective at current prices and usual willingness-to-pay thresholds.

A study in Singapore evaluated the cost-effectiveness of adding ribociclib to goserelin and an aromatase inhibitor or tamoxifen as initial therapy for premenopausal women with breast cancer, using a partitioned survival model based on the MONALEESA 7 trial (*33*). The base-case analysis resulted in an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of Singapore \$ 197 667 (about US\$ 148 700 using the average 2020 exchange rate) per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY). The authors concluded that ribociclib was unlikely to be cost-effective in this setting for the approved indication.

A cost-effectiveness analysis of palbociclib or ribociclib (both plus letrozole) in the United States estimated an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio per QALY gained of US\$ 634 000 for palbociclib and US\$ 440 000 for ribociclib (*34*).

A Canadian cost-effectiveness analysis of ribociclib plus endocrine therapy versus endocrine therapy alone reported an incremental costeffectiveness ratio of CA\$ 197 832 per QALY gained as a best estimate (35). The authors had some concerns about the certainty of the cost-effectiveness estimations for the use of CDK4/6 inhibitors in first-line treatment of premenopausal women, as they were based mostly on the predicted clinical benefit beyond the actual trial follow-up.

An Italian study reported that when abemaciclib was used as first-line treatment, the estimated cost was  $\notin$  2246 a month of progression-free survival gained, less expensive at full dose than ribociclib and palbociclib. In the second-line setting, in combination with fulvestrant, ribociclib was the least expensive, with an estimated cost of  $\notin$  2070 a month of progression-free survival gained (*36*).

A Chinese cost-effectiveness analysis of palbociclib as second-line therapy reported an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of US\$ 182 779 per QALY. When the price of palbociclib was reduced to 30%, 20% and 10% of the current price, the resultant incremental cost-effectiveness ratios were US\$ 79 558, US\$ 64 812, and US\$ 50 066 per QALY, respectively. To meet 50% probability of cost-effectiveness, the estimated price required was US\$ 32.52/100 mg at a willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 58 480 per QALY. The authors concluded that adding palbociclib to a fulvestrant regimen is unlikely to be cost-effective as second-line endocrine therapy for patients with HR+/HER2- metastatic breast cancer, at the current price in China (*37*).

# Availability

Abemaciclib (trade name Verzenio, Eli Lilly) has regulatory approval in multiple countries globally. It has primary patent protection until 2029.

Palbociclib (trade name Ibrance, Pfizer) has regulatory approval in multiple countries globally. It has primary patent protection until 2023.

Ribociclib (trade name Kisqali, Novartis) has regulatory approval in multiple countries globally. It has primary patent protection until 2027–2029.

Generic products are not currently available.

## Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of CDK4/6 inhibitors as a therapeutic class or as individual medicines on the EML at this time. For all the medicines proposed, the Working Group noted that long-term trial follow-up is limited, and that the survival benefit

observed is currently uncertain. A review of the data after longer follow-up could be considered for a future EML update. Based on clinical benefit, only ribociclib meets the EML criteria for first-line survival benefit and ESMO-MCBS score. However, there are concerns about bias in the MONALEESA 7 trial, including high censoring rates, which reduce confidence in the estimates of benefit. In addition, the eligible patient population for these medicines is likely to be very large, current costs are very high with cost–effectiveness analyses finding these treatments not to be cost-effective in most settings at current prices. Treatment duration is long and therefore the effect on the budget of health systems would be substantial and unaffordable in many settings.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that breast cancer continues to be the leading cause of cancer death in women, and that more than half of women diagnosed with breast cancer have HR+/HER2– disease.

The Committee noted the results of clinical trials on CDK 4/6 inhibitors in the first- and second-line treatment settings suggest a potentially meaningful survival benefit with this class of medicines when added to endocrine therapy compared with endocrine therapy alone. However, the Committee considered that, while promising, these survival data are currently immature. In particular, in the first-line setting, it is not yet known if the progression-free survival gains seen in trials will translate to overall survival benefit in the long term.

Other areas of uncertainty identified by the Committee included questions on the optimal dose and duration of treatment, use in early-stage disease, and whether meaningful clinical differences exist between individual medicines within the pharmacological class.

The Committee also noted that CDK4/6 inhibitors are unlikely to be cost-effective in most settings at their current high prices and would pose serious affordability challenges, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the listing of CDK 4/6 inhibitors on the EML at this time. The Committee recognized that more mature survival data are likely to be available in the near future, and requested that an application with updated survival data be submitted for consideration by the Expert Committee in 2023. The Committee also considered that CDK 4/6 inhibitors could be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as candidates for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that the timelines for negotiating such licences are lengthy. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this class of medicines in low- and middle-income countries.

References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 9 June 2021).
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- 3. Francies FZ, Hull R, Khanyile R, Dlamini Z. Breast cancer in low-middle income countries: abnormality in splicing and lack of targeted treatment options. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(5):1568–91.
- 4. Surveillance epidemiology and end results incidence data, 1975–2017 [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/data/, accessed 23 November 2020).
- Chang JC, Wooten EC, Tsimelzon A, Hilsenbeck SG, Gutierrez MC, Elledge R, et al. Gene expression profiling for the prediction of therapeutic response to docetaxel in patients with breast cancer. Lancet. 2003;362(9381):362–9.
- Sant M, Allemani C, Capocaccia R, Hakulinen T, Aareleid T, Coebergh JW, et al. Stage at diagnosis is a key explanation of differences in breast cancer survival across Europe. Int J Cancer. 2003;106(3):416–22.
- 7. Cancer stat facts: female breast cancer subtypes [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; (https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast-subtypes.html, accessed 8 June 2021).
- 8. Goetz MP, Toi M, Campone M, Sohn J, Paluch-Shimon S, Huober J, et al. MONARCH 3: abemaciclib as initial therapy for advanced breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(32):3638–46.
- 9. Johnston S, Martin M, Di Leo A, Im SA, Awada A, Forrester T, et al. MONARCH 3 final PFS: a randomized study of abemaciclib as initial therapy for advanced breast cancer. NPJ Breast Cancer. 2019;5:5.
- ESMO-magnitude of clinical benefit scale. The ESMO-MCBS Score Card [internet]. Lugarno: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2015 (https://www.esmo.org/score/cards, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 11. Finn RS, Martin M, Rugo HS, Jones S, Im SA, Gelmon K, et al. Palbociclib and letrozole in advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(20):1925–36.
- Hortobagyi GN, Stemmer SM, Burris HA, Yap YS, Sonke GS, Paluch-Shimon S, et al. Updated results from MONALEESA-2, a phase III trial of first-line ribociclib plus letrozole versus placebo plus letrozole in hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative advanced breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(7):1541–7.
- Tripathy D, Im SA, Colleoni M, Franke F, Bardia A, Harbeck N, et al. Ribociclib plus endocrine therapy for premenopausal women with hormone-receptor-positive, advanced breast cancer (MONALEESA-7): a randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(7):904–15.
- 14. Im SA, Lu YS, Bardia A, Harbeck N, Colleoni M, Franke F, et al. Overall survival with ribociclib plus endocrine therapy in breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(4):307–16.
- 15. Sledge GW, Jr, Toi M, Neven P, Sohn J, Inoue K, Pivot X, et al. MONARCH 2: abemaciclib in combination with fulvestrant in women with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer who had progressed while receiving endocrine therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(25):2875–84.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 16. Sledge GW, Jr., Toi M, Neven P, Sohn J, Inoue K, Pivot X, et al. The effect of abemaciclib plus fulvestrant on overall survival in hormone receptor-positive, ERBB2-negative breast cancer that progressed on endocrine therapy-MONARCH 2: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2020;6(1):116–24.
- 17. Cristofanilli M, Turner NC, Bondarenko I, Ro J, Im SA, Masuda N, et al. Fulvestrant plus palbociclib versus fulvestrant plus placebo for treatment of hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer that progressed on previous endocrine therapy (PALOMA-3): final analysis of the multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(4):425–39.
- 18. Turner NC, Slamon DJ, Ro J, Bondarenko I, Im SA, Masuda N, et al. Overall survival with palbociclib and fulvestrant in advanced breast Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(20):1926–36.
- 19. Slamon DJ, Neven P, Chia S, Fasching PA, De Laurentiis M, Im SA, et al. Phase III randomized study of ribociclib and fulvestrant in hormone receptor-positive, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-negative advanced breast cancer: MONALEESA-3. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(24):2465–72.
- 20. Slamon DJ, Neven P, Chia S, Fasching PA, De Laurentiis M, Im SA, et al. Overall survival with ribociclib plus fulvestrant in advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(6):514–24.
- 21. Piezzo M, Chiodini P, Riemma M, Cocco S, Caputo R, Cianniello D, et al. Progression-free survival and overall survival of CDK 4/6 inhibitors plus endocrine therapy in metastatic breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(17).
- 22. Petracci F, Abuin GG, Pini A, Chacón M. RENATA study-Latin American prospective experience: clinical outcome of patients treated with palbociclib in hormone receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer-real-world use. Ecancermedicalscience. 2020;14:1058.
- 23. Hu W, Sung T, Jessen BA, Thibault S, Finkelstein MB, Khan NK, et al. Mechanistic investigation of bone marrow suppression associated with palbociclib and its differentiation from cytotoxic chemotherapies. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(8):2000–8.
- 24. Farooq F, Cohen JA. Efficacy and toxicity of CDK 4/6 inhibitors in breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of the phase III clinical trials. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15 Suppl):e14591.
- 25. Desnoyers A, Nadler MB, Kumar V, Saleh R, Amir E. Comparison of treatment-related adverse events of different cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors in metastatic breast cancer: a network meta-analysis. Cancer Treat Rev. 2020;90:102086.
- 26. Harbeck N, Franke F, Villanueva-Vazquez R, Lu YS, Tripathy D, Chow L, et al. Health-related quality of life in premenopausal women with hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-negative advanced breast cancer treated with ribociclib plus endocrine therapy: results from a phase III randomized clinical trial (MONALEESA-7). Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2020;12:1758835920943065.
- 27. Durairaj C, Ruiz-Garcia A, Gauthier ER, Huang X, Lu DR, Hoffman JT, et al. Palbociclib has no clinically relevant effect on the QTc interval in patients with advanced breast cancer. Anticancer Drugs. 2018;29(3):271–80.
- 28. Lee J, Park HS, Won HS, Yang JH, Lee HY, Woo IS, et al. Real-world clinical data of palbociclib in Asian metastatic breast cancer patients: experiences from eight institutions. Cancer Res Treat. 2021;53(2):409–423.
- 29. Takahashi M, Masuda N, Nishimura R, Inoue K, Ohno S, Iwata H, et al. Palbociclib-letrozole as first-line treatment for advanced breast cancer: updated results from a Japanese phase 2 study. Cancer Med. 2020;9(14):4929–40.
- 30. Haddy TB, Rana SR, Castro O. Benign ethnic neutropenia: what is a normal absolute neutrophil count? J Lab Clin Med. 1999;133(1):15–22.

294

- Reich D, Nalls MA, Kao WH, Akylbekova EL, Tandon A, Patterson N, et al. Reduced neutrophil count in people of African descent is due to a regulatory variant in the Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines gene. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(1):e1000360.
- 32. Lynce F, Saleh M, Shajahan-Haq A, Gallagher C, Dilawari A, Hahn O, et al. PALINA: a phase II safety study of palbociclib in combination with letrozole or fulvestrant in African American women with hormone receptor positive HER2 negative advanced breast cancer. Contemp Clin Trials Commun. 2018;10:190–2.
- Loke L, Lee SC, Pearce F, Ng K, Aziz MIA. Cost–effectiveness of ribociclib as initial treatment for premenopausal women with advanced breast cancer in Singapore. Cancer Rep (Hoboken). 2021;4(1):e1308.
- 34. Zhang B, Long EF. Cost–effectiveness analysis of palbociclib or ribociclib in the treatment of advanced hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;175(3):775–9.
- Ribociclib (Kisqali) for advanced or metastatic breast cancer. Pan-Canadian Oncology Drug Review, final economic guidance report. Toronto: pan-Canadian Oncology Drug Review; 2020 (https://cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pcodr/Reviews2020/10194RibociclibMBC\_fnEGR\_NOREDACT-ABBREV\_Post04Jun2020\_final.pdf, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 36. Giuliani J, Bonetti A. The introduction of a third CDK4/6 inhibitor does not change the cost– effectiveness profile in first and subsequent-lines after progression or relapse during previous endocrine therapy in patients with hormone receptor positive (HR+)/human epidermal receptor-2 negative (HER-2) advanced or metastatic breast cancer. J Oncol Pharm Pract. 2020;26(6):1486–91.
- Zhang Y, Zeng X, Deng H, Ma F, Peng Y, Yi L, et al. Cost–effectiveness analysis of adding palbociclib as a second-line endocrine therapy for HR(+)/HER2(-) metastatic breast cancer from the US and Chinese perspectives. Clin Ther. 2019;41(6):1175–85.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Everolimus – addition – EML and EMLc

**Everolimus** 

ATC Code: L01EG02

# Proposal

Addition of everolimus to the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of subependymal giant cell astrocytoma (SEGA) associated with tuberous sclerosis complex in children who need a therapeutic intervention but are not eligible for surgery.

# Applicant

European Society for Paediatric Oncology (SIOP Europe)

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that everolimus has well established and clinically relevant efficacy for the treatment of SEGA in children. It is important to note, however, that such treatment requires specialist diagnosis (that may include use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and specialized in vitro diagnostic tests such as immunohistochemistry and fluorescence in situ hybridization) and a multispecialty team for monitoring. Furthermore, SEGA is a rare condition mainly affecting children with tuberous sclerosis.

# EML/EMLc

EMLc

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 2.5 mg, 5 mg, 7.5 mg, 10 mg Dispersible tablet: 2 mg, 3 mg, 5 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Everolimus has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EMLc.

296

Tuberous sclerosis complex is an autosomal dominant genetic disorder characterized by the development of hamartomas (slow-growing, benign tumours) in different organs. SEGA is a non-infiltrative, slow-growing tumour of the central nervous system occurring predominantly in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex. It is classified as a low-grade glioma corresponding to grade I brain lesions according to the WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system (1).

The typical location of SEGA near the ventricles (subependymal) and the foramen of Monro (the conduit between the lateral ventricles and the third ventricle) and their tendency to grow can lead to obstructive hydrocephalus with substantial morbidity and mortality, including increased intracranial pressure, neurological deficits or deterioration in seizure control.

Tuberous sclerosis complex is caused by a mutation in the TSC1 and/ or TSC2 gene. These genes are normally involved in regulating cell growth and division by controlling the activity of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) protein. Mutations in the TSC1 and/or TSC2 gene lead to an activation of the mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1), resulting in uncontrolled cell growth. Everolimus directly inhibits the mTOR pathway (2, 3) and thus the uncontrolled division of cells harbouring the tuberous sclerosis complex mutation, leading to a reduction in the size of the tumour.

The alternative treatment options to everolimus are surgery and the symptomatic treatment of secondary complications, such as ventriculoperitoneal shunts (4, 5).

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Tuberous sclerosis complex is an autosomal dominant, genetic neurocutaneous disorder characterized by multisystem hamartomas, associated with neuropsychiatric features. With a prevalence of about one in 6000 newborns, tuberous sclerosis complex is a rare disease; nevertheless, nearly 1 million people are affected worldwide (6, 7).

The TuberOus SClerosis (TOSCA) registry provides epidemiological data on SEGA in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex. In the TOSCA registry, SEGAs are reported in 25% of patients with tuberous sclerosis complex. The median age at diagnosis of SEGA is 8 years (range < 1–51 years), with 27% diagnosed before the age of 2 years and 82% before 18 years (8).

Tuberous sclerosis complex, as the underlying condition of SEGA, is a life-long condition.

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

A 2007 phase I/II study assessed the effect of everolimus in 28 participants older than 3 years (median 11 years, range 3-34 years) with SEGA progression

between two MRI scans (9). At month 6 after the start of treatment,  $a \ge 30\%$  volume decrease of SEGAs was observed in 21 participants (nine had a reduction of  $\ge 50\%$ ). The robustness and consistency of this finding were supported by the fact that the change in SEGA volume was significant when assessed by the local investigator and an independent central outcome reviewer. Everolimus also reduced clinical and subclinical seizure frequency (median change, -1 seizure, P = 0.02). In nine of 16 children, seizure frequency decreased, six had no change and seizure frequency increased in one child. An extension of this study showed that at month 60 after the start of treatment, 12/23 participants (52%) experienced a volume reduction of  $\ge 50\%$  and 14/23 (61%) of  $\ge 30\%$  (10). Both studies have the inherent limitations of including only the small number of participants and the lack of a control arm. However, the biological rationale that supports use of everolimus is strong and, for this brain tumour, volume reduction and seizure frequency can be considered clinically relevant outcomes.

The EXIST-1 trial was a multicentre, double-blinded, randomized (2:1), placebo-controlled, phase III study that evaluated the efficacy and safety of everolimus in 117 participants aged > 3 years at diagnosis of a SEGA (*11*). After a median of 9.6 months of everolimus treatment, 35% and 77% of participants experienced a > 50% and > 30% reduction in SEGA volume, respectively. At month 6, the progression-free rate was 100% for everolimus and 86% for placebo (P < 0.001).

An open-label extension study of EXIST-1 included 111 participants who received at least one dose of everolimus (median age at diagnosis 9.5 years; range 1.1–27.4 years) (12). Overall, 54 participants (49%, 95% confidence interval (CI) 39.0% to 58.3%) had a response of  $\geq$  50% or greater reduction in SEGA volume at least once during the study period.

The final results from the EXIST-1 trial showed that 57.7% of participants reached a SEGA volume reduction of  $\geq$  50% at least once during the study period (13). No participants needed surgery. Additional clinical benefits observed in this study included a reduction in the volume of renal angiomyolipoma of  $\geq$  50% in 73.2% of participants and 58.1% of participants had an improvement in skin lesions.

A case series in five infants younger than 12 months showed that treatment with everolimus was feasible in children during the first year of life. All five infants had a reduction in the SEGA volume of  $\geq$  50% within 6 months, with the most rapid reduction in the first 3 months (14).

In summary, reasonable evidence exists that everolimus treatment reduces SEGA volume. The effect on lesions at other sites (kidney, skin) and on seizure frequency is less clear, although a reduction in all these outcomes have been reported (9-11, 13).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The most frequent adverse events of everolimus reported in the EXIST-1 trial were mouth ulceration (30%) and stomatitis (43%) of mild to moderate grade (12). Participants included in the open-label phase I/II study also showed upper respiratory tract infection, sinusitis, otitis media, pyrexia and acneiform dermatitis (2, 9). No drug-related grade 4 or 5 events or death were reported (9, 11).

In the final results of the EXIST-1 trial (13), 91% of participants needed at least one dose interruption or reduction, with adverse events being the most frequent reason for dose interruption (72%). Discontinuation of everolimus due to adverse events occurred in about 10% of participants in this study. One death was reported but was not suspected to be treatment-related.

In the NCT00411619 extension study (10), all participants needed at least one dose modification, including dose interruption, dose reduction and/ or dose increase due to adverse events or because it was required by the protocol (blood concentration too low or high).

Adverse events identified in the case series describing use of everolimus in infants included infection, stomatitis and increase triglycerides (14).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### WHO guidelines

WHO Guidelines for the treatment of SEGA are not available nor are WHO guidelines for the treatment of low-grade glioma.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No comparative cost-effectiveness data are available.

The application reported an annual cost of treatment for a 10-year-old child at a dosage of 5 mg everolimus a day, based on medicine prices from the Netherlands, to be  $\in$  30 436 and  $\in$  34 526 for standard tablets and dispersible tablets, respectively. However, medicine prices will vary from country to country.

## Availability

Everolimus has regulatory approval from multiple national regulatory agencies for treatment of SEGA associated with tuberous sclerosis complex in patients aged 3 years and older who require therapeutic intervention but who are not candidates for curative surgery. It is available in both branded and generic forms. Everolimus also has regulatory approval for other indications including renal cell cancer, pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours, hormone-receptor-positive advanced breast cancer, and (in lower doses) for prophylaxis of organ rejection in patients receiving organ transplants.

#### Other considerations

For the diagnosis of SEGA, MRI must be available and neuroradiologists trained in paediatric neuroradiology are required for the interpretation of the images and clinical implications. If SEGA is detected on imaging, genetic counselling of the patient and family is necessary.

After a defined starting dose, everolimus has to be adjusted individually to reach a blood concentration of 5–15 ng/mL. Younger age at treatment (< 6 years) and concomitant treatment with drugs that induce CYP3A4 require higher starting doses. Therapeutic drug monitoring and dose titration for everolimus are required. Treatment of SEGA is guided by follow-up MRI to assess tumour volume and response to treatment.

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supports the inclusion of everolimus on the EMLc for the treatment of SEGA in children. If recommended by the Expert Committee, it should be very clearly communicated that the recommendation is for this indication alone, and not for other indications where the evidence for everolimus has not been reviewed. The Working Group noted that SEGA is a very rare disease with a strong genetic component. There is evidence of benefit for everolimus in the treatment of children with SEGA. However, the Working Group had some concerns about the feasibility of safe and appropriate use of everolimus in some settings, noting the requirements for specialist diagnosis and monitoring.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee noted that subependymal giant cell astrocytoma (SEGA) is a rare disease affecting almost exclusively children with tuberous sclerosis complex and is associated with considerable neurological morbidity and mortality. The Committee also noted that diagnosis of SEGA requires specialist paediatric neuroradiology expertise and the availability of facilities for magnetic resonance imaging, as well as multispecialty teams including oncologists and specialists in the treatment of epilepsy, which may be limited or unavailable in some settings.

SEGA management historically had few options other than surgery, as radiotherapy and chemotherapy were not effective. The Committee noted that everolimus is associated with reductions in SEGA volume and clinical and subclinical seizure frequency. Evidence of efficacy and safety is limited as the condition is rare. No studies have been done comparing everolimus with surgery, nor and there any substantive studies that report on quality of life with everolimus treatment. Regular monitoring of everolimus treatment for adverse events and toxicity is required, leading to frequent dose adjustments. In addition, the need for and high cost of frequent high-level care during treatment may make this treatment inaccessible to many low- and middle-income countries. The Committee noted that everolimus is mainly used in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex, who are not candidates for surgery because of the location of tumours or because the disease has progressed after SEGA resection. However, everolimus has replaced surgery as first choice in several settings.

The Expert Committee acknowledged that the Cancer Working Group supported the inclusion of everolimus on the EMLc to treat SEGA in children, although the treatment requires specialist diagnosis.

Based on the available evidence, the Committee considered everolimus to have a favourable benefit-to-harm ratio, especially in patients who are not eligible for surgery or when surgery cannot remove the whole tumour.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of everolimus on the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of SEGA in children with tuberous sclerosis complex. Recognizing that SEGA is a life-long condition, the Committee also recommended inclusion of everolimus on the EML for patients older than 12 years. The Expert Committee did not endorse the use of everolimus for indications other than SEGA for which the evidence has not been reviewed.

The Committee noted that the inclusion of everolimus on the Model Lists supports the WHO Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer that seeks to improve childhood cancer patient survival to up to 60% by 2030 with access to essential medicines as a main part of the initiative.

The Committee advised the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on In Vitro Diagnostics that everolimus should be considered as a moderate priority candidate for which therapeutic drug monitoring assays should be evaluated for inclusion on the WHO Model List of Essential In Vitro Diagnostics.

# References

- 1. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131(6):803–20.
- 2. Krueger DA, Care MM, Agricola K, Tudor C, Mays M, Franz DN. Everolimus long-term safety and efficacy in subependymal giant cell astrocytoma. Neurology. 2013;80(6):574–80.
- 3. Pollack IF, Agnihotri S, Broniscer A. Childhood brain tumors: current management, biological insights, and future directions. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019;23(3):261–73.
- 4. Fohlen M, Ferrand-Sorbets S, Delalande O, Dorfmüller G. Surgery for subependymal giant cell astrocytomas in children with tuberous sclerosis complex. Childs Nerv Syst. 2018;34(8):1511–9.
- Giordano F, Moscheo C, Lenge M, Biagiotti R, Mari F, Sardi I, et al. Neurosurgical treatment of subependymal giant cell astrocytomas in tuberous sclerosis complex: a series of 44 surgical procedures in 31 patients. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36(5):951–60.
- 6. About TSC [website]. Silver Spring, MD:TSC Alliance (https://www.tscalliance.org/about-tsc/ what-is-tsc/, accessed 9 June 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Tuberous sclerosis complex [internet]. Orphanet; 2020 (https://www.orpha.net/consor/cgi-bin/ OC\_Exp.php?Lng=GB&Expert=805, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 8. Jansen AC, Belousova E, Benedik MP, Carter T, Cottin V, Curatolo P, et al. Clinical characteristics of subependymal giant cell astrocytoma in tuberous sclerosis complex. Front Neurol. 2019;10:705.
- Krueger DA, Care MM, Holland K, Agricola K, Tudor C, Mangeshkar P, et al. Everolimus for subependymal giant-cell astrocytomas in tuberous sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(19):1801–11.
- 10. Franz DN, Agricola K, Mays M, Tudor C, Care MM, Holland-Bouley K, et al. Everolimus for subependymal giant cell astrocytoma: 5-year final analysis. Ann Neurol. 2015;78(6):929–38.
- 11. Franz DN, Belousova E, Sparagana S, Bebin EM, Frost M, Kuperman R, et al. Efficacy and safety of everolimus for subependymal giant cell astrocytomas associated with tuberous sclerosis complex (EXIST-1): a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2013;381(9861):125–32.
- 12. Franz DN, Belousova E, Sparagana S, Bebin EM, Frost M, Kuperman R, et al. Everolimus for subependymal giant cell astrocytoma in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex: 2-year open-label extension of the randomised EXIST-1 study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(13):1513–20.
- 13. Franz DN, Belousova E, Sparagana S, Bebin EM, Frost MD, Kuperman R, et al. Long-term use of everolimus in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex: final results from the EXIST-1 study. PLoS One. 2016;11(6):e0158476.
- 14. Kuki I, Kawawaki H, Okazaki S, Ehara E, Yoshida Y, Kunihiro N, et al. Efficacy and safety of everolimus in patients younger than 12 months with congenital subependymal giant cell astrocytoma. Brain Dev. 2018;40(5):415–20.

302

Ibrutinib – addition – EML

# Ibrutinib

ATC Code: L01EL01

# Proposal

Addition of ibrutinib to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) / small lymphocytic lymphoma in patients with a high risk of progressing to aggressive disease and patients with relapsed refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia.

# Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Ontario, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile

Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago-Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that at the current time, there was not a strong justification for inclusion of ibrutinib on the EML. The department acknowledged that CLL with 17p/TP53 deletion could be a specific indication for which ibrutinib may have merit; however, given the important health system requirements, including the need for complex diagnostic tests (to avoid inappropriate prescribing and use), the high risk of clinically relevant side-effects, and the absence of an improvement in quality of life, the technical department concluded that there were currently insufficient data to merit its inclusion. The technical department also noted that more data on the clinical benefit of ibrutinib for the treatment of patients with CLL with 17p/TP53 deletion would be valuable to better evaluate its potential role as an essential medicine.

# EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

**Dose form(s) & strength(s)** Ibrutinib: capsule 140 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Ibrutinib has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

Medicines currently included on the EML for CLL are bendamustine, chlorambucil, cyclophosphamide, fludarabine, prednisolone and rituximab, recommended for inclusion as part of the comprehensive review of cancer medicines undertaken by the Expert Committee in 2015 (1).

Ibrutinib belongs to the class of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors which are currently not listed on the EML for any indication. Continuous activation of Bruton tyrosine kinase plays an important role in the proliferation of malignant B-cells, which can be counteracted by Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

CLL is the most common form of adult leukaemia in many high-income countries and its incidence increases significantly with age (2). Its incidence in Australia, North America and some European countries is considerably higher than in Asian and Central and South American countries. Age-adjusted incidence rates range from 0.1 per 100 000 people in Japan for both males and females, to 2.4 per 1000 000 for females and 4.5 per 100 000 for males in Canada (3). Globally, the absolute number of deaths due to CLL increased by 70% from 1990 to 2017. Of note, the age-adjusted death rates have decreased in high-income regions, largely due to access to and availability of effective treatments, but have increased in many lower-income settings where effective treatment is not available or affordable (4).

Since CLL is a slowly progressing disease, patients with early-stage asymptomatic disease usually do not require treatment. In patients with more advanced and symptomatic disease, the aim of treatment is to improve the quality of life and prolong survival since for now, with few exceptions, CLL cannot be cured. Patients with CLL with chromosome 17p deletion are a high-risk subgroup whose disease is refractory to chemoimmunotherapy with the treatments currently included on the EML, and whose prognosis is very poor. CLL with 17p deletion accounts for than 10% of new cases, and 30–50% of relapsed/refractory cases previously treated with chemoimmunotherapy (5). Ibrutinib appears to benefit in this subgroup of patients.

The economic burden of CLL on both patients and health systems is substantial. Annual direct costs per person with CLL have been estimated to range between US\$ 4500 in Germany and US\$ 44 000 in the United States of America (6).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Four systematic reviews (7-10) and five randomized trials (11-15) assessing ibrutinib for the treatment of CLL were identified in the application. Two of these trials were direct comparisons of ibrutinib with another targeted therapy not included on the EML (another Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor in one study and an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody in the other) and were therefore not included in the meta-analysis conducted by the applicants (11, 15). The remaining three trials provided data on the effect of ibrutinib as a first- or second-line of treatment in patients with CLL.

Two trials were conducted in treatment-naïve patients. One compared ibrutinib with chlorambucil for 12 cycles in patients without the 17p deletion (12), while the other trial evaluated ibrutinib plus obinutuzumab (an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody) versus chlorambucil plus obinutuzumab for six cycles (13). This trial included participants with 17p deletion, although they represented only a small proportion of the participants included (about 14%). The third trial enrolled participants with relapsed/refractory disease and assessed the effect of ibrutinib plus bendamustine and rituximab versus bendamustine plus rituximab alone. Participants with the 17p deletion were excluded from this study due to the known poor response of these patients to bendamustine plus rituximab (14).

A meta-analysis of these three studies showed that the use of ibrutinib as a first- or second-line treatment probably increases progression-free survival (hazard ratio (HR) 0.20, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.14 to 0.27; highcertainty evidence) and probably also overall survival (HR 0.44, 95% CI 0.20 to 0.97; moderate-certainty evidence). Median overall survival had not been reached. Median progression-free survival was reached in one trial of patients with relapsed/refractory disease (14), and indicated a progression-free survival gain of 50.8 months in absolute terms.

One trial reported the effect of ibrutinib on quality of life and found that the use of ibrutinib resulted in a statistically significant improvement in scores of the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy (FACIT) – Fatigue and the European Organization for the Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30) questionnaires. The mean difference observed in the FACIT – Fatigue score was 2.6 points (95% CI 0.4 to 4.9 points); however, this is below the minimally important differences reported for this scale (*16*). In addition, the mean difference reported in the physical functioning score of EORTC QLQ-C30 was 5.0 points (95% CI 0.75 to 9.25 points), which is also under the reported minimal important difference for this domain (*17*).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Only one of the included trials reported adverse events in both treatment groups (13). For the comparison of ibrutinib plus obinutuzumab versus chlorambucil plus obinutuzumab, the frequency of grade 3 and 4 adverse events was similar in both arms (risk ratio (RR) 0.98, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.17; low-certainty evidence). Common adverse events associated with ibrutinib included neutropenia, pneumonia, hypertension, anaemia, hyponatremia and atrial fibrillation.

However, systematic reviews have linked the use of ibrutinib with an increased risk of hypertension, atrial fibrillation and major bleeding (9, 10). The use of ibrutinib (in comparison with regimens without ibrutinib) probably results in 60 more cases of hypertension (95% CI 20 to 160 more; moderate-certainty evidence), 19 more cases of atrial fibrillation (95% CI 10 to 58 more; high-certainty evidence) and 122 more bleeding events (95% CI 8 fewer to 370 more; moderate-certainty evidence) per 1000 patients treated.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of CLL are not available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Three studies that evaluated the cost–effectiveness of ibrutinib for treatment of CLL/small lymphocytic lymphoma were identified in the application (*18–20*).

One study was a cost-utility analysis from the Swedish health system perspective in a population of patients with refractory or relapsed CLL (18). The authors concluded that ibrutinib could be cost-effective compared with of a unmab, idelalisib plus of a tumumab or physicians' choice of treatment. However, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios were around  $\notin$  60 000 per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) gained, higher than the thresholds most often used in European countries.

A cost-utility analysis from the United States Medicare perspective was done using ibrutinib as first-line therapy versus obinutuzumab and chlorambucil (19). In a cohort of patients older than 65 years without the 17p deletion, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios was US\$ 189 326 per QALY gained, showing that ibrutinib was not a cost-effective alternative at the current price and willingness-to-pay thresholds.

The third study was a cost-utility analysis from the perspective of the National Health System of the United Kingdome of Great Britain and Northern Ireland in adults with untreated CLL. The model compared ibrutinib with obinutuzumab plus chlorambucil and showed an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of £ 75 648 per QALY gained, which is more than the commonly used willingness-to-pay thresholds used in the United Kingdom of £ 20 000–30 000 per QALY gained used by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence for new treatments, and of £ 50 000 per QALY gained for end-of-life treatments (20).

The applicants report that national reimbursement agencies in Australia, Canada and the United Kingdom have evaluated the cost–effectiveness of ibrutinib and recommended coverage, albeit in specific subgroups of patients and under confidential pricing agreements.

#### Availability

Ibrutinib has marketing approval from multiple national regulatory agencies, including the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, the European Medicines Agency, Health Canada, the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency and the United States Food and Drug Administration. Ibrutinib is under patent until 2027. However, generics are available in some countries.

## Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supported the inclusion of ibrutinib on the EML as first-line treatment for the highrisk subgroup of patients with CLL with 17p deletion, recognizing that this population has a significantly poorer prognosis, and an unmet need for effective treatment exists. A broader role for ibrutinib in all patients with CLL, and in the second-line setting, is not supported at this time.

However, the Working Group noted the significant cardiovascular toxicity associated with ibrutinib, in particular atrial fibrillation and major bleeding, management of which requires specialized care and resources that may not be widely available in some settings. The Working Group also considered that the need for molecular testing to identify patients with 17p deletion, who are most likely to benefit from treatment, may be a further limitation, particularly in some resource-constrained settings where such testing may not be available or affordable.

The Working Group also recognized the high cost of the medicine, the potentially long duration of treatment and the fact that ibrutinib has not been found to be cost-effective at current prices in multiple analyses. It is hoped that with the emerging availability of generics in some settings, the price will decrease and treatment will be more affordable.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Committee noted that targeted therapy with Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as ibrutinib, was now emerging as the cornerstone of CLL treatment in high-income countries, replacing chemoimmunotherapy as the accepted standard of care because such therapy is more effective, has less acute toxicity and a minimal risk of development of secondary leukaemias.

The Committee considered the results of the meta-analysis presented in the application which covered all patients with CLL, and which showed with moderate-certainty evidence that ibrutinib increased overall survival, and with high-certainty evidence that ibrutinib increased progression-free survival. The trials included in the meta-analysis were in both the first-line and relapsed/ refractory settings, and in both settings, ibrutinib was consistently associated with highly relevant clinical benefits. The Committee noted that in relapsed/ refractory patients, the data were more mature (6 years of follow-up), with ibrutinib showing significantly longer overall survival and progression-free survival than immunotherapy with the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody ofatumumab, including in patients with high-risk disease features such as 17p deletion or other genetic mutations associated with poor prognosis. In the firstline treatment setting, the available data are less mature (3 years of follow-up), but they also demonstrate benefit in terms of progression-free survival and response rates of ibrutinib compared with chemoimmunotherapy, including in patients with high-risk disease features. In absolute terms, the use of ibrutinib prolongs progression-free survival by at least 50 months compared with chemoimmunotherapy, with the effect being relatively uniform and robust in both first- and later-line settings. However, the quality of evidence supporting the use of ibrutinib in the subgroup of patients with CLL with 17p deletion is not as complete as it is for the whole population of patients with relapsed/ refractory CLL and is immature for treatment-naïve patients.

With regard to safety, the Committee noted the significant cardiovascular toxicity associated with ibrutinib, particularly atrial fibrillation and hypertension. Most patients who start ibrutinib for CLL will remain on this drug for many years as treatment is usually continued until disease progression. Monitoring and management of these side-effects require considerable resources. Major bleeding is also seen in some patients, for which specialized care and resources are required for management.

The Committee considered that the data in the relapsed/refractory setting were compelling for a major sustained benefit and improved tolerability for all patients with CLL (with or without 17p deletion). Therefore, the

Committee recommended the inclusion of ibrutinib on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of relapsed/refractory CLL.

The Committee acknowledged the potential role for ibrutinib as first-line treatment, particularly in the subgroup of patients with CLL with 17p deletion, but considered that the available evidence, while promising, was currently immature unlike the evidence for relapsed/refractory disease. The Committee therefore did not recommend listing ibrutinib for firstline treatment at this time. The Committee requested that an application be submitted for consideration at the next Expert Committee meeting when more mature data on ibrutinib for first-line treatment will be available.

The Committee noted that ibrutinib was not found to be cost-effective at current prices in multiple analyses, particularly when used in first-line treatment for all patients. The Committee recognized the very high price of ibrutinib (tens of thousands of US\$ per year in many settings), and the long duration of the treatment, which will have a significant financial impact on individuals and health systems. The increasing availability of other Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors and the availability of generics of ibrutinib reported in a few countries were also noted, and it was expected that these factors would introduce competition to reduce prices. Nevertheless, the Committee recognized that the current price of ibrutinib was prohibitive for most lowand middle-income countries. The Committee also considered that the lack of access to molecular testing to identify CLL patients with chromosome 17p deletion may be a limitation in some resource-constrained settings. Therefore, the Committee did not limit ibrutinib treatment to this subgroup when making its recommendation.

The Committee recommended that ibrutinib be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as a candidate for negotiating public health-oriented licences with the patent-holding companies to facilitate more affordable access to ibrutinib in low- and middle-income countries. In addition, the Committee considered that ibrutinib would be a potential candidate for WHO prequalification to facilitate access to affordable and quality-assured products. The Committee therefore requested the WHO Prequalification Programme consider the inclusion of ibrutinib in its invitation for expressions of interest to manufacturers, so that ibrutinib can be eligible for prequalification.

Finally, recognizing the emerging important role of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors as a therapeutic class in first- and second-line treatment of CLL, the Committee advised that it would welcome an application including other Bruton kinase inhibitors (e.g. acalabrutinib, zanubrutinib) for consideration as therapeutic alternatives for inclusion on the EML in the future.

.....

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 8 June 2021).
- 2. Redaelli A, Laskin BL, Stephens JM, Botteman MF, Pashos CL. The clinical and epidemiological burden of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2004;13(3):279–87.
- Miranda-Filho A, Piñeros M, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Monnereau A, Bray F. Epidemiological patterns of leukaemia in 184 countries: a population-based study. The Lancet Haematology. 2018;5(1):e14–e24.
- 4. Ou Z, Yu D, Liang Y, He W, Li Y, Zhang M, et al. Analysis of the Global Burden of Disease study highlights the trends in death and disability-adjusted life years of leukemia from 1990 to 2017. Cancer Commun (Lond). 2020;40(11):598–610.
- 5. Zenz T, Gribben JG, Hallek M, Döhner H, Keating MJ, Stilgenbauer S. Risk categories and refractory CLL in the era of chemoimmunotherapy. Blood. 2012;119(18):4101–7.
- 6. Frey S, Blankart CR, Stargardt T. Economic burden and quality-of-life effects of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a systematic review of the literature. Pharmacoeconomics. 2016;34(5):479–98.
- 7. Molica S, Giannarelli D, Baumann T, Montserrat E. Ibrutinib as initial therapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Haematol. 2020;104(5):512–5.
- 8. Puła A, Stawiski K, Braun M, Iskierka-Jażdżewska E, Robak T. Efficacy and safety of B-cell receptor signaling pathway inhibitors in relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Leuk Lymphoma. 2018;59(5):1084–94.
- 9. Caldeira D, Alves D, Costa J, Ferreira JJ, Pinto FJ. Ibrutinib increases the risk of hypertension and atrial fibrillation: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2019;14(2):e0211228.
- 10. Caron F, Leong DP, Hillis C, Fraser G, Siegal D. Current understanding of bleeding with ibrutinib use: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Blood Adv. 2017;1(12):772–8.
- 11. Munir T, Brown JR, O'Brien S, Barrientos JC, Barr PM, Reddy NM, et al. Final analysis from RESONATE: up to six years of follow-up on ibrutinib in patients with previously treated chronic lymphocytic leukemia or small lymphocytic lymphoma. Am J Hematol. 2019;94(12):1353–63.
- 12. Burger JA, Tedeschi A, Barr PM, Robak T, Owen C, Ghia P, et al. Ibrutinib as initial therapy for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(25):2425–37.
- Moreno C, Greil R, Demirkan F, Tedeschi A, Anz B, Larratt L, et al. Ibrutinib plus obinutuzumab versus chlorambucil plus obinutuzumab in first-line treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (iLLUMINATE): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(1):43–56.
- 14. Fraser GAM, Chanan-Khan A, Demirkan F, Santucci Silva R, Grosicki S, Janssens A, et al. Final 5-year findings from the phase 3 HELIOS study of ibrutinib plus bendamustine and rituximab in patients with relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2020;61(13):3188–97.
- 15. Hillmen P, Brown JR, Byrd JC, Eichhorst B, Lamanna N, O'Brien SM, et al. ALPINE: Phase III zanubrutinib (BGB-3111) versus ibrutinib in patients with relapsed/refractory (R/R) chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma (CLL/SLL). J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15 Suppl):TPS7572–TPS.
- 16. Nordin Å, Taft C, Lundgren-Nilsson Å, Dencker A. Minimal important differences for fatigue patient reported outcome measures-a systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2016;16:62.

- 17. Jayadevappa R, Cook R, Chhatre S. Minimal important difference to infer changes in healthrelated quality of life: a systematic review. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017;89:188–98.
- 18. Sorensen SV, Peng S, Dorman E, Cote S, Tambour M, Pan F, et al. The cost–effectiveness of ibrutinib in treatment of relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Health Econ Outcome Res. 2016;2(4).
- Barnes JI, Divi V, Begaye A, Wong R, Coutre S, Owens DK, et al. Cost–effectiveness of ibrutinib as first-line therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia in older adults without deletion 17p. Blood Adv. 2018;2(15):1946–56.
- 20. Sinha R, Redekop WK. Cost–effectiveness of ibrutinib compared with obinutuzumab with chlorambucil in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients with comorbidities in the United Kingdom. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2018;18(2):e131–e42.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Imatinib - new indication - EML

### Imatinib

ATC Code: L01EA01

## Proposal

Inclusion of imatinib on the complementary list of the EML for the new indication of treatment of adults with Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph+)/ BCR-ABL-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.

## Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago– Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical unit considered that there is sufficient evidence to justify the inclusion of imatinib on the EML for the treatment of Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia given its clinical impact and the feasibility of its appropriate use, noting its increasing availability for other cancer-related indications. Imatinib treatment for Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia is known to reduce mortality, improve quality of life and it has a favourable safety profile. Data for other tyrosine kinase inhibitors (e.g. dasatinib, ponatinib) are less mature.

## EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg, 400 mg

Core/complementary

Complementary

Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Imatinib was added to the EML in 2015 for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukaemia and gastrointestinal stromal tumour (1). It was added to the EMLc for the same indications in 2019 (2). Imatinib has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML or EMLc for the treatment of Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia accounts for about 15% of all leukaemias (3). While it is the most common cancer in children, it is a relatively infrequent disease in adults. Excluding the paediatric population, its incidence increases with age and most new cases are diagnosed in individuals older than 65 years (4). Before the introduction of targeted therapies, the prognosis was particularly poor, with a 5-year survival of around 10-20% (5–7).

The Philadelphia chromosome is the most frequent cytogenetic abnormality in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. It is seen in about 30–40% of all cases (8). It corresponds to a translocation between the ABL-1 oncogene on chromosome 9 and a breakpoint cluster region (BCR) on chromosome 22, resulting in a fusion gene, BCR-ABL, that encodes a constitutively active tyrosine kinase (9). Before the introduction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors, the presence of the Philadelphia chromosome was associated with a significantly lower probability of remission and survival at 5 years (10).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The applicants performed a literature search for randomized trials and systematic reviews of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, and conducted a meta-analysis of the results. Two systematic reviews (11, 12) (used to identify relevant studies) and two small randomized trials (13, 14) involving imatinib were identified. No data for other tyrosine kinase inhibitors were included in the application.

### Randomized controlled trials

A small randomized trial in 32 centres in Germany between 2002 and 2005 randomly assigned 55 elderly participants (median age 68 years) with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia to induction therapy with either imatinib (n = 28) or age-adapted chemotherapy (n = 27) (13). However, both groups later received imatinib during the consolidation chemotherapy, making it impossible to assess the effect of imatinib treatment on clinical outcomes.

Another German multicentre randomized trial conducted between 2004 and 2010 assessed the use of imatinib in Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia or lymphoid blast crisis of chronic myeloid leukaemia after allogeneic haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation (14). The trial included 57 participants who were randomized to either prophylactic imatinib after haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation (n = 26) or imatinib treatment based on detection of minimal residual disease (n = 29), again making it difficult to assess the effect of imatinib treatment.

#### Meta-analysis of cohort studies

The applicants performed a meta-analysis of eight comparative cohort studies identified from two published systematic reviews (15-22). All studies included individuals with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, and assessed the survival of individuals who received imatinib in addition to chemotherapy versus those who received chemotherapy alone. Typically, a proportion of participants also received an allogenic stem-cell transplantation with imatinib being used before and/or after the transplantation. Two of the studies evaluated a concurrent group (15-17) while six used data from historical patients (18-22).

The meta-analysis suggested that the use imatinib may significantly reduce mortality (risk ratio (RR) 0.50, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.38 to 0.66); with 38 fewer deaths per 100 patients treated with imatinib. Four studies reported the median survival with and without imatinib (15, 18-20). From these data, it was estimated that imatinib may increase overall survival by a median of 12 months compared with chemotherapy. Despite the large effect observed, there were concerns about: the risk of bias as most studies compared imatinib with historical data; and inconsistency, given that the magnitude of effect varied, with a proportion of studies showing a modest effect. Weighting these factors, the certainty of the evidence was therefore judged as low.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Cardiac toxicity, notably congestive heart failure, is a well known, albeit rare, adverse effect of treatment with tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

Data on potential toxicity of tyrosine kinase inhibitors when used for the treatment of Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia were limited. Only two of the studies included in the meta-analysis for the application reported adverse events (15, 16). Meta-analysis of data from these studies indicated that the use of imatinib might increase the risk of adverse events, mainly due to cardiac toxicity (RR 1.31, 95% CI 0.73 to 2.36). In absolute terms, this would translate in eight more adverse events per 100 patients treated. The certainty of the evidence was judged as very low.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

In a separate application to the meeting of the Expert Committee, imatinib was also proposed for inclusion on the EMLc for treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children, for which it is considered standard of care. Imatinib is included in the ALLTogether trial regimen for children and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (23) and the EsPhALL trial regimen for children with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (24).

Several other trials studies have shown relevant benefits of imatinib in the paediatric population, with about 20% more participants alive at 5 years compared with before the introduction of imatinib for children with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (25–28).

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia are not availble.

Clinical practice guidelines from the European Society of Medical Oncology recommend that all adults with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia receive first-line treatment with imatinib or a second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in combination with chemotherapy (12). The National Comprehensive Cancer Network Guidelines also recommend treatment with a tyrosine kinase inhibitor in combination with multiagent chemotherapy or corticosteroids as induction treatment for Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in adults, young adults and adolescents (29).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Evidence on the cost-effectiveness of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia is limited and does not include first-generation agents such as imatinib, which are generally more available and affordable. However, even second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors seem to be cost-effective (*30*).

Importantly, the patent of imatinib expired in 2016. However, this has not led to the expected rapid introduction of generic alternatives (*31*) nor to a

substantial price reduction: generic imatinib was introduced to the market only 8% below the price of the original and even today remains a costly medicine (*32*).

## Availability

Imatinib has marketing approval from multiple national regulatory agencies, including the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, the European Medicines Agency, Health Canada, the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency and the United States Food and Drug Administration. It is available in branded and generic forms.

## Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group supported the inclusion of imatinib on both the EML and EMLc for the treatment of adults and children with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia based on evidence of relevant improvement in survival and acceptable safety. Despite also being associated relevant survival benefit, the available data for other tyrosine kinase inhibitors (dasatinib, ponatinib) are less mature. There is little evidence supporting their use in children and their global availability (including generics) is more limited. Therefore, the Working Group did not support the inclusion of tyrosine kinase inhibitors as a therapeutic class at this time.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph+) acute lymphoblastic leukaemia is the most frequent genetic subtype of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in adults and historically has been associated with poor outcomes. The Committee acknowledged that the 5-year survival of adult patients with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with conventional chemotherapy was 10-20%, with a median survival of about 16 months. The addition of imatinib to conventional chemotherapy has halved the risk of premature death to around 50% and is now considered the standard of care for first-line treatment of Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.

The Committee considered the results of the meta-analysis of comparative cohort studies included in the application, which indicated a difference in median survival of 12 months with the addition of imatinib to standard chemotherapy in the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, based on low-quality evidence. The Committee considered this to represent a highly relevant improvement in clinical benefit. The Committee considered that the safety profile of imatinib is well known and generally acceptable, and that imatinib is already listed in the EML for chronic myeloid leukaemia and gastrointestinal stromal tumour.

The Committee took into account that accurate identification of the presence of the predictive biomarker (Ph+ or BCR/ABL fusion gene) requires

.....

complex tests and is central to the appropriate use of any tyrosine kinase inhibitor in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of imatinib on the EML for the treatment of adults with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, considering the overall survival benefit, acceptable safety profile, and that imatinib is off-patent and generic brands are becoming widely available. Noting the benefits of imatinib for paediatric patients with Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, the Committee also extended the recommendation to inclusion on the EMLc. The Committee considered that other tyrosine kinase inhibitors (e.g. dasatinib, ponatinib) might have also have a place in the treatment of Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukaemia but that currently, data were less mature. The Committee therefore did not support the inclusion of other tyrosine kinase inhibitors within the therapeutic class at this time but would welcome a future application when mature data are available.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 16 May 2021)
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 16 May 2021).
- 3. Bassan R, Gatta G, Tondini C, Willemze R. Adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2004;50(3):223–61.
- Redaelli A, Laskin BL, Stephens JM, Botteman MF, Pashos CL. A systematic literature review of the clinical and epidemiological burden of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL). Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2005;14(1):53–62.
- El Fakih R, Jabbour E, Ravandi F, Hassanein M, Anjum F, Ahmed S, et al. Current paradigms in the management of Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. Am J Hematol. 2018;93(2):286–95.
- Bassan R, Rohatiner AZ, Lerede T, Di Bona E, Rambaldi A, Pogliani E, et al. Role of early anthracycline dose-intensity according to expression of Philadelphia chromosome/BCR-ABL rearrangements in B-precursor adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Hematol J. 2000;1(4):226–34.
- Carli PM, Coebergh JW, Verdecchia A. Variation in survival of adult patients with haematological malignancies in Europe since 1978. EUROCARE Working Group. Eur J Cancer. 1998;34(14 Spec No):2253–63.
- Burmeister T, Schwartz S, Bartram CR, Gökbuget N, Hoelzer D, Thiel E. Patients' age and BCR-ABL frequency in adult B-precursor ALL: a retrospective analysis from the GMALL study group. Blood. 2008;112(3):918–9.
- 9. Ravandi F. How I treat Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2019;133(2):130–6.

 Wetzler M, Dodge RK, Mrózek K, Carroll AJ, Tantravahi R, Block AW, et al. Prospective karyotype analysis in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the cancer and leukemia Group B experience. Blood. 1999;93(11):3983–93.

- 11. Couban S, Savoie L, Mourad YA, Leber B, Minden M, Turner R, et al. Evidence-based guidelines for the use of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-positive or BCR-ABL-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Canadian consensus. Curr Oncol. 2014;21(2):e265–309.
- 12. Hoelzer D, Bassan R, Dombret H, Fielding A, Ribera JM, Buske C. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in adult patients: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(suppl 5):v69–v82.
- 13. Ottmann OG, Wassmann B, Pfeifer H, Giagounidis A, Stelljes M, Dührsen U, et al. Imatinib compared with chemotherapy as front-line treatment of elderly patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ALL). Cancer. 2007;109(10):2068–76.
- Pfeifer H, Wassmann B, Bethge W, Dengler J, Bornhäuser M, Stadler M, et al. Randomized comparison of prophylactic and minimal residual disease-triggered imatinib after allogeneic stem cell transplantation for BCR-ABL1-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(6):1254–62.
- Bassan R, Rossi G, Pogliani EM, Di Bona E, Angelucci E, Cavattoni I, et al. Chemotherapy-phased imatinib pulses improve long-term outcome of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Northern Italy Leukemia Group protocol 09/00. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(22):3644–52.
- 16. Burke MJ, Trotz B, Luo X, Baker KS, Weisdorf DJ, Wagner JE, et al. Allo-hematopoietic cell transplantation for Ph chromosome-positive ALL: impact of imatinib on relapse and survival. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2009;43(2):107–13.
- 17. Chen H, Liu KY, Xu LP, Liu DH, Chen YH, Zhao XY, et al. Administration of imatinib after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation may improve disease-free survival for patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphobla stic leukemia. J Hematol Oncol. 2012;5:29.
- 18. Delannoy A, Delabesse E, Lhéritier V, Castaigne S, Rigal-Huguet F, Raffoux E, et al. Imatinib and methylprednisolone alternated with chemotherapy improve the outcome of elderly patients with Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the GRAALL AFR09 study. Leukemia. 2006;20(9):1526–32.
- 19. Lee KH, Lee JH, Choi SJ, Lee JH, Seol M, Lee YS, et al. Clinical effect of imatinib added to intensive combination chemotherapy for newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2005;19(9):1509–16.
- Li Y, Zou D, Zhao Y, Mi Y, Wang J, Qiu L. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of adults with Philadelphia chromosome positive and/or BCR-ABL positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a single center study from China. Leuk Lymphoma. 2010;51(3):488–96.
- 21. Mizuta S, Matsuo K, Yagasaki F, Yujiri T, Hatta Y, Kimura Y, et al. Pre-transplant imatinib-based therapy improves the outcome of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for BCR-ABL-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2011;25(1):41–7.
- 22. Thomas DA, Faderl S, Cortes J, O'Brien S, Giles FJ, Kornblau SM, et al. Treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphocytic leukemia with hyper-CVAD and imatinib mesylate. Blood. 2004;103(12):4396–407.
- 23. A treatment study protocol of the ALLTogether Consortium for Children and Young Adults (1–45 Years of Age) With Newly Diagnosed Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (ALL): a pilot study. Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2019 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03911128; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03911128, accessed 31 July 2021).

318

 Safety and Efficacy of Imatinib Added to Chemotherapy in Treatment of Ph+ Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Children (ESPHALL). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2006 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00287105; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT00287105, accessed 31 July 2021).

- 25. Ottmann O. Tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy or transplant in children with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: striking the balance. Lancet Haematol. 2018;5(12):e606–e7.
- 26. Schultz KR, Carroll A, Heerema NA, Bowman WP, Aledo A, Slayton WB, et al. Long-term followup of imatinib in pediatric Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Children's Oncology Group study AALL0031. Leukemia. 2014;28(7):1467–71.
- Rives S, Camós M, Estella J, Gómez P, Moreno MJ, Vivanco JL, et al. Longer follow-up confirms major improvement in outcome in children and adolescents with Philadelphia chromosome acute lymphoblastic leukaemia treated with continuous imatinib and haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Results from the Spanish Cooperative Study SHOP/ALL-2005. Br J Haematol. 2013;162(3):419–21.
- 28. Biondi A, Gandemer V, De Lorenzo P, Cario G, Campbell M, Castor A, et al. Imatinib treatment of paediatric Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (EsPhALL2010): a prospective, intergroup, open-label, single-arm clinical trial. Lancet Haematol. 2018;5(12):e641–e52.
- 29. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Version 2.2021. Plymouth Meeting, PA: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2021 (https://www.nccn.org/guidelines/guidelines-detail?category=1&id=1410, accessed 31 July 2021).
- Stevenson M, Pandor A, Hamilton J, Stevens J, Rowntree C, Martyn-St James M, et al. Ponatinib for treating acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: an evidence review group perspective of a NICE single technology appraisal. Pharmacoeconomics. 2018;36(7):759–68.
- 31. Chen CT, Kesselheim AS. Journey of generic imatinib: a case study in oncology drug pricing. J Oncol Pract. 2017;13(6):352–5.
- 32. Cole AL, Dusetzina SB. Generic price competition for specialty drugs: too little, too late? Health Aff (Millwood). 2018;37(5):738–42.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Osimertinib – addition – EML

## Osimertinib

# ATC Code: L01EB04

## Proposal

Addition of osimertinib to the complementary list of the EML for first-line treatment of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation-positive locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer.

## Applicant

European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO)

## WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department acknowledged that evidence suggests that osimertinib offers clinical value when compared with the first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors gefitinib and erlotinib in terms of overall survival gain and a more favourable toxicity profile. However, the technical department noted concerns about the accessibility of first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors already included on the 21st WHO EML. Furthermore, first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (for which generics products are available) may also be more cost-effective and have less effect on health system budgets due to their lower price. The technical department concluded that these factors may argue against consideration of osimertinib for inclusion on the EML at this time. Finally, the technical department advised that future evaluation of osimertinib should take into account evolving data and the broader context of accessibility and prioritization.

# EML/EMLc

# EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 40 mg, 80 mg (as mesylate)

# Core/complementary

Complementary

### Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Osimertinib is a third-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor. It has not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML.

In 2019, the Expert Committee recommended the addition of the first-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor erlotinib to the EML for the treatment of EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. Listing was recommended with a square box specifying gefitinib and the second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor afatinib as therapeutic alternatives. The Committee noted that these medicines were associated with relevant survival benefits for patients, acceptable toxicity and improvements in quality of life compared with chemotherapy. The Committee also noted the availability of generics and quality-assured diagnostic molecular tests for EGFR mutations (1).

Epidermal growth factor receptor is a transmembrane protein with kinase implicated in cell division, angiogenesis and apoptosis. Mutations in the EGFR gene (so-called driver mutations), of which many types exist but most concern deletions in exon 19 or substitutions of leucine for arginine (L858R) in exon 21, can contribute to uncontrolled cell proliferation. EGFR mutations (without prior exposure to tyrosine kinase inhibitors) are observed in about one in three patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (see the following section on public health relevance). First- and second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors are often associated with a pronounced initial response in patients with driver mutations but acquisition of secondary resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors and disease progression after several months of treatment are frequently observed. This acquired resistance is most frequently due to a mutation that substitutes methionine for threonine at amino acid position 790 (T790M). Osimertinib retains inhibitory activity in the presence of the T790M mutation.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death worldwide, with an estimated 1.7 million related deaths in 2018 (2). Lung cancer is a highly lethal malignancy, with an economic impact estimated at around US\$ 8 billion in lost productivity in the BRICS countries (Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa). Moreover, in the absence of wide coverage of an effective screening programme in place globally, lung cancer diagnoses occur in advanced stages in more than 60% of cases, with large regional variation (*3–5*).

Over 80% of lung cancers are classified as non-small-cell lung cancer (6). Targeted therapies have redefined treatment for patients with genomic alterations in driver oncogenes (e.g. EGFR mutations, anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements, ROS1 rearrangements, BRAF mutations, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) mutations or amplifications and neurotrophic tyrosine kinase (NTRK) 1–3 fusions) to guide the selection of treatments. However, these therapies are ineffective in most patients with non-small-cell lung cancer who have tumours that lack such genetic alterations. Gene-targeted therapies are now estimated to benefit less than 10% of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer, but this proportion might increase rapidly over time (7).

A meta-analysis and systematic reviews found an overall prevalence of EGFR mutation of about 30%, although this varies by world region, risk factors and population phenotype. For instance, the Asian–Pacific region has the highest prevalence of EGFR mutation (47%), followed by South America (36%), North America (22%), Africa (21%), Europe (15%) and Oceania (12%) (8–10).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The phase III FLAURA trial was a double-blind, prospective clinical trial that compared osimertinib with standard first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (gefitinib and erlotinib) for first-line treatment of EGFR-mutated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (11, 12). The study randomized 556 participants in a 1:1 ratio to receive osimertinib 80 mg once daily, or standard treatment (gefitinib 250 mg once daily or erlotinib 150 mg once daily) until disease progression, unacceptable toxicity or consent withdrawal. At the time of primary analysis (data cut-off 12 June 2017) for the primary endpoint of progression-free survival, osimertinib was associated with a statistically significant improvement compared with standard treatment (median progression-free survival 18.9 months versus 10.2 months; hazard ratio (HR) for disease progression or death 0.46, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.37 to 0.57). Osimertinib also demonstrated a significant progression-free survival benefit for participants with central nervous system metastasis, a common site of progression of non-small-cell lung cancer and frequently responsible for deterioration in quality of life (median progression-free survival 15.2 months versus 9.6 months; HR for disease progression or death 0.47, 95% CI 0.30 to 0.74) (11).

A final analysis (data cut-off 25 June 2019) was performed for the secondary endpoint of overall survival with a median duration of follow-up for overall survival of 35.8 months in the osimertinib group and 27.0 months in the comparator group (*12*). Median overall survival favoured the osimertinib group over the standard treatment group (median overall survival 38.6 months versus 31.8 months (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.00), a 6.8-month survival gain in absolute terms (12). At 36 months, 54% of participants in the osimertinib group were alive compared with 44% in the comparator group.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

From the final analysis of the FLAURA trial (*12*), adverse events of grade 3 or higher were reported in 42% and 47% of participants in the osimertinib group and standard treatment group, respectively. The most commonly reported adverse events possibly related to osimertinib treatment (investigator assessed) were diarrhoea (50%), paronychia (30%), dry skin (31%), stomatitis (25%) and dermatitis acneiform (25%). Serious adverse events were reported in 27% of the participants in each treatment arm. Decreased ejection fraction was reported in a greater proportion of participants in the osimertinib group than the standard treatment group (5% versus 2%). Similarly, QT prolongation was also reported in a greater proportion of participants in the osimertinib group than the standard treatment group (10% versus 4%). Compared with the primary analysis, there were no new reports of interstitial lung disease or pneumonitis, which were both reported in 2% and 1% of participants in the osimertinib and standard treatment groups, respectively (*11*, *12*).

In the osimertinib and standard treatment groups, dose interruptions occurred in 43% and 41% of participants, dose reductions in 5% and 4% and permanent discontinuation of treatment due to adverse events in 15% and 18%, respectively (*12*).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer are not available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

A cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted of osimertinib compared with first- and second-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors for first-line treatment of advanced EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer using direct costs from United States and Brazilian payer perspectives and a 10-year time horizon based on results from the FLAURA trial (*13*). In the base case, for the United States, the incremental costs per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) for osimertinib compared with erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib were more than US\$ 200 000 for each comparison. For Brazil, the incremental costs per QALY for osimertinib compared with erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib were more than US\$ 160 000 for each comparison. Applying a cost-effectiveness threshold of three times the gross domestic product per capita for each country, the authors concluded that osimertinib was not a cost-effective intervention at current prices in either country.

In October 2020, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland recommended coverage under the National Health System for osimertinib for untreated EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer, after confidential commercial arrangements with the manufacturer were negotiated resulting in lower price and cost–effectiveness estimates within the acceptable range for use of National Health System resources (14).

#### Availability

Osimertinib (trade name Tagrisso, Astra Zeneca) has regulatory approval in 40 countries including the United States, Japan and in Europe for frontline treatment of EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer. It has primary patent protection until 2032.

### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of osimertinib on the EML at this time. The Working Group noted that earlier tyrosine kinase inhibitors currently listed on the EML for EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer are available as generics and are more likely to be affordable, accessible treatment options for patients and health systems. The Working Group noted that osimertinib has a demonstrated meaningful overall survival benefit compared with first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors and meets the criteria of the European Society for Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 score. However, the current price of osimertinib is prohibitively high for both patients and health systems, and it has not been found to be cost-effective at current prices in some analyses. The Working Group also noted the requirement for accompanying diagnostic testing, which has variable and limited availability in low- and middle-income settings.

Osimertinib treatment is only given to patients whose tumours exhibit EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitor sensitizing mutations detected by molecular tests validated by regulatory agencies. The need for molecular testing is also a requirement for osimertinib treatment according to existing treatment guidelines of medical oncology societies (15). The EGFR gene mutation test was added to the WHO Model List of Essential In-Vitro Diagnostics in 2020 (16).

The European Society for Medical Oncology clinical practice guidelines for metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer recommend osimertinib as the preferred option for first-line treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer patients with sensitizing EGFR mutations (ESMO-MCBS v1.1 score: 4) (17). Current National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines for NSCLC also recommend osimertinib as preferred first-line therapy for EGFR mutation positive NSCLC (category 1, high-level evidence) (15).

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the treatment of lung cancer to be complex and recognized the need to provide the best available care within the context of both non-small-cell lung cancer and small-cell lung cancers. Over the past decade, the treatment outcomes for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer have improved with new treatment models involving targeted therapy based on the molecular and biological characteristics of the cancer. For EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer, the Committee recalled its recommendations in 2019 to include erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib as therapeutic alternatives for this indication. These medicines are associated with improved quality of life and longer overall survival compared with cytotoxic chemotherapy in patients with the EGFR driver mutation.

The Expert Committee noted that the application to list osimertinib was based on the results of a single randomized control trial (FLAURA), in which osimertinib was compared to physician's choice of erlotinib or gefitinib. Interim trial results showed that osimertinib extended overall survival compared with the two first-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. However, the Committee considered that overall survival data, while promising, were still immature and therefore confidence that osimertinib prolongs survival compared with erlotinib and gefitinib is limited.

The Expert Committee also noted that the current price of osimertinib is very high, and several analyses have concluded it is not cost-effective. Meanwhile, first- and second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors, including those currently included on the EML, are available as generic products and are more likely to be affordable, accessible treatment options for patients and health systems. The Committee considered the option of including osimertinib as an additional therapeutic alternative to the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors already included on the EML, thereby allowing selection of osimertinib at the country level. However, given the difference in current prices, the Committee decided against this option due to the risk of considerable additional expenditure at the country level.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of osimertinib on the EML at this time. However, the Committee considered that the current evidence for osimertinib was promising and requested that an application with updated survival data be submitted for consideration at the next Expert Committee meeting.

Without committing a future Expert Committee to a favourable recommendation to include osimertinib on the EML, the Committee recommended that osimertinib be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as a candidate for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that negotiating such licences can take some time. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this medicine in low- and middle-income countries.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 9 June 2021).
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- Walters S, Maringe C, Coleman MP, Peake MD, Butler J, Young N, et al. Lung cancer survival and stage at diagnosis in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Norway, Sweden and the UK: a populationbased study, 2004–2007. Thorax. 2013;68(6):551–64.
- 4. Gaafar R. SC17.05 lung cancer in Africa: challenges and perspectives. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12(1):S115–S6.
- 5. Parikh PM, Ranade AA, Govind B, Ghadyalpatil N, Singh R, Bharath R, et al. Lung cancer in India: current status and promising strategies. South Asian J Cancer. 2016;5(3):93–5.
- 6. Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83(5):584–94.
- 7. Haslam A, Prasad V. Estimation of the percentage of US patients with cancer who are eligible for and respond to checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy drugs. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(5):e192535.
- Werutsky G, Debiasi M, Sampaio FH, Nunes Filho PR, Mathias C, Zukin M, et al. P1.08: updated analysis of global epidemiology of EGFR mutation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: track, prevention, early detection, epidemiology and tobacco control. J Thorac Oncol. 2016;11(10):S184–S5.
- 9. Zhang YL, Yuan JQ, Wang KF, Fu XH, Han XR, Threapleton D, et al. The prevalence of EGFR mutation in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2016;7(48):78985–93.
- Midha A, Dearden S, McCormack R. EGFR mutation incidence in non-small-cell lung cancer of adenocarcinoma histology: a systematic review and global map by ethnicity (mutMapII). Am J Cancer Res. 2015;5(9):2892–911.
- Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, et al. Osimertinib in untreated EGFR-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(2):113–25.
- 12. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2019;382(1):41–50.
- 13. Aguiar PN, Jr., Haaland B, Park W, San Tan P, Del Giglio A, de Lima Lopes G, Jr. Cost–effectiveness of osimertinib in the first-line treatment of patients with EGFR-mutated advanced non-small cell lung cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(8):1080–4.
- 14. Osimertinib for untreated EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2020 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA654]; https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta654, accessed 9 June 2021).

326

- NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Non-small cell lung cancer. Plymouth Meeting, PA: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2021 (https://www.nccn.org/guidelines/guidelinesdetail?category=1&id=1450, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 16. The selection and use of essential in vitro diagnostics: report of the third meeting of the WHO Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on In Vitro Diagnostics, 2020 (including the third WHO model list of essential in vitro diagnostics). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1031; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/339064, accesed,9 June 2021).
- 17. Planchard D, Popat S, Kerr K, Novello S, Smit EF, Faivre-Finn C, et al. Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Lugano: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2020 (https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/lung-and-chest-tumours/clinical-practice-living-guidelines-metastatic-non-small-cell-lung-cancer, accesed,9 June 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Pertuzumab – addition – EML

## Pertuzumab

# ATC Code: L01FD02

## Proposal

Addition of pertuzumab to the complementary list of the EML for use in combination with trastuzumab and chemotherapy for first-line treatment of adults with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)-positive locally recurrent unresectable or metastatic breast cancer.

## Applicant

F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, Basel, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department noted that there was evidence of clinical benefit for pertuzumab. The feasibility of the inclusion of pertuzumab in national EMLs, particularly for low- and middle-income countries, is uncertain, when access to trastuzumab remains limited because of costs and diagnostic capacity. The addition of pertuzumab, in light of the increased focus on and availability of trastuzumab biosimilars, has an opportunity cost that may further limit inclusion of HER2-positive targeted therapies in national EMLs and benefit packages as part of universal health coverage. The duration of therapy with pertuzumab is uncertain, which may also affect its accessibility in low- and middle-income countries. Given these considerations, increasing access to trastuzumab, including through WHO prequalification, should be considered a priority before reconsidering the inclusion of pertuzumab on the EML.

# EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Concentrate solution for infusion: 420 mg/14 mL in vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

The Expert Committee considered an application for the inclusion of pertuzumab on the EML for the treatment of early-stage and metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer in 2019, but did not recommended its listing. The Committee considered that the available evidence did not demonstrate a clinically meaningful survival benefit in early stage disease, and that there was important uncertainty about the estimated magnitude of survival benefit in metastatic disease, with results seen in the CLEOPATRA trial not replicated in other trials (1).

The Committee acknowledged that pertuzumab was associated with a relevant survival benefit, well beyond the established threshold, as firstline treatment of metastatic breast cancer, based on the results reported in the CLEOPATRA trial. However, the Committee expressed reservations about the generalizability of the results from CLEOPATRA in metastatic breast cancer and consistency of the clinical effectiveness of pertuzumab in studies in both early and metastatic breast cancer.

The Committee noted that only about 10% of patients in CLEOPATRA trial had received trastuzumab in the adjuvant or neoadjuvant setting. The Committee was concerned that the observed survival gains may not therefore be generalizable to patients with metastatic disease who have received prior adjuvant or neoadjuvant trastuzumab, making the magnitude of benefit in this population subgroup uncertain. The Committee also noted the results reported in the MARIANNE trial, where pertuzumab in combination with trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1) was not shown to have greater clinical benefit than trastuzumab plus chemotherapy or T-DM1 alone. The Committee was unable to reconcile the differences in outcomes reported in the MARIANNE and CLEOPATRA trials.

The Committee also noted that the relevant survival gains observed in the CLEOPATRA trial for metastatic breast cancer were not replicated in trials of pertuzumab in early stage breast cancer. The Committee accepted that trial results suggest pertuzumab offers a small incremental overall and disease-free survival benefit compared with placebo, based on an analysis at around 3 years median follow-up. The Committee considered that continued follow-up was important to assess long-term overall survival, but thought it unlikely that the magnitude of benefit would be greater with longer follow-up, given that anti-HER2 treatments are typically associated with a reduction in early recurrences, followed by a plateau effect.

In the current resubmission, the applicant has consolidated the most recent datasets and published additional scientific information that shows positive results supporting the pertuzumab-trastuzumab combination as the standard of care in first-line treatment of HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. To complement these data, the application includes supplementary evidence to demonstrate survival benefits in the real-world setting.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in women globally, responsible for 6.6% of all cancer deaths in 2018 (2). High incidence and low mortality rates are seen in high-income countries, with low incidence and high mortality rates recorded in low- and middle-income countries. The overall 5-year survival rates for high-income countries are estimated to be higher than 85%. In comparison, in low- and middle-income countries, 5-year survival rates are reported to range between 38% and 60% (3).

While improved early detection and advances in systemic therapy for the early-stage disease have resulted in some decline in breast cancer mortality since 1989, metastatic breast cancer remains largely incurable with a median survival of about 24 months (4). Factors associated with poor survival include age  $\geq 50$  years, visceral disease, shorter disease-free interval, aneuploid tumours, tumours with a high S-phase fraction, p53 accumulation, low BCL2 gene expression, negative hormone receptor status, and positive HER2 status (5). Five-year survival for patients with metastatic disease is about 18% in Europe (6).

Many cytotoxic agents are available for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer that are used singly or in combination (anthracyclines, taxanes, alkylating agents and vinca alkaloids). Used as single agents, they produce response rates of 20–80%; however, complete responses are rare and shortlived, and disease progression is almost inevitable (7, 8). HER2 is involved in regulating cell growth, survival and differentiation (9), thus the HER2 receptor has emerged as one of the most important targets for breast cancer treatment. Amplification and/or overexpression of HER2 occurs in about 18–22% of breast cancers (10, 11). HER2-positivity is associated with increased tumour aggressiveness, higher rates of recurrence and increased mortality (11–16). The median age of patients presenting with HER2-positive breast cancer is the mid-50s, about 5 years younger than the general breast cancer population (17).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The main sources of evidence for efficacy of pertuzumab in treatment of metastatic breast cancer presented in the application were from the CLEOPATRA, PUFFIN and PERUSE trials.

## CLEOPATRA (18-21)

This was a multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III study in participants with HER2-positive metastatic or locally recurrent non-

resectable breast cancer who had not previously received anti-HER2 therapy or chemotherapy for metastatic disease. The primary efficacy endpoint was progression-free survival assessed by an independent review facility. Key secondary efficacy endpoints included overall survival and overall response rate assessed by an independent review facility. A total of 808 participants were randomized in a 1:1 ratio to pertuzumab + trastuzumab + docetaxel (n = 402) or placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel (n = 406).

Results showed a statistically significant and clinically meaningful improvement in progression-free survival assessed by an independent review facility in the pertuzumab arm compared with the placebo arm (hazard ratio (HR) 0.62; 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.51 to 0.75; P < 0.001), with an increase of 6.1 months in median progression-free survival (12.4 months in the placebo arm versus 18.5 months in the pertuzumab arm). Analyses of progression-free survival by clinically relevant patient subgroups suggested that the benefit of pertuzumab in combination with trastuzumab and docetaxel was observed consistently in all prespecified subgroups tested, including those based on geographic region, prior treatment, age, race, presence of visceral disease, hormone receptor status, and HER2 immunohistochemistry or fluorescent in situ hybridization status.

The final analysis of overall survival from the CLEOPATRA trial (data cut-off 11 February 2014) found that the median overall survival estimates were 40.8 months with placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel and 56.5 months with pertuzumab + trastuzumab + docetaxel (HR 0.68, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.84). At the time of data cut-off, 320/406 (78.8%) participants in the placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel arm and 284/402 (70.6%) participants in the pertuzumab + trastuzumab + docetaxel arm had experienced a progression-free survival event, according to the investigator. The median progression-free survival duration of 12.4 months in the placebo arm and 18.7 months in the pertuzumab arm was consistent with the previous analyses.

An end-of-study analysis of the CLEOPATRA trial was conducted based on a clinical cut-off date of 23 November 2008 (21). Median overall survival estimates at the end of study (> 8 years of follow-up) were 40.8 months with placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel and 57.1 months with pertuzumab + trastuzumab + docetaxel (HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.82; P < 0.0001). The 8-year landmark overall survival rates were 37% in the pertuzumab-treated group and 23% in the placebo-treated group.

## PUFFIN (22)

This was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of pertuzumab + trastuzumab+ docetaxel versus placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel in 243 Chinese participants with

previously untreated HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer; it is a bridging study to CLEOPATRA. The primary endpoint was investigator-assessed progression-free survival; secondary endpoints included overall response rate (in participants with measurable baseline disease), overall survival and safety.

Compared with placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel, treatment with pertuzumab + trastuzumab+ docetaxel resulted in a clinically meaningful improvement in investigator-assessed progression-free survival (stratified HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.99), corresponding to a 31% reduction in the risk of disease progression or death. The observed magnitude of treatment effect was not fully consistent with the CLEOPATRA data. Median progression-free survival was 12.4 months in the placebo + trastuzumab + docetaxel arm versus 14.5 months in the pertuzumab + trastuzumab+ docetaxel arm. Overall survival data were not considered mature at the time of the clinical cut-off date. The median time to death had not been reached in either treatment arm at the time of the cut-off.

#### PERUSE (23, 24)

This was a multicentre single-arm phase IIIb study to assess the safety and efficacy of physician's choice taxane with pertuzumab and trastuzumab as first-line therapy for HER2-positive locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer.

Patients with inoperable HER2-positive advanced locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer and no prior systemic therapy (except endocrine therapy) received docetaxel, paclitaxel or nab-paclitaxel with trastuzumab and pertuzumab until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The primary endpoint was safety; secondary endpoints included overall response rate and progression-free survival. Participants received a median of 16.2 months of study treatment (4.2 months of taxane therapy and 16.1 months of anti-HER2 therapy). At the date of the clinical cut-off for the final analysis (26 August 2019), the median duration of follow-up was 68.7 months (95% CI 67.5 to 69.3 months), corresponding to 5.7 years. Survival results were consistent with the CLEOPATRA trial: median progression-free survival 20.7 months (95% CI 18.9 to 23.1 months) in PERUSE versus 18.7 months in CLEOPATRA; median overall survival 65.3 months (95% CI 60.9 to 70.9 months) in PERUSE versus 57.1 months in CLEOPATRA. Maintenance endocrine therapy, which was allowed in PERUSE but not in CLEOPATRA, may explain the more favourable overall survival in participants with HER2-positive disease in PERUSE.

The application included an overview of additional supportive studies for pertuzumab in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer (25-33), including a real-world study on the use of pertuzumab plus trastuzumab and taxane as firstline treatment of HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer (34).

### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Safety data from 19 clinical studies indicate that pertuzumab, combined with trastuzumab and a range of other therapeutic agents, has an acceptable safety profile. No new or unexpected safety findings were encountered other than those side-effects known for agents that target the HER family of receptors; these include diarrhoea, fatigue and nausea as the most frequently reported adverse events with single-agent pertuzumab. The incidence of haematological toxicities such as leukopenia and febrile neutropenia is low. A low level of cardiac toxicities, predominantly asymptomatic declines in left ventricular ejection fraction, has been reported. In the CLEOPATRA study, the rates of symptomatic and asymptomatic left ventricular systolic dysfunction were not higher in participants receiving pertuzumab + docetaxel (*18*). However, participants who have received prior anthracyclines or radiotherapy to the chest area may be at higher risk of decreased left ventricular ejection fraction.

The safety of pertuzumab has been evaluated in more than 6000 participants in phase I–III trials in both early and metastatic breast cancer settings including CLEOPATRA (n = 808), NEOSPHERE (n = 417), TRYPHAENA (n = 225) and APHINITY (n = 4804). The safety of pertuzumab was generally consistent across the studies. However, the incidence and most common adverse drug reactions varied depending on whether pertuzumab was administered as monotherapy or in combination with other antineoplastic agents.

Pooled safety data from these studies indicate that the most common adverse events (all grades) with pertuzumab occurring in at least 30% of patients were diarrhoea (67.9%), alopecia (63.1%), nausea (60.8%), fatigue (44.3%), neutropenia (31.4%) and vomiting (30.0%). The most common grade 3 and 4 adverse events occurring in at least 10% of patients were neutropenia (24.2%) and febrile neutropenia (11.8%).

### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer are not available.

The combination regimen of pertuzumab, trastuzumab plus taxane chemotherapy is recommended for first-line treatment of HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer in several international guidelines (*35–38*).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

In the United States, the wholesale acquisition cost of one vial of pertuzumab 420 mg is US\$ 5292 per vial and US\$ 100 548 per episode of care (18 cycles). In France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, ex-factory list prices for pertuzumab range from  $\notin$  2221 to  $\notin$  3037 per vial, or  $\notin$  42 199 to  $\notin$  57 703 per episode of care.

In low- and lower-middle-income countries, the manufacturer (Roche) has developed an international differential pricing model which aligns innovative medicine prices (including pertuzumab) to a purchasing parity-adapted formula, factoring in gross domestic product per capita, public health care investment and the United Nations Human Development Index to ensure that the prices are as fair as possible. This model was applied in several low-and middle-income countries together with patient assistance programmes. However, information about the effect of this model on accessibility and affordability is limited. Reimbursement agreements involving special pricing were reached with governments in Brazil, Lebanon, Morocco and Uruguay.

Special price agreements have also been negotiated and resulted in positive reimbursement decisions for the combination of pertuzumab plus trastuzumab for metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer in several high-income countries including France, Germany, Ireland, Spain and the United Kingdom.

#### Availability

As of June 2020, pertuzumab has been approved in more than 117 countries worldwide for treatment of metastatic breast cancer.

### Other considerations

#### MARIANNE (39)

In consideration of the application for pertuzumab in 2019, the Expert Committee noted the overall survival results from the MARIANNE trial, a randomized multicentre phase III study designed to evaluate TDM-1 alone or in combination with pertuzumab compared with trastuzumab plus taxane chemotherapy as first-line treatment of HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. A total of 1095 participants were randomized 1:1:1 to the three treatment arms. In particular, the Committee noted that overall survival was similar in all three treatment arms, with all regimens resulting in median overall survival longer than 50 months. For the trastuzumab plus taxane arm, median overall survival was 50.9 months (1). In contrast, in the CLEOPATRA trial, the median overall survival was 40.8 months in the trastuzumab plus docetaxel arm, and 57.1 months in the pertuzumab plus trastuzumab plus docetaxel arm.

To clarify concerns raised by the Expert Committee in 2019, the current application included information about the MARIANNE trial, including rationale, study design, efficacy results for progression-free survival (the primary endpoint) and safety. It concluded that it was not appropriate to draw comparisons between the CLEOPATRA and MARIANNE studies due to differences in study design, objectives and patient populations.

## Comments from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group

The Working Group acknowledged that the updated data from the CLEOPATRA trial and additional evidence presented from PERUSE and PUFFIN trials, demonstrated relevant benefit in overall survival of pertuzumab (in combination with trastuzumab) in treatment of metastatic breast cancer. The Working Group considered that the inclusion of pertuzumab on the EML for treatment of metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer, in combination with trastuzumab and a taxane, could be supported from a clinical perspective.

However, the Working Group acknowledged that the use of combination therapy with trastuzumab and pertuzumab, both high-priced medicines, would be a financial challenge for patients and health systems, and access in many settings would be limited. The Working Group also noted that affordability of and access to trastuzumab (included on the EML model list since 2015) remains very limited in many resource-constrained settings, and the addition of another high-priced biological medicine would likely compound this problem. Increasing the availability of biosimilars will be critical to improving affordability and access. The Working Group therefore concluded that financial considerations precluded its support for inclusion of pertuzumab on the EML.

In addition, the Working Group highlighted that future consideration should be given to the optimal duration of pertuzumab treatment for patients with metastatic breast cancer. Clinical data on this question are currently lacking and should be supported as a research priority by research funding agencies.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the meaningful clinical benefit of pertuzumab in metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer when used in combination with trastuzumab and a taxane (e.g. docetaxel). Based on the results of the CLEOPATRA trial, the addition of pertuzumab to trastuzumab and docetaxel for first-line treatment of metastatic breast cancer increased overall survival by about 16 months.

The Committee noted the high price of the combination therapy with trastuzumab and pertuzumab, which would present significant financial challenges to patients and health systems, and limit access in many settings. The Committee also considered the requirement of diagnostic molecular tests for determining HER2 status (immunohistochemistry and in-situ hybridization) conducted in highly specialized laboratories and requiring skilled technicians, which may not be widely available and affordable in many low- and middle-income settings. The limited availability of adequate diagnostic infrastructure is a substantial barrier to the appropriate use of HER2 inhibitors and other targeted therapies that should be addressed.

The Committee also acknowledged the recommendation against listing of pertuzumab made by the Cancer Working Group based on the concerns outlined in the previous section. The Committee also supported the suggestion of the Cancer Working Group of the need to generate clinical data on the optimal duration of pertuzumab treatment, as shorter treatment duration may make this medicine more affordable. Studies examining this question should be supported as a research priority.

The Expert Committee did not recommend the listing of pertuzumab on the EML for the treatment of metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer. Despite the relevant benefit in overall survival when adding pertuzumab to trastuzumab and a taxane shown in the CLEOPATRA trial, the use of combination therapy with trastuzumab + pertuzumab, both high-priced medicines, would be a significant financial challenge for patients and health systems. Indeed, despite trastuzumab being on the EML since 2015 and the availability of biosimilars, access to and affordability of trastuzumab remains very limited in resourceconstrained settings.

The increasing number of trastuzumab biosimilars, including those that have been prequalified by WHO, might help increase access. The Committee decided, however, that also adding pertuzumab to the EML at this point could well result in considerable additional expenditure at the country level, using resources that should first be allocated to improving trastuzumab access. The expectation of the Committee is that, in the near future, there will be pertuzumab biosimilars that can be rapidly approved, with the aim of promoting competition among alternatives and allowing for the selection of optimal cheaper combinations of trastuzumab and pertuzumab produced by different companies.

The Committee also recommended that WHO continue to work on existing approaches to managing prices and evaluate alternative strategies to improve affordability and access in order to reduce the global burden of cancer.

### References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 9 June 2021).  Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.

- 3. Francies FZ, Hull R, Khanyile R, Dlamini Z. Breast cancer in low-middle income countries: abnormality in splicing and lack of targeted treatment options. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(5):1568–91.
- 4. Surveillance epidemiology and end results incidence data, 1975–2017 [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/data/, accessed 23 November 2020).
- Chang JC, Wooten EC, Tsimelzon A, Hilsenbeck SG, Gutierrez MC, Elledge R, et al. Gene expression profiling for the prediction of therapeutic response to docetaxel in patients with breast cancer. Lancet. 2003;362(9381):362–9.
- 6. Sant M, Allemani C, Capocaccia R, Hakulinen T, Aareleid T, Coebergh JW, et al. Stage at diagnosis is a key explanation of differences in breast cancer survival across Europe. Int J Cancer. 2003;106(3):416–22.
- 7. Bernard-Marty C, Cardoso F, Piccart MJ. Use and abuse of taxanes in the management of metastatic breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2003;39(14):1978–89.
- 8. Chung CT, Carlson RW. Goals and objectives in the management of metastatic breast cancer. Oncologist. 2003;8(6):514–20.
- 9. Sundaresan S, Penuel E, Sliwkowski MX. The biology of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2. Curr Oncol Rep. 1999;1(1):16–22.
- 10. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Schwartz JN, Hagerty KL, Allred DC, Cote RJ, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(1):118–45.
- 11. Ross JS, Slodkowska EA, Symmans WF, Pusztai L, Ravdin PM, Hortobagyi GN. The HER-2 receptor and breast cancer: ten years of targeted anti-HER-2 therapy and personalized medicine. Oncologist. 2009;14(4):320–68.
- 12. Borg A, Tandon AK, Sigurdsson H, Clark GM, Fernö M, Fuqua SA, et al. HER-2/neu amplification predicts poor survival in node-positive breast cancer. Cancer Res. 1990;50(14):4332–7.
- 13. Ross JS, Fletcher JA. The HER-2/neu oncogene in breast cancer: prognostic factor, predictive factor, and target for therapy. Stem Cells. 1998;16(6):413–28.
- 14. Ménard S, Fortis S, Castiglioni F, Agresti R, Balsari A. HER2 as a prognostic factor in breast cancer. Oncology. 2001;61(Suppl 2):67–72.
- 15. Brown M, Tsodikov A, Bauer KR, Parise CA, Caggiano V. The role of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 in the survival of women with estrogen and progesterone receptor-negative, invasive breast cancer: the California Cancer Registry, 1999–2004. Cancer. 2008;112(4):737–47.
- Curigliano G, Viale G, Bagnardi V, Fumagalli L, Locatelli M, Rotmensz N, et al. Clinical relevance of HER2 overexpression/amplification in patients with small tumor size and node-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(34):5693–9.
- 17. Neven P, Van Calster B, Van den Bempt I, Van Huffel S, Van Belle V, Hendrickx W, et al. Age interacts with the expression of steroid and HER-2 receptors in operable invasive breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2008;110(1):153–9.
- 18. Baselga J, Cortés J, Kim SB, Im SA, Hegg R, Im YH, et al. Pertuzumab plus trastuzumab plus docetaxel for metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(2):109–19.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 19. Swain SM, Kim SB, Cortés J, Ro J, Semiglazov V, Campone M, et al. Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel for HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer (CLEOPATRA study): overall survival results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(6):461–71.
- 20. Swain SM, Baselga J, Kim SB, Ro J, Semiglazov V, Campone M, et al. Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(8):724–34.
- 21. Swain SM, Miles D, Kim SB, Im YH, Im SA, Semiglazov V, et al. Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel for HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer (CLEOPATRA): end-of-study results from a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21(4):519–30.
- Xu B, Li W, Zhang Q, Shao Z, Li Q, Wang X, et al. Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel for Chinese patients with previously untreated HER2-positive locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer (PUFFIN): a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2020;182(3):689–97.
- Bachelot T, Ciruelos E, Schneeweiss A, Puglisi F, Peretz-Yablonski T, Bondarenko I, et al. Preliminary safety and efficacy of first-line pertuzumab combined with trastuzumab and taxane therapy for HER2-positive locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer (PERUSE). Ann Oncol. 2019;30(5):766–73.
- 24. Miles DW, Ciruelos EM, Schneeweiss A, Puglisi F, Peretz-Yablonski T, Campone M, et al. Final results from PERUSE, a global study of pertuzumab (P), trastuzumab (H) and investigator's chosen taxane as first-line therapy for HER2-positive locally recurrent/metastatic breast cancer (LR/mbc). Ann Oncol. 2020;31:S356–S7.
- 25. Huober J, Weder P, Veyret C, Thürlimann B, Xyrafas A, Vanlemmens L, et al. PERNETTA: A noncomparative randomized open label phase II trial of pertuzumab (P) + trastuzumab (T) with or without chemotherapy both followed by T-DM1 in case of progression, in patients with HER2positive metastatic breast cancer (MBC): (SAKK 22/10 / UNICANCER UC-0140/1207). Ann Oncol. 2018;29.
- 26. Perez EA, López-Vega JM, Petit T, Zamagni C, Easton V, Kamber J, et al. Safety and efficacy of vinorelbine in combination with pertuzumab and trastuzumab for first-line treatment of patients with HER2-positive locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer: VELVET Cohort 1 final results. Breast Cancer Res. 2016;18(1):126.
- 27. Andersson M, López-Vega JM, Petit T, Zamagni C, Easton V, Kamber J, et al. Efficacy and safety of pertuzumab and trastuzumab administered in a single infusion bag, followed by vinorelbine: VELVET cohort 2 final results. Oncologist. 2017;22(10):1160–8.
- 28. Rimawi M, Ferrero JM, de la Haba-Rodriguez J, Poole C, De Placido S, Osborne CK, et al. Firstline trastuzumab plus an aromatase inhibitor, with or without pertuzumab, in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive and hormone receptor-positive metastatic or locally advanced breast cancer (PERTAIN): a randomized, open-label phase ii trial. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(28):2826–35.
- 29. Kümmel S, Tondini CA, Abraham J, Nowecki Z, Itrych B, Hitre E, et al. Subcutaneous trastuzumab and hyaluronidase-oysk with intravenous pertuzumab and docetaxel in HER2-positive advanced breast cancer: final analysis of the phase iiib, multicenter, open-label, single-arm metapher study [Conference Abstract]. Cancer Res. 2020;80(4 Suppl):P1–18-05.
- 30. Woodward N, De Boer RH, Redfern A, White M, Young J, Truman M, et al. Results from the first multicenter, open-label, phase iiib study investigating the combination of pertuzumab with subcutaneous trastuzumab and a taxane in patients with her2-positive metastatic breast cancer (SAPPHIRE). Clin Breast Cancer. 2019;19(3):216–24.

- Baselga J, Gelmon KA, Verma S, Wardley A, Conte P, Miles D, et al. Phase II trial of pertuzumab and trastuzumab in patients with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive metastatic breast cancer that progressed during prior trastuzumab therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(7):1138–44.
- 32. Cortés J, Fumoleau P, Bianchi GV, Petrella TM, Gelmon K, Pivot X, et al. Pertuzumab monotherapy after trastuzumab-based treatment and subsequent reintroduction of trastuzumab: activity and tolerability in patients with advanced human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(14):1594–600.
- 33. Urruticoechea A, Rizwanullah M, Im SA, Ruiz ACS, Láng I, Tomasello G, et al. Randomized phase iii trial of trastuzumab plus capecitabine with or without pertuzumab in patients with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive metastatic breast cancer who experienced disease progression during or after trastuzumab-based therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(26):3030–8.
- Polito L, Shim J, Toit YD, Do T, Knott A, Sanglier T. Abstract P1-18-14: Use of pertuzumab in combination with taxanes for HER2+ metastatic breast cancer: analysis of U.S. electronic health records. Cancer Res. 2020;80(4 Suppl):P1–18-04.
- 35. Cardoso F, Paluch-Shimon S, Senkus E, Curigliano G, Aapro MS, Andre F, et al. 5th ESO-ESMO international consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 5). Ann Oncol. 2020(12):1623–49.
- 36. Ditsch N, Untch M, Kolberg-Liedtke C, Jackisch C, Krug D, Friedrich M, et al. AGO recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with locally advanced and metastatic breast cancer: update 2020. Breast Care (Basel). 2020;15(3):294–309.
- NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Breast cancer. Plymouth Meeting, PA: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2021 (https://www.nccn.org/guidelines/guidelinesdetail?category=1&id=1419, accessed 17 May 2021).
- Giordano SH, Temin S, Chandarlapaty S, Crews JR, Esteva FJ, Kirshner JJ, et al. Systemic therapy for patients with advanced human epidermal growth factor receptor 2–positive breast cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(26):2736–40.
- 39. Perez EA, Barrios C, Eiermann W, Toi M, Im YH, Conte P, et al. Trastuzumab emtansine with or without pertuzumab versus trastuzumab plus taxane for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive, advanced breast cancer: primary results from the phase III MARIANNE study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(2):141–8.

Zanubrutinib – addition for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma – EML

## Zanubrutinib

# ATC Code: L01EL03

## Proposal

Addition of zanubrutinib to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma in adult patients who have received at least one prior therapy.

### Applicant

BeiGene Co., Ltd, Beijing, China

### WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that at the current time there was insufficient evidence to support inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML because of the lack of mature data substantiating a significant clinical effect and concerns about the toxicity profile (particularly the incidence of severe infections).

#### EML/EMLc

EML

### Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Capsule: 80 mg

### Core/complementary

Complementary

### Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Zanubrutinib has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

Medicines currently included on the EML for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia are bendamustine, chlorambucil, cyclophosphamide, fludarabine, prednisolone and rituximab, recommended for inclusion as part of the

comprehensive review of cancer medicines undertaken by the Expert Committee in 2015 (1).

Zanubrutinib belongs to the class of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors which are currently not listed on the EML for any indication. Continuous activation of Bruton tyrosine kinase plays an important role in the proliferation of malignant B-cells, which can be counteracted by Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma is the main non-Hodgkin lymphoma subtype, occurring mainly in middle-aged and elderly people. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma are indolent (slow-growing) B-cell malignancies that are often considered different clinical presentations of same disease. The main difference is whether a patient presents with an elevated lymphocyte count (chronic lymphocytic leukaemia) or with adenopathy alone (small lymphocytic lymphoma). Although mostly considered an indolent disease, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma has a wide spectrum of clinical presentation and it remains a life-limiting illness.

In many high-income countries, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia is the most common leukaemia in adults and accounts for 5-11% of non-Hodgkin lymphomas (2). The annual incidence is reported as 4.2 per 100 000 people, increasing to over 30.0 per 100 000 in those aged 80 years and older (3). Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia is less prevalent in Asian countries where it accounts for 1-3% of non-Hodgkin lymphomas and has an age-adjusted incidence rate of 0.2–0.3 per 100 000 (2, 4). Relative survival is correlated with age. The 5-year relative survival of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma patients in the United States aged 0–19 years, 20–64 years and > 65 years has been reported as 93\%, 92% and 81\%, respectively (5).

The treatment options for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia have changed since the introduction of inhibitors of the B-cell receptor signalling pathway (6). According to the latest guidelines from the United States National Comprehensive Cancer Network and the Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology, ibrutinib is the preferred choice for patients with relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma, regardless of patient's age and comorbidities (7, 8). Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation may be considered in patients with relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/ small lymphocytic lymphoma with TP53 mutations or 17p deletion, or in patients whose disease is refractory to inhibitor therapy (7).

Globally, the absolute number of deaths due to chronic lymphocytic leukaemia increased by 70% from 1990 to 2017. Of note, age-adjusted death rates

have decreased in high-income regions, largely due to access to and availability of effective treatments, but have increased in many lower-income settings where effective treatment is not available or affordable (9).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented the results of study BGB-3111-205, a single-arm, open-label, multicentre phase II trial that evaluated the efficacy and safety of zanubrutinib 160 mg twice daily in 91 participants with relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma (*10*). The primary endpoint was overall response rate assessed by an independent review committee; secondary endpoints included duration of response, time to response, progression-free survival and safety. After a median follow-up of 15.1 months, 77 participants (85%) achieved an objective response. Three participants (3%) achieved a complete response, 54 (59%) achieved a partial response and 20 (22%) achieved a partial response with lymphocytosis. After a median follow-up of 12.9 months for progression-free survival, 87% of participants had neither progressed nor died at 12 months; the median progression-free survival was not reached.

The application also presented a summary of results from phase I pharmacokinetic and dose-finding studies of zanubrutinib (*11,12*). Of 56 participants with relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma in the phase I GBG-3111-AU-003 study, 53 (95%) achieved an objective response (one with complete response, 45 with partial response and seven with partial response with lymphocytosis) (*11*). Median progression-free survival has not been reached and 12-month estimated progression-free survival was 100%.

Direct comparative data of zanubrutinib with other Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma are lacking. The application presented indirect comparisons of efficacy reported for zanubrutinib (10) and the first-generation Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor, ibrutinib (13–15). Objective response rates (assessed by an independent review committee) were 85% for zanubrutinib and 63% for ibrutinib. Reported progression-free survival rates at 6 months were about 92% for zanubrutinib and 86–88% for ibrutinib. Progression-free survival rates at 12 months were 87% for zanubrutinib and 61–67% for ibrutinib.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Safety results from phase I and II trials of zanubrutinib were presented (10-12).

In study BGB-3111-205, all participants reported at least one adverse event. Fifty-eight (64%) participants reported at least one grade 3 adverse event. Grade 4 and 5 adverse events were reported in eight (9%) and three (3%) participants, respectively. The most frequently reported adverse events of any grade were neutropenia (69%), upper respiratory tract infection (45%), thrombocytopenia (42%), petechiae/purpura/contusion (35%), anaemia and haematuria (each 30%), hypokalaemia (25%), cough (24%) and increased carbon dioxide and hyperglycaemia (each 21%). The most common grade 3 adverse events were neutropenia (37%), thrombocytopenia (14%), lung infection/ pneumonia (12%), upper respiratory tract infection (10%), and anaemia (9%). One third of participants reported at least one serious adverse event, the most common being lung infection (in seven participants), pneumonia (in three), upper respiratory infection (in three) and bronchitis (in two). Three participants experienced fatal grade 5 adverse events. Eight participants discontinued treatment with zanubrutinib due to adverse events and seven participants required at least one dose reduction (10).

From an indirect comparison with ibrutinib for the treatment of relapsed/ refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma, zanubrutinib was associated with lower rates of severe bleeding (2% versus 3%), atrial fibrillation (0% versus 6%) and treatment discontinuation due to adverse events (9% versus 12%) (10, 13).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma are not available.

Zanubrutinib has been recommended for treatment of relapsed/ refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma in recent guidelines of the Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology, regardless of the presence of del (17p)/TP53 mutation (8).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness analysis data for zanubrutinib were presented in the application.

The price for zanubrutinib in the United States is US\$ 12 935 per bottle (120 capsules), corresponding to 30 days of treatment at the recommended dose. The price for zanubrutinib in China is \$ 11 300 per bottle (64 capsules). The monthly treatment cost is \$ 22 600. Comparatively, the first-generation Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor, ibrutinib, is listed in China priced at \$ 22 680 per month for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma.

#### Availability

Zanubrutinib has regulatory approval from the National Medical Products Administration of the People's Republic of China for the treatment of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma who have received at least one prior therapy.

Regulatory submissions have also been made in Australia, Canada, Europe and Israel.

### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma at this time, noting that the available data for efficacy and safety are very limited (early phase trials, with small patient numbers and short follow-up), important toxicity concerns, high price and unknown cost–effectiveness.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that targeted therapy with Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors is now emerging as the cornerstone of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia treatment in high-income countries, replacing chemoimmunotherapy as the accepted standard of care because it is more effective, has less acute toxicity and minimal risk of development of secondary leukaemias.

The Committee considered that the application for inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia was premature. The available data on efficacy and safety were limited to one phase II single-arm trial, with a small number of participants. Comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments, for example ibrutinib, was also lacking. The available data were therefore considered insufficient to evaluate the clinical benefit and safety of zanubrutinib as an essential medicine at this time.

The Committee also noted that zanubrutinib is expensive, has unknown cost-effectiveness, and has very limited global regulatory approval and availability. Therefore, the Committee did not recommend its inclusion on the EML for the treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/ small lymphocytic lymphoma.

However, recognizing the emerging important role of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors, as a therapeutic class in the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia in both the first- and second-line treatment settings, the Committee advised that it would welcome an application including zanubrutinib and other Bruton kinase inhibitors for consideration as therapeutic alternatives for inclusion on the EML in the future when mature data are available. Without committing a future Expert Committee to a favourable recommendation to include zanubrutinib on the EML, the Committee recommended that zanubrutinib be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as a candidate for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that negotiating such licences can take some time. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this medicine in low- and middle-income countries.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 24 April 2021).
- Wu SJ, Huang SY, Lin CT, Lin YJ, Chang CJ, Tien HF. The incidence of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in Taiwan, 1986–2005: a distinct increasing trend with birth-cohort effect. Blood. 2010;116(22):4430–5.
- Eichhorst B, Robak T, Montserrat E, Ghia P, Hillmen P, Hallek M, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(Suppl 5):v78–84.
- Yang SM, Li JY, Gale RP, Huang XJ. The mystery of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL): why is it absent in Asians and what does this tell us about etiology, pathogenesis and biology? Blood Rev. 2015;29(3):205–13.
- 5. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2017 [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2017/, accessed 24 April 2021).
- 6. lovino L, Shadman M. Novel therapies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a rapidly changing landscape. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2020;21(4):24.
- Wierda WG, Byrd JC, Abramson JS, Bilgrami SF, Bociek G, Brander D, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma, version 4.2020, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2020;18(2):185–217.
- 8. [Guidelines of Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology (CSCO): lymphoid malignancies.] Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House; 2020 [In Chinese].
- 9. Ou Z, Yu D, Liang Y, He W, Li Y, Zhang M, et al. Analysis of the Global Burden of Disease study highlights the trends in death and disability-adjusted life years of leukemia from 1990 to 2017. Cancer Commun (Lond). 2020;40(11):598–610.
- 10. Xu W, Yang S, Zhou K, Pan L, Li Z, Zhou J, et al. Treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma with the BTK inhibitor zanubrutinib: phase 2, single-arm, multicenter study. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):48.
- 11. Tam CS, Trotman J, Opat S, Burger JA, Cull G, Gottlieb D, et al. Phase 1 study of the selective BTK inhibitor zanubrutinib in B-cell malignancies and safety and efficacy evaluation in CLL. Blood. 2019;134(11):851–9.
- 12. Mu S, Tang Z, Novotny W, Tawashi M, Li TK, Ou Y, et al. Effect of rifampin and itraconazole on the pharmacokinetics of zanubrutinib (a Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor) in Asian and non-Asian healthy subjects. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2020;85(2):391–9.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 13. Huang X, Qiu L, Jin J, Zhou D, Chen X, Hou M, et al. Ibrutinib versus rituximab in relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia or small lymphocytic lymphoma: a randomized, openlabel phase 3 study. Cancer Med. 2018;7(4):1043–55.
- 14. Byrd JC, Furman RR, Coutre SE, Flinn IW, Burger JA, Blum KA, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(1):32–42.
- 15. Byrd JC, Brown JR, O'Brien S, Barrientos JC, Kay NE, Reddy NM, et al. Ibrutinib versus of atumumab in previously treated chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(3):213–23.

346

.....

Zanubrutinib - addition for mantle cell lymphoma - EML

#### Zanubrutinib

ATC Code: L01EL03

# Proposal

Addition of zanubrutinib to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma who have received at least one prior therapy.

# Applicant

BeiGene Co., Ltd, Beijing, China

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that at the current time, there was insufficient evidence to support inclusion of zanubrutinib in WHO EML because of the lack of mature data substantiating a significant clinical effect and concerns about the toxicity profile (particularly rates of severe infections).

EML/EMLc	
EML	
Section	
8.2.2 Targeted therapies	
Dose form(s) & strength(s)	
Capsule: 80 mg	
Core/complementary	
Complementary	
Individual/square box listing	
Individual	

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Zanubrutinib has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML. The Model List does not currently include any medicines specifically for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Mantle cell lymphoma is an uncommon subtype of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, accounting for between 2% and 10% of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas (1). In 2018, the global incidence of non-Hodgkin lymphoma was 6.7 per 100 000 people (2). Mantle cell lymphoma has been reported to account for 7.8% of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in developed regions and 3.8% in developing regions (3). In Europe and the United States, average incidence rates for mantle cell lymphoma of about 0.5 cases per 100 000 person-years have been reported, with a male-to-female ratio of 2.3–5.0 to 1 and a median age at diagnosis of about 70 years (4).

Mantle cell lymphoma is an aggressive disease with a poor prognosis and poor survival. During 2010 to 2016, the 5-year relative survival of patients with mantle cell lymphoma in the United States was 61.9%, and the relative survival was significantly correlated with age. The 5-year relative survival of patients with mantle cell lymphoma aged 20–64 years and > 65 years was 71.2% and 54.9%, respectively (5).

Outcomes of treatment for mantle cell lymphoma vary widely. Patients can have an aggressive presentation and die from the disease in less than 6 months, or can have a slowly progressing clinical course with long survival of more than 10 years (6). More than 90% of patients present with advanced-stage disease (stage 3-4) (7).

For several decades, the gold standard of first-line treatment was chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone, which has been used more recently in combination with the anti-CD20 antibody rituximab. Younger patients have been treated with more aggressive chemoimmunotherapy, with high doses of cyclophosphamide as part of a hyper-CVAD regimen (cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin and dexamethasone). High doses of cytarabine were also used in other regimens for clinically fit patients with mantle cell lymphoma younger than 65 years old. Maintenance treatment with rituximab was shown to prolong response duration after rituximab-containing chemotherapy (8-11). Although standard chemoimmunotherapy is associated with a high overall response rate, treatment is not curative, and most patients will experience relapse. The rate of complete response is less than 50%, with median overall survival of 3-4 years (10, 12). Median survival after first relapse of mantle cell lymphoma is 1-2 years (13).

Allogenic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation may also be an option for the treatment of relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma. However, many patients will not be candidates for such intensive treatment approaches due to advanced age and comorbid illness (13).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented the results of study BGB-3111-206, a single-arm, multicentre phase II trial that evaluated the efficacy and safety of zanubrutinib

160 mg twice daily in 86 participants with confirmed relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma (*14*). The primary endpoint was overall response rate assessed by an independent review committee; secondary endpoints included duration of response, time to response, progression-free survival and safety. After median follow-up of 18.4 months, 72 participants (84%) achieved an objective response, with 59 participants (67%) achieving a complete response. After a median follow-up of 16.4 months from the initial response, the estimated median duration of response was 19.5 months. After a median follow-up of 19.2 months, the estimated median progression-free survival was 22.1 months with an estimated 76% of participants alive and without disease progression at 12 months.

The application also presented a summary of results from phase I pharmacokinetic and dose-finding studies of zanubrutinib (*15*, *16*). Of 37 participants with relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma in the phase I GBG-3111-AU-003 study, 32 (86%) achieved an objective response – 11 with complete response and 21 with partial response (*15*). Median progression-free survival was 15.4 months (*16*).

Direct comparative data of zanubrutinib with other Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors for mantle cell lymphoma are lacking. The application presented indirect comparisons of efficacy reported for zanubrutinib (14), ibrutinib (17, 18) and acalabrutinib (19). Objective response rates were 87% for zanubrutinib, compared with 80% for acalabrutinib and 72% for ibrutinib. Complete response rates were 69% for zanubrutinib, 40% for acalabrutinib and 19–21% for ibrutinib.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Safety results from phase I and II trials of zanubrutinib were presented (14, 15, 20).

In study BGB-3111-206, 83/86 (96%) participants experienced at least one adverse event, with most events being grade 1 or 2 in severity; grade 3 and higher adverse events were reported in 34 (40%) participants. The most common haematological adverse events were neutropenia (49%), leukopenia (35%) and thrombocytopenia (33%). The most common non-haematological adverse events were upper respiratory infection (35%) and rash (34%). The most common grade 3 and higher adverse events were neutropenia (20%) and lung infection/pneumonia (9%). In total, 14/86 (16%) participants died during the study, seven within 30 days of the last study treatment (six due to complications of adverse events and one due to disease progression). Seven deaths occurred more than 30 days after the last dose of the study drug; five were due to progressive disease, one was due to complications of a fungal infection of the lungs and one was from unknown cause after receiving three additional lines of therapy (14). From an indirect comparison with ibrutinib in the treatment of relapsed/ refractory mantle cell lymphoma, zanubrutinib was associated with a lower incidence of atrial fibrillation (0% versus 6%) and treatment discontinuation due to adverse events (9.3% versus 11%) (14,21).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for treatment of mantle cell lymphoma are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness analysis data for zanubrutinib were presented in the application.

The price for zanubrutinib in the United States is US\$ 12 935 per bottle (120 capsules), corresponding to 30 days of treatment at the recommended dose. The price for zanubrutinib in China is \$ 11 300 per bottle (64 capsules). The monthly treatment cost is \$ 22 600. Comparatively, the first-generation Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor, ibrutinib, is listed in China priced at \$ 22 680 per month for patients with mantle cell lymphoma.

# Availability

Zanubrutinib has regulatory approval from the National Medical Products Administration of the People's Republic of China (2020) and the United States Food and Drug Administration (2019) for the treatment of patients with mantle cell lymphoma who have received at least one prior therapy.

Regulatory submissions have also been made in Australia, Canada, Europe and Israel.

# Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for treatment of relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma at this time, noting that the available data for efficacy and safety are very limited (early phase trials, with small patient numbers and with short follow-up), important toxicity concerns, high cost and unknown cost-effectiveness.

Zanubrutinib has been recommended as second-line treatment of mantle cell lymphoma in recent guidelines of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (8) and the Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology (9).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that mantle cell lymphoma is a rare, aggressive variant of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, primarily affecting older people.

The Expert Committee considered the application for inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for treatment of relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma was premature. With regard to clinical efficacy, the Committee noted that only phase I and II trial data were currently available, and these are based on a small number of patients and limited follow-up. Data comparing the efficacy and safety of zanubrutinib with other treatments and studies assessing quality of life are also lacking. The Committee noted that zanubrutinib was associated with major haematological toxicity. Overall, the available data were considered insufficient to evaluate the clinical benefit and safety of zanubrutinib as an essential medicine at this time.

The Committee also noted that the cost–effectiveness of zanubrutinib is unknown, and that currently global regulatory approval and availability of zanubrutinib are very limited.

Therefore, the Committee did not recommend inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma at this time.

#### References

- 1. Vose JM. Mantle cell lymphoma: 2017 update on diagnosis, risk-stratification, and clinical management. Am J Hematol. 2017;92(8):806–13.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- Perry AM, Diebold J, Nathwani BN, MacLennan KA, Müller-Hermelink HK, Bast M, et al. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma in the developing world: review of 4539 cases from the International Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Classification Project. Haematologica. 2016;101(10):1244–50.
- 4. Smedby KE, Hjalgrim H. Epidemiology and etiology of mantle cell lymphoma and other non-Hodgkin lymphoma subtypes. Semin Cancer Biol. 2011;21(5):293–8.
- 5. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2017 [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2017/, accessed 30 May 2021).
- 6. Cortelazzo S, Ponzoni M, Ferreri AJM, Dreyling M. Mantle cell lymphoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2020;153:103038.
- 7. McKay P, Leach M, Jackson B, Robinson S, Rule S. Guideline for the management of mantle cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol. 2018;182(1):46–62.
- NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. B-cell lymphomas. Version 3.2021. Plymouth Meeting, PA:National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2021 (https://www.nccn.org/professionals/ physician\_gls/pdf/b-cell.pdf, accessed 30 May 2021).
- 9. [Guidelines of the Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology: lymphoid malignancies.] Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House; 2020 [In Chinese].

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 10. Smolewski P, Witkowska M, Robak T. Treatment options for mantle cell lymphoma. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2015;16(16):2497–507.
- 11. Dreyling M, Campo E, Hermine O, Jerkeman M, Le Gouill S, Rule S, et al. Newly diagnosed and relapsed mantle cell lymphoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(Suppl 4):iv62–iv71.
- 12. Kluin-Nelemans JC, Doorduijn JK. What is the optimal initial management of the older MCL patient? Best Pract Res Clin Haematol. 2018;31(1):99–104.
- 13. Steiner RE, Romaguera J, Wang M. Current trials for frontline therapy of mantle cell lymphoma. J Hematol Oncol. 2018;11(1):13.
- 14. Song Y, Zhou K, Zou D, Zhou J, Hu J, Yang H, et al. Treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma with zanubrutinib, a selective inhibitor of Bruton's tyrosine kinase. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(16):4216–24.
- Tam CS, Trotman J, Opat S, Burger JA, Cull G, Gottlieb D, et al. Phase 1 study of the selective BTK inhibitor zanubrutinib in B-cell malignancies and safety and efficacy evaluation in CLL. Blood. 2019;134(11):851–9.
- Tam CS, Wang M, Simpson D, Opat S, Cull G, Munoz J, et al. Updated safety and efficacy data in the phase 1 trial of patients with mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) treated with Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) inhibotor zanubrutinib (BGB-3111). Hematol Oncol. 2019;37(S2):245–7.
- 17. Dreyling M, Jurczak W, Jerkeman M, Silva RS, Rusconi C, Trneny M, et al. Ibrutinib versus temsirolimus in patients with relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma: an international, randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2016;387(10020):770–8.
- 18. Wang ML, Rule S, Martin P, Goy A, Auer R, Kahl BS, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(6):507–16.
- 19. Wang M, Rule S, Zinzani PL, Goy A, Casasnovas O, Smith SD, et al. Acalabrutinib in relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma (ACE-LY-004): a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2018;391(10121):659–67.
- 20. Mu S, Tang Z, Novotny W, Tawashi M, Li TK, Ou Y, et al. Effect of rifampin and itraconazole on the pharmacokinetics of zanubrutinib (a Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor) in Asian and non-Asian healthy subjects. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2020;85(2):391–9.
- 21. Wang ML, Blum KA, Martin P, Goy A, Auer R, Kahl BS, et al. Long-term follow-up of MCL patients treated with single-agent ibrutinib: updated safety and efficacy results. Blood. 2015;126(6):739–45.

352

.....

# 8.2.3 Immunomodulators

PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors – addition – EML

Atezolizumab	ATC Code: L01FF05
Durvalumab	ATC Code: L01FF03
Nivolumab	ATC Code: L01FF01
Pembrolizumab	ATC Code: L01FF02

# Proposal

Addition of PD-1 and PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors (atezolizumab, durvalumab, nivolumab and pembrolizumab) in the complementary list of the EML for treatment of non-oncogene-addicted locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

# Applicant

European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO)

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that the inclusion of immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of NSCLC would have substantial implications for the EML and access to cancer medicines globally. The technical department noted that their clinical effect, ability to address major disease burden at the population level and the accumulation of the existing clinical data would favour their inclusion on the EML. It noted, however, that there were also important concerns that needed to be addressed, such as the establishment of a framework to better inform their selection in national EMLs given the negative implication their inclusion may have on access including inability to safely deliver the treatment, the diversion of resources away from other essential medicines, and the financial hardship for patients who must make out-ofpocket payments. The technical department noted that further data from low- and middle-income countries would help the technical team and Expert Committee better understand the feasibility of the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors for treatment of NSCLC in resource-limited settings and implications of their approval and selection. The technical department concluded that while the inclusion of checkpoint inhibitors for NSCLC may be warranted, strong consideration should be given to the development of such a framework in this review cycle or for the next Expert Committee in 2023.

# EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

#### 8.2.3 Immunomodulators

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Atezolizumab: injection 840 mg/14 mL Durvalumab: injection 120 mg/2.4 mL, 500 mg/10 mL Nivolumab: injection 10 mg/mL Pembrolizumab: powder for injection 50 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Pembrolizumab with a square box, with atezolizumab, durvalumab and nivolumab as therapeutic alternatives.

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

An application for the inclusion of pembrolizumab, nivolumab and atezolizumab on the EML for treatment of patients with metastatic NSCLC was considered by the Expert Committee in 2019. Listing was not recommended as the Committee considered that the precise place of these medicines in the treatment of this condition was still evolving (i.e. immunotherapy alone or in combination with chemotherapy). The Committee noted the evidence of efficacy in the treatment of patients with metastatic NSCLC with these agents. The Committee observed that the duration of follow-up of the single studies for first-line and secondline immunotherapy in trials for lung cancer was generally shorter than 3 years, and considered that data from longer follow-up would better demonstrate the actual magnitude of benefit. The Committee expressed the hope that by the time of the 2021 Committee meeting, more mature data would be available for metastatic NSCLC and also for use of these agents in locally advanced nonresectable disease, and as adjuvant therapy. Furthermore, the Committee noted that the clinical development of cancer immunotherapy still has some areas of uncertainty about the optimal time for introduction of treatment (firstor second-line), appropriate patient selection and whether or not the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors in combination with other medicines is superior to monotherapy. The Committee expressed concern about the potential impact of oncology medicines on budgets, which could be an impediment to access, and the fact that countries may not be able to list these medicines on their national EMLs because of their high price (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death worldwide, with an estimated 1.7 million related deaths in 2018 (*2*). Lung cancer is a highly lethal malignancy, with an economic impact estimated at around US\$ 8 billion in lost productivity in the BRICS countries (Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa). Moreover, in the absence of wide coverage of an effective screening programme in place globally, lung cancer diagnoses occur in advanced stages in more than 60% of cases, with high regional variability (*3*–*5*).

Over 80% of lung cancers are classified as NSCLC (6). Targeted therapies have redefined treatment for patients with genomic alterations in driver oncogenes (e.g. epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations, anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements, ROS1 rearrangements, BRAF mutations, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) mutations or amplifications and neurotrophic tyrosine kinase (NTRK) 1–3 fusions) to guide the selection of treatments. However, these therapies are ineffective in most patients with NSCLC who have tumours lacking such genetic alterations. Gene-targeted therapies are now estimated to benefit less than 10% of patients with NSCLC, but this proportion might increase rapidly over time (7).

Immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy has become part of the standard treatment of patients with advanced and metastatic NSCLC in many highincome settings, based on favourable improvements in clinical outcomes. Immune checkpoint inhibitors target and reactivate immune-competent cells (i.e. T-lymphocytes and antigen-presenting cells) by inhibiting the immunosuppressive ligand PD-L1 or its receptor (PD-1), or by strengthening the immune-activating signals of the immune response (e.g. glucocorticoidinduced tumour necrosis factor receptor-related, proinflammatory interleukins, interferon-gamma) (8).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### First-line monotherapy in metastatic NSCLC expressing high levels of PD-L1

#### Pembrolizumab

The phase III KEYNOTE-024 study evaluated pembrolizumab as firstline treatment in 500 participants with treatment-naïve, advanced NSCLC showing PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50%, in the absence of EGFR mutation or anaplastic lymphoma kinase translocations (non-oncogene-driven NSCLC) (9). Participants were randomized to receive 200 mg pembrolizumab every 3 weeks (up to 2 years) or 4–6 cycles of standard platinum-doublet chemotherapy. Efficacy measures favoured pembrolizumab, including progression-free survival (hazard ratio (HR) 0.5, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.37 to 0.68; P < 0.001) and overall survival (HR 0.6, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.89; P = 0.005). In the intentionto-treat population, based on 189 events of progression or death in the first survival report, the median progression-free survival was 10.3 months (95% CI 6.7 months to not reached) in the pembrolizumab group and 6.0 months (95% CI 4.2 to 6.2 months) in the chemotherapy group.

At the time of the second interim analysis, 108 deaths had occurred; 80.2% of participants were alive at 6 months (95% CI 72.9% to 85.7%) in the pembrolizumab group and 72.4% (95% CI 64.5% to 78.9%) in the chemotherapy group. An updated survival report (25.2 months median follow-up) confirmed the superiority of pembrolizumab over chemotherapy: the HR for overall survival was 0.63 (95% CI 0.47 to 0.86; nominal P = 0.002), median overall survival was 30.0 months (95% CI 18.3 months to not reached) in the pembrolizumab arm and 14.2 months (95% CI 9.8 to 19.0 months) in the chemotherapy arm; the Kaplan–Meier estimate of overall survival at 12 months was 70.3% (95% CI 62.3% to 76.9%) for the pembrolizumab group and 54.8% (95% CI 46.4% to 62.4%) for the chemotherapy group (10). In terms of effect size, pembrolizumab provided a gain of median overall survival of 15.8 months and 15.5% at 1 year.

After more than 3 years of median follow-up, overall survival in participants in the pembrolizumab arm was 26.3 months versus 14.2 months in the chemotherapy arm (10). The last data available (5 years follow-up 55.1–68.4 months) indicated that participants treated with pembrolizumab exhibited a consistent and significant overall survival improvement (pembrolizumab 31.9% versus chemotherapy 16.3%) and fewer grade 3–5 adverse events (pembrolizumab 31.2% versus chemotherapy 53.3%) (11).

The health-related quality of life analysis showed a clinically meaningful and significant improvement (12). Fewer participants treated with pembrolizumab had deterioration in the QLQ-LC13 composite endpoint than participants given chemotherapy (46/151 (31%) versus 58/148 (39%)). Time to deterioration was longer with pembrolizumab than with chemotherapy: median not reached (95% CI 8.5 months to not reached) versus 5.0 months (95% CI 3.6 months to not reached); HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.44–0.97; P = 0.029).

Based on the KEYNOTE-024 trial, confirmed at a 3-year follow-up updated survival analysis, pembrolizumab is considered a new standard in several settings as the first-line option for patients with advanced NSCLC and PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50% who do not otherwise have contraindications to immune checkpoint inhibitors: grade of evidence and level of recommendation: I, A; European Society for Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 score 5/5.

Participants with PD-L1  $\geq$  50% drove the overall survival benefit preponderance, as the only subgroup gaining more than 6 months of overall survival. In comparison, no significant increase in overall survival was seen

in participants with 1%-49% PD-L1 expression in the exploratory analysis of survival, where overall survival was 13.4 versus 12.1 months in this subpopulation (HR 0.92, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.11).

# Atezolizumab

The IMpower110 study is a phase III, multicentre trial for untreated nonsquamous, non-oncogene addicted metastatic NSCLC in participants whose tumour expressed PD-L1 (13). Up to 572 participants were randomized to receive atezolizumab or platinum-based chemotherapy (4 or 6 cycles) once every 3 weeks. At the interim analysis (median follow-up of 15.7 months), atezolizumab monotherapy demonstrated longer overall survival and progression-free survival than the chemotherapy arm. The progression-free survival benefit was respectively 8.1 months versus 5.0 months (stratified HR for disease progression or death, 0.63, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.88). Among participants with EGFR and anaplastic lymphoma kinase wild-type tumours who had high or intermediate PD-L1 expression, progression-free survival was 7.2 months in the atezolizumab group and 5.5 months in the chemotherapy group (stratified HR for disease progression or death 0.67, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.88). The overall survival for atezolizumab compared with chemotherapy arm was respectively 20.2 months versus 13.1 months (HR for death 0.59, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.89; P = 0.01) in the population with high PD-L1 expression, according to preplanned interim analysis. As overall survival testing did not meet its threshold in the wildtype population with PD-L1 expression of  $\geq 5\%$  by tumour cells or immuneinfiltrating cells), overall survival was not tested in this population.

No differences in time to confirmed deterioration were seen between the study arms for cough (HR 0.98, 95% CI 0.48 to 2.03), chest pain (HR 1.02, 95% CI 0.47 to 2.22), dyspnoea (HR 0.96, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.60) and 3-symptom composite score (HR 0.92, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.44). Mean change in physical function from baseline to week 42 was slightly improved with atezolizumab and greater than or similar to chemotherapy. Fatigue and nausea or vomiting scores numerically improved immediately with atezolizumab and were maintained to week 48 (*14*).

# Nivolumab

The phase III CheckMate 026 trial included in participants with untreated, advanced NSCLC and PD-L1  $\geq$  1%, randomized to nivolumab or platinumdoublet standard chemotherapy (*15*). The trial did not show a superiority of nivolumab over chemotherapy in unselected NSCLC participants. There was no difference in progression-free survival between the treatment groups in the primary efficacy analysis population (participants with a PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  5%). The median overall survival in the primary efficacy analysis population was 14.4 months (95% CI 11.7 to 17.4 months) in the nivolumab group and 13.2 months (95% CI 10.7 to 17.1 moths) in the chemotherapy group (HR for death 1.02, 95% CI 0.80 to 1.30). Nivolumab was not associated with a longer progression-free survival than chemotherapy.

# First-line treatment in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapy in metastatic squamous and non-squamous NSCLC, irrespective of tumour PD-L1 expression

# Pembrolizumab

The efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab combined with chemotherapy for untreated advanced non-squamous NSCLC, without sensitizing EGFR/anaplastic lymphoma kinase alterations, regardless of PD-L1 expression, was assessed in the KEYNOTE-189 study (*16*). A total of 616 participants were randomized to receive four cycles of chemotherapy (pemetrexed + platinum-based compound), with pembrolizumab or placebo administered every 3 weeks for up to 35 cycles in a 2:1 ratio. The co-primary endpoints of this study were progression-free survival and overall survival. After a median follow-up of 10.5 months, the study showed a statistically significant progression-free survival improvement in the group treated with pembrolizumab compared with the placebo group: 8.8 months, 95% CI 7.6 to 9.2 months versus 4.9 months, 95% CI 4.7 to 5.5 months; HR for progression or death 0.52, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.64; *P* < 0.001). Likewise, there was a statistically significant improvement in overall survival: not reached versus 11.3 months, 95% CI 8.7 to 15.1 months; HR for death 0.49, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.64; *P* < 0.0010).

Following PD-L1 stratification criteria, the pembrolizumab/ chemotherapy arm exhibited efficacy across all subgroups analysed:

- PD-L1 expression < 1%: 12-month overall survival rate 61.7% versus 52.2%; HR for death 0.59, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.92;</li>
- PD-L1 expression 1–49%: 12-month overall survival rate 71.5% versus 50.9%; HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.34 to 0.90; and
- PD-L1 expression ≥ 50%: 12-month overall survival rate 73.0% versus 48.1%; HR 0.42, 95% CI 0.26 to 0.68.

Response rates were also higher in the pembrolizumab combination group: 47.6% (95% CI 42.6% to 52.5%) compared with 18.9% (95% CI 13.8% to 25.0%) in the placebo combination group (P < 0.001), and consistent across all PD-L1 subgroups, but notably greater in the subgroup PD-L1  $\geq$  50% (61.4% versus 22.9%).

The KEYNOTE-189 update included a median follow-up of 23.1 months (range 18.6 to 30.9 months) and confirmed a sustained clinical and statistically meaningful benefit in efficacy and safety: median overall survival was 22.0 months (rage 19.5 to 25.2 months) in the pembrolizumab combination group and 10.7 months (range 8.7 to 13.6 months) in the placebo combination

group (HR 0.56, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.70), an absolute gain of 10.3 months. The estimated 24-month overall survival rates were 45.5% and 29.9%, respectively. Median progression-free survival was 9.0 months (range 8.1 to 9.9 months) and 4.9 months (range 4.7 to 5.5 months) in the pembrolizumab combination and placebo combination groups, respectively (HR 0.48, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.58), with estimated 24-month progression-free survival rates of 20.5% and 1.5%. Notably, the study update confirmed the benefit for overall survival and progression-free survival across all PD-L1 tumour proportion scores (*17*).

The KEYNOTE-407 trial assessed the efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy (carboplatin and either paclitaxel or nabpaclitaxel) compared with placebo plus chemotherapy (carboplatin and either paclitaxel or nab-paclitaxel) in participants with untreated, advanced squamous NSCLC, without sensitizing EGFR/anaplastic lymphoma kinase alterations, and regardless of PD-L1 tumour proportion score (18). The median overall survival was 15.9 months (95% CI 13.2 months to not reached) in the pembrolizumab combination group and 11.3 months (95% CI 9.5 to 14.8 months) in the placebo combination group (HR for death 0.64, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.85; P < 0.001), and a 1-year Kaplan-Meier estimate of 65.2% in the pembrolizumab arm versus 48.3% in the placebo arm. Overall, the results show an overall survival gain of 4.6 months, reducing death by 36% and favouring the addition of pembrolizumab compared to standard of care chemotherapy. The overall survival benefit extends to all PD-L1 expression subgroups, including PD-L1 < 1%. The progression-free survival benefit was 6.4 months (95% CI 6.2 to 8.3 months) in the pembrolizumab combination group and 4.8 months (95% CI 4.3 to 5.7 months) in the placebo combination group (HR for disease progression or death 0.56, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.70; *P* < 0.001).

# First-line consolidation therapy for locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC with PD-L1 expression $\geq 1\%$

# Durvalumab

The efficacy of durvalumab was evaluated in the PACIFIC trial, a double-blind study in 713 participants with locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC, irrespective of tumour PD-L1 expression (*19*). Participants had completed at least two cycles of definitive platinum-based chemotherapy with radiation therapy within 1 to 42 days before start of the study. Participants were randomized to receive durvalumab (476 participants) or placebo (237 participants) every 2 weeks for up to 12 months or until unacceptable toxicity or confirmed disease progression. The study showed a significant improvement in progression-free survival in the durvalumab-treated group compared with the placebo group (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.65; *P* < 0.0001) as well as in overall survival (HR 0.68, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.87; *P* = 0.00251). As of 31 January 2019, 48.2% of the participants had died

(44.1% and 56.5% in the durvalumab and placebo groups, respectively). The median duration of follow-up was 33.3 months. The updated overall survival remained consistent with that previously reported (stratified HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.86). The median overall survival was not reached with durvalumab but was 29.1 months with placebo. The 12-, 24- and 36-month overall survival rates with durvalumab and placebo were 83.1% versus 74.6%, 66.3% versus 55.3% and 57.0% versus 43.5%, respectively. All secondary outcomes examined showed improvements consistent with previous analyses (20). A significant benefit from durvalumab was observed only in the subgroup with PD-L1 > 1%, both for overall survival (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.77; median overall survival not reached versus 29.1 months) and progression-free survival (HR 0.46, 95% CI 0.33 to 0.64; median progression-free survival 17.8 versus 5.6 months). In the PD-L1-negative subgroup, no statistically significant improvement was seen in either overall survival (HR 1.36, 95% CI 0.79 to 2.34) or progression-free survival (HR 0.73, 95% CI 0.48 to 1.11).

An exploratory post hoc analysis of outcomes grouped by tumour cell PD-L1 expression from the PACIFIC trial included 709 participants who had received at least one dose of durvalumab (473 participants) or placebo (236 participants) (21). After a median follow-up of 33.3 months, durvalumab was associated with a progression-free survival benefit across all PD-L1 expression subgroups, and improved overall survival across all subgroups except PD-L1 < 1%:

- PD-L1 ≥ 25% (HR 0.50, 95% CI 0.30 to 0.83; median not reached versus 21.1 months),
- PD-L1 < 25% (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.63 to 1.25; median 39.7 versus 37.4 months),</li>
- PD-L1 ≥ 1% (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.83; median not reached versus 29.6 months),
- PD-L1 1%-24% (HR 0.67, 95% CI 0.41 to 1.10; median 43.3 versus 30.5 months),
- PD-L1 unknown (HR 0.60, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.84; median 44.2 versus 23.5 months),
- PD-L1 < 1% (HR 1.14, 95% CI 0.71 to 1.84; median 33.1 versus 45.6 months).</p>

A recent 4-year overall survival update (20 March 2020, median follow-up 34.2 months (range 0.2–64.9)) confirmed a sustained benefit with durvalumab compared with placebo for progression-free survival (stratified HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.67; median 17.2 versus 5.6 months) and overall survival (stratified HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.88; median 47.5 months versus29.1 months). The

48-month overall survival rates for durvalumab versus placebo were 49.6% versus 36.3% and progression-free survival rates were 35.3% versus 19.5% (20,22).

# Second-line treatment for advanced NSCLC, after failure of platinum-containing standard chemotherapy

Pembrolizumab, nivolumab and atezolizumab have been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency for use in the second-line treatment setting, based on phase III studies showing improved overall survival compared with docetaxel (the standard of care in second-line treatment for patients with NSCLC who have not responded to platinum-containing first-line chemotherapy (23, 24). Overall, no major differences were found in efficacy or safety among these three therapies to inform a best single option and no direct comparative studies have been conducted. There are two key distinctions between the three approved therapies, which can affect choice and use.

- PD-L1 expression in the tumour. Nivolumab and atezolizumab are approved in patients with previously treated, advanced NSCLC, irrespective of PD-L1 expression, while pembrolizumab is approved only in patients with PD-L1 expression > 1%.
- Schedule of administration. Pembrolizumab is approved to be given in the dose of 200 mg every 3 weeks or 400 mg every 6 weeks and nivolumab is approved to be given in the dose of 240 mg once every 2 weeks, whereas atezolizumab can be given in the doses of 840 mg every 2 weeks, 1200 mg every 3 weeks, or 1680 mg every 4 weeks, based on current approvals by the European Medicines Agency.

# Pembrolizumab

The KEYNOTE-010 trial randomized 1033 participants with previously treated squamous and non-squamous NSCLC with PD-L1 expression of at least 1% to receive pembrolizumab (tested at two doses, 2 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg, every 3 weeks) or docetaxel (75 mg/m<sup>2</sup> every 3 weeks) (25). Overall survival was longer for the pembrolizumab group than the docetaxel group: 2 mg/kg (HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.88; P < 0.001); 10 mg/kg (HR 0.61, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.75; P < 0.001), with a 2-year overall survival rate of 14.5% versus 30.1% (2 mg/kg group).

Median overall survival was 14.9–17.3 for the 2 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg arms, compared with 8.2 months for the chemotherapy arm. The safety profile favoured pembrolizumab with a smaller percentage of participants with grade 3–5 adverse events (16%) than in the chemotherapy arm (35%), and decreased appetite (14%) and fatigue (14%) for immune checkpoint inhibitors, and neutropenia (14%), alopecia (33%), anaemia (13%) and oral mucositis (14%) for

chemotherapy. No relevant differences in the safety of pembrolizumab were seen between participants given 2 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg.

Long-term outcomes from KEYNOTE-010 were recently published (26). Pembrolizumab continued to show improved overall survival compared with docetaxel in the PD-L1  $\geq$  50% and PD-L1  $\geq$  1% groups (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.66; *P* < 0.00001 and HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.80; *P* < 0.00001, respectively) after a 42.6-month median follow-up. Estimated 36-month overall survival rates for PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50% and PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  1% groups were 34.5% (pembrolizumab) versus 12.7% (docetaxel) and 22.9% versus 11.0%, respectively. Grade 3–5 treatment-related adverse events occurred in 16% versus 37% of participants in the pembrolizumab and docetaxel groups, respectively. Of 690 participants, 79 completed 35 cycles per 2 years of pembrolizumab: 12-month overall survival and progression-free survival rates after completing treatment were 98.7% (95% CI 91.1% to 99.8%) and 72.5% (95% CI 59.9% to 81.8%), respectively.

#### Nivolumab

In the CheckMate-017 trial, 272 participants with squamous NSCLC were randomized to receive nivolumab or docetaxel (27). The median overall survival was 9.2 months (95% CI 7.3 to 13.3 months) in the nivolumab group and 6.0 months (95% CI 5.1 to 7.3 months) in the docetaxel group. In the CheckMate-057 trial, 582 participants with non-squamous NSCLC (e.g. adenocarcinoma) were randomized to nivolumab or docetaxel (28).

In a recent update of the CheckMate-017 and CheckMate-057 trials, the pooled 2-year overall survival favoured nivolumab in both squamous NSCLC (29%, 95% CI 24% to 34% versus 16%, 95% CI 12% to 20%) and non-squamous NSCLC (23%, 95% CI 16% to 30% versus 8%, 95% CI 4% to 13%) (29). In the pooled analysis of overall survival in the intention-to- treat population (854 participants) with squamous (272 participants (31.9%)) and non-squamous (582 (68.1%)) NSCLC, median overall survival was 11.1 months (95% CI 9.2 to 13.1 months) with nivolumab versus 8.1 months (95% CI 7.2 to 9.2 months) with docetaxel (HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.84). Higher PD-L1 expression levels were associated with greater overall survival benefit with nivolumab (HR 0.42, 95% CI 0.28 to 0.63) in participants with PD-L1  $\ge$  50%, but a benefit was still observed in participants with PD-L1 < 1% (HR 0.78, 95% CI, 0.61 to 0.99). Consistent with the primary analyses, nivolumab showed a better 2-year overall survival benefit than docetaxel in participants with squamous NSCLC regardless of PD-L1 expression level. However, in participants with non-squamous NSCLC, higher levels of PD-L1 were associated with a greater overall survival benefit with nivolumab, but NSCLC patients with PD-L1 < 1% still derived greater benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors than chemotherapy: in participants with  $PD-L1 \ge 50\%$ , the HR for overall survival

on the basis of 2 years minimum follow-up was 0.38 (95% CI 0.24 to 0.60) for participants with non-squamous NSCLC.

Pooled data from four clinical studies of nivolumab in participants with previously treated NSCLC (CheckMate 017, 057, 063 and 003) showed 4-year overall survival with nivolumab was 14% for all participants (664 participants), 19% for those with PD-L1 expression > 1% and 11% for those with PD-L1 expression < 1%. Nivolumab continued to show long-term overall survival and progression-free survival benefit compared with docetaxel, with 5-year survival rates of 13.4% versus 2.6% and progression-free survival rates of 8% versus 0%. Survival after a response at 6 months on nivolumab or docetaxel was longer than after progressive disease at 6 months: HR for overall survival 0.18 (95% CI 0.12 to 0.27) for nivolumab and HR 0.43 (95% CI 0.29 to 0.65) for docetaxel. For stable disease versus progressive disease, HR for overall survival was 0.52 (95% CI 0.37 to 0.71) for nivolumab and HR 0.80 (95% CI 0.61 to 1.04) for docetaxel. Long-term data did not show any new safety signals (*30*).

#### Atezolizumab

The phase III OAK trial evaluated atezolizumab versus docetaxel in 850 participants with previously treated, advanced squamous and non-squamous NSCLC (31). Overall survival was improved in participants given atezolizumab (median overall survival 13.8 months, 95% CI 11.8 to15.7 months) compared with participants given docetaxel (9.6 months, 95% CI 8.6 to 11.2 months), with HR 0.73 (95% CI 0.62 to 0.87; P = 0.0003). Subgroup analysis showed a greater magnitude of benefit in patients with higher PD-L1 expression, both assessed on tumour cells or immune-infiltrating cells: the net benefit gain with tumour cells 1/2/3 or immune-infiltrating cells 1/2/3 was +5.4 months (HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.93; P = 0.0102) and +5.5 months with tumour cells 2/3 or immuneinfiltrating cells 2/3 (HR 0.67, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.90; P = 0.0080). Data for patientreported outcomes in the OAK study found that atezolizumab delayed the time to deterioration in patient physical function and role function compared with docetaxel. No significant differences in time to deterioration were observed between treatment arms for health-related quality of life, although the point estimate numerically favoured atezolizumab (HR 0.94, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.24) (32).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

# Pembrolizumab

In Keynote-024, treatment-related adverse events occurred in 73.4% of participants in the pembrolizumab group and 90.0% of participants in the chemotherapy group. In the pembrolizumab and chemotherapy groups respectively, 26.6% and 53.3% of adverse events were grade 3 (moderate-severe) to grade 5 (toxic death), which resulted in a higher treatment discontinuation rate because of these adverse events in the chemotherapy group (10.7% versus

7.1%). Despite longer mean treatment duration in the pembrolizumab group (11.1 versus 4.4 months), grade 3-5 treatment-related adverse events were less frequent with pembrolizumab than chemotherapy after 3 years follow-up (10). The most common treatment-related adverse events in the pembrolizumab arm were hypo- and hyperthyroidism (in 9% and 8% of participants, all grade 1 and 2), diarrhoea (in 14.3%), fatigue (in 10.4%) and pyrexia (in 10.4%). For chemotherapy, bone marrow toxicity (anaemia in 44.0%) and traditional systemic treatment-related adverse events were observed (nausea in 43.3% and fatigue in 28.7%); anti-emetic premedication was allowed per protocol, consistent with institutional and international guidelines for moderately to highly emetogenic platinum-containing chemotherapy regimens in the standard of care arm.

The most frequent adverse events in the KEYNOTE-189 trial were nausea (55.6% in the pembrolizumab arm versus 52% in the placebo arm, grade 3 in 3.5% in both arms), anaemia (46.2% versus 46.5%, grade  $\geq$  3 in 16.3% versus 15.3%), fatigue (40.7% versus 38.1%, grade  $\geq$  3 in 5.7% versus 2.5%). Rates of treatment-related adverse events were similar for carboplatin and cisplatin. The proportion of participants who discontinued all trial drugs because of treatment-related adverse events was greater in the pembrolizumab arm than the placebo arm (13.8% versus 7.9%). Overall, the immune-related treatment-related adverse events of interest occurred in the pembrolizumab arm (any grade, 22.7%; grade  $\geq$  3, 8.9%) or placebo (any grade, 11.9%; grade 3, 4.5%) group. The most frequent immune-related treatment-related adverse events in the pembrolizumab arm were hypothyroidism (any grade, 6.7%; grade  $\geq$  3, 0.5%), pneumonitis (any grade, 4.4%; grade 3, 2.7%), hyperthyroidism (any grade, 4%; grade  $\geq$  3, 0.5%), infusion reaction (any grade, 2.5%; grade  $\geq$  3, 0.2%), and colitis (any grade, 2.2%; grade 3, 0.7%) (17).

In the KEYNOTE-407 trial of pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy, 98.2% of participants in the pembrolizumab arm versus 97.9% in the placebo arm experienced any grade of treatment-related adverse events, where anaemia, alopecia and neutropenia were the most common in both arms. Treatment-related adverse events of grade  $\geq 3$  occurred in 69.8% of participants in the pembrolizumab arm and 68.2% in the placebo arm; anaemia and neutropenia occurred in more than 10% of the participants. Pneumonitis and autoimmune hepatitis were the grade  $\geq 3$  adverse events that occurred more frequently in the pembrolizumab arm, with percentages similar to those observed in the KEYNOTE-189 trial (*18*).

#### Atezolizumab

In the IMpower110 Study, treatment-related adverse events occurred in both the atezolizumab and chemotherapy arms: any grade in 90.2% of participants in the atezolizumab arm versus 94.7% of participants in the chemotherapy

arm; grade 3 and 4 in 30.1% versus 52.5%; and grade 5 in 3.8% versus 4.2%. The most frequent grade 3 and 4 adverse events were anaemia, neutropenia and thrombocytopenia. Hepatic laboratory abnormalities, rash and hypothyroidism were the most reported immune-mediated treatment-related adverse events ( $\geq$  5% in both groups). Grade 3 or 4 immune-mediated treatment-related adverse events occurred in 6.6% of participants in the atezolizumab arm and 1.5% in the chemotherapy arm, with no grade 5 event reported (*13*). For patient-reported outcomes in the OAK study, fewer participants receiving atezolizumab experienced grade 3 or 4 treatment-related adverse events (14.9%) than did participants receiving docetaxel (42.4%); no grade 5 treatment-related adverse events related to atezolizumab were observed (*32*).

# Durvalumab

In the PACIFIC study, the most frequent treatment-related adverse events were cough (40.2% in the durvalumab arm versus 30.3% in placebo), upper respiratory tract infections (26.1% versus 11.5%) and rash (21.7% versus 12.0%). The most frequent grade 3–4 treatment-related adverse event was pneumonia (6.5% versus 5.6%). The overall incidence of grade 3 or 4 treatment-related adverse events was 12.8% in the durvalumab arm and 9.8% in the placebo arm (*19*). Overall, durvalumab is most associated with immune-mediated treatment-related adverse events. In the combined safety database with durvalumab monotherapy (1889 participants with multiple tumours types), immune-mediated pneumonitis occurred in 79 (4.2%) participants, including grade 3 in 12 participants (0.6%), grade 4 in one patient (< 0.1%) and grade 5 in five participants (0.3%). Durvalumab does not induce antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

Other immune-related treatment-related adverse events reported in less than 1% of participants treated with durvalumab monotherapy in clinical trials were myasthenia gravis, myocarditis, myositis, polymyositis, meningitis, encephalitis and Guillain–Barre syndrome. No overall differences in safety were reported between elderly ( $\geq 65$  years) and younger participants.

Preliminary real-world data of durvalumab consolidation after chemoradiotherapy compared with regular follow-up after chemoradiotherapy found the incidence of grade 3 radiation pneumonitis was higher in the group treated with durvalumab (14.3% versus 2.5%) (*33*).

#### Nivolumab

In the CheckMate-017 trial in patients with squamous NSCLC, treatmentrelated adverse events, including hematologic and non-haematological events, occurred less frequently with nivolumab than with docetaxel: in the nivolumab group, 58% of participants had events of any grade, of which 7% were grade 3 or 4; in the docetaxel group, 86% of participants had events of any grade, of which 55% were grade 3 or 4. The safety profile was consistent with the class side-effects with no new signals of safety. The most frequently reported treatment-related adverse events with nivolumab were fatigue and asthenia, and for docetaxel were neutropenia (33%); 10% febrile neutropenia), fatigue (33%), alopecia (22%), nausea (23%) and peripheral neuropathy (11%). Treatment discontinuations due to adverse events were reported in 3% and 10% of participants in the nivolumab and chemotherapy arms, respectively (27). In the CheckMate-057 trial, the safety profile and pattern of adverse events in participants with non-squamous NSCLC were consistent with the data from the participants with squamous NSCLC. Treatment-related adverse events of any grade were observed in 69% and 88% of participants in the nivolumab and docetaxel arms, respectively. Grade 3–4 adverse events were observed in 10% of participants in the nivolumab arm and 54% of participants in the docetaxel arm. Discontinuation rates were 5% in the nivolumab arm and 15% in the docetaxel arm (28).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of NSCLC are not currently available.

The ESMO clinical practice guidelines for metastatic non-smallcell lung cancer (last updated in September 2020) include the following recommendations (*34*).

First-line treatment of EGFR- and anaplastic lymphoma kinase-negative NSCLC, PD-L1  $\ge$  50%

Pembrolizumab is considered a standard first-line option for patients with advanced NSCLC and PD-L1 expression  $\geq 50\%$  who do not otherwise have contraindications to use of immunotherapy (such as severe autoimmune disease or organ transplantation) [I, A; European Society for Medical Oncology-Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 score: 5].

Atezolizumab represents a promising first-line treatment option in patients with PD-L1-high (following the specific definition of TC3 or IC3 per trial design) NSCLC [I, A; not EMA-approved], with the formal caution of a subgroup analysis compared with trial design and ITT using only TC > 50% [I, B].

First-line treatment of EGFR- and anaplastic lymphoma kinase-negative NSCLC, regardless of PD-L1 status

Based on the results from KEYNOTE-189, pembrolizumab in combination with pemetrexed and a platinum-based ChT [chemotherapy] should be considered a standard option in metastatic non-squamous NSCLC [I, A; ESMO-MCBS v1.1 score: 4].

Results from KEYNOTE-407 place the combination of pembrolizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel or nab-P [nab-paclitaxel] as a standard choice in patients with metastatic squamous NSCLC [I, A; ESMOMCBS v1.1 score: 4].

#### Second-line treatment of NSCLC without actionable oncogenic driver

Pembrolizumab, atezolizumab and nivolumab "represent reasonable standard therapy for most patients with advanced, previously treated, PD-L1-naïve NSCLC" [I, A; ESMO-MCBS v1.1 score: 5].

# First-line consolidation therapy for locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC with PD-L1 expression $\ge 1\%$

ESMO clinical practice guidelines for early-stage and locally advanced (nonmetastatic) non-small-cell lung cancer (last updated May 2020) (35) recommend consolidation administration of durvalumab in patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC with PD-L1  $\geq$  1% and whose disease has not progressed following platinum-based chemoradiotherapy [I, A; ESMO-MCBS v1.1 score: 4].

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A cost-effectiveness analysis of pembrolizumab as first-line treatment in patients with high PD-L1 expression was conducted using data from Keynote 024, from the perspective of a United States third-party public health care payer (*36*). Pembrolizumab would be expected to result in an incremental cost of US\$ 98 281 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained or an incremental cost of US\$ 78 873 per life year gained. Including the cost of PD-L1 testing had a very small effect on the model results. With a 5-year time horizon, the ICER was US\$ 99 998/LY and US\$ 122 024/QALY; with a 10-year time horizon, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio was US\$ 83 065/life year and US\$ 103 101/QALY. Base-case results indicated that, compared with standard of care over a 20-year time horizon, pembrolizumab would be expected to result in an additional 1.31 life years gained and an additional 1.05 QALYs gained.

For pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy for first-line treatment of metastatic non-squamous NSCLC, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) technology appraisal guidance (TA557, 10 Jan 2019) calculated that the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio was less than £ 50 000 per QALY gained and concluded that incremental cost–effectiveness ratios were not all clearly within the range usually considered a cost-effective use of resources. At that time, NICE decided not to recommend pembrolizumab combination for routine use in adults with untreated, metastatic, non-squamous NSCLC whose tumours have no EGFR- or anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive mutations (*37*). Updated guidance (TA683, 10 March 2021), considering updated overall survival data, concluded that the most plausible estimates of cost–effectiveness for pertuzumab in combination with chemotherapy were

within what NICE considers a cost-effective use of resources and recommended the combination as an option for untreated, metastatic non-squamous NSCLC with a 2-year stopping rule (*38*).

For pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy for first-line treatment of metastatic squamous NSCLC, NICE technology appraisal guidance (TA600, 11 Sept 2019) concluded that the long-term overall survival benefit with pembrolizumab combination therapy was uncertain because of the very short duration of the interim data from KEYNOTE-407. The committee decided that the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio was not within the range usually considered a cost-effective use of resources and that further overall survival data are required to reduce cost–effectiveness uncertainty (*39*).

A decision-analytic microsimulation model was developed to compare chemoradiotherapy with chemoradiotherapy followed by durvalumab consolidation therapy until progression or a maximum of 1 year for potential budgetary consequences. Among 2 million simulated patients, durvalumab consolidation therapy was cost-effective compared with no consolidation therapy at a willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 100 000 per QALY, with an estimated incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of US\$ 67 421 per QALY. Durvalumab consolidation therapy would contribute an additional US\$ 768 million to national cancer spending in the first year, decreasing to US\$ 241 million in year 5. Durvalumab consolidation therapy indicates that expensive immunotherapies can be cost-effective because treating with immunotherapy earlier during cancer progression can provide significant value, despite having a substantial budgetary consequence (40).

In another study, a Markov model based on the 3-year follow-up data of the PACIFIC trial was used to compare consolidation durvalumab with observation, using published utility values. The study assessed costs for treatment strategies from the perspective of the Swiss health care payers. In the unselected and PD-L1-positive patients, durvalumab showed incremental effectiveness ratios of Sw.fr. 88 703 per QALY gained and Sw.fr. 66 131 per QALY gained, respectively. Durvalumab was cost-effective at a willingness-to-pay threshold of Sw.fr. 100 000 per QALY gained in almost three quarters of simulations in the probabilistic sensitivity analysis (*41*).

For durvalumab as consolidation therapy after platinum-based chemoradiation in locally advanced unresectable NSCLC, NICE technology appraisal guidance (TA578, 1 May 2019) noted that durvalumab had the potential to be cost-effective compared with standard care, but more evidence from the ongoing PACIFIC trial was needed to address uncertainties associated with the duration of treatment effect and the rate of disease progression (42).

Some pharmaceutical manufacturers have set up access programmes to facilitate availability of checkpoint inhibitors in low- and middle-income countries. However, few details are available in the public domain on the exact

characteristics of these programmes, including tiered pricing strategies, or on the effect of these programmes on equitable access and affordability.

#### Availability

Pembrolizumab (trade name Keytruda, Merck), atezolizumab (trade name Tecentriq, Genetech) and nivolumab (trade name Opdivo, Bristol Myers Squibb) have regulatory approval in multiple countries for the treatment of metastatic NSCLC. They have primary patent protection until 2028, 2029 and 2026, respectively.

Durvalumab (trade name Imfinzi, AstraZeneca) has regulatory approval in multiple countries for the treatment of locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC as consolidation therapy after platinum-based chemotherapy. It has primary patent protection until 2030.

# Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supported the inclusion of pembrolizumab on the EML for first-line treatment of metastatic NSCLC in selected patients with PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50% based on evidence of a relevant and meaningful survival benefit. Considering the other PD-1/PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies, atezolizumab has also shown evidence of benefit in this setting (first-line, PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50%), but the data are not as robust as they are for pembrolizumab. Recent meta-analyses suggest, however, similar performance of the different PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies (43,44), so other monoclonal antibodies within the same class could be considered as possible alternatives for selection at the country level to provide opportunities for better procurement and tendering.

The Working Group did not support the listing at this time of PD-1/ PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors for use in stage 3 locally advanced disease, second-line in the metastatic setting, or as maintenance therapy.

Regarding cost–effectiveness, the Working Group noted that cost– effectiveness has not been proven using the list prices available in countries, but rather at discounted prices negotiated with health system payers. The effect on health system budgets of supplying these treatments will be very high in many countries. Weight-based dosing of pembrolizumab (2 mg/kg) may be preferred over fixed dosing because it is less costly, and without loss of benefit.

Molecular and immunohistochemistry diagnosis is a vital component for using immunotherapy in NSCLC and involves at least PD-L1 staining, and analysis of EGFR and anaplastic lymphoma kinase.

Validated immunohistochemistry companion tests defined for the regimens described are available. The authors of a recent study validating the three different available biomarkers for NSCLC (22C3, SP263 and

SP142), asserted that their study "consolidates the analytical evidence for interchangeability of the 22C3, 28-8, and SP263 assays and lower sensitivity of the SP142 assay" (45).

To address the feasibility of adopting the regimens mentioned above, the following factors need to be evaluated: the existing and required workforce and their expertise; capacity-building standards; governance for access to the medicines' chain; and the financial aspects of offering timely, high-quality, accurate and reliable pathology diagnosis and treatment without catastrophic or excessive expenditure for the patient or health system.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the treatment of lung cancer to be complex and recognized the need to provide the best available care within the context of both non-small-cell lung cancers (NSCLC) and small-cell lung cancers. Over the past decade, the treatment regimen for advanced NSCLC has progressed favourably with new treatment regimens involving targeted therapy based on the molecular and biological characteristics of the cancer. For NSCLC with mutation in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), the Committee recalled the recommendations made in 2019 to include erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib as therapeutic alternatives for this indication. These medicines are associated with improved quality of life, and prolonged overall survival compared with cytotoxic chemotherapy, in patients with the EGFR driver mutation.

The Committee noted that more than 80% of lung cancers are classified as non-small-cell and 15–25% of those cancers have programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) proteins on the surface of their cells. The Committee acknowledged that immune checkpoint inhibitors – PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors – have substantially improved outcomes of NSCLC treatment. Clinical trials with these agents have shown rapid and durable responses in about one fifth of pretreated patients with advanced NSCLC. Even though progression-free survival figures are not impressive, survival outcomes are remarkable. Immune checkpoint inhibitors are associated with a relevant survival benefit well over the established EML threshold for survival (i.e. 4 to 6 months) as first-line treatment in several single studies. The benefit from the checkpoint inhibitors was mostly restricted to patients with PD-L1-positive tumours. Addition of immune checkpoint inhibitors to conventional chemotherapy was associated with a modest increase in toxicity, which may require highly specialized management in selected cases.

The Committee noted that even though procurement agencies in some countries have commercial arrangements to obtain a discount on the dose price of PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors, the overall price remains very high. The size of the discount varies and is not disclosed publicly in many settings. In best scenarios, the price is around US\$ 45 000 per year of treatment, a price that exceeds the median annual household income of even the richest countries and is largely unaffordable in most settings. The high prices, coupled with the significant disease burden and the likely large eligible patient population, will have unsustainable financial implications for many patients and health systems.

The costs associated with treatment are complicated by variable and the less remarkable response rate for NSCLC with PD-L1 expression less than 50% as compared with NSCLC with PD-L1 expression greater than 50%, and the uncertainties about the optimal duration of treatment. Some health care systems are adopting a 2-year stopping rule for checkpoint inhibitors. This rule assumes that, if the disease has not worsened, this treatment will provide a lasting, lifetime survival benefit. The Committee noted that the duration of any continued treatment effect is unknown, and it is possible that life-time survival benefit can be equally obtained with shorter duration of treatment. There might be resistance from physicians and patients benefiting from treatment to stopping the treatment, which could expose health care systems and/or patients to a substantial economic burden that could severely damage national and/or family budgets. As part of a broader strategy to make these highly priced medicines more accessible and affordable, the Committee would value strategic trials to determine the optimal length of treatment required for these patients or to identify subgroups in whom treatment can be safely shortened.

The Committee considered that the use of PD1 and PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors in settings where non-squamous NSCLC is often diagnosed late and there is an underutilization of pretreatment testing to measure PD-L1 expression for predicting a response to immunotherapies might be associated with unintended and harmful consequences.

Overall, the Committee considered that the PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors to have a favourable benefit-to-harm ratio in treatment of NSCLC, but recommended that they should not be added to the EML at this time due the prohibitively high price of these medicines.

The Committee noted that several monoclonal antibodies directed at the PD-1 receptor (e.g. nivolumab, pembrolizumab and pidilizumab) or its ligand PD-L1 (e.g. atezolizumab, durvalumab and avelumab) are used in clinical practice, and others are in different stages of clinical development. The Committee recognized the important role of immune checkpoint inhibitors as a therapeutic class in the treatment of NSCLC. It advised that it would welcome a comprehensive review of all available immune checkpoint inhibitors used in the treatment of NSCLC, providing data on duration of therapy, for consideration by the Expert Committee in 2023. The Committee noted that data on the optimal duration of treatment are likely to consolidate over the next 2 years. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

The Committee also considered that immune checkpoint inhibitors could be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as candidates for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that negotiating such licences can take some time. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this class of medicines in low- and middle-income countries. In addition, the Committee noted that WHO prequalification processes for monoclonal antibodies for cancer has resulted in prequalification of two molecules – rituximab and trastuzumab. The Committee considered that immune checkpoint inhibitors would also be candidates for WHO prequalification, to facilitate access to affordable and quality-assured products. The Committee considered that WHO prequalification and voluntary licence agreements are key actions that could facilitate the current regulatory pathways for approval of daratumumab, either originator or biosimilar, at the country level.

The Committee also recommended that the high price of PD1 and PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors could be a priority for the proposed EML Working Group addressing pricing and competition issues.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 9 June 2021).
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- Walters S, Maringe C, Coleman MP, Peake MD, Butler J, Young N, et al. Lung cancer survival and stage at diagnosis in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Norway, Sweden and the UK: a populationbased study, 2004–2007. Thorax. 2013;68(6):551–64.
- Gaafar R. SC17.05 Lung cancer in Africa: challenges and perspectives. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12(1):S115–S6.
- 5. Parikh PM, Ranade AA, Govind B, Ghadyalpatil N, Singh R, Bharath R, et al. Lung cancer in India: current status and promising strategies. South Asian J Cancer. 2016;5(3):93–5.
- 6. Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83(5):584–94.
- Haslam A, Prasad V. Estimation of the percentage of US patients with cancer who are eligible for and respond to checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy drugs. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(5):e192535.
- 8. Park Y-J, Kuen D-S, Chung Y. Future prospects of immune checkpoint blockade in cancer: from response prediction to overcoming resistance. Exp Mol Med. 2018;50(8):109.
- 9. Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fulop A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(19):1823–33.

 Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Updated analysis of KEYNOTE-024: pembrolizumab versus platinum-based chemotherapy for advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 tumor proportion score of 50% or greater. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(7):537–46.

- Brahmer JR, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. LBA51 KEYNOTE-024 5-year OS update: first-line (1L) pembrolizumab (pembro) vs platinum-based chemotherapy (chemo) in patients (pts) with metastatic NSCLC and PD-L1 tumour proportion score (TPS) ≥50%. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:S1181–S2.
- 12. Brahmer JR, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Health-related qualityof-life results for pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy in advanced, PD-L1-positive NSCLC (KEYNOTE-024): a multicentre, international, randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(12):1600–9.
- 13. Socinski MA, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, Orlandi F, Stroyakovskiy D, Nogami N, et al. Atezolizumab for first-line treatment of metastatic nonsquamous NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(24):2288–301.
- 14. de Marinis F, Giaccone G, Herbst RS, Oprean C-M, Szczesna A, Boukovinas I, et al. Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) in the randomized, phase III IMpower110 study of atezolizumab (atezo) vs chemotherapy in 1L metastatic NSCLC. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(15 Suppl):9594.
- 15. Carbone DP, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, Creelan B, Horn L, Steins M, et al. First-line nivolumab in stage IV or recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(25):2415–26.
- 16. Gandhi L, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Gadgeel S, Esteban E, Felip E, De Angelis F, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy in metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(22):2078–92.
- 17. Gadgeel S, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Speranza G, Esteban E, Felip E, Dómine M, et al. Updated analysis from KEYNOTE-189: pembrolizumab or placebo plus pemetrexed and platinum for previously untreated metastatic nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(14):1505–17.
- 18. Paz-Ares L, Luft A, Vicente D, Tafreshi A, Gümüş M, Mazières J, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy for squamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(21):2040–51.
- 19. Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, Hui R, et al. Durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(20):1919–29.
- Gray JE, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, Hui R, et al. Three-year overall survival with durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III NSCLC-update from PACIFIC. J Thorac Oncol. 2020;15(2):288–93.
- Paz-Ares L, Spira A, Raben D, Planchard D, Cho BC, Özgüroğlu M, et al. Outcomes with durvalumab by tumour PD-L1 expression in unresectable, stage III non-small-cell lung cancer in the PACIFIC trial. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(6):798–806.
- 22. Faivre-Finn C, Vicente D, Kurata T, Planchard D, Paz-Ares L, Vansteenkiste JF, et al. LBA49 durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III NSCLC: 4-year survival update from the phaseIII PACIFIC trial. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:S1178–S9.
- 23. Fossella FV. Docetaxel in second-line treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer. 2002;3(Suppl 2):S23–8.
- Fossella FV, DeVore R, Kerr RN, Crawford J, Natale RR, Dunphy F, et al. Randomized phase III trial of docetaxel versus vinorelbine or ifosfamide in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer previously treated with platinum-containing chemotherapy regimens. The TAX 320 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(12):2354–62.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 25. Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim DW, Felip E, Pérez-Gracia JL, Han JY, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10027):1540–50.
- 26. Herbst RS, Garon EB, Kim DW, Cho BC, Perez-Gracia JL, Han JY, et al. Long-term outcomes and retreatment among patients with previously treated, programmed death-ligand 1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in the KEYNOTE-010 study. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(14):1580–90.
- 27. Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crinò L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(2):123–35.
- 28. Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready NE, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(17):1627–39.
- 29. Horn L, Spigel DR, Vokes EE, Holgado E, Ready N, Steins M, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in previously treated patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: two-year outcomes from two randomized, open-label, phase III trials (CheckMate 017 and CheckMate 057). J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(35):3924–33.
- Antonia SJ, Borghaei H, Ramalingam SS, Horn L, De Castro Carpeño J, Pluzanski A, et al. Four-year survival with nivolumab in patients with previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(10):1395–408.
- 31. Rittmeyer A, Barlesi F, Waterkamp D, Park K, Ciardiello F, von Pawel J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (OAK): a phase 3, open-label, multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10066):255–65.
- 32. Bordoni R, Ciardiello F, von Pawel J, Cortinovis D, Karagiannis T, Ballinger M, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in OAK: a phase III study of atezolizumab versus docetaxel in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer. 2018;19(5):441–9.e4.
- Jung HA, Noh JM, Sun J-M, Lee S-H, Ahn JS, Ahn M-J, et al. Real world data of durvalumab consolidation after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2020;146:23–9.
- Planchard D, Popat S, Kerr K, Novello S, Smit EF, Faivre-Finn C, et al. Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Lugano: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2020 (https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/lung-andchest-tumours/clinical-practice-living-guidelines-metastatic-non-small-cell-lung-cancer, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 35. Postmus PE, Kerr KM, Oudkerk M, Senan S, Waller DA, Vansteenkiste J, et al. Early and locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up (https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/lung-and-chest-tumours/early-stage-and-locally-advanced-non-metastatic-non-small-cell-lung-cancer/eupdate-early-and-locally-advanced-non-small-cell-lung-cancer-nsclc-treatment-recommendations, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 36. Huang M, Lou Y, Pellissier J, Burke T, Liu FX, Xu R, et al. Cost effectiveness of pembrolizumab vs. standard-of-care chemotherapy as first-line treatment for metastatic NSCLC that expresses high levels of PD-L1 in the United States. Pharmacoeconomics. 2017;35(8):831–44.
- 37. Pembrolizumab with pemetrexed and platinum chemotherapy for untreated, metastatic, nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. Technology appraisal guidance [TA557]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2019 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta557, accessed 9 June 2021)

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

374

- Pembrolizumab with pemetrexed and platinum chemotherapy for untreated, metastatic, nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. Technology appraisal guidance [TA683]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2021 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta683, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 39. Pembrolizumab with carboplatin and paclitaxel for untreated metastatic squamous non-smallcell lung cancer. Technology appraisal guidance [TA600]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2019 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/TA600, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 40. Criss SD, Mooradian MJ, Sheehan DF, Zubiri L, Lumish MA, Gainor JF, et al. Cost–effectiveness and budgetary consequence analysis of durvalumab consolidation therapy vs no consolidation therapy after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small cell lung cancer in the context of the US health care system. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(3):358–65.
- 41. Panje CM, Lupatsch JE, Barbier M, Pardo E, Lorez M, Dedes KJ, et al. A cost–effectiveness analysis of consolidation immunotherapy with durvalumab in stage III NSCLC responding to definitive radiochemotherapy in Switzerland. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(4):501–6.
- Durvalumab for treating locally advanced unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer after platinumbased chemoradiation. Technology appraisal guidance [TA578]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2021 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta578, accessed 9 June 2021).
- 43. Duan J, Cui L, Zhao X, Bai H, Cai S, Wang G, et al. Use of immunotherapy with programmed cell death 1 vs programmed cell death ligand 1 inhibitors in patients with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2020;6(3):375–84.
- Kim J, Cho J, Lee MH, Lim JH. Relative efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors for advanced NSCLC according to programmed death-ligand-1 expression: a systematic review and network metaanalysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):11738.
- 45. Tsao MS, Kerr KM, Kockx M, Beasley MB, Borczuk AC, Botling J, et al. PD-L1 immunohistochemistry comparability study in real-life clinical samples: results of Blueprint Phase 2 Project. J Thorac Oncol. 2018;13(9):1302–11.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Daratumumab – addition – EML

# Daratumumab

ATC Code: L01FC01

# Proposal

Addition of daratumumab to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of newly diagnosed and relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma in transplant-eligible and transplant-ineligible settings.

# Applicant

Vanessa Piechotta, Caroline Hirsch, Elena Dorando, Marco Kopp, Christof Scheid, Nicole Skoetz; Department of Internal Medicine, University Hospital of Cologne; Cologne, Germany

Cochrane Cancer and Cochrane Haematology

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that while there were some data to support daratumumab's clinical value, there are insufficient mature overall survival data available to fully justify its inclusion in the EML. Furthermore, the toxicity profile must also be considered.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.3 Immunomodulators

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 100 mg/5 mL, 400 mg/20 mL

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Daratumumab had not previously been considered for inclusion in the EML. Other medicines for the treatment of multiple myeloma were reviewed

by the Expert Committee in 2019. The Committee acknowledged the treatment

376

of multiple myeloma to be complex and recognized the need to provide the best available care within the context of both non-transplant and transplant settings. The Committee recommended the addition of bortezomib, lenalidomide and thalidomide to the complementary list of the EML for treatment of multiple myeloma in both non-transplant and transplant eligible/available settings based on good evidence showing large improvements in survival outcomes with acceptable safety for patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma.

Concerning treatment of multiple myeloma in transplant-eligible populations, the Committee noted the additional evidence presented supporting standard regimens used in the induction phase before autologous stem cell transplantation, which involved three-drug combinations: VTD (bortezomib, thalidomide. dexamethasone), VCD (bortezomib, cyclophosphamide, dexamethasone), PAD (bortezomib, doxorubicin, dexamethasone) and RVD (lenalidomide, bortezomib, dexamethasone). The Committee also noted the benefit of lenalidomide maintenance therapy following autologous stem cell transplantation. In the non-transplant setting, the Committee acknowledged that the proposed medicines are administered as part of treatment regimens including companion cytotoxic agents and/or steroids (melphalan, cyclophosphamide, prednisone and dexamethasone). Accordingly, the Committee recommended the addition of melphalan to the complementary list of the EML for treatment of multiple myeloma, and that the current listings for cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, prednisone and dexamethasone be extended to include multiple myeloma as an indication (1).

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Multiple myeloma is the second most common haematological cancer with an estimated 176 404 cases and 117 077 deaths worldwide in 2020. In 2020, the age-standardized incidence and mortality rates were 1.9 per 100 000 population and 1.1 per 100 000 population, respectively (2). Between 1990 and 2016, the incidence increased by 126% worldwide, with the largest increase observed in low- and middle-income countries. Incidence is strongly associated with age (3, 4).

In high-income countries, autologous stem cell transplantation is routinely used for younger patients with a good general state of health. However, autologous stem cell transplantation is not available in many low- and middleincome countries (3). Lack of access to general and specialized health care has led to wide disparities in survival rates between high- and low/middle-income countries. In the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, 52.3% of patients diagnosed with multiple myeloma are predicted to survive at least 5 years and 29.1% at least 10 years (4). In comparison, a 5-year survival rate of only 7.6% was reported in Nigeria in a multicentre retrospective study from The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

2003 to 2012 (5), and of 15.5% in Ghana in a single-centre retrospective study from 2002 to 2016 (6).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Transplant-ineligible newly diagnosed multiple myeloma

A Cochrane systematic review (in development) evaluated the efficacy and safety of daratumumab in addition to antineoplastic therapy compared with antineoplastic therapy alone in adults with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma who were ineligible for transplant (7). The review included two randomized controlled trials (ALCYONE (8) and MAIA (9), 1443 participants). The overall risk of bias was judged to be high for survival outcomes and quality of life. Median survival was not reached in either group in both studies.

The systematic review found moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab probably increases overall survival compared with treatment without daratumumab (hazard ratio (HR) 0.67, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.5 to 0.85). The magnitude of clinical benefit could not be graded for survival because median survival had not yet been reached in either trial.

There was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab probably increases progression-free survival compared with treatment without daratumumab (HR 0.48, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.63). The magnitude of clinical benefit was graded as 4 out of 4 (progression-free survival benefit compared to comparator HR < 0.65 and estimated progression-free survival gain > 3 months), using the European Society for Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1.

Quality of life was assessed in both trials using the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30) on a scale of 0 to 100. An increase or decrease from baseline of at least 10 points of global health status was classified as clinically relevant. An increase of at least 10 points was reported for 59.7% of patients in the daratumumab groups and 53.1% of patients in the control groups. Moderate-certainty evidence suggests that more people receiving daratumumab probably gain at least 10 points of global health status after start of treatment compared with people receiving no daratumumab (risk ratio (RR) 1.13, 95% CI 1.13 to 1.23). A decrease of at least 10 points was reported for 38.4% of patients in the daratumumab groups and 37.9% of patients in the control groups. Moderate-certainty evidence suggests that impairment of at least 10 points of global health status at 9 months after start of treatment is probably similar for patients in both groups (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.89 to 1.16).

#### Transplant-eligible newly diagnosed multiple myeloma

Two randomized controlled trials (1744 participants) compared daratumumab with active controls in transplant-eligible participants with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma – CASSIOPEIA (10) and GRIFFIN (11).

The CASSIOPEIA study reported overall survival after median followup of 18.8 months for 1085 participants. Fourteen participants (2.6%) in the daratumumab group and 32 participants (5.9%) in the control group had died. Median survival was not reached in either group. There is low-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab may increase overall survival compared with control (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.33 to 0.82). The magnitude of clinical benefit could not be graded for overall survival because median survival had not yet been reached in either trial.

Median progression-free survival was not reached in either group of both studies (1292 participants). In the CASSIOPEIA trial, at data cut off in May 2019, 79 events (14.5%) of disease progression occurred in the daratumumab group compared with 136 events (25.1%) in the control group. In the GRIFFIN trial, at median follow-up of 22.1 months, four (3.8%) and seven (6.8%) diseaseprogression events had occurred in the daratumumab and control groups, respectively. There was very-low-certainty evidence that daratumumab treatment may increase progression-free survival compared with control treatment (HR 0.49, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.68). The magnitude of clinical benefit could not be graded for progression-free survival because median progression-free survival was not yet reached in either trial.

Quality of life was assessed in the CASSIOPEIA trial after up to 9 months of treatment using the EORTC QLQ-C30. An increase in the global health status from baseline by at least 10 points was reported for 38.1% of participants in the daratumumab group and 35.8% in the control group. There was low-certainty evidence that more people receiving daratumumab treatment may gain at least 10 points of global health status compared with those on control treatment (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.91 to 1.24). A decrease of at least 10 points was reported for 22.1% of participants in the daratumumab group and 25.6% of participants in the control group. There was low-certainty evidence that fewer participants in the control group. There was low-certainty evidence that fewer participants receiving daratumumab compared with control may have a decline of at least 10 points of global health status (RR 0.86, 95% CI 0.70 to 1.07).

#### Relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma

Results from four randomized controlled trials (CANDOR (12), CASTOR (13), LEPUS (14) and POLLUX (15); 1308 participants) comparing daratumumab with active controls in participants with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma were included in a rapid evidence synthesis.

The four studies reported overall survival for 1717 participants. Median survival was not reached in either group of the four studies. In the CANDOR

trial, 59 participants (19%) died in the daratumumab group and 36 (23%) in the control group at data cut-off in July 2019. In the CASTOR trial, 102 (42.5%) deaths in the daratumumab group and 119 (50.9%) deaths in the control group occurred at the time of analysis in October 2018. The LEPUS trial reported 13 (9%) deaths in the daratumumab group and 18 (26%) deaths in the control group after a median follow-up of 8.2 months (range 0 to 20.5 months). In the POLLUX trial, 104 (37.0%) deaths had occurred in the daratumumab group and 121 (43.8%) deaths in the control group, at a median observation time of 17.3 months (95% CI 17.0 to 17.8) in both groups. There was moderate-certainty evidence that daratumumab treatment probably increases overall survival compared with control treatment (HR 0.62, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.79). The magnitude of clinical benefit could not be graded for overall survival because median survival had not yet been reached in any of the trials.

The four studies reported progression-free survival for 1744 participants. In the CANDOR trial, median progression-free survival was not reached in the daratumumab group and was 15.8 months (95% CI 12.10 months to not estimable) in the control group. After a median follow-up time for progressionfree survival of 16.9 months in the daratumumab group and 16.3 months in the control group, 110 (35%) participants had progressed or died in the daratumumab group versus 68 (44%) participants in the control group. In the CASTOR trial, median progression-free survival was 18.0 months in the daratumumab group and 7.3 months in the control group. The number of participants surviving without progression was not reported after a median follow-up of 42.0 months. In the LEPUS trial, median progression-free survival was not reached in either group. The number of participants surviving without progression was not reported after a median follow-up of 8.2 months in the daratumumab group and 6.3 months in the control group. In the POLLUX trial, median progression-free survival was reached after 44.5 months in the daratumumab group and after 17.5 months in the control group. The number of participants surviving without progression was not reported at a median follow-up of 44.3 months.

There was low-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab may increase progression-free survival compared with control (HR 0.40, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.56). The magnitude of clinical benefit was graded as 3 out of 4 (progression-free survival benefit compared with comparator HR < 0.65 and estimated progression-free survival gain > 3 months).

Quality of life was assessed in two trials (CASTOR, POLLUX; 1067 participants) with the EORTC QLQ-C30. An increase in the global health status from baseline by at least 10 points was reported for 47.7% of participants in the daratumumab groups and 44.5% of participants in the control groups. There was low-certainty evidence that more participants receiving daratumumab may gain at least 10 points of global health status at 9 months after start of treatment

compared with participants receiving control treatment (RR 1.07, 95% CI 1.07 to 1.22). A decrease of at least 10 points was reported for 51.4% of participants in the daratumumab groups and 52.3% of participants in the control groups. Low-certainty evidence suggests that impairment of at least 10 points of global health status at 9 months after start of treatment is probably similar for participants in both groups (RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.88 to 1.10).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

#### Transplant-ineligible newly diagnosed multiple myeloma

The ALCYONE and MAIA trials reported adverse events for 1429 participants (8,9).

Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events grade  $\geq$  3 adverse events were seen in 86% of participants in the daratumumab groups and in 82% of participants in the control groups. There was high-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab results in a slight increase in adverse events of grade  $\geq$  3 compared with controls (RR 1.05, 95% CI 1.0 to 1.11). Serious adverse events were observed in 56% of participants in the daratumumab groups and in 51% of participants in the control groups. There was very-lowcertainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab may increase serious adverse events compared with control treatment (RR 1.14, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.51). Both studies also reported on infections and parasitic diseases. These were observed in 30% of participants in the daratumumab groups and in 21% of participants in the control groups. There was high-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab increases infections and parasitic diseases compared with controls (RR 1.42, 95% CI 1.19 to 1.70). In addition, pneumonia was observed in 14% and 7% of participants in the daratumumab and control groups, respectively. There was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab probably increases pneumonia compared with control (RR 2.16, 95% CI 1.15 to 4.06).

# Transplant-eligible newly diagnosed multiple myeloma

The CASSIOPEIA trial reported adverse events of grade  $\geq$  3 for 1429 participants (10).

Grade  $\geq$  3 adverse events were observed in 81% of participants in the daratumumab group and in 76% of participants in the control group. There was high-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab results in a slight increase in adverse events of grade  $\geq$  3 compared with controls (RR 1.06, 95% CI 1.0 to 1.13).

Both the CASSIOPEIA and GRIFFIN trials reported serious adverse events, infections and parasitic diseases and pneumonia for 1275 participants (10, 11). Serious adverse events were observed in 46% of participants in the

daratumumab groups and in 48% of participants in the control groups. There was low-certainty evidence that participants treated with daratumumab may experience fewer serious adverse events compared with participants on control treatment (RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.73 to 1.14). Infections and parasitic diseases were observed in 22% of participants in the daratumumab groups and in 20% of participants in the control groups. There was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab probably increases infections and parasitic diseases compared with controls (RR 1.12, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.39). In addition, pneumonia was observed in about 4% of participants in both treatment groups. There was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab may result in little to no difference in pneumonia compared with control treatment (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.60 to 1.84).

#### Relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma

The CASTOR and POLLUX studies reported adverse events of grade  $\geq 3$  for 1429 participants (13, 15). Grade  $\geq 3$  adverse events were observed in 81% of participants in the daratumumab groups and 70% of participants in the control groups. There was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab results in a slight increase in adverse events of grade  $\geq 3$  compared with control treatment (RR 1.17, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.31).

The CANDOR, CASTOR, LEPUS and POLLUX studies reported serious adverse events for 1713 participants (12–15). Serious adverse events were observed in 49% of participants in the daratumumab groups and in 40% of participants in the control groups. There was moderate-certainty evidence that daratumumab may increase serious adverse events compared with control (RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.09 to 1.35).

Data on infections were reported heterogeneously across the trials and were not pooled. The CANDOR and POLLUX trials reported on upper respiratory tract infections. In the CANDOR trial, events for grade 3 and 4 adverse events were reported separately. In the daratumumab group, seven (2%) grade 3 adverse events and one (< 1%) grade 4 upper respiratory tract infections occurred compared with two grade 3 (1%) and no grade 4 events in the control group. In the POLLUX trial, three grade 3 or 4 (1%) upper respiratory tract infections occurred in the daratumumab and in the control group. Grade 3 or 4 treatment emergent events of upper respiratory tract infections were reported in the CASTOR trial (six (3%) in the daratumumab group versus one (0.4%) in the control group) and in the LEPUS trial (20 (14%) in the daratumumab group versus three (4%) in the control group).

The CASTOR and POLLUX studies reported data on pneumonia for 1044 participants. Pneumonia was observed in 13% of participants in the daratumumab groups and 10% of participants in the control groups. There

was low-certainty evidence that treatment with daratumumab may increase pneumonia compared with controls (RR 1.28, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.90).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of multiple myeloma are not available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application presented the findings of a scoping review that identified two cost analyses (16, 17), two health technology assessments (18, 19) and four cost-effectiveness studies (20-23) of daratumumab as monotherapy or in combination with bortezomib or lenalidomide and dexamethasone in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Characteristics of the included studies and health technology assessments varied widely, especially regarding patient population (prior lines of therapy ranged from one to a median of five) and time horizon (3 years to life-time horizon).

Cost analyses reported average costs per patient per year in excess of US\$ 165 000, with drug acquisitions costs the main driver. Cost–effectiveness analyses reported incremental cost–effectiveness ratios versus different comparators ranging from US\$ 30 000 to over US\$ 1 million per quality adjusted life year.

# Availability

Daratumumab has regulatory approval in many countries including Australia, Canada, Europe, Japan and the United States for use as monotherapy, or in combination with other medicines, for treatment of newly diagnosed or relapsed/ refractory multiple myeloma. It has primary patent protection until 2036.

# Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of daratumumab on the EML for treatment of multiple myeloma at this time. The Working Group considered that use of daratumumab would be of greatest value for treatment of patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma who are not eligible for transplant. However, the Working Group noted that mature, long-term overall survival data for daratumumab are not yet available in any of the three treatment settings proposed. The Working Group also noted the increased toxicity and high costs associated with daratumumab treatment and toxicity management.

The Committee noted the report of the Medicines Patent Pool that highlighted how the times from starting negotiations to close of agreement

for voluntary licences and from licence to access can be long. Typically, it has taken generic manufacturers 3 to 4 years to develop a generic version of a new medicine and obtain approval from a regulatory authority or from WHO Prequalification. This time can be even longer for biological medicines, which require more lengthy and costly development and manufacturing processes. In addition, patents on the active ingredient, the formulations, the manufacturing processes and trade secrets are particularly important with biotherapeutic medicines. With few exceptions, the current regulatory pathways for approval of biosimilars by regulatory agencies are longer and considerably more costly than those for small molecule generics.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that daratumumab was associated with a clinically important survival benefit for patients with multiple myeloma, based on the results reported in the Cochrane systematic review presented in the application. Furthermore, the Committee noted that benefits of daratumumab are observed consistently across all patient subgroups – transplant-eligible newly diagnosed, transplant-ineligible newly diagnose, and relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. The Committee also noted that the addition of daratumumab to conventional therapy was associated with a modest increase in toxicity.

However, the Committee expressed reservations about the maturity of data on overall survival as the follow-up of the main studies is still ongoing. For most trials, follow-up was less than 3 years. The Committee considered that longer follow-up is required to determine the actual magnitude of benefit and its durability. The Committee considered that understanding the full magnitude of benefit (and harms) is required for new cancer medicines in order for recommendations to be made for inclusion of cancer medicines on the Model List, especially in situations where the price is extremely high, where cure is unlikely and where existing alternatives are listed, as is the case for daratumumab.

The Committee noted that daratumumab is prohibitively expensive and has not been found to be cost-effective, even in high-income countries. The Committee expressed concern about the potential effect of this medicine on budgets, which would be used as part of regimens that include other expensive essential medicines recommended in 2019, namely bortezomib and lenalidomide. The Committee considered that it would be helpful to collect information on access to and availability of bortezomib and lenalidomide for multiple myeloma to explore the effect of EML-listing on access to these cancer regimens in countries with different resources and health system capacity.

While acknowledging the quality of the application in presenting evidence that demonstrates a major clinical benefit from daratumumab, the

Committee nevertheless did not recommend inclusion of daratumumab on the EML at this time because of some uncertainty in the estimates of benefit due to immaturity of the trial data. The Committee requested that an application with updated survival data be submitted for consideration by the Expert Committee in 2023.

Without committing a future Expert Committee to a favourable recommendation to include daratumumab on the EML, the Committee recommended that daratumumab be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as a candidate for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that negotiating such licences can take some time. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this medicine in low- and middle-income countries. In addition, the Committee noted that WHO pregualification processes for monoclonal antibodies for cancer have resulted in pregualification of two molecules - rituximab and trastuzumab. The Committee considered that daratumumab would be a strong candidate for WHO prequalification to facilitate access to affordable and quality-assured products in the event it is listed as an essential medicine. The Committee considered that WHO prequalification and voluntary licence agreements are key actions that could facilitate the current regulatory pathways for approval of daratumumab, either originator or biosimilar, at the country level.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 2 June 2021).
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global cancer observatory: cancer today. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (https://gco.iarc.fr/today, accessed 2 June 2021).
- Cowan AJ, Allen C, Barac A, Basaleem H, Bensenor I, Curado MP, et al. Global burden of multiple myeloma: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(9):1221–7.
- 4. Myeloma statistics [internet]. London: Cancer Research UK (https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/ health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/myeloma, accessed 2 June 2021).
- 5. Nwabuko OC, Igbigbi EE, Chukwuonye, II, Nnoli MA. Multiple myeloma in Niger Delta, Nigeria: complications and the outcome of palliative interventions. Cancer Manag Res. 2017;9:189–96.
- 6. Acquah ME, Hsing AW, mcguire V, Wang S, Birmann B, Dei-Adomakoh Y. Presentation and survival of multiple myeloma patients in Ghana: a review of 169 cases. Ghana Med J. 2019;53(1):52–8.
- Langer P, Monsef I, Scheid C, Skoetz N. Daratumumab and antineoplastic therapy versus antineoplastic therapy only for people with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma ineligible for transplant. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2020(4).

 Mateos MV, Cavo M, Blade J, Dimopoulos MA, Suzuki K, Jakubowiak A, et al. Overall survival with daratumumab, bortezomib, melphalan, and prednisone in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma (ALCYONE): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10218):132–41.

- 9. Facon T, Kumar S, Plesner T, Orlowski RZ, Moreau P, Bahlis N, et al. Daratumumab plus lenalidomide and dexamethasone for untreated myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(22):2104–15.
- Moreau P, Attal M, Hulin C, Arnulf B, Belhadj K, Benboubker L, et al. Bortezomib, thalidomide, and dexamethasone with or without daratumumab before and after autologous stem-cell transplantation for newly diagnosed multiple myeloma (CASSIOPEIA): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2019;394(10192):29–38.
- 11. Voorhees PM, Kaufman JL, Laubach J, Sborov DW, Reeves B, Rodriguez C, et al. Daratumumab, lenalidomide, bortezomib, and dexamethasone for transplant-eligible newly diagnosed multiple myeloma: the GRIFFIN trial. Blood. 2020;136(8):936–45.
- Dimopoulos M, Quach H, Mateos MV, Landgren O, Leleu X, Siegel D, et al. Carfilzomib, dexamethasone, and daratumumab versus carfilzomib and dexamethasone for patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma (CANDOR): results from a randomised, multicentre, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2020;396(10245):186–97.
- 13. Mateos MV, Sonneveld P, Hungria V, Nooka AK, Estell JA, Barreto W, et al. Daratumumab, bortezomib, and dexamethasone versus bortezomib and dexamethasone in patients with previously treated multiple myeloma: three-year follow-up of CASTOR. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2020;20(8):509–18.
- 14. Huang X, Lu J, Fu W, Li W, Hu J, An G, et al. Phase 3 study of daratumumab/bortezomib/ dexamethasone (D-Vd) versus bortezomib/ dexamethasone (VD) in Chinese patients (pts) with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma (RRMM): MMY3009 (LEPUS). Hemasphere. 2020;4 (Suppl 1):451–2.
- 15. Bahlis NJ, Dimopoulos MA, White DJ, Benboubker L, Cook G, Leiba M, et al. Daratumumab plus lenalidomide and dexamethasone in relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma: extended follow-up of POLLUX, a randomized, open-label, phase 3 study. Leukemia. 2020;34(7):1875–84.
- 16. Ailawadhi S, dersarkissian M, Duh MS, Lafeuille MH, Posner G, Ralston S, et al. Cost offsets in the treatment journeys of patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Clin Ther. 2019;41(3):477–93.e7.
- 17. Hollmann S, Moldaver D, Goyert N, Grima D, Maiese EM. A U.S. Cost analysis of triplet regimens for patients with previously treated multiple myeloma. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2019;25(4):449–59.
- Single technology appraisal. Daratumumab monotherapy for treating relapsed and refractory multiple myeloma [ID933] London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2018 (http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta520/documents/committee-papers-2, accessed 2 June 2021).
- Kalita N, Pickett K, Lord J, Frampton G, Yao GL, Picot J. Evidence Review Group Report commissioned by the NIHR HTA Programme on behalf of NICE. Daratumumab (with bortezomib and dexamethasone) for treating relapsed, refractory multiple myeloma. London: National Institute for Health Research; 2018 (http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/424711/1/Daratumumab\_with\_ bortezomib\_and\_dexamethasone\_for\_treating\_relapsed\_refractory\_multiple\_myeloma.pdf, accessed 2 June 2021).
- 20. Pelligra CG, Parikh K, Guo S, Chandler C, Mouro J, Abouzaid S, et al. Cost-effectiveness of pomalidomide, carfilzomib, and daratumumab for the treatment of patients with heavily pretreated relapsed-refractory multiple myeloma in the United States. Clin Ther. 2017;39(10):1986–2005.e5.

- 21. Gong CL, Studdert AL, Liedtke M. Daratumumab vs pomalidomide for the treatment of relapsed/ refractory multiple myeloma: a cost–effectiveness analysis. Am J Hematol. 2019;94(3):E68–e70.
- 22. Carlson JJ, Guzauskas GF, Chapman RH, Synnott PG, Liu S, Russo ET, et al. Cost–effectiveness of Drugs to treat relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma in the United States. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2018;24(1):29–38.
- 23. Zhang TT, Wang S, Wan N, Zhang L, Zhang Z, Jiang J. Cost–effectiveness of daratumumabbased triplet therapies in patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. Clin Ther. 2018;40(7):1122–39.

Tislelizumab – addition for Hodgkin lymphoma – EML

## Tislelizumab

ATC Code: L01FF09

## Proposal

Addition of tislelizumab to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma after at least one second-line chemotherapy.

## Applicant

BeiGene Co. Ltd, Beijing, China

## WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases which advised that, in line with the findings from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group, there were insufficient mature data on the efficacy and safety of tislelizumab for it to be included in the EML at this time.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

8.2.3 Immunomodulators

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 100 mg/10 mL

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Tislelizumab has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model List.

Medicines for the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma in both adults and children were comprehensively reviewed by the Expert Committee in 2015 (1). Medicines currently included on the Model Lists as part of treatment protocols for Hodgkin lymphoma are bleomycin, cyclophosphamide, dacarbazine, doxorubicin, etoposide, prednisolone, procarbazine, vinblastine and vincristine.

388

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Hodgkin lymphoma is a lymphoid malignancy of B-cell origin most often affecting young adults between the ages of 20 and 40 years. Classical Hodgkin lymphoma accounts for about 95% of all cases (2). According to GLOBOCAN, the number of new cases of Hodgkin lymphoma worldwide in 2020 was about 83 000, with an estimated 23 000 deaths. The estimated age-standardized incidence and mortality rates worldwide were 0.98 and 0.26 per 100 000 persons, respectively (3).

The prognosis of classical Hodgkin lymphoma is strongly influenced by histological subtype and clinical stage. The lymphocyte-dominated form of the disease has the best prognosis, with a 5-year survival rate of 94%. The lymphocyte-depleted form, however, has a 5-year survival rate of only 27%. With regard to clinical stages, the 5-year survival rate is about 93% for stage I, 86% for stage II, 70% for stage III and 32% for stage IV. Patients with Hodgkin lymphoma have a high cure rate with traditional chemotherapy and radiotherapy. However, about 10–30% of patients have refractory disease following first-line chemotherapy or will experience relapse (4-7). Following autologous stem cell transplantation, patients have a risk of relapse of nearly 50% (8). The prognosis for patients who relapse or progress after autologous stem cell transplantation is extremely poor, with a reported median overall survival of 10.5–27.6 months (9, 10).

Treatment of relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma is complex and rapidly evolving. Hodgkin lymphoma cells (Reed–Sternberg cells) express high levels of PD-L1 and inhibition of PD-1 through immune checkpoint inhibitors is increasingly studied as treatment for Hodgkin lymphoma.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented the results of study BGB-A317-203, an open-label, single-arm, multicentre phase II trial in China that evaluated the efficacy and safety of tislelizumab in 70 participants with relapsed/refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma (*11*).

After median follow-up of 9.8 months, 61 (87.1%) participants achieved an objective response, with 44 (62.9%) participants achieving a complete response and 17 (24.3%) participants achieving a partial response.

Of the 13 participants who had previously undergone autologous stem cell transplantation, 12 (92.3%) achieved an objective response, with nine (69.2%) achieving a complete response. All four participants who had previously received the antibody-drug conjugate brentuximab vedotin achieved a complete response.

Of the 25 participants with primary refractory disease, 20 (80%) achieved an objective response, including 13 (52%) who achieved a complete response. The median time to response was 12 weeks (range 8.9 to 42.1 weeks).

After a median follow-up of 9.6 months, the median progression-free survival had not been reached. At 9 months, the progression-free survival rate

was 74.5% (95% confidence interval (CI) 70.5% to 89.4%). After a median follow-up from the first response of 6.7 months, the median duration of response had not been reached for the 61 participants who achieved a response. One patient had died by the data cut-off date due to disease progression. The 9-month overall survival rate was 98.6%.

Direct comparative data of tislelizumab with other PD-1 monoclonal antibodies or other treatments such as brentuximab vedotin for relapsed/ refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma are lacking. The application presented indirect comparisons of efficacy reported for tislelizumab (11), sintilimab (12), camrelizumab (13), pembrolizumab (14, 15) and nivolumab (16–20). Objective response rates were 87.1% for tislelizumab, 80.4% for sintilimab, 76.0% for camrelizumab, 71.9% for pembrolizumab and 71.2% for nivolumab. The complete response rate for tislelizumab was 62.9%, while for sintilimab, camrelizumab, pembrolizumab and nivolumab they were 33.7%, 28.0%, 27.6% and 21.0%, respectively.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The safety results of trial BGB-A317-203 were presented in the application (*11*). In this study, 65/70 (92.9%) of participants experienced adverse events, most of which were grade 1 or 2. Grade 3 or above adverse events occurred in 15/70 (21.4%) of participants including two participants with grade 4 events (increased serum creatinine phosphokinase and thrombocytopenia). No grade 5 adverse events were reported. The most common adverse events were fever (54.3%), hypothyroidism (32.9%), weight gain (30.0%), upper respiratory infection (30.0%), leukopenia (18.6%), cough (17.1%) and pruritus (17.1%). The most common adverse events of grade 3 and above were upper respiratory tract infection and pneumonia.

Overall, safety information of tislelizumab comes from BGB-A317-203, and two additional single-agent clinical studies of tislelizumab in solid tumours – BGB-A317-001 (*21*) and BGB-A317-102 (*22*) involving 821 participants in total. Across the three trials, the median administration time of tislelizumab was 16 weeks (range 0.6 to 162 weeks). Up to 35.7% of participants received tislelizumab treatment for at least 6 months and 20.0% received tislelizumab treatment for at least 12 months. The incidence of adverse events of all grades was 71.0% among the 821 participants treated with tislelizumab. Adverse events with an incidence greater than or equal to 10% included fatigue, rash, hypothyroidism, increased alanine aminotransferase and increased aspartate aminotransferase.

Since tislelizumab has only completed a single-arm phase II clinical trial and the phase III clinical trial comparing tislelizumab with other products is still in progress, no comparative safety data for tislelizumab versus other PD-1 monoclonal antibodies are available.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma are not available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness analysis data were presented in the application.

Tislelizumab is priced at ¥ 10 688 per 100 mg vial. The administered dose used in the phase II trial was 200 mg every 3 weeks.

The China Primary Health Care Foundation, in conjunction with BeiGene, initiated the Patient assistance programme "Wei Ni, Qian Fang Bai Ji". This programme reduces the cost of first-time medication and the cost for patients who need long-term medication. Patients only need to pay for five cycles of treatment and get 1-year medical treatment. The annual treatment cost for patients for tislelizumab under the patient assistance programme is about ¥ 106 900. The annual treatment cost for other PD-1 antibodies for classical Hodgkin lymphoma in China under the patient assistance programme are reported as ¥ 99 000 for sintilimab and ¥ 119 000 for camrelizumab.

# Availability

Tislelizumab received regulatory approval from the National Medical Products Administration of the People's Republic of China in December 2019 for the treatment of relapsed/refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma after at least one second-line chemotherapy.

Tislelizumab had not been approved for marketing and use by other national regulatory agencies at the time of consideration by the Expert Committee.

# Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML for treatment of relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma at this time, noting that the available data for efficacy and safety are very limited (early phase trials, with small patient numbers and with short follow-up), its high price and unknown cost–effectiveness.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that Hodgkin lymphoma is a serious disease with a high incidence rate and costly treatment and follow-up. The Committee noted that the disease has a relatively high 5-year survival rate with conventional chemotherapy and radiotherapy. However, for patients with

relapsed or refractory disease, the prognosis is poor and effective treatments are limited.

The Committee considered that the application for inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML for Hodgkin lymphoma was premature. The available data for the efficacy and safety of tislelizumab in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma were limited to one phase II single-arm trial, with a small number of patients. Comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments was also lacking. The available data were therefore considered insufficient to evaluate the clinical benefit and safety of tislelizumab as an essential medicine.

The Committee also noted that tislelizumab is currently very expensive, has unknown cost–effectiveness and has very limited global regulatory approval and availability. Therefore, the Committee did not recommend inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML for the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma.

However, the Committee recognized the potentially important role of immune checkpoint inhibitors as a therapeutic class in the treatment of relapsed/ refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. The Committee advised that it would welcome an application with more mature data and including all immune checkpoint inhibitors used in the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma for consideration for EML listing in the future. The Committee also considered that immune checkpoint inhibitors could be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as candidates for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that negotiating such licences can take some time. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this class of medicines in low- and middle-income countries.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 16 March 2021).
- Eichenauer DA, Aleman BMP, André M, Federico M, Hutchings M, Illidge T, et al. Hodgkin lymphoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(Suppl 4):iv19–iv29.
- 3. Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global cancer observatory: cancer today. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer;2020 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today, accessed 16 March 2021).
- 4. Wan W, Tian L, Ke.Xiaoyan. [Research progress of Hodgkin lymphoma.] J Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;23(05):308–11 [In Chinese].
- Chen R, Palmer JM, Martin P, Tsai N, Kim Y, Chen BT, et al. Results of a multicenter phase II trial of brentuximab vedotin as second-line therapy before autologous transplantation in relapsed/ refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;21(12):2136–40.
- 6. Connors JM, Jurczak W, Straus DJ, Ansell SM, Kim WS, Gallamini A, et al. Brentuximab vedotin with chemotherapy for stage III or IV Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(4):331–44.

- 7. Moskowitz AJ, Hamlin PA, Jr., Perales MA, Gerecitano J, Horwitz SM, Matasar MJ, et al. Phase II study of bendamustine in relapsed and refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(4):456–60.
- Gopal AK, Chen R, Smith SE, Ansell SM, Rosenblatt JD, Savage KJ, et al. Durable remissions in a pivotal phase 2 study of brentuximab vedotin in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2015;125(8):1236–43.
- 9. Arai S, Fanale M, DeVos S, Engert A, Illidge T, Borchmann P, et al. Defining a Hodgkin lymphoma population for novel therapeutics after relapse from autologous hematopoietic cell transplant. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54(11):2531–3.
- 10. Crump M. Management of Hodgkin lymphoma in relapse after autologous stem cell transplant. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2008:326–33.
- 11. Song Y, Gao Q, Zhang H, Fan L, Zhou J, Zou D, et al. Treatment of relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma with the anti-PD-1, tislelizumab: results of a phase 2, single-arm, multicenter study. Leukemia. 2020;34(2):533–42.
- 12. Shi Y, Su H, Song Y, Jiang W, Sun X, Qian W, et al. Safety and activity of sintilimab in patients with relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma (ORIENT-1): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Haematol. 2019;6(1):e12–e9.
- Song Y, Wu J, Chen X, Lin T-Y, cao j, Liu Y-Y, et al. A single-arm, multicenter, phase II study of camrelizumab in relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25(24): 7363–9.
- 14. Chen R, Zinzani PL, Fanale MA, Armand P, Johnson NA, Brice P, et al. Phase II study of the efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab for relapsed/refractory classic Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(19):2125–32.
- 15. Zinzani PL, Fanale MA, Chen R, Armand P, Johnson N, Brice P, et al. Pembrolizumab monotherapy in patients with primary refractory classical hodgkin lymphoma: subgroup analysis of the phase 2 KEYNOTE-089 study. Hematol Oncol. 2017;35:136–7.
- Armand P, Engert A, Younes A, Fanale M, Santoro A, Zinzani PL, et al. Nivolumab for relapsed/ refractory classic Hodgkin lymphoma after failure of autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation: extended follow-up of the multicohort single-arm phase II CheckMate 205 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(14):1428–39.
- 17. Younes A, Santoro A, Shipp M, Zinzani PL, Timmerman JM, Ansell S, et al. Nivolumab for classical Hodgkin's lymphoma after failure of both autologous stem-cell transplantation and brentuximab vedotin: a multicentre, multicohort, single-arm phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(9):1283–94.
- Maruyama D, Hatake K, Kinoshita T, Fukuhara N, Choi I, Taniwaki M, et al. Multicenter phase II study of nivolumab in Japanese patients with relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(5):1007–12.
- 19. Herrera AF, Moskowitz AJ, Bartlett NL, Vose JM, Ramchandren R, Feldman TA, et al. Interim results from a phase 1/2 study of brentuximab vedotin in combination with nivolumab in patients with relapsed or refractory hodgkin lymphoma. Hematol Oncol. 2017;35:85–6.
- 20. Herrera AF, Moskowitz AJ, Bartlett NL, Vose JM, Ramchandren R, Feldman TA, et al. Interim results of brentuximab vedotin in combination with nivolumab in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2018;131(11):1183–94.
- Desai J, Deva S, Lee JS, Lin CC, Yen CJ, Chao Y, et al. Phase IA/IB study of single-agent tislelizumab, an investigational anti-PD-1 antibody, in solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1):e000453.
- 22. Shen L, Guo J, Zhang Q, Pan H, Yuan Y, Bai Y, et al. Tislelizumab in Chinese patients with advanced solid tumors: an open-label, non-comparative, phase 1/2 study. Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1):e000437.

Tislelizumab – addition for urothelial cancer – EML

## Tislelizumab

ATC Code: L01FF09

# Proposal

Addition of tislelizumab to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma in patients with high PD-L1 expression who have failed prior platinum-containing chemotherapy (including neoadjuvant or adjuvant chemotherapy) and whose disease has have progressed within 12 months.

# Applicant

BeiGene Co., Ltd, Beijing, China

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases which advised that, in line with the findings from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group, there were insufficient mature data on the efficacy and safety of tislelizumab. The technical department suggested that tislelizumab for this indication could be reconsidered in the future based on additional evidence and increased understanding of the feasibility of its appropriate use in low-resource settings.

## EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.3.3 Immunomodulators

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 100 mg/10 mL

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Tislelizumab has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model List.

394

The Model List does not currently include medicines specifically for the treatment of urothelial carcinoma in any line of therapy.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Urothelial carcinoma refers to tumours in the epithelial structure from the kidney's exit to the urethra. About 90–95% of urothelial carcinoma tumours originate from the bladder, with the remainder from the ureter, renal pelvis and proximal urethra (1). In 2020, bladder cancer ranked as the 11th most common tumour worldwide and 14th for mortality (2). According to GLOBOCAN, there were about 570 000 new cases of bladder cancer in 2020 and an estimated 212 000 deaths. The global age-standardized incidence and mortality rates were 5.6 and 1.9 per 100 000 persons, respectively (2).

The survival rate of bladder cancer patients decreases with disease progression and relapse tends to occur early (3). Patients with distant metastases have a poor prognosis due to the inability to remove the tumour surgically and lack of effective treatments. In these patients the 5-year relative survival rate is about 5% (4).

For the past 30 years, cisplatin-based combination chemotherapy has been the standard treatment for locally advanced/metastatic urothelial carcinoma. Classical therapies include: gemcitabine and cisplatin; methotrexate, vinblastine, doxorubicin and cisplatin; and dose-dense methotrexate, vinblastine, doxorubicin and cisplatin (5,6). The overall response rate to these treatments is about 40-50% and the median overall survival is about 14-15 months. However, about 40-50% of patients with metastatic urothelial carcinoma cannot tolerate cisplatin treatment due to their poor physical condition or impaired renal function. These patients can only use carboplatin-based treatment options, which have an overall response rate of about 30-40% with a median overall survival of 9-10 months (7,8). There is currently no standard second-line treatment for people with locally advanced/metastatic urothelial carcinoma and disease progression after first-line chemotherapy. Paclitaxel, pemetrexed, docetaxel, gemcitabine and doxorubicin are commonly used clinically, but their efficacy is limited with an overall response rate of about 12% and overall survival of 5–7 months (8,9).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented the results of study BGB-A317-204, a singlearm, non-randomized, open-label, multicentre phase II trial conducted in China and South Korea that assessed the efficacy and safety of tislelizumab in 113 participants with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma, who had disease progression with platinum-based chemotherapy and who had not received prior PD-(L)1 inhibitor treatment and who had  $\geq 25\%$  of tumour/immune cells expressing PD-L1 (10). The primary endpoint was the overall response rate assessed by an independent review committee. After median follow-up of 9.4 months, 20 (18%) participants continued to receive tislelizumab, while the remaining 93 (82%) discontinued treatment. Reasons for discontinuation were disease progression (53 participants), adverse events (19 participants), withdrawn consent (11 participants) and symptomatic deterioration (10 participants). Of 104 patients who could be evaluated, a confirmed objective response was observed in 25 (overall response rate (ORR) 24%, 95% confidence interval (CI) 16% to 33%), including 10 patients with complete response and 15 with partial response as assessed by the independent review committee. Median progression-free survival and overall survival were 2.1 months (95% CI 2.0 to 3.2 months) and 9.8 months (95% CI 7.5 to 12.5 months), respectively.

Direct comparative data of tislelizumab with other PD-1 monoclonal antibodies for urothelial carcinoma are lacking. The application presented indirect comparisons of efficacy reported for tislelizumab (10), atezolizumab (11, 12), durvalumab (13), avelumab (14), nivolumab (15) and pembrolizumab (16, 17). Objective response rates (among PD-L1 positive patients, defined differently across the studies) were 24% for tislelizumab, 23–26% for atezolizumab, 28% for durvalumab, 24% for avelumab, 28% for nivolumab and 20–30% for pembrolizumab.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Safety results from study BGB-A317-204 were presented in the application (10). In this study, 106 (94%) participants experienced at least one adverse effect considered to be related to tislelizumab by the investigator. The most common treatment-related adverse events were anaemia (27%) and pyrexia (20%). Most treatment-related adverse events were grade 1–2 in severity. Anaemia (7%) and hyponatraemia (5%) were the only grade 3 or 4 events occurring in  $\geq$  5% of participants. Treatment-related adverse events led to treatment discontinuation in 14% of participants. Serious treatment-related adverse events occurred in 37% of participants, the most common being pyrexia (4%), and upper respiratory tract infection, urinary tract infection and drug eruption (3% each). Among seven participants with a treatment-related adverse event leading to death, three were considered possibly related to the study treatment by the investigators (hepatic failure, two participants; respiratory arrest, one patient).

In the study, 27% of participants experienced immune-related adverse events; events affecting  $\geq$  5% of participants included skin adverse reactions (12%), hypothyroidism (11%) and hyperthyroidism (6%). Eight (7%) participants had immune-related adverse events of grade  $\geq$  3; no fatal immune-related adverse events were reported.

Overall, safety information of tislelizumab comes from two single-agent clinical studies of the use of tislelizumab in solid tumours (18, 19) and a single-agent study of tislelizumab in Hodgkin lymphoma (20), involving a total of 821 participants. The tumour types of the participants included in these studies varied and included 39 participants with urothelial carcinoma. Participants received tislelizumab at a dose of either 200 mg or 5 mg/kg every 3 weeks. The median administration time of tislelizumab was 16 weeks (range 0.6–162 weeks). Tislelizumab treatment continued for at least 6 months in 35.7% of participants, while 20.0% of participants received tislelizumab treatment at least 12 months. The incidence of adverse events of all grades was 71.0% among the 821 participants treated with tislelizumab. Adverse events with an incidence  $\geq$  10% included fatigue, rash, hypothyroidism, increased alanine aminotransferase and increased aspartate aminotransferase.

Since tislelizumab has only completed a single-arm phase II clinical trial, and the phase III clinical trial comparing tislelizumab with other products is still in progress, no comparative safety data with other PD-1 monoclonal antibodies are available.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of urothelial carcinoma are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness analysis data for tislelizumab were presented in the application.

Tislelizumab is priced at ¥ 10 688 per vial. The administered dose used in the phase II trial was 200 mg every 3 weeks.

Vial prices for alternative anti-PD1 monoclonal antibodies presented in the application were US\$ 6495 for nivolumab (240 mg/24 mL), US\$ 3671 for durvalumab (500 mg/10 mL) and US\$ 4800 for pembrolizumab (100 mg/4 mL).

The China Primary Health Care Foundation, in conjunction with BeiGene, initiated the Patient Assistance Programme "Wei Ni, Qian Fang Bai Ji". This programme reduces the cost of first-time medication and the cost for patients who need long-term medication. Patients only need to pay for five cycles of treatment and get 1 year of medical treatment. The minimum annual treatment cost is about 106 900.

## Availability

Tislelizumab received regulatory approval from the National Medical Products Administration of the People's Republic of China in April 2020 for the treatment of patients with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma with high PD-L1 expression, who have failed prior platinum-containing chemotherapy and whose disease has progressed within 12 months.

Tislelizumab was not approved for marketing and use by other national regulatory agencies at the time of EML consideration.

#### Other considerations

Tislelizumab has not yet been scored on the European Society for Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale for this indication (*21*).

The application was reviewed by the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group. The Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML for treatment of urothelial carcinoma at this time, noting that the available data for efficacy and safety are very limited (early phase trials, with small patient numbers and with short follow-up), the cost of tislelizumab is high and its cost-effectiveness is not known for this indication.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee noted that bladder cancer is a common malignancy worldwide and accounts for the vast majority of cases of urothelial carcinoma. The Committee noted that the EML currently includes the medicines in the cisplatin-based chemotherapy protocols that are considered the standard of care for first-line treatment of locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma. However, evidence for their use in the treatment of urothelial cancer has not been specifically reviewed.

The Committee considered that the application for inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML for locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer was premature. The available data for the efficacy and safety of tislelizumab in patients with urothelial carcinoma were limited to one single-arm, non-randomized, open-label phase II study. Comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments was also lacking. The available data were therefore considered insufficient to evaluate the benefits and harms of tislelizumab for listing as an essential medicine.

The Committee also noted that tislelizumab is expensive, its costeffectiveness is not known, and it has very limited global regulatory approval and availability. Therefore, the Committee did not recommend inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML as a second-line treatment for locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma.

However, the Committee recognized the potentially important role of immune checkpoint inhibitors, as a therapeutic class, in the treatment of platinum-refractory urothelial cancer. The Committee advised that it would welcome an application, with more mature data, and including all immune checkpoint inhibitors used in the treatment of urothelial cancer, for consideration for EML listing in the future. The Committee also considered that immune checkpoint inhibitors could be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as candidates for consideration for negotiating public health-oriented licences, noting that negotiating such licences can take some time. The outcome of negotiations might provide important insight for future EML consideration on potential accessibility of this class of medicines in low- and middle-income countries.

#### References

- Warren M, Kolinsky M, Canil CM, Czaykowski P, Sridhar SS, Black PC, et al. Canadian Urological Association/Genitourinary Medical Oncologists of Canada consensus statement: Management of unresectable locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma. Can Urol Assoc J. 2019;13(10):318–27.
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global cancer observatory: cancer today. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2021 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today, accessed 16 April 2021).
- 3. Cancer stat fact sheets: bladder cancer [internet] Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/urinb.html, accessed ).
- 4. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2016 [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2019 (https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2016/, accessed ).
- 5. Chinese guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of urothelial carcinoma of bladder 2018 (English version). Chin J Cancer Res. 2019;31(1):49–66.
- 6. NCCN guidelines. Bladder cancer (version 2.2020) [internet]. Plymouth Meeting, PA: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2020 (https://www.nccn.org, accessed 16 April 2021).
- De Santis M, Bellmunt J, Mead G, Kerst JM, Leahy M, Maroto P, et al. Randomized phase II/III trial assessing gemcitabine/carboplatin and methotrexate/carboplatin/vinblastine in patients with advanced urothelial cancer who are unfit for cisplatin-based chemotherapy: EORTC study 30986. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(2):191–9.
- Kim HS, Seo HK. Immune checkpoint inhibitors for urothelial carcinoma. Investig Clin Urol. 2018;59(5):285–96.
- Galsky MD, Pal SK, Lin SW, Ogale S, Zivkovic M, Simpson J, et al. Real-world effectiveness of chemotherapy in elderly patients with metastatic bladder cancer in the United States. Bladder Cancer. 2018;4(2):227–38.
- 10. Ye D, Liu J, Zhou A, Zou Q, Li H, Fu C, et al. Tislelizumab in Asian patients with previously treated locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma. Cancer Sci. 2021;112(1):305–13.
- 11. Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, van der Heijden MS, Balar AV, Necchi A, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10031):1909–20.
- Powles T, Durán I, van der Heijden MS, Loriot Y, Vogelzang NJ, De Giorgi U, et al. Atezolizumab versus chemotherapy in patients with platinum-treated locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma (IMvigor211): a multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2018;391(10122):748–57.

- 13. Powles T, O'Donnell PH, Massard C, Arkenau HT, Friedlander TW, Hoimes CJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of durvalumab in locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma: updated results from a phase 1/2 open-label study. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(9):e172411.
- 14. Patel MR, Ellerton J, Infante JR, Agrawal M, Gordon M, Aljumaily R, et al. Avelumab in metastatic urothelial carcinoma after platinum failure (JAVELIN Solid Tumor): pooled results from two expansion cohorts of an open-label, phase 1 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(1):51–64.
- 15. Sharma P, Retz M, Siefker-Radtke A, Baron A, Necchi A, Bedke J, et al. Nivolumab in metastatic urothelial carcinoma after platinum therapy (CheckMate 275): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(3):312–22.
- Balar AV, Castellano D, O'Donnell PH, Grivas P, Vuky J, Powles T, et al. First-line pembrolizumab in cisplatin-ineligible patients with locally advanced and unresectable or metastatic urothelial cancer (KEYNOTE-052): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(11): 1483–92.
- 17. Bellmunt J, de Wit R, Vaughn DJ, Fradet Y, Lee JL, Fong L, et al. Pembrolizumab as second-line therapy for advanced urothelial carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(11):1015–26.
- 18. Desai J, Deva S, Lee JS, Lin CC, Yen CJ, Chao Y, et al. Phase IA/IB study of single-agent tislelizumab, an investigational anti-PD-1 antibody, in solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1).
- 19. Shen L, Guo J, Zhang Q, Pan H, Yuan Y, Bai Y, et al. Tislelizumab in Chinese patients with advanced solid tumors: an open-label, non-comparative, phase 1/2 study. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1).
- 20. Song Y, Gao Q, Zhang H, Fan L, Zhou J, Zou D, et al. Treatment of relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma with the anti-PD-1, tislelizumab: results of a phase 2, single-arm, multicenter study. Leukemia. 2020;34(2):533–42.
- 21. ESMO-Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale. The ESMO-MCBS Score Card [internet]. Lugano: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2015 (https://www.esmo.org/score/cards, accessed 16 April 2021).

8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

Enzalutamide – addition – EML

# Enzalutamide

ATC Code: L02BB04

## Proposal

Addition of enzalutamide to the EML for the treatment of metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer.

## Applicant

Knowledge Ecology International (KEI)

## WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Capsule: 40 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

In 2017, the Committee considered an application requesting the inclusion of enzalutamide on the EML for the treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, but did not recommend inclusion. Instead, the Committee recommended a comprehensive review of prostate cancer medicines, including abiraterone, be considered at its meeting in 2019 (1).

In 2019, following consideration of an application proposing the addition of abiraterone and enzalutamide to the EML for treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, the Committee recommended the addition of abiraterone, but not enzalutamide (2). The Committee noted that abiraterone

and enzalutamide had been shown to be effective treatments for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, both in chemotherapy-naïve and pretreated patients. The Committee noted that abiraterone had not shown any relevant clinical advantage over enzalutamide in terms of efficacy outcomes or safety. However, the Committee recognized the potential advantages offered by abiraterone in terms of: emerging dosing strategies (lower doses may be possible when administered with food); reduced pill burden potentially improving adherence; wider availability of generics; and potential associated cost savings.

Given that metastatic prostate cancer often requires treatment over longer periods (i.e. more than 1 year) and that low dosing and availability of generics would be associated with substantial cost savings, the Committee did not to recommend listing enzalutamide as an alternative to abiraterone under a square box listing. While enzalutamide is an effective therapeutic option for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, its use instead of abiraterone could result in considerable additional expenditure at the country level, without additional clinical benefit. The Committee considered that the addition of abiraterone alone to the EML serves to support its use, promoting competition between brand and generic medicines, and improving access and affordability.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Prostate cancer is the second most common cancer in men and the fourth most common cancer overall. In 2018, about 1.3 million men were diagnosed with prostate cancer worldwide (3).

With early treatment, and if tumours are localized, the prognosis for prostate cancer patients is often favourable. However, some patients will relapse despite androgen deprivation therapy (so-called castration), which leads to castration-resistant prostate cancer when the disease is no longer responsive to androgen deprivation therapy, thus limiting the available treatment options. Access to second-generation therapies such as enzalutamide therefore becomes critical to extending patients' lives and allowing them to have an improved quality of life.

Six treatments are currently used to treat castration-resistant prostate cancer. Enzalutamide and abiraterone acetate are the only orally administered therapies. Other treatments are invasive and require intravenous administration, leukapheresis or the use of radiopharmaceuticals.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Enzalutamide in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

The application presented the same data from the AFFIRM and PREVAIL trials that were presented in the 2019 application.

The AFFIRM trial was a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, multicentre trial to study the efficacy and safety of enzalutamide in participants with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer who had previously taken docetaxel (4). A total of 1199 adult males, aged 41 to 92 years, were randomized in a 2:1 ratio, where 800 participants received a dose of 160 mg of enzalutamide once a day, 399 participants received a placebo, and all continued on androgen deprivation therapy. Overall survival was 18.4 months for the enzalutamide arm versus 13.6 months for the placebo arm (hazard ratio (HR) for death 0.63, 95% confidence intervals (CI) 0.53 to 0.75; P < 0.001). Progression-free survival was 8.3 months for enzalutamide versus 2.9 months for placebo (HR 0.40, 95% CI 0.35 to 0.47; P < 0.001).

The PREVAIL trial was a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical trial that investigated enzalutamide as the first-line therapy in 1717 participants with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (5). The study was halted after interim analysis results showed benefit for enzalutamide. Significantly fewer deaths were reported in the enzalutamide arm compared with the placebo arm (28% versus 35%; HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.84; P < 0.001).

# Comparisons of enzalutamide and abiraterone acetate in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

Two separate meta-analyses pooled data from eight randomized trials of novel drugs that target the androgen receptor pathway (enzalutamide, abiraterone and orteronel) in participants with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (6, 7). The meta-analyses included the AFFIRM and PREVAIL trials, and two trials of enzalutamide versus bicalutamide (TERRAIN and STRIVE). Only AFFIRM and PREVAIL reported overall survival. Since the heterogeneity between the clinical trials was high, a random-effects model was used to calculate HRs for overall survival and progression-free survival. Pooled HRs for overall survival were similarly significant for enzalutamide (HR 0.71, 95% credible interval (CrI) 0.54 to 0.89) and abiraterone (HR 0.78, 95% CrI 0.61 to 0.98). Pooled HRs for progression-free survival favoured enzalutamide (HR 0.36, 95% CrI 0.21 to 0.59) over abiraterone (HR 0.59, 95% CrI 0.35 to 1.00) (7).

A retrospective analysis of 2591 and 807 patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer who started treatment with abiraterone and enzalutamide, respectively, concluded that patients on abiraterone acetate therapy had higher medication adherence and lower risk for dose reduction than those on enzalutamide therapy (8). The authors proposed that improved medication adherence may be associated with longer duration of treatment and better survival. A separate analysis of the same patient population compared the duration of treatment in patients started on abiraterone and enzalutamide (9). At 3 months, patients on abiraterone had fewer discontinuations of metastatic

castration-resistant prostate cancer treatments (HR 0.73, 95% CI 0.59 to 0.91; P = 0.004) or of any prostate cancer treatment (HR 0.61, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.83; P = 0.002) compared with patients on enzalutamide. The median duration of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer treatments was 4.1 months longer for patients on abiraterone than those on enzalutamide (18.3 versus 14.2 months; P < 0.001). The authors suggested that patients started on abiraterone acetate, compared with those started on enzalutamide, had a longer combined duration of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer or prostate cancer treatments. Both of these studies were funded by Janssen Scientific Affairs, the manufacturer of abiraterone.

A 2019 phase II, randomized, open-label, crossover trial investigated the optimal sequencing of enzalutamide and abiraterone plus prednisone in participants with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (*10*). Participants were randomized to receive abiraterone acetate 1000 mg orally once daily + prednisone 5 mg orally twice daily until prostate-specific antigen (PSA) progression followed by crossover to enzalutamide 160 mg orally once daily (group A, 101 participants) or the opposite sequence (group B, 101 participants). Enzalutamide showed activity as a second-line novel androgen receptor pathway inhibitor based on time to second PSA progression. In contrast, abiraterone acetate did not. Median time to second PSA progression was longer in group A than group B (19.3 months versus 15.2 months; HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.97; P = 0.036) at a median follow-up of 22.8 months (interquartile range 10.3–33.4). PSA responses to second-line therapy were seen in 36% of participants for enzalutamide and 4% of participants for abiraterone.

The application also presented a summary of evidence for enzalutamide in non-metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer and in hormone-sensitive metastatic prostate cancer.

#### Enzalutamide in non-metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

The PROSPER trial was a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of enzalutamide plus androgen deprivation therapy in 1401 participants with non-metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer and with a rapidly rising PSA level (*11*). Enzalutamide treatment was associated with a 71% lower risk of metastasis or death compared with placebo. The median metastasis-free survival was 36.6 months in the enzalutamide group versus 14.7 months in the placebo group (HR 0.29, 95% CI 0.24 to 0.35; *P* < 0.001). The time to the first use of subsequent antineoplastic therapy was longer with enzalutamide treatment than with placebo (39.6 months versus 17.7 months; HR 0.21, 95% CI 0.17 to 0.26; *P* < 0.001) with subsequent antineoplastic therapy used in 15% of participants in the enzalutamide group and 48% of participants in the placebo group. The final analysis of overall survival in the PROSPER trial (October 2019) showed that treatment with enzalutamide was associated with a 27% lower risk of death than placebo (*12*). Median overall survival was 67 months (95% CI 64.0 months to not reached) in the enzalutamide arm and 56.3 months (95% CI 54.4 to 63.0 months) in the placebo arm (HR 0.73, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.89; P = 0.001).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The different studies that analysed the efficacy of enzalutamide also reported adverse effects associated with it.

In the AFFIRM trial, the incidence of grade 3 or higher adverse events was lower in the enzalutamide arm compared with the placebo arm (45.3% versus 53.1%) (4). Grade 3 or higher fatigue, diarrhoea, musculoskeletal pain, headache and seizures occurred slightly more frequently in participants treated with enzalutamide. Adverse events causing death occurred in 3% and 4% of participants treated with enzalutamide and placebo, respectively.

In the PREVAIL trial, grade 3 or higher adverse events were reported in 43% of participants in the enzalutamide arm compared with 37% of participants in the placebo arm (5). The most commonly reported adverse events occurring at least 2% more frequently in the enzalutamide arm were fatigue, back pain, constipation and arthralgia. The most commonly reported adverse event of grade 3 or higher in the enzalutamide arm was hypertension, which occurred in 7% of participants.

In the PROPSER trial, adverse events of grade 3 or higher occurred in 31% of participants receiving enzalutamide compared with 23% of participants receiving placebo (*11*).

The most common grade 3–4 adverse events reported in the crossover trial (*10*) were hypertension (27% in group A versus 18% in group B) and fatigue (10% in group A versus 4% in group B). Serious adverse events were reported in 15% of participants in group A and 20% of participants in group B. No treatment-related deaths occurred.

The meta-analysis by Kang et al. found that the risk of adverse events did not differ between enzalutamide and control arms (7).

If grade 3 or higher adverse events occur, or if the patient develops toxicity, enzalutamide should be stopped for 1 week or until symptoms subside to grade 2 or less. Of note, enzalutamide strongly interacts with medicines that inhibit CYP2C8; therefore if co-administration cannot be avoided, the dose of enzalutamide should be reduced to 80 mg once daily for as long as the drug continues to be effective and tolerated.

Additional evidence (not in the application)

#### Low-dose abiraterone dosing

A 2018 prospective phase II, randomized, non-inferiority trial investigated the activity of low-dose abiraterone (250 mg/day) administered with a low-fat meal compared with standard dose abiraterone (1000 mg/day) administered under fasting conditions in 72 patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (13). The primary endpoint was log change in PSA, as a pharmacodynamic biomarker for efficacy. Secondary endpoints included progression-free survival, PSA response ( $\geq 50\%$  reduction), change in androgen levels and pharmacokinetics. Low-dose abiraterone was found to be non-inferior to standard-dose abiraterone, according to the predefined non-inferiority criteria. Mean log change in PSA was -1.59 and -1.19 in the low- and standard-dose arms, respectively. PSA response and progression-free survival did not differ between the treatment arms. The decrease in androgen levels was similar in both treatment arms. On the basis of this trial, the lowdose abiraterone with food regimen has been included in the guidelines of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network for prostate cancer as an alternative to the standard-dose treatment regimen (14).

A survey of 118 medical oncologists in India reported that 93.2% of practitioners believed that the use of low-dose abiraterone would improve compliance and 100% agreed that it would reduce costs of treatment (15). Just over half (55%) of respondents were prescribing low-dose abiraterone only in limited-resource settings, 6.8% said they had changed their practice after publication of the above-mentioned trial (13) and 28.8% indicated that they would change to low-dose abiraterone prescribing. Only 9.3% of respondents said they would not use low-dose abiraterone. Cost savings to the Indian health care system of changing to low-dose abiraterone were estimated to be US\$ 182 million a year (15).

#### **WHO** guidelines

Not available

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Many of the cost-benefit studies for enzalutamide have used the price of the originator product. Generic enzalutamide is now also available and as the competition among generic suppliers expands, prices should decline considerably.

The application recommends that WHO consider the cost–effectiveness when the drugs are expensive (from the originator) and when the drugs are less expensive (from generic suppliers), and look at reasonable scenarios for generic prices falling over time. The application describes prices for a 40 mg capsule of enzalutamide in different countries, ranging from as high as US\$ 119.18 in the United States of America to as low US\$ 2.31 from generic manufacturers in India. In 2016, Canada-based Biolyse Pharma offered to sell generic enzalutamide to the US Medicare programme for US\$ 3 for a 40 mg tablet, or US\$ 12 for a daily dose of 160 mg. But generic prices could fall much further, given active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) costs. In previous years, before generics were available, some publicly quoted prices for the API enzalutamide were in the range of US\$ 6000 to US\$ 13 000 per kilogram.

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland published technology appraisal guidance for enzalutamide as a second-line treatment for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer after docetaxel (16). It recommends enzalutamide as an option for treating adult patients with hormone-relapsed metastatic prostate cancer only if their disease has progressed during or after docetaxel-containing chemotherapy, they have not had treatment with abiraterone and the manufacturer provides enzalutamide with the discount agreed in the patient access scheme. NICE also considered that enzalutamide should be compared with abiraterone for patients who had received one course of chemotherapy, and with best supportive care for patients who had received two or more chemotherapy courses. For patients who had received one course of chemotherapy, the NICE Appraisal Committee noted that the analysis reflecting its preferred assumptions, but not the actual patient access scheme discount for abiraterone, gave an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of £ 22 600 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained for enzalutamide compared with abiraterone. The Committee accepted that this ICER was associated with uncertainty, but it was satisfied that it would remain lower than £ 30 000 per QALY gained on balance. For patients who had received two or more chemotherapy courses, the Committee noted that the ICER estimated by the manufacturer for enzalutamide compared with best supportive care was £ 45 500 per QALY gained and that the ICER estimated by the Evidence Review Group was £ 48 000 per QALY gained. The Committee agreed that enzalutamide would be considered an end-of-life treatment as defined by NICE for this subgroup. The magnitude of the additional weight that would need to be assigned to the QALY benefits would justify enzalutamide being recommended as a cost-effective use of National Health Service resources. The Committee did not see sufficient evidence to make any recommendations on the clinical- and cost-effectiveness of sequential use of enzalutamide and abiraterone.

As in the 2019 application, a summary of numerous studies that investigated the cost-effectiveness of enzalutamide in various settings was presented.

The application anticipates that API costs for enzalutamide will decline over time to between US\$ 300 and US\$ 900 per kilogram, resulting in daily treatment costs as low as US\$ 0.048 to US\$ 0.144.

#### Availability

Originator brand enzalutamide, manufactured by Astellas Pharma, has worldwide regulatory approval. One generic version is available in India.

#### Other considerations

Based on the results of the AFFIRM study (4), enzalutamide received a score of 4 on the European Society of Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 for use as a second-line treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer after docetaxel (17).

Based on the results of the PREVAIL study (5, 18), enzalutamide received a score of 3 on the ESMO-MCBS v1.1 for use as a first-line treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (17).

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group noted that enzalutamide met the criteria for survival benefit and ESMO-MCBS score to be considered for inclusion in the EML and appeared to demonstrate comparable efficacy and safety to abiraterone, which is currently included on the EML. However, no direct trial data are available.

Consideration was given to what the added benefit of including enzalutamide on the EML might be, in the absence of any clinical advantage over abiraterone. There is currently no evidence that having both agents available would result in improved access or cost benefits in terms of market competition. However, having options available may provide opportunities for countries to negotiate better prices as part of their national procurement processes. Nevertheless, the Working Group concluded that in view of financial concerns it did not support inclusion of enzalutamide on the EML.

The Working Group also noted the evidence on the use of low-dose abiraterone and considered that this was an area where WHO could advocate for this cost-saving approach to treatment.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that prostate cancer is the second most common cancer in men worldwide and the fourth most common cancer overall, and that treatment options for metastatic, castration-resistant prostate cancer are limited. The Committee acknowledged that enzalutamide and abiraterone, as oral treatments, offer several advantages over other treatment options as they do not require intravenous administration, leukapheresis, or the use of radiopharmaceutical compounds. The Committee recalled its previous recommendations not to include enzalutamide on the EML, recommending instead listing abiraterone based on advantages offered by dosing strategies, lower pill burden, better adherence and availability of generics which would allow potential cost savings. The Committee noted that the current cost of enzalutamide is very high for both patients and health systems.

The Committee noted that enzalutamide for metastatic, castrationresistant prostate cancer largely meets the EML criteria for survival benefit (i.e. at least 4 to 6 months survival gain) and the European Society of Medical Oncology's magnitude of clinical benefit scale (ESMO-MCBS) v1.1 score, and appears to demonstrate comparable efficacy and safety to abiraterone. However, no direct trial data are available, leaving some uncertainty about which medicine is the best therapeutic option. Enzalutamide has a different mechanism of action and a different toxicity profile, making it a first-choice medicine in patients not eligible to be treated with or unable to tolerate abiraterone. Unlike abiraterone, enzalutamide does not require concomitant use of prednisolone.

The Committee considered that having multiple treatment options included on the EML may provide opportunities for countries to negotiate better prices as part of their national procurement processes. In some countries, competition and price reduction will be facilitated by the fact both abiraterone and enzalutamide have generic versions available. Therefore, the Committee recommended that enzalutamide be included on the complementary list of the EML as a therapeutic alternative to abiraterone. The listing of abiraterone should be qualified with a square box indicating enzalutamide as an alternative for national selection. The Committee considered that this could provide opportunities for cost savings at the country level and increase access to medicines associated with favourable outcomes. As currently the prices of abiraterone and enzalutamide are a major obstacle for health care systems, the Committee recommends that countries address this problem through multiple actions, including price negotiations, competitive tendering and expanded use of generics.

The Committee recommended that the Medicines Patent Pool explore with manufacturers how to facilitate affordable access to enzalutamide through public health-oriented licences. The Committee also requested that WHO prioritize abiraterone and enzalutamide as potential candidates for prequalification to facilitate access to affordable and quality-assured products.

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 2 June 2021).

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 10 April 2021).
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- 4. Scher HI, Fizazi K, Saad F, Taplin ME, Sternberg CN, Miller K, et al. Increased survival with enzalutamide in prostate cancer after chemotherapy. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(13):1187–97.
- 5. Beer TM, Armstrong AJ, Rathkopf DE, Loriot Y, Sternberg CN, Higano CS, et al. Enzalutamide in metastatic prostate cancer before chemotherapy. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(5):424–33.
- 6. Roviello G, Sigala S, Sandhu S, Bonetta A, Cappelletti MR, Zanotti L, et al. Role of the novel generation of androgen receptor pathway targeted agents in the management of castration-resistant prostate cancer: a literature based meta-analysis of randomized trials. Eur J Cancer. 2016;61:111–21.
- Kang M, Jeong CW, Kwak C, Ku JH, Kim HH. Comparing the clinical efficacy of abiraterone acetate, enzalutamide, and orteronel in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer by performing a network meta-analysis of eight randomized controlled trials. Oncotarget. 2017;8(35):59690–7.
- Behl AS, Ellis LA, Pilon D, Xiao Y, Lefebvre P. Medication adherence, treatment patterns, and dose reduction in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer receiving abiraterone acetate or enzalutamide. Am Health Drug Benefits. 2017;10(6):296–303.
- Pilon D, Behl AS, Ellis LA, Emond B, Lefebvre P, Dawson NA. Duration of treatment in prostate cancer patients treated with abiraterone acetate or enzalutamide. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2017;23(2):225–35.
- 10. Khalaf DJ, Annala M, Taavitsainen S, Finch DL, Oja C, Vergidis J, et al. Optimal sequencing of enzalutamide and abiraterone acetate plus prednisone in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 2, crossover trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(12):1730–9.
- 11. Hussain M, Fizazi K, Saad F, Rathenborg P, Shore N, Ferreira U, et al. Enzalutamide in men with nonmetastatic, castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(26):2465–74.
- 12. Sternberg CN, Fizazi K, Saad F, Shore ND, De Giorgi U, Penson DF, et al. Enzalutamide and survival in nonmetastatic, castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(23):2197–206.
- 13. Szmulewitz RZ, Peer CJ, Ibraheem A, Martinez E, Kozloff MF, Carthon B, et al. Prospective international randomized phase ii study of low-dose abiraterone with food versus standard dose abiraterone in castration-resistant prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(14):1389–95.
- 14. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Prostate cancer. Version 2.2021. Plymouth Meeting: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2021 (https://www.nccn.org/professionals/ physician\_gls/pdf/prostate.pdf, accessed 6 April 2021).
- 15. Patel A, Tannock IF, Srivastava P, Biswas B, Gupta VG, Batra A, et al. Low-dose abiraterone in metastatic prostate cancer: is it practice changing? Facts and facets. JCO Glob Oncol. 2020;6:382–6.
- 16. Enzalutamide for metastatic hormone-relapsed prostate cancer previously treated with a docetaxel-containing regimen. Technology appraisal guidance [TA316]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2014 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta316, accessed 3 June 2021).

410

- 17. ESMO-magnitude of clinical benefit scale. The ESMO-MCBS score card [internet]. Lugarno: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2015 (https://www.esmo.org/score/cards, accessed 3 June 2021).
- Loriot Y, Miller K, Sternberg CN, Fizazi K, De Bono JS, Chowdhury S, et al. Effect of enzalutamide on health-related quality of life, pain, and skeletal-related events in asymptomatic and minimally symptomatic, chemotherapy-naive patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (PREVAIL): results from a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(5):509–21.

Fulvestrant – addition – EML

## Fulvestrant

ATC Code: L02BA03

# Proposal

Addition of fulvestrant to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer.

# Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile

Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago-Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases. The technical department advised that there is insufficient evidence of significant clinical effect of fulvestrant in comparison to medicines already included in the EML.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 250 mg/5 mL in vial

# Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Fulvestrant has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

In 2015, as part of a comprehensive review of cancer medicines on the EML, the following medicines were endorsed for inclusion on the EML for use in protocols for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer: capecitabine, cyclophosphamide, docetaxel, doxorubicin, paclitaxel, vinorelbine, anastrozole and tamoxifen. Trastuzumab was also recommended for treatment of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)-positive early stage and metastatic breast cancer (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Breast cancer is the most frequent malignant disease in women. The estimated number of new cases in 2020 was 2 261 419, accounting for 25% of all cancers in women. The global age-standardized incidence rate is 47.8/100 000 people, with the highest rate observed in Australia and New Zealand (95.5/100 000 people). Incidence is much lower in Africa and Asia (< 50/100 000 people). The global age-standardized mortality rate is 13.6 per 100 000, ranging from 9.8 per 100 000 in Eastern Asia to 27.5 per 100 000 in Melanesia (2).

Many women initially diagnosed in early stages will progress to a metastatic stage. It has been estimated that only 25% of the women living with metastatic breast cancer are new cases, while 75% being recurrences of previously localized disease (3).

While improved early detection and advances in systemic therapy for the early-stage disease have resulted in some decline in breast cancer mortality since 1989, metastatic breast cancer remains largely incurable with a median survival of about 24 months (4). Factors associated with poor survival include age  $\geq$  50 years, visceral disease, shorter disease-free interval, aneuploid tumours, tumours with a high S-phase fraction, p53 accumulation, low BCL-2 expression, negative hormone receptor status, and positive HER2 status (5).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The applicants conducted a literature search for randomized trials and systematic reviews of fulvestrant plus aromatase inhibitors in women with metastatic breast cancer, and conducted a meta-analysis of the results. Risk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool, and judgements about precision, consistency, directness and likelihood of publication bias were made following the GRADE approach.

Six systematic reviews (6-11) (used to identify relevant studies) and three randomized trials (12-14) were identified. Two trials reported data to estimate the effect on overall survival and were included in the meta-analysis (12, 13).

The open-label, phase III FACT trial was conducted in premenopausal women receiving a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist and postmenopausal women, both groups with hormone-receptor-positive breast cancer who had relapsed after primary treatment (*12*). A total of 514 participants were randomized 1:1 to receive a loading dose of fulvestrant followed by monthly fulvestrant plus daily anastrozole (n = 258) or daily anastrozole alone (n = 256). No difference in median overall survival was observed (37.8 versus 38.2 months; hazard ratio (HR) 1.0, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.76 to 1.32).

The phase III SWOG0266 trial was conducted in postmenopausal women with previously untreated hormone-receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer (13). A total of 707 participants were randomized 1:1 to receive a loading dose followed by monthly fulvestrant plus daily anastrozole (n = 350) or daily anastrozole alone (n = 345). After a median follow-up of 35 months, median progression-free survival was 15.0 months in the fulvestrant plus anastrozole arm versus 13.5 months in the anastrozole arm (HR for progression or death with combination therapy 0.80, 95% CI 0.68 to 0.94).

The results of the meta-analysis did not show a statistically significant survival benefit for fulvestrant, but the point estimate for overall survival was in favour of the combination of fulvestrant plus aromatase inhibitors (HR 0.85, 95% CI 0.62 to 1.15, corresponding to an overall survival benefit of the combination of about 7 months in absolute terms; low-certainty evidence). There was low-certainty evidence that fulvestrant plus aromatase inhibitors might increase progression-free survival by 1 month compared to aromatase inhibitors (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.73 to 1.08; low-certainty evidence).

Substantial heterogeneity was seen between the studies in the metaanalysis, with the FACT trial suggesting no effect and the SWOG0226 trials showing a benefit for fulvestrant. The disparity may be explained by the important difference in the type of patients included (pretreated versus treatment-naïve patients and percentage of patients with distant metastases).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Three trials provided data on adverse events and were included in the metaanalysis (12, 13, 15). The results found moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with fulvestrant plus anastrozole may or may not increase the risk of adverse events compared with treatment with anastrozole alone (risk ratio (RR) 1.03, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.15). In absolute terms, 15 more patients per 1000 patients treated might experience adverse events of grade 3 or higher with the

combination therapy, but the confidence intervals are wide (from 26 fewer to 59 more).

The most commonly reported adverse events were gastrointestinal disorders, hot flashes, headache, arthralgia and bone pain.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Overall survival data from the SWOG0266 trial were reported after a median follow-up of 7 years in patients who did not have disease progression (*16*). Median overall survival was 49.8 months in the combination therapy group versus 42.0 months in the anastrozole group (HR for death 0.82, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.98). In the subgroup of patients who had not previously received endocrine therapy, median overall survival was 52.2 months in the combination therapy group versus 40.3 months in the anastrozole monotherapy group (HR for death 0.73, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.92). The selective crossover from the anastrozole alone group to the combination was about 45%. These data were not included in the meta-analysis conducted by the applicants.

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of breast cancer are not available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The applicants identified two cost-utility analyses that evaluated the cost-effectiveness of fulvestrant (*17*, *18*).

A study in China compared half-dose fulvestrant plus anastrozole against full-dose fulvestrant monotherapy and anastrozole monotherapy as first-line treatment for hormone-receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer (17). The study used clinical input data from the SWOG0266 trial (16) and from a phase II randomized trial comparing fulvestrant monotherapy with anastrozole monotherapy (19). Compared with anastrozole monotherapy, combination half-dose fulvestrant plus anastrozole was a cost-effective alternative as the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio was US\$ 15 666 per quality adjusted life year (QALY) gained, less than the willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 29 383 in China.

Another cost-effectiveness analysis assessed fulvestrant plus anastrozole compared with anastrozole alone as first-line therapy in women with hormone-receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer from an American payer's perspective (18). The analysis used clinical input data from the SWOG0266 trial (16). The combination of fulvestrant plus anastrozole showed an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of US\$ 300 564 per QALY gained for all eligible patients and of US\$ 194 450 per QALY gained for patients without previous hormonal adjuvant therapy. Applying a willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 150 000,

addition of fulvestrant to breast cancer treatment was not considered to be cost-effective compared with anastrozole.

Coverage recommendations for fulvestrant from national reimbursement agencies vary. In Australia and Canada, reimbursement for fulvestrant has been recommended for the treatment of postmenopausal women with hormonereceptor-positive and HER2-negative unresectable advanced or metastatic breast cancer. However, reimbursement in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland has not been recommended.

#### Availability

Fulvestrant has marketing approval from multiple national regulatory agencies, including the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, the European Medicines Agency, Health Canada, the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency and the United States Food and Drug Administration. It is available in branded and generic forms.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it did not support the inclusion of fulvestrant on the EML for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer.

The Working Group noted that available data on the use of fulvestrant in first-line treatment are not yet conclusive, while its use in second-line treatment is more established and data are more mature. The meta-analysis presented in the application did not differentiate between first- and second-line use. From the meta-analysis presented, the overall survival benefit for fulvestrant (plus aromatase inhibitor) was modest but meets the threshold of survival gain endorsed by the Expert Committee. However, there was substantial heterogeneity between the included trials, postprogression therapies were unclear and the benefit not accepted unequivocally.

The Working Group also noted that the high cost of fulvestrant, the large potentially eligible patient population and variable findings in cost–effectiveness analyses were further limitations.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee considered that it was difficult to come to any definitive conclusion about the superiority of fulvestrant in combination with aromatase inhibitors compared with aromatase inhibitors alone. The studies included in the meta-analysis had heterogeneous results. The cumulative median overall survival gain of 7 months and median progression-free survival gain of 1 month for fulvestrant were based on low-certainty evidence.

The Committee also noted that the price of fulvestrant is very high in most settings and its cost-effectiveness is unclear.

The Committee therefore did not recommend adding fulvestrant to the EML at this time because of uncertainty in the estimates of survival benefit.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 11 June 2021).
- The Global Cancer Observatory. Breast. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/20-Breast-fact-sheet.pdf, accessed 11 June 2021).
- Mariotto AB, Etzioni R, Hurlbert M, Penberthy L, Mayer M. Estimation of the number of women living with metastatic breast cancer in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2017;26(6):809–15.
- 4. SEER incidence data, 1975–2017 [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/data/, accessed 23 November 2020).
- Chang JC, Wooten EC, Tsimelzon A, Hilsenbeck SG, Gutierrez MC, Elledge R, et al. Gene expression profiling for the prediction of therapeutic response to docetaxel in patients with breast cancer. Lancet. 2003;362(9381):362–9.
- Li M, Xiong Y, Liao C, He Y, Duan S, Yi F, et al. Anastrozole plus fulvestrant vs. anastrozole alone for hormone receptor-positive advanced breast cancer: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2020;180(2):269–78.
- 7. Tan PS, Haaland B, Montero AJ, Lopes G. A meta-analysis of anastrozole in combination with fulvestrant in the first line treatment of hormone receptor positive advanced breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;138(3):961–5.
- 8. Ayyagari R, Tang D, Patterson-Lomba O, Zhou Z, Xie J, Chandiwana D, et al. Progression-free survival with endocrine-based therapies following progression on non-steroidal aromatase inhibitor among postmenopausal women with hormone receptor positive, human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 negative metastatic breast cancer: a network meta-analysis. Curr Med Res Opin. 2018;34(9):1645–52.
- Lux MP, Böhme S, Hücherig S, Jeratsch U, Kürschner N, Lüftner D. Surrogate threshold effect based on a meta-analysis for the predictive value of progression-free survival for overall survival in hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;176(3):495–506.
- 10. Liu S, Sun X, Xu X, Lin F. Comparison of endocrine therapies in hormone receptor-positive and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-negative locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer: a network meta-analysis. J Breast Cancer. 2020;23(5):460–83.
- 11. Lee CH, Kang YN, Ho CL, Lin C, Chen PH, Wu YY, et al. Endocrine therapies in postmenopausal women with hormone receptor-positive, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-negative, pretreated, advanced breast cancer: a network meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99(13):e19618.
- 12. Bergh J, Jönsson PE, Lidbrink EK, Trudeau M, Eiermann W, Brattström D, et al. FACT: an openlabel randomized phase III study of fulvestrant and anastrozole in combination compared with anastrozole alone as first-line therapy for patients with receptor-positive postmenopausal breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(16):1919–25.

- 13. Mehta RS, Barlow WE, Albain KS, Vandenberg TA, Dakhil SR, Tirumali NR, et al. Combination anastrozole and fulvestrant in metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):435–44.
- 14. Johnston SR, Kilburn LS, Ellis P, Dodwell D, Cameron D, Hayward L, et al. Fulvestrant plus anastrozole or placebo versus exemestane alone after progression on non-steroidal aromatase inhibitors in postmenopausal patients with hormone-receptor-positive locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer (SoFEA): a composite, multicentre, phase 3 randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(10):989–98.
- Robertson JF, Dixon JM, Sibbering DM, Jahan A, Ellis IO, Channon E, et al. A randomized trial to assess the biological activity of short-term (pre-surgical) fulvestrant 500 mg plus anastrozole versus fulvestrant 500 mg alone or anastrozole alone on primary breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2013;15(2):R18.
- 16. Mehta RS, Barlow WE, Albain KS, Vandenberg TA, Dakhil SR, Tirumali NR, et al. Overall survival with fulvestrant plus anastrozole in metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(13):1226–34.
- 17. Huang X, Weng X, Lin S, Liu Y, Luo S, Wang H, et al. Half-dose fulvestrant plus anastrozole as a first-line treatment for hormone receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer: a cost–effectiveness analysis. BMJ Open. 2020;10(8):e036107.
- 18. Liao W, Huang J, Wu Q, Wen F, Zhang N, Zhou K, et al. First-line fulvestrant plus anastrozole for hormone-receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer in postmenopausal women: a cost–effectiveness analysis. Breast Cancer. 2020;27(3):399–404.
- Ellis MJ, Llombart-Cussac A, Feltl D, Dewar JA, Jasiówka M, Hewson N, et al. Fulvestrant 500 mg versus anastrozole 1 mg for the first-line treatment of advanced breast cancer: overall survival analysis from the phase II FIRST study. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(32):3781–7.

8.2.5 Supportive medicines

Rasburicase – addition – EML and EMLc

#### Rasburicase

#### ATC Code: V03AF07

# Proposal

Addition of rasburicase to the EML and EMLc as treatment for patients with tumour lysis syndrome and as prevention in individuals at high risk of tumour lysis syndrome.

#### Applicant

Ignacio Neumann; Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Pamela Burdiles; Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile Paula Nahuelhual; Faculty of Clinical Medicine, Clínica Alemana de Santiago– Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile

Eduardo Quiñelen; Department of Kinesiology, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, Santiago, Chile

Katherine Cerda; Department of Health Technology Assessment and Evidence Based Health, Ministerio de Salud de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Felipe Vera; Health Technology Assessment Unit, Clinical Research Center, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile

# WHO technical department

Comments were received from the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases, which supported the inclusion of rasburicase on the Model Lists as it offers significant clinical value in all settings, has broad population value (about 5% of cancer patients) and has been well validated. The use of rasburicase is particularly relevant in countries where late diagnosis and greater tumour burden might increase the likelihood of tumour lysis syndrome. It will be necessary to consider issues related to safety (capacity to manage toxicities of rasburicase) and strategies to improve accessibility (e.g. dosing frequency).

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

8.2.5 Supportive medicines

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Powder and solvent for solution for infusion: 1.5 mg, 7.5 mg in vial

# Core/complementary Complementary

Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Rasburicase had not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

Allopurinol is currently included on the EMLc for the prevention and treatment of tumour lysis syndrome in children. It has not been considered for inclusion on the EML for treatment of adults for this indication.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Tumour lysis syndrome is an oncological emergency characterized by a group of metabolic disturbances including hyperkalaemia, hyperphosphataemia, hypocalcaemia and hyperuricaemia. In particular, hyperuricaemia may lead to renal damage and end-stage renal failure.

The exact incidence of tumour lysis syndrome is unknown since its frequency varies with the underlying malignancy and the specific definition used. Some definitions include only laboratory abnormalities such as plasma levels of potassium, phosphate, calcium or uric acid. Under these definitions, the incidence of laboratory abnormalities can be as high as 45% of patients as it has been observed in small cohorts of children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (1,2). In broader populations, however, the incidence of a laboratory tumour lysis syndrome has been estimated in around 10–15% of patients (3,4). Only a small proportion of patients with laboratory abnormalities ultimately develop clinical symptoms, such as nausea, muscle cramps, weakness or fatigue. The reported incidence of clinical tumour lysis syndrome is around 4–6% (3,5,6).

Tumour lysis syndrome is far more frequent in haematological malignancies, although it has also been reported in solid tumours, especially in gastrointestinal and lung cancers (7). In general, the risk of tumour lysis syndrome is higher in cancers with a high proliferative rate and rapid response to therapy.

Treating the complications of tumour lysis syndrome is very resource intensive, particularly for hyperuricaemia, which may lead to renal complications and the need for renal-replacement therapies. Therefore, in low- and middle-income settings, the use of rasburicase might result in net savings, especially with shortened regimens (8-10).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The applicants conducted a literature search for randomized trials and systematic reviews of rasburicase and conducted a meta-analysis of the results. Risk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool and judgements about the certainty of the evidence were made following the GRADE approach.

Three systematic reviews (11-13) and two randomized trials were identified (14, 15).

One trial included 280 adults with leukaemia or lymphoma. Participants were randomized to rasburicase, allopurinol or a combination of rasburicase plus allopurinol. All the interventions were given for 5 days after receiving chemotherapy (15). The other trial included 52 children with leukaemia or lymphoma, who were randomized to rasburicase or allopurinol for 5 to 7 days, also after receiving chemotherapy (14). Both trials focused on uric acid levels and were not powered to detect differences in patient-relevant outcomes.

In both trials, plasma uric acid levels decreased faster with rasburicase: 4 hours after the first dose, uric acid decreased by 86–88% with rasburicase compared with 12–14% with allopurinol. This finding reflects the mechanism of action of the drugs: rasburicase can effectively reduce uric acid levels, while allopurinol can only prevent the formation of new uric acid.

Only one trial reported data to estimate the effect of rasburicase on the incidence of tumour lysis syndrome and patient-relevant outcomes (*15*). Compared with allopurinol, rasburicase may reduce the incidence of laboratory tumour lysis syndrome (risk ratio (RR) 0.51, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.33 to 0.79; in absolute terms, 222 fewer events per 1000 patients, 95% CI 94 fewer to 301 fewer; very-low-certainty evidence). However, evidence of the effect of rasburicase on clinical tumour lysis syndrome or renal failure was less clear (RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.17 to 3.22 and RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.14 to 6.87, respectively; both very-low-certainty evidence).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Compared with allopurinol, rasburicase might increase the risk of adverse events (RR 3.96, 95% CI 0.45 to 34.7; in absolute terms, 33 more events per 1000, 95% CI 6 fewer to 371 more; very-low-certainty evidence).

The events observed with rasburicase were mainly hypersensitivity reactions such as rash, arthralgia or injection-site irritation. They were generally mild and lead to a discontinuation of the drug in only one out of 92 participants (15).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

As regards dosage, a meta-analysis of 10 studies compared efficacy and costsavings of a single-dose regimen of rasburicase (at doses ranging from 3 mg to 7.5 mg (fixed dose) or 0.05 mg/kg to 0.20 mg/kg (weight-based dose) versus the daily dosing of 0.2 mg/kg for 5 days approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration in adult patients with hyperuricaemia or at high risk of tumour lysis syndrome (*16*). There was no significant difference in response rates between the pooled single-dose rasburicase arm and the daily dose rasburicase arm (88.2% versus 90.2%; odds ratio (OR) 0.81, 95% CI 0.41 to 1.60). When only studies using single-dose rasburicase at standard doses (6–7.5 mg fixed dose or 0.15–0.20 mg/kg weight-based dose) were considered, the pooled response rate was 91.8%. Moreover, single dose administration of standard-dose rasburicase for the different treatment regimens were about US\$ 4500 for single standard-dose rasburicase.

The use of rasburicase is contraindicated in patients with glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) deficiency due to observations of severe haemolysis during clinical trials (17). Haemolytic anaemia is likely to occur in G6PD-deficient patients because of their inability to break down hydrogen peroxide, a by-product of the oxidation of uric acid. Testing to identify patients with G6PD deficiency is recommended before treatment with rasburicase. In emergency settings where G6PD deficiency cannot be determined, monitoring for signs and symptoms of haemolytic anaemia is recommended and supportive care (e.g. haemodialysis) must be available.

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of tumour lysis syndrome are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The applicants identified four studies: one cost-benefit analysis (18), two cost-effectiveness analyses (19, 20) and one cost-consequence study (21).

Three of the four studies identified were considered to have serious limitations and their results were judged unreliable (18, 20, 21). These studies did not use an appropriate mathematical model nor a probabilistic sensitivity analysis. In addition, they had several errors or omissions and some assumptions were not shown or were incorrect.

Only one study, a cost-effectiveness study in China, had acceptable quality. It used a decision tree as the model method, from a perspective of the Chinese health care system (19). The study considered the use of rasburicase in the prevention and treatment paediatric patients with acute myeloid leukaemia, acute lymphoid leukaemia or non-Hodgkin lymphoma. The results suggested that rasburicase was cost-effective in most of the scenarios, with an incremental cos-effectiveness ratio between US\$ 991 and US\$ 2031 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) as treatment and US\$ 5391 and US\$ 17 580 per QALY as prophylaxis.

#### Availability

Rasburicase has wide global marketing and regulatory approval.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group advised that it supported the inclusion of rasburicase on the EML and EMLc for the treatment and prevention of tumour lysis syndrome. The available evidence shows rasburicase to be more effective than allopurinol in reducing plasma uric acid levels, and it can be used for treatment as well as prevention of tumour lysis syndrome (allopurinol is used only for prevention). Evidence for benefit for clinical outcomes (e.g. mortality, renal failure) is less clear, but in this context the benefit of rasburicase is undisputed for reducing uric acid (e.g. a surrogate outcome considered reasonably likely based on therapeutic and pathophysiological evidence); to predict clinical benefit; and to avoid clinical sequalae. Treating tumour lysis syndrome once it occurs is very resource intensive so effective preventative measures are desirable.

In terms of safety, of particular concern is the risk of severe haemolysis, and rasburicase should not be given to patients with G6PD deficiency. Thus, testing to identify patients with G6PD is required. In emergency settings, where G6PD deficiency cannot be determined, rasburicase should only be used when haemodialysis is available.

Careful patient selection to limit the use of rasburicase to patients most likely to benefit (e.g. at high risk of tumour lysis syndrome) and less likely to experience adverse effects (e.g. G6PD deficiency) will also be important at the country level.

The Working Group acknowledged the high cost rasburicase, and also noted the potential for cost savings by using single-dose administration rather than daily dose administration over several days, without significantly compromising benefit.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that tumour lysis syndrome is an oncological emergency for which prevention and treatment are critical to avoid severe acute kidney injury, which is resource-intensive to treat and may be fatal.

The Committee noted that only allopurinol is currently included on the Model Lists for tumour lysis syndrome. Allopurinol, while inexpensive and administered orally, is only effective for the prevention of tumour lysis syndrome by inhibiting the formation of new uric acid; it does not eliminate already formed uric acid. It therefore takes several days to have an effect on uric acid levels. The Committee noted that allopurinol is associated with xanthinuria (deposition of xanthine crystals in the renal tubules and associated acute kidney injury), and can interact with several medicines, including chemotherapeutic agents, antibiotics and diuretics.

The Committee noted that rasburicase, which is a recombinant version of urate oxidase, works by metabolizing uric acid to a more water-soluble metabolite. Rasburicase can markedly and rapidly decrease uric acid levels and prevent other complications of tumour lysis syndrome (such as end-stage renal failure and need for life-long dialysis). It therefore offers a significant advantage for the management of paediatric and adult patients at high risk of tumour lysis syndrome, especially those with impaired renal or cardiac function, and for patients with pre-existing hyperuricaemia. From the meta-analysis presented in the application, the Committee noted that rasburicase may halve the risk of laboratory tumour lysis syndrome compared with allopurinol.

The Committee noted that rasburicase is well tolerated. However, it should not be given to patients with glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) deficiency because hydrogen peroxide, a by-product of uric acid breakdown, can cause severe haemolysis in these patients. Patients at risk of G6PD deficiency (e.g. prior medicine-induced haemolytic anaemia, ethnic background associated with high prevalence of G6PD deficiency) should be tested for G6PD deficiency, preferably before administration of rasburicase.

The Committee noted that rasburicase is expensive, especially when used according to the dosage approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency, which is 0.2 mg/kg a day for up to 5 days. The Committee acknowledged numerous experimental studies showing that a single dose of rasburicase is as effective in lowering uric acid levels as approved daily dosing of rasburicase for 5 days, and this dosing is associated with considerable cost savings. The Committee considered that the high cost of rasburicase could be reduced by using single-dose administration and using it only in selected high-risk patients.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended inclusion of rasburicase on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of tumour lysis syndrome in high-risk patients. However, noting the high price of rasburicase, the Committee considered that the single-dose administration strategy for rasburicase is the preferred dosing option, based on evidence of similar response rates and greatly reduced costs.

#### References

- Abdel-Baset H, Nasr Eldin E, Eltayeb A, Hussein A, Nasr E. Clinical and laboratory approach for the identification of the risk for tumour lysis syndrome in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Life Sci J. 2012;9(1):189–95.
- 2. Belay Y, Yirdaw K, Enawgaw B. Tumor lysis syndrome in patients with hematological malignancies. J Oncol. 2017;2017:9684909.

- 3. Cairo MS, Thompson S, Stern L, Sherman S. Incidence of treatment-related, laboratory and clinical tumor lysis syndrome. Blood. 2012;120(21):238.
- Sevinir B, Demirkaya M, Baytan B, Güneş AM. Hyperuricemia and tumor lysis syndrome in children with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Turk J Haematol. 2011;28(1):52–9.
- Annemans L, Moeremans K, Lamotte M, Garcia Conde J, van den Berg H, Myint H, et al. Incidence, medical resource utilisation and costs of hyperuricemia and tumour lysis syndrome in patients with acute leukaemia and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in four European countries. Leuk Lymphoma. 2003;44(1):77–83.
- 6. Wössmann W, Schrappe M, Meyer U, Zimmermann M, Reiter A. Incidence of tumor lysis syndrome in children with advanced stage Burkitt's lymphoma/leukemia before and after introduction of prophylactic use of urate oxidase. Ann Hematol. 2003;82(3):160–5.
- 7. Firwana BM, Hasan R, Hasan N, Alahdab F, Alnahhas I, Hasan S, et al. Tumor lysis syndrome: a systematic review of case series and case reports. Postgrad Med. 2012;124(2):92–101.
- 8. Lakshmaiah K, Babu K, Rajeev L, Loknatha D, Abraham L, Babu M, et al. Efficacy of a reduced-dose rasburicase: single-institution experience in India. Indian J Med Paediatr Oncol. 2019;40(3):406–8.
- Philips A, Radhakrishnan V, Ganesan P, Ganesan TS, Ramamurthy J, Dhanushkodi M, et al. Efficacy of single dose rasburicase (1.5 mg) for prophylaxis and management of laboratory tumor lysis syndrome. Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus. 2018;34(4):618–22.
- Kukkar S, Panchal H, Anand A, Patel A, Parikh S, Shah S. Efficacy of single-dose rasburicase in the management of tumor lysis syndrome: a case series from a regional cancer center in western India. J Appl Hematol. 2016;7(4):136–40.
- 11. Lopez-Olivo MA, Pratt G, Palla SL, Salahudeen A. Rasburicase in tumor lysis syndrome of the adult: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2013;62(3):481–92.
- 12. Dinnel J, Moore BL, Skiver BM, Bose P. Rasburicase in the management of tumor lysis: an evidence-based review of its place in therapy. Core Evid. 2015;10:23–38.
- 13. Cheuk DK, Chiang AK, Chan GC, Ha SY. Urate oxidase for the prevention and treatment of tumour lysis syndrome in children with cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;3(3):CD006945.
- Goldman SC, Holcenberg JS, Finklestein JZ, Hutchinson R, Kreissman S, Johnson FL, et al. A randomized comparison between rasburicase and allopurinol in children with lymphoma or leukemia at high risk for tumor lysis. Blood. 2001;97(10):2998–3003.
- Cortes J, Moore JO, Maziarz RT, Wetzler M, Craig M, Matous J, et al. Control of plasma uric acid in adults at risk for tumor Lysis syndrome: efficacy and safety of rasburicase alone and rasburicase followed by allopurinol compared with allopurinol alone – results of a multicenter phase III study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(27):4207–13.
- Feng X, Dong K, Pham D, Pence S, Inciardi J, Bhutada NS. Efficacy and cost of single-dose rasburicase in prevention and treatment of adult tumour lysis syndrome: a meta-analysis. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2013;38(4):301–8.
- 17. Nguyen AP, Ness GL. Hemolytic anemia following rasburicase administration: a review of published reports. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2014;19(4):310–6.
- Eaddy M, Seal B, Tangirala M, Davies EH, O'Day K. Economic comparison of rasburicase and allopurinol for treatment of tumor lysis syndrome in pediatric patients. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2010;67(24):2110–4.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- .....
- Hu S, Han Y, Zhang W, Zhang T, Yao X, Liu L. Cost-effectiveness analysis of rasburicase over standard of care for the prevention and treatment of tumor lysis syndrome in children with hematologic malignancies in China. J Med Econ. 2019;22(8):742–50.
- 20. Annemans L, Moeremans K, Lamotte M, Garcia Conde J, van den Berg H, Myint H, et al. Pan-European multicentre economic evaluation of recombinant urate oxidase (rasburicase) in prevention and treatment of hyperuricaemia and tumour lysis syndrome in haematological cancer patients. Support Care Cancer. 2003;11(4):249–57.
- 21. Cairo MS, Thompson S, Tangirala K, Eaddy MT. A Clinical and economic comparison of rasburicase and allopurinol in the treatment of patients with clinical or laboratory tumor lysis syndrome. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017;17(3):173–8.

CAR-T cell therapy – review

Axicabtagene ciloleucel (axi-cel)	ATC Code: L01XX70
Tisagenlecleucel (tisa-cel)	ATC Code: L01XX71

#### Proposal

To review chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cell therapy for people with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL).

Addition of CAR-T cell therapy to the Model List is not proposed at this time.

#### Applicant

Department of Internal Medicine, University Hospital of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Cochrane Haematology

Cochrane Cancer

#### WHO technical department

WHO Department of Health Products Policy and Standards

EML/EMLc	
Not applicable	
Section	
Not applicable	
Dose form(s) & strength(s)	
Not applicable	
Core/complementary	
Not applicable	

Not applicable

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Over the past decade, CAR-T cell therapy directed against B-lymphocyte antigen CD19 has emerged as another treatment option for relapsed or refractory DLBCL, an aggressive disease with limited median overall survival (less than 6–12 months). The overall process of treating DLBCL with CAR-T cells is so complex that it limits feasibility and large-scale uptake. First, T-cells are collected from the patient's blood before they are genetically altered and multiplied ex vivo to express a modified antigen receptor that directs the lymphocytes against the tumour cells. The receptors are called chimeric because they are engineered to combine functions related to tumour recognition of antibodies and antitumour T cell activation into a single receptor. These chimeric receptors can recognize antigens independent of major histocompatibility complex presentation.

Before returning the altered cells to the patient, it is recommended that the patient receives lymphodepletion chemotherapy with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide (1-4) to improve treatment efficacy (5, 6). The altered and multiplied cells are then returned to the patient via intravenous infusion (7, 8). After infusion, patients should be monitored daily during the first 10 days and be near the clinic for at least 4 weeks to monitor the occurrence of frequent and potentially severe adverse events (1, 2, 9, 10). At present, the entire process is prohibitively expensive.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Global data on the incidence and mortality of DLBCL are few. In 2015, the age-adjusted incidence rate of DLBCL in the United States was 5.5 per 100 000 people per year, the mortality was 1.8 per 100 000 people per year, and the median age at diagnosis was 65 years (*11*). Males are at a 1.5 times higher risk of being diagnosed with DLBCL (*12*, *13*). The incidence also varies by ethnicity and geographic region.

Untreated, DLBCLs are associated with a median survival of less than 1 year. With first-line treatment (often the combination of the anti-CD20 antibody rituximab with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone (14) – all on the EML), patients may have good outcomes (13). But 30–40% of patients experience relapse or their disease is refractory to first-line treatment. The treatment of relapsed/refractory DLBCL is complex; it depends on factors such as the fitness of the patient to tolerate aggressive chemotherapy and location of the disease (e.g. presence of central nervous system involvement), and includes autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Even after second-line treatment (salvage chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation), about 50% of patients still experience relapse (15).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The review presented the preliminary results of a Cochrane systematic review (in development) assessing the benefits and harms of CAR-T-cell therapy for relapsed/refractory DLBCL (*16*).

#### Characteristics of the studies

Thirteen studies evaluated the efficacy and safety of CAR-T cells in people with relapsed/refractory DLBCL. Ten trials were single-arm studies of CAR-T-cell therapy without a control group (17–26); three trials included multiple arms of either varying doses of CAR-T cells alone (27,28) or varying doses of CAR-T cells combined with other agents (29). The number of participants that received CAR-T cells ranged from 15 (29) to 269 participants (28), and three trials included more than 100 participants receiving CAR-T cells (20,25,28).

# Interventions

Anti-CD19 directed CAR-T cells were used in 11 studies (*17–20, 22, 24–29*), while two studies used a combination of anti-CD19 and anti-CD20 (*21*) or anti-CD22-directed CAR-T cells (*23*). In most trials, participants received a single infusion of CAR-T cells; co-interventions consisted of use of the immune checkpoint inhibitors durvalumab (*29*) and atezolizumab (*26*).

In all trials, participants received lymphodepleting chemotherapy before the infusion of CAR-T cells (mostly fludarabine and cyclophosphamide; but the participants in four studies (20–23) received other combinations).

#### Participants

Three studies (20, 21, 26) included participants with relapsed/refractory DLBCL only. In contrast, most studies (17–19, 22–25, 27–29) also included participants with other haematological malignancies such as acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, Burkitt lymphoma, mantle cell lymphoma, follicular lymphoma or primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma.

# Outcomes

Four studies were at high risk of confounding by indication/selection, either because the median age of the study group was substantially younger than average (38–40.5 years compared with median age of diagnosis for DLBCL of about 70 years) (17, 18), or males were underrepresented in the study group (39% while about 55% of all patients with DLBCL are male) (23), or participants had a prelymphodepletion status potentially associated with better progression-free survival (19).

All studies were unblinded and therefore at high risk of performance and detection bias for outcomes. All reported outcomes except for overall survival (i.e. investigator-assessed and patient-reported outcomes) were subjective to a greater or lesser extent and therefore at high risk of bias.

Attrition bias (incomplete outcome data) was analysed as to whether studies assessed outcomes for all enrolled participants. Attrition bias was evaluated separately for the following three outcome categories.

# Overall survival – Two studies (18, 26) were at unclear risk of bias. The number of enrolled participants was not reported in the published abstract (only the number of participants who received CAR-T-cell therapy and atezolizumab). Six studies (20–23, 25, 28) were judged to be at high risk of bias because outcomes were reported only for a subset of the enrolled participants.

- *Response* Only one study was judged to be at low risk of bias because the objective response and complete response were reported for all participants who underwent leukapheresis (28). Three studies were judged to be at unclear risk of bias (18, 26, 27). Nine studies (17, 19–25, 29) were judged to be at high risk of bias because outcomes were reported only for a subset of the enrolled participants.
- *Quality of life* The two studies that reported quality of life were both judged to be at high risk of bias (20, 28).

Regarding the definition of the outcomes, bias was assessed separately for three outcomes.

- Overall survival Due to the objective nature of the outcome, all studies that reported overall survival were at low risk of bias (18, 20– 23, 25, 26, 28).
- Response Seven studies were judged to be at low risk of bias (20–26) because the authors specified criteria used for response assessment and either reported time-point specific outcomes or reported the timing of assessment for all reported outcomes. The remaining six studies were at high risk of bias (17–19, 27–29).
- Quality of life The two studies that reported quality of life were judged to be at low risk of bias as both used standardized scales (20, 28).

# Efficacy

# Overall survival

Data on overall survival were reported for eight of the included studies (18, 20–23, 25, 26, 28). The reported results were limited to time-point specific rates only, given that there was large heterogeneity in study sample sizes and follow-up durations between the studies.

Survival rates at 6 months were reported as 75% (95% confidence interval (CI) 69% to 80%; 256 participants, 80.4% DLBCL) (28) and 78% (95% CI 69% to 85%; 108 participants; proportion of DLBCL unclear but above 70%) (25).

One study (*18*) provided 10 months overall survival results of 55% (95% CI 39% to 74%) for 13 individuals, 12 (92%) of whom had DLBCL. The 12-month

survival rates, which were reported for three studies (*20*, *25*, *28*) ranged between 48% (95% CI 38% to 57%; 99 participants) (*20*) and 59% (95% CI 49% to 68%; 108 participants; proportion of DLBCL unclear, but above 70%) (*25*).

Data for survival at 18 months were available from two studies which reported survival rates of 43% (95% CI 33% to 35%; 99 participants) (20) and 52% (95% CI 41% to 62%; 108 participants; proportion of DLBCL unclear, but above 70%) (25). The estimated survival at 24 months was 51% (95% CI 40% to 60%) for 101 participants, including 77 (76%) individuals with DLBCL (25).

#### Progression-free survival

Eight studies reported results on progression-free survival, disease-free survival or relapse-free survival. Results for progression-free survival at 6 months were reported in two studies: 49% (95% CI 39% to 58%; 101 participants, 76% DLBCL) (25) and 51% (95% CI 45% to 58%; 256 participants, 80.4% DLBCL) (28). Twelve months progression-free survival was reported in four studies; it ranged from 44% (95% CI 34% to 53%; 101 participants, 76% DLBCL) (25) to 75% (95% CI 46% to 90%; 16 participants with DLBCL) (23). One study reported a progression-free survival rate of 63.3% for 22 participants, including 17 (77%) individuals with DLBCL, but did not report a corresponding confidence interval (27).

At 12 and 18 months, one study reported a relapse-free survival rate of 64% (95% CI 48% to 76%) for 99 participants with DLBCL (*20*).

#### Overall response rate

Overall, 12 studies (*17*, *19–29*) reported data on overall response rates, but with substantial variability in follow-up durations and outcome definitions. One study reported an overall response rate of 80% (95% CI 56% to 94%) for 20 participants with DLBCL at 1 month of follow-up (*24*).

Overall response rates at 3 months of follow-up were reported in three studies (*21, 22, 24*); they ranged from 50% (95% CI 49% to 79%; 14 participants with DLBCL) (*22*) to 81% (95% CI 58% to 95%; 21 participants with DLBCL) (*21*).

At 6 months, in two studies, the overall response rate was sustained for 45% (95% CI 23% to 69%; 20 participants with DLBCL) of participants (24) and for 46% (95% CI 19% to 75%; 21 participants with DLBCL) (21).

# Quality of life

Two studies reported on quality of life using a number of validated tools for several time points (30, 31). In the first study, FACT-Lym total scores (range 0–168, higher scores indicate better quality of life) and Short Form-36 (SF-36) Health Survey (range 0–100, higher scores indicate better quality of life) were reported at baseline and changes from baseline were reported at months 3, 6, 12 and 18 (30). Improvements were above the clinically meaningful minimal

important differences at months 3, 6 and 12 and 18, as assessed by both instruments. Improvements were reported in all domains. For instance, the largest mean change from baseline occurred for functional, physical and social/family FACT-G domains after 18 months; the higher mean change from baseline in the emotional domain was reported after 12 months. Most of the patient-reported quality of life assessments were completed by patients with a clinical response. Non-responders died or withdrew from the study to follow alternative therapies and did not complete the serial quality-of-life assessments.

In the second study, EORTC QLQ-C30 scores (range not reported; minimal important difference was defined a priori as a ±10-point change from baseline) and EQ-5D-5L VAS scores (range 0–100, minimal important difference defined as an increase or decrease from baseline of  $\geq 0.07$ ; higher scores indicate better quality of life) were reported at baseline and months 1, 2, 3, 6, 9 and 12 (*31*). The number of participants evaluated decreased over time, with only 38 participants left for assessment at month 12 from 186 participants at baseline. Mean (SD) EQ-5D-5L VAS scores increased from 68.3 (19.5) at baseline to 82.1 (17.8) at month 12. In general improvements in quality of life and fatigue were detected as early as 2 months after liso-cel infusion, were clinically relevant and continued to be maintained 18 months after infusion.

#### Certainty of the evidence

Using the GRADE approach, the reviewers rated the certainty of the evidence as very low for all outcomes. They did not do a meta-analysis of the data because the trials identified had either a single arm or multiple arms of CAR-T-cell therapy without a control group.

In summary, the prognosis for people with heavily pretreated relapsed/refractory DLBCL who are not candidates for autologous stem-cell transplantation, or people who relapse after autologous stem-cell transplantation, is generally poor. In a small number of study participants, CAR-T-cell therapy was associated with a median overall survival well above 12 months, reaching 24 months in about half of the cases. Confidence in the data is low due to the lack of a control group and limited internal and external validity.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

#### Characteristics of the studies

Among the studies reporting adverse events, eight were judged to be at low risk of bias because all or most outcomes were reported for most participants receiving CAR-T cells. Five studies reported outcomes for all participants receiving CAR-T cells (20-23, 27). In three studies, adverse events were not reported for the entire cohort of treated patients but missing data were few and did not affect risk of bias (25, 26, 28).

One study was judged to have an uncertain risk of bias because the number of participants receiving CAR-T cells was unclear due to insufficient reporting of the flow of participants (18). Two studies were judged at high risk of bias. In one, outcomes were reported only for participants receiving CAR-T cells and durvalumab (i.e. for 11 out of 15 (73%) participants receiving CAR-T cells) (29). In the other, only half of the safety outcomes of interest (cytokine release syndrome and neurotoxicity) were reported for all 32 participants receiving CAR-T cells, while half of the safety outcomes of interest (use of tocilizumab and/or corticosteroids and cytopenia) were reported for 10 out of 32 (31%) participants receiving CAR-T cells only (24).

# Findings

#### Any adverse events

The number of participants with any adverse events was reported in five studies (550 participants). Adverse events occurred frequently, with 99% of participants in one study reporting any adverse event (28) and all participants reporting any adverse events in the other four studies (20, 23, 25, 26). The same studies reported the percentage of participants with any adverse event at grade  $\geq$  3, which ranged between 68% (23) and 98% (25).

#### Any serious adverse events

Four studies (281 participants) reported the number of participants with any serious adverse events. In three studies (20, 25, 26), 56% to 68% of participants had serious adverse events; in another, no serious adverse events were reported (23). Only one study reported the percentage of participants with any serious adverse event at grade  $\geq$  3 (48%) (25).

# Cytokine release syndrome

The number of participants having any grade or grade  $\geq$  3 cytokine release syndrome was reported in 11 studies (675 participants) which used different grading criteria (18, 20–29).

Five studies that used criteria described by Lee and colleagues (32) reported between 42% and 100% of participants having cytokine release syndrome (21,23–25,28). The proportion of participants with grade  $\geq$  3 cytokine release syndrome ranged between 1% (24) and 29% (21). Using the University of Pennsylvania grading scale (33), one study reported 58% and 22% of participants had cytokine release syndrome of any grade, and grade  $\geq$  3, respectively (20). According to one study, 69% of participants had cytokine release syndrome with a fever higher than 39.0 °C (18). One study reported that cytokine release syndrome did not occur after the infusion of durvalumab (29).

Neurotoxicity

Ten studies (664 participants) reported neurotoxicity of any grade or grade  $\geq$  3 (20–29). The occurrence of neurotoxicity was in a range of 16% to 100% of participants. Grade  $\geq$  3 neurotoxicity was reported in 0% (23, 24, 29) to 55% (27) of participants.

Some authors reported using tocilizumab and/or corticosteroids to treat cytokine release syndrome and/or neurotoxicity. Seven studies (495 participants) reported the number of participants treated with tocilizumab and/ or corticosteroids (21-25, 27, 28). Between 0% and 80% of participants received tocilizumab alone or without further specification (21-25, 27, 28). Between 3% and 67% of participants received tocilizumab and corticosteroids, such as dexamethasone (20, 23, 25, 28). Between 0% and 20% received corticosteroids alone (21, 22, 24, 27, 28). In one study, prophylactic use of tocilizumab was introduced in phase II (cohort 3) (25).

#### Cytopenias

Cytopenias of any grade or grade  $\geq 3$  were reported in eight studies (625 participants), usually reported as anaemia, leukopenia, neutropenia and thrombocytopenia (20, 21, 23–28). Three studies also reported prolonged cytopenias lasting longer than 28 days (20, 25, 28). The percentage of participants with grade  $\geq 3$  prolonged cytopenias was 34% (20), 37% (28) and 30% (25).

# Febrile neutropenia

The number of participants with febrile neutropenia was reported in five studies (531 participants) (20, 21, 25, 27, 28). Febrile neutropenia occurred in between 9% (28) and 76.2% (21) of participants. Grade  $\geq$  3 febrile neutropenia occurred in between 9% (28) and 50% (27) of participants.

# Any infections

Three studies (488 participants) reported the participants having any infection (531 participants) (20, 25, 28). One study reported that 34% of participants had infections of any grade (20). Grade  $\geq$  3 infections occurred in 20% (20), 12% (28) and 28% (25) of participants.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

The Cochrane review upon which the application is based was published in September 2021, after the Expert Committee meeting (34).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of relapsed/refractory DLBCL are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Treatment with CAR-T cells is technologically demanding and resourceintensive. It requires well-equipped facilities to produce CAR-T cells and trained physicians to administer the treatment and adequately follow up patients for management of adverse events. The global availability of CAR-T-cell therapy is limited and confined to a few tertiary oncology centres. Data on comparative effectiveness and cost–effectiveness are limited to a few high-income countries.

Treatment with the CAR-T-cell therapies axicabtagene ciloleucel (axi-cel) and tisagenlecleucel (tisa-cel) consists of a single-use per year per patient (1, 2). The listed price for axi-cel was reported to be US\$ 375 000 in the United States (35) and  $\in$  327 000 in Germany (36). The overall estimated costs per case varies between US\$ 552 921 and US\$ 655 000 (37, 38). The listed price (i.e. actual price without discount) for tisa-cel is US\$ 475 000 in the United States, and  $\in$  320 000 in Germany (39). The estimated overall costs of tisa-cel per case were between US\$ 382 702 and US\$ 529 000 (37, 40). Yearly therapy costs in Germany were estimated to range between  $\in$  282 420 and  $\in$  283 245 (41).

The additional cost to the budget of the United States health care system was estimated at US\$ 12 billion for axi-cel and US\$ 9 billion for tisa-cel a year, if these treatments were given to all eligible patients (*37*).

The reported cost–effectiveness of axi-cel varied greatly, with incremental cost–effectiveness ratios ranging from < US\$ 50 000 to US\$ 159 000 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained. The report of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland also noted an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio between < £ 50 000 and > £ 100 000 per QALY gained and its use within the Cancer Drugs Fund was recommended (42). An incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of € 44 746 per QALY gained was reported over a life-time horizon in a study in Italy (43, 44).

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio for tisa-cel varied between US\$ 42 000 up to US\$ 508 530 per QALY gained, depending on the time horizon and perspective of the analyses (37, 45, 46). NICE reported incremental cost-effectiveness ratios per QALY gained between £ 42 991 and £ 55 403, based on a confidential commercial discount; it did not recommend tisa-cel for routine use in the National Health Service. Use within the Cancer Drugs Fund was recommended (47).

#### Availability

Two types of anti-CD19 CAR-T-cell therapy are currently commercially available: axi-cel and tisa-cel.

Axi-cel is approved by the Australian Government (48), the European Medicines Agency (9), Health Canada (49) and the United States Food and

Drug Administration (4) for the treatment of: relapsed/refractory large B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy, including DLBCL not otherwise specified; primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma; high-grade B-cell lymphoma; and DLBCL arising from follicular lymphoma.

Tisa-cel is approved by the Australian Government (50), the European Medicines Agency (10), Health Canada (51) and the United States Food and Drug Administration (3) for the following indications.

- Adult patients with relapsed/refractory large B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy including DLBCL not otherwise specified, high-grade B-cell lymphoma and DLBCL arising from follicular lymphoma.
- Patients up to 25 years of age with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia that is refractory or in second or later relapse.

The Australian Government and Health Canada also included tisa-cel for paediatric patients with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia who have relapsed following allogeneic stem-cell transplant or are otherwise ineligible for stem-cell transplant (50, 51).

#### Other considerations

The proposed dosage for tisa-cel is independent of weight and is  $0.6-6.0 \times 10^8$  CAR-positive, viable T-cells given intravenously (2, 10). For axi-cel the proposed dosage depends on the patient's body weight. A dose of  $2 \times 10^6$  CAR-positive T-cells per kg body weight with a maximum dose of  $2 \times 10^8$  CAR-positive viable T-cells is recommended (1, 9).

Both substances must only be administered in a specialized treatment centre by trained health care professionals. These professionals need experience in treating haematological malignancies and must be trained on the administration and management of patients treated with each CAR-T substance (1, 2, 9, 10).

The application noted that numerous ongoing trials are evaluating CAR-T-cell therapy for people with relapsed/refractory DLBCL; three are randomized controlled trials that will be primarily completed between 2022 and 2025 (BELINDA (*52*), TRANSFORM (*53*) and ZUMA-7 (*54*)).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee considered the review of the available evidence for chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T-cell therapy for treatment of relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), and noted that inclusion of CAR-T-cell therapies on the Model Lists was not proposed at this time.

The Committee noted that CAR-T-cell therapy is highly specialized, requiring dedicated health system resources well beyond those available in most settings at this time. Current treatment and management costs are also prohibitively high, and exceed affordability thresholds in almost all countries.

The Committee considered that CAR-T-cell therapies are an area of great interest and therapeutic relevance in the treatment of DLBCL, and potentially other diseases. The Committee acknowledged that at present, the available evidence is limited and of very low certainty. Nevertheless, it was noted that the immature data from multiple studies indicate that CAR-T-cell therapy can induce durable complete responses, which may lead to clinical cures in some patients. Currently, the main uncertainties about the clinical benefits of CAR-T-cell therapy relate to the proportion of patients achieving long longterm disease-free survival, and when CAR-T-cell therapy is best used in the overall treatment algorithm. Safety concerns include cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicity, both of which occur in a high proportion of patients, may be life-threatening and require highly specialized medical management. Data on long-term safety are currently limited.

The Committee acknowledged that the field of CAR-T-cell therapy is rapidly evolving, with many ongoing studies that might address the existing clinical uncertainties. The application of this treatment could be advantageous in low- and middle-income settings: a potential curative treatment for haematological malignancies with a single infusion of CAR-T cells might be a competitive therapeutic option when compared with multiple chemotherapy regimens administered in hospitals over longer periods of time.

The Committee considered that evidence on these therapies should continue to be monitored by WHO. The Committee advised that it would welcome an updated review of the evidence for CAR-T-cell therapy for consideration at a future meeting. WHO will need to have a strong leadership and advocacy role in facilitating affordable and equitable access to these treatments.

# References

- Yescarta<sup>®</sup> (axicabtagene ciloleucel) receives European marketing authorization for the treatment of relapsed or refractory DLBCL and PMBCL, after two or more lines of systemic therapy [internet]. Santa Monica: Gilead; 2018 (https://www.gilead.com/news-and-press/press-room/press-releases/ 2018/8/yescarta-axicabtagene-ciloleucel-receives-european-marketing-authorization-for-thetreatment-of-relapsed-or-refractory-dlbcl-and-pmbcl-after-two-o, accessed, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Kymriah<sup>®</sup> (tisagenlecleucel) [internet]. Nuremberg: Novartis; 2021 (https://www.novartis.de/ arzneimittel-produkte/kymriah-informationen-zur-risikominimierung, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Kymriah (tisagenlecleucel) [internet]. Silver Spring, MD: US Food and Drug Adminstration; 2021 (https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/kymriahtisagenlecleucel, accessed 18 June 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

 Yescarta (axicabtagene ciloleucel) [internet]. Silver Spring, MD: US Food and Drug Adminstration; 2021 (https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/yescartaaxicabtagene-ciloleucel, accessed 18 June 2021).

- 5. Hay KA, Turtle CJ. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells: lessons Learned from targeting of CD19 in B-cell malignancies. Drugs. 2017;77(3):237–45.
- 6. Neelapu SS. CAR-T efficacy: is conditioning the key? Blood. 2019;133(17):1799–800.
- 7. Buchholz CJ, Hartmann J, Schüßler-Lenz M, Keller-Stanislawski B. CAR-T-Zell-Therapie: Aussichten und Risiken [CAR-T-cell therapy: prospects and risks]. Dtsch Arztebl. 2018;115(7).
- 8. Chavez JC, Bachmeier C, Kharfan-Dabaja MA. CAR T-cell therapy for B-cell lymphomas: clinical trial results of available products. Ther Adv Hematol. 2019;10:2040620719841581.
- 9. Yescarta axicabtagene ciloleucel [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/yescarta, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 10. Kymriah tisagenlecleucel [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https:// www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/kymriah, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 11. SEER cancer statistics review (1975–2017) [internet]. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2018/, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 12. Gaidukova S, Vydyborets S, Popovich Y. Epidemiology, pathogenesis, molecular characteristics, classification and prognosis of the diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Semeynaya Meditsina. 2018;5:36–40.
- 13. Flowers CR, Sinha R, Vose JM. Improving outcomes for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60(6):393–408.
- 14. Hainsworth JD, Arrowsmith ER, McCleod M, Hsi ED, Hamid O, Shi P, et al. A randomized, phase 2 study of R-CHOP plus enzastaurin vs R-CHOP in patients with intermediate- or high-risk diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2016;57(1):216–8.
- 15. Jain MD, Bachmeier CA, Phuoc VH, Chavez JC. Axicabtagene ciloleucel (KTE-C19), an anti-CD19 CAR T therapy for the treatment of relapsed/refractory aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2018;14:1007–17.
- 16. Ernst M, Oeser A, Besiroglu B, Caro-Valenzuela J, Abd El Aziz M, Monsef I, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy for people with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;9(9):CD013365.
- 17. Beider K, Besser MJ, Schachter J, Grushchenko-Polaq AH, Voevoda V, Wolf I, et al. Upregulation of senescent/exhausted phenotype of CAR T cells and induction of both treg and myeloid suppressive cells correlate with reduced response to CAR T cell therapy in relapsed/refractory B cell malignancies. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl 1):3234.
- 18. Chang L-J, Dong L, Zhu J, Ying Z, Kuo H-H, Liu Y, et al. 4SCAR19 chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells as a breakthrough therapy for highly chemotherapy-resistant late-stage B cell lymphoma patients with bulky tumor mass. Blood. 2015;126(23):264.
- 19. Hirayama AV, Gauthier J, Hay KA, Voutsinas JM, Wu Q, Gooley T, et al. The response to lymphodepletion impacts PFS in patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma treated with CD19 CART cells. Blood. 2019;133(17):1876–87.
- 20. Schuster SJ, Bishop MR, Tam CS, Waller EK, Borchmann P, McGuirk JP, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in adult relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(1):45–56.
- 21. Sang W, Shi M, Yang J, Cao J, Xu L, Yan D, et al. Phase II trial of co-administration of CD19- and CD20-targeted chimeric antigen receptor T cells for relapsed and refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Cancer Med. 2020;9(16):5827–38.

438

22. Schuster SJ, Svoboda J, Chong EA, Nasta SD, Mato AR, Anak Ö, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells in refractory B-cell lymphomas. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(26):2545–54.

- 23. Tong C, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Ji X, Zhang W, Guo Y, et al. Optimized tandem CD19/CD20 CAR-engineered T cells in refractory/relapsed B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2020;136(14):1632–44.
- Ying Z, Xu P, Wang L, Cheng S, Wu W, Wang W, et al. Clinical response in relapsed/refractory (R/R) B-NHL yreated with the CD19-directed CAR T-cell product JWCAR029. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl 1):2876.
- 25. Locke FL, Ghobadi A, Jacobson CA, Miklos DB, Lekakis LJ, Oluwole OO, et al. Long-term safety and activity of axicabtagene ciloleucel in refractory large B-cell lymphoma (ZUMA-1): a single-arm, multicentre, phase 1-2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(1):31–42.
- 26. Jacobson C, Locke F, Miklos D, Herrera A, Westin J, Lee J, et al. End of phase 1 results from Zuma-6: axicabtagene ciloleucel (Axi-Cel) in combination with atezolizumab for the treatment of patients with refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Blood. 2018;132:4192.
- 27. Kochenderfer JN, Somerville RPT, Lu T, Shi V, Bot A, Rossi J, et al. Lymphoma remissions caused by anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T cells are associated with high serum interleukin-15 levels. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(16):1803–13.
- Abramson JS, Palomba ML, Gordon LI, Lunning MA, Wang M, Arnason J, et al. Lisocabtagene maraleucel for patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphomas (TRANSCEND NHL 001): a multicentre seamless design study. Lancet. 2020;396(10254):839–52.
- 29. Siddiqi T, Abramson JS, Lee HJ, Schuster S, Hasskarl J, Montheard S, et al. Safety of lisocabtagene maraleucel given with durvalumab in patients with relapsed/refractory aggressive b-cell non hodgkin lymphoma: first results from the PLATFORM study. Hematol Oncol. 2019;37(S2):171–2.
- Maziarz RT, Waller EK, Jaeger U, Fleury I, McGuirk J, Holte H, et al. Patient-reported long-term quality of life after tisagenlecleucel in relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Blood Adv. 2020;4(4):629–37.
- Patrick DL, Powers A, Jun MP, Kim Y, Garcia J, Dehner C, et al. Effect of lisocabtagene maraleucel on HRQoL and symptom severity in relapsed/refractory large B-cell lymphoma. Blood Adv. 2021;5(8):2245–55.
- 32. Lee DW, Gardner R, Porter DL, Louis CU, Ahmed N, Jensen M, et al. Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of cytokine release syndrome. Blood. 2014;124(2):188–95.
- Porter DL, Hwang WT, Frey NV, Lacey SF, Shaw PA, Loren AW, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells persist and induce sustained remissions in relapsed refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(303):303ra139.
- Ernst M, Oeser A, Besiroglu B, Caro-Valenzuela J, Abd El Aziz M, Monsef I, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy for people with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;9(9):CD013365.
- 35. Yang H, Hao Y, Chai X, Qi CZ, Wu EQ. Estimation of total costs in patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma receiving tisagenlecleucel from a US hospital's perspective. J Med Econ. 2020;23(9):1016–24.
- Jørgensen J, Hanna E, Kefalas P. Outcomes-based reimbursement for gene therapies in practice: the experience of recently launched CAR-T cell therapies in major European countries. J Mark Access Health Policy. 2020;8(1):1715536.
- Lin JK, Muffly LS, Spinner MA, Barnes JI, Owens DK, Goldhaber-Fiebert JD. Cost effectiveness of chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy in multiply relapsed or refractory adult large B-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(24):2105–19.

439

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Roth JA, Sullivan SD, Lin VW, Bansal A, Purdum AG, Navale L, et al. Cost–effectiveness of axicabtagene ciloleucel for adult patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma in the United States. J Med Econ. 2018;21(12):1238–45.
- 39. Ran T, Eichmüller SB, Schmidt P, Schlander M. Cost of decentralized CAR T-cell production in an academic nonprofit setting. Int J Cancer. 2020;147(12):3438–45.
- 40. Yang H, Qi C, Zhang J, El Ouagari K. PCN177 cost–effectiveness of tisagenlecleucel for adults with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: a Canadian societal perspective. Value Health. 2018;21:S44.
- Tisagenlecleucel (diffuses großzelliges B-Zell-Lymphom) Bewertung gemäß § 35a Abs. 1 Satz 11 SGB V (Ablauf Befristung) [Tisagenlecleucel (diffuse large-cell B-cell lymphoma) – assessment according to Section 35a, Paragraph 1, Clause 11 of Social Code Book V (expiry of time limit)] [internet]. Berlin: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWIG); 2020 (https://www. iqwig.de/projekte/g20-05.html, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 42. Axicabtagene ciloleucel for treating diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma after 2 or more systemic therapies. Technology appraisal guidance [TA559] [internet]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2019 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta559, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 43. Marchetti M, Martelli E, Zinzani PL. Cost–effectiveness of axicabtagene ciloleucel for relapsed or refractory dffuse large B-cell lymphoma in Italy. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):4779.
- 44. Petrou P. Is it a chimera? A systematic review of the economic evaluations of CAR-T cell therapy. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res. 2019;19(5):529–36.
- 45. Yang H, Qi C, Zhang J, El Ouagari K. PCN177 cost–effectiveness of tisagenlecleucel for adults with relaped or refractory diffuse large b-cell lymphoma: a Canadian societal perspective. J Value in Health. 2018;21:S44.
- 46. Cher BP, Gan KY, Aziz MIA, Lin L, Hwang WYK, Poon LM, et al. Cost utility analysis of tisagenlecleucel vs salvage chemotherapy in the treatment of relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma from Singapore's healthcare system perspective. J Med Econ. 2020:1–9.
- 47. Tisagenlecleucel for treating relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma after 2 or more systemic therapies. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2019 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta567, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Public summary: ARTG entry 329770 cellular therapies

   T cells axicabtagene ciloleucel, cryopreserved T Yescarta [internet]. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2020 (http://search.tga.gov.au/s/search.html?collection=tgaartg&profile=record&meta\_i=329770, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 49. Health Canada. Regulatory decision summary for Yescarta [internet]. Ottawa: Government of Canada; 2019 (https://hpr-rps.hres.ca/reg-content/regulatory-decision-summary-detail.php? lang=en&linkID=RDS00486, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Public summary: ARTG entry 312686 cellular therapies T cells – tisagenlecleucel, cryopreserved – T – Kymriah. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2018 (https://search.tga.gov.au/s/search.html?query=Tisagenlecleucel&collection=tga-artg&pro file=record, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 51. Health Canada. Summary basis of decision Kymriah Health Canada [internet]. Ottawa: Government of Canada; 2016 (https://hpr-rps.hres.ca/reg-content/summary-basis-decision-detailTwo.php?linkID=SBD00416, accessed 18 June 2021).

440

- Tisagenlecleucel in adult patients with aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma (BELINDA). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2018 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03570892; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03570892?term=belinda&draw=2&rank=1, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 53. A study to compare the efficacy and safety of JCAR017 to standard of care in adult subjects with high-risk, transplant-eligible relapsed or refractory aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas (TRANSFORM). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2018 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03575351; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03575351?term=NCT03575351&draw=2& rank=1, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 54. Efficacy of axicabtagene ciloleucel compared to standard of care therapy in subjects with relapsed/refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma (ZUMA-7). Bethesda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2018 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03391466; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03391466?term=zuma-7&draw=2&rank=1, accessed 18 June 2021).

# Section 13: DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

Calcipotriol – addition – EML and EMLc

# Calcipotriol

ATC Code: D05AX02

# Proposal

Addition of calcipotriol on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of plaque-type psoriasis.

# Applicant

International League of Dermatology Societies

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Cream or ointment: 0.005% (50 micrograms/mL) Lotion: 0.005% (50 micrograms/mL)

#### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for calcipotriol as the representative medicine, with calcitriol and tacalcitol as therapeutic alternatives.

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Calcipotriol has not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML and EMLc.

The EML and EMLc currently include betamethasone valerate and hydrocortisone acetate cream or ointment, 5% coal tar solution and 5% salicylic acid solution for the treatment of psoriasis.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Psoriasis affects people around the world, but its prevalence varies considerably, ranging from 0.09% in the United Republic of Tanzania to over 10% in Norway (1). At least 60 million people are estimated to be affected worldwide (2, 3).

Psoriasis varies in morphology, distribution, severity and course. The condition can first occur at any age: it has been reported in newborns and in elderly people. The most common age at onset for the first occurrence of psoriasis ranges from 15 to 20 years, followed by 55 to 60 years (1, 4). The most common form of psoriasis is plaque psoriasis in which sharply defined, round/oval or nummular (coin-sized) plaques may be seen. This form accounts for 80–90% of cases of psoriasis (1). People with psoriasis have a lower quality of life than healthy people without the condition, and similar to, or worse than, people with other chronic diseases (4, 5).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Systematic reviews

A 2013 Cochrane systematic review of 177 studies (34 808 participants) compared the effectiveness, tolerability and safety of topical treatment for chronic plaque psoriasis versus placebo, and of vitamin D analogues with other topical treatments (6).

#### Vitamin D analogues versus placebo

Twenty trials of vitamin D analogues (10 using calcipotriol, six using calcitriol and two using tacalcitol) for body psoriasis included 3771 participants. Primary efficacy outcomes included: investigator's assessment of overall global improvement or investigator's global assessment of disease severity (IAGI/IGA); total severity scores; psoriasis area and severity index (PASI); patient assessment of overall global improvement or patient global assessment of disease severity (PAGI/PGA); and a combined endpoint of these four measures. Pooled results (standardized mean difference (SMD), 95% confidence interval (CI)) for all treatments combined, and for calcipotriol, calcitriol and tacalcitol are presented in Table 7.

# Table 7 Efficacy of vitamin D analogues compared with placebo in treatment of psoriasis: pooled results of 20 trials

Treatment	SMD (95%CI)						
	IAGI/IGA	Total severity scores	PASI	PAGI/PGA	Combined		
All	–0.95 (–1.17	-1.04 (-1.33	–0.58 (–0.71	-0.54 (-0.72	-0.90 (-1.07		
treatments	to –0.74)	to -0.74)	to –0.45)	to -0.36)	to -0.72)		
Calcipotriol	–0.93 (–1.17	–1.15 (–1.41	–0.65 (–0.75	-0.64 (-0.97	–0.96 (–1.15		
	to –0.68)	to –0.89)	to –0.55)	to -0.30)	to –0.77)		
Calcitriol <sup>a</sup>	–1.03 (–1.71 to –0.36)	-1.22 (-2.38 to -0.07)	_	-0.59 (-0.76 to -0.41)	-0.92 (-1.54 to -0.29)		
Tacalcitol	-0.84 (-1.41	-0.66 (-0.95	-0.27 (-0.56	-0.24 (-0.53	-0.73 (-1.09		
	to -0.26)	to -0.36)	to 0.03)	to 0.05)	to -0.37)		

SMD: standardized mean difference; CI: confidence interval; IAGI/IGA: investigator's assessment of overall global improvement or investigator's global assessment of disease severity; PAGI/PGA: patient assessment of overall global improvement or patient global assessment of disease severity; PASI: psoriasis area and severity index.

<sup>a</sup> The authors noted that there was considerable variation between-studies in the IAGI SMD for calcitriol. The pooled effect was –1.03 (95% CI –1.71 to –0.36), but this ranged from –0.26 (95% CI –0.99 to 0.47) to -3.11 (95% CI –3.57 to –2.66).

#### Vitamin D analogues versus potent topical corticosteroids

Eight studies (2655 participants) reported efficacy data for three vitamin D analogues (calcipotriol, calcitriol and tacalcitol) versus potent corticosteroids (betamethasone dipropionate, betamethasone valerate, desoximetasone, diflorasone diacetate and fluocinonide). Overall, no statistically significant difference was found between vitamin D analogues and potent corticosteroids for the primary efficacy outcomes. The SMD across all six treatment comparisons for IAGI was 0.17 (95% CI –0.04 to 0.37).

For the outcome of IAGI/IGA, one study showed that calcipotriol was significantly better than fluocinonide (SMD -0.58, 95% CI -0.99 to -0.18). Calcipotriol was significantly less effective than both diflorasone diacetate 0.05% ointment (SMD 0.27, 95% CI 0.02 to 0.52) and betamethasone dipropionate (SMD 0.43, 95% CI 0.28 to 0.58). No statistically significant differences were observed between calcipotriol and betamethasone valerate, calcitriol and betamethasone valerate.

#### Comparisons of different vitamin D analogues

Three trials (498 participants) contributed IAGI/IGA data for comparisons of different vitamin D analogues. The analysis found a significant difference in

favour of calcipotriol versus tacalcitol (SMD -0.47, 95% CI -0.73 to -0.21), but not versus calcitriol (SMD 0.00, 95% CI -0.25 to 0.25) or maxacalcitol (SMD 0.43, 95% CI -0.12 to 0.98).

# Vitamin D analogues versus other treatments

For the outcome of IAGI/IGA, twice-daily calcipotriol was significantly more effective than coal tar polytherapy (SMD -0.59, 95% CI -0.87 to -0.31), and once-daily vitamin D analogue application was significantly less effective than a twice-daily application (SMD -0.24, 95% CI -0.38 to -0.09). No significant differences were observed between twice-daily application of calcipotriol and other comparators, including coal tar monotherapy, betamethasone dipropionate + salicylic acid, and topical tacrolimus.

# Other comparative studies

A randomized, double-blind study compared calcipotriol with betamethasone valerate treatment over 6 weeks in 409 participants with psoriasis (7). Efficacy was assessed using the PASI at 2, 4 and 6 weeks. Reduction of PASI was statistically significant at all time points for both treatments, and there were no significant between-treatment differences. After 6 weeks of treatment, the mean PASI reduction was 5.50 for calcipotriol and 5.32 for betamethasone. Calcipotriol produced more local irritation.

Another study compared the safety and tolerability of calcipotriol cream with betamethasone 17-valerate cream in treating plaque-type psoriasis in a multicentre, double-blind, parallel-group study (8). The mean percentage reduction in PASI from baseline to end of treatment was 47.8% in the calcipotriol group and 45.4% in the betamethasone group. The reduction from baseline was highly significant in both groups, but the difference between the groups was not significant.

A study of 106 patients with chronic plaque psoriasis compared twicedaily calcipotriol with once-daily dithranol cream (short-contact regimen) (9). The mean percentage reduction in PASI from baseline to end of treatment was 57.0% in the calcipotriol group and 63.6% in the dithranol group, with no statistically significant difference between groups.

# Efficacy of vitamin D analogues in children with psoriasis

A multicentre, prospective, open-label study evaluated the efficacy and safety of twice-daily topical calcipotriol for up to 8 weeks in 58 children with psoriasis (10). A statistically significant reduction in mean PASI scores was observed from the start to end of treatment. Marked improvement or clearance was reported in 65% of participants (investigator-assessed) and 62% of participants (patient-assessed). No significant alterations in serum ionized calcium levels or other biochemical or haematological parameters were seen over the course of treatment.

A multicentre, prospective, double-blind, parallel-group study evaluated the efficacy and safety of calcipotriol in 77 children (2–14 years old) with stable psoriasis involving less than 30% of the body surface (11). Participants were assigned to receive calcipotriol twice daily for 8 weeks or placebo. Both treatment groups showed significant improvement in PASI from baseline to the end of treatment, and the difference between the groups was not statistically significant. No serious adverse effects, in particular relating to calcium and bone metabolism, were reported.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Local skin irritation is estimated to occur in up to 20% of patients using topical vitamin D analogues. This is a clinical problem when treatment is applied to the face and therefore calcipotriol and other agents are not used for facial psoriasis.

Systemic hypercalcaemia has also been reported. Calcipotriol use has not been commonly associated with clinically significant hypercalcemia, possibly because it is rapidly metabolized after topical application. The cases where it has been recorded are generally single raised values in studies using vitamin D analogues over 52 weeks (12-14). A study involving hospitalized patients with severe and extensive psoriasis receiving up to 360 g of calcipotriol (50 micrograms/g) ointment a week found treatment did not affect bone turnover, but five out of 16 patients developed hypercalcaemia with a reduction in serum parathyroid hormone levels; this returned to normal within 2 days of stopping the treatment (15).

The above-mentioned Cochrane review analysed the adverse effects recorded in the included studies (6). Eleven studies evaluated local or systemic adverse events associated with calcipotriol, or both. The rate of withdrawal due to local adverse events ranged from 4% to 14%, and the rate of adverse events ranged from 20% to 41%. The larger trials reported higher adverse events rates (weighted mean: 36%). In a 52-week study, facial irritation affected 30% of participants in the early stages of the trial, but the incidence declined over time. The incidence of systemic adverse events was less common, with five out of eight studies reporting no significant effects.

Four studies evaluated both local and systemic adverse events associated with tacalcitol. The rate of withdrawal due to local adverse events ranged from 0% to 6%, and the rate of adverse events ranged from 10% to 21%. Three studies found no systemic adverse events. One study found that over half of participants with psoriasis affecting 10–20% of their body surface area exceeded the recommended daily dose of 5 g/day (up to 13 g daily). However, no effect on calcium homeostasis was reported. Systemic adverse events were identified in over half of participants in an uncontrolled study, but only 6/155 events were considered treatment-related.

Three studies evaluated adverse events associated with calcitriol. One study examined the tolerability and systemic adverse events of calcitriol used as monotherapy (3 micrograms/g ointment applied twice daily) in 253 patients. Three per cent of participants withdrew due to adverse events and 15% reported local adverse events. The rate of withdrawal due to systemic adverse events was low (0.4%), but four cases of hypercalcaemia were reported. The effects of high-dose calcitriol (15 micrograms/g once daily) were tested on three groups of participants, with the quantity used proportional to the area affected. No systemic adverse events, skin irritation, or clinically relevant changes in vital signs, haematology, biochemistry, urine or electrocardiogram were observed.

Studies on the use of calcipotriol in children reported low levels of local irritation in some children, but blood abnormalities, including those affecting calcium metabolism, were not observed (10, 11, 16).

# Use in pregnancy

Adequate, well controlled studies of the use of calcipotriol during pregnancy are lacking. Fetal abnormalities have been reported in animal studies. It is recommended that calcipotriol be used during pregnancy only if the potential benefits justify the potential risks.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of psoriasis are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A cost–effectiveness study compared topical calcipotriol with short-contact dithranol in the treatment of mild to moderate plaque psoriasis (17). Only the costs of drug treatment to the British National Health Service were considered. Considering only drug treatment costs, calcipotriol was the more effective option and also the more costly. Over the long term, first-line treatment with calcipotriol had the highest expected cost per successful treatment at £ 164.91, compared with £ 126.25 with short-contact dithranol.

The reported listed costs for calcipotriol are: £ 7.43 (30 g) in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, US\$ 149–263 (60 g) in the USA, Can\$ 254–282 (60 g) in Canada and  $\in$  9.70 in Italy.

# Availability

Calcipotriol is licensed for use in 97 countries worldwide.

#### Other considerations

The use of calcipotriol may spare the use of steroids. The application briefly described adverse events of topical corticosteroids, specifically tolerance, tachyphylaxis or diminishing therapeutic effect over time, as shown in eczema studies (18). The application also highlighted that in all environments, and particularly in warm and humid climates, misapplication of creams or ointments containing steroids to infections or infestations leads to suppression of inflammation and subsequent spread of the secondary infection (19, 20), as well as allergic contact dermatitis accentuated by repeated use (21).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that psoriasis is painful and disabling disease with a significant global burden and variable prevalence in different populations. The 2014 World Health Assembly resolution on psoriasis recognized the public health impact of psoriasis and the need for integrated management approaches. Severe forms of the disease are often treated using systemic therapies, but these can produce considerable toxicity and need careful monitoring. Topical treatment, such as calcipotriol, can be a valuable alternative, particularly for moderate disease.

The Committee noted that topical calcipotriol is more effective than placebo but not as effective as topical corticosteroids (e.g. betamethasone), a class of medicines that has been included in the EML since the first list was published. However, calcipotriol may be useful in patients who cannot tolerate corticosteroids or when toxicity associated with prolonged corticosteroid exposure becomes a problem. Calcipotriol has a favourable safety profile compared with topical corticosteroids due to low systemic absorption. It is easy to use, widely available and suitable for use in both adults and children.

The Expert Committee noted that, although there is limited evidence on the efficacy of calcipotriol for scalp psoriasis, it may be an appropriate alternative to prolonged topical use of corticosteroids on the scalp. Lotion formulations may provide greater patient acceptability for scalp application.

Therefore, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of calcipotriol on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of moderate forms of psoriasis.

#### References

- Global report on psoriasis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/204417, accessed 15 June 2021).
- Mehrmal S, Uppal P, Nedley N, Giesey RL, Delost GR. The global, regional, and national burden of psoriasis in 195 countries and territories, 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2021;84(1):46–52.

 Parisi R, Iskandar IYK, Kontopantelis E, Augustin M, Griffiths CEM, Ashcroft DM. National, regional, and worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis: systematic analysis and modelling study. BMJ. 2020;369:m1590.

- 4. Langley RG, Krueger GG, Griffiths CE. Psoriasis: epidemiology, clinical features, and quality of life. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(Suppl 2):ii18–23; discussion ii4–5.
- 5. Bhosle MJ, Kulkarni A, Feldman SR, Balkrishnan R. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2006;4:35.
- 6. Mason AR, Mason J, Cork M, Dooley G, Hancock H. Topical treatments for chronic plaque psoriasis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013(3):CD005028.
- Cunliffe WJ, Berth-Jones J, Claudy A, Fairiss G, Goldin D, Gratton D, et al. Comparative study of calcipotriol (MC 903) ointment and betamethasone 17-valerate ointment in patients with psoriasis vulgaris. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1992;26(5 Pt 1):736–43.
- Molin L, Cutler TP, Helander I, Nyfors B, Downes N. Comparative efficacy of calcipotriol (MC903) cream and betamethasone 17-valerate cream in the treatment of chronic plaque psoriasis. A randomized, double-blind, parallel group multicentre study. Calcipotriol Study Group. Br J Dermatol. 1997;136(1):89–93.
- van de Kerkhof PC, van der Valk PG, Swinkels OQ, Kucharekova M, de Rie MA, de Vries HJ, et al. A comparison of twice-daily calcipotriol ointment with once-daily short-contact dithranol cream therapy: a randomized controlled trial of supervised treatment of psoriasis vulgaris in a day-care setting. Br J Dermatol. 2006;155(4):800–7.
- Darley CR, Cunliffe WJ, Green CM, Hutchinson PE, Klaber MR, Downes N. Safety and efficacy of calcipotriol ointment (Dovonex) in treating children with psoriasis vulgaris. Br J Dermatol. 1996;135(3):390–3.
- 11. Oranje AP, Marcoux D, Svensson A, Prendiville J, Krafchik B, Toole J, et al. Topical calcipotriol in childhood psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1997;36(2 Pt 1):203–8.
- 12. Lebwohl M, Ortonne JP, Andres P, Briantais P. Calcitriol ointment 3 microg/g is safe and effective over 52 weeks for the treatment of mild to moderate plaque psoriasis. Cutis. 2009;83(4):205–12.
- Langner A, Ashton P, Van De Kerkhof PC, Verjans H. A long-term multicentre assessment of the safety and tolerability of calcitriol ointment in the treatment of chronic plaque psoriasis. Br J Dermatol. 1996;135(3):385–9.
- 14. Kircik L. Efficacy and safety of topical calcitriol 3 microg/g ointment, a new topical therapy for chronic plaque psoriasis. J Drugs Dermatol. 2009;8(8 Suppl):s9–16.
- 15. Bourke JF, Mumford R, Whittaker P, Iqbal SJ, Le Van LW, Trevellyan A, et al. The effects of topical calcipotriol on systemic calcium homeostasis in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1997;37(6):929–34.
- Fabrizi G, Vultaggio P. Calcipotriol and psoriasis in children. J Dermatolog Treatment. 1997;8:221–
   3.
- 17. Ashcroft DM, Li Wan Po A, Williams HC, Griffiths CE. Cost–effectiveness analysis of topical calcipotriol versus short-contact dithranol. In the treatment of mild to moderate plaque psoriasis. Pharmacoeconomics. 2000;18(5):469–76.
- Brunner PM, Khattri S, Garcet S, Finney R, Oliva M, Dutt R, et al. A mild topical steroid leads to progressive anti-inflammatory effects in the skin of patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;138(1):169–78.
- 19. Mehta AB, Nadkarni NJ, Patil SP, Godse KV, Gautam M, Agarwal S. Topical corticosteroids in dermatology. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol. 2016;82(4):371–8.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 20. Jacobs JA, Kolbach DN, Vermeulen AH, Smeets MH, Neuman HA. Tinea incognito due to Trichophytom rubrum after local steroid therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2001;33(12):E142–4.
- 21. Lepoittevin JP, Drieghe J, Dooms-Goossens A. Studies in patients with corticosteroid contact allergy. Understanding cross-reactivity among different steroids. Arch Dermatol. 1995;131(1): 31–7.

# Section 15: DISINFECTANTS AND ANTISEPTICS

# **15.1 Antiseptics**

# 15.2 Disinfectants

Hypochlorous acid – addition – EML and EMLc

# Hypochlorous acid solution

ATC Code: N/A

# Proposal

Addition of hypochlorous acid solution to the core list of the EML and EMLc for use in disinfection, antisepsis and wound decontamination. Hypochlorous acid solutions are identified variously as electrolysed water, superoxidized water, acid electrolysed water, superoxidized saline and other variants.

# Applicant

Briotech, Inc. Washington, DC, United States of America

#### WHO technical department

Not applicable.

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

13 Dermatological medicines (topical)15.1 Antiseptics15.2 Disinfectants

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Aqueous solution: 150 parts per million or greater of hypochlorous acid

#### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Hypochlorous acid solution and hydrogel were considered for inclusion on the Model Lists for use in wound management in 2017. The Expert Committee did not recommend addition on the basis of inadequate evidence, noting that the quality of the evidence presented in the application for the solution formulation was uncertain, and that no evidence was presented for hydrogel (1).

Antiseptics currently included on the Model Lists are chlorhexidine, ethanol and povidone iodine. Disinfectants currently included are alcohol-based hand rub, chlorine base compound, chloroxylenol and glutaral.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

#### Disinfection

The importance of environmental disinfection measures became more recognized in 2020 because of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. Regular decontamination of surfaces and air has become a necessary infection control measure.

#### Antisepsis and wound care

Infected wounds and the rise of antibiotic-resistant organisms are responsible for significant increases in morbidity, mortality and the cost of health care. Using topical antiseptics to treat superficial skin lesions with mild infections is advisable to avoid the use of antibiotics.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Disinfection

An in vitro study showed antiprion activity of hypochlorous acid solution using intracerebral infectivity of treated prions of scrapie and with an in vitro fluorescent chemistry method showing efficacy against bovine spongiform encephalopathy, Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease and chronic wasting disease prions (2). Efficacy was shown to reach a log removal value of almost 6 after exposures of 60 minutes at room temperature. Log removal values of up to 3–4 were achieved with 5 minutes of contact with hypochlorous acid. Efficacy was also demonstrated against *Bacillus* spores.

A retrospective, single-institution cohort study evaluated the efficacy of universal skin decolonization using mupirocin and hypochlorous acid solution to decrease health care-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections in patients admitted to a burn intensive care unit in a tertiary-care community hospital (*3*). Global MRSA infection rates per 1000 patient days were 7.23 before the intervention and 2.37 after the intervention (incidence rate ratio 0.35, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.17 to 0.65). Patients in the burn intensive care unit who did not receive universal decolonization had a 3.05 times higher risk of acquiring an MRSA infection than those who did. No complications were noted from the use of hypochlorous acid solution for skin decolonization.

An in vitro study to determine the efficacy of exposure to a pure hypochlorous acid solution for inactivation of high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV 16 and 18) found hypochlorous acid to be a highly effective disinfectant even with short contact times (4). All hypochlorous acid treatment times produced a > 99.99% reduction in infectivity of HPV16 and HPV18, comparable to the efficacy of 0.87% sodium hypochlorite.

#### Antisepsis

A randomized controlled trial in 111 participants on intraperitoneal dialysis evaluated the efficacy and safety of superoxidized solution versus povidone iodine following catheter placement in reducing the frequency of dialysis-associated infections (5). After 8 weeks of follow up, 24.5% of the povidone-iodine group had had catheter-related infections compared with 6.0% in the group treated with superoxidized solution (P < 0.05). In addition, the mean time for resolution of infection in the povidone-iodine group was 12 days compared with 4 days for the superoxidized solution group (P < 0.05).

An in vivo and in vitro study assessed the effectiveness of a hypochlorous acid-based wound cleanser compared with other cleansers (povidone-iodine and chlorhexidine) in disrupting MRSA and Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms. The study also evaluated the bioburden reduction of venous stasis wounds with the different cleansers (6). All agents tested significantly neutralized MRSA and Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms compared with saline control. Undiluted hypochlorous acid was significantly less cytotoxic than 1% and 10% povidone-iodine and chlorhexidine wound solution. No significant difference was found in bacterial reduction in wounds after treatment with hypochlorous acid for any type of bacteria examined. In wounds treated with hypochlorous acid or chlorhexidine, similar percentage reductions were seen in bacterial colony-forming units from precleansing levels when plated on tryptic soy agar, MacConkey agar, streptococcal agar and mannitol salt agar. Plates treated with chlorhexidine tended to have higher bacterial reduction on non-selective and Gram-negative agars, whereas plates treated with hypochlorous acid tended to have higher bacterial reduction in streptococcal-selective agars.

A randomized controlled trial of 80 participants with peritonitis compared peritoneal lavage with saline and peritoneal lavage with saline followed by superoxidized solution following surgery (7). Purulent discharge occurred in 20.0% of participants receiving superoxidized solution lavage versus 52.5% of participants receiving saline lavage (P < 0.01). The incidence of burst abdomen among the participants given superoxidized solution lavage was significantly lower than among the participants given saline lavage (12.5% versus 32.5%, P < 0.05). No difference in the incidence of superficial wound infection was observed between treatment groups. A randomized trial of 178 participants compared the effectiveness of irrigation with neutral pH superoxidized solution and povidone iodine in reducing the incidence of sternotomy wound infection following coronary artery bypass graft surgery (8). Wound infection with sternotomy was reported in 5.7% of participants in the superoxidized solution group and 15.6% of participants in the povidone-iodine group (P = 0.03).

A randomized study of 100 participants undergoing exploratory laparotomy for peritonitis compared intraoperative peritoneal lavage with normal saline or normal saline followed by a superoxidized solution (9). Surgical site infection occurred in 14% of participants in the group treated with superoxidized solution compared with 40% of participants in the normal saline group (P = 0.003). The mean duration of hospital stay was similar between the two groups. Two participants in the superoxidized solution group died compared with eight participants in the saline group.

#### Wound care

A randomized trial of 60 participants evaluated the efficacy of hypochlorous acid versus povidone-iodine as a wound care agent in septic trauma wounds (*10*). Outcome measures for wound pain (no pain at day 14), odour (no odour at day 14), discharge (serous at day 14) and bacterial count (reduction in day 14 quantitative count) were significantly better in the hypochlorous acid group. At day 14, 90% of the participants treated with hypochlorous acid had wounds ready for surgical reconstruction, compared with 0% of the participants in the povidone-iodine group.

A randomized trial of 60 participants compared the efficacy of dressings with superoxidized solution and povidone-iodine in the management of infected diabetic ulcers (11). The mean change in ulcer area was significantly greater in participants treated with superoxidized solution dressings compared with participants given povidone-iodine dressings (2215 mm<sup>2</sup> versus 1641 mm<sup>2</sup>, P = 0.024). Similarly, the mean percentage reduction in ulcer area in participants receiving superoxidized solution dressings was significantly greater (58.90% versus 40.90%; P = 0.024).

A randomized, prospective, multicentre, open-label pilot study tested the efficacy of topical superoxidized solution alone compared with normal saline irrigation plus oral levofloxacin, and superoxidized solution plus oral levofloxacin in 67 participants with mild diabetic foot infections (*12*). Based on the intentionto-treat population, the clinical success rate 14 days after completion of therapy (test of cure) for participants treated with superoxidized solution alone was 75.0%, compared with 72.0% for participants treated with superoxidized solution plus levofloxacin and 52.4% for participants treated with saline plus levofloxacin. Differences in clinical success rates were not statistically significant. A randomized case control trial of 100 patients with a variety of wounds compared the efficacy and outcomes of superoxidized solutionsaturated dressings and povidone-iodine saturated dressings (13). The most common infecting organism isolated was *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, followed by *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Klebsiella* spp. The decrease in surface area of wounds at the end of 1, 2, 3 and 4 weeks was significantly greater in the superoxidized solution group (P = 0.005, P = 0.002, P < 0.001 and P < 0.001, respectively).

A randomized controlled trial examined the efficacy and safety of a superoxidized solution compared with povidone-iodine (as adjuncts to systemic antibiotics and debridement as needed) in the management of wide (> 5 cm) postsurgical lesions of the diabetic foot in 40 participants (14). Healing, as measured by complete re-epithelization, occurred in 90% of the participants treated with superoxidized solution compared with 55% of the povidone-iodine group (P < 0.01). Participants treated with superoxidized solution also had fewer episodes of reinfection (P < 0.01).

A retrospective analysis of 897 patients with 1249 venous leg ulcers treated with hypochlorous acid solution found that all venous leg ulcers healed completely. Treatment involved cleaning and debriding foreign matter, debris and necrotic material by application of hypochlorous acid solution, with or without pressure and abrasion, using a sterile gauze soaked with hypochlorous acid. Sharp debridement was performed where required within 10 days of presentation. All ulcers were dressed and/or loosely packed with sterile gauze soaked with hypochlorous acid. Compressive bandaging was applied. Light abrasion using sterile gauze and flushing with hypochlorous acid solution was performed every few days. The longest healing times were observed in 10 patients for whom compression therapy was contraindicated. However, aggressive management adding hypochlorous acid resulted in complete wound closure within 180 days in these 10 patients (15).

A randomized, single-blind trial studied the outcomes of standard care (without neutral pH superoxidized solution) and standard care plus neutral pH superoxidized solution in the treatment of 45 patients with diabetic foot ulcers (*16*). Odour reduction was reported in 100% of participants treated with superoxidized solution compared with 20% in the standard care group. Surrounding cellulitis diminished in 80.5% of participants treated with superoxidized solution versus 43.7% in the standard care group and advancement to granulating tissue stage occurred in 90.4% versus 62.5%.

A hundred patients with diabetic foot ulcer wounds were randomized to treatment with either daily superoxidized solution or saline-soaked gauzes (17). Participants treated with hypochlorous acid had a significantly shorter period of hospitalization than saline-treated participants (68% versus 20% stayed in hospital for 1–7 days, P < 0.05) and a greater proportion experienced a downgrading of wound category (62% versus 15%, P < 0.05).

Two hundred patients with different types of wounds were prospectively randomized to treatment with either superoxidized solution or povidone-iodine (using saturated gauzes), and antibiotics (*18*). After a mean follow-up of 21 days, the average reduction in the wound size of diabetic foot ulcer in the group treated with superoxidized solution was 70% compared with 50% in the povidone-iodine group. Earlier granulation and epithelization were also seen for wounds treated with superoxidized solution compared with those treated with povidone-iodine (100% versus 85% at day 18).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Clinical adverse events from exposure to pure hypochlorous acid (present at a pH between 4.0 and 5.33) have not been recorded in the medical literature. Adverse events have been reported following exposure to relatively high pH (> 6.5), crude formulations containing mixed oxidants, including hypochlorite, which result from poorly controlled manufacturing processes.

Eye and skin inflammation and respiratory irritation are common with hypochlorite (bleach), which can be present at levels of 30% or more in hypochlorous acid solutions made or adjusted to pH 7, or in swimming pools that are improperly managed, allowing the pH to rise into the alkaline range.

A 2011 study evaluated the risk of biological toxicity in a mouse model when acid-electrolysed water was ingested as drinking water for 8 weeks. No abnormal findings were observed and the authors concluded this water would be safe if used as a mouthwash, even if ingested (19).

Another study using an animal model looked at the potential toxicity associated with infusions of superoxidized solution into the intraperitoneal cavity of rats. No significant differences in blood biochemistry, renal function or liver function were found between rats infused with hypochlorous acid and control rats (20).

A review of acid-electrolysed water versus normal saline as a peritoneal lavage to prevent postsurgical infections after perforated appendicitis in children found no evidence of toxicity associated with acid-electrolysed water (21).

#### **Environmental safety**

Hypochlorous acid is a highly reactive molecule and short-lived when exposed to pathogens or other biological matter. On exposure, pure hypochlorous acid degrades within minutes to form sodium chloride and water, becoming benign and non-reactive saltwater closely analogous to human tears (22). Because of that rapid reactivity, pure hypochlorous acid at a label concentration of 180 parts per million poses no risk of environmental contamination (except as a mild 0.9% salt solution) and does not require personal protective equipment. It can be stored without any hazardous materials protocol and can be disposed of with no risk of generating a toxic waste stream.

In contrast, impure hypochlorous acid/hypochlorite solutions, such as hypochlorite (bleach), require personal protective equipment and hazardous material storage, and must be disposed of as both a toxic materials risk and an environmental hazard. These hazard considerations also apply to other classes of antisepsis and disinfection agents.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## **WHO guidelines**

The WHO interim guidance document on cleaning and disinfecting surfaces in relation to COVID-19 specifies that "hypochlorite-based products include liquid (sodium hypochlorite), solid or powdered (calcium hypochlorite) formulations. These formulations dissolve in water to create a dilute aqueous chlorine solution in which undissociated hypochlorous acid (HOCl) is active as the antimicrobial compound" (23).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application states that modern manufacturing permits the generation of pure, stable hypochlorous acid in large volumes for roughly one eighth the cost of previous methods. Current pricing pf hypochlorous acid produced at scale can now be less than US\$ 2 per wholesale litre at the manufacturing facility, with small regional variations.

## Availability

Multiple branded aqueous hypochlorous acid formulations have been approved for topical use in wound management by the US Food and Drug Administration. The Food and Drug Administration has also approved hypochlorous acid for strong disinfection and sterilization of medical instruments (24). Multiple branded hypochlorous acid products are approved as COVID-19 disinfectants.

A class III medical product approval for hypochlorous acid has been granted in the European Union, and the Japanese Ministry of Health has approved the use of hypochlorous acid for topical medical applications.

The capacity to produce hypochlorous acid from small, local and networked manufacturing facilities is available. This eliminates the cost of transportation and allows remote locations to produce pure and stable hypochlorous acid that meets quality standards.

## Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that recommendations for chlorine-based products, including hypochlorite formulations, are included in the 2020 WHO guidance on cleaning and disinfection of environmental surfaces in the context of COVID-19. Liquid, solid or powered hypochlorite-based formulations dissolve in water to create a dilute aqueous chlorine solution in which undissociated hypochlorous acid is the active antimicrobial compound. The EML and EMLc currently list chlorine-based compounds, with a square box, intended to indicate that various formulations can be acceptable alternatives for selection and use. However, the current listing does not specify the alternative formulations.

In the review of square box listings on the Model Lists considered at the current meeting, an amendment to the square box listing of chlorine-based compounds in the disinfectant section of the EML and EMLc was proposed. The Committee recommended that the listing should be amended to specify the different recommended formulations to provide greater clarity and guidance for countries. This recommendation will result in liquid and solid formulations of chlorine-based compounds being specifically included as alternatives. Therefore, the Committee considered that a separate listing for the proposed formulation of hypochlorous acid solution was not necessary.

As regards antiseptic use, the Committee noted that hypochlorous acid appears to be a safe and effective antiseptic with a broad activity against a wide range of pathogens and has an acceptable safety profile. Recent advances in manufacturing have improved standardization of the product. However, the evidence supporting these considerations is relatively limited and derived from small and heterogeneous studies. The Expert Committee noted that ongoing studies will have the potential to better clarify the advantages of hypochlorous acid and would inform a future consideration of this product for inclusion on the Model Lists.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend hypochlorous acid for inclusion in the EML and EMLc for antisepsis and wound decontamination at this time, but advised that it would welcome a future application including data from ongoing studies and a more comprehensive review of the literature.

### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 15 June 2021).
- 2. Hughson AG, Race B, Kraus A, Sangaré LR, Robins L, Groveman BR, et al. Inactivation of prions and amyloid seeds with hypochlorous acid. PLoS Pathog. 2016;12(9):e1005914.

- Gray D, Foster K, Cruz A, Kane G, Toomey M, Bay C, et al. Universal decolonization with hypochlorous solution in a burn intensive care unit in a tertiary care community hospital. Am J Infect Control. 2016;44(9):1044–6.
- 4. Robins L, Meyers C, Milici J, Williams J, Robison R. Efficacy testing of HOCI as a disinfectant for high-risk HPV. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2019;8(Suppl 1):P483.
- Méndez-Durán A. Eficacia y seguridad del uso de solución de superoxidación en la prevención de infecciones relacionadas con diálisis [Efficacy and safety of the use of superoxidation solution in the prevention of dialysis-related infections]. Diálisis y Trasplante. 2013;34(4):160–5.
- Day A, Alkhalil A, Carney BC, Hoffman HN, Moffatt LT, Shupp JW. Disruption of biofilms and neutralization of bacteria using hypochlorous acid solution: an in vivo and in vitro evaluation. Adv Skin Wound Care. 2017;30(12):543–51.
- 7. Khan SM, Verma AK, Shahid M, Khan MM, Ahmad A. Evaluation of pre-operative peritoneal lavage by superoxidized solution in peritonitis. Middle East J Intern Med. 2009;2(3):15–35.
- 8. Mohd AR, Ghani MK, Awang RR, Su Min JO, Dimon MZ. Dermacyn irrigation in reducing infection of a median sternotomy wound. Heart Surg Forum. 2010;13(4):E228–32.
- Garg P, Kumar A, Sharda V, Saini A, Garg A, Sandhu A. Evaluation of intraoperative peritoneal lavage with super-oxidized solution and normal saline in acute peritonitis. Arch Int Surg. 2013;3(1):43–8.
- 10. Mekkawy M, Kamal A. A randomized clinical trial: the efficacy of hypochlorous acid on septic traumatic wound. J Educ Pract. 2014;5:89–100.
- 11. Prabhakar KBS PG, Uma K. Comparison of super-oxidized solution versus povidone iodine in management of infected diabetic ulcers: our experience. Int Arch Integr Med. 2016;3:151–8.
- 12. Landsman A, Blume PA, Jordan DA, Jr., Vayser D, Gutierrez A. An open-label, three-arm pilot study of the safety and efficacy of topical microcyn Rx wound care versus oral levofloxacin versus combined therapy for mild diabetic foot infections. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc. 2011;101(6):484–96.
- 13. Pandey P, Koushariya M, Shukla S, Das S, editors. Outcomes of superoxide solution dressings in surgical wounds: a randomized case control trial. Int J Biol Med Res. 2011;2(4):965–8.
- 14. Piaggesi A, Goretti C, Mazzurco S, Tascini C, Leonildi A, Rizzo L, et al. A randomized controlled trial to examine the efficacy and safety of a new super-oxidized solution for the management of wide postsurgical lesions of the diabetic foot. Int J Low Extrem Wounds. 2010;9(1):10–5.
- 15. Bongiovanni CM. Effects of hypochlorous acid solutions on venous leg ulcers (VLU): experience with 1249 VLUs in 897 patients. J Am Coll Clin Wound Spec. 2014;6(3):32–7.
- Martínez-De Jesús FR, Ramos-De la Medina A, Remes-Troche JM, Armstrong DG, Wu SC, Lázaro Martínez JL, et al. Efficacy and safety of neutral pH superoxidised solution in severe diabetic foot infections. Int Wound J. 2007;4(4):353–62.
- 17. Hadi SF, Khaliq T, Bilal N, Sikandar I, Saaiq M, Zubair M, et al. Treating infected diabetic wounds with superoxidized water as anti-septic agent: a preliminary experience. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2007;17(12):740–3.
- 18. Kapur V, Marwaha AK. Evaluation of effect and comparison of superoxidised solution (oxum) v/s povidone iodine (betadine). Indian J Surg. 2011;73(1):48–53.
- Morita C, Nishida T, Ito K. Biological toxicity of acid electrolyzed functional water: effect of oral administration on mouse digestive tract and changes in body weight. Arch Oral Biol. 2011;56(4):359–66.
- Aras A, Karaman E, Yıldırım S, Yılmaz Ö, Kızıltan R, Karaman K. Intraperitoneal infusion of neutralph superoxidized solution in rats: evaluation of toxicity and complications on peritoneal surface and liver. Med Sci Monit. 2017;23:960–5.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 21. Kubota A, Goda T, Tsuru T, Yonekura T, Yagi M, Kawahara H, et al. Efficacy and safety of strong acid electrolyzed water for peritoneal lavage to prevent surgical site infection in patients with perforated appendicitis. Surg Today. 2015;45(7):876–9.
- 22. Adam LC, Fabian I, Suzuki K, Gordon G. Hypochlorous acid decomposition in the pH 5–8 region. Inorg Chem. 1992;31(17):3534–41.
- 23. Cleaning and disinfection of environmental surfaces in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 15 May 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332096, accessed 15 June 2021).
- 24. FDA-cleared sterilants and high level disinfectants with general claims for processing reusable medical and dental devices. Silver Spring, MD: US Food and Drug Admistration;2019 (https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/reprocessing-reusable-medical-devices-information-manufacturers/fda-cleared-sterilants-and-high-level-disinfectants-general-claims-processing-reusable-medical-and, accessed 20 November 2021).

460

# Section 18: MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS

Simvastatin – new indication – EML

## Simvastatin

# ATC Code: C10AA01

## Proposal

Extension of the indications for simvastatin on the EML to include treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome in women.

## Applicant

Jill M. Pulley, Rebecca Jerome; Vanderbilt Institute for Clinical and translational Research, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, United States of America

#### WHO technical department

Not applicable

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

18 Medicines for endocrine disorders

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 20 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

The application noted that current evidence does not confirm that there is a true pharmacological class effect for statins in polycystic ovary syndrome. In addition, statins have a pharmacological variation that might plausibly suggest different outcomes with polycystic ovary syndrome.

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Simvastatin was added to the EML in 2007 for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease in high-risk populations with a square box listing giving pravastatin, lovastatin, fluvastatin and atorvastatin as possible alternatives, with the choice to be made at the national level. The Committee acknowledged that there was high-quality clinical evidence from many large randomized trials and systematic reviews that established the clinical benefits of statins, in conjunction with lifestyle modification, for this indication (1).

Simvastatin has not previously been considered by the Expert Committee for use in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome.

Generally, polycystic ovary syndrome presents as a spectrum of heterogeneous disorders of reproduction and metabolism in women with frequent symptoms, such as abnormal menstruation, infertility, obesity, hirsutism, acanthosis nigricans, acne and ovarian cysts. Expert groups commonly recommend using the Rotterdam criteria for diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome (2, 3). The Rotterdam criteria require that the patient exhibits two of three of the following characteristics: oligo- and/or anovulation; clinical and/ or biochemical signs of hyperandrogenism; and/or ultrasound evidence of polycystic ovaries (4).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Polycystic ovary syndrome is the most common endocrinopathy affecting women of reproductive age globally, with a prevalence of about 8-13% (5). Due to discrepancies between diagnostic criteria and symptom presentation, the prevalence may be as high as 20% (6). The prevalence and disease presentation vary widely by ethnicity and geographical location (7, 8).

Polycystic ovary syndrome is a leading cause of infertility. Furthermore, women with polycystic ovary syndrome are at a higher risk of developing impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, metabolic syndrome and certain gynaecological cancers (5, 9). Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have a substantially lower quality of life compared with control groups and population data (10).

Visible signs of excess androgens (such as hirsutism, acne and alopecia) have noticeable effects on physical appearance that can affect neuropsychological status. Obesity also has an important psychosocial effect (*11*). Women, especially adolescents, with polycystic ovary syndrome are at increased risk of anxiety and depression (*12–14*).

Associations between socioeconomic status and polycystic ovary syndrome prevalence vary; however, women of low socioeconomic status during adulthood, or low socioeconomic status during childhood but high personally attained socioeconomic status during adulthood, are more likely to have polycystic ovary syndrome (13, 15).

#### Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

Five systematic reviews and meta-analyses were identified that included an evaluation of simvastatin for the management of polycystic ovary syndrome (16–20). Variation in inclusion criteria (e.g. any statin), search approach, analytical techniques and outcomes of interest produced variability in conclusions on the usefulness of simvastatin and other statins for this indication. Three reviews focused on the evaluation of pharmacological class (16, 19, 20), and concluded simvastatin may provide some benefit with regard to biochemical markers such as lipid and testosterone levels. Two reviews included a comparison of atorvastatin, simvastatin and rosuvastatin and found atorvastatin to be superior in terms of effects on testosterone or dehydroepiandrosterone levels. However, small sample sizes limit the clinical usefulness of these findings (17, 18). Further studies are needed to assess clinical outcomes.

#### Randomized clinical trials

Fifteen randomized controlled trials compared the effectiveness of regimens containing simvastatin with one or two other treatment options. Most trials had small sample sizes. Trial data indicated positive effects of simvastatin therapy on lipids, hormone levels and other measures of disease activity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome.

Two trials compared simvastatin with placebo. A trial in 61 women with polycystic ovary syndrome pursuing in vitro fertilization found positive effects on testosterone and cholesterol but did not find benefit in terms of fertilization success (21). Another trial in 200 women with polycystic ovary syndrome found positive effects of simvastatin compared with placebo on hormone levels, lipids, menstrual regularity, hirsutism, acne, ovarian volume, body mass index and waist-to-hip ratio, but did not on fasting glucose, fasting insulin or measures of insulin resistance (22).

Two trials compared simvastatin with metformin in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (23, 24). One trial included 400 women and found simvastatin was superior to metformin in improving total cholesterol, lowdensity lipoprotein, C-reactive protein and acne; metformin was superior in improving fasting blood sugar and insulin measures (23). The second trial included 40 women with polycystic ovary syndrome pursuing in vitro fertilization; both regimens were associated with beneficial effects on biochemical parameters, but neither regimen affected fertilization outcomes (24).

Three trials with a total of 401 women with polycystic ovary syndrome compared simvastatin, metformin and the combination of simvastatin and metformin (25-28). In one of the trials, neither metformin nor simvastatin were found to affect levels of free fatty acid binding protein-4 or retinol binding

protein-4, known to contribute to metabolic syndrome (26). In another trial, women treated with simvastatin had significantly better responses than women treated with metformin alone for outcomes including number of spontaneous menses in 6 months, ovulation, ovarian volume, body mass index, waist-to-hip ratio, hirsutism score, acne, total and free testosterone, and other metabolic parameters (25). In the third trial, no significant differences were found between treatment groups for reduction in total testosterone, reduction in body mass index, or improvements in markers of systemic inflammation and endothelial function. Simvastatin treatment was superior to metformin alone (27, 28).

One trial compared simvastatin, metformin and flutamide plus oral contraceptives in 102 women with polycystic ovary syndrome and metabolic syndrome (29). After 6 months, simvastatin was superior to the other two regimens for reductions in waist circumference, body mass index and triglyceride levels. Metformin was superior to the other regimens for effects on fasting blood sugar.

Two trials compared simvastatin to atorvastatin in 116 women with polycystic ovary syndrome (30, 31). Both trials found the statin regimens lead to improvements in lipid levels and other measures of disease activity, while benefits attributed to the individual agents varied to some extent; the data suggest possible greater effects of simvastatin on hormone levels, while atorvastatin may have a greater effect on measures of insulin resistance.

Two trials evaluated simvastatin plus metformin versus metformin alone in 192 women with polycystic ovary syndrome (32, 33). Both trials found the regimen containing simvastatin-led to greater improvements in hormone levels (e.g. testosterone, follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone) and lipids.

One trial evaluated simvastatin plus oral contraceptives versus oral contraceptives alone in 48 women with polycystic ovary syndrome (34). The combination regimen significantly reduced serum testosterone, other hormone levels (e.g. follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone), reduced total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein levels, and increased high-density lipoprotein levels. The hirsutism score was also slightly reduced.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The safety and tolerability profile of simvastatin as a treatment for hyperlipidaemia is well known. The literature describing the use of simvastatin or atorvastatin in the treatment of women with polycystic ovary syndrome indicates a safety profile comparable to that observed in the substantial evidence on statin use for hyperlipidaemia.

Simvastatin is contraindicated in pregnancy and breastfeeding. It should only be used in women of childbearing potential when they are highly unlikely to conceive.

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Comments were received from Dr Barbara Stegmann, Clinical Lead for Women's Health, Organon & Co. (marketing authorization holder for Zocor brand of simvastatin), highlighting concerns about the of use of statins (including simvastatin) during pregnancy and in women of childbearing potential, including a category X designation by the United States Food and Drug Administration for use in pregnancy (drugs that can cause birth defects and developmental abnormalities in humans), and the contraindications for use during pregnancy and breastfeeding issued by the Food and Drug Admiration, European Medicines Agency and other regulatory agencies (*35–37*).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of women with polycystic ovary syndrome are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness data were presented in the application.

Simvastatin is widely used globally and is generally affordable.

A national cost analysis using United States data, noted that the estimated annual national health care cost associated with polycystic ovary syndrome was US\$ 1.16 billion, with the greatest contributors being treatment for diabetes, oral contraceptives, initial evaluation, medical costs associated with obesity, and infertility treatment (*38*). An analysis from the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland focused on the costs associated with diabetes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, and estimated the annual health care burden of the condition was at least £ 237 million (*39*).

#### Availability

Simvastatin is widely available globally in branded and generic forms. Currently, it does not have regulatory approval for the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome.

#### Other considerations

The applicants reviewed data from a phenome-wide association study. Such studies can identify diseases or conditions (phenotypes) that are associated with a specific gene or genetic variant (40). Phenome-wide association studies make use of existing data from the ExomeChip genotyping platform (about 250 000 coding variants across the protein coding region of the genome) and electronic health records of about 35 000 patients. Because the rationale of phenome-wide association studies can be extended to predict phenotypic manifestations of pharmacological targeting (such as with simvastatin) of a given gene product

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

in humans, these methods are used for drug repurposing (41). As a hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitor, simvastatin reduces cholesterol. The phenotypes associated with the missense single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) (Ile638Val) in the HMGCR gene are riskcausing, so in this regard, the SNP is functioning as an HMG-CoA reductase activator (the opposite of the drug). This SNP is associated with increased risk of cholesterol disorders, and is also associated with oophorectomy and ovarian cysts. The applicants assert this evidence supports the proposal to treat polycystic ovary syndrome with simvastatin.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee noted that polycystic ovary syndrome is a frequent disease in women worldwide. It is associated with infertility, obesity, metabolic syndrome, hypertension, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and some gynaecological cancers, and has important psychosocial effects, highlighting the need for appropriate treatment.

The Committee also acknowledged that repurposing of old drugs for new indication is important and should be further investigated. However, the available evidence shows that while simvastatin can improve biochemical markers in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome, there is no evidence that these improvements result in better clinical outcomes. Moreover, the evidence seems to suggest statins may differ with regard to their effect on surrogate markers, such as hormone levels, with atorvastatin possibly being superior to simvastatin.

The Committed noted that simvastatin should not be used in pregnancy as studies in animals and humans have shown fetal abnormalities or the risk of human fetal abnormalities. This an important issue as polycystic ovary syndrome mainly affects women of reproductive age and one aim of treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome is to improve fertility.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend the addition of simvastatin for polycystic ovary syndrome due to an absence of evidence for clinical benefits.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2007 (including the 15th Model List of Essential Medicines). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series No. 946; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43745, accessed 17 June 2021).
- Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, et al. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum Reprod. 2018;33(9):1602–18.

 Legro RS, Arslanian SA, Ehrmann DA, Hoeger KM, Murad MH, Pasquali R, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(12):4565–92.

- 4. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Hum Reprod. 2004;19(1):41–7.
- 5. Khan MJ, Ullah A, Basit S. Genetic basis of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): current perspectives. Appl Clin Genet. 2019;12:249–60.
- Brutocao C, Zaiem F, Alsawas M, Morrow AS, Murad MH, Javed A. Psychiatric disorders in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endocrine. 2018;62(2):318–25.
- 7. Jacob S, Balen AH. How will the new global polycystic ovary syndrome guideline change our clinical practice? Clin Med Insights Reprod Health. 2019;13:1179558119849605.
- 8. Wolf WM, Wattick RA, Kinkade ON, Olfert MD. Geographical prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome as determined by region and race/ethnicity. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(11):2589.
- 9. Ali AT. Polycystic ovary syndrome and metabolic syndrome. Ceska Gynekol. 2015;80(4):279–89.
- 10. Castelo-Branco C, Naumova I. Quality of life and sexual function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2020;36(2):96–103.
- 11. Podfigurna-Stopa A, Luisi S, Regini C, Katulski K, Centini G, Meczekalski B, et al. Mood disorders and quality of life in polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2015;31(6):431–4.
- 12. Çoban Ö G, Tulacı Ö D, Adanır AS, Önder A. Psychiatric disorders, self-esteem, and quality of life in adolescents with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2019;32(6):600–4.
- Rubin KH, Andersen MS, Abrahamsen B, Glintborg D. Socioeconomic status in Danish women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a register-based cohort study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2019;98(4):440–50.
- 14. Neven ACH, Laven J, Teede HJ, Boyle JA. A summary on polycystic ovary syndrome: diagnostic criteria, prevalence, clinical manifestations, and management according to the latest international guidelines. Semin Reprod Med. 2018;36(1):5–12.
- 15. Di Fede G, Mansueto P, Longo RA, Rini G, Carmina E. Influence of sociocultural factors on the ovulatory status of polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2009;91(5):1853–6.
- 16. Cassidy-Vu L, Joe E, Kirk JK. Role of statin drugs for polycystic ovary syndrome. J Family Reprod Health. 2016;10(4):165–75.
- 17. Almalki HH, Alshibani TM, Alhifany AA, Almohammed OA. Comparative efficacy of statins, metformin, spironolactone and combined oral contraceptives in reducing testosterone levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a network meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. BMC Womens Health. 2020;20(1):68.
- Yang S, Gu Y-Y, Jing F, Yu C-X, Guan Q-B. The effect of statins on levels of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Med Sci Monit. 2019;25:590–7.
- 19. Gao L, Zhao FL, Li SC. Statin is a reasonable treatment option for patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2012;120(6):367–75.
- 20. Raval AD, Hunter T, Stuckey B, Hart RJ. Statins for women with polycystic ovary syndrome not actively trying to conceive. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011(10):CD008565.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Rashidi B, Abediasl J, Tehraninejad E, Rahmanpour H, Sills ES. Simvastatin effects on androgens, inflammatory mediators, and endogenous pituitary gonadotropins among patients with PCOS undergoing IVF: results from a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Investig Med. 2011;59(6):912–6.
- 22. Seyam E, Al Gelany S, Abd Al Ghaney A, Mohamed MAA, Youseff AM, Ibrahim EM, et al. Evaluation of prolonged use of statins on the clinical and biochemical abnormalities and ovulation dysfunction in single young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2018;34(7):589–96.
- 23. Navali N, Pourabolghasem S, Fouladi RF, Nikpour MA. Therapeutic effects of biguanide vs. statin in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized clinical trial. Pak J Biol Sci. 2011;14(11):658–63.
- 24. Pourmatroud E, Mohammadjafari R, Roozitalab M. Comparison of metformin and simvastatin administration in women with polycystic ovary syndrome before intra-cytoplasmic sperm injection cycle: a prospective, randomized, clinical trial study. Iran Red Crescent Med J. 2015;17(12):e20082.
- 25. Seyam E, Hefzy E. Long-term effects of combined simvastatin and metformin treatment on the clinical abnormalities and ovulation dysfunction in single young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2018;34(12):1073–80.
- 26. Karakas SE, Banaszewska B, Spaczynski RZ, Pawelczyk L, Duleba A. Free fatty acid binding protein-4 and retinol binding protein-4 in polycystic ovary syndrome: response to simvastatin and metformin therapies. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2013;29(5):483–7.
- 27. Banaszewska B, Pawelczyk L, Spaczynski RZ, Duleba AJ. Comparison of simvastatin and metformin in treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: prospective randomized trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(12):4938–45.
- 28. Banaszewska B, Pawelczyk L, Spaczynski RZ, Duleba AJ. Effects of simvastatin and metformin on polycystic ovary syndrome after six months of treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(11):3493–501.
- 29. Mehrabian F, Ghasemi-Tehrani H, Mohamadkhani M, Moeinoddini M, Karimzadeh P. Comparison of the effects of metformin, flutamide plus oral contraceptives, and simvastatin on the metabolic consequences of polycystic ovary syndrome. J Res Med Sci. 2016;21:7.
- 30. Kaya C, Cengiz SD, Berker B, Demirtaş S, Cesur M, Erdoğan G. Comparative effects of atorvastatin and simvastatin on the plasma total homocysteine levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective randomized study. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(2):635–42.
- Kaya C, Pabuccu R, Cengiz SD, Dünder I. Comparison of the effects of atorvastatin and simvastatin in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective, randomized study. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2010;118(3):161–6.
- 32. Malik M, Tasnim N, Mahmud G. Effect of metformin alone compared with metformin plus simvastatin on polycystic ovarian syndrome in Pakistani women. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2018;28(3):184–7.
- 33. Kazerooni T, Shojaei-Baghini A, Dehbashi S, Asadi N, Ghaffarpasand F, Kazerooni Y. Effects of metformin plus simvastatin on polycystic ovary syndrome: a prospective, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. Fertil Steril. 2010;94(6):2208–13.
- 34. Duleba AJ, Banaszewska B, Spaczynski RZ, Pawelczyk L. Simvastatin improves biochemical parameters in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: results of a prospective, randomized trial. Fertil Steril. 2006;85(4):996–1001.
- 35. Highlights of prescribing information. Zocor (simvastatin) tablets, for oral use Initial U.S. Approval: 1991. Silver Springs, MD: US Food and Drug Administration; 2020 (https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2020/019766s101lbl.pdf, accessed 17 June 2021 ).

468

 Australian product information. Zocor<sup>®</sup> (simvastatin). Tablets. Canberra: Therapeutics Goods Administration, Commonwealth of Australia; 2020 (https://www.ebs.tga.gov.au/ebs/picmi/ picmirepository.nsf/pdf?OpenAgent&id=CP-2010-PI-03217-3&d=20211109172310101, accessed 17 June 2021).

- Electronic medicines compendium (emc). Zocor 10 mg film-coated tablets [internet]. London: Datapharm Communications Ltd.; 2021 (https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/1010/ smpc, accessed 17 June 2021).
- 38. Jason J. Polycystic ovary syndrome in the United States: clinical visit rates, characteristics, and associated health care costs. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171(13):1209–11.
- Ding T, Hardiman PJ, Petersen I, Baio G. Incidence and prevalence of diabetes and cost of illness analysis of polycystic ovary syndrome: a Bayesian modelling study. Hum Reprod. 2018;33(7):1299–306.
- 40. Denny JC, Ritchie MD, Basford MA, Pulley JM, Bastarache L, Brown-Gentry K, et al. PheWAS: demonstrating the feasibility of a phenome-wide scan to discover gene-disease associations. Bioinformatics. 2010;26(9):1205–10.
- 41. Pulley JM, Shirey-Rice JK, Lavieri RR, Jerome RN, Zaleski NM, Aronoff DM, et al. Accelerating precision drug development and drug repurposing by leveraging human genetics. Assay Drug Dev Technol. 2017;15(3):113–9.

18.5 Medicines for diabetes

# 18.5.1 Insulins

Long-acting insulin analogues – addition – EML and EMLc

Insulin degludec	ATC Code: A01AE06
Insulin detemir	ATC Code: A01AE05
Insulin glargine	ATC Code: A10AE04

#### Proposal

Addition of long-acting insulin analogues (insulin degludec, insulin detemir and insulin glargine) to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus.

#### Applicant

Medway NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biomedical Sciences, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom

Brigham & Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, United States of America (USA)

Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri, Milan, Italy

Northwestern University, Evanston, USA

#### WHO technical department

Management of noncommunicable diseases

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

18.5.1 Insulins

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or prefilled pen

#### Core/complementary

Core

470

## Individual/square box listing

Square box listing, incorporating insulin glargine, insulin degludec and insulin detemir and biosimilars.

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Long-acting insulin analogues were previously considered by the Expert Committee in 2013, 2017 and 2019 (1-3).

Insulin analogues are medicines whose molecular structure is similar to endogenous human insulin, a 51-amino acid polypeptide. Human insulin is available in various forms, as (regular) insulin with a rapid onset of action, slowacting neutral protamine Hagedorn (NPH) insulin or zinc-based preparations.

Insulin analogues were designed to mimic physiological insulin profiles more closely than human insulin injections, which is relevant especially for people with type 1 diabetes who are more at risk of frequent and severe hypoglycaemia events. Insulin analogues can be classified based on their duration of action. The long-acting insulin analogues insulin glargine and insulin degludec were designed to provide more stable basal insulin-action profiles and longer coverage of insulin needs. These medicines are typically dosed once daily, but detemir may be dosed twice daily in some circumstances. The ultra-long-acting insulin degludec has a duration of action that lasts up to 42 hours and is dosed once daily as basal insulin.

In 2017, the Expert Committee noted that the magnitude of the benefit provided by long-acting insulin analogues was not large compared with human insulin. The Committee considered that the benefits of long-acting insulin analogues over human insulin in reduced glycated haemoglobin and reduced hypoglycaemia were modest and did not justify the current large difference in price between long-acting insulin analogues and human insulin (2).

In 2019, the Committee again did not recommend the addition of longacting insulin analogues to the Model List, reiterating the conclusion of the 2017 Committee. The Committee was still concerned about the ongoing problems of access and affordability of insulin worldwide, despite human insulin not being patented. The Committee noted the long-standing domination of the insulin market by three manufacturers, limiting broader competition and slowing the entry of biosimilars to the market. The Committee also recommended WHO coordinate a series of actions to address the issues of insulin access and affordability (3).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Worldwide, diabetes affected an estimated 463 million people in 2019 (9.3% of the global population), of whom 79% live in low- and middle-income countries (4). The number of people with diabetes has almost tripled in the past 3 decades

due to: increase in population size; population ageing; and the increasing prevalence of the main risk factors for diabetes – overweight, obesity and physical inactivity (5). In 2019, diabetes was responsible for over 1.5 million deaths and 2.79% of all global disability-adjusted life years (6). The burden of diabetes is projected to increase to affect 700 million people in 2045 (7).

Diabetes is estimated to reduce life expectancy by 6 years when diagnosed at 40 years (8), and is a major cause of peripheral neuropathy, blindness, kidney failure and lower limb amputation. Diabetes complications affect quality of life and often lead to premature deaths, which is experienced by about a half of all people with diabetes.

The incidence and prevalence of type 2 diabetes are much higher than type 1 diabetes, with type 2 diabetes responsible for about 90-95% of all diabetes cases (4). The annual global expenditure on health care for people with diabetes is estimated to be US\$ 850 billion, 12% of the overall global health care expenditure (7).

All people with type 1 diabetes have an absolute need for insulin for survival. A proportion of people with type 2 diabetes (less than 10%) also need insulin at some point in the course of their disease (9).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits and harms (from the application)

#### Type 1 diabetes

A 2018 meta-analysis including 28 randomized controlled trials found that, compared with human NPH insulin (an insulin with intermediate duration of action), long-acting insulin analogues led to a significant reduction in general hypoglycaemia (relative risk (RR) 0.95, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.91 to 0.99), nocturnal hypoglycaemia episodes (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.76) and haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) – mean difference (MD) -0.17, 95% CI -0.23 to -0.12. No significant difference was observed for severe hypoglycaemia (RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.71 to 1.24) (10).

A 2021 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 64 randomized controlled trials and one non-randomized controlled trial compared long-acting insulin analogues and biosimilars with human insulin in adults with type 1 diabetes (11). The risk of bias varied for different elements (unclear in most trials for the random sequence generation, allocation concealment and selective reporting; high in most trials for the blinding of participants and personnel and other biases). The network meta-analysis found that long-acting insulin analogues led to fewer major or serious hypoglycaemia episodes (odds ratio (OR) 0.63, 95% CI 0.51 to 0.79) and nocturnal hypoglycaemia episodes (OR 0.74, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.94), and reductions in HbA1c (MD -0.14 percentage points (95% CI -0.22 to -0.06), fasting plasma glucose (MD -1.03 mmol/L (95% CI -1.33 to -0.73 mmol/L) and weight (MD -0.7 kg (95% CI -1.08 to -0.32 kg).

No significant differences were found for all-cause hypoglycaemia, vascular complications, microvascular complications, macrovascular complications, any adverse events, serious adverse events and drop-outs due to adverse events (11). A systematic review of eight studies (four randomized controlled trials and four cohort studies) evaluated quality of life outcomes with insulin glargine compared with human NPH insulin (12). Five studies reported statistically significant differences in quality of life, favouring glargine over NPH insulin, in certain areas. One study did not report on quality of life outcomes, and two reported no statistically significant difference in any of the variables measured. Where insulin glargine was significantly better in quality of life measures, differences were in the areas of satisfaction with treatment or perception of hyperglycaemia.

A systematic review of severe hypoglycaemia in paediatric patients with type 1 diabetes, including two real-world observational studies, compared longacting insulin analogues and human NPH insulin and had inconclusive findings (13). The review noted a temporal trend showing marked reduction in the incidence of severe hypoglycaemia since 1993, which the authors proposed could be associated with increased use of new insulin therapies and related devices and diagnostics. One of the included analyses of 2025 patients found a significantly lower incidence rate ratio of 0.46 (95% CI 0.22 to 0.95) for serious hypoglycaemia with long-acting insulin analogues compared with NPH insulin (14). In another analysis (7266 patients), hypoglycaemia episodes were significantly more common in patients using long-acting insulin analogues than in patients using NPH insulin (OR 1.57, 95% CI 1.21 to 2.03). These episodes included situations that required attention to prevent glucose levels dropping further and situations in which children experienced some impaired awareness. The increased risk for severe hypoglycaemia episodes requiring external assistance was not statistically significant (OR 1.42, 95% CI 0.86 to 2.35) (15).

A Cochrane systematic review comparing long-term treatment with (ultra-)long-acting insulin analogues with NPH insulin included 26 randomized controlled trials in adults and children (8784 participants) which had a follow-up duration of at least 24 week (*16*). Insulin detemir was associated with a significantly lower risk of severe hypoglycaemia events than NPH insulin (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.92 (eight studies, 3219 participants; moderate-certainty evidence)). No significant difference was found between insulin glargine and NPH insulin in their effect on severe hypoglycaemia events (RR 0.84, 95% CI 0.67 to 1.04 (nine studies, 2350 participants; moderate-certainty evidence)). The review did not explore a pharmacological class effect for long-acting analogues, and combined results across detemir trials and glargine trials. Results were uncertain for severe nocturnal hypoglycaemia for both detemir and glargine. Few data were available on mortality and other important outcomes for patients. The meta-analysis found no significant difference in HbA1c between insulin

detemir and NPH insulin (MD 0.01%, 95% CI –0.1 to 0.1% (eight studies, 3122 participants; moderate-certainty evidence)), or between insulin glargine and NPH insulin (MD 0.02%, 95% –0.1 to 0.1% (nine studies; 2285 participants)).

#### Type 2 diabetes

A 2020 Cochrane review comparing (ultra-)long-acting insulin analogues with NPH insulin included 24 randomized controlled trials in adults with type 2 diabetes. The review found a significant reduction in certain measures of hypoglycaemia for insulin glargine or insulin detemir compared with NPH insulin, but no significant differences in severe hypoglycaemia events, HbA1c, all-cause mortality, diabetes-related complications, or adverse events other than hypoglycaemia (17). The review did not explore a pharmacological class effect for long-acting analogues, and combined results across detemir trials and glargine trials. For health-related quality of life, three trials reported no statistically significant difference between insulin glargine and NPH insulin. The other three trials reported no statistically significant difference between insulin detemir and NPH insulin. The authors noted that, overall, the included studies used very low blood glucose/HbA1c target values; the findings may therefore be less applicable for patient groups where less aggressive glycaemic targets are used (e.g. elderly people).

## Pooled analysis of type 1 and 2 diabetes

A 2015 systematic review of 76 observational studies evaluated the risk of severe hypoglycaemia in patients with type 1 and 2 diabetes as observed in everyday clinical practice for various drug regimens (*18*). In type 1 diabetes, the estimated annual probability of one or more severe hypoglycaemia event per patient varied from 21.4% (95% CI 11.3% to 43.0%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with human insulin. Differences for type 2 diabetes were more pronounced: the estimated annual probability of one or more severe hypoglycaemia event per patient varied from 4.8% (95% CI 12% to 27.0%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routine with insulin analogues to 33.8% (95% CI 17.9% to 67.5%) for basal-bolus routin

Another systematic review and meta-analysis of 23 studies compared insulin analogues with human insulins in hospitalized adults with type 1 or 2 diabetes. Outcomes included hyperglycaemia episodes, surgical site infection, postoperative complications, length of hospital stay and mortality (19). Comparing analogue basal-bolus routine regimens with human insulin basalbolus regimens, a meta-analysis of four randomized trials estimated that analogues reduced days spent in hospital by 0.9 days (95% CI –1.45 to –0.34 days), with low quality of evidence. One randomized controlled trial found lower rates of postoperative complications (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.93) with very low quality of evidence. Two randomized controlled trials and one cohort study compared long-acting insulin analogues with human NPH insulin in hospitalized patients. The cohort study (in 172 hospitalized patients undergoing major surgery) found a reduction in hypoglycaemia events (very low-quality evidence), while the randomized trials were inconclusive.

A 2015 systematic review identified eight observational studies comparing insulin glargine with NPH insulin, and one observational study and one randomized controlled trial comparing insulin detemir with NPH insulin in patients with (pre-)gestational diabetes (20). A meta-analysis of these studies found no significant differences in fetal, neonatal or maternal outcomes. Similarly, a meta-analysis found no significant differences in fetal/neonatal or maternal outcomes for insulin detemir.

With regard to biosimilars, evidence to date indicates no safety signals when switching patients from originator to biosimilar insulin (21).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Some authors have studied the potential risk of developing different types of cancer with medicines used to manage diabetes, including long-acting insulin analogues.

A 2013 systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the cancer risk associated with insulin use from experimental and observational studies (22). Insulin exposure was found to be associated with an increased risk of cancer in the pancreas (RR 2.58, 95% CI 2.05 to 3.25), liver (RR 1.84, 95% CI 1.32 to 2.58), kidney (RR 1.38, 95% CI 1.06 to 1.79), stomach (RR 1.65, 95% CI 1.02 to 2.68) and respiratory system (RR 1.30, 95% CI 1.14 to 1.47), and decreased risk of prostate cancer (RR 0.80, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.88). Insulin glargine exposure was associated with a decreased risk of colon cancer (RR 0.71, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.91) and a marginally significant increased risk of breast cancer (RR 1.14, 95% CI 1.01 to 1.29) compared with users of non-glargine insulin. The results from individual studies were very variable and for most cancers there were few cases, calling into question the certainty of the findings.

Two meta-analyses of data from randomized controlled trials from manufacturer's pharmacovigilance databases evaluated the role of insulin in the generation of cancers. When insulin glargine was compared with any active comparator (insulin or oral antidiabetics), there were slightly fewer cancer cases in the glargine arm but the difference was not statistically significant (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.60 to 1.36) (*23*). The second meta-analysis compared insulin detemir with NPH insulin and found more cases of cancer in the NPH insulin arm (OR 2.44 95% CI 1.01 to 5.89) (*24*).

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 2018 WHO guidelines on second- and third-line medicines and type of insulin for the control of blood glucose levels in non-pregnant adults with diabetes (25) include the following recommendations.

- Use human insulin to control blood glucose levels in adults with type 1 diabetes and in adults with type 2 diabetes for whom insulin is indicated (strong recommendation, low-quality evidence).
- Consider long-acting insulin analogues to control blood glucose levels in adults with type 1 or type 2 diabetes who have frequent severe hypoglycaemia with human insulin (weak recommendation, moderate-quality evidence for severe hypoglycaemia).

The second recommendation is weak, "reflecting the lack of, or very lowquality evidence for, any of the long-term outcomes such as chronic diabetes complications and mortality, and the considerable higher costs for long-acting insulin analogues compared to intermediate-acting human insulin"

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

There are long-standing concerns about the prices of long-acting insulin analogues, which are substantially higher than prices of human insulins in most comparisons. This is of particular concern given the broader crisis in global access to insulin therapy in general, where an estimated one in two people who need insulin cannot afford it (*26*). The application notes that the price reductions for analogue insulins and biosimilars has fallen since the 2019 application.

Most available cost-effectiveness studies focus on high-income settings. In all studies, procurement costs for long-acting insulin analogues are considerably greater than for human insulins. Some cost-effectiveness analyses have found that, despite greater procurement cost, insulin analogues are more cost-effective than human insulins because of savings resulting from (assumed/ modelled) health benefits such as lower rates of hypoglycaemia.

A systematic review of the cost-effectiveness of insulin analogue included 50 studies, of which 33 focused on type 2 diabetes, 11 on type 1 diabetes, and six on both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (27). Twenty-one studies compared long-acting insulin analogues with NPH insulin, all of which were from high-income countries. Long-acting insulin analogues were dominant over NPH insulin in five comparisons (i.e. had both lower cost and greater benefits) and were dominated by NPH in one comparison (i.e. had both greater cost and lesser benefits). Apart from these cases, the incremental costeffectiveness ratios for long-acting insulin analogues compared to insulin NPH ranged from US\$ 661 to US\$ 361 721 per quality adjusted life year (QALY). This large range in the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios is caused by different underlying assumptions used across studies, particularly regarding: (i) the baseline characteristics of patients, complication frequency and severity, use and cost of self-monitoring blood glucose test strips and devices (e.g. pen, cartridge, vial), and (ii) the different (estimated) magnitudes of benefit in reducing hypoglycaemia events and reductions in HbA1c.

Six cost-effectiveness studies of long-acting insulin analogues published between 2015 and 2020 were identified in the application (28-33). Long-acting insulin analogues were found to be cost-effective compared to human insulins in several studies in Asia. In France, insulin glargine was cost-effective but not insulin detemir. Neither was cost-effective in a study within the Brazilian health system. A study in China assessed insulin cost in wages and found that a month's supply of long-acting insulin analogues cost 14-16 days' wages for the lowest-paid government worker compared with 4-7 days for other insulins.

In their most recent report (2017), the Addressing the Challenge and Constraints of Insulin Sources and Supply (ACCISS) study gave insulin prices from a range of sources, including: government procurement prices in 26 countries, the Gulf Cooperation Council and the United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees; prices paid by patients (solicited from respondents in 43 countries); and reimbursement prices collected from publicly accessible databases for 28 countries (*34*). For government procurement, the median price for 1000 units of long-acting insulin analogues was US\$ 34.20 compared with US\$ 5.99 for human insulin. When bought by patients from public-sector facilities, the median price of 1000 units for long-acting insulin analogues was US\$ 45.03 compared with US\$ 7.64 for human insulin. When bought by patients in the private sector, the median price for long-acting insulin analogues was US\$ 39.35 compared with US\$ 16.65 for human insulin.

A report on recent trends in insulin prices submitted to the 2021 Expert Committee highlighted that in many countries, access to long-acting insulin analogues is limited and hampered by the higher costs compared with human insulin (*35*). The report states that "Overall, there is great variability among countries regarding the price of and access to long-acting insulin analogues, often still much more expensive than human insulin. However, overall use on analogues seems to be expanding and prices decreasing at least for those insulins that are not anymore patent protected". The report also summarizes procurement prices in most WHO regions. Countries that are more likely to reach best insulin prices are those that have adopted insulin price control policies and/or where contract negotiations are supported by competition laws. In these countries, human insulin pen prices can vary between US\$ 2 and US\$ 5, while analogues pen can vary between US\$ 5 and US\$ 10. These trends are also reported in other studies. For instance, in Bangladesh, biosimilars of long-acting insulin analogues supported by dedicated policy actions on pharmaceutical cost, cost about the same as human insulin and represent an increasing market share (*36*). The additional benefit of long-acting insulin analogues in formulations of higher concentrations (300 units/mL versus 100 units/mL) is still unclear and could be a so-called evergreening strategy (extending the life-time of patents about to expire to retain royalties). These higher-concentration products account for increasing large market shares, even though their prices are unlikely to be reduced, as they are under active patent protection (*35*).

The authors of the current application suggest that the EML should be forward-looking and have a reasonable expectation that a product's price will substantially decrease in the near-to-medium-term (e.g. 5 years), particularly if policy approaches favour biosimilars and cost-containment is pursued at the country level. They noted that, "EML listing can serve as a helpful signal to manufacturers of what medicines may benefit the most from generic/biosimilar market entry, as well as a signal to governments as to where interventions in the market are necessary to increase competition or cap prices".

The application also highlights that if long-acting insulins are added to the WHO Model Lists, it is important that individual governments do not interpret this as a recommendation for a wholesale switch from human to analogue insulins, but that long-acting insulins should be included as alternatives. In parallel, countries need to work with manufacturers and other stakeholders to support the availability of human insulin, even in a period in which the use of human insulin is likely to decline.

#### Availability

Most patents have expired for nearly all insulin analogues (with the exception of formulations with higher concentration of 300 IU/mL), although intellectual property barriers remain in some cases for insulin injection devices (*37*, *38*).

At present, there are no manufacturers of prequalified active pharmaceutical ingredient for insulin or finished pharmaceutical products (39,40). In 2019, WHO started a pilot project for prequalification of human insulin products, including human insulin, and invited manufacturers to submit an expression of interest (41). However, to date, no insulin manufacturers have submitted dossiers for prequalification. There may be many reasons for this apparent lack of interest, for example: (i) being an old, low-cost but also lowprofit product, few manufacturers still produce human insulin and the market is dominated by a small number of market leaders who may have little incentive to submit for prequalification; (ii) smaller companies with an established local market may not have ambitions beyond the local market because of costs and regulatory resources; and (iii) manufacturers may not be interested in complying with WHO good manufacturing practice or in investing in improving the product or willing to enter into the commitments that inevitably come with prequalification (variations, reinspections, requalification etc.). Over the past 2 years, the WHO Prequalification Unit has had the opportunity to exchange information with companies that produce insulin. From this dialogue, interest by manufacturers in a prequalification process that could cover more types of insulin has emerged. Supporting multisourcing tender strategies and accelerating the introduction of multiple types of insulin biosimilars can boost competition. This should include not only the type of insulin itself but also the device used for administration. WHO's prequalification of insulin/devices is a valuable tool to: enhance cooperation between regulators and manufacturers; expand the number of producers of quality-assured insulins and associated devices; and tackle access to insulins in low- and middle-income countries. Including insulin analogues and singleuse prefilled syringes/pens as essential medicines can stimulate submissions of dossiers for prequalification from manufacturers.

#### Other considerations

The Lancet Commission on Diabetes 2020 report (8) highlights that basal insulin analogues are better than human or animal insulins for reducing the risk of nocturnal hypoglycaemia. They are especially useful for treatment requiring multiple daily injections of long-/intermediate-acting insulin and short-/rapidacting insulin at each meal. However, human/biosimilar insulins are more affordable in low- and middle-income countries. The report also notes that in low- and middle-income countries. The report also notes that in low- and middle-income countries, the dose of premixed insulins may be reduced to avoid hypoglycaemia because of a scarcity of insulin, food insecurity, lack of self-monitoring blood glucose devices and emergency glucagon injection kits, transport difficulties and limited emergency services. "All of these factors can increase the risk of poor glycaemic control and complications that can adversely affect growth and quality of life" (8).

The application notes that glucagon is a key treatment for insulininduced hypoglycaemia; however, availability of glucagon in many low-resource settings is low as it is costly (4).

As regards other aspects of treatment, such as diagnostic tests, specialized treatment facilities, administration requirements, monitoring requirements and skill levels of health care providers, these are the same for both human insulins and insulin analogues, except for pen devices that accept replaceable cartridges, which are available only for insulin analogues.

Factors negatively affecting adherence to insulin treatment include complicated dosing regimens, fear of hypoglycaemia events and injection site reactions (42). The greater flexibility with long-acting insulin analogues may lead to better adherence and improved quality of life. In addition, in situations where it is less practical or not possible to have 3–4 meals a day (e.g. settings with food insecurity, religious fasting traditions), the flatter time-action curve of long-acting insulin analogues may be particularly valuable.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee once again acknowledged that insulin is a life-saving essential medicines for which a strong public health need exists, and equitable and affordable access to insulin globally is still a challenge. The Committee also recalled that the price difference between human insulin and insulin analogues, relative to the magnitude of benefit of insulin analogues, has been the primary reason for the Committee not recommending listing insulin analogues on many occasions in the past.

In its current consideration, the Committee noted that the magnitude of the benefit of insulin degludec, detemir and glargine over human insulin in terms of reduced glycated haemoglobin (a surrogate marker highly correlated with clinical outcomes) remains modest. However, the Committee considered that evidence for an advantage of long-acting insulin analogues over human insulin with regard to a lower incidence of symptomatic and nocturnal hypoglycaemia was consistent and clinically relevant, particularly in the subset of patients with type 1 diabetes who have frequent severe hypoglycaemia (requiring assistance) with human insulin.

In type 2 diabetes, the frequency of severe hypoglycaemia is generally lower than in type 1 diabetes, thus the differences in the rates of hypoglycaemia and severe hypoglycaemia between long-acting analogues and human insulin may be more limited. However, the Committee noted that people with type 2 diabetes with long-lasting insulin deficiency can develop an insulin-dependent disease similar to type 1 diabetes. In these people, the frequency of hypoglycaemia events with human insulin progressively rises, potentially leading to more pronounced benefits of insulin analogues.

The Committee noted that the benefits in terms of reduced hypoglycaemia of different insulin analogues may vary. However, there is currently limited evidence of clear superiority of one analogue over another.

The Committee noted the absence of data from settings with food insecurity where insulin analogues may have greater theoretical advantages, and the lack of experimental studies comparing the long-term outcomes of insulin analogues and human insulin, for example, diabetic complications (nephropathy) or mortality.

With regard to price, the Committee noted that national markets differ considerably in the insulin prices offered to patients and procurers and that insulin analogues are still generally much more expensive than human insulin. However, overall use of insulin analogues is expanding and prices have decreased for insulin analogues that are no longer under patent protection in some markets. In settings where cost-containment actions and efficient procurement negotiations are in place, prices of insulin analogues are aligning with those of human insulin. The Committee acknowledged that the listing of insulin analogues as alternatives to human insulin may result in a higher proportion of expensive analogue insulins being used, which could have serious implications for affordability for both individuals and health systems. The Committee recommended that the inclusion of insulin analogues in national reimbursement schemes should be planned carefully and be complemented with dedicated cost-containment policies.

The Committee noted and shared the concerns expressed by several stakeholders about potential effects of the inclusion of insulin analogues on the Model Lists on the human insulin market, currently dominated by three pharmaceutical companies, and the financial implications for patients and health systems where insulin analogues are not available or affordable. The Committee was unequivocal that access to affordable human insulin remains a critical priority, globally.

The Committee noted that the efforts made by the WHO Prequalification Unit to prequalify human insulin had not been successful, possibly because of a lack of interest by manufacturers of human insulin, but that interest from manufacturers to prequalify insulin analogues had emerged.

The Committee noted that, while vials have an important role in hospitals, at the community level, prefilled disposable insulin pens and reusable insulin pens with disposable insulin cartridges are preferable. The Committee also noted that access to devices to monitor blood glucose levels is often limited and should be addressed together with interventions to improve access to insulin and injection devices.

Taking all these factors into consideration, the Expert Committee decided to recommend inclusion of long-acting insulin analogues on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus who are at high risk of experiencing hypoglycaemia with human insulin. The Committee considered that this recommendation was adequately supported by the available evidence and is aligned with the recommendation in the WHO guidelines. However, the recommendation did not receive the support of all Committee members, mainly due to concerns about the differences in price and potential effect on the availability of human insulin.

A square box listing was recommended, with therapeutic alternatives limited to insulin degludec, insulin detemir and insulin glargine. The Committee also recommended that quality-assured biosimilars were acceptable alternatives based on evidence of therapeutic equivalence and safety of switching to biosimilars from the reference products. Switching and substitution of reference insulins with biosimilars could result in considerable savings at the country level, with increased access to medicines associated with favourable outcomes.

The Committee noted that the inclusion of long-acting insulin analogues on the Model Lists could facilitate the WHO prequalification process and

recommended that insulin analogues be considered for inclusion in the call for expressions of interest for WHO prequalification.

The Committee recognized the current high price of insulins, both human and analogues, as a barrier to access. The Committee considered that this barrier could be removed or mitigated through multiple actions, including price negotiations, pooled procurement, competitive tendering, support of technology transfer between manufacturers and the increased use of biosimilars. The Committee recommended WHO to continue working on policies and actions that will lead to relevant and rapid price reductions at the country level, based on systematic evaluation of evidence and implementation experiences of countries. The Committee encourages WHO to evaluate the effect of the EML listing of insulin analogues on the global availability, accessibility and price of insulins over a multiyear period. The Committee also highlighted the importance of commitment and action from Member States, insulin producers, procurement agencies and other stakeholders to address the problem of equitable and affordable access to insulin products globally.

The Committee also considered that insulins could be a priority medicine for the proposed Working Group on high-priced essential medicines. The Working Group, in close coordination with the WHO pricing team, should develop a specific approach to determine fair-price thresholds at the country level for insulins and insulin devices (e.g. pens) and diagnostics (e.g. glucometers), recognizing the valuable role WHO can play in monitoring and defining fair prices, facilitating access and supporting progress towards universal health coverage.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 18 June 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 18 June 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 4. IDF Diabetes Atlas. Ninth edition 2019. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2019 (https://www.diabetesatlas.org/en/resources/, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 5. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet. 2016;387(10027):1513–30.

.....

- 6. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204–22.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843.
- Chan JCN, Lim LL, Wareham NJ, Shaw JE, Orchard TJ, Zhang P, et al. The Lancet Commission on diabetes: using data to transform diabetes care and patient lives. Lancet. 2021;396(10267): 2019–82.
- Basu S, Yudkin JS, Kehlenbrink S, Davies J, Wild SH, Lipska KJ, et al. Estimation of global insulin utilisation for type 2 diabetes mellitus, 2018 to 2030. Amsterdam: Health Action International; 2018 (https://accisstoolkit.haiweb.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Estimate-of-Insulin-Use-in-Type-2-Diabetes1.pdf, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Laranjeira FO, de Andrade KRC, Figueiredo A, Silva EN, Pereira MG. Long-acting insulin analogues for type 1 diabetes: an overview of systematic reviews and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2018;13(4):e0194801.
- 11. Tricco AC, Ashoor HM, Antony J, Bouck Z, Rodrigues M, Pham B, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of ultra-long-acting, long-acting, intermediate-acting, and biosimilar insulins for type 1 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2021;36(8):2414–26.
- Almeida P, Silva TBC, de Assis Acurcio F, Guerra Junior AA, Araujo VE, Diniz LM, et al. Quality of Life of patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using insulin analog glargine compared with NPH insulin: a systematic review and policy implications. Patient. 2018;11(4):377–89.
- Cherubini V, Rabbone I, Lombardo F, Mossetto G, Orsini Federici M, Nicolucci A. Incidence of severe hypoglycemia and possible associated factors in pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes in the real-life, post-Diabetes Control and Complications Trial setting: a systematic review. Pediatr Diabetes. 2019;20(6):678–92.
- 14. Cherubini V, Pintaudi B, Rossi MC, Lucisano G, Pellegrini F, Chiumello G, et al. Severe hypoglycemia and ketoacidosis over one year in Italian pediatric population with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a multicenter retrospective observational study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2014;24(5):538–46.
- 15. Wagner VM, Rosenbauer J, Grabert M, Holl RW. Severe hypoglycemia, metabolic control, and diabetes management in young children with type 1 diabetes using insulin analogs a follow-up report of a large multicenter database. Eur J Pediatr. 2008;167(2):241–2.
- 16. Hemmingsen B, Metzendorf MI, Richter B. (Ultra-)long-acting insulin analogues for people with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;3:CD013498.
- 17. Semlitsch T, Engler J, Siebenhofer A, Jeitler K, Berghold A, Horvath K. (Ultra-)long-acting insulin analogues versus NPH insulin (human isophane insulin) for adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;11:CD005613.
- Czech M, Rdzanek E, Pawęska J, Adamowicz-Sidor O, Niewada M, Jakubczyk M. Drug-related risk of severe hypoglycaemia in observational studies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Endocr Disord. 2015;15:57.
- 19. Singh K, Ansari MT, Patel RV, Bedard M, Keely E, Tierney M, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of insulin analogs in hospitalized adults. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2015;72(7):525–35.
- 20. Lv S, Wang J, Xu Y. Safety of insulin analogs during pregnancy: a meta-analysis. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2015;292(4):749–56.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- .....
- 21. Allocati E, Gerardi C. Efficacy and safety of switching among human insulins, insulin analogues, and their biosimilars in patients with diabetes: a systematic review. Milan: Istituto di ricerche farmacologiche Mario Negri; 2020 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/ essential-medicines/2021-eml-expert-committee/other-matters/o.5\_switching-insulins. pdf?sfvrsn=f87e94e6\_6, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 22. Karlstad O, Starup-Linde J, Vestergaard P, Hjellvik V, Bazelier MT, Schmidt MK, et al. Use of insulin and insulin analogs and risk of cancer systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Curr Drug Saf. 2013;8(5):333–48.
- 23. Home PD, Lagarenne P. Combined randomised controlled trial experience of malignancies in studies using insulin glargine. Diabetologia. 2009;52(12):2499–506.
- 24. Dejgaard A, Lynggaard H, Råstam J, Krogsgaard Thomsen M. No evidence of increased risk of malignancies in patients with diabetes treated with insulin detemir: a meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2009;52(12):2507–12.
- Guidelines on second- and third-line medicines and type of insulin for the control of blood glucose levels in non-pregnant adults with diabetes mellitus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272433, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 26. Access to insulin [internet]. Amsterdam: Health Action International; 2021 (https://haiweb.org/ projects/acciss-study/, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 27. Shafie AA, Ng CH, Tan YP, Chaiyakunapruk N. Systematic review of the cost effectiveness of insulin analogues in type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Pharmacoeconomics. 2017;35(2):141–62.
- Lee TY, Kuo S, Yang CY, Ou HT. Cost–effectiveness of long-acting insulin analogues vs intermediate/ long-acting human insulin for type 1 diabetes: a population-based cohort followed over 10 years. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2020;86(5):852–60.
- 29. Cazarim M de S RJ, Cruz-Cazarim ELC da, Ayres LR, Pereira LRL. Cost–effectiveness of insulin analogs from the perspective of the Brazilian public health system. Braz. J. Pharm. Sci. 2017;53(3):e00178.
- Shafie AA, Ng CH. Cost–effectiveness of insulin glargine and insulin detemir in the basal regimen for naïve insulin patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in Malaysia. Clinicoecon Outcomes Res. 2020;12:333–43.
- 31. Detournay B, Boultif Z, Bahloul A, Jeanbat V, Robert J. Treatment costs of basal insulin regimens for type 2 diabetes mellitus in France. Pharmacoecon Open. 2021;5(2):211–9.
- 32. Lau E, Salem A, Chan JCN, So WY, Kong A, Lamotte M, et al. Insulin glargine compared to neutral protamine Hagedorn (NPH) insulin in patients with type-2 diabetes uncontrolled with oral anti-diabetic agents alone in Hong Kong: a cost–effectiveness analysis. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2019;17:13.
- 33. Liu C, Zhang X, Liu C, Ewen M, Zhang Z, Liu G. Insulin prices, availability and affordability: a crosssectional survey of pharmacies in Hubei Province, China. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):597.
- 34. Beran D EM, Lepeska M, Laing R. Access to insulin: current challenges and constraints update March 2017. Amsterdam: Health Action International; 2017 (https://haiweb.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Issues\_Paper\_2017.pdf, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 35. Godman B. Report for the 2021 WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines on recent insulin price trends in a sample of countries (including but not necessarily limited to low- and middle-income countries), exploring key issues and suggestions for the future to enhance utilisation and funding for long-acting insulin analogues given current concerns [internet]. World Health Organization; 2021 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/essential-medicines/2021-eml-expert-committee/other-matters/o.4\_insulin-pricing. pdf?sfvrsn=6aa66f8d\_4, accessed 18 June 2021).

484

- 36. Haque M, Islam S, Kamal ZM, Akter F, Jahan I, Rahim MSA, et al. Ongoing efforts to improve the management of patients with diabetes in Bangladesh and the implications. Hosp Pract (1995). 2021;49(4):266–72.
- 37. Luo J, Kesselheim AS. Evolution of insulin patents and market exclusivities in the USA. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3(11):835–7.
- Promoting access to medical technologies and innovation. Intersections between public health, intellectual property and trade. Second edition. Geneva: World Trade Organization, World Health Organization and World Intellectual Property Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/333552, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Active pharmaceutical ingredients [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https:// extranet.who.int/pqweb/medicines/active-pharmaceutical-ingredients, accessed 18 June 2021).
- Medicines/finished pharmaceutical products [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://extranet.who.int/pqweb/medicines/prequalified-lists/finished-pharmaceuticalproducts, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 1st invitation to manufacturers of human insulin to submit an expression of interest (EOI) for product evaluation to the who prequalification team – biotherapeutic products (BTPs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://extranet.who.int/pqweb/sites/default/files/ documents/1st\_EOI\_Insulin\_November2019.pdf, accessed 18 June 2021).
- 42. Sarbacker GB, Urteaga EM. Adherence to insulin therapy. Diabetes Spectr. 2016;29(3):166–70.

# 18.5.2 Antiretrovirals

Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors – addition – EML

# Empagliflozin

# ATC Code: A10BK03

# Proposal

Addition of empagliflozin as the representative of the pharmacological class of sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors on the core list of the EML as add-on treatment for adults with type 2 diabetes who have or are at a high risk of cardiovascular disease and/or diabetic nephropathy. Therapeutic alternatives are limited to canagliflozin and dapagliflozin.

# Applicant

The International Diabetes Federation (IDF)

# WHO technical department

Management of Noncommunicable Diseases

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

18.5.2 Oral hypoglycaemic agents

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Empagliflozin: tablet 10 mg, 25 mg Canagliflozin: tablet 100 mg, 300 mg Dapagliflozin: tablet 5 mg, 10 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for empagliflozin as the representative medicine, with canagliflozin and dapagliflozin as therapeutic alternatives.

# Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

In 2013, the Expert Committee evaluated evidence comparing alphaglucosidase inhibitors, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors (DPP-4), meglitinides and thiazolidinediones with metformin and sulfonylureas (1). The Committee

486

concluded that "there was insufficient evidence to show that any of the medicines in the four groups (alpha-glucosidase inhibitors, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors, meglitinides, or thiazolidinediones) offered any efficacy or safety advantages over the existing medicines included in the EML" (i.e. metformin first-line therapy and sulfonylurea second line). SGLT2 inhibitors were not included in the review as they had not entered the market at that time.

In 2017, the Committee considered a review of medicines for secondline therapy for type 2 diabetes, including alpha-glucosidase inhibitors, basal, bolus and biphasic human insulins, analogue insulins, DPP-4 inhibitors, glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists (GLP-1 RAs), meglitinides, SGLT2 inhibitors and thiazolidinediones based on an update of the 2013 review by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (2, 3). The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of second-line medicines for type 2 diabetes on the EML, and confirmed the role of sulfonylureas as one of the most cost-effective treatments for intensification therapy of type 2 diabetes. However, the Committee noted that SGLT2 inhibitors had shown a relevant clinical benefit as second-line therapy in patients at high risk of cardiovascular events, with a reduction in overall mortality. The Committee considered that this finding needed to be confirmed with data from other trials before this class of medicines could be supported for inclusion on the EML (4).

These data are now available with several reviews demonstrating cardiovascular and renal benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors. Consequently, these agents are routinely recommended by international guidelines. Empagliflozin was the first of these agents to demonstrate cardiovascular benefits (5).

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Worldwide, diabetes affected an estimated 463 million people in 2019 (9.3% of the global population), of whom 79% live in low- and middle-income countries (6). The number of people with diabetes has almost tripled in the past 3 decades due to: increase in population size; population ageing; and the increasing prevalence of the main risk factors for diabetes – overweight, obesity and physical inactivity (7). In 2019, diabetes was responsible for over 1.5 million deaths and 2.79% of all global disability-adjusted life years (8). The burden of diabetes is projected to increase to affect 700 million people in 2045 (9).

Diabetes is estimated to reduce life expectancy by 6 years when diagnosed at 40 years (10), and is a major cause of peripheral neuropathy, blindness, kidney failure and lower limb amputation. Diabetes complications affect quality of life and often lead to premature deaths, which is experienced by about a half of all people with diabetes.

The incidence and prevalence of type 2 diabetes are much higher than type 1 diabetes, with type 2 diabetes responsible for about 90–95% of all

diabetes cases (6). The annual global expenditure on health care for people with diabetes is estimated to be US\$ 850 billion, 12% of the overall global health care expenditure (9).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

A systematic review and network meta-analysis of 730 trials (402 030 participants) compared 11 glucose-lowering medicines added to background therapy as part of a guideline development process for the Australian evidence-based clinical guidelines for diabetes (*11*).

For the clinical question, "Should GLP-1 receptor agonist, SGLT2 inhibitors, sulfonylurea or DPP-4 inhibitor be used as an add-on in adults with type 2 diabetes? Will it differ by cardiovascular risk groups?", the following findings were reported.

- SGLT2 inhibitors lowered the odds of all-cause mortality compared with placebo, DPP-4 inhibitors, GLP-1 RAs or sulfonylureas as add-on therapy (high-certainty or moderate-certainty in lowest-risk patients because of indirectness).
- SGLT2 inhibitors lowered the odds of hospitalization for heart failure compared with placebo, DPP-4 inhibitors, GLP-1 RAs or sulfonylureas when added to background treatment (highcertainty or moderate-certainty in lowest-risk patients because of indirectness).
- There was no evidence that SGLT2 inhibitors lowered the odds of a major adverse cardiovascular event (three-item major adverse cardiovascular events – composite of cardiovascular death, non-fatal myocardial infarction and non-fatal stroke) compared with placebo when added to background therapy (moderate-certainty evidence because of imprecision).
- SGLT2 inhibitors probably lowered the odds of a major adverse cardiovascular event (four-item major adverse cardiovascular events: three-item plus hospitalization for unstable angina) compared with placebo or a GLP-1 RAs added to background therapy (highcertainty and moderate-certainty evidence in lowest-risk patients because of indirectness).
- There was no evidence that an SGLT2 inhibitor added to background therapy increased severe hypoglycaemia more than placebo (highcertainty or moderate-certainty evidence in lowest-risk patients because of indirectness).

- SGLT2 inhibitors decreased kidney failure compared with placebo when added to background therapy (high-certainty or moderatecertainty evidence in lowest-risk patients because of indirectness).
- SGLT2 inhibitor therapy decreased HbA1c compared with standard therapy (high-certainty evidence).
- The odds of serious adverse events were lower with SGLT2 inhibitors than standard care (high-certainty or moderate-certainty in lowestrisk patients because of indirectness). There was no evidence that other therapies added to background therapy had different odds of serious adverse events (high-certainty evidence).

Based on these findings, the guideline group made a strong recommended for the addition of an SGLT2 inhibitor to other glucose-lowering medication(s) in adults with type 2 diabetes who have cardiovascular disease, multiple cardiovascular risk factors and/or kidney disease.

A 2021 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 764 trials (421 346 participants) compared SGLT2 inhibitors or GLP-1 RAs with placebo, standard care or other glucose-lowering treatments in adults with type 2 diabetes with varying cardiovascular and renal risks (*12*). The results are summarized In Table 8 for the addition of SGLT2 inhibitors to existing diabetes treatment.

#### Table 8

# Cardiovascular and renal outcomes in adults with type 2 diabetes treated with SGLT2 inhibitors compared with placebo or GLP-1 RAs

Measure	OR (95% CI)	Fewer events/1000 in 5 years, no. (type of patient)
All-cause mortality	238 trials including 290 662 patients	
SGLT2 vs placebo	0.77 (0.71 to 0.83)	5 (very low risk – moderate-certainty evidence); 15 (low risk); 25 (moderate risk); 34 (high risk); 48 (very high risk – high- certainty evidence)
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	0.88 (0.79 to 0.97)	2 (very low risk patients); 7 (low risk); 12 (moderate risk); 16 (high risk) and 23 (very high risk) – all moderate- to high- certainty evidence

# Table continued

Measure	OR (95% CI)	Fewer events/1000 in 5 years, no. (type of patient)
Cardiovascular mortality	135 trials including 226 701 patients	
SGLT2 vs placebo	0.84 (0.76 to 0.92)	2 (very low risk patients); 7 (low risk); 12 (moderate risk); 16 (high risk) and 24 (very high risk) – all moderate- to high- certainty evidence
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	0.96 (0.84 to 1.09)	ND – moderate- to high-certainty evidence
Non-fatal myocardial infarction	208 trials including 265 921 patients	
SGLT2 inhibitors vs placebo	0.87 (0.79 to 0.97)	4 (very low risk patients); 7 (low risk); 13 (moderate risk); 14 (high risk) and 21 (very high risk) – all moderate- to high- certainty evidence
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	0.95 (0.84 to 1.08)	ND – moderate- to high-certainty evidence
Non-fatal stroke	176 trials including 261 434 patients	
SGLT2 inhibitors vs placebo	1.01 (0.89 to 1.14)	ND – moderate- to high-certainty evidence
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	1.20 (1.03 to 1.41)	NA, more events with SGLT2 – moderate- to high-certainty evidence
Kidney failure	33 trials including 98 284 patients	
SGLT2 inhibitors vs placebo	0.71 (0.57 to 0.89)	1 (very low risk patients); 3 (low risk); 6 (moderate risk); 25 (high risk) and 38 (very high risk) – all moderate- to high- certainty evidence
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	0.91 (0.69 to 1.20)	ND – low- to moderate-certainty evidence

Table continued

Measure	OR (95% CI)	Fewer events/1000 in 5 years, no. (type of patient)
Hospital admission for heart failure	149 trials including 242 361 patients	
SGLT2 inhibitors vs placebo	0.70 (0.63 to 0.77)	2 (very low risk patients); 9 (low risk); 23 (moderate risk); 29 (high risk) and 58 (very high risk) – all moderate- to-high- certainty evidence
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	0.74 (0.65 to 0.85)	1 (very low risk patients); 7 (low risk); 18 (moderate risk); 24 (high risk) and 48 (very high risk) – all moderate to high- certainty evidence
	Mean difference (95% Cl)	Certainty of evidence
Body weight	469 trials including 226 361 patients <sup>a</sup>	
SGLT2 inhibitors vs placebo	-1.92 kg (-2.23 to -1.62)	Low
SGLT2 vs GLP-1 RAs	0.47 kg (-0.85 to -0.09)	Moderate
Glycated haemoglobin A1c	604 trials including 242 745 patients <sup>a</sup>	
SGLT2 inhibitors vs placebo	-0.60% (-0.67 to -0.54)	Low
GLP-1 RAs vs SGLT2	-0.28% (-0.37 to -0.19)	High

OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval; SGLT2: sodium-glucose co-transporter-2; GLP-1 RAs: glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists; ND: no difference; NA: not applicable.

<sup>a</sup> For a median follow-up of 6 months.

Palmer SC, Tendal B, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Li S, Hao Q, et al. (12).

The 2020 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines include a level 1 (strong) recommendation for treating patients with type 2 diabetes who have an estimated glomerular filtration rate greater than 30 mL/min per  $1.73m^2$  with an SGLT2 inhibitor (13). This recommendation was based on the demonstrated cardiovascular benefits reported for SGLT2 inhibitors (empagliflozin, canagliflozin and dapagliflozin) from numerous randomized controlled trials (5, 14–18). The benefits of SGLT2 were also reported in a real-world registry study, with reduced risks of hospitalization for

heart failure and cardiovascular mortality (19). Benefits for the kidneys were also demonstrated in studies with prespecified renal outcomes: (i) empagliflozin was associated with a lower risk of incident or worsening nephropathy compared with placebo (-12.7% versus 18.8%, hazard ratio (HR) 0.61, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.70) (20); (ii) canagliflozin was associated with a lower risk of progression of albuminuria (HR 0.73, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.79), and a lower risk of the composite outcome of 40% reduction in estimated glomerular filtration rate, need for kidney replacement therapy or death from renal cause (HR 0.60, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.77) (16); and (iii) dapagliflozin was associated with a lower risk of the composite outcome of 40% reduction in estimated glomerular filtration rate to < 60 mL/min per 1.73m<sup>2</sup>, end-stage kidney disease and cardiovascular or renal death (HR 0.67, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.87) (15).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials of SGLT2 inhibitors examined kidney outcomes in individuals with and without chronic kidney disease (21). For the subgroup of patients with an estimated glomerular filtration rate of 30 to < 60 mL/min per  $1.73m^2$ , SGLT2 inhibitors were associated with a reduced risk of adverse kidney outcomes – worsening kidney failure, end-stage kidney disease or renal death – HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.51 to 0.89). Other trials of SGLT2 inhibitors in patients with chronic kidney disease also demonstrated better renal outcomes in the SGLT2 arms (16, 22). In addition, real-world data suggest that the renal benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors are generalizable to clinical practice (23).

### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The most common adverse events with SGLT2 inhibitors are genital infections related to glycosuria. The increased risk of genital mycotic infections with SGLT2 inhibitors in both men and women is consistent across all clinical trials. SGLT2 inhibitors increased genital infection compared with placebo with high-certainty, resulting in 143 more genital infections per 1000 patients treated for 5 years (*12*).

Fournier gangrene, an aggressive and life-threatening necrotizing fasciitis of the external genitalia, perineum and perianal region, is a serious but rare adverse event associated with the use of SGLT2 inhibitors. This condition is much more common in men than in women, and diabetes is a predisposing factor. In 2018, the United States Food and Drug Administration required a warning about the risk of Fournier gangrene to be added to the prescribing information of all SGLT2 inhibitors. In a postmarketing review, 55 cases of Fournier gangrene were identified by the Food and Drug Administration in 6 years of SGLT2 inhibitor use compared with 19 cases over 35 years for all other drugs that lower blood glucose (24).

High-quality evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis of 39 randomized controlled trials (60 580 patients) reported an increased risk of

diabetic ketoacidosis with SGLT2 inhibitors compared with placebo or other antidiabetic drugs (Peto OR 2.13, 95% CI 1.38 to 3.27), with an absolute rate of three events per 1000 patients over 5 years (25). In May 2015, the Food and Drug Administration issued a drug safety communication warning that treatment with SGLT2 inhibitors may increase the risk of ketoacidosis (26).

An increased risk of bone fractures and lower-limb amputations associated with canagliflozin was reported in one randomized controlled trial (14). Subsequent meta-analyses and real-world data, however, did not identify an increased risk of bone fractures in patients treated with SGLT2 inhibitors (27,28). A systematic review of seven randomized controlled trials suggested no statistically significant association between exposure to SGLT2 inhibitors and lower-limb amputations. However, subgroup analysis of canagliflozin versus placebo indicated a statistically significant increased risk (29). The Food and Drug Administration warning on canagliflozin about the increased risk of amputations was removed in 2020 (30).

The Australian guideline review found moderate- to high-certainty evidence that SGLT2 inhibitors have lower odds of serious adverse events than standard care, and high-certainty evidence that there was no evidence that other therapies added to background therapy had different odds of serious adverse events. In addition, there was no evidence that an SGLT2 inhibitor added to background therapy increased severe hypoglycaemia more than placebo (*11*).

A 2020 study analysed the safety and tolerability of empagliflozin compared with placebo by pooling data from clinical trials. The frequency of serious adverse events requiring hospitalization was 18.6% for the empagliflozin group and 21.3% for the placebo group. Empagliflozin was not associated with a higher rate of confirmed hypoglycaemia compared with placebo, except in patients also receiving insulin and/or a sulfonylurea. The incidence or urinary tract infections was similar between groups. Genital infections occurred more frequently in patients treated with empagliflozin. Volume depletion events were similar across groups but were more frequent with empagliflozin in patients aged 75–85 years and those on loop diuretics at baseline (*31*).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable.

## **WHO guidelines**

In 2018, WHO published guidelines on pharmacological agents for managing hyperglycaemia in type 1 and type 2 diabetes for use in primary health care in low-resource settings (*32*). Several newer oral agents were reviewed, including DPP-4 inhibitors, SGLT2 inhibitors and thiazolidinediones. GLP 1 RAs were outside the scope of these guidelines.

The guideline group acknowledged that SGLT2 inhibitors look particularly promising. Empagliflozin, when compared with placebo, had a protective effect on a composite outcome of death from cardiovascular causes, non-fatal myocardial infarction, or non-fatal stroke in one study in people with type 2 diabetes at high cardiovascular risk (5). However, more evidence was needed to determine whether this was a class effect and whether there was a cardioprotective effect in the general population of people with type 2 diabetes.

The WHO guideline group considered insulin to be comparable to SGLT2 inhibitors when weighing desirable and undesirable effects. Insulin and thiazolidinediones were most effective at lowering HbA1c, while DPP-4 inhibitors and SGLT2 inhibitors were better than thiazolidinediones in lowering body weight (*33*).

Based on these data, the following recommendations were made for the second- and third-line treatment of type 2 diabetes (*32*).

- Give a sulfonylurea to patients with type 2 diabetes who do not achieve glycaemic control with metformin alone or have contraindications to metformin (strong recommendation, moderatequality evidence).
- Introduce human insulin treatment to patients with type 2 diabetes who do not achieve glycaemic control with metformin and/or sulfonylurea (strong recommendation, very low-quality evidence).
- If insulin is unsuitable, a DPP-4 inhibitor, SGLT2 inhibitor or a TZD may be added (weak recommendation, very low-quality evidence).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

The cost-effectiveness of SGLT2 inhibitors has been studied in recent systematic reviews and a meta-analyses (34–36). Most studies identified found SGLT2 inhibitors to be cost-effective compared with older classes of second-line glucose-lowering medicines, especially for patients at a high risk of developing cardiovascular disease. Beyond glucose-lowering effects, the beneficial effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on renal function, cardiovascular outcomes and obesity are key drivers of cost-effectiveness.

Estimates of the cost-effectiveness of SGLT2 inhibitors outside highincome countries are limited. Low- and middle-income countries are likely to have lower willingness-to-pay thresholds for cost-effectiveness, and SGLT2 inhibitors will have to have significantly lower prices in low- and middle-income countries than the current originator prices in high-income countries in order to be cost-effective. In 2018, the Medicines Patent Pool published a feasibility study examining the SGLT2 inhibitor market in detail, in terms of patient access to SGLT2 inhibitors (at the time), pricing, the intellectual property landscape, and potential clinical benefits and cost savings if access were expanded by voluntary licensing through the Medicines Patent Pool model. The Medicines Patent Pool estimated that SGLT2 inhibitor prices could decrease substantially when and where competitive generic manufacture is established (*37*).

## Availability

SGLT2 inhibitors have wide global regulatory approval.

Empagliflozin (Jardiance<sup>®</sup>, Boehringer Ingelheim) has primary patent protection until 2025.

Canagliflozin (Invokana®, Janssen) has primary patent protection until 2024.

Dapagliflozin (Farxiga<sup>®</sup>, Bristol-Myers Squibb) has primary patent protection until 2020–2023.

## Other considerations

Not applicable

## **Committee recommendations**

Since SGLT2 inhibitors were last reviewed by the Expert Committee in 2017, new evidence has confirmed the positive effect of SGLT2 inhibitors compared with placebo on all-cause mortality, cardiovascular outcomes (cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction and hospital admission for unstable angina), renal outcomes (kidney failure, end-stage renal disease and renal death), body weight and HbA1c.

Based on this new evidence, the Expert Committee had increased confidence in the cumulative estimates and overall evidence for relevant clinical benefits associated with SGLT2 inhibitors as add-on therapy. The Committee noted that the situation is less clear when comparing SGLT2 inhibitors with GLP-1 RAs, although the SGLT2 inhibitors seem to be the preferred option as they are consistently associated with favourable results for most cardiovascular outcomes and are orally administered in contrast to GLP-1 RAs that need to be injected.

The Committee considered that SGLT2 inhibitors are associated with some relevant adverse events such as urogenital infections, Fournier gangrene, osmotic diuresis and euglycaemic diabetic ketoacidosis. However, overall, the benefit-to-risk ratio favours SGLT2 inhibitors, particularly in patients with cardiovascular and kidney disease. While prices are substantially higher than for the oral hypoglycaemic agents currently listed on the EML (metformin and sulfonylureas), cost–effectiveness analyses, mainly conducted in high-income countries, suggest favourable incremental cost-effectiveness ratios at usual willingness-to-pay thresholds, given the effect of SGLT2 inhibitors on hard clinical outcomes.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of SGLT2 inhibitors on the core list of the EML as a second-line therapy for patients with type 2 diabetes who have not achieved appropriate glycaemic control with metformin or a sulfonylurea. High-quality evidence shows there are clinically beneficial effects in this population, particularly in those at high risk of cardiovascular events and/or diabetic nephropathy, and there is a reasonable safety profile. The Committee recommended listing empagliflozin as the representative of the pharmacological class, with canagliflozin and dapagliflozin as therapeutic alternatives.

The Expert Committee also recommended that the Medicines Patent Pool explores how to facilitate affordable access to SGLT2 inhibitors in lowand middle-income countries through public health-oriented licences with the companies holding the patents.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 23 June 2021.
- Optimal use recommendations for second- and third-line therapy for patients with type 2 diabetes. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2013 (CADTH optimal use reports; vol. 3, no. 1d; https://www.cadth.ca/media/pdf/OP0512\_Diabetes\_RecsReport\_2nd\_3rdline\_e.pdf, accessed 23 June 2021).
- New drugs for type 2 diabetes: second-line therapy—science report. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2017 (CADTH Therapeutic Reviews, vol. 4, no.1b; https://cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/TR0012\_T2D\_Science\_Report.pdf, accessed 23 June 2021).
- 4. The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 23 June 2021).
- 5. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, et al. Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(22):2117–28.
- 6. IDF Diabetes Atlas. Ninth edition. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2019 (https://www. diabetesatlas.org/en/resources/, accessed 23 June 2021).
- 7. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet. 2016;387(10027):1513–30.
- 8. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):120–22.
- 9. Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843.

496

- Chan JCN, Lim LL, Wareham NJ, Shaw JE, Orchard TJ, Zhang P, et al. The Lancet Commission on diabetes: using data to transform diabetes care and patient lives. Lancet. 2021;396(10267):2019– 82
- 11. Australian evidence-based clinical guidelines for diabetes 2020. Melbourne: Living Evidence for Diabetes Consortium; 2020.
- 12. Palmer SC, Tendal B, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Li S, Hao Q, et al. Sodium-glucose cotransporter protein-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists for type 2 diabetes: systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2021;372:m4573.
- 13. KDIGO 2020 clinical practice guideline for diabetes management in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2020;98(4s):s1-s115.
- 14. Neal B, Perkovic V, Mahaffey KW, de Zeeuw D, Fulcher G, Erondu N, et al. Canagliflozin and cardiovascular and renal events in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(7):644–57.
- 15. Wiviott SD, Raz I, Bonaca MP, Mosenzon O, Kato ET, Cahn A, et al. Dapagliflozin and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(4):347–57.
- 16. Perkovic V, Jardine MJ, Neal B, Bompoint S, Heerspink HJL, Charytan DM, et al. Canagliflozin and Renal outcomes in type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(24):2295–306.
- 17. McMurray JJV, Solomon SD, Inzucchi SE, Køber L, Kosiborod MN, Martinez FA, et al. Dapagliflozin in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(21):1995–2008.
- 18. Packer M, Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, Pocock SJ, Carson P, et al. Cardiovascular and Renal outcomes with empagliflozin in heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(15):1413–24.
- Kosiborod M, Cavender MA, Fu AZ, Wilding JP, Khunti K, Holl RW, et al. Lower risk of heart failure and death in patients initiated on sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors versus other glucoselowering drugs: The CVD-REAL Study (comparative effectiveness of cardiovascular outcomes in new users of sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors). Circulation. 2017;136(3):249–59.
- Wanner C, Heerspink HJL, Zinman B, Inzucchi SE, Koitka-Weber A, Mattheus M, et al. Empagliflozin and kidney function decline in patients with type 2 diabetes: a slope analysis from the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(11):2755–69.
- 21. Neuen BL, Young T, Heerspink HJL, Neal B, Perkovic V, Billot L, et al. SGLT2 inhibitors for the prevention of kidney failure in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019;7(11):845–54.
- 22. Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R, Chertow GM, Greene T, Hou FF, et al. Dapagliflozin in patients with chronic kidney disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(15):1436–46.
- Heerspink HJL, Karasik A, Thuresson M, Melzer-Cohen C, Chodick G, Khunti K, et al. Kidney outcomes associated with use of SGLT2 inhibitors in real-world clinical practice (CVD-REAL 3): a multinational observational cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2020;8(1):27–35.
- Bersoff-Matcha SJ, Chamberlain C, Cao C, Kortepeter C, Chong WH. Fournier gangrene associated with sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors: a review of spontaneous postmarketing cases. Ann Intern Med. 2019;170(11):764–9.
- 25. Liu J, Li L, Li S, Wang Y, Qin X, Deng K, et al. Sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors and the risk of diabetic ketoacidosis in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020;22(9):1619–27.
- FDA warns that SGLT2 inhibitors for diabetes may result in a serious condition of too much acid in the blood. Silver Spring, MD: Food and Drug Administration; 2015 (http://wayback. archive-it.org/7993/20170112031553/http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm446845.htm, accessed 23 June 2021)

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 27. Li X, Li T, Cheng Y, Lu Y, Xue M, Xu L, et al. Effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on fractures and bone mineral density in type 2 diabetes: an updated meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2019;35(7):e3170.
- 28. Abrahami D, Douros A, Yin H, Yu OHY, Azoulay L. Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors and the risk of fractures among patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(9):e150–e2.
- 29. Heyward J, Mansour O, Olson L, Singh S, Alexander GC. Association between sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors and lower extremity amputation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2020;15(6):e0234065.
- FDA removes boxed warning about risk of leg and foot amputations for the diabetes medicine canagliflozin (Invokana, Invokamet, Invokamet XR). Silver Spring, MD: Food and Drug Administration; 2020 (https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-removesboxed-warning-about-risk-leg-and-foot-amputations-diabetes-medicine-canagliflozin, accessed 23 June 2021).
- 31. Schorling O, Clark D, Zwiener I, Kaspers S, Lee J, Iliev H. Pooled safety and tolerability analysis of empagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Adv Ther. 2020;37(8):3463–84.
- Guidelines on second- and third-line medicines and type of insulin for the control of blood glucose levels in non-pregnant adults with diabetes mellitus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272433, accessed 23 June 2021).
- 33. Palmer SC, Mavridis D, Nicolucci A, Johnson DW, Tonelli M, Craig JC, et al. Comparison of clinical outcomes and adverse events associated with glucose-lowering drugs in patients with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2016;316(3):313–24.
- 34. Bagepally BS, Gurav YK, Anothaisintawee T, Youngkong S, Chaikledkaew U, Thakkinstian A. Cost utility of sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors in the treatment of metformin monotherapy failed type 2 diabetes patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Value Health. 2019;22(12):1458–69.
- 35. Hong D, Si L, Jiang M, Shao H, Ming WK, Zhao Y, et al. Cost effectiveness of sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (sglt2) inhibitors, glucagon-like peptide-1 (glp-1) receptor agonists, and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (dpp-4) inhibitors: a systematic review. Pharmacoeconomics. 2019;37(6):777–818.
- 36. Yoshida Y, Cheng X, Shao H, Fonseca VA, Shi L. A systematic review of cost–effectiveness of sodiumglucose cotransporter inhibitors for type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep. 2020;20(4):12.
- 37. Exploring the expansion of the Medicines Patent Pool's mandate to patented essential medicines: a feasibility study of the public health needs and potential impact. Geneva: Medicines Patent Pool; 2018 (https://medicinespatentpool.org/news-publications-post/exploring-the-expansionof-the-medicines-patent-pools-mandate-to-patented-essential-medicines-a-feasibility-study-ofthe-public-health-needs-and-potential-impact/, accessed 23 June 2021).

498

# Section 19: IMMUNOLOGICALS 19.2 Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

Anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies – addition – EML and EMLc

Anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies

ATC Code: to be assigned

# Proposal

Addition of anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies (ARV mAbs) to the core list of the EML and EMLc for postexposure prophylaxis of rabies virus infection.

# Applicant

Bernadette Abela-Ridder; WHO Department of Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases

Erin Sparrow; WHO Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals

# WHO technical department

Control of Neglected Tropical Disease Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

19.2 Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 40 IU/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 2.5 mL vial (human) Injection: 300 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 600 IU/mL in 1 mL, 2.5 mL and 5 mL vial (murine)

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual, including quality-assured biosimilars

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) ARV mAbs have not previously been considered by the Expert Committee for inclusion on the Model Lists.

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Rabies is a preventable viral zoonotic disease and is a neglected tropical disease. It is responsible for an estimated 59 000 human deaths annually, mostly in countries in Africa and Asia (1). Most human rabies cases result from dog bites. After the onset of clinical symptoms, the disease is almost always fatal. Survival from clinical rabies has been documented in only 15 cases, with severe sequelae in most (2).

While rabies control depends heavily on prevention of canine rabies by mass vaccination, postexposure prophylaxis of humans who have been bitten by an animal is a highly effective preventive intervention. After a bite exposure, postexposure prophylaxis involves the combined use of extensive wound washing, infiltration of rabies immunoglobulin (RIG) and administration of modern tissue culture vaccines (3).

Globally, an estimated 29.2 million people receive postexposure prophylaxis for rabies annually (1). Current WHO postexposure prophylaxis recommendations include thorough wound washing, rabies vaccination and infiltration of RIG (3).

Historically, failure of postexposure prophylaxis in humans is rare when these treatments are performed promptly and properly, even after severe exposures (4–6). Since the introduction of modern cell culture vaccines and RIG in the late 1970s, no failures have been reported within enzootic developed countries, such as those in Europe and North America. When postexposure prophylaxis failures are reported in less developed countries, most reports are related to the lack of the use of RIG in bite victims.

Historically, WHO recognized three classes of biological products as available for the passive immunization component of postexposure prophylaxis: human RIG (hRIG), intact equine RIG (eRIG) and highly purified fragments (F(ab')2) produced from eRIG. Production capacity and cost limit the availability of these serum-derived polyclonal RIGs, with most less developed countries that have a high incidence of rabies reporting negligible use. Understandably, in less developed countries, cost is an important reason why RIG is not used during postexposure prophylaxis (7). For example, a study in India found that only 21 of 783 (2.7%) patients with bites where there was a risk of rabies virus being present were prescribed hRIG, and only 10 could afford to obtain the product (8). Survival outcome of these patients was not provided in this study. Other studies in India and Thailand have also shown that only 2–3% of patients with severe animal bites receive RIG (9, 10).

The inclusion of ARV mAbs in human postexposure prophylaxis is an opportunity for large-scale production of safe, effective, well characterized, dependable and uniform biological medicines, which would likely lead to lower long-term manufacturing costs (11).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

ARV mAbs were first produced during the late 1970s (12). Some ARV mAbs only recognized very distinctive epitopes on a given rabies virus variant. Other cross-reactive ARV mAbs, directed to the outer viral glycoprotein, more broadly neutralized global rabies viruses of public health relevance, and were shown to protect laboratory animals even after severe experimental viral exposure (13). After years of development, the first ARV mAbs to be used in humans was a mix of two such antibodies, CR57 and CR 4098 (together called CL184), which were shown to have broad neutralizing activity for many rabies virus isolates during preclinical research (14, 15). Dose-ranging studies conducted in animals showed that a dose of 12 micrograms/kg in combination with vaccination was noninferior to RIG and vaccination. Both phase I and II trials, conducted in India, Philippines and the United States of America, showed these ARV mAbs were safe and well tolerated, and had adequate levels of rabies virus neutralizing activity in all participants, with doses of CL184 of 20 IU/kg or 40 IU/kg. The product was withdrawn from further clinical development after changes in pharmaceutical company ownership. Thereafter, given the potential shown by CL184, other ARV mAbs, directed against the outer rabies virus glycoprotein, have proven to be an effective and safe option for use in postexposure prophylaxis, as an alternative to equine and human RIG (16).

Several studies (published and unpublished) have shown ARV mAbs to have a similar effectiveness as RIG.

A phase I simulated postexposure prophylaxis study in India of 74 adults found a single ARV mAb induced rabies virus neutralizing activity comparable with a regimen containing RIG (17). A phase II/III, single-blind, randomized, non-inferiority study was conducted in India with 200 participants (adults and children > 5 years) with suspected WHO category III rabies virus exposures (18). Participants received either ARV mAbs or RIG (1:1 ratio) in wounds and, if required, intramuscularly on day 0, together with five doses of rabies vaccine on days 0, 3, 7, 14 and 28. The primary endpoint was the ratio of the day 14 geometric mean concentration of rabies virus neutralizing activity, as measured in ARV mAb recipients relative to RIG recipients. Of 199 participants, 101 received ARV mAbs and 98 received RIG together with at least one dose of vaccine. The day 14 geometric mean concentration ratio of rabies virus neutralizing activity for the ARV mAb group relative to the RIG group was 4.23 (97% confidence interval (CI) 2.59 to 6.94): geometric mean concentration of 24.9 IU/mL (95% CI 18.94 to 32.74) for ARV mAb recipients and 5.88 IU/mL (95% CI 4.11 to 8.41) for RIG recipients. No deaths from rabies were reported.

Another phase III, multicentre, randomized controlled, non-inferiority study compared ARV mAbs plus vaccine to RIG plus vaccine in 308 participants

with category III rabies virus exposure (19). Participants were randomized to receive either ARV mAbs (docaravimab and miromavimab) or hRIG, in a 1:1 ratio. The primary endpoint was comparison of responder rates between the two arms of the study, assessed as the percentage with rabies virus neutralizing antibodies titres  $\geq 0.5$  IU/mL on day 14. ARV mAbs were found to be non-inferior to hRIG, with 90.3% and 94.4% of participants, respectively, with antibody titres  $\geq 0.5$  IU/mL on day 14 (95% CI -0.02 to 0.10). No deaths or rabies cases were reported.

A potential disadvantage is that polyclonal antibodies are thought to neutralize more lyssavirus variants than monoclonal antibodies (16). Researchers have attempted to address the reactivity of these biological medicines by using in vitro neutralization tests and various experimental animal models with a broad number of viral isolates to help provide reassurance of the extent of protection monoclonal antibodies provide compared with polyclonal antibodies. All ARV mAbs considered for human use have been shown to neutralize rabies virus in the geographical regions where trials were conducted, most significantly for canine rabies virus variants which cause most of the human deaths from rabies globally (14, 20–23). Enhanced surveillance and pathogen discovery activities (using genomic sequencing) continue to characterize local viruses and coverage by available products to ascertain the public health relevance of lyssavirus antigenic diversity and neutralization coverage by existing monoclonal antibodies.

### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

To date, no serious adverse events have been reported from the use of ARV mAbs in humans. Most reactions reported were mild to moderate in severity and resolved without sequelae in a short time (17-19, 24).

In a comparative clinical trial in India, 461 adverse events were reported, of which 83.7% were solicited events and 16.3% were unsolicited events (18). Of the 386 solicited events reported within the first 7 days of postexposure prophylaxis, 250 (64.8%) were injection site reactions (112 at the wound site, 40 at another site where any remaining RIG or ARV mAb was injected and 98 at the site of rabies vaccine injection). The other 136 (35.2%) solicited events were systemic reactions - 85 from 28 participants in the ARV mAb group and 51 from 20 participants in the RIG group. All solicited reactions were of mild to moderate severity, except for three events of redness, one event of pain and one case of fever (41.3 °C) which were assessed as severe – all were in the RIG group. Of the 75 unsolicited events reported from 57 participants during the 84-day study period, all were assessed as unrelated to the study treatment except for two: itching at a wound site in one participant in the ARV mAb group and pain at the injection site in one participant in the RIG group. The mean changes in haematology and chemistry parameters from day 0 to day 28 were comparable between the two groups. No antidrug antibodies were detected in any of the study participants.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# WHO guidelines

WHO recommendations on anti-rabies postexposure prophylaxis are given in its rabies vaccine position paper and were last updated in 2018 (*3*). Use of ARV mAb products instead of RIG is encouraged, if available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Few data are available on the comparative costs and effectiveness of ARV mAbs. To date, only two ARV mAb products have been licensed and marketed in India, so prices from a wider range of settings are not available. Moreover, similar to RIG, the use of ARV mAbs usually occurs only once in a person's life-time, after exposure but before illness onset. Therefore, any cost–effectiveness estimate is based only on the cost per case in light of the clinical event prevented, which is considered lifesaving with timely and appropriate postexposure prophylaxis.

Postexposure prophylaxis is considered to be a cost-effective strategy to prevent deaths in people with WHO category III exposure to rabies virus (25). The ability to pay for postexposure prophylaxis varies widely across the world. Studies on willingness-to-pay postexposure prophylaxis thresholds have been reported as US\$ 1400 in United Republic of Tanzania (26) and US\$ 2953 in the Philippines (27).

In most less developed countries in Africa and Asia, availability of RIG is very limited and it varies greatly in price from US\$ 15 to US\$ 70 per vial (28).

It is anticipated that the price of ARV mAbs will be in between the prices of hRIG and eRIG. For example, in India, an estimate for a routine course postexposure prophylaxis for an average-sized adult is US\$ 285 for hRIG, US\$ 55 for ARV mAbs and US\$ 13 for eRIG.

# Availability

Two ARV mAb products are currently registered for use in humans.

- 17C7 (also known as RAB1, SIIRMAB or Rabisheld), a homologous human ARV mAb for adult and paediatric use. It is licensed in India and is also registered for use in Bahrain, Chad, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kyrgyzstan, Mozambique, Nepal, Oman, Tajikistan, Tanzania and Uzbekistan.
- M777-16-3/62-71-3 (docaravimab and miromavimab, also known as Rabimab, Twinrab), a heterologous mix of two murine ARV mAbs for adult and paediatric use. It is licensed in India.

Two other ARV mAbs are currently under clinical and/or regulatory evaluation.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee acknowledged the public health need for effective interventions for rabies postexposure prophylaxis, noting that the case fatality of rabies infection is almost 100% after the onset of clinical symptoms.

The Committee considered that the availability of a range of alternative options for use in rabies postexposure prophylaxis (human RIG, equine RIG and ARV mAbs) on the EML and EMLc would facilitate access to treatment. The inclusion of ARV mAbs will potentially address some of the supply and production limitations currently experienced with hRIG and eRIG by increasing procurement options. It was also noted that ARV mAbs could be procured at lower cost than human RIG (but higher cost than equine RIG).

The Committee noted that the clinical evidence supporting the use of ARV mAbs is from trials assessing rabies virus neutralizing activity, using an in vitro correlate of protection that has been accepted by WHO and regulatory agencies as a study endpoint in clinical trials of novel rabies vaccines or RIG products. The Committee also noted that there was no indication of an increase in mortality from postmarketing surveillance.

The Committee acknowledged that evidence on efficacy and safety for use in children, the elderly or pregnant women was lacking, but was reassured by the technical unit that children were included in the trial populations, however the data had not yet been stratified. Moreover, the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts (SAGE) on Immunization recommended postmarketing surveillance of these products due to their potential adverse effects.

The Committee noted that the 2018 WHO position paper on rabies encourages the use of ARV mAbs as an alternative to RIG and that having access to RIG and ARV mAbs may ensure adequate supply at the global level. The Committee also noted that WHO prequalification processes for monoclonal antibodies for infectious diseases are planned in 2022, to facilitate access to affordable and quality-assured products.

Therefore, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of ARV mAbs (murine and human formulations), including quality-assured biosimilars, on the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as part of rabies postexposure prophylaxis, in line with WHO recommendations.

## References

- 1. Hampson K, Coudeville L, Lembo T, Sambo M, Kieffer A, Attlan M, et al. Estimating the global burden of endemic canine rabies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(4):e0003709.
- 2. Jackson AC. Human Rabies: a 2016 Update. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2016;18(11):38.

- 3. World Health Organization. Rabies vaccines: WHO position paper April 2018. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2018;93(16):201–20.
- 4. Habel K, Koprowski H. Laboratory data supporting the clinical trial of anti-rabies serum in persons bitten by a rabid wolf. Bull World Health Organ. 1955;13(5):773–9.
- Selimov M, Boltucij L, Semenova E, Kobrinskij G, Zmusko L. [The use of antirabies gamma globulin in subjects severely bitten by rabid wolves or other animals]. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol. 1959;3:168–80.
- 6. Lin FT, Chen SB, Wang YZ, Sun CZ, Zeng FZ, Wang GF. Use of serum and vaccine in combination for prophylaxis following exposure to rabies. Rev Infect Dis. 1988;10(Suppl 4):S766–70.
- 7. Fang LX, Ping F, Ping du Y, Hui BG, Yan YX. Socioeconomic status is a critical risk factor for human rabies post-exposure prophylaxis. Vaccine. 2010;28(42):6847–51.
- Gogtay NJ, Nagpal A, Mallad A, Patel K, Stimpson SJ, Belur A, et al. Demographics of animal bite victims & management practices in a tertiary care institute in Mumbai, Maharashtra, India. Indian J Med Res. 2014;139(3):459–62.
- Sudarshan MK, Mahendra BJ, Madhusudana SN, Ashwoath Narayana DH, Rahman A, Rao NS, et al. An epidemiological study of animal bites in India: results of a WHO sponsored national multicentric rabies survey. J Commun Dis. 2006;38(1):32–9.
- Kamoltham T, Singhsa J, Promsaranee U, Sonthon P, Mathean P, Thinyounyong W. Elimination of human rabies in a canine endemic province in Thailand: five-year programme. Bull World Health Organ. 2003;81(5):375–81.
- 11. Sparrow E, Torvaldsen S, Newall AT, Wood JG, Sheikh M, Kieny MP, et al. Recent advances in the development of monoclonal antibodies for rabies post exposure prophylaxis: A review of the current status of the clinical development pipeline. Vaccine. 2019;37(Suppl 1):A132–a9.
- 12. Wiktor TJ, Koprowski H. Monoclonal antibodies against rabies virus produced by somatic cell hybridization: detection of antigenic variants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1978;75(8):3938–42.
- Schumacher CL, Dietzschold B, Ertl HC, Niu HS, Rupprecht CE, Koprowski H. Use of mouse anti-rabies monoclonal antibodies in postexposure treatment of rabies. J Clin Invest. 1989;84(3): 971–5.
- 14. Bakker AB, Marissen WE, Kramer RA, Rice AB, Weldon WC, Niezgoda M, et al. Novel human monoclonal antibody combination effectively neutralizing natural rabies virus variants and individual in vitro escape mutants. J Virol. 2005;79(14):9062–8.
- 15. Bakker AB, Python C, Kissling CJ, Pandya P, Marissen WE, Brink MF, et al. First administration to humans of a monoclonal antibody cocktail against rabies virus: safety, tolerability, and neutralizing activity. Vaccine. 2008;26(47):5922–7.
- WHO expert consultation on rabies: third report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1012; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272364, accessed 10 May 2021).
- 17. Gogtay N, Thatte U, Kshirsagar N, Leav B, Molrine D, Cheslock P, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of a human monoclonal antibody to rabies virus: a randomized, dose-escalation phase 1 study in adults. Vaccine. 2012;30(50):7315–20.
- Gogtay NJ, Munshi R, Ashwath Narayana DH, Mahendra BJ, Kshirsagar V, Gunale B, et al. Comparison of a novel human rabies monoclonal antibody to human rabies immunoglobulin for postexposure prophylaxis: a phase 2/3, randomized, single-blind, noninferiority, controlled study. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;66(3):387–95.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 19. Kansagra K, Parmar D, Mendiratta SK, Patel J, Joshi S, Sharma N, et al. A phase 3, randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial evaluating anti-rabies monoclonal antibody cocktail (TwinrabTM) against human rabies immunoglobulin (HRIG). Clin Infect Dis. 2020. Online ahead of print. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa779
- 20. Dietzschold B, Gore M, Casali P, Ueki Y, Rupprecht CE, Notkins AL, et al. Biological characterization of human monoclonal antibodies to rabies virus. J Virol. 1990;64(6):3087–90.
- 21. Müller T, Dietzschold B, Ertl H, Fooks AR, Freuling C, Fehlner-Gardiner C, et al. Development of a mouse monoclonal antibody cocktail for post-exposure rabies prophylaxis in humans. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2009;3(11):e542.
- 22. Wang Y, Rowley KJ, Booth BJ, Sloan SE, Ambrosino DM, Babcock GJ. G glycoprotein amino acid residues required for human monoclonal antibody RAB1 neutralization are conserved in rabies virus street isolates. Antiviral Res. 2011;91(2):187–94.
- 23. Chao TY, Ren S, Shen E, Moore S, Zhang SF, Chen L, et al. SYN023, a novel humanized monoclonal antibody cocktail, for post-exposure prophylaxis of rabies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11(12):e0006133.
- 24. Ding Y, Wu M, Zhang H, Zhu X, Hu Y, Li X, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of SYN023 alone or in combination with a rabies vaccine: an open, parallel, single dose, phase 1 bridging study in healthy Chinese subjects. Antiviral Res. 2020;184:104956.
- 25. Anothaisintawee T, Julienne Genuino A, Thavorncharoensap M, Youngkong S, Rattanavipapong W, Meeyai A, et al. Cost–effectiveness modelling studies of all preventive measures against rabies: a systematic review. Vaccine. 2019;37(Suppl 1):A146–a53.
- 26. Shim E, Hampson K, Cleaveland S, Galvani AP. Evaluating the cost–effectiveness of rabies postexposure prophylaxis: a case study in Tanzania. Vaccine. 2009;27(51):7167–72.
- 27. Quiambao B, Varghese L, Demarteau N, Sengson RF, Javier J, Mukherjee P, et al. Health economic assessment of a rabies pre-exposure prophylaxis program compared with post-exposure prophylaxis alone in high-risk age groups in the Philippines. Int J Infect Dis. 2020;97:38–46.
- 28. Sreenivasan N, Li A, Shiferaw M, Tran CH, Wallace R, Blanton J, et al. Overview of rabies postexposure prophylaxis access, procurement and distribution in selected countries in Asia and Africa, 2017–2018. Vaccine. 2019;37(Suppl 1):A6–a13.

506

Equine rabies immunoglobulin – addition – EML and EMLc

# Equine rabies immunoglobulin

ATC Code: J06BB05

## Proposal

Reinstatement of equine rabies immunoglobulin (eRIG) to the EML and EMLc for postexposure prophylaxis of rabies virus infection.

# Applicant

Bernadette Abela-Ridder; WHO Department of Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases

Erin Sparrow; WHO Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals

# WHO technical department

Control of Neglected Tropical Disease Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

19.2 Sera and immunoglobulins

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 150 IU/mL, 200 IU/mL, 300 IU/mL, 400 IU/mL in vial

## Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

The 2019 Model Lists include only human rabies immunoglobulin (Section 11.2.1 Human immunoglobulins). Rabies immunoglobulin (without specification of human or equine) has been included on the Model Lists since 1992. In 2013, the listing was changed to specify human rabies immunoglobulin, thereby excluding eRIG.

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Rabies is a preventable viral zoonotic disease and a neglected tropical disease. It is responsible for an estimated 59 000 human deaths annually, mostly in countries in Africa and Asia (1). Most human rabies cases result from dog bites. After the onset of clinical symptoms, the disease is almost always fatal. Survival from clinical rabies has been documented in only 15 cases, mostly with severe sequelae (2).

While rabies control depends heavily on prevention of canine rabies by mass vaccination, postexposure prophylaxis of humans who have been bitten by an animal is a highly effective preventive intervention. After a bite exposure, postexposure prophylaxis involves the combined use of extensive wound washing, infiltration of rabies immunoglobulin and administration of modern tissue culture vaccines (*3*).

The role of RIG in passive immunization is to provide neutralizing antibodies at the site of exposure before patients start producing vaccineinduced antibodies.

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Purified eRIG is highly effective, as evident after decades of clinical use (4). A 2013 study compared the neutralization effectiveness of reduced eRIG and hRIG in cell culture and in mice: in vitro, neutralization of rabies virus by eRIG and hRIG were identical, while in vivo, full protection was conferred by both eRIG and hRIG (5). Moreover, no vaccine was administered to those animals that received RIG, yet the experimental groups that received at least 0.025 IU/100 microlitres of either eRIG or hRIG showed 100% survival, compared with 100% mortality in the control group.

Today, modern eRIG is highly purified and enzyme-refined and contains over 85% antigen-binding immunoglobulin fragments – F(ab')2 (6–8).

Although these  $F(ab')^2$  fragments may have a shorter half-life in vivo than intact immunoglobulin, these fragments have a higher specificity and instances of antigen-binding reactions, and therefore efficacy is preserved (8). The relative efficacy of eRIG is strongly supported, especially considering the price and scarcity of hRIG and the nearly 100% case-fatality of clinical rabies.

### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Long-standing biomedical data support the relative safety of eRIG in human rabies postexposure prophylaxis (9).

In the past, crude horse serum and unpurified eRIG were associated with serum sickness, anaphylaxis and other severe adverse reactions (5). Through techniques such as heat treatment, pepsin digestion and enzyme refinement, the immunoglobulin crystallizable fragment (Fc) is removed and the nonspecific protein content of the purified serum is reduced to less than 3% (10). As the Fc fragment in unpurified eRIG is responsible for direct complement activation and anaphylactic reactions, the high F(ab')2 content and low Fc proteins allow for increased safety and specific activity (5,8).

This eRIG treatment has been shown to be safe for pregnant women, as the F(ab')2 immunoglobulin fragments do not cross the placenta (11).

Studies to date suggest that severe adverse reactions with eRIG, such as serum sickness and anaphylaxis, are infrequent (12). Other adverse events tend to be mild, not life-threatening and easily resolved, such as local pain, redness, induration, fever and pruritus (8, 10-16). Clinical studies show that the incidence of anaphylaxis with eRIG is similar to that associated with the use of penicillin (17).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# WHO guidelines

WHO recommendations on the use of RIG in postexposure prophylaxis are given in the rabies vaccine position paper and were last updated in 2018 (3). Changes were based on functional use, mainly in that the dose of RIG is now determined taking account of the anatomical feasibility of administration in and around the affected area instead of on the patient's total body weight.

WHO recommends the use of RIG as part of postexposure prophylaxis in immunologically naïve individuals with category III rabies virus exposure, defined as single or multiple transdermal bites or scratches, contamination of mucous membrane or broken skin with saliva from animal licks, exposures due to direct contact with bats (severe exposure). RIG is not indicated for previously immunized individuals.

RIG should be administered only once, preferably at, or as soon as possible after, the start of postexposure prophylaxis. RIG should not be given after day 7 following the first rabies vaccine dose, because circulating antibodies will have begun to appear.

In almost all cases, the amount of RIG administered is based on the location and extent of the lesions, where the rabies virus is localized after exposure. For small wounds, the maximum quantity of RIG that is anatomically feasible should be administered. Only the maximum dose of RIG is still assessed by body weight (e.g. 20 IU/kg for hRIG and 40 IU/kg for eRIG).

Skin testing before eRIG administration should not be done because it is unreliable in predicting adverse effects. However, the treating physicians should be prepared to manage anaphylaxis, which, although rare, could occur during any stage of RIG administration. Since the introduction of the current recommendations, the amount of RIG to administer is estimated to be on average 40% of the quantity that was previously required based on body weight alone (16, 18, 19). Hence, these recommendations are expected to have a net positive effect on the cost of human rabies prophylaxis for patients and governments.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

In general, all RIGs are relatively expensive and not readily available. The cost per dose of eRIG is reported to range between US\$ 25 and US\$ 50, while the cost per dose of hRIG is between US\$ 100 and US\$ 250 (*20*).

For example, in Cambodia, eRIG costs between US\$ 20 and US\$ 30 per dose. In comparison, a Cambodian farmer's monthly salary is between US\$ 60 and US\$ 80 (21). Thus, a dose of RIG can consume up to half a month's salary. The high cost of RIG compared with income also exists throughout Africa and Asia (5, 21, 22). This difference is even wider for hRIG, and thus it is impractical for use in areas with limited financial resources (23).

Based on available data and experience of use for postexposure prophylaxis, eRIG is considered to be a safe and effective alternative in the many areas where hRIG is unavailable or unaffordable (24, 25).

### Availability

Currently, eRIG has regulatory approval mostly in less developed countries in Africa, Asia and Central and South America, and in other countries including Brazil, China, India and Thailand. Availability is irregular, and depends in part on equine stocks, local animal welfare concerns and production limitations.

### Other considerations

Not applicable

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the public health need for effective interventions for rabies postexposure prophylaxis, noting that the case fatality of rabies infection is almost 100% after the onset of clinical symptoms and that access to rabies postexposure prophylaxis is still inadequate in many settings where rabies is endemic.

The Expert Committee noted that efficacy of eRIG is similar to hRIG and that adverse events are minimal with available purified eRIG preparations. The Expert Committee also noted that eRIG is recommended in WHO's 2018 rabies vaccine position paper approved by the Strategic Group of Experts on Immunization and that the price of eRIG is considerably lower than for hRIG.

Therefore, the Expert Committee recommended that purified eRIG be included on the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as part of rabies

postexposure prophylaxis, in line with WHO recommendations and based on a favourable benefit-to-harm ratio. The Committee considered that eRIG will provide a valuable alternative option to hRIG, at a lower cost, and increase procurement options.

# References

- 1. Hampson K, Coudeville L, Lembo T, Sambo M, Kieffer A, Attlan M, et al. Estimating the global burden of endemic canine rabies. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(4):e0003709.
- 2. Jackson AC. Human rabies: a 2016 update. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2016;18(11):38.
- World Health Organization. Rabies vaccines: WHO position paper April 2018. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2018;93(16):201–20.
- WHO expert consultation on rabies: third report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1012; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272364, accessed 10 May 2021).
- Madhusudana SN, Ashwin BY, Sudarshan S. Feasibility of reducing rabies immunoglobulin dosage for passive immunization against rabies: results of in vitro and in vivo studies. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013;9(9):1914–7.
- Lang J, Attanath P, Quiambao B, Singhasivanon V, Chanthavanich P, Montalban C, et al. Evaluation
  of the safety, immunogenicity, and pharmacokinetic profile of a new, highly purified, heat-treated
  equine rabies immunoglobulin, administered either alone or in association with a purified, Verocell rabies vaccine. Acta Trop. 1998;70(3):317–33.
- Shantavasinkul P, Wilde H. Postexposure prophylaxis for rabies in resource-limited/poor countries. Adv Virus Res. 2011;79:291–307.
- 8. Quiambao BP, Dytioco HZ, Dizon RM, Crisostomo ME, Laot TM, Teuwen DE. Rabies post-exposure prophylaxis in the Philippines: health status of patients having received purified equine F(ab')(2) fragment rabies immunoglobulin (Favirab). PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2008;2(5):e243.
- 9. Wilde H, Chutivongse S. Equine rabies immune globulin: a product with an undeserved poor reputation. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1990;42(2):175–8.
- 10. Behera TR, Satapathy DM, Pratap AK, Tripathy RM. Post-exposure prophylaxis for rabies with ERIG and IDRV in children. J Commun Dis. 2011;43(1):31–7.
- 11. Dixit R, Herz J, Dalton R, Booy R. Benefits of using heterologous polyclonal antibodies and potential applications to new and undertreated infectious pathogens. Vaccine. 2016;34(9):1152–61.
- 12. Satpathy DM, Sahu T, Behera TR. Equine rabies immunoglobulin: a study on its clinical safety. J Indian Med Assoc. 2005;103(4):238:41–2.
- 13. Chawan VS, Tripathi RK, Sankhe L, Fernandes AC, Daftary GV. Safety of equine rabies immunoglobulin in grade III bites. Indian J Community Med 2007;32(1):73–4.
- 14. Sudarshan MK, Ashwath Narayana DH, Ravish HS. Is the skin sensitivity test required for administering equine rabies immunoglobulin? Natl Med J India. 2011;24(2):80–2.
- 15. Behera TR, Satapathy DM, Pratap AK. Safety of equine rabies immunoglobulin injection into fingers and toes. Asian Biomed (Res Rev News). 2012;6(3):429–32.
- Bharti OK, Madhusudana SN, Gaunta PL, Belludi AY. Local infiltration of rabies immunoglobulins without systemic intramuscular administration: an alternative cost effective approach for passive immunization against rabies. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2016;12(3):837–42.

511

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- .....
- 17. Wilde H. Editorial commentary: rabies postexposure vaccination: are antibody responses adequate? Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55(2):206–8.
- 18. Bharti OK, Madhusudana SN, Wilde H. Injecting rabies immunoglobulin (RIG) into wounds only: a significant saving of lives and costly RIG. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2017;13(4):762–5.
- 19. Bharti OK, Thakur B, Rao R. Wound-only injection of rabies immunoglobulin (RIG) saves lives and costs less than a dollar per patient by "pooling strategy". Vaccine. 2019;37(Suppl 1):A128–a31.
- 20. Both L, Banyard AC, van Dolleweerd C, Horton DL, Ma JK, Fooks AR. Passive immunity in the prevention of rabies. Lancet Infect Dis. 2012;12(5):397–407.
- 21. Tarantola A, Ly S, In S, Ong S, Peng Y, Heng N, et al. Rabies vaccine and rabies immunoglobulin in Cambodia: use and obstacles to use. J Travel Med. 2015;22(5):348–52.
- 22. Tenzin, Wangdi K, Ward MP. Human and animal rabies prevention and control cost in Bhutan, 2001–2008: the cost–benefit of dog rabies elimination. Vaccine. 2012;31(1):260–70.
- 23. Anderson DC. WHO guidelines dealing with immunlglobulin use impede rabies prevention. Asian Biomed (Res Rev News). 2007;1:103–7.
- Quiambao BP, Dy-Tioco HZ, Dizon RM, Crisostomo ME, Teuwen DE. Rabies post-exposure prophylaxis with purified equine rabies immunoglobulin: one-year follow-up of patients with laboratory-confirmed category III rabies exposure in the Philippines. Vaccine. 2009;27(51):7162–6.
- 25. Wilde H, Lumlertdacha B, Meslin FX, Ghai S, Hemachudha T. Worldwide rabies deaths prevention a focus on the current inadequacies in postexposure prophylaxis of animal bite victims. Vaccine. 2016;34(2):187–9.

# Section 22: MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE

# 22.1 Contraceptives

# 22.1.6 Intravaginal contraceptives

Ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel - new formulation - EML

# Ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel

ATC Code: G02BB01

# Proposal

Inclusion of ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel contraceptive vaginal ring to the core list of the EML.

# Applicant

Chemo Ibérica S.A., Madrid, Spain

# WHO technical department

Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

22.1.6 Intravaginal contraceptives

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Vaginal ring: 2.7 mg + 11.7 mg

Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel contraceptive vaginal ring has not previously been considered by the Expert Committee for inclusion on the Model List.

Ethinylestradiol is included on the EML as a component of combined oral contraceptives. Etonogestrel is included on the EML in an implantable contraceptive rod formulation. In 2015, the Expert Committee recognized that many factors can influence a person's choice and use of contraception, including cultural and religious values, individual preferences, medical conditions, delivery methods, cost and convenience. The Committee strongly supported the principle of choice for people in the provision of family planning and contraception (1).

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Unintended pregnancy is well recognized as a serious public health issue both in developed and developing countries. Even though the rate of unintended pregnancy has declined globally in the past decade, it remains high, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (2). Unintended pregnancy is associated with adverse physical, mental, social and economic outcomes, and contributes to both maternal and infant mortality (3).

Modern methods of contraception have a vital role in preventing unintended pregnancies. Among women who experienced an unintended pregnancy leading to an abortion, half had discontinued their contraceptive method for reasons related to the method such as health concerns, side-effects or inconvenience of use (4).

Target 3.7 of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) is to ensure, by 2030, universal access to sexual and reproductive health care services, and the integration of reproductive health into national strategies and programmes (5).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The contraceptive efficacy of ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring was evaluated in two open-label, non-comparative studies in Europe and North America involving 2322 women for 23 298 cycles, equivalent to 1786 women years (intention-to-treat population) (6,7). From the pooled results of the two studies, 21 pregnancies occurred during the study period, giving a pearl index (contraceptive failures per 100 women years) of 1.18 (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.73 to 1.80). Eleven of the pregnancies were attributable to non-compliance; the pearl index for the women in the per-protocol group was 0.77 (95% CI 0.37 to 1.40) (8).

The comparative efficacy of ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring versus ethinylestradiol + levonorgestrel combined oral contraceptive was evaluated in a phase III, open-label, multicentre randomized trial of 1030 women, conducted in nine European and two South American countries (9). Ten pregnancies occurred during treatment in the intention-to-treat population, five in each treatment arm. Five pregnancies occurred in the perprotocol population, three in the vaginal ring arm and two in the combined oral contraceptive arm. No significant differences were seen in contraceptive efficacy between treatment groups. Pearl indices for the intention-to-treat populations for the vaginal ring and combined oral contraceptive groups were 1.23 (95% CI 0.40 to 2.86) and 1.19 (95% CI: 0.39 to 2.79), respectively. For the intention-to-treat population, the cumulative probability of in-treatment pregnancy was 1.20% (95% CI 0.14 to 2.26%) and 1.07% (95% CI 0.13 to 2.00%), for the vaginal ring and combined oral contraceptive groups, respectively. For the per-protocol population, the estimated probabilities of pregnancy were 0.71% (95% CI 0.00 to 1.52%) for the vaginal ring group and 0.43% (95% CI 0.00 to 1.01%) for the combined oral contraceptive group.

Similar results were observed in another open-label, multicentre randomized controlled trial involving 983 women in 10 European countries that compared ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring with a combined oral contraceptive containing ethinylestradiol + drospirenone (*10*). Five pregnancies occurred during the study, one in the vaginal ring group and four in the combined oral contraceptive group. Pearl indices for the intention-to-treat population were not significantly different between treatment groups: 0.25 (95% CI 0.01 to 1.36) for the vaginal ring group and 0.99 (95% CI 0.27 to 2.53) for the combined oral contraceptive group.

An open-label, prospective, single-arm, non-randomized study assessed real-life use of the ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring over three cycles in 252 women in India (*11*). No pregnancies were reported during the study period.

Three postmarketing observational studies in Germany (12), the Netherlands (13) and Switzerland (14) support the contraceptive efficacy findings of the clinical trials.

Good user and partner acceptability of the vaginal ring has been reported in several studies (6, 7, 10, 11, 15, 16).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

In the two non-comparative studies of contraceptives (6,7), 65.5% of participants reported at least one adverse event, of which 37.5% were considered to be possibly, probably or definitely treatment-related; 15.1% of participants discontinued the contraceptive due to adverse events. The most commonly reported treatment-related adverse events were headache (5.8%), vaginitis (5.6%), vaginal discharge (4.8%) and device-related events (foreign body sensation, sexual problems and expulsion (4.4%). The most common adverse events leading to treatment discontinuation were device-related events, headache, emotional lability and weight gain. Over the study period, mean weight gain was less than 1 kg from baseline. No clinically relevant changes in systolic or diastolic blood pressure were reported (6).

The most commonly reported treatment-related adverse events in both arms of the comparative trials were headache, vaginitis, method-related events,

vaginal discharge, breast pain and nausea, which occurred more frequently in the vaginal ring treatment arms (9, 10).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

A Cochrane systematic review compared contraceptive effectiveness, cycle control, patient adherence and safety of combined hormonal contraceptives in transdermal patch and vaginal ring formulations versus combined oral contraceptives (*17*). The review included 11 randomized controlled trials that compared ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal contraceptive ring with combined oral contraceptives. No significant difference between treatment methods was observed for contraceptive effectiveness. Women using the vaginal ring generally had fewer adverse events than oral contraceptive users – less nausea, acne, irritability, depression and emotional liability – but they experienced more vaginal irritation and discharge. The incidence of deep vein thrombosis among users of the vaginal ring was estimated to be 149 per 100 000 women years (95% CI 18 to 538), based on two events. The authors stated that due to the rarity of events reported, these trials do not provide adequate evidence on the comparative risk of deep vein thrombosis.

A second systematic review of 14 randomized controlled trials also compared the efficacy and side-effects of the vaginal ring versus combined oral contraceptives (18). This review found a trend towards higher efficacy for the vaginal ring for preventing pregnancy (Peto odds ratio (OR) 0.52, 95% CI 0.26 to 1.04), as well as significantly less nausea and breakthrough bleeding reported (Peto OR for nausea 0.66 95% CI 0.49 to 0.99; Peto OR for breakthrough bleeding 0.68, 95% CI 0.51 to 0.91). No significant differences were found between contraceptive methods in measures of compliance.

## **WHO guidelines**

The WHO *Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use* (19) notes that based on the available evidence, the combined contraceptive vaginal ring has a comparable safety and pharmacokinetic profile and has similar effects on ovarian function to combined oral contraceptives with similar hormone formulations in healthy women. Weight gain did not differ between vaginal ring users and combined oral contraceptive users who had a body mass index  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Limited evidence on use by women after medical and surgical abortion found no serious adverse events and no infection related to use during three cycles of follow-up after abortion. In addition, in women with low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions, use of the vaginal ring did not worsen the condition.

Pending further evidence, the guideline development group concluded that the evidence available for combined oral contraceptives applies also to the combined contraceptive vaginal ring. Therefore, the combined contraceptive vaginal ring should have the same categories for use as combined oral contraceptives.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The cost–effectiveness of contraception for preventing unintended pregnancy is widely recognized (20).

The application described a study that assessed the cost-effectiveness of different combined hormonal contraceptive methods in Spain (21). This study used a Markov model of three methods: reimbursed oral contraceptive, contraceptive patch and vaginal ring. The most cost-effective method from the perspective of the National Health Service was the vaginal ring. However, the vaginal ring was the most expensive method for patients.

### Availability

Nuvaring<sup>®</sup>, the innovator device developed by Organon (Merck), is registered in more than 50 countries. Generic brands are available.

The ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring manufactured by the applicant is registered in several European countries, including Belgium, Czechia, Denmark, Finland, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal and Spain.

No information was presented on the availability of ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring in low- and middle-income settings.

### Other considerations

Not applicable.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted target 3.7 of the SDGs to ensure universal access to sexual and reproductive health care services, including for family planning, information and education, and the integration of reproductive health into national strategies and programmes by 2030.

The Committee acknowledged that effective contraception contributes to advancing maternal and child health, and reduces unintended pregnancies and the need for abortion (particularly unsafe abortion). Access to family planning reinforces people's rights to determine the number and spacing of their children. The Committee noted that the unmet need for contraception in many settings is high and is highest among the most vulnerable in society. The Committee agreed with the WHO Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research Department in supporting the principle of choice for people in the provision of family planning and contraception. The Expert Committee noted that the available evidence supports the comparable effectiveness of the combined contraceptive vaginal ring to alternative hormonal contraceptive methods. It also noted that the contraceptive vaginal ring had a safety profile largely consistent with well-established safety profiles of other combined hormonal contraceptives, but had unique devicerelated effects (e.g. vaginitis and discharge).

The Committee noted that combined contraceptive vaginal rings are included in the WHO medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use, and that the WHO technical department supported the inclusion of the ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring in the Model List.

The Committee noted that the ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring is widely available including in generic forms.

Based on the evidence for efficacy and safety, recommendations in WHO guidelines, and in line with the philosophy of offering multiple contraceptive choices for people seeking family planning and contraception, the Committee recommended inclusion of the ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel vaginal ring on the core list of the EML.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 June 2021)
- 2. Bearak J, Popinchalk A, Ganatra B, Moller A-B, Tunçalp Ö, Beavin C, et al. Unintended pregnancy and abortion by income, region, and the legal status of abortion: estimates from a comprehensive model for 1990–2019. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8(9):e1152–e61.
- 3. Tsegaye AT, Mengistu M, Shimeka A. Prevalence of unintended pregnancy and associated factors among married women in west Belessa Woreda, Northwest Ethiopia, 2016. Reprod Health. 2018;15(1):201.
- 4. Bellizzi S, Mannava P, Nagai M, Sobel HL. Reasons for discontinuation of contraception among women with a current unintended pregnancy in 36 low- and middle-income countries. Contraception. 2020;101(1):26–33.
- 5. United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. Goal 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages [online]. New York: United Nations; 2015 (https://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/health/, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 6. Dieben TO, Roumen FJ, Apter D. Efficacy, cycle control, and user acceptability of a novel combined contraceptive vaginal ring. Obstet Gynecol. 2002;100(3):585–93.
- Roumen FJ, Apter D, Mulders TM, Dieben TO. Efficacy, tolerability and acceptability of a novel contraceptive vaginal ring releasing etonogestrel and ethinyl oestradiol. Hum Reprod. 2001;16(3):469–75.
- 8. Bjarnadóttir RI. Update on contraceptive vaginal rings. Rev Gynaecol Pract. 2003;3(3):156–9.

 Oddsson K, Leifels-Fischer B, de Melo NR, Wiel-Masson D, Benedetto C, Verhoeven CH, et al. Efficacy and safety of a contraceptive vaginal ring (NuvaRing) compared with a combined oral contraceptive: a 1-year randomized trial. Contraception. 2005;71(3):176–82.

- 10. Ahrendt HJ, Nisand I, Bastianelli C, Gómez MA, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Urdl W, et al. Efficacy, acceptability and tolerability of the combined contraceptive ring, NuvaRing, compared with an oral contraceptive containing 30 microg of ethinyl estradiol and 3 mg of drospirenone. Contraception. 2006;74(6):451–7.
- 11. Pandit SN, Chauhan AR, Anagani M, Reddy S, Birla A, Ray SK. Multicenter study of contraceptive vaginal ring (NuvaRing(<sup>®</sup>)) in normal daily practice in Indian women. J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2014;64(6):409–16.
- 12. Brucker C, Karck U, Merkle E. Cycle control, tolerability, efficacy and acceptability of the vaginal contraceptive ring, NuvaRing: results of clinical experience in Germany. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care. 2008;13(1):31–8.
- 13. Roumen FJ, op ten Berg MM, Hoomans EH. The combined contraceptive vaginal ring (NuvaRing): first experience in daily clinical practice in The Netherlands. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care. 2006;11(1):14–22.
- 14. Merki-Feld GS, Hund M. Clinical experience with NuvaRing in daily practice in Switzerland: cycle control and acceptability among women of all reproductive ages. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care. 2007;12(3):240–7.
- 15. Novák A, de la Loge C, Abetz L, van der Meulen EA. The combined contraceptive vaginal ring, NuvaRing: an international study of user acceptability. Contraception. 2003;67(3):187–94.
- 16. Schafer JE, Osborne LM, Davis AR, Westhoff C. Acceptability and satisfaction using Quick Start with the contraceptive vaginal ring versus an oral contraceptive. Contraception. 2006;73(5):488–92.
- 17. Lopez LM, Grimes DA, Gallo MF, Stockton LL, Schulz KF. Skin patch and vaginal ring versus combined oral contraceptives for contraception. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;2013(4):CD003552.
- López-Picado A, Lapuente O, Lete I. Efficacy and side-effects profile of the ethinylestradiol and etonogestrel contraceptive vaginal ring: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care. 2017;22(2):131–46.
- 19. Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use. Fifth edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/181468, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 20. Blumenthal PD, Edelman A. Hormonal contraception. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;112(3):670–84.
- Guerra S, Sánchez F, Encinas A, Ugarte L, Barbadillo N, Lete I. Costes de la anticoncepción hormonal combinada en España: ¿hay algún método más coste-efectivo [Cost–effectiveness of combined hormonal contraception in Spain: which is the most cost-effective method?] Prog Obstet Ginecol. 2015;58(5):221–6.

# 22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

Multiple micronutrient supplement - addition - EML

## **Multiple micronutrient supplements**

ATC Code: A11AA04

### Proposal

Addition of multiple micronutrient supplements on the EML as an antenatal supplement for pregnant women.

## Applicant

New York Academy of Sciences, New York, United States of America and the Micronutrient Forum

## WHO technical department

Nutrition and Food Safety Maternal, Newborn, Child & Adolescent Health & Ageing

# EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Suggested components follow the United Nations International Multiple Micronutrient Antenatal Preparation (UNIMMAP) formulation (1).

Tablet containing:

Component (chemical entity)	Amount
Vitamin A (retinol acetate)	800 micrograms retinol activity equivalent
Vitamin C (ascorbic acid)	70 mg
Vitamin D (cholecalciferol)	5 micrograms (200 IU)
Vitamin E (alpha tocopherol succinate)	10 mg alpha tocopherol equivalent
Vitamin B1 (thiamine mononitrate)	1.4 mg
Vitamin B2 (riboflavin)	1.4 mg
Vitamin B3 (niacinamide)	18 mg niacin equivalent

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

Component (chemical entity)	Amount
Vitamin B6 (pyridoxine hydrochloride)	1.9 mg
Folic acid (folic acid)	680 micrograms dietary folate equivalent (400 micrograms)
Vitamin B12 (cyanocobalamin)	2.6 micrograms
Iron (ferrous fumarate)	30 mg
lodine (potassium iodide)	150 micrograms
Zinc (zinc oxide)	15 mg
Selenium (sodium selenite)	65 micrograms
Copper (cupric oxide)	2 mg

### Table continued

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Multiple micronutrient supplements for use as an antenatal supplement for pregnant women have not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML.

### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Sufficient intake of micronutrients are required during pregnancy to support maternal health and normal fetal development (2). Globally, many pregnant women do not meet these requirements, which has negative consequences for their own health as well as for the health, growth and development of their infants. Insufficient nutrient intake before and during pregnancy, combined with increased metabolic demands during pregnancy, results in severe nutritional deficiencies, particularly in low- and middle-income countries where many women enter pregnancy already malnourished.

Maternal anaemia is the most common micronutrient deficiency, affecting 40% of pregnant women globally. In the WHO regions, South-East Asia (49%), Africa (46%) and the Eastern Mediterranean (41%) have the highest prevalence followed by Western Pacific (33%), the Americas (26%) and Europe (27%) (3). While anaemia is not always due to iron deficiency, a 2013 analysis suggested that 19.2% of pregnant women in low- and middle-income countries had iron deficiency anaemia (4).

A literature review of micronutrient deficiencies found that vitamin D, iodine and zinc deficiencies were widespread in women of reproductive age. On average in low- and middle-income countries, 63.2% of women of reproductive age were vitamin D deficient, 41.4% were zinc deficient, 31.2% were anaemic, 22.7% were folate deficient and 15.9% were vitamin A deficient, using WHO cut-off criteria for each indicator (5).

Adverse pregnancy outcomes, including low birth weight (LBW), small for gestational age, preterm birth and perinatal mortality, are relatively common in low- and middle-income countries, and are associated with micronutrient deficiencies. Overall, 14.6% of all live births in low- and middle-income countries in 2015 were LBW (< 2500 g) with South Asia having the greatest burden (26.4%) (6). Babies that are preterm or small for gestational age have an increased mortality risk (7). On the basis of secondary analyses of data from the 2012 Child Health Epidemiology Reference Group in low- and middleincome countries, an estimated 23.3 million infants, or 19.3% of all live births, were small for gestational age, and an estimated 606 500 neonatal deaths (21.9% of all neonatal deaths) were attributable to being small for gestational age. Infants that are small for gestational age are defined as those weighing < 10th centile of birth weight-for-gestational age and sex according to the multiethnic, INTERGROWTH-21st birth weight standard (8). South Asia also had the highest prevalence of infants born small for gestational age (34% of all live births).

A 2018 review assessing data from national registries, reproductive health surveys and published studies estimated that 14.84 million children, or 10.6% of live births, were born preterm worldwide in 2014. More than 80% of preterm babies were born in Asia (7.8 million or 10.4% of live births) and sub-Saharan Africa (4.2 million or 12.0% of live births) (9). Global estimates for stillbirths and neonatal mortality are 18.4 per 1000 total births and 18.6 per 1000 live births, respectively, with regionally higher prevalence in sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia (10, 11).

### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

To date, 21 clinical trials have compared the use of multiple micronutrient supplements with iron and folic acid supplements in pregnant women in lowand middle-income countries, and 10 of these trials used the UNIMMAP formulation. Two meta-analyses compared multiple micronutrient supplements with iron and folic acid supplements from trial data, including a 2019 Cochrane review that included 19 trials (*12*) and a 2017 individual patient data metaanalysis of 17 trials (*13*).

The Cochrane review showed that, overall, multiple micronutrient supplements resulted in a 12% reduction in low birth weight (risk ratio (RR) 0.88, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.85 to 0.91) and an 8% reduction in births

of babies that were small for gestational age (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.88 to 0.97) compared with iron and folic acid supplementation, with high and moderate quality evidence (based on GRADE criteria), respectively (12). No significant differences were found for other maternal or pregnancy outcomes assessed, including preterm birth, stillbirth, maternal anaemia in the third trimester, miscarriage, maternal mortality, perinatal mortality, neonatal mortality or risk of delivery by caesarean section, when multiple micronutrient supplements were compared with supplementation with iron with or without folic acid.

The Cochrane review included several population-level subgroup analyses, including analyses that stratified based on the study-specific averages of maternal body mass index, maternal height, timing of supplementation and iron dose (12). Based on the 10 trials in which the average maternal body mass index was  $\geq 20 \text{ kg/m}^2$ , there was evidence of a lower incidence of babies born small for gestational age among women who received multiple micronutrient supplements compared with those who received iron and folic acid supplementation (P = 0.001). However, there was no evidence of a difference based on the three trials where the mean body mass index was < 20 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Similarly, based on the six trials in which the average maternal height was  $\geq$  154.9 cm, multiple micronutrient supplementation was associated with a reduction in babies born small for gestational age compared with those who received iron and folic acid supplementation (P < 0.001), while no effect was seen in the eight trials in which the average maternal height was < 154.9cm. Thus, while the review suggests that multiple micronutrient supplements reduce the risk of babies born small for gestational age, this effect was only seen in women with better nutritional status, as defined by a height of at least 154.9 cm or a body mass index of at least 20 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Based on trials in which the average maternal body mass index was < 20 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, women receiving multiple micronutrient supplements had a lower rate of preterm birth compared with those who received iron and folic acid supplementation (P < 0.001), whereas no difference for preterm birth was observed among trials in which the average body mass index was  $\geq 20 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . No statistically significant subgroup differences were found by the dose of iron for preterm birth, small for gestational age birth or perinatal mortality based on 15 studies included in this subgroup analysis.

The 2017 individual patient data meta-analysis found that multiple micronutrient supplements reduce the risk of stillbirth (on the basis of fixedeffects analysis), very low birth weight, low birth weight, early preterm birth, preterm birth and small for gestational age birth (by the standards of the International Fetal and Newborn Growth Consortium for the 21st Century (INTERGROWTH-21st) and Oken reference) compared with iron and folic acid supplementation (*13*). This analysis also found an increased risk of being born large for gestational age (by INTERGROWTH-21st standards but not by Oken reference) in women taking multiple micronutrient supplements. While this finding may raise concerns about increased risk of obstructed labour and/ or asphyxiation, the authors noted that multiple micronutrient supplementation was not associated with increased risk of stillbirth or mortality at any time point, including among women with short stature (< 150 cm), who are more likely to be at risk of obstructed labour.

Twenty-six subgroup analyses were conducted with numerous outcomes to identify individual characteristics that may modify the effect of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation alone. Subgroup analyses found that the beneficial effects of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation were greater in anaemic pregnant women than non-anaemic pregnant women for low birth weight (19% reduction versus 9% reduction), small for gestational age births (8% reduction versus 1%) and 6-month infant mortality (29% reduction versus 7% reduction). The effects of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation in reducing the risk of preterm birth were greater in underweight pregnant women than non-underweight women (16% reduction versus 6% reduction).

The effects of maternal multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation in reducing mortality were greater in female infants than male infants for neonatal mortality (15% reduction versus 6% increase), 6-month mortality (15% reduction versus 2% reduction) and infant mortality (13% reduction versus 5% increase).

The effects of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation in reducing the risk of preterm birth were greater in women who started supplementation before 20 weeks of gestation than those who started after 20 weeks (11% reduction versus no change after 20 weeks). However, the effects of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation in reducing the risk of stillbirth were greater in women who started before 20 weeks (19% reduction versus 3% reduction).

The effects of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared with iron and folic acid supplementation in reducing mortality were greater when adherence was  $\geq$  95% versus < 95% for neonatal mortality (12% reduction versus 5% increase) and infant mortality (15% reduction versus 6% increase).

Multiple micronutrient supplementation did not have any significant effect on the risk of stillbirth, or neonatal, 6-month or infant mortality in any of the 26 subgroups analysed compared with iron and folic acid supplementation.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The Cochrane review found no harms for multiple micronutrient supplementation in terms of mortality outcomes (stillbirths, perinatal and neonatal mortality) (12). This conclusion was supported by two trials that were statistically powered to analyse the effect on early infant mortality. A large trial in Bangladesh did not find an increase in neonatal or early infant mortality risk in the multiple micronutrient supplementation group versus the control (iron and folic acid supplementation). In a posthoc analysis, however, higher neonatal mortality was reported in male infants due to birth asphyxia (14). The Cochrane review authors concluded that these findings should be interpreted with caution due to potential misclassification of the underlying cause of death, which was ascertained by verbal autopsy with parents (12).

A recent analysis examined the risk of exceeding the upper intake level, as set by the United States National Academy of Medicine, of any micronutrient in the UNIMMAP formulation if it is consumed with a nutritionally adequate diet (*15*). In this case, most of the micronutrient intakes remain well below the upper level and only iron, folic acid and niacin would meet or slightly exceed the upper level.

For niacin, the upper level is based on the side-effect of flushing and only occurs with the synthetic form nicotinic acid, which is not used in dietary supplements. UNIMMAP contains 18 mg of nicotinamide (not nicotinic acid) so this does not contribute to the upper intake level. If niacin were present in the form of nicotinic acid, it would still be well below the upper intake level of 35 mg/day (*15*).

For folic acid, there are no known side-effects for reaching the upper level. Rather, the upper level is set based on the risk of masking the diagnosis of pernicious anaemia, which can occur with high folate intake in the presence of vitamin B12 deficiency. However, multiple micronutrient supplementation contains vitamin B12, which reduces this risk (15).

The National Academy of Medicine gives the upper level for iron as 45 mg/day based on gastrointestinal side-effects which are most commonly reported when a supplement is taken on an empty stomach and would be a concern for both multiple micronutrient supplementation and iron and folic acid supplementation. WHO recommends pregnant women receive between 30 mg and 60 mg of iron a day (*16*), which is met by the UNIMMAP formulation. Importantly, the upper levels are set for the healthy population and do not apply to the treatment of iron deficiency anaemia in which case the daily iron intake may need to exceed the upper level (*15*).

**Additional evidence** (not in the application) Not applicable

### **WHO** guidelines

The 2020 WHO antenatal care recommendations for a positive pregnancy experience. Nutritional interventions update: multiple micronutrient supplements during pregnancy (16), recommend antenatal multiple micronutrient supplementation only "in the context of rigorous research". This recommendation updates the 2016 guidelines (17), when antenatal multiple micronutrient supplementation was not recommended. The recommendation was changed because, while the evidence suggests that there may be a limited benefit and little harm in replacing iron and folic acid supplements with multiple micronutrient supplements, the evidence on low birth weight and its component parts (preterm birth and small for gestational age birth) was difficult to interpret. Gestational age accurately assessed by ultrasound emerged as an important feature of future trials. In addition, the sustainability of changing to the higher-cost multiple micronutrient supplements is not known and more evidence is needed on the effects of changing to a 30 mg dose of iron from a higher dose of iron (e.g. 60 mg), particularly in settings where higher doses of iron are routinely used due to a high prevalence of anaemia or other reasons.

The 2013 WHO guidelines for nutritional care and support for patients with tuberculosis (18) recommend that all pregnant women with active tuberculosis receive multiple micronutrient supplements that contain iron and folic acid and other vitamins and minerals, according to the UNIMMAP, to complement their maternal micronutrient needs (conditional recommendation, very low quality evidence).

Multiple micronutrient supplementation has also been recommended by WHO, UNICEF and the World Food Programme for pregnant women affected by an emergency (19).

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The current listed price of the multiple micronutrient supplements provided by the UNICEF Supply Catalogue website is US\$ 1.79 for 100 tablets (product no. S1580101) (20). To provide 6-month coverage per individual, the unit cost adjusted to 180 tablets is US\$ 3.22. Depending on the packaging and other variables, the price can vary considerably, but based on information from global manufacturers and UNICEF, the median price for a 180-tablet bottle is US\$ 2.50 for a purchase at scale.

The cost of the supplements is important to know as well as the programme implementation costs, including national-level administration, training, nutrition education programmes and supervision. The estimated programmatic roll-out cost is US\$ 0.42 per patient, using a published calculation methodology (21).

Several recent studies have shown the cost-effectiveness of multiple micronutrient supplementation compared to iron and folic acid supplementation.

A 2019 analysis modelled the cost–effectiveness of the two interventions in Pakistan, India and Bangladesh (22). The analysis found that multiple micronutrient supplementation would avert 4391, 5769 and 8578 more disabilityadjusted life years (DALYs) than iron and folic acid supplementation per 100 000 pregnancies in Pakistan, India and Bangladesh, respectively (62.6%, 76.8%, and 82.6% certainty). The incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of transitioning from iron and folic acid supplementation to multiple micronutrient supplementation was US\$ 41.54, US\$ 31.62 and US\$ 21.26 per DALY averted, for Pakistan, India and Bangladesh, respectively. This study concluded that multiple micronutrient supplementation was cost-effective and resulted in positive health outcomes for both infants and pregnant women, and supports the transition from iron and folic acid supplementation to multiple micronutrient supplementation in Pakistan, India, and Bangladesh. This modelling was subsequently done for 29 additional countries, which found multiple micronutrient supplementation was highly cost-effective in all scenarios modelled (23).

Another 2019 modelling analysis that evaluated the cost-effectiveness of transitioning from iron and folic acid supplementation to multiple micronutrient supplementation focused on Bangladesh and Burkina Faso (24). The analysis found that transitioning to multiple micronutrient supplementation could avert more than 15 000 deaths and 30 000 cases of preterm birth annually in Bangladesh (compared with iron and folic acid supplementation) and more than 5000 deaths and 5000 cases of preterm births in Burkina Faso. The cost per death averted was US\$ 175–185 in Bangladesh and US\$ 112–125 in Burkina Faso.

# Availability

Antenatal micronutrient supplements, with similar formulations to UNIMMAP, which provide about 1 recommended dietary allowance (RDA) a day of approximately 15 micronutrients, are widely available in pharmacies and other market places globally. A market assessment of 32 low- and middle-income countries found that every country had either locally manufactured or imported maternal multiple micronutrient supplementation products containing at least 10 micronutrients (25). While none of the multiple micronutrient supplementation, the wide availability of multiple micronutrient formulations indicates that there is global manufacturing capacity that could meet the global need for a UNIMMAP-multiple micronutrient supplementation product.

As with most nutrition supplements, no global consensus exists on the regulatory status of the multiple micronutrient supplementation product for pregnant women. At the individual country-level, this product can be considered either as a dietary supplement and regulated as a food, or as a therapeutic product that is regulated as a drug. In some countries, including the India, Japan, USA, and European Union countries, multiple micronutrient supplements are

regulated as a dietary supplement, while in other countries, such as Australia, Bangladesh, Mexico and New Zealand, multiple micronutrient supplements are regulated as a drug. The regulatory classification of multiple micronutrient supplements can have implications for how the product is manufactured, imported, packaged, distributed and/or promoted. To help establish a product that conforms to internationally recognized good manufacturing practice (GMP) requirements and pharmacopoeial standards, the Expert consensus UNIMMAP - MMS product specification was created by an expert panel hosted jointly by the New York Academy of Sciences and the Micronutrient Forum (26). Manufacturers of supplements must be registered entities and certified as adhering to GMP requirements. For GMP, these include the requirements of the Australian Therapeutics Goods Administration, Health Canada, US Food and Drug Administration, or the WHO for the manufacture of nutritional products. For pharmacopoeias, these include quality standards for nutritional supplements as set by the British Pharmacopeia, European Pharmacopeia, International Pharmacopeia, Japanese Pharmacopeia and US Pharmacopeia.

Currently, four companies manufacture a UNIMMAP-formulated product for global distribution: Contract Pharmacal Corporation, DSM Nutritional Products, Lekapharm and Lomapharm. In addition, there are companies manufacturing a multiple micronutrient supplementation product for local distribution, such as Beximco and Renata in Bangladesh. The Renata product will conform to the *Expert consensus UNIMMAP – MMS product specification*.

#### Other considerations

The Committee noted the many letters of support received in relation to this application.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the high prevalence of nutritional deficiencies in low- and middle-income countries where many women enter pregnancy already malnourished. Deficiencies of multiple essential vitamins and minerals result in potentially severe health consequences for pregnant women and their infants, including increased maternal and perinatal mortality.

The Committee noted that evidence from over 20 randomized trials conducted across multiple countries, often at low risk of bias, demonstrates that daily supplementation with multiple micronutrient supplements in pregnancy compared with supplementation with iron and folic acid alone improves pregnancy outcomes. While the evidence does not show benefits in terms of neonatal and maternal mortality, it does show a relevant reduction in the risk of small for gestational age births, low birth weight and preterm and very preterm births. Data on mortality are affected by the high heterogeneity among studies. The evidence also shows that multiple micronutrient supplements are safe and cost-effective compared with iron and folic acid supplements, particularly where the prevalence of undernourished women is high.

The Committee noted recommendations about use of multiple micronutrient supplements in pregnant women included in WHO guidelines, and joint WHO, UNICEF and World Food Programme guidelines. All recommendations agree on the direction of the recommendation (i.e. recommending multiple micronutrient supplements in certain situations), despite differences in terms of the strength and scope of the recommendations at the population level (e.g. restriction to emergency settings, use in women with tuberculosis or use in the context of research). The Committee agreed that more research is needed on the effects of switching from daily iron and folic acid supplements containing a 60 mg dose of elemental iron to daily multiple micronutrient supplements containing a lower dose (30 mg) of elemental iron in populations with a high prevalence of iron deficiency anaemia, but also recognized that there is no evidence of harm in this group. The Committee considered, however, that listing multiple micronutrient supplements as an essential medicine would not prevent answering this important question and similar questions (e.g. the potential interactions between different micronutrients) and may facilitate research.

The Committee also expressed reservations about the probability that new trials will be started and completed in the short term to further explore the benefits and harms of multiple micronutrient supplements or their acceptability compared with tablets with a smaller number of micronutrients. Implementation research on the adoption of multiple micronutrient supplements will be informative, but it is unlikely that this evidence will change the cumulative evidence reached so far, with a benefit-to-harm ratio clearly in favour of multiple micronutrient supplements.

The Committee therefore recommended listing multiple micronutrient supplements on the core list of the EML for the use as an antenatal supplement in pregnant women. The Committee considered that further evidence on the adequacy of the daily elemental iron dose in multiple micronutrient supplements is desirable.

# References

- World Health Organization, UNICEF, United Nations University. Composition of a multimicronutrient supplement to be used in pilot programmes among pregnant women in developing countries [online]. New York; UNICEF; 1999 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/ 10665/75358, accessed 4 June 2021).
- 2. Gernand AD, Schulze KJ, Stewart CP, West KP, Jr., Christian P. Micronutrient deficiencies in pregnancy worldwide: health effects and prevention. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12(5):274–89.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- World Health Organization, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations. Vitamin and mineral requirements in human nutrition. Second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42716, accessed 4 June 2021).
- 4. Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet. 2013;382(9890):427–51.
- Bourassa MW, Osendarp SJM, Adu-Afarwuah S, Ahmed S, Ajello C, Bergeron G, et al. Antenatal multiple micronutrient supplementation: call to action for change in recommendation. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2020;1465(1):5–7.
- UNICEF, World Health Organization. UNICEF–WHO Low birthweight estimates: levels and trends 2000–2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/324783, accessed 5 June 2021).
- Katz J, Lee AC, Kozuki N, Lawn JE, Cousens S, Blencowe H, et al. Mortality risk in preterm and small-for-gestational-age infants in low-income and middle-income countries: a pooled country analysis. Lancet. 2013;382(9890):417–25.
- Lee AC, Kozuki N, Cousens S, Stevens GA, Blencowe H, Silveira MF, et al. Estimates of burden and consequences of infants born small for gestational age in low and middle income countries with INTERGROWTH-21(st) standard: analysis of CHERG datasets. BMJ. 2017;358:j3677.
- 9. Chawanpaiboon S, Vogel JP, Moller AB, Lumbiganon P, Petzold M, Hogan D, et al. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(7):e849–e60.
- 10. Blencowe H, Krasevec J, de Onis M, Black RE, An X, Stevens GA, et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of low birthweight in 2015, with trends from 2000: a systematic analysis. The Lancet Global health. 2019;7(7):e849-e60.
- 11. United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UNIGME). Levels & trends in child mortality: report 2017. Estimates developed by the UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2017 (http://documents1. worldbank.org/curated/en/358381508420391876/pdf/120551-REVISED-PUBLIC-IGME-report-2017-child-mortality-final.pdf, accessed 5 June 2021).
- 12. Keats EC, Haider BA, Tam E, Bhutta ZA. Multiple-micronutrient supplementation for women during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;3(3):CD004905.
- 13. Smith ER, Shankar AH, Wu LS, Aboud S, Adu-Afarwuah S, Ali H, et al. Modifiers of the effect of maternal multiple micronutrient supplementation on stillbirth, birth outcomes, and infant mortality: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from 17 randomised trials in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(11):e1090–e100.
- 14. Christian P, Kim J, Mehra S, Shaikh S, Ali H, Shamim AA, et al. Effects of prenatal multiple micronutrient supplementation on growth and cognition through 2 y of age in rural Bangladesh: the JiVitA-3 Trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;104(4):1175–82.
- 15. Gernand AD. The upper level: examining the risk of excess micronutrient intake in pregnancy from antenatal supplements. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2019;1444(1):22–34.
- 16. WHO antenatal care recommendations for a positive pregnancy experience. Nutritional interventions update: multiple micronutrient supplements during pregnancy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/333562, accessed 5 June 2021).
- 17. WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250796, accessed 5 June 2021).

18. Guideline: nutritional care and support for patients with tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/94836, accessed 5 June 2021).

- 19. World Health Organization, UNICEF, World Food Programme. Preventing and controlling micronutrient deficiencies in populations affected by an emergency. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/WHO-WFP-UNICEF-statement-micronutrients-deficiencies-emergency, accessed 5 June 2021).
- 20. UNICEF Supply Catalogue [online] (https://supply.unicef.org/, accessed 21 March 2021).
- 21. Johns B, Baltussen R, Hutubessy R. Programme costs in the economic evaluation of health interventions. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2003;1(1):1.
- Kashi B, C MG, Kurzawa ZA, Verney AMJ, Busch-Hallen JF, De-Regil LM. Multiple Micronutrient Supplements Are More Cost-effective Than Iron and Folic Acid: Modeling Results from 3 High-Burden Asian Countries. J Nutr. 2019;149(7):1222–9.
- Policy briefs cost-effectiveness of transitioning from iron and folic acid to multiple micronutrient supplementation for pregnancy [online]. Ottowa: Nutrition International (https://www. nutritionintl.org/learning-resources-home/mms-cost-benefit-tool/, accessed 5 June 2021).
- 24. Engle-Stone R, Kumordzie SM, Meinzen-Dick L, Vosti SA. Replacing iron-folic acid with multiple micronutrient supplements among pregnant women in Bangladesh and Burkina Faso: costs, impacts, and cost-effectiveness. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2019;1444(1):35–51.
- 25. Monterrosa EC, Beesabathuni K, van Zutphen KG, Steiger G, Kupka R, Fleet A, et al. Situation analysis of procurement and production of multiple micronutrient supplements in 12 lower- and upper middle-income countries. Matern Child Nutr. 2018;14(Suppl 5):e12500.
- 26. Expert consensus on an open-access United Nations International Multiple Micronutrient Antenatal Preparation-multiple micronutrient supplement product specification. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2020;1470(1):3–13.

# Section 24: MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS

Methylphenidate – addition – EML and EMLc

# Methylphenidate hydrochloride

ATC Code: N06BA04

#### Proposal

Addition of methylphenidate to the EML and EMLc for the treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

# Applicant

Stephen V. Faraone; Department of Psychiatry, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, United States of America; President, World Federation of ADHD

# WHO technical department

Comments on the application were provided by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use. The technical department advised that the guidelines of the Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) include the use of methylphenidate in the management of children at least 6 years old with a diagnosis of ADHD. Methylphenidate is provided as second-line treatment (after parent training and behavioural interventions) and must be initiated by a specialist. The mhGAP guideline update process is underway and this recommendation will be examined to consider if it needs to be modified.

Important considerations for the Expert Committee were highlighted relating to health systems capacity to enforce and implement protocols for ADHD diagnosis, to prescribe and initiate methylphenidate treatment, and to ensure careful clinical monitoring for side-effects, clinical response, adherence, treatment acceptability and dose adjustment. The risks of methylphenidate misuse, overmedicalization and overtreatment of behavioural problems in children will also be considered.

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

24 Medicines used in behavioural disorders

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet (immediate-release): 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg Tablet (immediate-release, chewable): 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 10 mg Tablet (orally dispersible): 8.6 mg; 17.3 mg; 25.9 mg Oral solution (short-acting): 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL

Oral solution (extended-release): 25 mg/5 mL Solid-oral dosage form (extended-release): multiple strengths ranging from 10 mg to 100 mg Transdermal patch: 1.1 mg; 1.6 mg; 2.2 mg; 3.3 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

An application for the inclusion of methylphenidate on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of ADHD was considered by the Expert Committee in 2019. Listing was not recommended due to concerns about the quality and interpretation of the evidence for benefits and harms (1).

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

In 2019, the global prevalence of ADHD was estimated to be 2.6% of children and adolescents aged 5 to 19 years; within this age group, ADHD accounted for 0.29% of total global disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) (*2*).

Studies and meta-analyses have shown ADHD to be associated impairment of quality of life (3, 4), social and emotional impairment (5-8), greater risk of accidental injuries (9-15), greater risk of premature death and suicide (16-21), increased crime and delinquency (22-26), educational underachievement (27-29), substance use disorders (30-32) and increased economic burden for individuals, families and society (33-42).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The current application represented much of the same evidence included in the 2019 application. The new evidence included in the current application is summarized below.

# Evidence for short-term efficacy from randomized controlled trials

A 2018 systematic review and network meta-analysis evaluated the comparative efficacy of oral medications for ADHD, including methylphenidate, versus each other or placebo (43). It comprised 133 randomized controlled trials, including 81 trials in children and adolescents, 51 in adults and one in both. A total of 14 346 children and adolescents were included in the efficacy analysis. The overall risk of bias was rated as low in 23.5% of the studies included, unclear in 65.4%, and high in 11.1%.

The primary efficacy outcome was measured as change in severity of ADHD core symptoms based on teachers' and clinicians' ratings, at time points closest to 12 weeks of treatment. In children and adolescents, methylphenidate was superior to placebo with respect to ADHD core symptoms rated by both clinicians (standard mean difference (SMD) -0.78, 95% CI -0.93 to -0.62) and teachers (SMD -0.82, 95% CI -1.16 to -0.37). The quality of the evidence from randomized controlled trials in children and adolescents for the comparison of methylphenidate versus placebo was rated as low for teachers' ratings (five studies) and moderate for clinicians' ratings (five studies).

# Evidence for longer-term effectiveness from observational studies

A qualitative systematic review of 40 observational studies from 2008 to 2019 investigated the effects of ADHD medication on behavioural and neuropsychiatric outcomes using linked prescription databases. It included 18 studies that used within-individual designs to account for confounding by indication (44). These studies found short-term beneficial effects of ADHD medication (not limited to methylphenidate) for outcomes such as injuries, motor vehicle accidents, substance use disorder and education, with estimates of relative reduction ranging from 9% to 58%. The within-individual studies found no evidence of increased risks of suicidality and seizures. Most of the within-individual studies included in the systematic review were short-term studies. The authors concluded that the available evidence from pharmacoepidemiological studies on long-term effects of ADHD medication were less clear.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The most common adverse effects of methylphenidate are loss of appetite and insomnia. Other common adverse effects include erythema, headache, mild labile mood, nasal congestion, nasopharyngitis, nausea, vomiting and weight loss (45-48).

A 2018 systematic review and network meta-analysis evaluated the tolerability of medications, including methylphenidate, for ADHD in children, adolescents and adults (43). Tolerability was measured as the proportion of patients who dropped out of studies because of side-effects. The review included 82 trials (11 018 children and adolescents) in the tolerability analysis. The tolerability of methylphenidate was not significantly different from placebo (odds ratio (OR) 1.44, 95% CI 0.90 to 2.31). In children and adolescents, compared with placebo, the use of methylphenidate was associated with significantly increased diastolic blood pressure (SMD 0.24, 95% CI 0.14 to 0.33) and decreased weight (SMD -0.77, 95% CI -1.09 to -0.45). There was no significant increase in systolic blood pressure (SMD 0.09, 95% CI -0.01 to 0.19).

A 2015 Cochrane systematic review of randomized clinical trials of methylphenidate in children and adolescents with ADHD found no increase in

serious adverse events, but a high proportion of participants suffered a range of non-serious adverse events (49). A 2018 Cochrane systematic review of 260 nonrandomized studies evaluated adverse events of methylphenidate in children and adolescents with ADHD (50). Among other findings, the review found very low quality evidence that methylphenidate increased the risk of serious adverse events (risk ratio (RR) 1.36, 95% CI 1.17 to 1.57; two studies, 72 005 participants); any psychotic disorder (RR 1.36, 95% CI 1.17 to 1.57; one study, 71 771 participants); and arrhythmia (RR 1.61, 95% CI 1.48 to 1.74; one study, 1224 participants). In contrast, two large population-based cohort studies using within-person designs found no evidence that methylphenidate was associated with psychotic disorders (51, 52).

A 2020 meta-review of network meta-analyses, meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials, individual randomized controlled trials, and cohort studies reported 78 adverse effects across 80 psychotropic medications in 337 686 children and adolescents with mental disorders (53). It reported that, compared with placebo, methylphenidate was associated with significantly worse anorexia (RR 3.21, 95% CI 2.61 to 3.94), insomnia (OR 4.66, 95% CI 1.99 to 10.9), weight loss (SMD – 0.77, 95% CI –1.09 to –0.45), nausea (RR 1.38, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.84) and abdominal pain (RR 1.50, CI 1.26 to 1.79).

Adverse effects of methylphenidate reported in observational studies include effects on height and weight (54, 55), cardiovascular events (56–58), and cardiac malformations in infants born to women treated with methylphenidate during pregnancy (59).

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO guidelines**

The 2016 WHO mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings (version 2.0) (60) makes the following recommendations for the management of ADHD.

- Provide guidance on child/adolescent well-being.
- Provide psychoeducation to person and carers and parenting advice.
   Provide guidance on improving behaviour.
- Assess for and manage stressors, reduce stress and strengthen social support.
- Provide carer support.
- Liaise with teachers and other school staff.
- Link with other available resources in the community.
- Consider parent skills training when available.

- Consider behavioural interventions when available.
- If above treatments have failed AND the child/adolescent has a diagnosis of ADHD AND is at least 6 years old, refer to a specialist for methylphenidate treatment.
- Ensure appropriate follow-up every 3 months or more, if needed.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The current application identified no new evidence on the cost-effectiveness of methylphenidate since the 2019 application. In 2019, the Expert Committee acknowledged that methylphenidate appeared to be low cost and affordable, but considered that no conclusions could be drawn on the cost-effectiveness of the medicine given the considerable uncertainty in the estimates of benefits and harms (1).

#### Availability

Methylphenidate, in various formulations and strengths, is available globally in originator and generic brands.

# Other considerations

#### Non-medical use and diversion

A 2020 systematic review of the literature on the non-medical use and diversion of prescription stimulants (111 studies) found that non-medical use and diversion are highly prevalent. Self-reported rates among population samples ranged from 2.1% to 58.7% for non-medical use and from 0.7% to 80.0% for diversion. In most cases, non-medical use is associated with no, or minor, medical effects; however, adverse medical outcomes, including death, occur in some individuals, particularly when administered by non-oral routes. Methylphenidate should be used with caution or not at all in patients at risk of diversion or misuse (*61*).

#### Diagnosis

ADHD can only be diagnosed by a licensed clinician who interviews the parent or caregiver and/or patient to document criteria for the disorder. The condition cannot be diagnosed by rating scales alone, neuropsychological tests or methods for imaging the brain (62-68). The diagnosis requires: 1) the presence of developmentally inappropriate levels of hyperactive–impulsive and/or inattentive symptoms for at least 6 months; 2) symptoms occurring in different settings (e.g. home and school); 3) symptoms that cause impairment in living; 4) some of the symptoms and impairments first occurring in early to mid-childhood (before age 12 years); and 5) no other disorder better explains the symptoms (62, 68, 69).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recalled the decision by the 2019 Expert Committee not to recommend methylphenidate for inclusion on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of ADHD due to concerns about the quality and interpretation of the evidence presented on benefits and harms.

The Committee considered the new evidence in the current application from a 2018 network meta-analysis of trials evaluating the comparative efficacy and tolerability of medications for ADHD, including but not limited to methylphenidate, in children, adolescents and adults. The Committee noted that most of the included studies in the network meta-analysis were judged to have an unclear or high risk of bias. In addition, few of the included studies measured outcomes beyond 12 weeks of treatment, which the Committee considered was a major limitation, given that ADHD is a longer-term condition.

With regard to safety and harms, the network meta-analysis reported on the outcome of tolerability, defined as the proportion of patients who dropped out of studies because of adverse effects. The Committee considered that this outcome did not provide adequate information on the frequency and severity of specific adverse effects associated with methylphenidate use. Known adverse effects of methylphenidate that require monitoring include effects on height velocity and weight, and cardiovascular effects such as changes in heart rate and blood pressure.

The Committee also considered that the true prevalence of ADHD was uncertain, because of variability in diagnostic approaches and the potential clinical overlap with other psychiatric illnesses. Given the potential for both under- and over-diagnosis, it is therefore difficult to estimate the actual burden of disease.

The Committee noted that the 2016 WHO mhGAP guidelines recommended that the use of stimulant medication must always be part of a comprehensive treatment plan that includes psychological, behavioural and educational interventions. Recommended first-line interventions for ADHD in the WHO mhGAP guidelines are non-pharmacological (environmental, behavioural and psychosocial). Referral to a specialist for consideration of methylphenidate is only recommended after non-pharmacological interventions have failed and the child is at least 6 years old. The Committee recognized that the availability of these recommended first-line interventions and specialists in the diagnosis and treatment of children with ADHD may be limited in many low- and middle-income countries. The Committee also noted advice from the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use that the mhGAP guidelines are currently in the process of being reviewed and that the review process will take into consideration health systems capacity to: enforce and implement protocols for ADHD diagnosis; regulate the prescription and

initiation of methylphenidate treatment; and ensure careful clinical monitoring of adverse effects, clinical response, adherence, treatment acceptability, requirements for dose adjustment, and risk of misuse, overmedicalization and overtreatment of behavioural problems in children.

The Committee also noted with concern the high prevalence of nonmedical use and diversion of prescription stimulants, including methylphenidate. The Committee noted that methylphenidate is included in the list of psychotropic substances under international control. As such, methylphenidate is subject to import and export restrictions and other legal mechanisms aimed at limiting its use only for scientific and medical purposes to prevent diversion and misuse.

Overall, the Committee considered that even with the new evidence presented in the application, together with previously considered data, the benefit-to-harm ratio for the long-term use of methylphenidate was still uncertain. The Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of methylphenidate on the EML and EMLc. The Committee advised that for any future consideration for the listing of methylphenidate, the following would be informative: evidence for the effectiveness and safety of methylphenidate in the treatment of ADHD of at least 52 weeks duration; outcomes of the revision of the WHO mhGAP guidelines; and evaluation of health system capacity to provide appropriate diagnostic, non-pharmacological and pharmacological treatment and monitoring in low-resource settings.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 June 2021).
- GHDx. GBD results tool. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2021 (http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool?params=gbd-api-2019-permalink/d834d7a 2497b21627729eae140c39f6d, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 3. Lee YC, Yang HJ, Chen VC, Lee WT, Teng MJ, Lin CH, et al. Meta-analysis of quality of life in children and adolescents with ADHD: By both parent proxy-report and child self-report using PedsQL. Res Dev Disabil. 2016;51–52:160–72.
- 4. Dey M, Paz Castro R, Haug S, Schaub MP. Quality of life of parents of mentally-ill children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2019;28(5):563–77.
- 5. Strine TW, Lesesne CA, Okoro CA, McGuire LC, Chapman DP, Balluz LS, et al. Emotional and behavioral difficulties and impairments in everyday functioning among children with a history of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Prev Chronic Dis. 2006;3(2):A52.
- 6. Beheshti A, Chavanon ML, Christiansen H. Emotion dysregulation in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry. 2020;20(1):120.
- 7. Ros R, Graziano PA. Social functioning in children with or at risk for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analytic review. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. 2018;47(2):213–35.

8. Benedict FT, Vivier PM, Gjelsvik A. Mental health and bullying in the United States among children aged 6 to 17 years. J Interpers Violence. 2015;30(5):782–95.

- Yeh JY, Hou TY, Tseng WT, Chen VC, Yang YH, Kuo TY, et al. Association between attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and risk of burn injury: a propensity-matched cohort study. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2020;16:1249–55.
- Ruiz-Goikoetxea M, Cortese S, Aznarez-Sanado M, Magallon S, Alvarez Zallo N, Luis EO, et al. Risk of unintentional injuries in children and adolescents with ADHD and the impact of ADHD medications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2018;84:63–71.
- 11. Chang Z, Lichtenstein P, D'Onofrio BM, Sjolander A, Larsson H. Serious transport accidents in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and the effect of medication: a population-based study. JAMA Psychiatry. 2014;71(3):319–25.
- Nelson LD, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Hammeke T, Barr W, Randolph C, et al. Multiple selfreported concussions are more prevalent in athletes with ADHD and learning disability. Clin J Sport Med. 2016;26(2):120–7.
- 13. Vaa T. ADHD and relative risk of accidents in road traffic: a meta-analysis. Accid Anal Prev. 2014;62:415–25.
- 14. Curry AE, Metzger KB, Pfeiffer MR, Elliott MR, Winston FK, Power TJ. Motor vehicle crash risk among adolescents and young adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(8):756–63.
- Adeyemo BO, Biederman J, Zafonte R, Kagan E, Spencer TJ, Uchida M, et al. Mild traumatic brain injury and ADHD: a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. J Atten Disord. 2014;18(7):576–84.
- Dalsgaard S, Ostergaard SD, Leckman JF, Mortensen PB, Pedersen MG. Mortality in children, adolescents, and adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a nationwide cohort study. Lancet. 2015;385(9983):2190–6.
- 17. Chen VC, Chan HL, Wu SI, Lee M, Lu ML, Liang HY, et al. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and mortality risk in Taiwan. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(8):e198714.
- 18. Fitzgerald C, Dalsgaard S, Nordentoft M, Erlangsen A. Suicidal behaviour among persons with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Br J Psychiatry. 2019: 215(4):615–20.
- 19. Septier M, Stordeur C, Zhang J, Delorme R, Cortese S. Association between suicidal spectrum behaviors and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2019;103:109–18.
- Huang KL, Wei HT, Hsu JW, Bai YM, Su TP, Li CT, et al. Risk of suicide attempts in adolescents and young adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a nationwide longitudinal study. Br J Psychiatry. 2018;212(4):234–8.
- Sun S, Kuja-Halkola R, Faraone SV, D'Onofrio BM, Dalsgaard S, Chang Z, et al. Association of psychiatric comorbidity with the risk of premature death among children and adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA Psychiatry. 2019;76(11):1141–9.
- 22. Mohr-Jensen C, Muller Bisgaard C, Boldsen SK, Steinhausen HC. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in childhood and adolescence and the risk of crime in young adulthood in a Danish nationwide study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2019;58(4):443–52.
- Young S, Moss D, Sedgwick O, Fridman M, Hodgkins P. A meta-analysis of the prevalence of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in incarcerated populations. Psychol Med. 2015;45(2): 247–58.

24. McCauley HL, Breslau JA, Saito N, Miller E. Psychiatric disorders prior to dating initiation and physical dating violence before age 21: findings from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2015;50(9):1357–65.

- 25. Gudjonsson GH, Sigurdsson JF, Sigfusdottir ID, Asgeirsdottir BB, Gonzalez RA, Young S. A national epidemiological study investigating risk factors for police interrogation and false confession among juveniles and young persons. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2016;51(3):359–67.
- 26. Christoffersen MN. Violent crime against children with disabilities: a nationwide prospective birth cohort-study. Child Abuse Negl. 2019;98:104150.
- 27. Breslau J, Miller E, Joanie Chung WJ, Schweitzer JB. Childhood and adolescent onset psychiatric disorders, substance use, and failure to graduate high school on time. J Psychiatr Res. 2011;45(3):295–301.
- 28. Fleming M, Fitton CA, Steiner MFC, McLay JS, Clark D, King A, et al. Educational and health outcomes of children treated for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(7):e170691.
- 29. Korrel H, Mueller KL, Silk T, Anderson V, Sciberras E. Research review: language problems in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder a systematic meta-analytic review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2017;58(6):640–54.
- Lee SS, Humphreys KL, Flory K, Liu R, Glass K. Prospective association of childhood attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and substance use and abuse/dependence: a meta-analytic review. Clin Psychol Rev. 2011;31(3):328–41.
- Groenman AP, Janssen TWP, Oosterlaan J. Childhood psychiatric disorders as risk factor for subsequent substance abuse: a meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2017;56(7): 556–69.
- 32. Sundquist J, Ohlsson H, Sundquist K, Kendler KS. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and risk for drug use disorder: a population-based follow-up and co-relative study. Psychol Med. 2015;45(5):977–83.
- Jennum P, Hastrup LH, Ibsen R, Kjellberg J, Simonsen E. Welfare consequences for people diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a matched nationwide study in Denmark. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2020;37:29–38.
- 34. Le HH, Hodgkins P, Postma MJ, Kahle J, Sikirica V, Setyawan J, et al. Economic impact of childhood/ adolescent ADHD in a European setting: the Netherlands as a reference case. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2014;23(7):587–98.
- 35. The social and economic costs of ADHD in Australia. Report prepared for the Australian ADHD Professionals Association. Canberra: Deloitte Access Economics; 2019.
- 36. Doshi JA, Hodgkins P, Kahle J, Sikirica V, Cangelosi MJ, Setyawan J, et al. Economic impact of childhood and adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in the United States. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2012;51(10):990–1002.e2.
- 37. de Graaf R, Kessler RC, Fayyad J, ten Have M, Alonso J, Angermeyer M, et al. The prevalence and effects of adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) on the performance of workers: results from the WHO World Mental Health Survey Initiative. Occup Environ Med. 2008;65(12): 835–42.
- 38. Swensen AR, Birnbaum HG, Secnik K, Marynchenko M, Greenberg P, Claxton A. Attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: increased costs for patients and their families. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2003;42(12):1415–23.
- 39. Libutzki B, Ludwig S, May M, Jacobsen RH, Reif A, Hartman CA. Direct medical costs of ADHD and its comorbid conditions on basis of a claims data analysis. Eur Psychiatry. 2019;58:38–44.

40. Hong M, Park B, Lee SM, Bahn GH, Kim MJ, Park S, et al. Economic burden and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Atten Disord. 2020;24(6):823–9.

- 41. Daley D, Jacobsen RH, Lange AM, Sorensen A, Walldorf J. The economic burden of adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: A sibling comparison cost analysis. Eur Psychiatry. 2019;61:41–8.
- 42. Du Rietz E, Jangmo A, Kuja-Halkola R, Chang Z, D'Onofrio BM, Ahnemark E, et al. Trajectories of healthcare utilization and costs of psychiatric and somatic multimorbidity in adults with childhood ADHD: a prospective register-based study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2020;61(9):959–68.
- 43. Cortese S, Adamo N, Del Giovane C, Mohr-Jensen C, Hayes AJ, Carucci S, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of medications for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children, adolescents, and adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2018;5(9):727–38.
- 44. Chang Z, Ghirardi L, Quinn PD, Asherson P, D'Onofrio BM, Larsson H. Risks and benefits of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder medication on behavioral and neuropsychiatric outcomes: a qualitative review of pharmacoepidemiology studies using linked prescription databases. Biol Psychiatry. 2019;86(5):335–43.
- 45. Coghill DR, Caballero B, Sorooshian S, Civil R. A systematic review of the safety of lisdexamfetamine dimesylate. CNS Drugs. 2014;28(6):497–511.
- 46. Cortese S, Holtmann M, Banaschewski T, Buitelaar J, Coghill D, Danckaerts M, et al. Practitioner review: current best practice in the management of adverse events during treatment with ADHD medications in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2013;54(3):227–46.
- Faraone SV, Po MD, Komolova M, Cortese S. Sleep-associated adverse events during methylphenidate treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry. 2019;80(3).
- 48. Graham J, Coghill D. Adverse effects of pharmacotherapies for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: epidemiology, prevention and management. CNS Drugs. 2008;22(3):213–37.
- Storebø OJ, Ramstad E, Krogh HB, Nilausen TD, Skoog M, Holmskov M, et al. Methylphenidate for children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(11):CD009885.
- Storebø OJ, Pedersen N, Ramstad E, Kielsholm ML, Nielsen SS, Krogh HB, et al. Methylphenidate for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children and adolescents – assessment of adverse events in non-randomised studies. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;(5):CD012069.
- Hollis C, Chen Q, Chang Z, Quinn PD, Viktorin A, Lichtenstein P, et al. Methylphenidate and the risk of psychosis in adolescents and young adults: a population-based cohort study. Lancet Psychiatry. 2019;6(8):651–8.
- Man KK, Coghill D, Chan EW, Lau WC, Hollis C, Liddle E, et al. Methylphenidate and the risk of psychotic disorders and hallucinations in children and adolescents in a large health system. Transl Psychiatry. 2016;6(11):e956.
- 53. Solmi M, Fornaro M, Ostinelli EG, Zangani C, Croatto G, Monaco F, et al. Safety of 80 antidepressants, antipsychotics, anti-attention-deficit/hyperactivity medications and mood stabilizers in children and adolescents with psychiatric disorders: a large scale systematic meta-review of 78 adverse effects. World Psychiatry. 2020;19(2):214–32.
- 54. Faraone SV, Biederman J, Morley CP, Spencer TJ. Effect of stimulants on height and weight: a review of the literature. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2008;47(9):994–1009.
- 55. Carucci S, Balia C, Gagliano A, Lampis A, Buitelaar JK, Danckaerts M, et al. Long term methylphenidate exposure and growth in children and adolescents with ADHD. a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2020;120:509–25.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- Dalsgaard S, Kvist AP, Leckman JF, Nielsen HS, Simonsen M. Cardiovascular safety of stimulants in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a nationwide prospective cohort study. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2014;24(6):302–10.
- 57. Liang EF, Lim SZ, Tam WW, Ho CS, Zhang MW, McIntyre RS, et al. The effect of methylphenidate and atomoxetine on heart rate and systolic blood pressure in young people and adults with attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(8):1789.
- 58. Liu H, Feng W, Zhang D. Association of ADHD medications with the risk of cardiovascular diseases: a meta-analysis. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2019;28(10):1283–93.
- 59. Koren G, Barer Y, Ornoy A. Fetal safety of methylphenidate a scoping review and meta analysis. Reprod Toxicol. 2020;93:230–4.
- mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in nonspecialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) – version 2.0. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250239, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 61. Faraone SV, Rostain AL, Montano CB, Mason O, Antshel KM, Newcorn JH. Systematic review: nonmedical use of prescription stimulants: risk factors, outcomes, and risk reduction strategies. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2020;59(1):100–12.
- 62. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Fifth edition. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 63. Chinese Society of Psychiatry. Chinese classification and diagnostic criteria of mental disorder, 3rd edition. Jinan: Shandong Science and Technology Press; 2001.
- 64. Faraone SV, Asherson P, Banaschewski T, Biederman J, Buitelaar JK, Ramos-Quiroga JA, et al. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15020.
- 65. Feldman HM, Reiff MI. Clinical practice. Attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(9):838–46.
- 66. Pearl PL, Weiss RE, Stein MA. Medical mimics. Medical and neurological conditions simulating ADHD. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;931:97–112.
- 67. Stein MA. Medical mimics and differential diagnosis in adult ADHD. CNS Spectr. 2008;13(10 Suppl 15):14–6.
- 68. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, 11th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://icd.who.int/en, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 69. Yi Z, Jing L. Prevention and treatment guidelines for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Second edition. Beijing; Peking University Medical Press; 2015.

542

# 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

Paliperidone and risperidone long-acting injection – addition – EML

Paliperidone	ATC Code: N05AX13
Risperidone	ATC Code: N05AX08

# Proposal

Addition of paliperidone (1-month) and risperidone long-acting injection to the core list of the EML for maintenance treatment of adults with schizophrenia or related chronic psychotic disorders.

# Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

# WHO technical department

The Department of Mental Health and Substance Use provided comments on the application. It noted that the department had been approached on multiple occasions by various organizations (e.g. Médecins Sans Frontières, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and Christian Blind Mission) about the uncertainty of the future availability of fluphenazine, currently the only longacting injectable antipsychotic on the EML. Long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are an established treatment option for schizophrenia and are recommended in existing guidelines of the WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP).

The Department's comments also highlighted a recently published new systematic review by a different research group that showed significant benefits of long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines versus oral antipsychotic medicines in preventing hospitalization or relapse (1), providing further evidence of the importance of having long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines available in health services around the world.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Paliperidone: injection (prolonged-release) 25 mg, 50 mg, 75 mg, 100 mg, 150 mg (as palmitate)

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Risperidone: injection (prolonged-release) 12.5 mg, 25 mg, 37.5 mg, 50 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual listing for both paliperidone and risperidone

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Currently, the only long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicine included on the EML is fluphenazine (decanoate or enantate), with a square box as representative of unspecified alternatives within the same pharmacological class. The availability of fluphenazine globally is erratic, representing a major threat for people requiring regular treatment over long periods.

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Globally, 20 million people, or about 0.9% of the world's population, are estimated to have schizophrenia (2). As estimated by the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study 2017, schizophrenia contributes 12.66 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) to the global burden of disease (3).

More than 50% of individuals who receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia have intermittent but long-term psychiatric problems, and about 20% have chronic symptoms and disability (4). Regular pharmacological treatment from the early stages of the disease may be key to preserving neurocognitive abilities, preventing structural brain changes, and delaying progression to chronic functional deterioration, resulting in better quality of life and increased survival (5). Life expectancy in people with schizophrenia is about 14 years shorter than the general population (6).

Adherence to treatment is an important issue with only one in three people with schizophrenia fully adhering to antipsychotic treatment (7,8). Together with other factors, non-adherence to medication is a predictor of relapse (9). Long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines were developed with the primary aim of reducing non-adherence.

Median treatment coverage for schizophrenia in low- and middleincome countries is estimated to be about 30%. Almost two thirds of people with schizophrenia and related disorders in low- and middle-income countries do not receive adequate treatment. The treatment gap for schizophrenic disorders was larger in lower-income countries (89%) than in lower-middle-income (69%) and upper-middle-income countries (63%). The size of the treatment gap shows a significant negative association with: the prevalence of schizophrenic disorders in the general population; gross national income; the availability of psychiatric

544

hospital beds; the number of psychiatrists per 100 000 population; and the number of nurses in mental health facilities per 100 000 population (*10*).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented the results of a systematic review and network metaanalysis of 78 randomized controlled trials (11 505 participants) evaluating the comparative efficacy, acceptability and tolerability of long-acting antipsychotic medicines in adults with chronic non-affective psychosis (*11*). The primary outcomes were relapse rate and all-cause discontinuation of the medication (the latter as a measure of "acceptability"). Secondary outcomes included: efficacy measured as mean change in scores on validated rating scales measuring psychopathology and quality of life; functioning; and hospitalizations.

# **Relapse rate**

Sixty-nine studies (11 176 participants) contributed data for this outcome. Various long-acting antipsychotic injections were significantly more effective than placebo in preventing relapse, including: paliperidone 3-month (risk ratio (RR) 0.27, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.17 to 0.42), fluphenazine (RR 0.34, 95% CI 0.24 to 0.48), risperidone (RR 0.34, 95% CI 0.23 to 0.52) and paliperidone 1-month (RR 0.39; 95% CI 0.30 to 0.50).

Head-to-head comparisons showed paliperidone 3-month, aripiprazole and fluphenazine were more effective than haloperidol. Results of the network meta-analysis were consistent with results from pairwise meta-analyses, with the exception of haloperidol versus placebo (favouring placebo in the direct estimate) and fluphenazine versus haloperidol (not significant in the direct estimate).

Paliperidone 3-month ranked best based on the mean surface under the cumulative ranking curve. Compared to placebo, the certainty of evidence was rated as high for paliperidone 3-month and paliperidone 1-month, and moderate for risperidone.

# Acceptability (all-cause discontinuation)

Seventy-four studies (11 385 participants) contributed data for this outcome. Most long-acting antipsychotic injections were significantly more acceptable than placebo, including paliperidone 3-month (RR 0.60, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.84), haloperidol (RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.50 to 0.81), fluphenazine (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.81), risperidone (RR 0.70, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.85) and paliperidone 1-month (RR 0.70, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.85).

Head-to-head comparisons showed aripiprazole to be significantly superior to fluphenazine, paliperidone 1-month and risperidone, among others. Results of the network meta-analyses were consistent with those from pairwise meta-analyses, with some exceptions, including aripiprazole versus paliperidone 1-month (not significant in the direct estimate). Zuclopenthixol, clopenthixol, aripiprazole and paliperidone 3-month ranked best based on the mean surface under the cumulative ranking curve. Compared with placebo, the certainty of evidence was rated as high for paliperidone 3-month, and moderate for fluphenazine and paliperidone 1-month. For most of the head-to-head comparisons, the certainty of evidence was rated low or very low due to within-study bias and imprecision.

#### Efficacy measured as mean change in scores on validated rating scales

Risperidone (standardized mean difference (SMD) 0.82, 95% CI 0.34 to 1.30) and paliperidone 1-month (SMD 0.49, 95% CI 0.12 to 0.86) were among the second-generation antipsychotic medicines found to be significantly better than placebo for this outcome. No significant differences were observed in the head-to-head comparisons.

# Quality of life

Data were available only for aripiprazole, risperidone and paliperidone 1-month for this outcome (placebo was not included). In head-to-head comparisons, aripiprazole was superior to paliperidone 1-month.

#### Hospitalization

Compared with placebo, treatment with aripiprazole, paliperidone 3-month, haloperidol, fluphenazine and paliperidone 1-month resulted in significantly lower hospitalization rates.

# Functioning

In pairwise meta-analyses, no significant differences between treatments were seen for patient functioning, except for paliperidone 3-month which resulted in better patient functioning than placebo based on results of one study. A network meta-analysis could not be carried out.

With respect to the formulations proposed for listing (paliperidone 1-month and risperidone) head-to-head comparisons in the network metaanalysis showed that these medicines are:

- superior to placebo in reducing the risk of relapse, with effect sizes similar to those of other long-acting antipsychotic medicines included in the analysis, and high (paliperidone 1-month) and moderate (risperidone) certainty of evidence. No statistically significant differences emerged when compared head-to-head with other long-acting antipsychotic medicines.
- more acceptable than placebo in terms of overall dropouts (a pragmatic measure of the balance between efficacy and tolerability), with effect sizes similar to those of other long-acting antipsychotic

546

medicines included in the analysis, and moderate (paliperidone 1-month) and low (risperidone) evidence. No statistically significant differences emerged when compared head-to-head with other long-acting antipsychotic medicines, except for aripiprazole, which showed a better acceptability profile compared with both paliperidone 1-month and risperidone.

According to a large Swedish database study (*12*), in which 29 823 adults with a diagnosis of schizophrenia were followed between 2006 and 2013, both paliperidone 1-month and risperidone appeared effective in preventing psychiatric rehospitalization compared with no use of antipsychotic medicines (paliperidone: hazard ratio (HR) 0.51, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.64; risperidone: HR 0.61, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.68), and compared with oral olanzapine (paliperidone: HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.83; risperidone: HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.87). The effect size was comparable to those of other long-acting antipsychotic medicines.

Although comparability of oral and long-acting antipsychotic medicines is debated, two systematic reviews and meta-analyses of randomized trials failed to detect significant differences between these two formulations in terms of efficacy, overall acceptability, tolerability and common adverse events (*13, 14*).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The systematic review and network meta-analysis presented in the application considered dropouts as a result of adverse events (as a measure of "tolerability"), weight gain, hyperprolactinaemia, extrapyramidal symptoms and QTc prolongation, and sedation (11).

# Dropouts due to adverse events

Paliperidone 1-month was less tolerable than placebo (RR 1.87, 95% CI 1.02 to 3.40), while for other long-acting antipsychotic medicines, no significant differences were observed compared with placebo.

# Weight gain

Significantly higher weight gain occurred with aripiprazole, paliperidone 1-month and paliperidone 3-month, compared with placebo.

# Hyperprolactinaemia

The risk of hyperprolactinaemia was significantly higher for olanzapine, paliperidone 1-month and paliperidone 3-month compared with placebo.

# Extrapyramidal symptoms

No long-acting antipsychotic medicine showed a significantly higher risk of extrapyramidal symptoms compared with placebo.

#### QTc prolongation and sedation

In pairwise meta-analyses, no significant differences between treatments emerged, except for paliperidone 3-month which showed a lower risk of QTc prolongation than paliperidone-LAI 1-month, based on the results of one study.

Previous systematic reviews and meta-analyses found no relevant differences between the oral and long-acting injection formulations of the same antipsychotic medication (13, 14). A network meta-analysis (15) showed that both oral risperidone and paliperidone were worse than placebo in terms of:

- weight gain: paliperidone (mean difference (MD) 1.49 kg, 95% CI 0.98 to 2.00 kg; 1536 participants; high-certainty evidence) and risperidone (MD 1.44 kg, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.83 kg; 2521 participants; high-certainty evidence);
- use of antiparkinson medications: paliperidone (RR 1.61, 95% CI 1.17 to 2.10; 1355 participants; very low-certainty evidence) and risperidone (RR 1.80, 95% CI 1.40 to 2.38; 2174 participants; low-certainty evidence);
- prolactin increase: paliperidone (MD 48.51 ng/mL, 95% CI 43.52 to 53.51 ng/mL; 1067 participants; moderate-certainty evidence) and risperidone (MD 37.98 ng/mL, 95% CI 34.64 to 41.38 ng/mL; 1761 participants; moderate-certainty evidence).

Another systematic review and meta-analysis assessed the risk of death associated with long-acting injectable and oral antipsychotic medicines in people with schizophrenia (*16*). Up to 52 randomized controlled trials were included (17 416 participants). Neither pooled nor individual long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines (aripiprazole, fluphenazine, olanzapine, paliperidone and risperidone) differed from placebo regarding the incidence of all-cause death (overall RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.24 to 1.70; 18 studies; 5919 participants). Similarly, pooled long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines (aripiprazole, fluphenazine, fluphenazine, haloperidol, olanzapine, paliperidone, risperidone and zuclopenthixol) did not differ from pooled oral antipsychotic medicines with regard to all-cause death (overall RR 0.71, 95% CI 0.38 to 1.34; 24 studies; 7879 participants). Secondary analyses showed no differences between long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines and both placebo and oral antipsychotic medicines in terms of suicide. The risk of death was similar for individual long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines and oral antipsychotic medicines.

**Additional evidence** (not in the application) Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

According to WHO guidelines, people with psychotic disorders (including schizophrenia), who require long-term antipsychotic treatment, can be offered depot antipsychotic medicines instead of oral medications as part of a treatment plan. The guidelines also recommend that patients and carers should be offered clear and accessible information in a suitable format about the use and possible side-effects of oral versus depot preparations (*17*, *18*).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Costs and worldwide availability of long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines vary. Although currently both risperidone and paliperidone 1-month long-acting injections are marketed by the innovator company Janssen, most of the patents that prevent the marketing of generics have already expired, and most of the remaining will expire soon.

A 1-year mirror-image study conducted in the United Kingdom, including 30 people receiving aripiprazole long-acting injection and 84 receiving paliperidone 1-month long-acting injection, showed a significant reduction in both bed occupancy and hospital admission compared with the period before the introduction of the treatment. Estimated minimum savings were £ 14 175 for aripiprazole and £ 13 750 for paliperidone (*19*). Similarly, a mirror-image study conducted in Spain, including 71 outpatients starting paliperidone 1-month long-acting injection, showed that fewer hospitalizations, shorter hospitalization days, fewer emergency assists and a decrease in the mean number of antipsychotic medicines used per patient were associated with the long-acting treatment. These reductions led to an overall reduction in inpatient spending (savings of  $\notin$  175 766) and a 32% increase in spending on antipsychotic medicines (equivalent to  $\notin$  151 127) after 1 year of treatment (*20*).

The cost-effectiveness of paliperidone versus haloperidol decanoate in the maintenance treatment of schizophrenia was evaluated in the ACLAIMS trial (21). This trial included 311 participants allocated to haloperidol decanoate and paliperidone. Paliperidone had a better efficacy profile in terms of qualityadjusted life years (QALY) but also greater average quarterly inpatient, outpatient and medications costs. The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio for paliperidone was US\$ 508 241 per QALY. Overall, haloperidol decanoate was more cost-effective than paliperidone palmitate, and the markedly higher onpatent costs of paliperidone were not justified by its slightly greater benefits (21).

Table 9 compares costs of long-acting injection formulations of various antipsychotic medicines in different countries.

# Table 9 Costs (in US\$) of long-acting injection formulations of antipsychotic medicines, by country

Medicine	Italy	United Kingdom	United States of America	Brazil	India	South Africa
Risperidone						
25 mg	185	105	540	_	_	121
37.5 mg	240	146	805	222	-	164
50 mg	300	188	1071	320	121	207
Paliperidone 1	-month					
50 mg	398	242	985	_	_	193
75 mg	514	323	1474	_	121	281
100 mg	655	414	1962	326	121	370
150 mg	804	517	2938	_	121	547
Paliperidone 3	-month					
175 mg	1197	728	2938	_	_	_
263 mg	1545	969	4402	_	_	_
350 mg	1930	1242	5867	_	_	_
525 mg	3105	1553	8796	_	_	-
Fluphenazine						
25 mg	5.30	30	75	34	0.68	19
100 mg	_	58	-	-	_	-
Haloperidol						
50 mg	11.30	25.00	33.00	3.60	0.08	-
100 mg	_	33.00	40.00	-	_	-

# Availability

Risperidone long-acting injection has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of schizophrenia, and as monotherapy or as adjunctive therapy to lithium or valproate for the maintenance treatment of bipolar I disorder. Risperidone long-acting injection has also been approved by the European Medicines Agency for the maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in people currently stabilized with oral antipsychotic medicines. Paliperidone long-acting injection 1-month has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration: for treatment of schizophrenia; for treatment of schizoaffective disorder as monotherapy; and as an adjunct to mood stabilizers or antidepressants. It is also approved by the European Medicines Agency for the maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adults whose disease has already been stabilized on treatment with paliperidone or risperidone.

Paliperidone long-acting injection 3-month has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of schizophrenia in patients after they have been adequately treated with paliperidone long-acting injection 1-month for at least 4 months, and by the European Medicines Agency for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adult patients who are clinically stable on paliperidone long-acting injection 1-month.

According to the manufacturer Janssen, paliperidone long-acting injection 1-month and 3-month are currently approved in 103 and 91 countries, respectively, including the USA, countries of the European Union, Japan, Ghana and South Africa. Risperidone long-acting injection is currently licensed in 59 countries. The 12.5 mg dose is used as the titration/starting dose only and is currently only available in Canada and the USA.

# Other considerations

Although paliperidone palmitate 3-month long-acting injection was shown to be effective and acceptable, the applicants decided not to consider this medication for the present proposal for the following reasons.

- It has been available only in relatively recent times (approved by the European Medicines Agency in 2016), it not yet commonly used in clinical practice and worldwide its availability may be limited.
- Some concerns had been raised about the randomized study comparing paliperidone palmitate 3-month and placebo (22). Study participants underwent a stabilization phase with paliperidone 1-month before randomization which might have inflated the effect size in favour of paliperidone.
- More research is needed to rule out possible unintended consequences of this formulation of paliperidone, including the effects of reduced doctors' visits due to the longer dosing interval. In addition, the cumulative monthly dose of paliperidone 3-month is slightly higher than that of paliperidone 1-month and this may affect toxicity and tolerability (23).

In general, injectable long-acting antipsychotic medicines are administered by health care professionals and require some technical precautions. Paliperidone is supplied in prefilled syringes and can be stored at room temperature, risperidone requires reconstitution and cold chain storage. If cold chain storage is not available, it can be stored at room temperature so long as the temperature does not exceed 25 °C (77 °F), and it is used within 7 days. In some low- and middle-income countries and in humanitarian emergency settings, these logistical constraints and the need for trained health care workers may prevent the use of long-acting risperidone.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee considered that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are a valuable treatment option to increase adherence to treatment and reduce relapse in adults with schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders. The Committee also noted with concern the uncertainty of current and future availability of fluphenazine injection, which is the only long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicine included on the EML at the moment, and considered that the availability of alternative medicines would be important to meet the public health need for such treatments. The Committee noted that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are an established treatment option for schizophrenia and are recommended in existing WHO (mhGAP) guidelines. In particular, the Committee acknowledged that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are useful in low-resource settings, where many factors might impede regular monitoring and follow-up of patients.

The Committee noted that the available data suggest benefits of longacting injectable antipsychotic medicines versus oral antipsychotic medicines in preventing hospitalization or relapse, especially in populations with low treatment adherence. The effectiveness and overall safety of first-generation and second-generation antipsychotic medicines are similar. The availability of agents with different side-effect profiles may support the selection of one treatment over another given a patient's clinical status and vulnerabilities.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the addition of paliperidone palmitate 1-month long-acting injection to the core list of the EML for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adults stabilized on oral therapy. The listing is recommended with a square box specifying risperidone long-acting injection as a therapeutic alternative.

The Committee also noted and welcomed the planned comprehensive review by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use of the mental health sections of the EML and EMLc to achieve optimal alignment between the Model Lists and recommendations of the WHO mental health treatment guidelines.

# References

- 1. Kishimoto T, Hagi K, Kurokawa S, Kane JM, Correll CU. Long-acting injectable versus oral antipsychotics for the maintenance treatment of schizophrenia: a systematic review and comparative meta-analysis of randomised, cohort, and pre-post studies. Lancet Psychiatry. 2021;8(5):387–404.
- 2. James SL, Abate D, Abate KH, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abbasi N, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789–858.
- 3. He H, Liu Q, Li N, Guo L, Gao F, Bai L, et al. Trends in the incidence and DALYs of schizophrenia at the global, regional and national levels: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2020;29:e91.
- 4. Owen MJ, Sawa A, Mortensen PB. Schizophrenia. Lancet. 2016;388(10039):86–97.
- 5. McEvoy JP. The importance of early treatment of schizophrenia. Behav Healthc. 2007;27(4):40–3.
- 6. Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(4):295–301.
- 7. Nosé M, Barbui C, Tansella M. How often do patients with psychosis fail to adhere to treatment programmes? A systematic review. Psychol Med. 2003;33(7):1149–60.
- 8. Marder SR. Overview of partial compliance. J Clin Psychiatry. 2003;64(Suppl 16):3–9.
- Chen EY, Hui CL, Dunn EL, Miao MY, Yeung WS, Wong CK, et al. A prospective 3-year longitudinal study of cognitive predictors of relapse in first-episode schizophrenic patients. Schizophr Res. 2005;77(1):99–104.
- Lora A, Kohn R, Levav I, McBain R, Morris J, Saxena S. Service availability and utilization and treatment gap for schizophrenic disorders: a survey in 50 low- and middle-income countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2012;90(1):47–54.
- 11. Ostuzzi G, Bertolini F, Del Giovane C, Tedeschi F, Bovo C, Gastaldon C, et al. Maintenance treatment with long-acting injectable antipsychotics for people with nonaffective psychoses: a network meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2021;178(5):424–36.
- 12. Tiihonen J, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Majak M, Mehtala J, Hoti F, Jedenius E, et al. Real-world effectiveness of antipsychotic treatments in a nationwide cohort of 29 823 patients with schizophrenia. JAMA Psychiatry. 2017;74(7):686–93.
- Ostuzzi G, Bighelli I, So R, Furukawa TA, Barbui C. Does formulation matter? A systematic review and meta-analysis of oral versus long-acting antipsychotic studies. Schizophr Res. 2017;183:10– 21.
- 14. Misawa F, Kishimoto T, Hagi K, Kane JM, Correll CU. Safety and tolerability of long-acting injectable versus oral antipsychotics: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies comparing the same antipsychotics. Schizophr Res. 2016;176(2–3):220–30.
- Huhn M, Nikolakopoulou A, Schneider-Thoma J, Krause M, Samara M, Peter N, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral antipsychotics for the acute treatment of adults with multi-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;394(10202):939–51.
- 16. Kishi T, Matsunaga S, Iwata N. Mortality risk associated with long-acting injectable antipsychotics: a systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. Schizophr Bull. 2016;42(6):1438–45.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in nonspecialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) – version 2.0. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250239, accessed 6 June 2021).
- Role of depot antipsychotic medication in long-term antipsychotic treatment. Evidence supporting mhGAP recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. (https://www. who.int/mental\_health/mhgap/evidence/resource/psychosis\_q5.pdf?ua=1, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 19. Hodgson RE. Evaluating the cost and clinical effectiveness of long-acting, injectable aripiprazole and paliperidone palmitate once a month in a real-world setting. Clinicoecon Outcomes Res. 2019;11:517–24.
- Mesones-Peral JE, Gurillo-Muñoz P, Sánchez-Sicilia MP, Miller A, Griñant-Fernández A. Hospitalizations and economic analysis in psychotic patients with paliperidone palmitate longacting injection. Rev Psiquiatr Salud Ment. 2017;10(1):33–7.
- Rosenheck RA, Leslie DL, Sint KJ, Lin H, Li Y, McEvoy JP, et al. Cost-effectiveness of long-acting injectable paliperidone palmitate versus haloperidol decanoate in maintenance treatment of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Serv. 2016;67(10):1124–30.
- 22. Berwaerts J, Liu Y, Gopal S, Nuamah I, Xu H, Savitz A, et al. Efficacy and safety of the 3-month formulation of paliperidone palmitate vs placebo for relapse prevention of schizophrenia: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry. 2015;72(8):830–9.
- 23. Ostuzzi G, Papola D, Gastaldon C, Barbui C. New EMA report on paliperidone 3-month injections: taking clinical and policy decisions without an adequate evidence base. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2017;26(3):231–3.

# 24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

Bupropion – addition – EML

# **Bupropion hydrochloride**

ATC Code: N06AX12

# Proposal

Addition of bupropion hydrochloride to the core list of the EML as an aid to smoking cessation in adults.

# Applicant

Raymond G. Boyle, Judith J. Prochaska; WHO Department of Health Promotion

# WHO technical department

Department of Health Promotion, No Tobacco Unit

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet, sustained-release: 150 mg

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Bupropion hydrochloride has not been evaluated before for inclusion on the EML.

Nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), as chewing gum or transdermal patch formulations, has been included on the EML since 2009. The Expert Committee recommended listing on the basis of the public health need, high-quality evidence of effectiveness, and acceptable safety and cost–effectiveness. Other formulations were not recommended for inclusion at the time because less evidence was available of comparative safety, effectiveness and cost in different populations (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Tobacco smoking is still the leading cause of premature disability and death around the world (2). Cigarette smoke contains an estimated 7000 different chemical compounds of which at least 70 are proven or suspected human carcinogens, including: arsenic, benzene, formaldehyde, lead, nitrosamines and polonium 210. Tobacco smoke also contains poisonous gases: ammonia, butane, carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen cyanide and toluene. More than half of all long-term smokers die from a disease caused by tobacco use, with an average loss of at least 10 years of life (3). Smoking causes 87% of lung cancer deaths, 61% of pulmonary disease deaths (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and emphysema) and one in three cancer deaths. For every person who dies from smoking, at least 30 people live with serious smoking-related illnesses (3).

According to WHO (4):

- The tobacco epidemic is one of the biggest public health threats the world has ever faced.
- Globally, 1.3 million people use tobacco, of whom 80% live in lowand middle-income countries.
- Tobacco use contributes to poverty by diverting household spending away from basic needs.
- Over 8 million people a year die from tobacco use.
- The economic costs of tobacco use are substantial.

Estimates from 2012 are that the total global economic cost of smoking was US\$ 1436 billion, equivalent to 1.8% of the world's annual gross domestic product (GDP), with about 40% of the total economic cost borne by developing countries (5).

The scale of human and economic harms that the tobacco industry imposes is large and preventable. In response, in 2003, WHO Member States unanimously adopted the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHO FCTC), which is currently endorsed by 182 Parties and covers more than 90% of the world's population. To scale up implementation of the main demandreduction (i.e. tobacco control) provisions of the WHO FCTC, the WHO introduced MPOWER in 2007, with "O" related to offering treatment. The six MPOWER measures are:

- Monitor tobacco use and prevention policies
- Protect people from tobacco use
- Offer help to quit tobacco use
- Warn about the dangers of tobacco
- Enforce bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship
- **R**aise taxes on tobacco.

Quitting smoking brings health benefits and when smokers become aware of the dangers of tobacco use, most want to quit. Yet, without medications or cessation support, only about 4% of attempts to stop using tobacco will succeed. Professional support and proven cessation medications can more than double a tobacco user's chance of successfully quitting (5).

As stated in the 2019 WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic (6), "Every country has an obligation to protect the health of its people, and all parties to the WHO FCTC have made a specific commitment to implement strong tobacco control policies, including effective cessation services, as an important means of fulfilling their obligation to protect the health of their people."

Tobacco dependence is characterized as a physiological dependence (addiction to nicotine) and a behavioural (or conditioned) habit of using tobacco. Hence, for maximal effectiveness, as recommended by clinical practice guidelines, tobacco dependence treatment engages a multipronged approach (7–9). Addiction can be treated with evidence-based medications for smoking cessation, and the behavioural habit can be treated through counselling and behaviour change programmes. Either cessation medication or counselling alone has evidence of effectiveness, but the best outcomes are with a combination of both approaches. The availability of interventions and their use are likely to vary. Having many cessation medication options available for clinicians and smokers for tobacco treatment is essential for tackling the significant global harms of tobacco use.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The efficacy of bupropion sustained release (SR) as an aid to smoking cessation has been demonstrated in many placebo-controlled, double-blind trials.

The application describes three trials conducted by the manufacturer (GlaxoSmithKline, GSK) in non-depressed chronic cigarette smokers (n = 1940, smoking > 15 cigarettes a day) (10). In these trials, bupropion SR was used in conjunction with individual smoking cessation counselling. Treatment with bupropion SR was started at 150 mg a day while the participant was still smoking and then increased after 3 days to 150 mg twice daily. Abstinence rates were determined by participant daily diaries and verified by CO levels in expired air and are the proportions of all participants initially enrolled (i.e. intent-to-treat analysis) who abstained in the specified week.

The first trial (n = 615), conducted at three clinical centres, evaluated dose-response (11). Participants were treated for 7 weeks with one of three doses of bupropion SR (100, 150 or 300 mg a day) or placebo. Participants set a target quit date after 1 week of medication (usually day 8). Table 10 shows CO-confirmed weekly point prevalence quit rates at week 6 (final week of study medication) and at months 3, 6 and 12. Treatment with bupropion SR (100,

150 or 300 mg a day) was more effective than placebo in helping participants achieve abstinence at week 6 and month 3. Treatment with bupropion at 150 mg or 300 mg a day was more effective than placebo in helping participants achieve abstinence at months 6 and 12. Rates of continuous abstinence from the target quit date to the end of treatment were 10.5% in the placebo group, 13.7% in the 100 mg group, 18.3% in the 150 mg group and 24.4% in the 300 mg group. The rate of continuous abstinence was significantly better in the bupropion 300 mg group than in the placebo group (P < 0.001) and the group that received 100 mg of bupropion (P < 0.02).

#### Table 10

Treatment groups (7-week)	Quit rate (%)			
	Week 6 <sup>a</sup>	Month 3	Month 6	Month 12
Bupropion SR 300 mg/day ( $n = 156$ )	44.2**	29.5**	26.9*	23.1*
Bupropion SR 150 mg/day ( $n = 153$ )	38.6**	26.1*	27.5*	22.9*
Bupropion SR 100 mg/day ( $n = 153$ )	28.8*	24.2*	24.2	19.6
Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 153)	19.0	14.4	15.7	12.4

#### Dose-response trial: carbon monoxide-confirmed weekly point prevalence quit rates

SR: sustained release.

<sup>a</sup> Final week of study medication.

\**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.001 relative to placebo.

Hurt RD, et al., 1997 (11).

The second trial was a comparator combination treatment trial (n = 893) conducted at four clinics, which evaluated 9-week treatments of: bupropion SR 300 mg a day, nicotine patch 21 mg a day, a combination of bupropion SR 300 mg and nicotine patch 21 mg a day, and placebo (12). Nicotine patch 21 mg a day was added to treatment with bupropion SR after about 1 week when the participant reached the target quit date. During weeks 8 and 9 of the trial, the patch was tapered to 14 and 7 mg a day, respectively. The primary outcome was CO-verified point-prevalence abstinence at 6 and 12 months follow-up. Bupropion SR and the combination of bupropion SR and nicotine patch were better than placebo in helping participants to achieve and maintain abstinence from smoking (Table 11). The treatment combination of bupropion SR and nicotine patch showed the highest rates of continuous abstinence throughout the trial; however, the quit rates for the combination were not significantly higher than for bupropion SR alone (P > 0.05).

Treatment groups (9-week)	Quit rate (%) <sup>a</sup>	
	6 months	12 months
Bupropion SR 300 mg plus nicotine patch 21 mg ( $n = 245$ )	38.8	35.5
Bupropion SR 300 mg ( <i>n</i> = 244)	34.8	30.3
Nicotine patch 21 mg ( $n = 244$ )	21.3	16.4
Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 151)	18.8	15.6

# Table 11 Comparator clinical trial: carbon monoxide-confirmed point prevalence quit rates

SR: sustained release.

<sup>a</sup> Bupropion SR plus nicotine patch and bupropion SR alone compared with placebo at 6 and 12 months,  $P \le 0.001$ ; nicotine patch compared with placebo at 6 and 12 months, P = 0.53 and P = 0.84, respectively; bupropion SR plus nicotine patch compared with bupropion SR alone at 6 and 12 months, P = 0.37 and P = 0.22, respectively.

Jorenby DE, et al., 1999 (12).

The third trial, at five clinics, examined long-term maintenance treatment with bupropion SR (*13*). Participants (n = 784) received open-label bupropion SR 300 mg a day for 7 weeks. After 7 weeks, 429 participants who quit smoking while receiving bupropion SR were then randomized to receive bupropion SR 300 mg a day or placebo for a total trial duration of 1 year. Abstinence from smoking was determined by self-report and verified by expired air CO levels. Smoking point prevalence abstinence was significantly higher in the bupropion SR group than in the placebo group at the end of drug therapy at week 52 (55% versus 42%, respectively; P = 0.008) and at week 78 (48% versus 38%, respectively; P = 0.034) but did not differ at the final follow-up visit at week 104 (42% versus 40%, respectively; P > 0.05). The median time to relapse was significantly greater for bupropion SR recipients than for placebo recipients (156 days versus 65 days; P = 0.021). The continuous abstinence rate was higher in the bupropion SR group than in the placebo group at study week 24 (17 weeks after randomization) (52% versus 42%; P = 0.037), but did not differ between groups after week 24.

Another 6-month trial of long-term maintenance treatment with bupropion SR reported hazard ratios (HR) for relapse that statistically significantly favoured bupropion SR over placebo at 6 months, the end of treatment (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.92) and at 12 months, the 6-month follow-up (HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.96) (*14*). However, the advantage of bupropion SR was lost on stopping the drug.

Quit rates in clinical trials are influenced by the population selected. Quit rates in an unselected population may be lower than the above rates. Quit rates for bupropion SR were similar in participants with and without prior attempts to quit using NRT.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Across trials, during active treatment, withdrawal symptoms were significantly reduced in participants randomized to treatment with bupropion SR compared with placebo. Reductions in the following withdrawal symptoms were most pronounced: irritability, frustration or anger; anxiety; difficulty concentrating; restlessness; and depressed mood or negative affect. Depending on the trial and the measure used, treatment with bupropion SR showed evidence of reduction in craving for cigarettes or urge to smoke compared with placebo.

Pfizer conducted two identically designed double-blind preauthorization comparative clinical trials of varenicline versus bupropion SR for smoking cessation - studies A3051036 and A2051028 (15, 16). The treatment arms were varenicline (1 mg twice daily), bupropion SR (150 mg twice daily) and placebo. In these 52-week duration studies, participants received treatment for 12 weeks, followed by a 40-week non-treatment phase. In addition to an educational booklet on smoking cessation, participants received up to 10 minutes of smoking cessation counselling at each weekly treatment visit. Participants can smoke in the first week of medication dosing and set a date for stopping smoking. The primary endpoint of the two studies was 4-week continuous abstinence from smoking during weeks 9-12 confirmed by exhaled CO. After the 40-week nontreatment phase, a key secondary endpoint for both studies was the continuous abstinence during weeks 9-52. The continuous abstinence rates during weeks 9-12 and 9-52 from these studies are shown in Table 12. Compared with placebo, bupropion SR had significantly higher continuous abstinence rates at weeks 9-12 in both trials and at weeks 9-52 in one of the trials. Varenicline was superior to bupropion SR at weeks 9-12 in both trials and at weeks 9-52 in one of the trials.

#### Table 12

Varenicline compared with bupropion SR for smoking cessation in the Pfizer
comparative clinical trials

Treatment groups	Study A3051028 ( <i>16</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1025)		Study A3051036 ( <i>15</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1027)	
	Weeks 9–12	Weeks 9–52	Weeks 9–12	Weeks 9–52
	Continuous abstinence rate (%)			
Varenicline 2 mg/day	44.0	21.9	43.9	23.0
Bupropion SR 300 mg/day	29.5	16.1	29.8	14.6
Placebo	17.7	8.4	17.6	10.3

Treatment groups	Study A3051028 ( <i>16</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1025)		Study A3051036 ( <i>15</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1027)		
	Weeks 9–12	Weeks 9–52	Weeks 9–12	Weeks 9–52	
	Odds ratio for continuous abstinence				
Varenicline vs placebo	3.85***	3.09***	3.85***	2.66***	
Bupropion vs placebo	2.00***	2.09**	1.99***	1.50	
Varenicline vs bupropion	1.93***	1.46	1.90***	1.77**	

Table continued

vs: versus.

\**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\**P* < 0.001.

Across both studies during active treatment, participant-reported outcome measures showed that craving and withdrawal (urge, negative effect and insomnia) were significantly lower in participants randomized to receive bupropion SR versus placebo. Bupropion SR also significantly reduced positive reinforcing effects of smoking during treatment compared with placebo.

A Cochrane meta-analysis was conducted to assess the evidence for the efficacy, safety and tolerability of medications with antidepressant properties, including bupropion SR, in assisting long-term smoking cessation in people who smoke cigarettes (17). The literature search was last updated in May 2019 and was restricted to randomized controlled trials with smoking cessation treatment outcomes reported at 6 months or longer. The meta-analysis included samples of any age; studies on smoking treatment in pregnancy were excluded. When multiple doses of bupropion were compared in a trial, data from the 300 mg/day arm were used. The efficacy findings are summarized in the following list.

- High-certainty evidence confirmed the benefit of bupropion SR compared with placebo as a single pharmacotherapy for smoking cessation (risk ratio (RR) 1.64, 95% CI 1.52 to 1.77; I<sup>2</sup> = 15%; 45 studies, 17 866 participants).
- Treatment effects of bupropion SR for quitting smoking were comparable across settings and types of behavioural support studied (group versus individual, low-intensity, i.e. routine care).
- Treatment effects of bupropion SR for quitting smoking were comparable for participants with psychiatric conditions (RR 1.67, 95% CI 1.3 to 2.15; I<sup>2</sup> = 0%; five studies, 2180 participants) and

561

without a history of psychiatric conditions (RR 1.67, 95% CI 1.3 to 2.15;  $I^2 = 23\%$ ; 42 studies, 15 686 participants). Trials comparing bupropion SR to placebo found no evidence of an interaction between depression and bupropion SR treatment effects. The samples were recruited as motivated to quit, and those with psychiatric conditions were stable on treatment.

- Adding bupropion SR to NRT (RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.51; I<sup>2</sup> = 52%; 12 studies, 3487 participants) or varenicline (RR 1.21, 95% CI 0.95 to 1.55; I2 = 15%; three studies, 1057 participants) did not appear to provide additional benefit compared with treatment with NRT or varenicline alone, respectively.
- The evidence does not suggest a difference in the efficacy of bupropion SR and NRT (RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.91 to 1.09; I<sup>2</sup> = 18%; 10 studies, 8230 participants), or bupropion SR and nortriptyline (RR 1.30 (favouring bupropion SR), 95% CI 0.93 to 1.82; I<sup>2</sup> = 0%; three studies, 417 participants) for smoking cessation.
- Bupropion SR had lower smoking cessation rates compared with varenicline (RR 0.71, 95% CI 0.64 to 0.79; I<sup>2</sup> = 0%; six studies, 6286 participants).

#### Smokers with COPD

In a randomized, double-blind trial conducted by GSK, bupropion SR was evaluated in 404 participants with mild to moderate COPD defined as postbronchodilator forced expiratory volume 1/forced vital capacity (FEV1/ FVC) < 70% and FEV1 per cent predicted normal value  $\ge$  50%, and a diagnosis of chronic bronchitis, emphysema and/or small airways disease (18). Participants aged 36 to 76 years were randomized to bupropion SR 300 mg a day (n = 204) or placebo (n = 200) and treated for 12 weeks. All participants were chronic smokers with a smoking history of about 51 pack years. Treatment with bupropion SR was started at 150 mg a day for 3 days while the participant was still smoking and increased to 150 mg twice daily for the remaining treatment period. Abstinence from smoking was determined by participant daily diaries and verified by CO levels in expired air. Quitters were defined as participants who were abstinent during the last 4 weeks of treatment. Participants treated with bupropion SR had higher abstinence rates than those who received the placebo in the last 4 weeks of treatment (22% versus 12%, P = 0.011). Continuous abstinence rates from weeks 4–12 and weeks 4–26 were also significantly higher in participants receiving bupropion SR than in those taking the placebo (18% versus 10% (P = 0.021) and 16% versus 9%, (P = 0.040)). Furthermore, symptoms of tobacco craving and withdrawal were reduced in those receiving bupropion SR.

#### Smokers with cardiovascular disease

Several randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses have examined use of bupropion SR for treating smoking in adults with cardiovascular disease (CVD).

A randomized, double-blind, multicentre trial funded by GSK investigated the safety and efficacy of bupropion SR in promoting abstinence from smoking in 629 participants with CVD who smoked > 10 cigarettes a day (15). Participants received bupropion SR (150 mg twice daily) or placebo for 7 weeks with brief motivational support, with a follow-up assessment at 52 weeks. The primary efficacy endpoint was continuous abstinence from smoking from week 4 to week 7. Secondary endpoints were continuous abstinence at weeks 4-12, 4-26 and 4-52. Continuous smoking abstinence rates from weeks 4–7 were significantly higher in participants receiving bupropion SR compared with placebo (43% versus 19%, OR 3.27, 95% CI 2.24 to 4.84). Continuous abstinence rates from weeks 4-26 and 4-52 continued to be more than double for bupropion SR compared with placebo (27% versus 11% and 22% versus 9%, both P < 0.001). In both groups, no clinically significant changes in blood pressure and heart rate were seen throughout the treatment phase. After 7 weeks of bupropion SR treatment, more than twice as many smokers with CVD had quit smoking at 1 year compared with those receiving placebo.

A randomized controlled trial evaluated the safety and efficacy of bupropion SR in 247 hospitalized smokers with acute CVD (19). Participants were treated for 12 weeks with bupropion SR 300 mg or placebo. Counselling was provided to all participants in the hospital and for 12 weeks following discharge. Cotinine-confirmed abstinence outcomes were reported at 3 months (end-oftreatment) and 12 months. Validated tobacco abstinence rates in the bupropion SR and placebo groups were 37% versus 27% (OR 1.61, 95% CI 0.94 to 2.76) at 3 months and 25% versus 21% (OR 1.23, 95% CI 0.68 to 2.23) at 12 months. The adjusted OR, after controlling for cigarettes smoked a day, depression symptoms, prior bupropion SR use, hypertension and length of stay, was 1.91 (95% CI 1.06 to 3.40) at 3 months and 1.51 (95% CI 0.81 to 2.83) at 12 months. Bupropion SR and placebo groups did not differ in cardiovascular mortality at 12 months (0% versus 2%), in blood pressure at follow-up or in cardiovascular events at end-of-treatment (16% versus 14%, incidence rate ratio (IRR) 1.22 (95% CI 0.64 to 2.33) or at 12 months (26% versus 18%, IRR 1.56, 95% CI 0.91 to 2.69). The investigators concluded that bupropion SR improved short-term but not longterm smoking cessation rates compared with intensive counselling and appeared to be safe in hospitalized smokers with acute CVD.

A meta-analysis of three randomized controlled trials (773 participants) was conducted to determine the efficacy and safety of bupropion SR therapy started in hospital for smoking cessation in patients with CVD (20). Participants were predominantly men (range of means 69–84%) and hospitalized with acute

coronary syndrome (range of means 66–100%). Treatment duration ranged from 8 to 12 weeks. At the end of treatment, bupropion SR was associated with a significant increase in point prevalence abstinence (RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.45) but not continuous abstinence (RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.97 to 1.45). At 12 months, bupropion SR was not associated with a significant increase in point prevalence abstinence (RR 1.16, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.50). Pooled analysis results for major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events were inconclusive (RR 1.28, 95% CI 0.93 to 1.78). Bupropion SR improved abstinence over placebo at the end of treatment but not at 12 months.

A network meta-analysis was conducted to evaluate the efficacy and safety of pharmacological smoking cessation interventions in CVD patients in randomized controlled trials (21). Smoking abstinence at 6 and 12 months was examined using the most rigorous criteria reported. Data were pooled across studies for direct comparisons using random-effects models. Network meta-analysis using a graph theoretical approach was used to generate the indirect comparisons. Seven randomized controlled trials (n = 2809) met the inclusion criteria. Varenicline (one trial, RR 2.64, 95% CI 1.34 to 5.21) and bupropion SR (four trials, RR 1.42, 95% CI 1.01 to 2.01) were associated with greater abstinence than placebo, while the evidence for NRTs was inconclusive (two trials, RR 1.22, 95% CI 0.72 to 2.06).

#### Smokers with current depression

Five trials, all with relatively small sample sizes, reported results of bupropion SR (with or without NRT) versus placebo in smokers with current depression. A meta-analysis of effects across the five trials resulted in a positive, although not significant, effect for the outcome of abstinence at 6 months or longer follow-up (five trials (n = 410); RR 1.37, 95% CI 0.83 to 2.27) (22).

#### Smokers with and without a history of psychiatric disorders

Bupropion SR was evaluated in the EAGLES (Evaluating Adverse Events in a Global Smoking Cessation Study) trial, a randomized, double-blind, activeand placebo-controlled trial that included participants without a history of psychiatric disorder (non-psychiatric cohort, n = 3912) and participants with a history of psychiatric disorder (psychiatric cohort, n = 4003) (23). Participants aged 18 to 75 years, smoking > 10 cigarettes a day were randomized 1:1:1:1 to bupropion SR 150 mg twice daily, varenicline 1 mg twice daily and nicotine patch 21 mg a day with taper or placebo for a treatment period of 12 weeks. Participants were then followed for another 12 weeks post-treatment. The primary focus of the trial was safety in estimating the occurrence of neuropsychiatric adverse events. The main efficacy objectives were measuring continuous abstinence for weeks 9–12 and weeks 9–24 in participants with and without a psychiatric diagnosis. The primary comparisons were bupropion SR versus placebo and varenicline versus placebo. Nicotine patch was included as an active control.

For the outcome of continuous abstinence rates measured at weeks 9–12 and weeks 9–24, in both cohorts and overall, all active treatments (including bupropion SR) showed significantly greater efficacy in smoking cessation compared with placebo (Table 13 and Table 14). In addition, varenicline showed significantly greater efficacy than bupropion SR and nicotine patch at both weeks 9–12 and 9–24, while no significant differences were found between bupropion SR and nicotine patch in either time period.

#### Table 13

Treatment comparisons for continuous abstinence from tobacco use in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders, weeks 9–12

Treatment	Odds ratio (95% CI) for continuous abstinence			
comparisons	Group without psychiatric disorders	Group with psychiatric disorders	Total	
Bupropion vs placebo	2.26 (1.80, 2.85)	1.87 (1.46, 2.39)	2.07 (1.75, 2.45)	
Bupropion vs nicotine patch	0.98 (0.80, 1.20)	0.94 (0.75, 1.16)	0.96 (0.83, 1.11)	
Bupropion vs varenicline	0.56 (0.47, 0.68)	0.57 (0.47, 0.71)	0.57 (0.50, 0.65)	
Varenicline vs placebo	4.00 (3.20, 5.00)	3.24 (2.56, 4.11)	3.61 (3.07, 4.24)	
Varenicline vs nicotine patch	1.74 (1.43, 2.10)	1.62 (1.32, 1.99)	1.68 (1.46, 1.93)	
Nicotine patch vs placebo	2.30 (1.83, 2.90)	2.00 (1.56, 2.55)	2.15 (1.82, 2.54)	

CI: confidence interval; vs: versus. Anthenelli RM, et al., 2016 (23).

#### Table 14

Treatment comparisons for smoking cessation in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders, weeks 9–24

Treatment	Odds ratio (95% CI) for continuous abstinence			
comparisons	Group without psychiatric disorders			
Bupropion vs placebo	2.00 (1.54, 2.59)	1.77 (1.33, 2.36)	1.89 (1.56, 2.29)	
Bupropion vs nicotine patch	1.02 (0.81, 1.28)	1.07 (0.83, 1.39)	1.04 (0.88, 1.24)	
Bupropion vs varenicline	0.67 (0.54, 0.83)	0.71 (0.56, 0.90)	0.69 (0.59, 0.81)	
Varenicline vs placebo	2.99 (2.33, 3.83)	2.50 (1.90, 3.29)	2.74 (2.28, 3.30)	
Varenicline vs nicotine patch	1.52 (1.23, 1.89)	1.51 (1.19, 1.93)	1.52 (1.29, 1.78)	
Nicotine patch vs placebo	1.96 (1.51, 2.54)	1.65 (1.24, 2.20)	1.81 (1.49, 2.19)	

CI: confidence interval; vs: versus.

Anthenelli RM, et al., 2016 (23).

#### Healthy adolescent smokers

Four published trials have evaluated bupropion SR for treating smoking in adolescent groups (24-27), with one of the trials receiving support from GSK (25). Two of the studies were limited to short-term (i.e. 12-week) follow-up (24,27).

One study evaluated 7-week treatment of bupropion SR at 300 mg or 150 mg a day versus placebo in 312 adolescents aged 14–17 years (25). At 6-months follow-up, CO-confirmed 7-day point prevalence abstinence was 8.7% for bupropion SR 300 mg, 1.9% for bupropion SR 150 mg and 5.8% for placebo; RR 1.49 (95% CI 0.55 to 4.02) for bupropion SR 300 mg versus placebo.

The second study examined bupropion SR in combination with nicotine patch versus nicotine patch alone in a sample of 211 adolescents with an average age of 17 years (*26*). In addition to the medications, all participants received weekly 45-minute group sessions with skills training. Compliance with bupropion SR and patch therapy was low and over a third of participants in both groups was lost to follow-up at 6 months. Intention-to-treat cotinine-validated 7-day point prevalence abstinence at 6 months (assuming those lost to follow-up were

still smoking) was 7.8% for bupropion SR plus patch and 7.4% for patch alone (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.41 to 2.69).

The third study examined bupropion SR versus placebo with or without contingency management in 134 participants between the ages of 12 and 21 years (24). CO-confirmed 7-day point prevalence abstinence at 12-week follow-up, combined across contingency management conditions, were 8.2% for bupropion SR versus 3.3% for placebo (calculated pooled effects OR for bupropion SR 2.6, 95% CI 0.5 to 13.6).

The fourth study compared 8 weeks of bupropion SR versus varenicline in 29 adolescents aged 15 to 20 years (*27*). Quit rates, reported as cotinine-confirmed 7-day point prevalence abstinence at 12-week follow-up, were 0% for varenicline versus 7.1% for bupropion SR.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

A systematic review of the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of bupropion SR and NRT for smoking cessation published in 2002 included a comprehensive assessment of safety and adverse events from participant use of bupropion SR (*28*). The only adverse events reported that were statistically significantly more common with bupropion SR (100 or 300 mg/day) than with placebo were insomnia (34.6% and 42.4% compared with 20.0%) and dry mouth (12.8% and 10.7% compared with 4.5%). This review was limited by the small number of randomized trials at the time (five trials) and the exclusion criteria for participants in those trials.

A 2008 community-based observational cohort study evaluated the safety of bupropion in 11 735 participants (*29*). The most commonly reported adverse events reported were insomnia, nausea and/or vomiting and dizziness.

Adverse effects of bupropion SR are experienced more often than with NRT although the discontinuation rate is similar between the two therapies (*30*). About 9% of participants using either bupropion SR or NRT will discontinue treatment and a further 13% will stop treatment temporarily (*31*). Participants in community-based observational studies report experiencing adverse effects at a higher rate than participants in clinical trials (*32*, *33*); however these community-based studies may include individuals who are unable to distinguish between withdrawal-related symptoms and medication-related symptoms.

The main safety concern with bupropion is the risk of seizures. Seizures have been reported to occur at a rate of about 0.1% in depressed patients treated with up to 300 mg a day (34). In a review of 221 clinical papers involving over 4000 participants, no seizures were reported (35). In a 2014 Cochrane review of antidepressants for smoking cessation, 10 seizures were reported out of 13 000 participants treated with bupropion (36).

The risk of seizure is dose-related and risk can be minimized by gradually increasing the dose and limiting the daily dose to 300 mg. Regardless, bupropion SR is contraindicated in people with a seizure disorder, current or prior diagnosis of anorexia nervosa or bulimia, or in those going through abrupt discontinuation of alcohol, benzodiazepines, barbiturates and antiepileptic drugs (*34*).

Pooled data from 10 randomized trials of bupropion SR found the most commonly observed side-effects to be insomnia, headache, dry mouth, rash and/ or pruritus, rhinitis and nausea and/or vomiting (*30*).

The EAGLES trial evaluated the neuropsychiatric safety and efficacy of varenicline, bupropion SR and nicotine patch in 8144 smokers with and without psychiatric disorders (23). In the bupropion SR arm of the trial, for the primary comparison of bupropion SR versus placebo, the risk difference for neuropsychiatric adverse events was 0.85 (95% CI – 0.13 to 2.15), i.e. no statistically significant increased risk of neuropsychiatric adverse events in the composite endpoint with bupropion SR treatment. Following the EAGLES trial results and analysis, the US Food and Drug Administration reported that the risk of mental health side-effects from smoking cessation medications was "lower than previously suspected". New medication labelling was to include updated results of the EAGLES trial but no longer required a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy. The most frequently reported adverse events for each medication in the EAGLES trial are reported in Table 15.

#### Table 15

# Most frequently reported treatment-emergent adverse events (in $\ge$ 5% of participants in any treatment arm), EAGLES overall safety population

Type of adverse event	No. (%)				
	Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 2016)	Bupropion ( <i>n</i> = 2006)	NRT ( <i>n</i> = 2022)	Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 2014)	
Total with adverse events	1503 (74.6)	1446 (72.1)	1436 (71.0)	1345 (66.8)	
Gastrointestinal disorders	786 (39.0)	527 (26.3)	481 (23.8)	414 (20.6)	
Nausea	511 (25.3)	201 (10.0)	199 (9.8)	137 (6.8)	
Dry mouth	66 (3.3)	146 (7.3)	59 (2.9)	64 (3.2)	
General disorders and administration site conditions	270 (13.4)	241 (12.0)	404 (20.0)	229 (11.4)	
Application site pruritus	22 (1.1)	12 (0.6)	109 (5.4)	16 (0.8)	
Fatigue	124 (6.2)	57 (2.8)	75 (3.7)	83 (4.1)	

Type of adverse event	No. (%)			
	Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 2016)	Bupropion ( <i>n</i> = 2006)	NRT ( <i>n</i> = 2022)	Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 2014)
Infections and infestations	533 (26.4)	475 (23.7)	495 (24.5)	506 (25.1)
Nasopharyngitis	174 (8.6)	156 (7.8)	126 (6.2)	135 (6.7)
Upper respiratory tract infection	109 (5.4)	104 (5.2)	97 (4.8)	115 (5.7)
Nervous system disorders	440 (21.8)	440 (21.9)	443 (21.9)	374 (18.6)
Headache	245 (12.2)	186 (9.3)	233 (11.5)	199 (9.9)
Psychiatric disorders	720 (35.7)	767 (38.2)	722 (35.7)	613 (30.4)
Anxiety	132 (6.5)	169 (8.4)	138 (6.8)	120 (6.0)
Irritability	82 (4.1)	71 (3.5)	108 (5.3)	104 (5.2)
Abnormal dreams	201 (10.0)	131 (6.5)	251 (12.4)	92 (4.6)
Insomnia	189 (9.4)	245 (12.2)	196 (9.7)	139 (6.9)

#### Table continued

EAGLES: Evaluating Adverse Events in a Global Smoking Cessation Study; n: total number of participants per treatment arm; NRT: nicotine replacement therapy.

Participants are only counted once per treatment for each row but may be counted in multiple rows.

All participants who received at least one partial dose of study treatment were included.

Treatment-related means during treatment plus 30 days.

Pfizer Food and Drug Administration advisory committee meeting briefing document, 2016 (37).

A 2020 Cochrane systematic review of antidepressants for smoking cessation included 87 studies involving bupropion SR treatment, 46 of which measured safety outcomes (17). The review concluded that bupropion SR was associated with an increased risk of adverse events (RR 1.14, 95% CI 1.11 to 1.18), although there was methodological and clinical variance between the included studies. Among 21 studies (10 625 participants) reporting serious adverse events, there was no clear evidence of increased risk (RR 1.16, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.48). However, smokers randomized to receive bupropion SR were more likely to report symptoms of anxiety (RR 1.42, 95% CI 1.21 to 1.67) and insomnia (RR 1.78, 95% CI 1.62 to 1.96) and experience psychiatric adverse events (RR 1.25, 95% CI 1.15 to 1.27). The authors took a different view of the EAGLES trial (23) and suggested that bupropion SR does increase the risk of psychiatric adverse events when considered broadly. They reached this conclusion by including psychiatric adverse events of any severity in their meta-analysis, whereas the EAGLES trial used a composite measure of only moderate and severe intensity psychiatric events in the primary analysis. The severity criteria for

the components of the composite endpoint in the EAGLES trial were imposed to minimize the inclusion of less clinically significant events, including some typically associated with nicotine withdrawal, and thus increase the specificity of the endpoint.

After the EAGLES trial, a study using a separate endpoint examined cardiovascular events in 8058 smokers (38). The primary endpoint was the time to the development of a major adverse cardiovascular event (cardiovascular death, nonfatal myocardial infarction or nonfatal stroke) during treatment. The secondary endpoint was the occurrence of a major adverse cardiovascular event and other relevant cardiovascular events (e.g. new-onset or worsening peripheral vascular disease requiring intervention, coronary revascularization or hospitalization for unstable angina). The incidence of cardiovascular events during treatment and follow-up was low (< 0.5% for major adverse cardiovascular event; < 0.8% for a major adverse cardiovascular event plus other relevant cardiovascular events) and did not differ significantly by treatment. No significant differences were observed between treatment groups in time to cardiovascular events, blood pressure or heart rate. There was no significant difference in time to onset of a major adverse cardiovascular event for either varenicline or bupropion treatment versus placebo (varenicline: HR 0.29, 95% CI 0.05 to 1.68 and bupropion: HR 0.50, 95% CI 0.10 to 2.50). The authors concluded that there was no evidence that the use of smoking cessation pharmacotherapies increased the risk of serious cardiovascular adverse events during or after treatment.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable.

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO treatment guidelines for smoking cessation therapies are not currently available.

The 2019 WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic recommends offering help to quit tobacco use as one of the key measures in the MPOWER strategy (6). The report recognizes that both behavioural cessation support and nicotine-replacement and non-nicotine pharmacotherapies are effective in helping people to quit tobacco use. Combining both behavioural and pharmacotherapy interventions, however, is more effective and can double the chances of successfully quitting (*39*).

The 2003 WHO policy recommendations on smoking cessation and treatment of tobacco dependence note that a variety of behavioural and pharmacological therapies for smoking cessation have proved effective, but that no single approach should be emphasized to the exclusion of the others because

the therapies vary widely in their efficacy, acceptability, cost–effectiveness and their cost on an individual and population basis (40).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

The first economic analysis of bupropion for smoking cessation was conducted in 2000 (41) using data from a 1999 double-blind trial (12). The study examined 12-month outcome data from 893 smokers who were treated with either 9 weeks of bupropion (150 mg twice daily), nicotine patch, bupropion plus patch or placebo. The analysis followed a traditional cost-benefit approach to predict the net benefit to a payer after 1 year based on the effectiveness of the intervention (quit rates), the cost of the intervention, the cost of not quitting and the benefit of quitting. Compared with nicotine patch and combination therapy, 9 weeks of bupropion treatment was determined to be the most cost-beneficial treatment. Another study developed an economic model to assess the costs and benefits to

United States (US) payers of covering bupropion SR as a medication for smoking cessation (*42*). The model used a cohort of 100 000 employees and 60 000 dependents who were followed until retirement at 65 years or death at 85 years. If the costs of bupropion SR were covered, the overall decrease in health care costs over a 20-year period ranged from US\$ 7.9 million to US\$ 8.8 million; for every dollar spent covering smoking cessation, US\$ 4.10–4.69 in health care costs were saved. For the employer scenarios, health care costs over 20 years decreased by US\$ 8.3–14.0 million, and smoking-related indirect costs decreased an additional US\$ 5.1–7.7 million; for every dollar spent covering smoking cessation, US\$

An Australian study calculated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of bupropion and NRT compared with the current practice scenario (mass media campaigns and taxation on cigarettes which were widespread in Australia in 2000) (43). The outcome measure was disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted in Australian dollars (AU\$). DALYs averted is equivalent to the number of healthy life years gained. The authors concluded that providing bupropion to current smokers who are motivated to quit would cost AU\$ 7900 (95% uncertainty interval AU\$ 6000 to AU\$ 10 500) for each DALY averted; NRT patches would cost AU\$ 17 000 (AU\$ 9000 to AU\$ 28 000) for each DALY averted, with similar results even if used as a second-line treatment after failure to quit using bupropion. In addition, the authors noted that NRT and bupropion were more cost-effective than other medicines included in the public reimbursement list that are primarily focused on prevention, such as statins for lowering cholesterol.

Nicotine patch and bupropion SR were compared using the Global Health Outcomes simulation model with 20 years follow-up in Sweden (44). This study included a cohort of 612 851 male and 780 970 female smokers constructed to represent the 2001 population of Sweden aged 35 years and older.

This cost–utility study of a smoking cessation programme measured cost per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained by using bupropion SR and nicotine gum or nicotine patch. The incremental costs per QALY gained were relatively low for bupropion compared with nicotine patches, about  $\notin$  725 for men and  $\notin$  535 for women. The authors concluded bupropion was a cost-effective therapy for smoking cessation.

Researchers from Spain evaluated the cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation therapies, NRT and bupropion SR (45). For bupropion, the cost-effectiveness ratios at 5 years were  $\notin$  70 939 and  $\notin$  37 305 per death prevented and per year of life saved, respectively. When a 20-year time period was applied, the net savings were  $\notin$  28 166 per death prevented and  $\notin$  3265 per year of life saved. The cost-effectiveness ratios for both nicotine gum and patches were higher than that for bupropion. The authors concluded that bupropion treatment for 1 year would prevent a greater number of deaths than the alternative strategies (about 3000 deaths in a time period of 20 years) due to the decrease in the number of smokers.

In 2005, researchers from the Netherlands reported the results of a dynamic modelling study that examined minimal and intensive smoking interventions delivered by medical professionals (46). The study projected future gains in life years, QALYs, and savings in health care costs over 1 year, 10 years and on a permanent basis (up to 75 years). For treatment with bupropion SR or NRT, the intervention included counselling from a pulmonary nurse and physician, and either 9 or 12 weeks of pharmacotherapy. Overall, costs per life year and QALY gained were lower for bupropion treatment compared with NRT across all time periods. At 10 years, the costs per QALY gained for bupropion and NRT were  $\in$  3400 and  $\notin$  4900, respectively. The authors noted that the cost-effectiveness ratios compared favourably to other cost-effective practices in the Netherlands, such as breast cancer screening ( $\notin$  4000 per life year gained) or influenza vaccination in elderly people ( $\notin$  1800 per life year gained).

A number of economic evaluations of the cost-effectiveness of varenicline compared with bupropion and NRT have been published based on the benefits of smoking cessation on outcomes (BENESCO) model, a Markov state-transition model developed by Pfizer, which includes health states for lung cancer, COPD, coronary heart disease, stroke and asthma exacerbations (47-51). These studies were completed in Europe and South Korea and found varenicline to be a cost-effective strategy despite the initial higher cost of varenicline.

Adopting a population level or public health view, then a variety of cessation strategies will be required to help smokers around the world. For example, a 2010 report to the Canadian health ministry concluded that pharmacotherapy, physician advice to quit, nursing interventions, hospitalbased interventions and proactive telephone counselling were all likely to be both effective and cost-effective in the short-term (52). Of these interventions, the report concluded that varenicline, bupropion and NRT, followed by physician advice to quit and nursing interventions to be the most effective strategies.

In a review of smoking cessation interventions to inform the development of national guidelines, researchers examined the affordability of such interventions according to country income level (39). The researchers used World Bank categories of low, middle and high income and estimated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for effective interventions for each category. The authors suggested that bupropion SR, similar to all medications for smoking cessation (except nortriptyline and cytisine), was affordable in middle- and high-income countries but not in low-income countries. However, additional research is necessary, including country-level analysis, before a conclusion can be reached that specific smoking cessation medications are not affordable relative to their benefits in low-income countries.

When assessing interventions and their costs, the evidence from economic studies strongly suggests that greater use of medications, including bupropion SR, generates net savings in tobacco-related health costs. The 2020 US Surgeon General's report concluded that the smoking cessation medications approved by the US Food and Drug Administration were cost-effective and increased the likelihood of successful quitting, and that combinations of therapies further increased the likelihood of quitting (53).

# Availability

Bupropion SR is widely available globally, in originator and generic brands.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that smoking is a major public health threat worldwide and causes substantial harm to human health as a cause of numerous cancers, and cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases. Currently, the EML only includes nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation (chewing gum and transdermal patches).

The Expert Committee took into account the evidence shown in the application that there is high-certainty evidence that bupropion increases long-term smoking cessation rates as reported in a Cochrane review with more than 100 studies and that it is well tolerated overall. However, a synthesis of existing evidence also suggests an increased risk of adverse effects, particularly anxiety and agitation and these effects may increase the probability that people stop using the medicine.

The Expert Committee recognized that smoking cessation interventions are among the most cost-effective public health interventions. Moreover, there is sufficient evidence on the affordability of bupropion for smoking cessation, although not for low- and middle-income countries. The availability of different treatment options may enhance procurement capacity, lower prices and increase affordability through competition.

The Expert Committee also noted that no specialist training is required to prescribe or use the medicine. However, the success of medications for quitting smoking is improved when smokers are prepared to quit and receive quitting advice, counselling, and support from health care providers. The Expert Committee therefore noted that while the effectiveness of pharmacological interventions for smoking cessation is high, their success is dependent on a concomitant behavioural education approach such as counselling. In many countries, especially in low- and middle-income countries, the use of this approach as well as the strengthening of tobacco control policies are still not optimal.

The Expert Committee noted that bupropion was mentioned in the WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic 2019 as non-nicotine pharmacological intervention to help people to quit smoking.

Considering the body of evidence supporting the efficacy and tolerability of bupropion, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of bupropion for smoking cessation in the core list of the EML. However, considering the limited evidence on bupropion's affordability in low- and middle-income countries, mechanisms to estimate costs in these countries need to be established with ministries of health.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2009 (including the 16th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 2nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 958; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44287, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 2. Jha P, Peto R. Global effects of smoking, of quitting, and of taxing tobacco. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(1):60-8.
- The health consequences of smoking—50 years of progress: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2014 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK179276/pdf/Bookshelf\_ NBK179276.pdf, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 4. Tobacco. Fact Sheet [online]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/tobacco, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 5. Goodchild M, Nargis N, Tursan d'Espaignet E. Global economic cost of smoking-attributable diseases. Tob Control. 2018;27(1):58–64.

6. WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326043, accessed 30 March 2021).

- Fiore M, Jaén CR, Baker TB, Bailey WC, Bennett G, Benowitz NL, et al. Tobacco Use and Dependence Guideline Panel. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2008. (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK63952/, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 8. Policy recommendations for smoking cessation and treatment of tobacco dependence. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2003. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42708, accessed 30 March 2021).
- Smoking Cessation. A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2020 (https://www.hhs.gov/ sites/default/files/2020-cessation-sgr-full-report.pdf, accessed 30 March 2021).
- Highlights of Prescribing Information: ZYBAN<sup>®</sup> (bupropion hydrochloride) sustained-release tablets, for oral use. Research Triangle Park, NC:GlaxoSmithKline Inc.; 2017 (https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2019/020711s048lbl.pdf, accessed 30 March 2021)..
- 11. Hurt RD, Sachs DP, Glover ED, Offord KP, Johnston JA, Dale LC, et al. A comparison of sustainedrelease bupropion and placebo for smoking cessation. N Engl J Med. 1997;337(17):1195–202.
- 12. Jorenby DE, Leischow SJ, Nides MA, Rennard SI, Johnston JA, Hughes AR, et al. A controlled trial of sustained-release bupropion, a nicotine patch, or both for smoking cessation. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(9):685–91.
- Hays JT, Hurt RD, Rigotti NA, Niaura R, Gonzales D, Durcan MJ, et al. Sustained-release bupropion for pharmacologic relapse prevention after smoking cessation. a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 2001;135(6):423–33.
- 14. Covey LS, Glassman AH, Jiang H, Fried J, Masmela J, LoDuca C, et al. A randomized trial of bupropion and/or nicotine gum as maintenance treatment for preventing smoking relapse. Addiction. 2007;102(8):1292–302.
- 15. Jorenby DE, Hays JT, Rigotti NA, Azoulay S, Watsky EJ, Williams KE, et al. Efficacy of varenicline, an alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, vs placebo or sustained-release bupropion for smoking cessation: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;296(1):56–63.
- Gonzales D, Rennard SI, Nides M, Oncken C, Azoulay S, Billing CB, et al. Varenicline, an alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, vs sustained-release bupropion and placebo for smoking cessation: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;296(1):47–55.
- 17. Howes S, Hartmann-Boyce J, Livingstone-Banks J, Hong B, Lindson N. Antidepressants for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;4(4):Cd000031.
- Tashkin D, Kanner R, Bailey W, Buist S, Anderson P, Nides M, et al. Smoking cessation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised trial. Lancet. 2001;357(9268):1571–5.
- 19. Rigotti NA, Thorndike AN, Regan S, McKool K, Pasternak RC, Chang Y, et al. Bupropion for smokers hospitalized with acute cardiovascular disease. Am J Med. 2006;119(12):1080–7.
- 20. Grandi SM, Shimony A, Eisenberg MJ. Bupropion for smoking cessation in patients hospitalized with cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Can J Cardiol. 2013;29(12):1704–11.
- Suissa K, Larivière J, Eisenberg MJ, Eberg M, Gore GC, Grad R, et al. Efficacy and safety of smoking cessation interventions in patients with cardiovascular disease: a network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2017;10(1).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 22. van der Meer RM, Willemsen MC, Smit F, Cuijpers P. Smoking cessation interventions for smokers with current or past depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013(8):CD006102.
- 23. Anthenelli RM, Benowitz NL, West R, St Aubin L, McRae T, Lawrence D, et al. Neuropsychiatric safety and efficacy of varenicline, bupropion, and nicotine patch in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders (EAGLES): A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10037):2507–20.
- 24. Gray KM, Carpenter MJ, Baker NL, Hartwell KJ, Lewis AL, Hiott DW, et al. Bupropion SR and contingency management for adolescent smoking cessation. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2011;40(1): 77–86.
- 25. Muramoto ML, Leischow SJ, Sherrill D, Matthews E, Strayer LJ. Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of 2 dosages of sustained-release bupropion for adolescent smoking cessation. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2007;161(11):1068–74.
- 26. Killen JD, Robinson TN, Ammerman S, Hayward C, Rogers J, Stone C, et al. Randomized clinical trial of the efficacy of bupropion combined with nicotine patch in the treatment of adolescent smokers. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2004;72(4):729–35.
- 27. Gray KM, Carpenter MJ, Lewis AL, Klintworth EM, Upadhyaya HP. Varenicline versus bupropion XL for smoking cessation in older adolescents: a randomized, double-blind pilot trial. Nicotine Tob Res. 2012;14(2):234–9.
- 28. Woolacott NF JL, Forbes CA, Mather LC, Sowden AJ, Song FJ, et al. The clinical effectiveness and cost–effectiveness of bupropion and nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess. 2002;6(16).
- 29. Boshier A, Wilton LV, Shakir SA. Evaluation of the safety of bupropion (Zyban) for smoking cessation from experience gained in general practice use in England in 2000. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;59(10):767–73.
- 30. Wilkes S. The use of bupropion SR in cigarette smoking cessation. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2008;3(1):45–53.
- 31. Barrueco M, Otero MJ, Palomo L, Jimenez-Ruiz C, Torrecilla M, Romero P, et al. Adverse effects of pharmacological therapy for nicotine addiction in smokers following a smoking cessation program. Nicotine Tob Res. 2005;7(3):335–42.
- 32. Paluck EC, McCormack JP, Ensom MH, Levine M, Soon JA, Fielding DW. Outcomes of bupropion therapy for smoking cessation during routine clinical use. Ann Pharmacother. 2006;40(2):185–90.
- 33. Wilkes S, Evans A, Henderson M, Gibson J. Pragmatic, observational study of bupropion treatment for smoking cessation in general practice. Postgrad Med J. 2005;81(961):719–22.
- 34. Zyban (bupropion hydrochloride) sustained-release tablets. Prescribing information. Research Triangle Park, NC: GlaxoSmithKline Inc.; 2019 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/ label/2019/020711s048lbl.pdf, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 35. Richmond R, Zwar N. Review of bupropion for smoking cessation. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2003;22(2):203-20.
- 36. Hughes JR, Stead LF, Hartmann-Boyce J, Cahill K, Lancaster T. Antidepressants for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014(1):CD000031.
- 37. CHANTIX<sup>®</sup> (varenicline). Tablets. 2016 FDA Advisory Committee Meeting Briefing Document. New York: Pfizer; 2016 (https://www.fda.gov/media/100511/download, accessed 30 March 2021).
- Benowitz NL, Pipe A, West R, Hays JT, Tonstad S, McRae T, et al. Cardiovascular Safety of Varenicline, Bupropion, and Nicotine Patch in Smokers: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA internal medicine. 2018;178(5):622–31.

576

- West R, Raw M, McNeill A, Stead L, Aveyard P, Bitton J, et al. Health-care interventions to promote and assist tobacco cessation: a review of efficacy, effectiveness and affordability for use in national guideline development. Addiction. 2015;110(9):1388–403.
- Policy recommendations on smoking cessation and treatment of tobacco dependence. Advancing tobacco control in the XXIst century. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://www.who.int/tobacco/resources/publications/en/intro\_chapter3.pdf?ua=1, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 41. Nielsen K, Fiore MC. Cost-benefit analysis of sustained-release bupropion, nicotine patch, or both for smoking cessation. Prev Med. 2000;30(3):209–16.
- 42. Halpern MT, Khan ZM, Young TL, Battista C. Economic model of sustained-release bupropion hydrochloride in health plan and work site smoking-cessation programs. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2000;57(15):1421–9.
- Bertram MY, Lim SS, Wallace AL, Vos T. Costs and benefits of smoking cessation aids: making a case for public reimbursement of nicotine replacement therapy in Australia. Tob Control. 2007;16(4):255–60.
- 44. Bolin K, Lindgren B, Willers S. The cost utility of bupropion in smoking cessation health programs: simulation model results for Sweden. Chest. 2006;129(3):651–60.
- 45. Antonanzas F, Portillo F. [Economic evaluation of pharmacotherapies for smoking cessation]. Gac Sanit. 2003;17(5):393–403.
- Feenstra TL, Hamberg-van Reenen HH, Hoogenveen RT, Rutten-van Molken MP. Cost–effectiveness of face-to-face smoking cessation interventions: a dynamic modeling study. Value Health. 2005;8(3):178–90.
- 47. Howard P, Knight C, Boler A, Baker C. Cost-utility analysis of varenicline versus existing smoking cessation strategies using the BENESCO Simulation model: application to a population of US adult smokers. Pharmacoeconomics. 2008;26(6):497–511.
- Annemans L, Nackaerts K, Bartsch P, Prignot J, Marbaix S. Cost effectiveness of varenicline in Belgium, compared with bupropion, nicotine replacement therapy, brief counselling and unaided smoking cessation: a BENESCO Markov cost–effectiveness analysis. Clin Drug Investig. 2009;29(10):655–65.
- 49. Bolin K, Mork AC, Willers S, Lindgren B. Varenicline as compared to bupropion in smoking-cessation therapy—cost-utility results for Sweden 2003. Respir Med. 2008;102(5):699–710.
- 50. Bae JY, Kim CH, Lee EK. Evaluation of cost-utility of varenicline compared with existing smoking cessation therapies in South Korea. Value Health. 2009;12(Suppl 3):S70–3.
- Linden K, Jormanainen V, Linna M, Sintonen H, Wilson K, Kotomaki T. Cost effectiveness of varenicline versus bupropion and unaided cessation for smoking cessation in a cohort of Finnish adult smokers. Curr Med Res Opin. 2010;26(3):549–60.
- 52. Medical Advisory S. Population-based smoking cessation strategies: a summary of a select group of evidence-based reviews. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2010;10(1):1–44.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Varenicline – addition – EML

## Varenicline tartrate

ATC Code: N07BA03

# Proposal

Addition of varenicline tartrate to the core list of the EML as an aid to smoking cessation in adults.

# Applicant

Pfizer Inc., New York, United States of America

# WHO technical department

Department of Health Promotion, Tobacco Free Initiative

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Tablet: 0.5 mg, 1 mg

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Varenicline has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the EML.

Nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), as chewing gum or transdermal patch formulations, has been included on the EML since 2009. The Expert Committee recommended listing on the basis of the public health need, high-quality evidence of effectiveness, and acceptable safety and cost-effectiveness. Other formulations were not recommended for inclusion at the time because less evidence was available of comparative safety, effectiveness and cost in different populations (1).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

Smoking is a leading cause of preventable death and disease worldwide and is a major global public health challenge. WHO estimates there are more than 1.3 billion tobacco users worldwide and about 80% of them live in low- and middle-income countries. While the prevalence of smoking has been declining across all income groups and in almost every region throughout the world, the average global smoking rate is still unacceptably high (19.2%) and about 8 million people still die every year from smoking-related diseases (2, 3).

Furthermore, the global economic burden associated with smokingattributable morbidity and mortality is substantial. One study estimated the global health care cost for smoking-related diseases at about US\$ 467 billion, which is about 5.7% of total global expenditure on health care. When accounting for loss of productivity, the total economic burden of smoking is estimated at more than US\$ 1 trillion a year (4).

The causal relationship between smoking tobacco and numerous disease processes, including cardiovascular disease (CVD), many types of cancer and pulmonary disease, is well established (5). For example, it is estimated that adults who smoke 20 cigarettes a day increase their relative risk of an ischaemic event by more than 50% and of the 9.4 million deaths attributed to coronary heart disease worldwide, about 18% are caused by smoking (6–8). In addition, smokers are at a 15–30 times higher risk of developing lung cancer compared with people who have never smoked, and are four times more likely to develop bladder cancer than people who do not smoke (9, 10). Smoking is also the leading cause of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and 73% of disease-related mortality in high-income countries is attributable to smoking (11, 12). Taken together, people who smoke may on average have a 10-year shorter life expectancy than people who have never smoked (13).

There are benefits to quitting smoking at almost any age, and people who successfully quit may significantly reduce their risk of developing or dying from smoking-related diseases. For example, 10 years after quitting smoking, the risk of developing lung cancer is 50% lower compared with people who continue to smoke; after 15 years of quitting, the risk of developing CVD is almost the same as someone who has never smoked. There are also short-term benefits to health that occur only weeks or months after stopping smoking, such as reduced frequency of cough and shortness of breath, as well as improved circulation and lung function (2, 5).

The most common cessation approach taken by people who smoke is to make an unaided quit attempt, also known as quitting, so-called, cold turkey; it is estimated that about 4–8% of unaided quit attempts are successful (2, 5). Several well established guidelines backed by high-quality evidence consider the combination of behavioural support and pharmacotherapy as the most effective

way to quit smoking in the short and long term (14, 15). Although the efficacy of smoking cessation interventions varies, the combination of medication and behavioural support can as much as double a smoker's chances of quitting; the provision of medication or behavioural support alone have both been found superior to an unaided quit attempt (2, 14). The uptake of interventions is dependent on both availability (i.e. access and cost) and on a smoker's preferences, which are likely to differ across social and cultural backgrounds. Therefore, the ability to offer a range of smoking cessation options is critical to facilitate maximum uptake and optimal treatment effectiveness (2).

# Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Two identically designed double-blind preauthorization clinical trials (A3051028 and A3051036) prospectively compared the efficacy of varenicline (1 mg twice daily), sustained release bupropion (150 mg twice daily) and placebo in smoking cessation (16, 17). Participants received treatment for 12 weeks, followed by a 40-week non-treatment phase. Participants were provided with an educational booklet on smoking cessation and received up to 10 minutes of smoking cessation counselling at each weekly treatment visit. The primary endpoint of the two studies was the 4-week continuous abstinence rate confirmed by measurement of expired carbon monoxide (CO), from week 9 to week 12. At the primary endpoint, varenicline was shown to be statistically significantly superior to bupropion and placebo. After the 40-week non-treatment phase, a key secondary endpoint for both studies was the continuous abstinence rate at week 52. Continuous abstinence was defined as the proportion of all participants treated who did not smoke from week 9 to week 52 and did not have an exhaled CO measurement of > 10 ppm. The continuous abstinence rates during weeks 9-12 and 9-52 are shown in Table 16.

	1				
Treatment groups	Study A3051028 ( <i>16</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1025)		Study A3051036 ( <i>17</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1027)		
	Weeks 9–12 Weeks 9–52		Weeks 9–12	Weeks 9–52	
	Continuous abstinence rate (%)				
Varenicline	44.0	21.9	43.9	23.0	
Bupropion	29.5 16.1 29.8 14.6				
Placebo	17.7	8.4	17.6	10.3	

#### Table 16 Continuous abstinence during weeks 9–12 and 9–52 in preauthorization studies

Treatment groups	Study A3051028 ( <i>16</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1025)		Study A3051036 ( <i>17</i> ) ( <i>n</i> = 1027)	
	Weeks 9–12	Weeks 9–12 Weeks 9–52		Weeks 9–52
	Odds ratio for continuous abstinence			
Varenicline vs placebo	3.85***	3.09***	3.85***	2.66***
Varenicline vs bupropion	1.93***	1.46	1.90***	1.77**

#### Table continued

vs: versus.

\**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\**P* < 0.001.

Across both studies during active treatment, participant-reported outcome measures showed that craving and withdrawal were significantly reduced in participants randomized to varenicline compared with placebo. Varenicline also significantly reduced positive reinforcing effects of smoking, which can perpetuate smoking behaviour, in people who smoked during treatment compared with placebo.

# Maintenance of abstinence

An open-label maintenance of abstinence study (A3051035) assessed the benefit of an additional 12 weeks of varenicline therapy on maintenance of abstinence in 1927 participants (18). Participants received varenicline 1 mg twice daily for 12 weeks. Participants who stopped smoking by week 12 were then randomized to receive either varenicline (1 mg twice daily) or placebo for an additional 12 weeks for a total study duration of 52 weeks. The study showed the benefit of an additional 12 weeks of treatment with varenicline 1 mg twice daily for the maintenance of smoking cessation compared with receiving a placebo after the first 12 weeks. The odds of maintaining abstinence at week 24, i.e. with an additional 12 weeks of treatment with varenicline, were 2.47 times higher than if receiving a placebo (P < 0.001). Superiority to placebo for continuous abstinence was maintained through week 52 (odds ratio (OR) 1.35; P = 0.013).

# Flexible quit date

The effect of varenicline 1 mg twice daily in a flexible participant-selected quit date setting was assessed in a double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 651 people (study A3051095) (19). Participants were randomized 3:1 to varenicline (n = 486) or placebo (n = 165) for 12 weeks, followed by 12 weeks of post-treatment follow-up. Participants were instructed to select a quit date after the initial week of dose titration and before the clinical visit at the end of week 5 of

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

treatment. The rate of CO-confirmed abstinence during weeks 9 to 12 was 53.9% in participants treated with varenicline compared with 19.4% in participants treated with placebo (OR 6.03, 95% confidence interval (CI) 3.80 to 9.56). From week 9 to 24 the abstinence rate in the varenicline group was 35.2% compared with 12.7% in the placebo group (OR 4.45, 95% CI 2.62 to 7.55).

#### Varenicline retreatment

Varenicline was evaluated in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of 494 participants who had made a previous attempt to quit smoking with varenicline, and either did not succeed in quitting or relapsed after treatment (20). Participants were randomized 1:1 to varenicline 1 mg twice daily (n = 249) or placebo (n = 245) for 12 weeks of treatment and followed for up to 40 weeks after treatment. Participants included in the study had taken varenicline in the past in an attempt to stop smoking (for a total treatment duration of a minimum of 2 weeks), at least 3 months before entry into this study and had been smoking for at least 4 weeks. Participants treated with varenicline had an abstinence rate (CO-confirmed) of 45.0% during weeks 9 to 12, significantly higher than the 11.8% abstinence rate of participants treated with placebo (OR 7.08, 95% CI 4.34 to 11.55). From weeks 9 through 52, the abstinence rate of participants treated with varenicline with varenicline was 20.1% compared with 3.3% in those treated with placebo (OR 9.00, 95% CI 3.97 to 20.41).

# Gradual quitting approach

Varenicline was evaluated in a 52-week double-blind placebo-controlled study of 1510 participants who were not able or willing to quit smoking within 4 weeks but were willing to gradually reduce their smoking over a 12-week period before quitting (21). Participants were randomized to either varenicline 1 mg twice daily (n = 760) or placebo (n = 750) for 24 weeks and followed up after treatment through week 52. Participants were instructed to reduce the number of cigarettes smoked by at least 50% by the end of the first 4 weeks of treatment, followed by a further 50% reduction from week 4 to week 8 of treatment, with the goal of reaching complete abstinence by 12 weeks. After the initial 12-week reduction phase, participants continued treatment for another 12 weeks. Participants treated with varenicline had a significantly higher rate of continuous abstinence than those given placebo at weeks 15 through 24 (32.1% versus 6.9%, respectively; OR 8.74, 95% CI 6.09 to 12.53) and weeks 21 through 52 (27.0% versus 9.9%; OR 4.02, 95% CI 2.94 to 5.50).

# Smokers with CVD

Varenicline was evaluated in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 703 people with stable, documented CVD (other than or in addition to hypertension) that had been diagnosed for more than 2 months (A3051049)

(22). Participants aged 35–75 years were randomized to varenicline 1 mg twice daily or placebo for a treatment period of 12 weeks and were then followed for 40 weeks after treatment. Participants treated with varenicline had a CO-confirmed abstinence rate of 47.3% during weeks 9 through 12, significantly higher than the 14.3% abstinence rate of participants treated with placebo (OR 6.05, 95% CI 4.13 to 8.86). From week 9 through 52, the abstinence rate of participants treated with varenicline was 19.8% compared with 7.4% in those treated with placebo (OR 3.19, 95% CI 1.97 to 5.18).

# Smokers with COPD

Varenicline was evaluated in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 499 participants with mild to moderate COPD with postbronchodilator forced expiratory volume 1/forced vital capacity (FEV1/FVC) < 70% and FEV1  $\geq$  50% of predicted normal value (*23*). Participants aged  $\geq$  35 years were randomized to varenicline 1 mg twice daily or placebo for a treatment period of 12 weeks and then were followed for 40 weeks after treatment. Participants treated with varenicline had a higher rate of CO-confirmed abstinence during weeks 9 through 12 than participants treated with placebo (42.3% versus 8.8%, respectively; OR 8.40, 95% CI 4.99 to 14.14) and from weeks 9 through 52 (18.6% versus 5.6%, respectively; OR 4.04, 95% CI 2.13 to 7.67).

# Smokers with major depressive disorder

Varenicline was evaluated in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 525 participants with major depressive disorder without psychotic features who were on a stable dose of antidepressant treatment for at least 2 months and/or who had experienced a major depressive episode in the past 2 years and had been successfully treated (*24*). Participants aged 18–75 years were randomized to varenicline 1 mg twice daily or placebo for a treatment period of 12 weeks and then followed for 40 weeks after treatment. Participants treated with varenicline had a CO-confirmed abstinence rate of 35.9% during weeks 9 through 12, significantly higher than the 15.6% abstinence rate of participants treated with placebo (OR 3.35, 95% CI 2.16 to 5.21). From week 9 through 52, the abstinence rate of participants treated with varenicline was 20.3% compared with 10.4% in those treated with placebo (OR 2.36, 95% CI 1.40 to 3.98).

# Smokers with and without history of psychiatric disorders

Varenicline was evaluated in a 24-week, double-blind, NRT (nicotine patch) and placebo-controlled, multicentre, parallel group study – the EAGLES (Evaluating Adverse Events in a Global Smoking Cessation Study) trial (25). The study was designed to assess the safety and efficacy of varenicline 1 mg twice daily and bupropion hydrochloride 150 mg twice daily for smoking cessation: the primary

safety focus was estimating the occurrence of neuropsychiatric adverse events and the main efficacy objectives were measuring continuous abstinence for weeks 9 to 12 and 9 to 24 in participants with and without a diagnosis of a psychiatric condition. The primary comparisons were varenicline versus placebo and bupropion versus placebo. NRT was included as an active control and study drugs were given via a triple dummy design, i.e. all participants took three drugs, which were either one active plus two placebo or all three were placebo. This allowed active versus active treatment comparisons as well as active versus placebo comparisons. The duration of active treatment was 12 weeks, followed by a non-treatment follow-up phase of an additional 12 weeks. In both groups and overall, all active treatments showed significantly greater efficacy in smoking cessation compared with placebo as measured at both weeks 9 to 12 (Table 17) and 9 to 24 (Table 18).

In addition, varenicline showed significantly greater efficacy compared with bupropion and compared with nicotine patch at both weeks 9 to 12 and 9 to 24. However, no significant differences in effectiveness were seen between bupropion and nicotine patch in either time period.

#### Table 17

Treatment comparison for continuous abstinence from tobacco use in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders, weeks 9–12

Total	Group without psychiatric disorders	Group with psychiatric disorders	
Contin	uous abstinence, no	o./n (%)	
683/2037 (33.5)	382/1005 (38.0)	301/1032 (29.2)	
460/2034 (22.6)	261/1001 (26.1)	199/1033 (19.3)	
476/2038 (23.4)	267/1013 (26.4)	209/1025 (20.4)	
255/2035 (12.5)	138/1009 (13.7)	117/1026 (11.4)	
Odds ratio (95% CI) for continuous abstinence			
3.61 (3.07, 4.24)	4.00 (3.20, 5.00)	3.24 (2.56, 4.11)	
	Contin 683/2037 (33.5) 460/2034 (22.6) 476/2038 (23.4) 255/2035 (12.5) Odds ratio (9	psychiatric disorders           Continuous abstinence, no 683/2037 (33.5)           382/1005 (38.0)           460/2034 (22.6)         261/1001 (26.1)           476/2038 (23.4)         267/1013 (26.4)           255/2035 (12.5)         138/1009 (13.7)           Odds ratio (95% CI) for continuous	

2.26 (1.80, 2.85)

1.87 (1.46, 2.39)

2.07 (1.75, 2.45)

Bupropion vs placebo

Table continued

Treatment	Total	Group without psychiatric disorders	Group with psychiatric disorders
Secondary comparisons			
Nicotine patch vs placebo	2.15 (1.82, 2.54)	2.30 (1.83, 2.90)	2.00 (1.56, 2.55)
Varenicline vs bupropion	1.75 (1.52, 2.01)	1.77 (1.46, 2.14)	1.74 (1.41, 2.14)
Varenicline vs nicotine patch	1.68 (1.46, 1.93)	1.74 (1.43, 2.10)	1.62 (1.32, 1.99)
Bupropion vs nicotine patch	0.96 (0.83, 1.11)	0.98 (0.80, 1.20)	0.94 (0.75, 1.16)

CI: confidence interval; *n*: sample size; vs: versus. Anthenelli RM, et al., 2016 (*25*).

#### Table 18

# Treatment comparison for continuous abstinence from tobacco use in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders, weeks 9–24

Treatment	Total	Group without psychiatric disorders	Group with psychiatric disorders	
	Contin	uous abstinence, no	o./n (%)	
Varenicline	445/2037 (21.8)	256/1005 (25.5)	189/1032 (18.3)	
Bupropion	330/2034 (16.2)	188/1001 (18.8)	142/1033 (13.7)	
Nicotine patch	320/2038 (15.7)	187/1013 (18.5)	133/1025 (13.0)	
Placebo	191/2035 (9.4)	106/1009 (10.5)	85/1026 (8.3)	
Treatment comparisons	Odds ratio (95% CI) for continuous abstinence			
Primary comparisons				
Varenicline vs	2.74 (2.28, 3.30)	2.99 (2.33, 3.83)	2.50 (1.90, 3.29)	

Varenicline vs placebo	2.74 (2.28, 3.30)	2.99 (2.33, 3.83)	2.50 (1.90, 3.29)
Bupropion vs placebo	1.89 (1.56, 2.29)	2.00 (1.54, 2.59)	1.77 (1.33, 2.36)

#### Table continued

Treatment	Total	Group without psychiatric disorders	Group with psychiatric disorders
Secondary comparisons			
Nicotine patch vs placebo	1.81 (1.49, 2.19)	1.96 (1.51, 2.54)	1.65 (1.24, 2.20)
Varenicline vs bupropion	1.45 (1.24, 1.70)	1.49 (1.20, 1.85)	1.41 (1.11, 1.79)
Varenicline vs nicotine patch	1.52 (1.29, 1.78)	1.52 (1.23, 1.89)	1.51 (1.19, 1.93)
Bupropion vs nicotine patch	1.04 (0.88, 1.24)	1.02 (0.81, 1.28)	1.07 (0.83, 1.39)

CI: confidence interval; n: sample size; vs: versus.

Anthenelli RM, et al., 2016 (25).

# Healthy adolescent smokers

Varenicline was evaluated in a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, parallel group, dose ranging study with 40 weeks of follow-up in 312 healthy adolescent smokers aged 12–19 years (*26*). Participants were randomized 1:1:1 to either high-dose varenicline (1 mg twice daily or 0.5 mg twice daily for those weighing < 55 kg), low-dose varenicline (0.5 mg twice daily or 0.5 mg once daily for those weighing < 55 kg) or placebo. The study included a 12-week treatment period and a 40-week non-treatment follow-up period. All participants received < 10 minutes of age-appropriate cessation counselling at every study visit, in person or by telephone.

The study did not meet the primary endpoint of the cotinine-confirmed (urine) continuous abstinence rate from week 9 to week 12 in the overall study sample for either dose of varenicline compared with placebo. Analyses of secondary endpoints were consistent with the primary endpoint analysis. Results of a post hoc analysis of efficacy for a subset of participants 12–17 years were similar to those for the overall sample. Varenicline was well tolerated in this study population, with an adverse event profile similar to that observed in healthy adult smokers and no notable findings for neuropsychiatric adverse events.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

# Safety in randomized controlled studies

Eight phase II and III studies, which were conducted in smokers who were otherwise generally healthy, supported the initial authorization of varenicline.

The studies included a total of 5944 participants, with 3940 exposed to varenicline. In most of these studies the treatment period was 12 weeks while in one study it was 24 weeks and in another it was 52 weeks. Most of the studies included non-treatment follow-up to 1 year from start of treatment.

The two phase III pivotal studies of varenicline (*16*, *17*), included 692 participants treated with varenicline, 669 participants treated with bupropion and 684 participants treated with placebo. The most common adverse events in the varenicline treatment group were nausea (28.8% varenicline, 9.9% bupropion, 9.1% placebo), headache (14.2% varenicline, 11.1% bupropion, 12.4% placebo), insomnia (14.2% varenicline, 21.5% bupropion, 12.6% placebo) and abnormal dreams (11.7% varenicline, 5.7% bupropion, 4.5% placebo). In most cases, nausea occurred early in the treatment, was mild to moderate in severity and did not result in discontinuation of treatment. The occurrence of nausea decreased with time on varenicline (*27*).

Varenicline was studied in several postauthorization studies including a study on smokers with COPD (23), a study on generally healthy smokers who were allowed to select a flexible quit date between days 8 and 35 of treatment (19), a study of varenicline retreatment (20), a study on patients with stable CVD (22), a study on patients with stable schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder (28), a study on patients with major depressive disorder (24), a postapproval safety outcome study on patients without or with a history of psychiatric disorder (EAGLES trial) specifically designed to assess the frequency of neuropsychiatric adverse events (25), and a study on smokers who used a gradual approach to quitting smoking (21). Postauthorization trials have also been conducted in specific countries or geographic regions, including Asia, Africa, the Middle East and South America (29–32).

The safety profile of varenicline was generally consistent across preand postauthorization studies. Table 19 shows the common adverse events in six preauthorization phase II-III studies (2005 pooled studies) and 15 pre- and postauthorization phase II-IV studies (2010 pooled studies). Table 20 shows common adverse events for the EAGLES study overall. Across all studies the most common adverts events reported in participants treated with varenicline and reported in a greater proportion of participants treated with varenicline than placebo were nausea, headache, abnormal dreams and insomnia.

# Table 19

Most frequently reported treatment-related adverse events (by  $\ge$  5% of participants in any treatment group) in pooled study cohorts

No. (%)			
2005 pool	ed studies	2010 pool	ed studies
Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 1983)	Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 1209)	Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 4483)	Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 2892)
118 (6.0)	27 (2.2)	235 (5.2)	68 (2.4)
130 (6.6)	34 (2.8)	196 (4.4)	69 (2.4)
572 (28.8)	104 (8.6)	1221 (27.2)	241 (8.3)
59 (3.0)	8 (0.7)	146 (3.3)	25 (0.9)
IS			
86 (4.3)	40 (3.3)	176 (3.9)	77 (2.7)
101 (5.1)	56 (4.6)	182 (4.1)	127 (4.4)
155 (7.8)	45 (3.7)	194 (4.3)	72 (2.5)
217 (10.9)	116 (9.6)	444 (9.9)	227 (7.8)
240 (12.1)	56 (4.6)	395 (8.8)	84 (2.9)
248 (14.3)	117 (9.7)	480 (10.7)	184 (6.4)
	Varenicline (n = 1983) 118 (6.0) 130 (6.6) 572 (28.8) 59 (3.0) 55 86 (4.3) 101 (5.1) 155 (7.8) 217 (10.9) 240 (12.1)	2005 pooled studies         Varenicline (n = 1983)       Placebo (n = 1209)         118 (6.0)       27 (2.2)         130 (6.6)       34 (2.8)         572 (28.8)       104 (8.6)         59 (3.0)       8 (0.7)         86 (4.3)       40 (3.3)         101 (5.1)       56 (4.6)         155 (7.8)       45 (3.7)         217 (10.9)       116 (9.6)         240 (12.1)       56 (4.6)	2005 pooled studies2010 poolVarenicline (n = 1983)Placebo (n = 1209)Varenicline (n = 4483)118 (6.0)27 (2.2)235 (5.2)130 (6.6)34 (2.8)196 (4.4)572 (28.8)104 (8.6)1221 (27.2)59 (3.0)8 (0.7)146 (3.3)Note: State of the state of t

Includes adverse events up to 30 days after the last dose of the study drug.

2005 pooled studies included: A3051002, A3051007, A3051016, A3051028, A3051036 and A3051037. 2010 pooled studies included: A3051002, A3051007, A3051016, A3051028, A3051036, A3051037, A3051045, A3051046\_48, A3051049, A3051054, A3051055, A3051080, A3051095, A3051104 and A3051115. Source: Food and Drug Administration review, 2011 (*33*).

# Table 20

Most frequently reported treatment-related adverse events (by  $\ge$  5% of participants in any treatment arm), EAGLES trial

Type of adverse event		No.	(%)	
	Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 2016)	Bupropion ( <i>n</i> = 2006)	NRT ( <i>n</i> = 2022)	Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 2014)
Total with adverse event	1503 (74.6)	1446 (72.1)	1436 (71.0)	1345 (66.8)
Gastrointestinal disorders	786 (39.0)	527 (26.3)	481 (23.8)	414 (20.6)
Dry mouth	66 (3.3)	146 (7.3)	59 (2.9)	64 (3.2)
Nausea	511 (25. 3)	201 (10.0)	199 (9.8)	137 (6.8)
General disorders and administration site conditions	270 (13.4)	241 (12.0)	404 (20.0)	229 (11.4)
Application site pruritus	22 (1.1)	12 (0.6)	109 (5.4)	16 (0.8)
Fatigue	124 (6.2)	57 (2.8)	75 (3.7)	83 (4.1)
Infections and infestations	533 (26.4)	475 (23.7)	495 (24.5)	506 (25.1)
Nasopharyngitis	174 (8.6)	156 (7.8)	126 (6.2)	135 (6.7)
Upper respiratory tract infection	109 (5.4)	104 (5.2)	97 (4.8)	115 (5.7)
Nervous system disorders	440 (21.8)	440 (21.9)	443 (21.9)	374 (18.6)
Headache	245 (12.2)	186 (9.3)	233 (11.5)	199 (9.9)
Psychiatric disorders	720 (35.7)	767 (38.2)	722 (35.7)	613 (30.4)
Abnormal dreams	201 (10.0)	131 (6.5)	251 (12.4)	92 (4.6)
Anxiety	132 (6.5)	169 (8.4)	138 (6.8)	120 (6.0)
Insomnia	189 (9.4)	245 (12.2)	196 (9.7)	139 (6.9)
Irritability	82 (4.1)	71 (3.5)	108 (5.3)	104 (5.2)

EAGLES: Evaluating Adverse Events in a Global Smoking Cessation Study; n: total number of participants per treatment arm; NRT: nicotine replacement therapy.

Participants are only counted once per treatment for each row but may be counted in multiple rows.

All participants who received at least one partial dose of study treatment were included.

Treatment-related mean during treatment plus 30 days.

Source: Pfizer Food and Drug Administration advisory committee meeting briefing document, 2016 (34).

A 2016 Cochrane review and meta-analysis of placebo-controlled clinical trials of nicotine receptor partial agonists for smoking cessation included 39 trials involving varenicline treatment in 11 801 participants in a variety of populations and settings (*35*). The most frequent adverse events for smokers treated with varenicline was mild to moderate nausea, at rates between 24% and 29% in most studies. The other frequently reported adverse events included insomnia, abnormal dreams and headache. Meta-analyses of these four adverse events for varenicline versus placebo gave the following risk ratios (RRs) of: RR 3.27 (95% CI 3.00 to 3.55; 32 studies; 14 963 participants) for nausea; RR 2.12 (95% CI 1.88 to 2.38; 26 studies; 13 682 participants) for abnormal dreams; RR 1.49 (95% CI 1.35 to 1.65; 29 studies; 14 447 participants) for insomnia; and RR 1.17 (95% CI 1.07 to 1.29; 25 studies; 13 835 participants) for headache, with all differences being statistically significant.

The percentage of subjects experiencing at least one all-causality serious adverse event was low and similar between the varenicline and placebo groups in the 15 pooled preauthorization studies (3.2% versus 3.1%, respectively) (33). The most common adverse events leading to permanent treatment discontinuation were nausea, insomnia, depressed mood and depression.

In the EAGLES study, the percentages of participants with serious adverse events were similar across all treatment groups (1.9% varenicline, 2.4% bupropion, 2.3% NRT and 2.0% placebo) (34). The percentage of participants who discontinued treatment due to adverse events was also similar across treatment groups (8.2% varenicline, 8.8% bupropion and 8.0% NRT) and higher than the placebo group (6.1%). Higher percentages of participants in the group with psychiatric disorders discontinued study treatment due to adverse events compared with the group without psychiatric disorders (Table 21) (25).

Table 21 Adverse events leading to discontinuation of study treatment, EAGLES trial

Adverse event				No.	No. (%)			
	Gro	Group without psychiatric disorders	/chiatric disord	ders	G	Group with psychiatric disorders	hiatric disord€	ers
	Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 990)	Bupropion ( <i>n</i> = 989)	Nicotine patch ( <i>n</i> = 1006)	Placebo ( <i>n</i> = 999)	Varenicline ( <i>n</i> = 1026)	VareniclineBupropion $(n = 1026)$ $(n = 1017)$	Nicotine patch ( <i>n</i> =1016)	Placebo (n=1015)
All causes of adverse events	57 (5.8)	75 (7.6)	74 (7.4)	29 (2.9)	109 (10.6)	101 (9.9)	88 (8.7)	93 (9.2)
Neuropsychiatric composite endpoint events	1 (0.1)	5 (0.5)	7 (0.7)	3 (0.3)	16 (1.6)	15 (1.5)	12 (1.2)	15 (1.5)

Anthenelli RM, et al., 2016 (25).

# Applications for the 22nd EML and the 8th EMLc

## Neuropsychiatric safety

The EAGLES trial was a randomized, double-blind, triple-dummy, active and placebo-controlled study requested by the US Food and Drug Administration and conducted by Pfizer. The study evaluated the neuropsychiatric safety and efficacy of varenicline (1 mg twice daily) and bupropion sustained release (SR) (150 mg twice daily) compared with placebo and NRT (nicotine patch: 21 mg a day with tapering) for smoking cessation in 8144 participants with and without a history of psychiatric disorders (*25*). The study was also a postauthorization safety study in the European Union.

In each treatment arm, participants were divided into two groups – those without a psychiatric disorder and those with a current or past history of affective, anxiety, psychotic or personality disorders. The primary endpoint was a composite of moderate and/or severe adverse events comprising agitation, aggression, anxiety, delusions, depression, feeling abnormal, hallucinations, homicidal ideation, hostility, irritability, mania, panic, paranoia, psychosis, suicidal ideation, and suicidal behaviour and completed suicide.

In the overall study population, varenicline was not associated with an increased incidence of clinically significant neuropsychiatric adverse events for the composite primary endpoint. In the group without psychiatric disorders, the incidence of adverse events that comprised the primary endpoint was similar for varenicline and placebo (1.3% and 2.4%, respectively). In group without psychiatric disorders, the incidence of adverse events in the composite endpoint was higher for each of the active treatments compared with placebo (varenicline 6.5%, bupropion 6.7%, nicotine patch 5.2% and placebo 4.9%). However, in the psychiatric cohort, the 95% CI for all risk differences for treatment relative to placebo included zero.

One completed suicide was reported in the EAGLES study, which occurred in a participant treated with placebo in the group without psychiatric disorders. No completed suicides were reported in the group with psychiatric disorders. The frequency of suicidal ideation during the treatment period as well as during post-treatment follow-up was similar across the different treatments including placebo. Based on the Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale, in the group without psychiatric disorders,  $\leq 1\%$  of participants across the different treatment and  $\leq 30$  days after treatment. However, in the group with psychiatric disorders, the percentages of participants reporting suicidal ideation and/or behaviour for the same time period were 3% for varenicline, 1% for bupropion, 2% for nicotine patch and 2% for placebo.

Several meta-analyses of neuropsychiatric adverse events in clinical studies with varenicline have shown similar results to the EAGLES trial. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 39 trials (10 761 participants) assessed

the risk of neuropsychiatric adverse events associated with varenicline (36). No increased risk was found for: aggression (OR 0.91, 95% CI 0.52 to 1.59); depression (OR 0.96, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.22); irritability (OR 0.98, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.17); suicidal ideation (OR 0.58, 95% CI 0.28 to 1.20); or suicide or suicide attempt (OR 1.67, 95% CI 0.33 to 8.57). Varenicline was associated with a reduced risk of anxiety compared with placebo (OR 0.75, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.93). However, the drug was associated with an increased risk of sleep-related adverse events, including insomnia (OR 1.56, 95% CI 1.36 to 1.78), abnormal dreams (OR 2.38, 95% CI 2.05 to 2.77) and fatigue (OR 1.28, 95% CI 1.06 to 1.55).

The 2016 Cochrane review (that included the EAGLES trial), included a meta-analysis of neuropsychiatric serious adverse events (*35*). The RR for depression was 0.94 (95% CI 0.77 to 1.14; 36 studies; 16 189 participants) and the RR for suicidal ideation was 0.68 (95% CI 0.43 to 1.07; 24 studies; 11 193 participants), both with non-statistically significant lower rates in the varenicline groups compared with placebo.

Overall, the data available show no evidence of an increased risk of clinically significant neuropsychiatric events with varenicline.

# *Cardiovascular safety*

The risk for cardiovascular events in people taking varenicline has been studied in individual clinical trials as well as several meta-analyses. In a Pfizer randomized trial of 714 people with stable cardiovascular disease (22), the overall rate of cardiovascular events was low and all-cause and cardiovascular mortality was lower in people treated with varenicline than with placebo (0.3% versus 0.6%, respectively; difference -0.3% 95% CI, -1.3 to 0.7). However, non-fatal myocardial infarction and non-fatal stroke occurred more frequently in people treated with varenicline compared with people given a placebo (difference between groups: 1.1% and 0.3%, respectively), although the differences were not statistically significant.

In a randomized trial of varenicline versus placebo in 302 participants with acute coronary syndrome (*37*), major adverse cardiovascular events (defined as death, myocardial infarction or hospitalization for unstable angina) were reported in 4.0% of participants in the varenicline group and 4.6% of participants in the placebo group.

Cardiovascular events were also prospectively collected and adjudicated during, and as part of, a 28-week non-treatment follow-up to the EAGLES study, providing a total of 52 weeks of safety data (*38*). This study found no evidence that varenicline increased the risk of cardiovascular adverse events. However, because of the relatively low number of events overall, the upper bounds of the 95% CIs for hazard ratios and risk differences do not entirely rule out an association.

Meta-analyses of cardiovascular events in clinical trials on varenicline have produced inconsistent findings, with some analyses suggesting an increase in cardiovascular events with varenicline treatment (39, 40) and others suggesting no effect of treatment with varenicline on cardiovascular events (41-43). Methodological differences, the size and duration of the studies, and the low number of cardiovascular events overall, likely contribute to the different results.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable.

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO treatment guidelines for smoking cessation therapies are not currently available.

The 2019 WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic recommends offering help to quit tobacco use as one of the key measures in the MPOWER strategy (2). The report recognizes that both behavioural cessation support and nicotine-replacement and non-nicotine pharmacotherapies are effective in helping people to quit tobacco use. Combining both behavioural and pharmacotherapy interventions, however, is more effective and can double the chances of successfully quitting (44).

The 2003 WHO policy recommendations on smoking cessation and treatment of tobacco dependence, note that a variety of behavioural and pharmacological therapies for smoking cessation have proved effective, but that no single approach should be emphasized to the exclusion of the others, because the therapies vary widely in their efficacy, acceptability, cost–effectiveness and their cost on an individual and population basis (45).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Overall, smoking cessation therapy is considered to be a cost-effective intervention (2).

The benefits of smoking cessation on outcomes (BENESCO) model has been applied for various countries in Europe, South America, Asia and the USA. These analyses were generally conducted from the perspective of a health care payer using direct costs (drug acquisition costs, cost of a physician visit and brief counselling) and treatment-related costs for each morbidity. The model simulated a single quit attempt over a 1-year period and assessed the impact (i.e. cost associated with smoking cessation treatment and the development of smoking-attributable morbidity and mortality) over 2, 5, 10, 20, 50 years and/or a life-time (46). In several published evaluations, 12 weeks of therapy with varenicline was predicted to be a more cost-effective intervention from the perspective of a health care payer over a 20-year or life-time period than bupropion, NRT or unaided quitting attempts in Belgium (47), Colombia (48), China Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (49), Czechia (50), Finland (51), Germany (52), Mexico (53), Netherlands (54), Scotland (55), Spain (56), Sweden (57), United Kingdom (58) and USA (59). The results are relatively consistent across countries with different levels of economic development, however most of the assessments have taken place in high- and middle-income countries.

# Availability

Varenicline has received regulatory approval in 116 countries globally. With patent expiry, generic versions of varenicline may soon become available.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that smoking is a major public health threat worldwide and causes substantial health and economic harm, including different cancers. Currently, the EML only includes nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation (chewing gum and transdermal patches).

The Expert Committee considered the evidence shown in the application that the pooled risk ratio for continuous or sustained abstinence at 6 months or longer for varenicline at standard dosage versus placebo was significant. Moreover, varenicline was also significantly better than bupropion for this outcome. The pooled risk ratio for abstinence at 24 weeks was also significantly higher for varenicline than nicotine replacement therapy. As regards the safety of varenicline, neuropsychiatric effects are a concern. Still, the latest evidence from a randomized trial does not support a link between varenicline and these disorders, although people with past or current psychiatric illness may be at slightly higher risk of experiencing neuropsychiatric events than people without these disorders.

The Expert Committee was aware that smoking cessation interventions are among the most cost-effective public health interventions. Compared with other agents (bupropion and nicotine replacement therapy), the price of varenicline is higher and its use and availability in low- and middle-income countries are still limited. The Expert Committee noted that the availability of different treatment options may enhance procurement capacity, lower prices and increase affordability through competition.

The Expert Committee also noted that no specialist training is required to prescribe or use the medicine. However, the success of medications for quitting smoking is improved when smokers are prepared to quit, and receive quitting advice, counselling and support from health care providers. The Expert Committee therefore noted that while the effectiveness of pharmacological interventions for smoking cessation is high, their success is dependent on a concomitant behavioural education approach such as counselling. In many countries, especially in low- and middle-income countries, the use of this approach as well as the strengthening of tobacco control policies are still not optimal.

The Expert Committee noted that varenicline was mentioned in the WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic 2019 as a non-nicotine pharmacological intervention to help people to quit smoking.

Considering the body of evidence supporting the efficacy and tolerability of varenicline, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of varenicline for smoking cessation in the core list of the EML. However, considering the limited evidence on the affordability of varenicline in low- and middle-income countries, mechanisms to estimate its costs in these countries need to be established with ministries of health.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2009 (including the 16th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 2nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 958; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44287, accessed 30 March 2021).
- WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2019: offer help to quit tobacco use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326043, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 3. WHO global report on trends in prevalence of tobacco smoking 2000–2025. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330221, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 4. Goodchild M, Nargis N, Tursan d'Espaignet E. Global economic cost of smoking-attributable diseases. Tob Control. 2018;27(1):58–64.
- Smoking cessation. A report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2020 (https://www.hhs.gov/ sites/default/files/2020-cessation-sgr-full-report.pdf, accessed 30 March 2021).
- Morris PB, Ference BA, Jahangir E, Feldman DN, Ryan JJ, Bahrami H, et al. Cardiovascular effects of exposure to cigarette smoke and electronic cigarettes: clinical perspectives from the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease Section Leadership Council and Early Career Councils of the American College of Cardiology. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(12):1378–91.
- Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018; 392(10159):1923–94.

596

- Puig-Cotado F, Tursan d'Espaignet E, St Claire S, Bianco E, Bhatti L, Schotte K, et al. Tobacco and coronary heart disease: WHO tobacco knowledge summaries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334325, accessed 15 October 2020).
- 9. Walser T, Cui X, Yanagawa J, Lee JM, Heinrich E, Lee G, et al. Smoking and lung cancer: the role of inflammation. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2008;5(8):811–5.
- 10. Freedman ND, Silverman DT, Hollenbeck AR, Schatzkin A, Abnet CC. Association between smoking and risk of bladder cancer among men and women. JAMA. 2011;306(7):737–45.
- 11. Forey BA, Thornton AJ, Lee PN. Systematic review with meta-analysis of the epidemiological evidence relating smoking to COPD, chronic bronchitis and emphysema. BMC Pulm Med. 2011;11:36.
- 12. Mannino DM, Buist AS. Global burden of COPD: risk factors, prevalence, and future trends. Lancet. 2007;370(9589):765–73.
- 13. Smoking & tobacco use. Fast Facts. Atlanta, GA: Office on Smoking and Health (OSH), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data\_statistics/fact\_sheets/fast\_facts/index.htm#diseases, accessed 15 October 2020).
- Fiore M, Jaén CR, Baker TB, Bailey WC, Bennett G, Benowitz NL, et al. Tobacco Use and Dependence Guideline Panel. Treating tobacco use and dependence: 2008 update. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2008 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK63952/, accessed 30 March 2021).
- Stop smoking interventions and services. NICE guideline [NG92]. London: National institute for health and care excellence; 2018 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92, accessed 30 March 2021).
- Gonzales D, Rennard SI, Nides M, Oncken C, Azoulay S, Billing CB, et al. Varenicline, an alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, vs sustained-release bupropion and placebo for smoking cessation: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;296(1):47–55.
- 17. Jorenby DE, Hays JT, Rigotti NA, Azoulay S, Watsky EJ, Williams KE, et al. Efficacy of varenicline, an alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, vs placebo or sustained-release bupropion for smoking cessation: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;296(1):56–63.
- 18. Tonstad S, Tønnesen P, Hajek P, Williams KE, Billing CB, Reeves KR. Effect of maintenance therapy with varenicline on smoking cessation: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;296(1):64–71.
- Rennard S, Hughes J, Cinciripini PM, Kralikova E, Raupach T, Arteaga C, et al. A randomized placebo-controlled trial of varenicline for smoking cessation allowing flexible quit dates. Nicotine Tob Res. 2012;14(3):343–50.
- 20. Gonzales D, Hajek P, Pliamm L, Nackaerts K, Tseng LJ, McRae TD, et al. Retreatment with varenicline for smoking cessation in smokers who have previously taken varenicline: a randomized, placebocontrolled trial. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2014;96(3):390–6.
- 21. Ebbert JO, Hughes JR, West RJ, Rennard SI, Russ C, McRae TD, et al. Effect of varenicline on smoking cessation through smoking reduction: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2015;313(7):687–94.
- 22. Rigotti NA, Pipe AL, Benowitz NL, Arteaga C, Garza D, Tonstad S. Efficacy and safety of varenicline for smoking cessation in patients with cardiovascular disease: a randomized trial. Circulation. 2010;121(2):221–9.
- 23. Tashkin DP, Rennard S, Hays JT, Ma W, Lawrence D, Lee TC. Effects of varenicline on smoking cessation in patients with mild to moderate COPD: a randomized controlled trial. Chest. 2011;139(3):591–9.
- 24. Anthenelli RM, Morris C, Ramey TS, Dubrava SJ, Tsilkos K, Russ C, et al. Effects of varenicline on smoking cessation in adults with stably treated current or past major depression: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2013;159(6):390–400.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 25. Anthenelli RM, Benowitz NL, West R, St Aubin L, McRae T, Lawrence D, et al. Neuropsychiatric safety and efficacy of varenicline, bupropion, and nicotine patch in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders (EAGLES): A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10037):2507–20.
- 26. Gray KM, Rubinstein ML, Prochaska JJ, DuBrava SJ, Holstein AR, Samuels L, et al. High-dose and low-dose varenicline for smoking cessation in adolescents: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2020;4(11):837–45.
- 27. Nides M, Glover ED, Reus VI, Christen AG, Make BJ, Billing CB, Jr, et al. Varenicline versus bupropion SR or placebo for smoking cessation: a pooled analysis. Am J Health Behav. 2008;32(6):664–75.
- Williams JM, Anthenelli RM, Morris CD, Treadow J, Thompson JR, Yunis C, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study evaluating the safety and efficacy of varenicline for smoking cessation in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. 2012;73(5):654–60.
- 29. Nakamura M, Oshima A, Fujimoto Y, Maruyama N, Ishibashi T, Reeves KR. Efficacy and tolerability of varenicline, an alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, in a 12-week, randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-response study with 40-week follow-up for smoking cessation in Japanese smokers. Clin Ther. 2007;29(6):1040–56.
- 30. Tsai ST, Cho HJ, Cheng HS, Kim CH, Hsueh KC, Billing CB, Jr, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of varenicline, a selective alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, as a new therapy for smoking cessation in Asian smokers. Clin Ther. 2007;29(6):1027–39.
- 31. Wang C, Xiao D, Chan KP, Pothirat C, Garza D, Davies S. Varenicline for smoking cessation: a placebo-controlled, randomized study. Respirology. 2009;14(3):384–92.
- Bolliger CT, Issa JS, Posadas-Valay R, Safwat T, Abreu P, Correia EA, et al. Effects of varenicline in adult smokers: a multinational, 24-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Clin Ther. 2011;33(4):465–77.
- 33. Approval package for Application Number: 021928Orig1s021. Silver Spring, MD: Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Food and Drug Administration; 2011 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2011/021928Orig1s021.pdf, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 34. CHANTIX<sup>®</sup> (varenicline). Tablets. 2016 FDA Advisory Committee Meeting Briefing Document. New York, NY: Pfizer; 2016 (https://www.fda.gov/media/100511/download, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 35. Cahill K, Lindson-Hawley N, Thomas KH, Fanshawe TR, Lancaster T. Nicotine receptor partial agonists for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2016(5):Cd006103.
- 36. Thomas KH, Martin RM, Knipe DW, Higgins JP, Gunnell D. Risk of neuropsychiatric adverse events associated with varenicline: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2015;350:h1109.
- 37. Eisenberg MJ, Windle SB, Roy N, Old W, Grondin FR, Bata I, et al. Varenicline for smoking cessation in hospitalized patients with acute coronary syndrome. Circulation. 2016;133(1):21–30.
- 38. Benowitz NL, Pipe A, West R, Hays JT, Tonstad S, McRae T, et al. Cardiovascular Safety of varenicline, bupropion, and nicotine patch in smokers: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA internal medicine. 2018;178(5):622–31.
- 39. Singh S, Loke YK, Spangler JG, Furberg CD. Risk of serious adverse cardiovascular events associated with varenicline: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2011;183(12):1359–66.
- 40. Ware JH, Vetrovec GW, Miller AB, Van Tosh A, Gaffney M, Yunis C, et al. Cardiovascular safety of varenicline: patient-level meta-analysis of randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled trials. Am J Ther. 2013;20(3):235–46.
- 41. Prochaska JJ, Hilton JF. Risk of cardiovascular serious adverse events associated with varenicline use for tobacco cessation: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2012;344:e2856.

598

42. Mills EJ, Thorlund K, Eapen S, Wu P, Prochaska JJ. Cardiovascular events associated with smoking cessation pharmacotherapies: a network meta-analysis. Circulation. 2014;129(1):28–41.

- 43. Sterling LH, Windle SB, Filion KB, Touma L, Eisenberg MJ. Varenicline and Adverse cardiovascular events: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016;5(2):e002849.
- 44. West R, Raw M, McNeill A, Stead L, Aveyard P, Bitton J, et al. Health-care interventions to promote and assist tobacco cessation: a review of efficacy, effectiveness and affordability for use in national guideline development. Addiction. 2015;110(9):1388–403.
- 45. Policy recommendations on smoking cessation and treatment of tobacco dependence. Advancing tobacco control in the XXIst century. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/42708, accessed 30 March 2021).
- 46. Keating GM, Lyseng-Williamson KA. Varenicline: a pharmacoeconomic review of its use as an aid to smoking cessation. Pharmacoeconomics. 2010;28(3):231–54.
- Annemans L, Nackaerts K, Bartsch P, Prignot J, Marbaix S. Cost effectiveness of varenicline in Belgium, compared with bupropion, nicotine replacement therapy, brief counselling and unaided smoking cessation: a BENESCO Markov cost-effectiveness analysis. Clin Drug Investig. 2009;29(10):655–65.
- Narvaez J, Alvis N, de La Hoz F, Orozco J, Porras A. An economic evaluation of a pharmacological intervention using varenicline as therapy for smoking cessation [abstract no. PRS16]. Value Health. 2009;12(3):A123.
- 49. Lee KK, Lee VWY, Chow DP. Cost effectiveness of varenicline compared with existing smoking cessation strategies in Hong Kong [abstract no. PRS16]. 12th Annual European Congress of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research, 24–29 October 2009, Paris, France.
- 50. Skoupa J, Dolezal T, Hajek P, Kovár P. Long-term cost–effectiveness analysis of varenicline versus nicotine replacement therapy, bupropion, and unaided cessation for smoking cessation in the Czech Republic [abstract plus poster]. 10th Annual Meeting of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco Europe, 23–26 September 2008, Rome, Italy.
- Linden K, Jormanainen V, Linna M, Sintonen H, Wilson K, Kotomaki T. Cost effectiveness of varenicline versus bupropion and unaided cessation for smoking cessation in a cohort of Finnish adult smokers. Curr Med Res Opin. 2010;26(3):549–60.
- Rasch A, Greiner W. Gesundheitsökonomisches Modell der Raucherentwöhnung mit Vareniclin [Health economic model of smoking cessation with varenicline]. Suchtmedizin in Forschung und Praxis. 2009;11:47–55.
- 53. Mould-Quevedo JF, Contreras-Hernández I. Análisis coste-efectividad de vareniclina (Champix<sup>®</sup>) frente a los parches de nicotina en el tratamiento del tabaquismo en México [Cost-effectiveness analysis of varenicline (Champix<sup>®</sup>) versus nicotine patches in the treatment of smoking in Mexico]. PharmacoEconomics Spanish Research Articles. 2009;6(1):22–32.
- Hoogendoorn M, Welsing P, Rutten-van Mölken MP. Cost-effectiveness of varenicline compared with bupropion, NRT, and nortriptyline for smoking cessation in the Netherlands. Curr Med Res Opin. 2008;24(1):51–61.
- 55. O'Regan CP, Baker CL, Marchant N. The cost-effectiveness of the novel prescription therapy varenicline in Scotland. [Abstract RPOS3-45 plus poster]. 13th Annual Meeting of the Society for the Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, 21–24 February 2007, Austin, Texas.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 56. Fernández de Bobadilla Osorio J, Sánchez-Maestre C, Brosa Riestra M, Arroyo O, Sanz de Burgoa V, Wilson K. Análisis coste-efectividad de vareniclina (Champix) en el tratamiento del tabaquismo en España [Cost–effectiveness analysis of varenicline (Champix) for the treatment of smoking in Spain]. An Med Interna. 2008;25(7):342–8.
- 57. Bolin K, Mork AC, Willers S, Lindgren B. Varenicline as compared to bupropion in smoking-cessation therapy—cost-utility results for Sweden 2003. Respir Med. 2008;102(5):699–710.
- 58. Bolin K, Wilson K, Benhaddi H, de Nigris E, Marbaix S, Mork AC, et al. Cost-effectiveness of varenicline compared with nicotine patches for smoking cessation--results from four European countries. Eur J Public Health. 2009;19(6):650–4.
- 59. Howard P, Knight C, Boler A, Baker C. Cost-utility analysis of varenicline versus existing smoking cessation strategies using the BENESCO Simulation model: application to a population of US adult smokers. Pharmacoeconomics. 2008;26(6):497–511.

# Section 29: MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF JOINTS 29.2 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)

Hydroxychloroquine - new indication - EML

# Hydroxychloroquine

ATC Code: P01BA02

# Proposal

Inclusion of hydroxychloroquine on the complementary list of the EML for treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus with or without associated systemic lupus erythematosus.

# Applicant

The International League of Dermatology Societies

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

29.2 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg (as sulfate)

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Hydroxychloroquine was added to the complementary list of the EMLc in 2011 for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus in children (1). It has not been previously considered by the Expert Committee for use in adults for any indication.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The global incidence of cutaneous lupus erythematosus ranges from 2.6 to 4.3 cases per 100 000 persons per year (2-4) and is similar to that of systemic lupus erythematosus, which ranges from 3.3 to 9.1 cases per 100 000 persons per year (5, 6).

Active cutaneous lupus erythematosus can lead to damage of the skin (dyspigmentation and/or scarring) and is associated with considerable morbidity and impairment of quality of life (6, 7). Patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus have been reported to have worse quality of life than those with other common dermatological conditions, such as acne, non-melanoma skin cancer and alopecia (8). Factors related to poor quality of life in patients include female sex, presence of systemic lupus erythematosus, active skin disease, low income and low educational level suggesting that the disease burden is higher in low-resource settings (8, 9).

Cutaneous lupus erythematosus most commonly presents with single or multiple plaques on the skin that heal by scarring and pigment loss. This is accompanied by scarring alopecia in the scalp, which leads to permanent hair loss. The condition may also be confined to the extremities such as fingertips, or the inflammation may extend to the deep dermis, where scarring is more severe.

It is estimated that about one in five people with widespread discoid lupus erythematosus or disseminated or acute cutaneous lupus erythematosus may subsequently develop systemic symptoms indicative of systemic lupus erythematosus (4, 10).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

#### Cutaneous lupus erythematosus

In a randomized placebo-controlled trial of 103 patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus, a greater proportion of patients who received hydroxychloroquine were determined to have "improved" or "remarkably improved" based on investigators' global assessment, compared with patients who received placebo (51.4% versus 8.7%, P < 0.001). Clinical improvement was assessed using the validated cutaneous lupus erythematosus disease area and severity index (CLASI). Patients treated with hydroxychloroquine had significantly improved CLASI scores from baseline after 16 weeks of treatment (10.1 versus 4.5; mean change –4.6, 95% confidence interval (CI) –6.1 to 3.1) (11).

A randomized, double-blind, multicentre study compared the efficacy of hydroxychloroquine and acitretin (a vitamin A derivative) in 58 patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus (12). Similar efficacy was observed in the treatment groups based on the proportion of patients with overall improvement in cutaneous lupus erythematosus lesions (50% in the hydroxychloroquine group versus 46% in the acitretin group). In the hydroxychloroquine group, there was complete clearing or marked improvement of erythema and of infiltration in 68% of patients, and of scaling/hyperkeratosis in 65% of patients. In the acitretin group, there was marked improvement or clearing of erythema in 42% of patients, of infiltration in 63% of patients and of scaling/hyperkeratosis in 60%.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 31 studies published between 1965 and 2015 evaluated response rates of cutaneous lupus erythematosus subtypes to treatment with hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine (13). The overall response rate to both treatments was 63% (95% CI 55% to 70%). The evaluation of response to treatment was based on the definition used in each included study, mainly by the validated CLASI or according to study-specific criteria considering the size and number of lesions. For hydroxychloroquine, 1284 instances of treatment yielded an overall response rate to treatment of 61% (95% CI 50% to 71%), with significant statistical heterogeneity (P < 0.001 and  $I^2 = 90\%$ ). In a meta-analysis of two studies allowing direct comparisons, hydroxychloroquine showed greater overall efficacy than chloroquine, however the difference was not statistically significant (odds ratio (OR) 1.48, 95% CI 0.98 to 2.23).

# Systemic lupus erythematosus

A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study evaluated the effect of discontinuing treatment with hydroxychloroquine in 47 patients with systemic lupus erythematosus who had been receiving this treatment for at least 6 months and had stable disease (14). The primary outcome measure was time to manifestation of clinical flare-up of systemic lupus erythematosus. The risk of systemic lupus erythematosus flare-ups (including major flare-ups) was 2.5 times higher (95% CI 1.08 to 5.58) at the end of the 6-months follow-up period in the discontinued (placebo) group compared with the hydroxychloroquine group. After an additional 3 years of follow-up, patients who continued on hydroxychloroquine had a reduced risk of experiencing a major disease flare-ups compared with patients who discontinued treatment; however, the difference was not significant (relative risk (RR) 0.43, 95% CI 0.17 to 1.12) (15).

A nested case-control study of 481 patients with systemic lupus erythematosus evaluated the effect of hydroxychloroquine on organ damage (16). A univariate analysis from this study found that hydroxychloroquine use was associated with a reduced risk of damage at 3 years after onset of disease (OR 0.33, 95% CI 0.15 to 0.74). In multivariate analyses, hydroxychloroquine was also associated with a lower risk of damage at 3 years (OR 0.34, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.84), after adjustment for disease activity, steroid dose, duration of disease and year of diagnosis.

Data from the multiethnic LUpus in MInorities, NAture versus nurture (LUMINA) study also showed that patients with systemic lupus erythematosus who did not receive hydroxychloroquine had higher damage scores and were significantly more likely to have renal disease or central nervous system disease (*17*). Furthermore, use of hydroxychloroquine was associated with a reduced risk of developing new damage. Data from this study also indicated that hydroxychloroquine had a beneficial effect on survival (OR for death 0.13, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.30) (*18*).

An observational prospective cohort study of 232 patients with systemic lupus erythematosus also found increased survival in patients who had received hydroxychloroquine or chloroquine (or both) compared with patients who never received these medicines (19). The cumulative 15-year survival was 95% for patients using hydroxychloroquine or chloroquine versus 68% for patients who had never used these medicines. However, the authors of this study acknowledged that potential confounders may have biased the findings. Finally, the use of hydroxychloroquine was also independently associated with greater survival in a population of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus with nephritis (20).

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The most common adverse events associated with hydroxychloroquine include nausea (5%), diarrhoea (2%) and skin rash (2%) (21, 22). Between 12 and 29% of patients treated with hydroxychloroquine discontinue treatment due to adverse events (21, 23). Adverse events of moderate severity for hydroxychloroquine include severe headache and dizziness, tinnitus, and vertigo (24). Peripheral neuropathy has rarely been reported. Severe late-onset toxicity, including cardiotoxicity and myopathy, have also been rarely described in patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus treated with hydroxychloroquine (21, 23, 25).

Hydroxychloroquine causes sodium and calcium channel blockade, which leads to membrane-stabilizing effects and may result in cardiac conduction disturbances with atrioventricular block, QRS interval widening and QT interval prolongation (*26*). Cardiac toxicity occurs rarely in patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus, but the risk increases when hydroxychloroquine is used concurrently with other medicines that produce similar effects (*27*).

Hydroxychloroquine is also known to be associated with retinal toxicity (28, 29), for which the dose regimen is an important risk factor. A retrospective case–control study found the overall prevalence of retinopathy associated with hydroxychloroquine to be 7.5%, but with variation dependant on daily consumption (OR 5.7, 95% CI 4.1 to 7.8 for daily doses > 5.0 mg/kg) and duration of use (OR 3.2, 95% CI 2.2 to 4.7 for duration of use > 10 years). For daily consumption of 4.0 to 5.0 mg/kg, the incidence of retinal toxicity was less than 2% within the first 10 years. Therefore, the maximum daily dose advocated

by the American Academy of Ophthalmology guidelines is 5.0 mg/kg actual body weight (*30*).

A population-based cohort study evaluated the risk of major congenital malformations in infants exposed to hydroxychloroquine during the first trimester of pregnancy (*31*). Babies exposed to hydroxychloroquine in utero had a higher rate of major congenital malformation than unexposed babies (54.8 per 1000 versus 35.3 per 1000; unadjusted RR 1.51, 95% CI 1.27 to 1.81). There were increases in the risk of oral clefts, respiratory anomalies and urinary defects, although estimates of relative risk were considered imprecise because of the relatively few events.

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of cutaneous and systemic lupus erythematosus are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No published cost-effectiveness studies of hydroxychloroquine for the treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus were included in the application.

#### Availability

Hydroxychloroquine has wide global regulatory approval and is available in originator and generic brands.

#### Other considerations

European guidelines on cutaneous lupus erythematosus recommend using hydroxychloroquine as the first-line systemic treatment in all subtypes of cutaneous lupus erythematosus with severe or widespread skin lesions, particularly in patients with a risk of scarring and development of systemic lupus erythematosus (*32*). A daily dose of 5 mg/kg real body weight is recommended in the guidelines of the American Academy of Ophthalmology (*30*).

In recent guidelines of the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) for systemic lupus erythematosus, hydroxychloroquine is recommended for all patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, unless contraindicated, at a dose not exceeding 5 mg/kg real body weight (level of evidence 1a, grade of recommendation A) (*33*). However, in making this recommendation, the guidelines point out that studies of the efficacy of hydroxychloroquine in systemic lupus erythematosus have used a higher dose of 6.5 mg/kg.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the reported prevalence of cutaneous lupus erythematosus and the fact that in its active form, it may lead to permanent damage (depigmentation and/or scarring) and is associated with considerable morbidity and impairment of quality of life.

The Committee also noted that the current listing for hydroxychloroquine on the Model List is limited to use in children for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus, and that ophthalmological monitoring is recommended as a condition for its use.

The Committee took into consideration that the approach to treating cutaneous lupus erythematosus is influenced by the subtype of disease and the presence of underlying systemic lupus erythematosus. The first-line therapy typically includes photoprotection and topical or intralesional corticosteroids, topical calcineurin inhibitors, systemic glucocorticoids and systemic antimalarial agents.

The Committee noted that hydroxychloroquine showed better efficacy than placebo in treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus, and similar efficacy and a better safety profile than acitretin and chloroquine. The main safety issues with hydroxychloroquine include cardiotoxicity and an increased risk of irreversible retinopathy, affecting up to 7% of patients who use higher doses and who continue treatment for a longer time (several years). The Committee acknowledged the dosage recommendations in international guidelines to minimize the risk of retinal toxicity.

The Expert Committee considered hydroxychloroquine to have an overall favourable benefit-to-risk ratio for use in the treatment of adults with cutaneous lupus erythematosus, to be generally affordable and widely available. Therefore, the Committee recommended its inclusion on the complementary list of the EML for this indication. In addition, the Committee also recommended hydroxychloroquine be included on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus in adults, given its beneficial effects on this condition. As was the case for listing on the EMLc, the Committee also recommended that the availability of ophthalmological monitoring be a condition for use in adults.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2011 (including the 17th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 3rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 965; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44771, accessed 25 May 2021).
- 2. Durosaro O, Davis MD, Reed KB, Rohlinger AL. Incidence of cutaneous lupus erythematosus, 1965–2005: a population-based study. Arch Dermatol. 2009;145(3):249–53.

- Deligny C, Clyti E, Sainte-Marie D, Couppie P, Huong du LT, Piette JC, et al. Incidence of chronic cutaneous lupus erythematosus in French Guiana: a retrospective population-based study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(2):279–82.
- Grönhagen CM, Fored CM, Granath F, Nyberg F. Cutaneous lupus erythematosus and the association with systemic lupus erythematosus: a population-based cohort of 1088 patients in Sweden. Br J Dermatol. 2011;164(6):1335–41.
- 5. Arnaud L, Fagot JP, Mathian A, Paita M, Fagot-Campagna A, Amoura Z. Prevalence and incidence of systemic lupus erythematosus in France: a 2010 nation-wide population-based study. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(11):1082–9.
- 6. Hejazi EZ, Werth VP. Cutaneous lupus erythematosus: an update on pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2016;17(2):135–46.
- 7. Gordon H, Chandran A, Vandal AC, Yung A, Jarrett P. The relationship between disease severity and quality of life in discoid lupus erythematosus. Br J Dermatol. 2017;177(4):1134–5.
- 8. Klein R, Moghadam-Kia S, Taylor L, Coley C, Okawa J, LoMonico J, et al. Quality of life in cutaneous lupus erythematosus. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2011;64(5):849–58.
- Vasquez R, Wang D, Tran QP, Adams-Huet B, Chren MM, Costner MI, et al. A multicentre, crosssectional study on quality of life in patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus. Br J Dermatol. 2013;168(1):145–53.
- 10. Lipsker D. The need to revisit the nosology of cutaneous lupus erythematosus: the current terminology and morphologic classification of cutaneous LE: difficult, incomplete and not always applicable. Lupus. 2010;19(9):1047–9.
- 11. Yokogawa N, Eto H, Tanikawa A, Ikeda T, Yamamoto K, Takahashi T, et al. Effects of hydroxychloroquine in patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus: a multicenter, double-blind, randomized, parallel-group trial. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69(4):791–9.
- 12. Ruzicka T, Sommerburg C, Goerz G, Kind P, Mensing H. Treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus with acitretin and hydroxychloroquine. Br J Dermatol. 1992;127(5):513–8.
- Chasset F, Bouaziz JD, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Francès C, Arnaud L. Efficacy and comparison of antimalarials in cutaneous lupus erythematosus subtypes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol. 2017;177(1):188–96.
- 14. A randomized study of the effect of withdrawing hydroxychloroquine sulfate in systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med. 1991;324(3):150–4.
- Tsakonas E, Joseph L, Esdaile JM, Choquette D, Senécal JL, Cividino A, et al. A long-term study of hydroxychloroquine withdrawal on exacerbations in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Canadian Hydroxychloroquine Study Group. Lupus. 1998;7(2):80–5.
- 16. Akhavan PS, Su J, Lou W, Gladman DD, Urowitz MB, Fortin PR. The early protective effect of hydroxychloroquine on the risk of cumulative damage in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 2013;40(6):831–41.
- 17. Fessler BJ, Alarcón GS, McGwin G, Jr., Roseman J, Bastian HM, Friedman AW, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in three ethnic groups: XVI. Association of hydroxychloroquine use with reduced risk of damage accrual. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(5):1473–80.
- Alarcón GS, McGwin G, Bertoli AM, Fessler BJ, Calvo-Alén J, Bastian HM, et al. Effect of hydroxychloroquine on the survival of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: data from LUMINA, a multiethnic US cohort (LUMINA L). Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;66(9):1168–72.
- 19. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Egurbide MV, Pijoan JI, Garmendia M, Villar I, Martinez-Berriotxoa A, et al. Effect of antimalarials on thrombosis and survival in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2006;15(9):577–83.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- .....
- 20. Zheng ZH, Zhang LJ, Liu WX, Lei YS, Xing GL, Zhang JJ, et al. Predictors of survival in Chinese patients with lupus nephritis. Lupus. 2012;21(10):1049–56.
- 21. Aviña-Zubieta JA, Galindo-Rodriguez G, Newman S, Suarez-Almazor ME, Russell AS. Long-term effectiveness of antimalarial drugs in rheumatic diseases. Ann Rheum Dis. 1998;57(10):582–7.
- 22. Tétu P, Hamelin A, Lebrun-Vignes B, Soria A, Barbaud A, Francès C, et al. Prévalence des effets indésirables de l'hydroxychloroquine (Plaquenil(<sup>®</sup>)) dans une population dermatologique : étude rétrospective sur 102 patients [Prevalence of hydroxychloroquine-induced side-effects in dermatology patients: a retrospective survey of 102 patients]. Ann Dermatol Venereol. 2018;145(6–7):395–404.
- 23. Wang C, Fortin PR, Li Y, Panaritis T, Gans M, Esdaile JM. Discontinuation of antimalarial drugs in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 1999;26(4):808–15.
- 24. Blake SC, Daniel BS. Cutaneous lupus erythematosus: a review of the literature. Int J Womens Dermatol. 2019;5(5):320-9.
- Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Hulot JS, Amoura Z, Leroux G, Lechat P, Funck-Brentano C, et al. Heart conduction disorders related to antimalarials toxicity: an analysis of electrocardiograms in 85 patients treated with hydroxychloroquine for connective tissue diseases. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(5):808–10.
- Chatre C, Roubille F, Vernhet H, Jorgensen C, Pers YM. Cardiac complications attributed to chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine: a systematic review of the literature. Drug Saf. 2018;41(10):919–31.
- 27. Pers YM, Padern G. Revisiting the cardiovascular risk of hydroxychloroquine in RA. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2020;16(12):671–2.
- 28. Mittal L, Zhang L, Feng R, Werth VP. Antimalarial drug toxicities in patients with cutaneous lupus and dermatomyositis: a retrospective cohort study. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2018;78(1):100–6.e1.
- 29. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Ramos-Casals M, Brito-Zeron P, Khamashta MA. Clinical efficacy and side effects of antimalarials in systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(1):20–8.
- 30. Marmor MF, Kellner U, Lai TY, Melles RB, Mieler WF. Recommendations on screening for chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine retinopathy (2016 revision). Ophthalmology. 2016;123(6):1386–94.
- 31. Huybrechts KF, Bateman BT, Zhu Y, Straub L, Mogun H, Kim SC, et al. Hydroxychloroquine early in pregnancy and risk of birth defects. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2021;224(3):290.e1–.e22.
- 32. Kuhn A, Aberer E, Bata-Csörgő Z, Caproni M, Dreher A, Frances C, et al. S2k guideline for treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus – guided by the European Dermatology Forum (EDF) in cooperation with the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology (EADV). J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2017;31(3):389–404.
- Fanouriakis A, Kostopoulou M, Alunno A, Aringer M, Bajema I, Boletis JN, et al. 2019 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2019;78(6):736–45.

608

# 29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

Anakinra – addition – EML and EMLc

# Anakinra

# ATC Code: L04AC03

# Proposal

Addition of anakinra to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) with macrophage activation syndrome.

#### Applicant

Paediatric Global Task Force for Musculoskeletal Health

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection: 100 mg/0.67 mL in prefilled syringe

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Anakinra had not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

In 2007, acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) was included on the first EMLc for the treatment of juvenile arthritis (1).

In 2019, the Expert Committee considered an application requesting inclusion of antitumour necrosis factor biological agents on the Model Lists for treatment of severe chronic inflammatory autoimmune disorders, including JIA (2). The Committee recognized that autoimmune disorders are highly debilitating and that there is a public health need for effective treatments for patients who do not respond to first-line treatments (e.g. methotrexate). On

the basis of the evidence presented and a positive benefit-to-harm profile of the medicines, the Committee recommended the addition of the antitumour necrosis factor antibody adalimumab, with a square box, with therapeutically equivalent alternatives limited to etanercept and infliximab for children (EMLc), and etanercept, infliximab, certolizumab pegol and golimumab for adults (EML). The Committee also recognized that these medicines have a substantial impact on the budget of health systems. However, the availability of several therapeutically equivalent alternatives and the increasing availability of biosimilar products could lead to more market competition.

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

JIA is the most common chronic rheumatic disease of childhood, estimated to affect one in 1000 children (3). JIA is characterized by joint inflammation of more than 6 weeks' duration, with onset before the age of 16 years and absence of another underlying cause (4, 5). It is an autoimmune, inflammatory joint disease, the cause of which remains poorly understood; both genetic and environmental factors are thought to contribute to its development (6). The age at onset is typically young, with a peak incidence between 1 and 3 years of age. The disease persists into adulthood in about 50% of cases (7). Worldwide, more than 2 million children are estimated to have JIA, with the greatest prevalence in Africa and Asia (8) where access to specialist care and treatment is limited (9) resulting in worse clinical outcomes (10). Untreated, JIA causes pain, joint damage and functional disability, and affects quality of life (5, 11, 12). JIA also results in children missing school, affects social and peer interactions which may cause long-term psychosocial difficulties and mental ill-health, and leads to higher unemployment in people with the condition than their healthy peers (11, 12).

The International League of Associations for Rheumatology recognizes seven distinct subtypes of JIA (4, 13). Systemic-onset JIA subtype is characterized by arthritis, fever, rash and systemic inflammation. Unlike other JIA subtypes, systemic-onset JIA is considered an autoinflammatory syndrome (14, 15). The proportion of children with JIA who have systemic-onset JIA ranges from less than 10% to about 50% depending on the population, with higher rates reported in low-resource settings such as India (16). The condition is typically a chronic illness affecting young children – the age at onset is typically 1–5 years (17).

Uncontrolled inflammation in systemic-onset JIA carries significant risk of high morbidity and potential mortality from macrophage activation syndrome, an uncontrolled cytokine storm (*15*, *18*, *19*). Death rates for children with systemic-onset JIA are higher than for children with other JIA forms in the United Kingdom (standardized mortality ratio 8.3, 95% confidence interval (CI) 2.7 to 19.4 versus 1.7, 95% CI 0.5 to 4.0) (*20*).

The social implications are also important; 36% of caregivers reported that they had reduced their hours of work or stopped working due to their child's systemic-onset JIA, and they lost on average 25 days of work a year (21).

To prevent joint destruction, chronic pain and disability, as well as extraarticular complications such as blindness from uveitis (as a complication of JIA), the treatment paradigm for JIA has changed: earlier, more aggressive therapy is now the standard of care with early introduction of disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) and, in many cases, biological agents (5, 22). Notably, initial treatment of polyarticular disease in JIA with non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs alone is no longer recommended (23). Corticosteroids play a role in the early management of most forms of JIA, but their use in long-term health conditions is limited because of their side-effects (24), including growth failure, cataracts and osteoporosis (12).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented a review of the available evidence on the use of anakinra for systemic-onset JIA and macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA, asserting that the most important way to treat macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA is to control the underlying inflammation caused by systemic-onset JIA.

#### Anakinra in systemic-onset JIA

A single-centre prospective study in the Netherlands evaluated anakinra as first-line monotherapy in 42 patients (age range 3.9-11.8 years) with active systemic-onset JIA (25). The median time to achieve clinically inactive disease was 33 days. For children who had inactive disease at 3 months, anakinra was tapered and ultimately stopped. At 1 year, 76% of all the children had inactive disease, and 52% who had stopped receiving medication earlier continued to have inactive disease. Factors positively associated with inactive disease at 1 year included high neutrophil count at baseline and complete response after 1 month of anakinra treatment. After 5 years of follow-up, 96% of all the patients had inactive disease, and 75% continued to have inactive disease while not receiving medication. Articular or extra-articular damage was reported in < 5% of patients and only 33% received glucocorticoids. Treatment with anakinra was equally effective in systemic-onset JIA patients without arthritis at disease onset. The authors concluded that "treatment to target" (where disease activity is accurately monitored and clinical remission is actively pursued by regular adjustment of therapy (26), starting with first-line, short-course monotherapy with anakinra, is a highly effective strategy to induce and sustain inactive disease and to prevent damage from the disease and glucocorticoids.

A single-centre retrospective study in Italy evaluated 25 patients with systemic-onset JIA treated with anakinra for at least 6 months (27). The median

age at disease onset was 5.8 years and the median age at start of treatment was 7.3 years. Of note, 14 patients were receiving concomitant glucocorticoids, nine patients were receiving concomitant disease modifying antirheumatic drugs (methotrexate or ciclosporin), and six patients had previously received biological agents (etanercept, abatacept, infliximab). After 6 months of anakinra treatment, 14 patients (56%) had clinically inactive disease, reached at a median of 2.1 months after the start of treatment. Clinically inactive disease was maintained in all 14 patients at median follow up of 2.8 years. Nine patients were able to withdraw from anakinra and five continued with anakinra monotherapy. No cases of macrophage activation syndrome were observed during anakinra treatment.

An international multicentre series analysed the use of anakinra as firstline disease-modifying therapy in 46 children with systemic-onset JIA (28). Of 46 patients meeting the inclusion criteria, anakinra monotherapy was used in 10 patients (22%), 21 received anakinra plus corticosteroids, five received anakinra plus DMARDs and 10 received anakinra plus corticosteroids and DMARDs. Outcomes were evaluated after a median follow-up of 14.5 months. Fever and rash resolved within 1 month in more than 95% of patients, while C-reactive protein and ferritin normalized within this time in more than 80% of patients. Active arthritis persisted at 1 month in 39% of patients, at 3 months in 27% and at more than 6 months of follow-up in 11% of patients. About 60% of patients, including eight of 10 receiving anakinra monotherapy, attained a complete response without escalating therapy. Eleven episodes of macrophage activation syndrome (in nine patients) were observed, six episodes at presentation and five episodes after starting anakinra during the study. Anakinra effectively managed five out of the six cases of macrophage activation syndrome at presentation; increasing doses of anakinra and additional agents such as steroids and ciclosporin A were used to control these episodes.

A retrospective case series from the United States of America (USA) evaluated the effect of anakinra on disease activity and corticosteroid dose in 33 patients with systemic-onset JIA (29). The median duration of systemic-onset JIA before treatment was 29 months and most patients had used more than one other medication before starting anakinra: prednisone (94%), methotrexate (76%), tumour necrosis factor inhibitors (61%), ciclosporin (36%) and cyclophosphamide (6%). Anakinra treatment was associated with reduction in corticosteroid dosage and erythrocyte sedimentation rate, and increases in haemoglobin and albumin, all indicators of response to therapy. Large joint arthritis counts decreased but not small joint counts after 3–4 months. More significant decreases in erythrocyte sedimentation rates from pre- to post-treatment (1–2 months) were seen in patients on high doses of anakinra than those on low doses, implying a dose–response effect. Fever and rash, present in seven cases before treatment, resolved in all cases. Eight patients had periods of arthritis, one developed macrophage activation syndrome and another Epstein–Barr virus infection.

A single-centre series study reported on four patients who received anakinra as first-line therapy for systemic-onset JIA (*30*). The median age of the patients was 4.6 years (range 2.75–9.25 years). The mean follow-up time was 13.5 months (range 2–50 months). Anakinra was started at doses from 1.5 to 4 mg/ kg for a median duration of 3 (range: 3–18) months. Two patients responded to anakinra monotherapy; two cases required corticosteroids. Normalized body temperature and the absence of evanescent rashes were achieved after a median of 4 (range: 2–10) days. The data suggest rapid efficacy of anakinra in early systemic-onset JIA with reduced treatment-related side-effects.

#### Macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA

A single-centre study evaluated the use of anakinra to treat macrophage activation syndrome in 15 paediatric patients (*31*), 13 with systemic-onset JIA and two with other autoinflammatory diseases. Nineteen episodes of macrophage activation syndrome were observed in the 15 patients. Anakinra (2 mg/kg a day) was started within a median of 1 day of admission. Clinical symptoms resolved within a median (minimum–maximum) of 2 (1–4) days of the introduction of anakinra and laboratory findings normalized within a median of 6 (4–9) days. Steroid treatment was stopped within a median of 10 (4–13) weeks of starting anakinra. Patients were followed for a median of 13 (6–24) months. Two patients developed recurrent macrophage activation syndrome episodes when the anakinra dose was reduced, while the other patients achieved remission.

A retrospective case series reported on 12 children with macrophage activation syndrome (eight due to systemic-onset JIA) in whom steroids, ciclosporin A and intravenous immunoglobulin were not working (*32*). Five patients required intensive care. All patients achieved remission of macrophage activation syndrome after addition of anakinra within a median of 13 (range 2–19) days. Corticosteroids were discontinued by 6 weeks in seven patients. Patients were followed for a median of 22 (2–40) months and all were in remission for macrophage activation syndrome at the final follow-up with excellent control of the underlying rheumatic disease.

# Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

Anakinra is used in systemic-onset JIA, macrophage activation syndrome and other autoinflammatory diseases such as cryopyrin-associated periodic fever syndrome (CAPS), rheumatoid arthritis and gout. In general, anakinra has a satisfactory safety profile.

An international multicentre series described the use of anakinra to treat 46 children with systemic-onset JIA (28). Adverse events observed included injection site reactions (20 cases), serious infections (three cases), elevation of liver enzymes (two cases), hepatitis (one case), and mild asymptomatic neutropenia (one case).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

A prospective, open-label, single-centre, clinical cohort study investigated the efficacy and safety of anakinra treatment for up to 5 years in 43 patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic fever syndrome. Safety was evaluated using adverse-event reports, laboratory assessments, vital signs and diary reports (33). In total, 1233 adverse events were reported during the study, with a yearly rate of 7.7 adverse events per patient. The event rate decreased over time, and dose escalation during the study did not affect the frequency of adverse events. The most frequently reported adverse events were the typical disease symptoms of cryopyrin-associated periodic fever syndrome such as headache and arthralgia. Injection site reactions occurred mainly during the first month of anakinra treatment. In total, 14 patients experienced 24 severe adverse events, all of which resolved during the study period. The most commonly reported serious adverse events were infections (13 events in seven patients; seven events in three patients younger than 2 years). The most common infections were pneumonia (three patients) and gastroenteritis (two patients). Anakinra had similar safety profiles in adults and children.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

# **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA and macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA are not currently available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

No comparative cost-effectiveness studies of anakinra in systemic-onset JIA are available.

# Availability

Anakinra does not yet have regulatory approval as a treatment for macrophage activation syndrome. It has regulatory approval for the treatment of systemiconset JIA in the following countries: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Cyprus, Czechia, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom and the USA.

# Other considerations

# Diagnosis and management

The diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA is based on defined criteria (19) validated in clinical practice (34, 35). Macrophage

activation syndrome is often triggered by infection, a particular concern in lowresource countries. It is also a life-threatening "cytokine storm" with a high risk of death (36). Access to specialist paediatric rheumatologists, multidisciplinary teams and treatments are challenges in many low-resource countries. Such inequity further contributes to the burden of disease and long-term disability (37). The diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome and evaluation of its severity, and monitoring of response to treatment are assessed using blood markers of inflammation (C-reactive protein and full blood counts) as well as specific markers of macrophage activation syndrome (ferritin, triglycerides, liver function tests and clotting profiles) (34, 35). Monitoring anakinra treatment follows the routine monitoring of systemic-onset JIA in acute disease flare-up, concomitant infection or where macrophage activation syndrome is suspected.

# Tuberculosis risk

Awareness of the risk of tuberculosis in patients treated with anakinra or tocilizumab and other biological DMARD medications is of particular importance in low resource settings with high rates of tuberculosis. This awareness is emphasized in consensus statements on JIA care in low-resource settings as level 3b evidence, strength A statement with 100% consensus (*37*). It is also recommended that patients with JIA with a positive tuberculosis test should receive appropriate prophylaxis for tuberculosis (as per current national and/ or international guidelines) at the start of biological therapy, during biological therapy and when a previously negative purified protein derivative test converts to positive at the mandatory annual tuberculosis screening, and if they have a new exposure to tuberculosis.

# **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that macrophage activation syndrome is a rare but serious condition involving excessive immune activation that can occur in children with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), and that it is associated with high short-term mortality, especially if untreated.

The Committee noted anakinra has not been approved for this indication by the European Medicines Agency or the US Food and Drug Administration. However, anakinra is suggested as an initial therapeutic option for patients with suspected macrophage activation syndrome according to the 2013 JIA guideline of the American College of Rheumatology guidelines (weak recommendation).

The Committee acknowledged that other treatments for systemiconset JIA recommended in guidelines and used in clinical practice include corticosteroids and disease-modifying anti-rheumatic agents (DMARDs), such as methotrexate, antitumour necrosis factor alpha agents (e.g. etanercept, adalimumab), Janus kinase inhibitors (e.g. tofacitinib) and anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibodies (e.g. tocilizumab, canakinumab). The Committee acknowledged that management of systemic-onset JIA with DMARD treatment has the potential to minimize the severe side-effects of corticosteroids and noted that antitumour necrosis factor agents were included on the EML and EMLc for juvenile idiopathic arthritis in 2019.

The Committee noted that the application reported data only from uncontrolled cohort studies or case series, most enrolling a small number of patients. The Committee agreed that extrapolating clinical benefits and potential harms of anakinra and comparing anakinra to other potentially relevant therapeutic alternatives based on this type of evidence was difficult. The Committee accepted that there may not be alternatives to quasi-experimental studies on macrophage activation syndrome given the rarity of the disease, but that this was not the case for systemic-onset JIA.

The Committee also noted that anakinra is often a highly priced medicine, with potentially important limitations in accessibility and affordability at the country level. The Committee also acknowledged the limitations in availability of specialist paediatric rheumatologists in some lower-resource settings.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the listing of anakinra for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA and macrophage activation syndrome because of the uncertainty in the estimates of clinical benefit and concerns about affordability and access to specialist medical services.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43887, accessed 6 June 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 June 2021).
- 3. Harris JG, Kessler EA, Verbsky JW. Update on the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2013;13(4):337–46.
- 4. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767–78.
- 5. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.
- Hinks A, Cobb J, Marion MC, Prahalad S, Sudman M, Bowes J, et al. Dense genotyping of immunerelated disease regions identifies 14 new susceptibility loci for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Nat Genet. 2013;45(6):664–9.
- 7. Sullivan DB, Cassidy JT, Petty RE. Pathogenic implications of age of onset in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1975;18(3):251–5.

- Dave M, Rankin J, Pearce M, Foster HE. Global prevalence estimates of three chronic musculoskeletal conditions: club foot, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatr Rheumatol. 2020;18(1):1–7.
- Chausset A, Pereira B, Echaubard S, Merlin E, Freychet C. Access to paediatric rheumatology care in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: what do we know? A systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(12):3633–44.
- 10. Consolaro A, Giancane G, Alongi A, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Aggarwal A, Al-Mayouf SM, et al. Phenotypic variability and disparities in treatment and outcomes of childhood arthritis throughout the world: an observational cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):255–63.
- 11. Glerup M, Rypdal V, Arnstad ED, Ekelund M, Peltoniemi S, Aalto K, et al. Long-term outcomes in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: eighteen years of follow-up in the population-based Nordic juvenile idiopathic arthritis cohort. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2020;72(4):507–16.
- 12. Coulson EJ, Hanson HJ, Foster HE. What does an adult rheumatologist need to know about juvenile idiopathic arthritis? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(12):2155–66.
- 13. Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(2):390–2.
- 14. Katsicas MM, Russo RAG. Systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Cimaz R, editor. Periodic and non-periodic fevers. Cham: SpringerNature; 2020:65–91.
- De Benedetti F, Schneider R. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Petty RE, Laxer RM, Lindsley CB, Wedderburn LR, editors. Textbook of pediatric rheumatology. Seventh edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016:205–16.
- Kunjir V, Venugopalan A, Chopra A. Profile of Indian patients with juvenile onset chronic inflammatory joint disease using the ILAR classification criteria for JIA: a community-based cohort study. J Rheumatol. 2010;37(8):1756–62.
- 17. Behrens EM, Beukelman T, Gallo L, Spangler J, Rosenkranz M, Arkachaisri T, et al. Evaluation of the presentation of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: data from the Pennsylvania Systemic Onset Juvenile Arthritis Registry (PASOJAR). J Rheumatol. 2008;35(2):343–8.
- 18. Dewoolkar M, Cimaz R, Chickermane PR, Khubchandani RP. Course, outcome and complications in children with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Indian J Pediatr. 2017;84(4):294–8.
- 19. Ravelli A, Grom AA, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Macrophage activation syndrome as part of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis, genetics, pathophysiology and treatment. Genes Immun. 2012;13(4):289–98.
- 20. Davies R, Southwood T, Kearsley-Fleet L, Lunt M, Baildam E, Beresford MW, et al. Mortality rates are increased in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(2):206–7.
- 21. Shenoi S, Horneff G, Cidon M, Ramanan AV, Kimura Y, Quartier P, et al. The burden of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis for patients and caregivers: an international survey and retrospective chart review. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2018;36(5):920–8.
- 22. Ringold S, Weiss PF, Beukelman T, DeWitt EM, Ilowite NT, Kimura Y, et al. 2013 update of the 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: recommendations for the medical therapy of children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and tuberculosis screening among children receiving biologic medications. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(10):2499–512.

 Ringold S, Angeles-Han ST, Beukelman T, Lovell D, Cuello CA, Becker ML, et al. 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation Guideline for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: therapeutic approaches for non-systemic polyarthritis, sacroiliitis, and enthesitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(6):717–34.

- 24. Batu ED. Glucocorticoid treatment in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatol Int. 2019;39(1): 13–27.
- 25. Ter Haar NM, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Swart JF, van Royen-Kerkhof A, El Idrissi A, Leek AP, et al. Treatment to target using recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist as first-line monotherapy in new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: results from a five-year follow-up study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2019;71(7):1163–73.
- 26. Ravelli A, Consolaro A, Horneff G, Laxer RM, Lovell DJ, Wulffraat NM, et al. Treating juvenile idiopathic arthritis to target: recommendations of an international task force. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(6):819–28.
- 27. Pardeo M, Pires Marafon D, Insalaco A, Bracaglia C, Nicolai R, Messia V, et al. Anakinra in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a single-center experience. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(8):1523–7.
- 28. Nigrovic PA, Mannion M, Prince FH, Zeft A, Rabinovich CE, van Rossum MA, et al. Anakinra as firstline disease-modifying therapy in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: report of forty-six patients from an international multicenter series. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2011;63(2):545–55.
- 29. Zeft A, Hollister R, LaFleur B, Sampath P, Soep J, McNally B, et al. Anakinra for systemic juvenile arthritis: the Rocky Mountain experience. J Clin Rheumatol. 2009;15(4):161–4.
- 30. Hedrich CM, Bruck N, Fiebig B, Gahr M. Anakinra: a safe and effective first-line treatment in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SoJIA). Rheumatol Int. 2012;32(11):3525–30.
- 31. Sönmez HE, Demir S, Bilginer Y, Özen S. Anakinra treatment in macrophage activation syndrome: a single center experience and systemic review of literature. Clin Rheumatol. 2018;37(12):3329–35.
- 32. Miettunen PM, Narendran A, Jayanthan A, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Successful treatment of severe paediatric rheumatic disease-associated macrophage activation syndrome with interleukin-1 inhibition following conventional immunosuppressive therapy: case series with 12 patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2011;50(2):417–9.
- Kullenberg T, Löfqvist M, Leinonen M, Goldbach-Mansky R, Olivecrona H. Long-term safety profile of anakinra in patients with severe cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016;55(8):1499–506.
- 34. Minoia F, Bovis F, Davì S, Horne A, Fischbach M, Frosch M, et al. Development and initial validation of the MS score for diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2019;78(10):1357–62.
- 35. Shimizu M, Mizuta M, Yasumi T, Iwata N, Okura Y, Kinjo N, et al. Validation of classification criteria of macrophage activation syndrome in Japanese patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(9):1412–5.
- 36. Boom V, Anton J, Lahdenne P, Quartier P, Ravelli A, Wulffraat NM, et al. Evidence-based diagnosis and treatment of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2015;13:55.
- 37. Scott C, Chan M, Slamang W, Okong'o L, Petty R, Laxer RM, et al. Juvenile arthritis management in less resourced countries (JAMLess): consensus recommendations from the cradle of humankind. Clin Rheumatol. 2019;38(2):563–75.

618

Tocilizumab – addition – EML and EMLc

#### Tocilizumab

ATC Code: L04AC07

# Proposal

Addition of tocilizumab on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).

# Applicant

Paediatric Global Musculoskeletal Task Force

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Injection (subcutaneous): 162 mg/0.9 mL Injection (intravenous): 80mg/4 mL, 200 mg/10 mL, 400 mg/20 mL

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Tocilizumab had not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists. In 2007, acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) was included on the first EMLc for the treatment of juvenile arthritis (1).

In 2019, the Expert Committee considered an application requesting inclusion of antitumour necrosis factor biologicals to the Model Lists for treatment of severe chronic inflammatory autoimmune disorders, including JIA (2). The Committee recognized that autoimmune disorders are highly debilitating and that there is a public health need for effective treatments for patients who do not respond to first-line treatments (e.g. methotrexate). On the basis of the evidence presented and a positive benefit-to-harm profile of the medicines, the Committee recommended the addition of the antitumour necrosis factor antibody adalimumab, with a square box, with therapeutically equivalent alternatives limited to etanercept and infliximab for children (EMLc), and etanercept, infliximab, certolizumab pegol and golimumab for adults (EML). The Committee also recognized that these medicines have a substantial impact on the budget of health systems. However, the availability of several therapeutically equivalent alternatives, and the increasing availability of biosimilar products could lead to more market competition.

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

JIA is the most common chronic rheumatic disease of childhood, estimated to affect one in 1000 children (3). JIA is characterized by joint inflammation of more than 6 weeks' duration, with onset before the age of 16 years and absence of another underlying cause (4, 5). It is an autoimmune, inflammatory joint disease, the cause of which remains poorly understood; both genetic and environmental factors are thought to contribute to its development (6). The age at onset is typically young, with a peak incidence between 1 and 3 years of age. The disease persists into adulthood in about 50% of cases (7). Worldwide, more than 2 million children are estimated to have JIA, with the greatest prevalence in Africa and Asia (8), where access to specialist care and treatment is limited (9) resulting in worse clinical outcomes (10). Untreated, JIA causes pain, joint damage and functional disability, and affects quality of life (5, 11, 12). JIA also results in children missing school, affects social and peer interactions which may cause long-term psychosocial difficulties and impaired mental health, and leads to higher unemployment in people with the condition than their healthy peers (11, 12).

The International League of Associations for Rheumatology recognizes seven distinct subtypes of JIA (4, 13). Systemic-onset JIA subtype is characterized by arthritis, fever, rash and systemic inflammation. Unlike other JIA subtypes, systemic-onset JIA is considered an autoinflammatory syndrome (14, 15). The proportion of children with JIA who have systemic-onset JIA ranges from less than 10% to about 50% depending on the population, with higher rates reported in low-resource settings such as India (16). The condition is typically a chronic illness affecting young children – the age at onset is typically 1–5 years (17).

Uncontrolled inflammation in systemic-onset JIA carries significant risk of high morbidity and potential mortality from macrophage activation syndrome, an uncontrolled cytokine storm (*15*, *18*, *19*). Death rates for children with systemic-onset JIA are higher than for children with other JIA forms in the United Kingdom (standardized mortality ratio 8.3, 95% confidence interval (CI) 2.7 to 19.4 versus 1.7, 95% CI 0.5 to 4.0) (*20*).

The social implications are also important; 36% of caregivers reported that they had reduced their hours of work or stopped working due to their child's systemic-onset JIA, and they lost on average 25 days of work a year (21).

To prevent joint destruction, chronic pain and disability, as well as extra-articular complications such as blindness from uveitis (as a complication of JIA), the treatment protocol for JIA has changed: earlier, more aggressive therapy is now the standard of care with early introduction of disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) and, in many cases, biological agents (5,22). Notably, initial treatment of polyarticular disease in JIA with non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug alone is no longer recommended (23). Corticosteroids play a role in the early management of most forms of JIA, but their use in long-term health conditions is limited because of their side-effects (24), including growth failure, cataracts and osteoporosis (12).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The criteria for response defined by the American College of Rheumatology Pediatric (ACR Pedi) are: at least a 30% improvement from baseline in three of six variables for juvenile arthritis, with no more than one remaining variable worsening by > 30%. The ACR Pedi 50, 70, 90 and 100 response definitions require 50%, 70%, 90% and 100% improvement, respectively, in at least three core variables with no more than one variable worsening by > 30% (*25*). These criteria are the reference standard for the assessment of response to therapy in JIA. The ACR Pedi 30 was adapted for use in clinical trials in systemic-onset JIA by adding, besides the six core variables, the demonstration of the absence of spiking fever (> 38.0 °C) in the week preceding the evaluation (*26*).

#### Randomized trials

A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, withdrawal phase III trial evaluated the efficacy and safety of tocilizumab in 56 children aged 2–19 years with systemic-onset JIA not responding to DMARDs and biological agents (27). After an initial open-label lead-in phase where all participants were administered tocilizumab (three intravenously administered doses of 8 mg/kg every 2 weeks), ACR Pedi 30, 50 and 70 responses were achieved by 51 (91%), 48 (86%) and 38 (68%) of patients, respectively. Thereafter, 43 participants who had achieved both an ACR Pedi 30 response and C-reactive protein concentrations of less than 5 mg/L were randomized to receive tocilizumab or placebo in a double-blind phase for 12 weeks (administration of placebo or tocilizumab 8 mg/kg every 2 weeks). Patients who remained on tocilizumab in the double-blind phase had sustained improvement in clinical measures of effectiveness and well-being. In contrast, most of those in the placebo group (18/23 patients) required rescue treatment. After the lead-in and double-blind phases, corticosteroid doses were

reduced by at least 50% in most patients. Patients responding to tocilizumab and needing further treatment were then enrolled in an open-label extension phase for at least 48 weeks. By week 48 of the open-label extension phase, ACR Pedi 30, 50 and 70 responses were achieved by 47 (98%), 45 (94%), 43 (90%) of 48 patients, respectively.

The multicentre, randomized TENDER trial evaluated the efficacy of tocilizumab compared with placebo in 112 children aged 2–17 years with persistent systemic-onset JIA for at least 6 months and inadequate response to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and glucocorticoids (26). Patients were randomized in a 2:1 ratio to either tocilizumab (12 mg/kg if weighing < 30 kg or 8 mg/kg if weighing  $\geq$  30 kg) or placebo intravenously every 2 weeks for 12 weeks. After 12 weeks, the primary endpoint of ACR Pedi 30 response and absence of fever was met by 85% (64/75) in the tocilizumab group and 24% (9/37) in the placebo group (P < 0.001). In this study, 84% of the patients in the treatment group had previously received a biological agent, including 55% who had received interleukin-1 inhibitors and 73% who had received antitumour necrosis factor agents. In the open-label extension phase, which included 73 patients randomized to receive tocilizumab and 37 patients randomized to placebo, 59% had an ACR Pedi 90 response and an absence of fever at week 52.

#### Other studies

A German registry study reported that over a 5-year period, 46 of 200 patients with systemic-onset JIA were treated with tocilizumab (28). A clinical response rate (defined as no symptoms and typical inflammatory markers) of 35% was reported in the first 12 weeks of treatment, and inactive disease/remission on medication (as defined in the Wallace criteria (29)) was reported in 75% of patients after 1 year.

Safety and effectiveness of tocilizumab were evaluated in 417 patients with systemic-onset JIA in real-world clinical settings in Japan (*30*). Fever and rash symptoms decreased from baseline to week 52 (from 54.6% to 5.6% and from 43.0% to 5.6%, respectively). At 4 weeks, 8 weeks and 52 weeks, 90.5%, 96.2% and 99.0% of patients, respectively, achieved normal levels of C-reactive protein (< 0.3 mg/dL).

A posthoc analysis of 83 patients treated with tocilizumab in the phase III TENDER trial (see above) reported significant catch-up growth (above normal height velocities of 6.6 cm/year), normalization of levels of insulin growth factor-1 and bone balance improvement favouring bone formation (*31*). In another analysis of 45 patients treated with tocilizumab, 38 (84%) had a clinical response with improved growth by week 144 (*32*). A significant improvement in change in height velocity mean standard deviation score was seen from 1 year before to 1 year after baseline (mean (standard deviation): -6.0 (4.0) to -2.5 (3.9);

P = 0.006). Reduction in corticosteroid exposure was significantly associated with improvement in height velocity. Eight patients (18%) reduced their corticosteroid dose by 50% and 26 (58%) reduced their corticosteroid dose by 70%.

A small single-centre cohort study assessed clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction in 39 children with JIA treated with intravenous tocilizumab, all of whom were offered a switch from intravenous to subcutaneous tocilizumab formulation. Of the nine patients who accepted the switch, eight were satisfied with subcutaneous administration in terms of quality of life, school success and reduced school absenteeism (*33*). Three months after switching, no deterioration in clinical (active joint counts, physician or patient visual analogue scale for pain and Juvenile Arthritis Disease Activity Score 71) and laboratory parameters (C-reactive protein, white blood cell count and platelets) was observed.

#### Comparison with other treatments

A systematic review and network meta-analysis of five trials evaluating biological agents for treatment of systemic JIA indicated that canakinumab and tocilizumab were more effective in achieving a clinical response than rilonacept, an interleukin-1 inhibitor (*34*). Specifically, people treated with rilonacept were less likely to respond than people treated with canakinumab (odds ratio (OR) 0.10, 95% CI 0.02 to 0.08) or tocilizumab (OR 0.12, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.44). However, the evidence was considered low quality because of indirect comparisons and heterogeneous eligibility criteria and study designs of the included trials.

A systematic review of 25 studies (including nine randomized controlled trials) investigated biological agents for treatment of JIA on over 4000 patients, including 1185 patients with systemic-onset JIA (*35*). The review concluded that systemic-onset JIA appeared to be less responsive to etanercept than tocilizumab over 12 weeks (etanercept: ACR Pedi 30 58–78% and tocilizumab: ACR30 85%). More similar responses were seen after 12 months (etanercept: ACR Pedi 30 87–98%).

A retrospective study of 245 patients with systemic-onset JIA treated with biological agents between 2000 and 2015 included in a German registry evaluated efficacy and safety of tocilizumab, interleukin 1 inhibitors (anakinra, canakinumab) and etanercept (36). ACR Pedi 30, 50, 70 and 90 responses were achieved more often over 24 months in patients treated with tocilizumab or interleukin 1 inhibitors than in those treated with etanercept. People who received tocilizumab were also less often treated with systemic glucocorticoids than those who received etanercept (44% versus 83%; P < 0.001). However, the characteristics of the patients treated with the various medicine were notably different (partly owing to the changing availability of different medicines over time) and, despite the use of a propensity score model based on, residual confounding cannot be excluded.

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

In the double-blind phase of the TENDER trial that randomized 75 patients with systemic-onset JIA to tocilizumab and 37 to placebo the most common adverse events were infections, with 60 events in the tocilizumab group (of which two were classified as severe; 3.4 infections per patient year) compared with 15 in the placebo group (none severe; 2.9 events per patient year). In the double-blind and extension periods combined, including patients initially assigned to placebo who made the transition to open-label tocilizumab, there were 39 serious adverse events (equivalent to 0.25 per patient year), including 18 serious infections (11 per 100 patient years). Adverse events led to discontinuation of tocilizumab in six patients (for two because of elevated aminotransferase levels). There were three episodes of macrophage activation syndrome, all of which resolved. Three deaths occurred during treatment, including one from probable streptococcal sepsis (26).

A postmarketing surveillance study in Japan followed 417 patients treated with tocilizumab in the real-world setting for 52 weeks (*30*). The study reported overall adverse event and serious adverse event rates of 224.3 per 100 patient years and 54.5 per 100 patient years, respectively, which were higher than previously reported in clinical trials. Adverse events leading to discontinuation of tocilizumab occurred in 4.1% of patients. The most common adverse events reported were infections (69.8 per 100 patient years). There were 74 serious infections in 55 patients, equivalent to 18.2 severe infections per 100 patient years. Two deaths occurred in the 52 weeks, one due to vasculitis with cardiac failure, and one due to Pseudomonas infection, interstitial lung disease and sepsis. In the case of seven episodes of macrophage activation syndrome (out of a total of 26 macrophage activation syndrome events), infections were thought to contribute.

In a German registry study of 46 patients treated with tocilizumab, adverse events were seen in 11/46 (24%) patients and severe adverse event in 2/46 (4%) patients. No cases of macrophage activation syndrome or death were reported. Discontinuation of treatment due to adverse events was reported in 5/46 (11%) patients (28).

#### Comparative safety

A German registry study on long-term surveillance of biological therapies used in treatment of systemic-onset JIA (260 patients, including 109 treated with tocilizumab) reported higher rates of serious adverse events for tocilizumab (21 per 100 patient years) and canakinumab (20 per 100 patient years) than for anakinra and etanercept (*37*). In particular, cytopenia and hepatic events occurred more frequently with tocilizumab and canakinumab. Rates of macrophage activation syndrome were 2.5 per 100 patient years with tocilizumab, compared with 3.2 per 100 patient years with canakinumab, 0.83 per 100 patient years with anakinra and 0.05 per 100 patient years with etanercept. Patients treated with tocilizumab and systemic steroids had significantly higher rates of adverse events and serious adverse events than those treated with tocilizumab without systemic steroids: 127.5 per 100 exposure years versus 79.4 per 100 exposure years for adverse events and 28.4 per 100 exposure years versus 15.6 per 100 exposure years for serious adverse events. The adverse events included 93 infectious events in 37 patients on tocilizumab (38 per 100 exposure years; relative risk (RR) 1.40, 95% CI 0.97 to 2.0). Cytopenia was reported in 22 cases, with higher rates in patients on tocilizumab (6.2 per 100 exposure years; RR 5.37, 95% CI 2.19 to 13.17), although these were not significantly higher after adjustment for the presence of systemic signs, and concomitant use of methotrexate and systemic steroids at baseline, and other variables.

# Tuberculosis

Patients for whom tocilizumab is considered should be tested for latent tuberculosis before starting the medicine due to a possible risk of tuberculosis reactivation. The American College of Rheumatology recommend that for children at low risk of tuberculosis with a negative initial screening test, testing should be repeated at any point if their risk of tuberculosis changes to moderate–high, as determined by regional infectious diseases guidelines (*22*). Awareness of tuberculosis risk in patients treated with tocilizumab and other biologic DMARD medications is particularly important in low-resource settings with high rates of tuberculosis (*38*).

A systematic review of the literature, which also covered clinical trials and postmarketing surveillance studies, assessed the risk of tuberculosis reactivation in patients with other inflammatory conditions who were receiving biological medicines, including tocilizumab (39). Data from clinical trials did not indicate a high risk of tuberculosis reactivation in patients receiving tocilizumab. A small number of cases of tuberculosis have been reported from real-world studies; however, these occurred in countries with a high tuberculosis risk, and they may have been primary tuberculosis infection, rather than reactivation of latent tuberculosis.

# Additional evidence (not in the application)

A possible increased risk of reactivation of hepatitis B virus has been reported in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and resolved or chronic hepatitis B virus infection treated with tocilizumab (40).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A Finnish study that compared the cost-effectiveness of tocilizumab with methotrexate and anakinra using a probabilistic Markov state transition model with a 16-year horizon reported that tocilizumab resulted in 4.47 quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) compared with 3.41 QALYs for methotrexate and 2.83 QALYs for anakinra (41). The incremental cost per additional QALY gained for treatment with tocilizumab was  $\in$  15 181 compared with methotrexate and  $\in$  14 496 compared with anakinra. Based on a willingness-to-pay threshold of  $\in$  20 000 per QALY gained, tocilizumab had a 93% probability of being cost-effective compared with methotrexate and 88% compared with anakinra. This probability increased to 100% with a willingness-to-pay threshold of  $\in$  27 000 per QALY.

A Canadian cost–effectiveness analysis concluded that tocilizumab with or without methotrexate had an incremental cost–utility ratio of Canadian \$ 69 787 per QALY gained compared with placebo with methotrexate and that tocilizumab would be a less costly and more effective treatment from a societal perspective (*42*).

A cost-utility analysis in Thailand assessed the effect of the addition of tocilizumab to standard treatment in patients with refractory systemic-onset JIA (43). Using a Markov model with life-time horizon to estimate life-time costs and health outcomes, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of standard treatment plus tocilizumab was US\$ 35 799 per QALY compared with standard treatment alone.

#### Availability

Tocilizumab has regulatory approval for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA from many regulatory agencies globally. The intravenous formulation is indicated for children aged 2 years and older, while the subcutaneous formulation is indicated for children aged 1 year and older and weighing at least 10 kg.

The primary patent for tocilizumab has expired and biosimilar products are reportedly in development.

Supply issues and shortages have been reported recently in some countries due to the use of tocilizumab as a novel treatment for COVID-19 and in clinical trials for the treatment of COVID-19.

#### Other considerations

The availability of a suitably trained workforce to diagnose and treat systemiconset JIA and manage potential adverse events of treatment is required. Access to specialist paediatric rheumatologists, multidisciplinary teams and treatments is a major challenge in many low-resource countries (*38*). Children treated with tocilizumab (or any biological DMARD) must have access to urgent paediatric rheumatology review and hospitalization if needed, should they develop complications such as infections. This is particularly important in low-resource countries where up to 50% of deaths in children aged 5-15 years are due to infection (44).

Intravenous administration of tocilizumab requires premedication, such as intravenous hydrocortisone and/or an antihistamine, to minimize the risk of an infusion reaction. It has been shown that children who are younger, shorter and lighter and who have high disease activity in the early stages of tocilizumab administration are more likely to experience infusion reactions (45).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is a subtype of JIA associated with serious morbidity in children, and a higher mortality rate than JIA. The Committee noted that the proportion of children with JIA who have systemic-onset JIA is varies across populations, with lower rates in Europe and higher rates among children in India and Japan.

The Committee acknowledged that management of systemic-onset JIA with disease modifying therapy has the potential to minimize the severe sideeffects of corticosteroids and noted that antitumour necrosis factor biological agents were included on the EML and EMLc for juvenile idiopathic arthritis in 2019. The Committee noted that while antitumour necrosis factor biological agents have proven efficacy in many JIA subtypes, they may be less effective for patients with systemic-onset JIA, and anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibodies such as tocilizumab are preferred as the first-line options in some guidance documents. However, the Committee considered that there was uncertainty on the comparative benefit of tocilizumab versus antitumour necrosis factor biological agents because of the low quality of the evidence presented.

The Committee noted that the evidence from the randomized trials presented in the application supported tocilizumab as an effective treatment for systemic-onset JIA. However, the Committee also noted that the evidence all came from trials and studies conducted in well-resourced settings, and that there was uncertainty about the generalizability of findings to lower-resourced settings. Furthermore, local factors (availability of specialist services such as doctors, nurses, urgent review and access to intravenous antibiotics), as well as patient factors (health literacy rates, distance and transport to the hospital, comorbid conditions, poverty and malnutrition) may have significant effects on the rates of adverse events in lower-resource settings.

The Committee noted that tocilizumab is also an expensive medicine, and more expensive than the other disease-modifying medicines included on the EML and EMLc, with potentially important limitations in accessibility and affordability at the country level.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of tocilizumab on the EML or EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA at this

time because of uncertainty in the estimates of clinical benefits, and concerns about limited accessibility and affordability of tocilizumab in different settings.

The Committee acknowledged that treatments for systemic-onset JIA recommended in guidance documents and used in clinical practice include corticosteroids and multiple disease-modifying anti-rheumatic agents, including methotrexate, antitumour necrosis factor biological agents, Janus kinase inhibitors and anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibodies. The Committee requested that a comprehensive evaluation of all medicines used to treat systemic-onset JIA be undertaken for consideration at the next Expert Committee meeting. A comprehensive evaluation of options to treat systemic-onset JIA will support countries to have a better understanding of the additional value and implications of the selection of potential medicines to treat systemic-onset JIA for their national EMLs.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43887, accessed 20 June 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 20 June 2021).
- 3. Harris JG, Kessler EA, Verbsky JW. Update on the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2013;13(4):337–46.
- 4. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767–78.
- 5. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.
- Hinks A, Cobb J, Marion MC, Prahalad S, Sudman M, Bowes J, et al. Dense genotyping of immunerelated disease regions identifies 14 new susceptibility loci for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Nat Genet. 2013;45(6):664–9.
- 7. Sullivan DB, Cassidy JT, Petty RE. Pathogenic implications of age of onset in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1975;18(3):251–5.
- 8. Dave M, Rankin J, Pearce M, Foster HE. Global prevalence estimates of three chronic musculoskeletal conditions: club foot, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatr Rheumatol. 2020;18(1):1–7.
- 9. Chausset A, Pereira B, Echaubard S, Merlin E, Freychet C. Access to paediatric rheumatology care in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: what do we know? A systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(12):3633–44.
- 10. Consolaro A, Giancane G, Alongi A, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Aggarwal A, Al-Mayouf SM, et al. Phenotypic variability and disparities in treatment and outcomes of childhood arthritis throughout the world: an observational cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):255–63.

628

11. Glerup M, Rypdal V, Arnstad ED, Ekelund M, Peltoniemi S, Aalto K, et al. Long-term outcomes in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: eighteen years of follow-up in the population-based Nordic juvenile idiopathic arthritis cohort. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2020;72(4):507–16.

- 12. Coulson EJ, Hanson HJ, Foster HE. What does an adult rheumatologist need to know about juvenile idiopathic arthritis? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(12):2155–66.
- 13. Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(2):390–2.
- 14. Katsicas MM, Russo RAG. Systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Cimaz R, editor. Periodic and non-periodic fevers. Cham: Springer Nature; 2020:65–91.
- De Benedetti F, Schneider R. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Petty RE, Laxer RM, Lindsley CB, Wedderburn LR, editors. Textbook of Pediatric Rheumatology. Seventh edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016:205–16.
- 16. Kunjir V, Venugopalan A, Chopra A. Profile of Indian patients with juvenile onset chronic inflammatory joint disease using the ILAR classification criteria for JIA: a community-based cohort study. J Rheumatol. 2010;37(8):1756–62.
- 17. Behrens EM, Beukelman T, Gallo L, Spangler J, Rosenkranz M, Arkachaisri T, et al. Evaluation of the presentation of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: data from the Pennsylvania Systemic Onset Juvenile Arthritis Registry (PASOJAR). J Rheumatol. 2008;35(2):343–8.
- 18. Dewoolkar M, Cimaz R, Chickermane PR, Khubchandani RP. Course, outcome and complications in children with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Indian J Pediatr. 2017;84(4):294–8.
- 19. Ravelli A, Grom AA, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Macrophage activation syndrome as part of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis, genetics, pathophysiology and treatment. Genes Immun. 2012;13(4):289–98.
- 20. Davies R, Southwood T, Kearsley-Fleet L, Lunt M, Baildam E, Beresford MW, et al. Mortality rates are increased in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(2):206–7.
- 21. Shenoi S, Horneff G, Cidon M, Ramanan AV, Kimura Y, Quartier P, et al. The burden of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis for patients and caregivers: an international survey and retrospective chart review. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2018;36(5):920–8.
- 22. Ringold S, Weiss PF, Beukelman T, DeWitt EM, Ilowite NT, Kimura Y, et al. 2013 update of the 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: recommendations for the medical therapy of children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and tuberculosis screening among children receiving biologic medications. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(10):2499–512.
- Ringold S, Angeles-Han ST, Beukelman T, Lovell D, Cuello CA, Becker ML, et al. 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation guideline for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: therapeutic approaches for non-systemic polyarthritis, sacroiliitis, and enthesitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(6):717–34.
- 24. Batu ED. Glucocorticoid treatment in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatol Int. 2019;39(1): 13–27.
- 25. Giannini EH, Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Lovell DJ, Felson DT, Martini A. Preliminary definition of improvement in juvenile arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40(7):1202–9.
- 26. De Benedetti F, Brunner HI, Ruperto N, Kenwright A, Wright S, Calvo I, et al. Randomized trial of tocilizumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(25):2385–95.

27. Yokota S, Imagawa T, Mori M, Miyamae T, Aihara Y, Takei S, et al. Efficacy and safety of tocilizumab in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, withdrawal phase III trial. Lancet. 2008;371(9617):998–1006.

- 28. Bielak M, Husmann E, Weyandt N, Haas JP, Hügle B, Horneff G, et al. IL-6 blockade in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis achievement of inactive disease and remission (data from the German AID-registry). Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2018;16(1):22.
- 29. Wallace CA, Ruperto N, Giannini E. Preliminary criteria for clinical remission for select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(11):2290–4.
- 30. Yokota S, Itoh Y, Morio T, Origasa H, Sumitomo N, Tomobe M, et al. Tocilizumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in a real-world clinical setting: results from 1 year of postmarketing surveillance follow-up of 417 patients in Japan. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(9):1654–60.
- 31. De Benedetti F, Brunner H, Ruperto N, Schneider R, Xavier R, Allen R, et al. Catch-up growth during tocilizumab therapy for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: results from a phase III trial. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67(3):840–8.
- 32. Miyamae T, Yokoya S, Yamanaka H, Yokota S. Effect of tocilizumab on growth impairment in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis with long-term corticosteroid therapy. Mod Rheumatol. 2014;24(4):567–71.
- Ayaz NA, Karadağ Ş G, Koç R, Demirkan FG, Çakmak F, Sönmez HE. Patient satisfaction and clinical effectiveness of switching from intravenous tocilizumab to subcutaneous tocilizumab in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: an observational study. Rheumatol Int. 2020;40(7):1111–6.
- Tarp S, Amarilyo G, Foeldvari I, Christensen R, Woo JM, Cohen N, et al. Efficacy and safety of biological agents for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016;55(4):669–79.
- 35. Davies R, Gaynor D, Hyrich KL, Pain CE. Efficacy of biologic therapy across individual juvenile idiopathic arthritis subtypes: a systematic review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;46(5):584–93.
- 36. Horneff G, Schulz AC, Klotsche J, Hospach A, Minden K, Foeldvari I, et al. Experience with etanercept, tocilizumab and interleukin-1 inhibitors in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients from the BIKER registry. Arthritis Res Ther. 2017;19(1):256.
- 37. Klein A, Klotsche J, Hügle B, Minden K, Hospach A, Weller-Heinemann F, et al. Long-term surveillance of biologic therapies in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: data from the German BIKER registry. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(9):2287–98.
- 38. Scott C, Chan M, Slamang W, Okong'o L, Petty R, Laxer RM, et al. Juvenile arthritis management in less resourced countries (JAMLess): consensus recommendations from the cradle of humankind. Clin Rheumatol. 2019;38(2):563–75.
- 39. Cantini F, Nannini C, Niccoli L, Petrone L, Ippolito G, Goletti D. Risk of tuberculosis reactivation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, and psoriatic arthritis receiving non-anti-TNF-targeted biologics. Mediators Inflamm. 2017;2017:8909834.
- 40. Chen LF, Mo YQ, Jing J, Ma JD, Zheng DH, Dai L. Short-course tocilizumab increases risk of hepatitis B virus reactivation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective clinical observation. Int J Rheum Dis. 2017;20(7):859–69.
- 41. Hallinen T, Soini EJ, Diamantopoulos A, Dejonckheere F, Vihervaara V, Hautala A, et al. THU0305 Cost-utility of tocilizumab in the treatment of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in finland. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;71(Suppl 3):258–9.
- 42. Vicente C, Sabapathy S, Formica L, Maturi B, Piwko C. Cost–utility analysis of tocilizumab in the treatment of active systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Value Health. 2013;16(3):A225.

- 43. Kittiratchakool N, Kulpokin D, Chanjam C, Vilaiyuk S, Charuvanij S, Phongsamart G, et al. Costutility and budget impact analysis of tocilizumab for the treatment of refractory systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in Thailand. BMJ Open. 2020;10(9):e037588.
- 44. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2017;390(10100):1151–210.
- 45. Yasuoka R, Iwata N, Abe N, Kohagura T, Nakaseko H, Shimizu M, et al. Risk factors for hypersensitivity reactions to tocilizumab introduction in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Mod Rheumatol. 2019;29(2):324–7.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

*Triamcinolone – addition – EML and EMLc* 

# Triamcinolone hexacetonide

ATC Code: H02AB08

# Proposal

Addition of triamcinolone hexacetonide on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).

# Applicant

Paediatric Global Musculoskeletal Task Force

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

# Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Intra-articular injection: 20 mg/mL in 2 mL vial and 20 mg/mL in 10 mL vial

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing with triamcinolone acetonide specified as an alternative.

While it is acknowledged that the available evidence indicates triamcinolone hexacetonide to have greater efficacy, triamcinolone acetonide is proposed as an alternative for use when triamcinolone hexacetonide is not available.

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Triamcinolone hexacetonide has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists for treatment of JIA.

Acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) was included in the complementary list of first EMLc in 2007 for JIA (1).

In 2019, the Expert Committee considered an application requesting inclusion of antitumour necrosis factor biological agents to the Model Lists for treatment of severe chronic inflammatory autoimmune disorders, including JIA (2). The Committee recognized that autoimmune disorders are highly debilitating and that there is a public health need for effective treatments for patients who do not respond to first-line treatments (e.g. methotrexate). On the basis of the evidence presented and a positive benefit-to-harm profile of the medicines, the Committee recommended the addition of the antitumour necrosis factor antibody adalimumab, with a square box, with therapeutically equivalent alternatives limited to etanercept and infliximab for children (EMLc), and etanercept, infliximab, certolizumab pegol and golimumab for adults (EML). The Committee also recognized that these medicines have a substantial impact on the budget of health systems. However, the availability of several therapeutically equivalent alternatives and the increasing availability of biosimilar products could lead to more market competition.

# Public health relevance (burden of disease)

JIA is the most common chronic rheumatic disease of childhood, estimated to affect one in 1000 children (3). Worldwide, more than 2 million children are estimated to have JIA, with the greatest prevalence in in Africa and Asia (4). JIA is characterized by joint inflammation of more than 6 weeks' duration, with onset before the age of 16 years and absence of another underlying cause (5, 6). It is an autoimmune, inflammatory joint disease, the cause of which remains poorly understood; both genetic and environmental factors are thought to contribute to its development (7). The age at onset is typically young, with a peak incidence between 1 and 3 years of age. The disease persists into adulthood in about 50% of cases (8).

Even in patients in whom the inflammatory disease resolves, joint or extra-articular damage (such as uveitis) is common. If not treated, JIA can result in irreversible sequelae that substantially affect quality of life (9). Uveitis affects up to 30% of children with JIA; if undiagnosed and untreated, this may cause irreversible loss of vision (10).

Access to appropriate care is a major problem for many children with JIA (11). Given shortages of paediatricians, especially in Asia and Africa, it is likely that many children with JIA have little or no access to specialist care and treatment, resulting in worse clinical outcomes in low-resource settings (12, 13).

The consequences of untreated JIA are known from historical studies that predate current treatment approaches. Essentially, untreated arthritis results in pain, fatigue, joint damage, functional disability and lower quality of life. It is likely that the burden of untreated JIA is high, especially in low-resource settings where the true burden is probably under-recognized (*14*, *15*).

The early introduction of disease modifying therapy is now the standard of care in high-resource settings (*16*, *17*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

Intra-articular corticosteroids are recommended in treatment guidelines as first-line therapy for oligoarticular forms of JIA (18–20). Triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide are the two most commonly used long-acting steroids for JIA treatment. The application summarized the results of clinical studies as evidence for the benefit of triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in the treatment of JIA.

Note: the terms pauciarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis or juvenile chronic arthritis, which are used below because they are found in some of the old studies cited, are equivalent to oligoarticular JIA.

A prospective study evaluated the effect of steroid injections in 40 children with pauciarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and other oligoarticular forms of inflammatory arthritis who had failed therapy with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (21). Active joints were injected with 20–40 mg of triamcinolone hexacetonide. In 50% of the joints of children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and 30% of children with other forms of inflammatory arthritis, a good response, defined as complete resolution (by clinical examination) of active joint inflammation, was maintained for 12 months. No statistically significant differences were found according to disease group, sex or administered dose.

A retrospective study of 194 children with all juvenile chronic arthritis subgroups reviewed treatment with either single or repeated triamcinolone hexacetonide injections (22). Efficacy and duration of benefits were evaluated after a mean duration of 3, 15, 30 and 64 weeks. Responses differed significantly among subgroups (P = 0.0001): efficacy of treatment lasted for 121 weeks in early-onset pauciarticular juvenile chronic arthritis type I, for 47 weeks in late-onset pauciarticular juvenile chronic arthritis type II and for 105 weeks in rheumatoid-factor negative polyarticular juvenile chronic arthritis. The study concluded that intra-articular triamcinolone hexacetonide was an effective therapy for all subgroups of juvenile chronic arthritis inflammatory joint disease.

An open-label, non-randomized, prospective study compared the efficacy and safety of intra-articular triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in 85 patients (130 joints) with JIA (23). The response, defined as the absence of inflammation or a decrease in joint inflammation leading to a reduction in the articular score of > 60% from baseline, was significantly higher with triamcinolone hexacetonide than with triamcinolone acetonide: 81.4% versus 53.3%, P = 0.001 at 6 months; 67.1% versus 43.3% at 12 months, P = 0.006; and 60.0% versus 33.3%, P = 0.002 at 24 months). The rate of relapse, defined as the reappearance of arthritis after a period of good response, was 2.7 times greater in the triamcinolone acetonide group than in the triamcinolone hexacetonide group (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.6 to 4.8). The time to relapse for triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide was compared in a retrospective study of 85 patients with JIA (227 joints) (24). After adjusting for sex, duration of illness or type of arthritis, triamcinolone hexacetonide was associated with a significantly longer time to relapse.

A double-blind trial compared the outcomes in 37 children with JIA (86 joints) who received an intra-articular injection of triamcinolone hexacetonide (up to 1 mg/kg per joint) or triamcinolone acetonide (up to 2 mg/kg per joint) in symmetrical joints (25). All joints improved after injection; however, after between 2 and 21 months of follow up, 21 (53.8%) joints injected with triamcinolone acetonide relapsed compared with six (15.4%) joints in the children who received triamcinolone hexacetonide. The rate of persisting or sustained response was higher with triamcinolone hexacetonide than with triamcinolone acetonide (89.7% versus 61.5%, P = 0.008 at 6 months; 84.6% versus 48.7%, P = 0.001 at 12 months; and 76.9% versus 38.5%, P = 0.001 at 24 months).

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The adverse event profiles of triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide are similar (6, 16, 23, 25, 26) and include: infection (septic arthritis at the injection site); subcutaneous atrophy caused by extravasation of the drug from the joint space; steroid lipodystrophy; postinjection pain; calcium deposition in the joint; systemic absorption; and avascular necrosis of the hip joint. Most adverse events can be reduced with good clinical technique and accurate needle placement; hence the recommendations that joint injections be performed by appropriately trained clinicians (16, 17).

A study on the safety of intra-articular triamcinolone hexacetonide for the treatment of coxitis in patients with JIA reported a prevalence of avascular necrosis of the femoral head of the hip joint of 2.4 cases per 100 patient years in children receiving both intra-articular and systemic corticosteroid treatment (27). Avascular necrosis of the hip was not observed in children who received only intra-articular corticosteroids.

The use of triamcinolone is contraindicated if any of the following are present: active tuberculosis, systemic mycoses, parasitoses, Herpes simplex keratitis and acute psychoses (due to the potential effect of the systemic absorption of steroids).

Additional evidence (not in the application) Not applicable

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of juvenile idiopathic arthritis are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The cost per vial of triamcinolone (hexacetonide or acetonide) varies across countries.

The cost of treatment per child depends on the number of joints to be injected and the size of each joint. The cost of treatment per patient is therefore highly variable and may differ depending on the cost of the medicines and which agent is used.

Triamcinolone hexacetonide has been found to be more effective and give a more sustained response compared with comparable doses of triamcinolone acetonide (23). Therefore, the application concluded that triamcinolone hexacetonide may be more cost-effective. However, no formal studies of the overall cost-effectiveness of intra-articular steroids in JIA were available.

The cost of untreated JIA is likely to be very high for patients, their families and society (28).

#### Availability

Shortages of triamcinolone hexacetonide are reported around the world.

In 2020, the Aristospan<sup>®</sup> brand of triamcinolone hexacetonide was listed as short in supply in the United States of America and has been discontinued on the US market by the Food and Drug Administration; however, it can be imported on an individual patient basis. Triamcinolone hexacetonide is not approved for use in Australia by the Therapeutic Goods Administration but can be accessed through the Special Access Scheme from international manufacturers. Canada recently approved triamcinolone hexacetonide for inclusion in their public drug formularies. Triamcinolone hexacetonide has marketing approval for intra-articular use in the United Kingdom and is included in the British National Formulary.

Triamcinolone acetonide has regulatory approval for intra-articular administration in Australia, New Zealand and the USA. It has marketing authorization in Canada, Sweden and Switzerland.

#### Other considerations

Joint injections are uncomfortable and analgesia with local, inhaled or general anaesthesia or sedation is recommended, especially if several joints are injected.

Imaging (such as ultrasound or radiographic image intensifier) can be used to optimize the accuracy of needle placement – especially for small joints or deep joints such as the hip or subtalar joints (16, 29).

It is recommended that triamcinolone be administered only by appropriately trained clinical personnel, experienced in using intra-articular steroids to treat active joint disease in JIA (6, 16-19, 30).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most common chronic rheumatic disease of childhood and is associated with significant morbidity, functional disability and reduced quality of life.

The Committee noted that the evidence presented supporting the use of intra-articular corticosteroids in JIA was limited and sub-optimal quality. Almost all studies were in high-income countries and specialized settings and the generalizability of findings to lower-resourced settings is uncertain. No data were included on the role and the comparative benefits and risks of triamcinolone hexacetonide compared with oral corticosteroids or disease modifying treatments such as methotrexate. Although, intra-articular steroids are considered an important tool in the treatment of JIA, the Committee noted that consensus is lacking about their efficacy and safety in different settings. The lack of consensus was also reflected in the discussion of the application during the meeting.

The Committee noted that administration of intra-articular corticosteroids for both adults and children is an invasive procedure associated with risks (such as infection) and requires specialized training and experience. Adjusting the corticosteroid dose based on the targeted anatomical joint is an important aspect of practice, as overdose of corticosteroids might lead to joint atrophy. Laboratory tests are needed to determine disease activity and risk of progression, and to evaluate a patient's suitability for treatment with intra-articular corticosteroid injections. The Committee also expressed concerns about the limited availability of specialist paediatric rheumatology care in low-and middle-income settings.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of triamcinolone hexacetonide on the EML or the EMLc at this time, because of the uncertain clinical benefit of triamcinolone hexacetonide given the low quality of evidence and its limited generalizability, and safety concerns associated with administration procedures.

However, recognizing the need for effective and safe treatments for JIA, the Committee requested that a comprehensive evaluation of all medicines used in the treatment of JIA be undertaken for consideration at the next Expert Committee meeting. References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43887, accessed 24 March 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 24 March 2021).
- 3. Harris JG, Kessler EA, Verbsky JW. Update on the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2013;13(4):337–46.
- Dave M, Rankin J, Pearce M, Foster HE. Global prevalence estimates of three chronic musculoskeletal conditions: club foot, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2020;18(1):49.
- 5. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767–78.
- 6. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.
- Hinks A, Cobb J, Marion MC, Prahalad S, Sudman M, Bowes J, et al. Dense genotyping of immunerelated disease regions identifies 14 new susceptibility loci for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Nat Genet. 2013;45(6):664–9.
- 8. Sullivan DB, Cassidy JT, Petty RE. Pathogenic implications of age of onset in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1975;18(3):251–5.
- 9. Glerup M, Rypdal V, Arnstad ED, Ekelund M, Peltoniemi S, Aalto K, et al. Long-term outcomes in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: eighteen years of follow-up in the population-based Nordic juvenile idiopathic arthritis cohort. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2020;72(4):507–16.
- 10. Clarke SL, Sen ES, Ramanan AV. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis-associated uveitis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2016;14(1):27.
- 11. Chausset A, Pereira B, Echaubard S, Merlin E, Freychet C. Access to paediatric rheumatology care in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: what do we know? A systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(12):3633–44.
- 12. Harper BD, Nganga W, Armstrong R, Forsyth KD, Ham HP, Keenan WJ, et al. Where are the paediatricians? An international survey to understand the global paediatric workforce. BMJ Paediatr Open. 2019;3(1).
- 13. Consolaro A, Giancane G, Alongi A, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Aggarwal A, Al-Mayouf SM, et al. Phenotypic variability and disparities in treatment and outcomes of childhood arthritis throughout the world: an observational cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):255–63.
- 14. Scott C, Chan M, Slamang W, Okong'o L, Petty R, Laxer RM, et al. Juvenile arthritis management in less resourced countries (JAMLess): consensus recommendations from the cradle of humankind. Clin Rheumatol. 2019;38(2):563–75.
- 15. Scott C, Webb K. Paediatric rheumatology in sub-Saharan Africa. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(8):1357–8.
- 16. Ringold S, Angeles-Han ST, Beukelman T, Lovell D, Cuello CA, Becker ML, et al. 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation guideline for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: therapeutic approaches for non-systemic polyarthritis, sacroiliitis, and enthesitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(6):717–34.

- 17. Davies K, Cleary G, Foster H, Hutchinson E, Baildam E. BSPAR standards of care for children and young people with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology. 2010;49(7):1406–8.
- Ravelli A, Consolaro A, Horneff G, Laxer RM, Lovell DJ, Wulffraat NM, et al. Treating juvenile idiopathic arthritis to target: recommendations of an international task force. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(6):819–28.
- 19. Beukelman T, Patkar NM, Saag KG, Tolleson-Rinehart S, Cron RQ, DeWitt EM, et al. 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: initiation and safety monitoring of therapeutic agents for the treatment of arthritis and systemic features. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(4):465–82.
- Hsu JJ, Lee TC, Sandborg CI. Chapter 107 clinical features and treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Firestein GS, Budd RC, Gabriel SE, McInnes IB, O'Dell JR, editors. Kelley and Firestein's textbook of rheumatology. 10th edition. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2017:1826–43.e6.
- 21. Allen RC, Gross KR, Laxer RM, Malleson PN, Beauchamp RD, Petty RE. Intraarticular triamcinolone hexacetonide in the management of chronic arthritis in children. Arthritis Rheum. 1986;29(8):997–1001.
- 22. Breit W, Frosch M, Meyer U, Heinecke A, Ganser G. A subgroup-specific evaluation of the efficacy of intraarticular triamcinolone hexacetonide in juvenile chronic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2000;27(11):2696–702.
- Zulian F, Martini G, Gobber D, Agosto C, Gigante C, Zacchello F. Comparison of intra-articular triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in oligoarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42(10):1254–9.
- Eberhard BA, Sison MC, Gottlieb BS, Ilowite NT. Comparison of the intraarticular effectiveness of triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in treatment of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(12):2507–12.
- Zulian F, Martini G, Gobber D, Plebani M, Zacchello F, Manners P. Triamcinolone acetonide and hexacetonide intra-articular treatment of symmetrical joints in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a double-blind trial. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2004;43(10):1288–91.
- 26. Schiappapietra B, Varnier G, Rosina S, Consolaro A, Martini A, Ravelli A. Glucocorticoids in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Neuroimmunomodulation. 2015;22(1–2):112–8.
- 27. Neidel J, Boehnke M, Küster RM. The efficacy and safety of intraarticular corticosteroid therapy for coxitis in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(6):1620–8.
- Moorthy LN, Peterson MG, Hassett AL, Lehman TJ. Burden of childhood-onset arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2010;8:20.
- 29. Foster HE, Brogan PA, editors. Paediatric rheumatology. Second edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2018.
- Lanni S, Bertamino M, Consolaro A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Galasso R, et al. Outcome and predicting factors of single and multiple intra-articular corticosteroid injections in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2011;50(9):1627–34.

# Section 30: DENTAL PREPARATIONS

Fluoride toothpaste – addition – EML and EMLc

## Fluoride toothpaste

## ATC Code: A01AA

#### Proposal

Addition of fluoride toothpaste on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention of dental caries.

The application also proposed the transfer of the current listing for sodium fluoride to a new section of the Model Lists for dental preparations.

#### Applicant

Benoit Varenne; WHO Oral Health Programme

#### WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

30. Dental preparations

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Fluoride toothpaste: paste, cream or gel containing between 1000 and 1500 parts per million (ppm) fluoride (any type)

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Sodium fluoride tablets were first included on the EML in 1979 for use as a prophylactic measure against dental caries where water supplies are not fluoridated (1).

In 1993, the listing was amended to accommodate other formulations. In 2005, a proposal to remove sodium fluoride was considered by the Expert Committee. In consideration of this proposal, the Committee noted that the

efficacy of topical fluoride preparations in preventing dental caries was firmly established. The Committee also noted that the selection of a suitable fluoride preparation should take into account local circumstances, including the fluoride content of drinking-water. Fluoride tablets are no longer recommended because of the risk of fluorosis when they are used in excess. The Committee therefore recommended that sodium fluoride be retained on the Model List, but that the description be changed to "in any appropriate topical formulation" (2). In 2007, sodium fluoride was included in the first edition of the EMLc (3).

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The 2017 Global Burden of Disease Study estimated that oral diseases affect close to 3.5 billion people worldwide, with caries of permanent teeth being the most common condition. Globally, 2.3 billion people are estimated to suffer from caries of permanent teeth and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth (4). Most caries are untreated. The caries burden is very unequal across populations within and between countries, with a clear socioeconomic gradient showing higher disease burden in deprived and disadvantaged populations who at the same time have less access to care, including preventive care (5). Caries is a disease of all age groups with an onset in early childhood and continued increase over the life course. Most significant increases in incidence are observed in adolescent age groups.

A high prevalence and severity of untreated dental caries is associated with low body mass index and stunting; it also leads to considerable absenteeism in school and the workplace.

The use of fluoride toothpaste is a public health intervention designed for self-care as part of daily toothbrushing for all age groups throughout the life course. Assessment of current use is challenging as it is dependent on personal oral hygiene habits and affordability/availability of fluoride toothpaste to the individual.

Use of fluoride toothpaste has been assessed in some populations and sub-groups using self-reported surveys which tend to over-report. Reported rates of toothbrushing with fluoride toothpaste vary: about 60% of children in the United States of America (6), 70% of all age groups in Portugal (7), 50% of children in Lithuania and 80% of children in Sweden (8). Similar rates are reported from the global school-based health survey (9, 10). In Burkina Faso, only 9% of 12-year-old children and 18% of 35–44-year-old adults reported use of fluoride toothpaste (11), and in rural China only 2% of children use fluoride toothpaste (12). Most of these studies only report toothbrushing behaviour and do not specifically ask about the use of fluoride toothpaste. Reliable data on use of fluoride toothpaste in adults are not available. In the absence of publicly available sales information from manufacturers, the global use of fluoride toothpaste has been estimated at around 1.5 billion people (13).

The low affordability of fluoride toothpaste is a significant obstacle to its use, particularly for poor populations in low- and middle-income countries (14). WHO conducted a survey on affordability of fluoride toothpaste for an upcoming WHO global oral health report, analysing data from 80 countries and using the WHO/Health Action International methodology. The survey documented a large variation in prices of fluoride toothpaste and high costs, particularly for the poorest 15% of the population in countries of sub-Saharan Africa, parts of south and south-east Asia and the Pacific Islands. In these countries, the cost of an annual supply of fluoride toothpaste per person would lead to catastrophic health expenditure.

Globally, the prevalence and incidence of untreated caries changed little between 1990 and 2017 (4), while the total number of individuals affected significantly increased due to population demographics, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. At the same time high-income countries observed a strong and consistent decrease in the caries burden, which coincided with the introduction of fluoride toothpaste to markets in the early 1960s (15). Increased use and affordability of fluoride toothpastes are expected to have similar effect on current populations in low- and middle-income countries (16). WHO global and regional policy documents and implementation manuals emphasize the importance of fluoride toothpaste and prioritize measures to improve quality, accessibility and affordability (17-20).

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The application presented a summary of available Cochrane and other systematic reviews as evidence for the effectiveness of fluoride toothpaste in children, including in prevention of early childhood caries, and adults.

A 2019 Cochrane review of 94 studies published between 1955 and 2014 evaluated the effects of toothpastes of different fluoride concentrations (between 1000 ppm and 2800 ppm) in preventing dental caries in children, adolescents and adults (*21*). The review findings supported the benefits of using fluoride toothpaste for the prevention of caries compared with non-fluoride toothpaste. For fluoride concentration, a dose–response effect was observed in children and adolescents. In adults, a fluoride concentration of 1000 ppm or 1100 ppm was found to reduce caries compared with non-fluoride toothpaste.

A 2003 Cochrane review and meta-analysis of 70 studies (42 300 participants) evaluated the effectiveness and safety of fluoride toothpastes in the prevention of dental caries in children. The main outcome of the studies was caries increment measured by the change in decayed, missing and filled tooth surfaces (D(M)FS) (22). The preventive fraction (the difference in mean caries increments between the treatment and control groups expressed as a percentage of the mean increment in the control group) in the permanent dentition using

a 1500 ppm fluoride toothpaste was 24% (95% confidence interval (CI) 21 to 28%; P < 0.0001). For a population with a caries increment of 2.6 D(M)FS per year, 1.6 children would need to brush with a fluoride toothpaste over 3 years to prevent one D(M)FS. The effect of fluoride toothpaste increased with higher baseline caries levels, higher fluoride concentration, higher frequency of use and supervised toothbrushing.

A 2004 Cochrane review of 12 studies compared the effectiveness of two topical fluoride treatments (e.g. toothpastes, mouth rinses, gels and varnishes) used together with one of the treatments alone (mainly toothpaste) when used for the prevention of dental caries in children (23). Compared to mouth rinses and gels, fluoride toothpastes had similar effectiveness for the prevention of dental caries in children.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of eight clinical trials evaluated the effects of fluoride toothpastes on the prevention of dental caries in the primary dentition of preschool children (24). A significant reduction in caries was observed at surface, tooth and individual levels for standard fluoride toothpastes (1000–1500 ppm) compared with placebo or no intervention. The authors concluded that the use of standard fluoride toothpastes should be recommended for use by preschool children.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

The harms and toxicity of fluoride toothpaste have been analysed by several high-quality Cochrane and other systematic reviews (21, 22, 25, 26). A recent WHO report reviewed the state of the evidence (27). In summary, the harms and toxicity of fluoride toothpaste are related to either toxicity through ingestion (unintentional/intentional) and to the risk of dental fluorosis (the hypomineralization of the enamel caused by ingestion of excessive fluoride levels during tooth formation).

The risk of acute fluoride toxicity occurs when young children ingest large amounts of toothpaste. There are no reports in the literature of such events. The US Food and Drug Administration stipulates that the total amount of fluoride in any package sold over the counter must not be more than 276 mg to prevent problems if the whole tube is swallowed. For the same reasons, the International Organization for Standardization standard ISO11609 limits the maximum fluoride content of a single-size container to 300 mg unless a larger container is used in a supervised community context and not sold over the counter (*28*).

While the main sources of ingested fluoride are water from areas with high concentrations of natural fluoride, food or certain teas, there is a risk of dental fluorosis from the ingestion of toothpaste by young children during tooth development (either of the deciduous or permanent teeth) (*26*).

Use of a pea-size amount of fluoride toothpaste was not associated with mild to moderate fluorosis and the concentration of fluoride in toothpaste was also not associated with fluorosis risk (15, 26, 27).

Other side-effects of fluoride toothpaste have not been reported apart from reactions to other ingredients of toothpaste formulations (e.g. surfactants).

Measures to reduce the risk of fluorosis include recommendations and package labelling requesting supervision of children while brushing, limiting the amount of toothpaste used and the limitation of total fluoride content in a single toothpaste container (*27*, *28*).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 1994 WHO technical report on fluorides and oral health details evidence for various delivery forms of fluorides, their dosage, risks, side-effects and monitoring (29). Since then, the evidence has been complemented by evolving science and consensus as documented in other WHO and WHO-led documents (27, 30, 31), Cochrane systematic reviews (21, 22, 25), and recommendations and clinical guidelines from the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and other major public health and professional organizations (32–35).

Their recommendations are summarized below.

- Toothpaste should contain at least 1000 ppm of fluoride (w/w 1000 mg fluoride/kg = 1 mg fluoride/g) and no more than 1500 ppm of fluoride.
- Special formulations for children are not recommended due to lack of evidence that toothpaste containing less than 1000 ppm fluoride prevents caries.
- For children younger than 3 years, begin brushing as soon as teeth erupt using no more than a smear of fluoride toothpaste the size of a rice grain of regular (adult) toothpaste. Parents/caregivers should brush children's teeth twice a day or as directed by a dentist or physician. Supervision is required to ensure that toothpaste slurry is not swallowed but spat out without subsequent rinsing.
- Children 3–6 years should brush teeth with a pea-sized amount of regular (adult) toothpaste. Parents/caregivers should brush children's teeth twice a day or as directed by a dentist or physician. Supervision is required to ensure that toothpaste slurry is not swallowed but spat out without subsequent rinsing.

 Children older than 6 years, adolescents and adults should brush teeth twice a day with a pea-sized amount of fluoride toothpaste without subsequent rinsing.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

As a personal preventive and hygiene activity, the cost of fluoride toothpaste and toothbrushes is an out-of-pocket expense, apart from limited community programmes for children where toothpaste cost is otherwise covered. Prices of toothpaste vary considerably between available brands, fluoride compounds and package sizes, as well as between countries. In a number of countries, taxes and import duties are markedly increasing consumer cost, leading to considerations around manufacturing an affordably priced toothpaste for low- and middleincome countries (*14*, *36*, *37*).

Fluoride toothpaste is considered to be cost-effective, with costs per usage (one toothbrushing event) of less than US\$ 0.05 or annual supply per person between US\$ 0.50 and US\$ 36.50 (38, 39). All school-based oral health programmes include some form of supervised or unsupervised toothbrushing with fluoride toothpaste. Several studies have demonstrated the high cost-effectiveness of such an approach (36, 40, 41).

The cost-effectiveness of fluoride toothpaste is still higher than other fluoride interventions, although there is no other intervention that combines cleaning of teeth and gums with caries-preventive measures. Toothbrushing without fluoride toothpaste has no caries-preventive effect (*38*).

## Availability

Fluoride toothpaste is available worldwide. In most countries, it is regulated as a cosmetic product (or medical device or medicinal product) for products containing up to 1500 ppm fluoride. Toothpastes with a higher fluoride concentration (up to 5000 ppm fluoride) are often regulated as medicines or medical products requiring a prescription.

## Other considerations

European Union regulation (42) specifies labelling for dosage and strengths of 21 different fluoride compounds in fluoride toothpaste: nicomethanol hydrofluoride, magnesium fluoride, ammonium monofluorophosphate, sodium monofluorophosphate, potassium monofluorophosphate, calcium monofluorophosphate, sodium fluoride, potassium fluoride, ammonium fluoride, aluminium fluoride, stannous fluoride, cetylamine hydrofluoride, 3(N-hexadecyl-N-2-hydroxyethylammonio)propylbis(2-hydroxyethyl) ammonium difluoride, N,N',N'-tris(polyoxyethylene)-N-hexadecylproyplenediamine dihydrofluoride, octadecenyl-ammonium fluoride, sodium fluorosilicate, potassium fluorosilicate, ammonium fluorosilicate, magnesium fluorosilicate, nicomethanol hydrofluoride and magnesium fluoride. The active ingredient must be listed. In addition, "For any toothpaste with compounds containing fluoride in a concentration of 0.1 to 0.15% calculated as F unless it is already labelled as contra-indicated for children (e.g. 'for adult use only') the following labelling is obligatory: 'Children of 6 years and younger use a pea-sized amount for supervised brushing to minimize swallowing. In case of intake of fluoride from other sources consult a dentist or doctor."

In the USA, all anticaries fluoride drug products for over-the-counter human use are regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration under Code of Federal Regulations Title 21 (*43*). The accepted active ingredients are:

- Sodium fluoride. Dentifrices containing 850–1150 ppm of theoretical total fluorine in the formulation.
- Sodium monofluorophosphate. Dentifrices containing 850–1150 ppm and 1500 ppm of theoretical total fluorine.
- Stannous fluoride. Dentifrices containing 850–1150 ppm of theoretical total fluorine.

To avoid acute toxicity from ingestion, packages should not contain more than 276 mg of total fluoride. There are restrictions on labelling and warnings about direct ingestion. Lower fluoride formulations are not authorized for use in the USA but are sold in other parts of the world, despite a lack of evidence that they prevent caries.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that dental caries of permanent teeth affects an estimated 2.3 billion people worldwide and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth. Inequalities throughout the life course and across populations in the low-, middle- and high-income countries were also noted, with the highest burden in countries with limited resources for caries prevention and control.

The Expert Committee noted that the use of fluoride toothpaste reduces caries lesions by one quarter compared with non-fluoride toothpaste, according to cumulative data across studies.

Despite fluoride toothpaste being a foundation of oral health prevention strategies, the Committee observed that the current listing for sodium fluoride in the EML and EMLc does not specify the form and concentration range of topical fluoride products used to prevent dental caries, specifying only "in any appropriate topical formulation". The Committee considered that to provide the best guidance for selection of products for national EMLs, the Model Lists should include specific recommendations of the different formulation types and ideal concentrations of fluoride-containing preparations. The Expert Committee took into account that fluoridated toothpaste containing between 1000 ppm and 1500 ppm fluoride is the standard strength recommended by WHO as a public oral health measure to prevent caries. The Committee also considered that to prevent the risk associated with ingestion of toothpaste, limitation of package size and maximum fluoride content for a single unit with a well defined concentration range would be helpful. Furthermore, the Committee noted the risk of substandard toothpastes being marketed with low or nil concentration of fluoride. Specifying fluoride amount and concentration can help national authorities to develop standards for production and to implement quality-control actions to identify marketed toothpastes that do not meet recommended fluoride standards. The Committee also noted that additional fluoride sources (e.g. water supply) should be taken into consideration by countries.

The Expert Committee recommended that the current listing for sodium fluoride be transferred from Section 27 (Vitamins and Minerals) to a new section of the EML and EMLc for dental preparations. The listing should be amended to "fluoride", noting that topical fluoride-containing preparations use fluoride in a variety of forms. Fluoride toothpaste is recommended for inclusion as a specifically defined formulation of fluoride (paste, cream or gel containing between 1000 ppm and 1500 ppm fluoride any type), because of its proven effectiveness in preventing dental caries and for better control of the quantity of fluoride contained in toothpaste. The Committee requested WHO to identify and define the alternative fluoride-containing formulations that are recommended for use in the prevention of dental caries so that these can be clearly indicated in the Model Lists in 2023 to provide clear guidance to countries.

## References

- The selection of essential drugs. Second report of a WHO Expert Committee, 1979 (including the 2nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines). Geneva: World Health Organization; 1979 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 641, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/41361, accessed 14 May 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2005 (including the 14th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 933; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43292, accessed 14 May 2021).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43887, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Bernabe E, Marcenes W, Hernandez CR, Bailey J, Abreu LG, Alipour V, et al. Global, regional, and national levels and trends in burden of oral conditions from 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease 2017 Study. J Dent Res. 2020;99(4):362–73.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 5. Peres MA, Macpherson LMD, Weyant RJ, Daly B, Venturelli R, Mathur MR, et al. Oral diseases: a global public health challenge. Lancet. 2019;394(10194):249–60.
- Thornton-Evans G, Junger ML, Lin M, Wei L, Espinoza L, Beltran-Aguilar E. Use of Toothpaste and toothbrushing patterns among children and adolescents – United States, 2013–2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019;68(4):87–90.
- Santos J, Antunes L, Namorado S, Kislaya I, João Santos A, Rodrigues AP, et al. Oral hygiene habits in Portugal: results from the first Health Examination Survey (INSEF 2015). Acta Odontol Scand. 2019;77(5):334–9.
- 8. Honkala S, Vereecken C, Niclasen B, Honkala E. Trends in toothbrushing in 20 countries/regions from 1994 to 2010. Eur J Public Health. 2015;25(Suppl 2):20–3.
- Peltzer K, Pengpid S. Health risk behaviour among in-school adolescents in the Philippines: trends between 2003, 2007 and 2011, a cross-sectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2015;13(1):73.
- 10. Ranasinghe S, Ramesh S, Jacobsen KH. Hygiene and mental health among middle school students in India and 11 other countries. J Infect Public Health. 2016;9(4):429–35.
- 11. Varenne B, Petersen PE, Ouattara S. Oral health behaviour of children and adults in urban and rural areas of Burkina Faso, Africa. Int Dent J. 2006;56(2):61–70.
- 12. Gao J, Ruan J, Zhao L, Zhou H, Huang R, Tian J. Oral health status and oral health knowledge, attitudes and behavior among rural children in Shaanxi, western China: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Oral Health. 2014;14:144.
- The challenge of oral disease a call for global action. Oral Health Atlas. Second edition. Geneva: FDI World Dental Federation; 2015 (https://www.fdiworlddental.org/oral-health-atlas, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 14. Goldman AS, Yee R, Holmgren CJ, Benzian H. Global affordability of fluoride toothpaste. Global Health. 2008;4:7.
- 15. Petersen PE, Bourgeois D, Ogawa H, Estupinan-Day S, Ndiaye C. The global burden of oral diseases and risks to oral health. Bull World Health Organ. 2005;83(9):661–9.
- 16. Whelton HP, Spencer AJ, Do LG, Rugg-Gunn AJ. Fluoride revolution and dental caries: evolution of policies for global use. J Dent Res. 2019;98(8):837–46.
- Resolution WHA60/R17. Oral health: action plan for promotion and integrated disease prevention. In: Sixtieth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 14–23 May 2007. Geneva: WorldHealth Organization; 2007 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/22590/A60\_R17-en.pdf?sequence=1, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Promoting oral health in Africa. Prevention and control of oral diseases and noma as part of essential noncommunicable disease interventions. Brazzaville: WorldHealth Organization Regional Offcie for Africa; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/205886, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 19. Regional Oral Health Strategy 2016–2025: Adressing oral diseases as part of noncommunicable diseases: report of the Secretariat. Brazzaville: WorldHealth Organization Regional Offcie for Africa; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250994, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 20. Strategy for oral health in South-East Asia 2013–2020. New Delhi: World Health Organization Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/205929, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 21. Walsh T, Worthington HV, Glenny AM, Marinho VC, Jeroncic A. Fluoride toothpastes of different concentrations for preventing dental caries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;3(3):CD007868.

22. Marinho VC, Higgins JP, Sheiham A, Logan S. Fluoride toothpastes for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;2003(1):CD002278.

- 23. Marinho VC, Higgins JP, Sheiham A, Logan S. Combinations of topical fluoride (toothpastes, mouthrinses, gels, varnishes) versus single topical fluoride for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;2004(1):CD002781.
- 24. dos Santos AP, Nadanovsky P, de Oliveira BH. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of fluoride toothpastes on the prevention of dental caries in the primary dentition of preschool children. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2013;41(1):1–12.
- 25. Walsh T, Worthington HV, Glenny AM, Appelbe P, Marinho VC, Shi X. Fluoride toothpastes of different concentrations for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010(1):CD007868.
- 26. Wong MC, Glenny AM, Tsang BW, Lo EC, Worthington HV, Marinho VC. Topical fluoride as a cause of dental fluorosis in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010(1):CD007693.
- Preventing disease through healthy environments. Inadequate or excess fluoride: a major public health concern. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/329484?show=full, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Dentistry Dentrifices Requirements, test methods and marking ISO 11609:2017. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization; 2017 (https://infostore.saiglobal.com/preview/ iso/updates2017/wk22/iso\_11609-2017\_2.pdf?sku=1917422, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Fluorides and oral health. Report of a WHO Expert Committee on oral health status and fluoride use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1994 (WHO Technical Report Series No. 846; https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39746, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 30. O'Mullane DM, Baez RJ, Jones S, Lennon MA, Petersen PE, Rugg-Gunn AJ, et al. Fluoride and oral health. Community Dent Health. 2016;33(2):69–99.
- Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Report of a joint FAO/WHO expert consultation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (WHO Technical Report Series No.916; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42665, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 32. Recommendations for using fluoride to prevent and control dental caries in the United States. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;50(Rr-14):1–42.
- American Dental Association Council on Scientific Affairs. Fluoride toothpaste use for young children. J Am Dent Assoc. 2014;145(2):190–1.
- 34. Public Health England. Delivering better oral health. an evidence-based toolkit for prevention. Third edition. London, Her Majesty's Stationery Office; 2017.
- 35. Wright JT, Hanson N, Ristic H, Whall CW, Estrich CG, Zentz RR. Fluoride toothpaste efficacy and safety in children younger than 6 years: a systematic review. J Am Dent Assoc. 2014;145(2):182–9.
- 36. Benzian H, Garg R, Monse B, Stauf N, Varenne B. Promoting oral health through programs in middle childhood and adolescence. In: Bundy DAP, Silva ND, Horton S, Jamison DT, Patton GC, editors. Child and adolescent health and development. Washington, DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank; 2017.
- 37. Fejerskov O, Nyvad B, Kidd E, editors. Dental caries: the disease and its clinical management. Third edition. Chichester: Wiley Blackwell; 2015.
- Niederman R, Ogunbodede E, Feres M. Dentistry. In: Debas HT, Donkor P, Gawande A, Jamison DT, Kruk ME, Mock CN, editors. Essential surgery: disease control priorities. Third edition (volume 1). Washington, DC: The World Bank; 2015.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

- 39. Wong MC, Clarkson J, Glenny AM, Lo EC, Marinho VC, Tsang BW, et al. Cochrane reviews on the benefits/risks of fluoride toothpastes. J Dent Res. 2011;90(5):573–9.
- 40. Atkins CY, Thomas TK, Lenaker D, Day GM, Hennessy TW, Meltzer MI. Cost–effectiveness of preventing dental caries and full mouth dental reconstructions among Alaska Native children in the Yukon-Kuskokwim delta region of Alaska. J Public Health Dent. 2016;76(3):228–40.
- 41. Murthy AK, Fareed N. Economic evaluation of school-based caries preventive programs: a systematic review. Community Dent Health. 2020;37(3):205–15.
- 42. Commission Regulation (EU) No 344/2013 of 4 April 2013 amending Annexes II, III, V and VI to Regulation (EC) No 1223/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council on cosmetic products (Text with EEA relevance) [online]. Brussels: European Union; 2013 (https://op.europa. eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/0ec06a83-a560-43bb-8607-f6690bdc06f7, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 43. CFR Code of Federal Regulations Title 21 [online]. Silever Spring, MD: US Food and Drug Administration; 1995 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm? CFRPart=355&showFR=1, accessed 14 May 2021).

Glass ionomer cement – addition – EML and EMLc

## **Glass ionomer cement**

ATC Code: N/A

#### Proposal

Addition of glass ionomer cement on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of dental caries in adults and children.

#### Applicant

Benoit Varenne; WHO Oral Health Programme

#### WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

30. Dental preparations

#### Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Single-use capsules: 0.4 g powder + 0.09 mL liquid

Multiuse bottle: powder + liquid

Powder (fluoroaluminosilicate glass) contains: 25–50% silicate, 20–40% aluminium oxide, 1–20% fluoride, 15–40% metal oxide, 0–15% phosphate, and polyacrylic acid powder and metals in minimal quantities. Liquid (aqueous) contains: 7–25% polybasic carboxylic acid and 45–60% polyacrylic acid.

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

**Background** (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration) Glass ionomer cement has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

#### Preventing caries with dental sealant

Clinical application of glass ionomer cement as a dental sealant can be performed as a preventive intervention without any caries present. The procedure can be carried out in a dental clinic or in a community setting such as in a school. The therapeutic effect does not require long-term retention of the bulk material, so monitoring is not essential. Minimal training for a dental assistant, dental therapist, dental nurse, dental hygienist or dentist is required, but non-dental health care workers have also been successfully trained to apply dental sealants.

Glass ionomer cement should be applied early after eruption of both primary and permanent molars. Treatment is done once per erupting molar tooth; for example, sealing four permanent first molars at around 6 years and sealing four permanent second molars at around 12 years.

## Treating carious lesions with a filling

Glass ionomer cement can be used to fill cavities using the atraumatic restorative treatment procedure and is endorsed by WHO for caries management across the life course (1, 2).

#### Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The 2017 Global Burden of Disease Study estimated that oral diseases affect close to 3.5 billion people worldwide, with caries of permanent teeth being the most common condition. Globally, 2.3 billion people are estimated to suffer from caries of permanent teeth and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth (3). Most caries are untreated. The caries burden is very unequal across populations within and between countries, with a clear socioeconomic gradient showing higher disease burden in deprived and disadvantaged populations who at the same time have less access to care, including preventive care (4). Caries is a disease of all age groups with an onset in early childhood and continued increase over the life course. Most significant increases in incidence are observed in adolescent age groups.

A high prevalence and severity of untreated dental caries is associated with low body mass index and stunting; it also leads to considerable absenteeism in school and the workplace. Good oral health is also vital for healthy ageing, playing a crucial role with regard to nutrition.

Globally, prevalence and incidence of untreated caries changed little between 1990 and 2017 (3), while the total number of individuals affected significantly increased due to population demographics, particularly in lowand middle-income countries. As most tooth decay is untreated, all forms of prevention are essential, including fluoride toothpaste and other forms of fluoride delivery, and dental sealants. After the onset of the carious process and cavitation, simple, cost-effective options for dental fillings need to be available to improve access and affordability of restorative dental care, and to avoid tooth extraction as the only other treatment option.

The Minamata Convention on Mercury requests a phase-down of dental amalgam, the current most commonly used dental filling material, due to its

mercury content (5, 6). In view of the burden of untreated caries and the need to expand coverage of basic dental services in the context of universal health coverage, the availability of glass ionomer cement as an alternative dental filling material is very important (5, 7). Moreover, glass ionomer cement is one of the public health tools to provide appropriate levels of fluoride for dental health and to address early childhood caries (1, 8, 9).

Glass ionomer cement is a dental material with widespread global use for treatment and prevention of dental caries. It has caries-preventive properties due to continued capture and release of fluoride ions that remineralize carious tooth structures and have a bacteriostatic effect. Glass ionomer cement results in lower rates of recurring caries compared with composite resin or amalgam fillings; its use also reduces the incidence of new cavities in other teeth. The simplicity of application makes glass ionomer cement suitable in primary health care and field settings, as it does not require specialized equipment including curing lights. Furthermore, since the application of glass ionomer cement does not require extensive dental training, it can be used to provide people living in rural and remote areas and otherwise disadvantaged populations with access to dental care for caries through the primary health care system (4). The hydrophilic nature of glass ionomer cement makes application in the field much easier where moisture control is a problem.

The expected health-related positive effects of glass ionomer cement sealants and fillings include: improved quality of life through reduction of pain and infection from caries, reduced absence from school and work and substantial cost savings for health systems.

## Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

The summary of evidence presented in the application was minimal.

A review of the cited references was conducted by the EML Secretariat and a summary is provided below.

A 2017 Cochrane systematic review of 38 trials (7924 participants) evaluated the effects of different types of fissure sealants in preventing caries in permanent teeth in children and adolescents (10). Within this review, three trials (905 participants) evaluated glass ionomer sealant versus no sealant and found inconclusive results. Two of the studies slightly favoured glass ionomers compared with no sealant (11, 12), while the third found no significant difference between sealant and no sealant (13). The authors concluded that there was insufficient evidence to judge the effectiveness of glass ionomer sealants. However, the review found that resin-based sealants reduced caries by between 11 and 51 percentage points compared with no sealant at 24 months (10).

A 2008 meta-analysis of six studies evaluated the effectiveness of dental sealants in preventing the progression of caries lesions in pits and fissures of

permanent teeth (14). Four studies used resin-based sealants and two used glass ionomer cement. For the individual studies combined, the median prevented fraction was 74.2% (range 61.6–100.0%). In the two glass ionomer cement studies, the median prevented fraction was 86.5% (range 73–100%). Overall, the median prevented fraction did not vary greatly by sealant type and always exceeded 60%. The authors concluded that the sealing of caries lesions reduces the probability of lesion progression. Because non-cavitated lesions accounted for almost 90% of teeth in this meta-analysis, the evidence supporting the sealing of non-cavitated lesions was stronger than that for the sealing of cavitated lesions.

A 2003 review of evidence for the use of pit and fissure sealants in preventing caries in the permanent dentition of children found that retention rates for glass ionomer cements (continued adherence of the sealant to the tooth) were lower than that of resin-based sealants, and the authors did not recommend their use (15).

Guidelines developed by the American Dental Association and the American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry included a meta-analysis of 10 randomized controlled trials comparing glass ionomer sealants with resin-based sealants. The analysis found that use of glass ionomer sealants may reduce the incidence of occlusal carious lesions in permanent molars by 37% after 2 to 3 years of follow-up (odds ratio (OR) 0.71, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.32 to 1.57) however, this difference was not statistically significant. In absolute terms, for a population with a caries baseline risk of 30%, use of a glass ionomer sealant would prevent 67 carious lesions out of 1000 sealant applications (95% CI 102 more to 179 fewer). In patients with non-cavitated occlusal carious lesions, glass ionomer sealants may increase the incidence of carious lesions by 53% (OR 1.53, 95% CI 0.58 to 4.07). Glass ionomer sealants were found to have a five times greater risk of loss of retention from the tooth compared with resin-based sealants (OR 5.06, 95% CI 1.81 to 14.13). The guideline panel determined the overall quality of the evidence for this comparison as very low owing to a serious risk of bias (unclear method for randomization and allocation concealment), inconsistency and imprecision (16).

A systematic review of six trials evaluated the caries-preventive effect of high-viscosity glass ionomer and resin-based fissure sealants on permanent teeth (17). No statistically significant differences were found between treatments at 48 months (risk ratio (RR) 0.62, 95% CI 0.31 to 1.21) but a borderline significant difference in favour of high-viscosity glass ionomer sealants was seen after 60 months (RR 0.29, 95% CI 0.09 to 0.95). However, the authors of the review noted that the included trials had a high risk of bias.

A randomized trial evaluated the effect of fluoride-releasing sealants on adjacent tooth surfaces in children aged 6–7 years (18). High-viscosity glass ionomer cement and resin-based sealants with fluoride were shown to protect against dental caries, with evidence that these materials also reduced the incidence of new caries on untreated teeth adjacent to the sealed tooth.

A 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the survival percentages of dental restorations of high-viscosity glass ionomer cement fillings placed in permanent teeth using an atraumatic restorative technique (19). Over the first 2 years, the survival percentages of single- and multiple-surface atraumatic restorative treatment restorations in primary posterior teeth were 94.3% and 65.4%, respectively. Over the first 3 years, the survival percentage for single-surface restorations was 87.1%. For multiple-surface restorations, the survival percentage over the first 5 years was 77%.

A systematic review of 38 trials including over 10 000 tooth restorations found no statistically significant differences in failure rates between highviscosity glass ionomer cement and amalgam restorations in single- and multiplesurface tooth cavities up to 6 years. However the trials had a high risk of bias due to inadequate randomization and allocation concealment, and a high risk of performance, detection and attrition bias (20).

Findings from an indirect treatment comparison of failure rates between high-viscosity glass ionomer cement and composite resin restorations in posterior permanent teeth found no statistically significant difference between restoration types (21). However, the limitations of the indirect comparison and the lack of direct comparative data were noted.

## Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

A recent Cochrane systematic review of pit and fissure sealants versus fluoride varnishes for preventing dental decay in children and adolescents included five trials that reported adverse events – four using resin-based sealants and one using resin-modified glass ionomer (22). No adverse effects were associated with the use of either sealant type or fluoride varnishes.

Various in vitro and in vivo studies of glass ionomer and resin sealants did not find any significant negative effects on pulp, dentine or gingival tissues and cells (23, 24).

## Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

## WHO guidelines

The WHO implementation manual on ending childhood dental caries (2) states the following in relation to glass ionomer cement.

## Placement of pit- and-fissure sealants in molar teeth can reduce the development and progression of new carious lesions into dentine. Different types of sealant material have their own merits, but glass ionomer sealants, which are less demanding on technique and moisture control, are often suitable for use in young children and in community settings.

If restoration of decayed primary teeth is required, preference should be given to the use of minimally invasive techniques such as atraumatic restorative treatment using adhesive materials such as glass ionomer cement, especially when provided in community settings. These techniques do not require a local anaesthetic injection and, being less invasive, are more "child-friendly". Survival of single surface atraumatic restorative treatment restorations using high-viscosity glass-ionomer in primary teeth is high and can be comparable to that of restoration placed using a conventional approach.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The average costs of dental sealant, atraumatic restorative treatment or conventional filling using glass ionomer cement are between US\$ 2 and US\$ 3 per application on multiple teeth (10, 25, 26). Average conventional fillings using other materials cost between  $\in$  8 and  $\in$  156 in Europe. However, comparability of data is limited and depends on the size and location of the filling and additional supplies or procedures included in the costing (27).

A cost-benefit study in China assessed the incremental cost of four different glass ionomer cement sealant types in preventing one cavity in permanent molars of schoolchildren. Costs ranged between US\$ 52 and US\$ 105 per 1000 sealants (28). The authors concluded that "ease of application, minimal technical and infrastructure requirements, and cost-effectiveness make glass ionomers a practicable option for governments making decisions under economic constraints".

## Availability

The application considered that it was safe to assume that glass ionomer cement was available worldwide and regulated as a medicinal product.

## Other considerations

Aspects of glass ionomer cement are standardized by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) under standard ISO 9917-1:2007, such as testing methodology, minimum requirements, labelling and other matters (29).

In the European Union, glass ionomer cement must conform to European Union Council Directive 93/42/EEC concerning medical devices and falls under Class IIa (*30*).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that dental caries of permanent teeth affects 2.3 billion people worldwide and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth. Inequalities throughout the life course and across populations in low-, middle- and high-income countries were also noted, with the highest burden in countries with limited resources for prevention and control. In those settings, primary oral health care is often limited by a lack of essential supplies such as filling material, leading to an unnecessary focus of treatment on tooth extraction, even when a tooth-saving filling would still be an option.

The Expert Committee also considered Resolution EB148/1 of the WHO Executive Board adopted in January 2021, in which Member States requested WHO to develop technical guidance on environmentally friendly and less invasive dentistry to support countries with their implementation of the Minamata Convention on Mercury, including supporting preventative programmes.

The Committee noted that high-viscosity glass isomer cement has caries-preventive properties due to continued capture and release of fluoride ions that remineralize carious tooth structures and have a bacteriostatic effect. In addition, glass isomer cement results in lower rates of recurring caries compared with composite resin or amalgam fillings, and reduces the incidence of new cavities in other teeth.

The Expert Committee took into consideration that dental sealants, including glass ionomer cement, have been shown to be highly effective in preventing dental caries. The main advantage of glass ionomer cement over other sealants is the simplicity of application. This makes glass ionomer cement suitable for use in atraumatic restorative treatment for dental caries by dentists and other health professionals in primary health care, and community and field settings outside of specialized dental clinics. The Committee noted that while other types of sealants or fillings (e.g. resin-based products) are at least equally as effective as glass ionomer cement sealants and potentially have better mechanical properties (e.g. adherence to the tooth), they require more specialized expertise and application techniques and conditions (e.g. need for electricity). Glass ionomer cement is particularly suitable for people who are unable to tolerate conventional invasive dental treatment, such as young children, elderly people and patients with mental health conditions who may have difficulty cooperating. In certain conditions, glass ionomer cements are indicated for everyone. From the mechanical and optical perspectives in dentistry, better material alternatives are available, namely resin composites or ceramics. However, these alternatives are sensitive to the application technique and are costly compared with glass ionomer cements.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

The Expert Committee, therefore, recommended including glass ionomer cement in the core list of the EML and EMLc in the new section for dental preparations on the basis of its relevant benefits in the prevention of dental caries and its advantages in atraumatic restorative treatment due to its ease of application, making it suitable for use in a wide range of settings. The Committee considered that inclusion of glass ionomer cement on the Model List, in alignment with WHO's technical guidance on oral health, will support countries to deliver an expanded range of interventions that will benefit the oral health of their populations.

## References

- Atraumatic restorative treatment (ART) for tooth decay: a global initiative 1998–2000. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1998 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/64325, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 2. Ending childhood dental caries. A WHO implementation manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330643, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Bernabe E, Marcenes W, Hernandez CR, Bailey J, Abreu LG, Alipour V, et al. Global, regional, and national levels and trends in burden of oral conditions from 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease 2017 Study. J Dent Res. 2020;99(4):362–73.
- 4. Peres MA, Macpherson LMD, Weyant RJ, Daly B, Venturelli R, Mathur MR, et al. Oral diseases: a global public health challenge. Lancet. 2019;394(10194):249–60.
- 5. Fisher J, Varenne B, Narvaez D, Vickers C. The Minamata Convention and the phase down of dental amalgam. Bull World Health Organ. 2018;96(6):436–8.
- 6. Minamata Convention on Mercury [online]. Geneva: United National Environment Programme; 2013 (http://mercuryconvention.org, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 7. Ferracane J, Fisher J, Eiselé JL, Fox CH. Ensuring the global availability of high-quality dental restorative materials. Adv Dent Res. 2013;25(1):41–5.
- Phantumvanit P, Makino Y, Ogawa H, Rugg-Gunn A, Moynihan P, Petersen PE, et al. WHO Global Consultation on Public Health Intervention against Early Childhood Caries. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2018;46(3):280–7.
- 9. Preventing disease through healthy environments. Inadequate or excess fluoride: a major public health concern. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/329484?show=full, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Ahovuo-Saloranta A, Forss H, Walsh T, Nordblad A, Mäkelä M, Worthington HV. Pit and fissure sealants for preventing dental decay in permanent teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7(7):CD001830.
- 11. Liu Y, Rong W, Zhao X, Wang M, Jiang Q, Wang W. [Caries prevention effect of resin based sealants and glass ionomor sealants.] Chinese journal of stomatology. 2014;49(4):199–203.
- 12. Tagliaferro EP, Pardi V, Ambrosano GM, Meneghim Mde C, da Silva SR, Pereira AC. Occlusal caries prevention in high and low risk schoolchildren. A clinical trial. Am J Dent. 2011;24(2):109–14.
- 13. Songpaisan Y, Bratthall D, Phantumvanit P, Somridhivej Y. Effects of glass ionomer cement, resinbased pit and fissure sealant and HF applications on occlusal caries in a developing country field trial. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 1995;23(1):25–9.

- 14. Griffin SO, Oong E, Kohn W, Vidakovic B, Gooch BF, Bader J, et al. The effectiveness of sealants in managing caries lesions. J Dent Res. 2008;87(2):169–74.
- 15. Locker D, Jokovic A, Kay EJ. Prevention. Part 8: the use of pit and fissure sealants in preventing caries in the permanent dentition of children. Br Dent J. 2003;195(7):375–8.
- 16. Wright JT, Crall JJ, Fontana M, Gillette EJ, Nový BB, Dhar V, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guideline for the use of pit-and-fissure sealants: A report of the American Dental Association and the American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. J Am Dent Assoc. 2016;147(8):672–82.e12.
- 17. Mickenautsch S, Yengopal V. Caries-preventive effect of high-viscosity glass ionomer and resinbased fissure sealants on permanent teeth: a systematic review of clinical trials. PLoS One. 2016;11(1):e0146512.
- Cagetti MG, Carta G, Cocco F, Sale S, Congiu G, Mura A, et al. Effect of fluoridated sealants on adjacent tooth surfaces: a 30-mo randomized clinical trial. J Dent Res. 2014;93(7 Suppl):59s–65s.
- 19. de Amorim RG, Frencken JE, Raggio DP, Chen X, Hu X, Leal SC. Survival percentages of atraumatic restorative treatment (ART) restorations and sealants in posterior teeth: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oral Investig. 2018;22(8):2703–25.
- Mickenautsch S, Yengopal V. Failure rate of high-viscosity GIC based ART compared with that of conventional amalgam restorations—evidence from an update of a systematic review. SADJ. 2012;67(7):329–31.
- 21. Mickenautsch S, Yengopal V. Failure rate of direct high-viscosity glass-ionomer versus hybrid resin composite restorations in posterior permanent teeth a systematic review. Open Dent J. 2015;9:438–48.
- 22. Kashbour W, Gupta P, Worthington HV, Boyers D. Pit and fissure sealants versus fluoride varnishes for preventing dental decay in the permanent teeth of children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;11:CD003067.
- 23. Kielbassa AM, Glockner G, Wolgin M, Glockner K. Systematic review on highly viscous glassionomer cement/resin coating restorations (Part I): do they merge Minamata Convention and minimum intervention dentistry? Quintessence Int. 2016;47(10):813–23.
- Kielbassa AM, Glockner G, Wolgin M, Glockner K. Systematic review on highly viscous glassionomer cement/resin coating restorations (Part II): do they merge Minamata Convention and minimum intervention dentistry? Quintessence Int. 2017;48(1):9–18.
- 25. Frencken JE, Leal SC, Navarro MF. Twenty-five-year atraumatic restorative treatment (ART) approach: a comprehensive overview. Clin Oral Investig. 2012;16(5):1337–46.
- Niederman R, Ogunbodede E, Feres M. Dentistry. In: Debas HT, Donkor P, Gawande A, Jamison DT, Kruk ME, Mock CN, editors. Essential surgery: disease control priorities. Third edition (volume 1). Washington, DC: The World Bank; 2015.
- 27. Tan SS, Ken Redekop W, Rutten FF. Costs and prices of single dental fillings in Europe: a microcosting study. Health Econ. 2008;17(1 Suppl):S83–93.
- 28. Goldman AS, Chen X, Fan M, Frencken JE. Cost–effectiveness, in a randomized trial, of glassionomer-based and resin sealant materials after 4 yr. Eur J Oral Sci. 2016;124(5):472–9.
- ISO 9917-1:2007. Dentistry water-based cements Part 1: Powder/liquid acid-base cements. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization; 2007 (https://www.iso.org/ standard/45818.html, accessed 14 May 2021).
- Directive 1993/42 Medical devices. Brussels: European Union; 1993 (https://www.eumonitor. eu/9353000/1/j9vvik7m1c3gyxp/vitgbghru3zs, accessed 14 May 2021).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

Silver diamine fluoride – addition – EML and EMLc

## Silver diamine fluoride

ATC Code: N/A

## Proposal

Addition of silver diamine fluoride on the core list of the EML and EMLc for arresting and preventing dental caries in adults and children.

## Applicant

Benoit Varenne; WHO Oral Health Programme

## WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

30. Dental preparations

## Dose form(s) & strength(s)

Solution for topical application: 38% w/v

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

Background (if relevant, e.g. resubmission, previous Expert Committee consideration)

Silver diamine fluoride solution has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

## Public health relevance (burden of disease)

The 2017 Global Burden of Disease Study estimated that oral diseases affect close to 3.5 billion people worldwide, with caries of permanent teeth being the most common condition. Globally, 2.3 billion people are estimated to suffer from caries of permanent teeth and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth (1). Most caries are untreated. The caries burden is very unequal across populations within and between countries, with a clear socioeconomic gradient showing higher disease burden in deprived

and disadvantaged populations who at the same time have less access to care, including preventive care (2). Caries is a disease of all age groups with an onset in early childhood and continued increase over the life course. Most significant increases in incidence are observed in adolescent age groups.

Silver diamine fluoride application can arrest the progression of existing dental caries and prevent the incidence of new dental caries by about 80% (3). The procedure is painless and arrested carious lesions do not cause further pain and infection (4,5). Silver diamine fluoride treatment is a minimally invasive alternative for treatment for dental caries and is also indicated for people unable to tolerate conventional treatment due to their specific condition (6,7). The expected health-related positive effects of silver diamine fluoride treatment include: improved quality of life through reduction of pain and infection from caries, reduced absence from school and work, and substantial cost savings for health systems.

Since the application of silver diamine fluoride on teeth does not require extensive dental training, it can be used to provide people living in rural and remote areas and otherwise disadvantaged populations with access to dental care for caries through the primary health care system (8-10).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits (from the application)

A 2019 umbrella review, summarizing 11 systematic reviews, evaluated the evidence on silver diamine fluoride for arresting and preventing root and coronal caries (4). Silver diamine fluoride was found to have a positive effect on prevention and arrest of coronal and root caries, consistently outperforming comparators (fluoride varnish, atraumatic restorative treatment and placebo). For root caries prevention, the prevented fraction was 25–71% higher for silver diamine fluoride than placebo. Compared with placebo, silver diamine fluoride was associated with higher prevented fraction for root caries arrest (100–725%), coronal caries prevention (70–78%) and coronal caries arrest (55–96%). Reported caries arrest rates for silver diamine fluoride in primary dentition ranged from 65% to 91%. In comparison, arrest rates for fluoride varnish were 38–44%, for glass ionomer cement were 39–82% and for placebo was 34%.

A 2020 review of systematic reviews found that topical application of silver diamine fluoride was effective in arresting dentinal caries in preschool children, with success rates from 79% to 90% reported in the trials (3).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of silver diamine fluoride for controlling caries progression in primary teeth found that application of silver diamine fluoride was more effective than other management options or placebo (*11*). At 12 months, arrest of caries with silver diamine fluoride was 66% higher (95% CI 41 to 91%; P < 0.00001) than with other active materials, and 154% higher (95% CI 67 to 85%; P < 0.00001) than with placebo.

A systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the effect of silver diamine fluoride in preventing caries in the primary dentition (12). After 2 years of follow-up, application of silver diamine fluoride led to a statistically significant reduction in the development of new dentinal carious lesions compared with placebo or no treatment (weighted mean difference 1.15, prevented fraction 77.5%), and fluoride varnish (weighted mean difference -0.43, prevented fraction 54.0%).

In older adults, silver diamine fluoride has also been found to be effective in arresting and preventing root caries (13, 14). Silver diamine fluoride was found to arrest root caries by 90% after 30 months of follow-up in a randomized trial of annual silver diamine fluoride application in elderly people living in the community (15).

#### Summary of evidence: harms (from the application)

No severe harm and adverse health outcomes due to the application of silver diamine fluoride have been reported.

Silver diamine fluoride application results in a black stain on the arrested dentine caries lesions, which may cause aesthetic concerns (12, 16-18). Tooth pain or gingival irritation, e.g. white lesions on mucosa, gum swelling and gum bleaching, rarely occurred after the application of silver diamine fluoride and subsided rapidly (16, 17). Gingival and mucosa reactions are generally related to insufficient compliance with application protocols, such as incidents of spill-over from the dental cavity.

As pharmacokinetic studies are difficult to conduct in children to test the silver disposition after topical silver diamine fluoride application, a pharmacokinetic model was developed to predict silver disposition in children. The findings showed that the topical application of silver diamine fluoride to prevent or arrest dental caries in children resulted in plasma and tissue silver concentrations lower than the toxic concentration (19).

#### Additional evidence (not in the application)

Not applicable

#### **WHO** guidelines

The WHO implementation manual on ending childhood dental caries (10) states the following in relation to silver diamine fluoride.

Carious lesions that have progressed to cavitation should be stabilized in order to preserve tooth structure and to prevent negative health consequences such as pain and infection. Annual or semi-annual application of 38% silver diamine fluoride (silver diamine fluoride) solution is effective in arresting the progression of cavitated carious lesions in primary teeth and in hardening these lesions. The effectiveness of silver diamine fluoride is greater with semi-annual application. This can minimize discomfort and potential pulp damage, and help to keep the caries-affected primary teeth symptomless and functional until their natural exfoliation. This is a painless, simple and low-cost treatment that can be widely promoted as an alternative to conventional invasive caries management techniques, especially in populations and areas with low accessibility to dental care services.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Topical application of silver diamine fluoride is considered a cost-effective method to prevent and manage dental caries. A study in the United States of America found that silver diamine fluoride treatment as a caries management strategy reduced dental care expenditures within the Medicaid programme by avoiding expensive caries treatment options and preventing complex restorative procedures (20). A German study found that silver diamine fluoride application was more cost-effective than chlorhexidine varnish and fluoride rinse. Silver diamine fluoride was considered the most effective and least costly option in populations with a high risk of caries (21).

To achieve a high preventive effect (80% prevented fraction), application twice a year is recommended at a total material cost of about US\$ 0.20 (22, 23). Since application can be done by community health workers or other trained personnel (non-dentists), the additional implementation costs of programmes using silver diamine fluoride are much lower than other dentist-led forms of fluoride applications.

The retail price of silver diamine fluoride varies by manufacturer and market. Different brands and can be ordered online through different retailers, depending on the country and location.

#### Availability

Silver diamine fluoride is approved as a class II medical device by the United States Food and Drug Administration.

Silver diamine fluoride is available in several countries around the world, including Argentina, Australia, India, Japan, Thailand and United States of America, and can be ordered online from global distributors. In some countries, national licensing is limited to silver diamine fluoride use for root caries and desensitization.

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that dental caries of permanent teeth affects 2.3 billion people worldwide and more than 530 million children suffer from caries of primary teeth. Inequalities throughout the life course and across populations in low-, middle- and high-income countries were also noted, with the highest burden in countries with limited resources for prevention and control.

The Expert Committee also noted that primary oral health care in low-resource settings is often limited by a lack of essential supplies such as filling materials or caries preventive agents, a situation which leads to an unnecessary focus of treatment on tooth extraction. The application of silver diamine fluoride is minimally invasive, pain free and particularly suitable for people unable to tolerate conventional invasive dental treatment, such as young children, elderly people, and patients with mental health conditions who may have difficulty cooperating.

The Expert Committee considered the evidence included in the application that showed silver diamine fluoride was effective in arresting dental caries in over 80% of cases, being more effective than other management options or placebo. In addition, with a 2-year follow-up, the application of silver diamine fluoride significantly reduced the development of new dentinal carious lesions compared with placebo, no treatment or fluoride varnish. The Committee noted that silver diamine fluoride also has antibacterial effects (from the silver) and remineralizing effects (from the fluoride).

Evidence on the benefits of silver diamine fluoride in the prevention of dental caries came from a meta-analysis of two small trials that showed positive effects of silver diamine fluoride compared with placebo or no treatment. However, the included trials had important limitations in study design and implementation, reducing the Committee's confidence in the estimates of the benefit of silver diamine fluoride in caries prevention.

The Committee took into account that topical silver diamine fluoride is considered a cost-effective method to prevent and manage dental caries. Moreover, since its application is possible by community health workers or other trained non-dentist personnel, the additional implementation costs of programmes using silver diamine fluoride are much lower than dentist-led fluoride applications.

The Expert Committee, therefore, recommended the listing of silver diamine fluoride on the core list of the EML and EMLc in the new section for dental preparations for the treatment of dental caries on the basis of its relevant benefits in arresting dental caries. The Committee considered that inclusion of silver diamine fluoride on the Model List, in alignment with WHO technical guidance on oral health, will support countries to deliver an expanded range of interventions that will benefit the oral health of their populations. The Committee did not recommend the listing of silver diamine fluoride for use in prevention due to uncertainty in the estimates of benefit. The Committee would welcome new evidence supporting its use in prevention of dental caries for consideration in the future.

## References

- 1. Bernabe E, Marcenes W, Hernandez CR, Bailey J, Abreu LG, Alipour V, et al. Global, regional, and national levels and trends in burden of oral conditions from 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease 2017 Study. J Dent Res. 2020;99(4):362–73.
- 2. Peres MA, Macpherson LMD, Weyant RJ, Daly B, Venturelli R, Mathur MR, et al. Oral diseases: a global public health challenge. Lancet. 2019;394(10194):249–60.
- 3. Schmoeckel J, Gorseta K, Splieth CH, Juric H. How to intervene in the caries process: early childhood caries a systematic review. Caries Res. 2020;54(2):102–12.
- 4. Seifo N, Cassie H, Radford JR, Innes NPT. Silver diamine fluoride for managing carious lesions: an umbrella review. BMC Oral Health. 2019;19(1):145.
- 5. Urquhart O, Tampi MP, Pilcher L, Slayton RL, Araujo MWB, Fontana M, et al. Nonrestorative treatments for caries: systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Dent Res. 2019;98(1):14–26.
- Crystal YO, Marghalani AA, Ureles SD, Wright JT, Sulyanto R, Divaris K, et al. Use of silver diamine fluoride for dental caries management in children and adolescents, including those with special health care needs. Pediatr Dent. 2017;39(5):135–45.
- Slayton RL, Urquhart O, Araujo MWB, Fontana M, Guzmán-Armstrong S, Nascimento MM, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guideline on nonrestorative treatments for carious lesions: a report from the American Dental Association. J Am Dent Assoc. 2018;149(10):837–49.e19.
- Preventing disease through healthy environments. Inadequate or excess fluoride: a major public health concern. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/329484?show=full, accessed 14 May 2021).
- WHO Expert Consultation on public health intervention against Early Childhood Caries. Report of a meeting, Bangkok, Thailand, 26–28 January 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/255627, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 10. Ending childhood dental caries. A WHO implementation manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330643, accessed 14 May 2021).
- 11. Chibinski AC, Wambier LM, Feltrin J, Loguercio AD, Wambier DS, Reis A. Silver Diamine fluoride has efficacy in controlling caries progression in primary teeth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Caries Res. 2017;51(5):527–41.
- 12. Oliveira BH, Rajendra A, Veitz-Keenan A, Niederman R. The effect of silver diamine fluoride in preventing caries in the primary dentition: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Caries Res. 2019;53(1):24–32.
- 13. Subbiah GK, Gopinathan NM. Is silver diamine fluoride effective in preventing and arresting caries in elderly adults? a systematic review. J Int Soc Prev Community Dent. 2018;8(3):191–9.
- 14. Zhang J, Sardana D, Li KY, Leung KCM, Lo ECM. Topical fluoride to prevent root caries: systematic review with network meta-analysis. J Dent Res. 2020;99(5):506–13.
- Li R, Lo EC, Liu BY, Wong MC, Chu CH. Randomized clinical trial on arresting dental root caries through silver diammine fluoride applications in community-dwelling elders. J Dent. 2016;51: 15–20.

16. Crystal YO, Niederman R. Evidence-based dentistry update on silver diamine fluoride. Dent Clin North Am. 2019;63(1):45–68.

- 17. Duangthip D, Fung MHT, Wong MCM, Chu CH, Lo ECM. Adverse effects of silver diamine fluoride treatment among preschool children. J Dent Res. 2018;97(4):395–401.
- Jiang M, Wong MCM, Chu CH, Dai L, Lo ECM. A 24-month randomized controlled trial on the success rates of restoring untreated and SDF-treated dentine caries lesions in primary teeth with the ART approach. J Dent. 2020;100:103435.
- Chen KF, Milgrom P, Lin YS. Silver diamine fluoride in children using physiologically based PK modeling. J Dent Res. 2020;99(8):907–13.
- Johhnson B, Serban N, Griffin PM, Tomar SL. Projecting the economic impact of silver diamine fluoride on caries treatment expenditures and outcomes in young U.S. children. J Public Health Dent. 2019;79(3):215–21.
- 21. Schwendicke F, Göstemeyer G. Cost-effectiveness of root caries preventive treatments. J Dent. 2017;56:58–64.
- Niederman R, Ogunbodede E, Feres M. Dentistry. In: Debas HT, Donkor P, Gawande A, Jamison DT, Kruk ME, Mock CN, editors. Essential surgery: disease control priorities. Third edition (volume 1). Washington, DC: The World Bank; 2015.
- 23. Rosenblatt A, Stamford TC, Niederman R. Silver diamine fluoride: a caries "silver-fluoride bullet". J Dent Res. 2009;88(2):116–25.

# Annex 1

# WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 22nd List (2021)

## **Explanatory notes**

The **core list** presents a list of minimum medicine needs for a basic health-care system, listing the most efficacious, safe and cost–effective medicines for priority conditions. Priority conditions are selected on the basis of current and estimated future public health relevance, and potential for safe and cost-effective treatment.

Where the **[c]** symbol is placed next to an individual medicine or strength of medicine on the core list it signifies that there is a specific indication for restricting its use to children.

The **complementary list** presents essential medicines for priority diseases, for which specialized diagnostic or monitoring facilities, and/or specialist medical care, and/or specialist training are needed. In case of doubt medicines may also be listed as complementary on the basis of consistent higher costs or less attractive cost-effectiveness in a variety of settings.

Where the **[c]** symbol is placed next to an individual medicine or strength of medicine on the complementary list it signifies that the medicine(s) require(s) specialist diagnostic or monitoring facilities, and/or specialist medical care, and/or specialist training for their use in children.

The square box symbol  $(\Box)$  is intended to indicate therapeutic alternatives to the listed medicine that may be considered for selection in national essential medicines lists. Alternatives may be individual medicines, or multiple medicines within a pharmacological class or chemical subgroup, defined at the 4th level of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification, which have similar clinical effectiveness and safety. The listed medicine should be the example of the class or subgroup for which there is the best evidence for effectiveness and safety. In some cases, this may be the first medicine that is licensed for marketing; in other instances, subsequently licensed compounds may be safer or more effective. Where there is no difference in terms of efficacy and safety data, the listed medicine should be the one that is generally available at the lowest price, based on international drug price information sources. Not all square box listings are applicable to medicine selection for children. A square box is not used to indicate alternative generic brands of the same small molecule medicines, nor alternative biosimilars of biological medicines. However, the selection and use of quality-assured generics and biosimilars of essential medicines at country level is recommended.

National lists should not use a similar symbol and should be specific in their final selection, which would depend on local availability and price.

The **a** symbol indicates that there is an age or weight restriction on use of the medicine; details for each medicine can be found in Table 1.1.

The presence of an entry on the Essential Medicines List carries no assurance as to pharmaceutical quality. It is the responsibility of the relevant national or regional drug regulatory authority to ensure that each product is of appropriate pharmaceutical quality (including stability) and that, when relevant, different products are interchangeable.

For recommendations and advice concerning all aspects of the quality assurance of medicines see the WHO website https://www.who.int/teams/ health-product-and-policy-standards/standards-and-specifications/norms-andstandards-for-pharmaceuticals/guidelines/quality-assurance.

Medicines and dosage forms are listed in alphabetical order within each section and the order of listing does not imply preference for one form over another. Standard treatment guidelines should be consulted for information on appropriate dosage forms.

The main terms used for dosage forms in the Essential Medicines List can be found in Table 1.2.

Definitions of many of these terms and pharmaceutical quality requirements applicable to the different categories are published in the current edition of *The International Pharmacopoeia*. https://www.who.int/teams/ health-product-and-policy-standards/standards-and-specifications/norms-and-standards-for-pharmaceuticals/pharmacopoeia.

#### 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES

## 1.1 General anaesthetics and oxygen

1.1.1 Inhalational medicines	
halothane	Inhalation.
isoflurane	Inhalation.
nitrous oxide	Inhalation.
oxygen	Inhalation (medical gas).
1.1.2 Injectable medicines	
ketamine	Injection: 50 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 10 mL vial.
<ul> <li>propofol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>thiopental</li> </ul>	<b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL; 20 mg/mL.
1.2 Local anaesthetics	
☐ bupivacaine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Injection:</b> 0.25%; 0.5% (hydrochloride) in vial. <b>Injection for spinal anaesthesia:</b> 0.5% (hydrochloride) in 4 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution.
☐ lidocaine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Injection: 1%; 2% (hydrochloride) in vial. Injection for spinal anaesthesia: 5% (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution. Topical forms: 2% to 4% (hydrochloride).
lidocaine + epinephrine (adrenaline)	Dental cartridge: 2% (hydrochloride) + epinephrine 1:80 000. Injection: 1%; 2% (hydrochloride or sulfate) + epinephrine 1:200 000 in vial.
Complementary List	
ephedrine	<i>Injection:</i> 30 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule. (For use in spinal anaesthesia during delivery, to prevent hypotension).

#### 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES (continued)

## 1.3 Preoperative medication and sedation for short-term procedures

atropine	Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.	
☐ midazolam Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Injection: 1 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL [c] . Tablet: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.	
morphine	<b>Injection:</b> 10 mg (sulfate or hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule.	
1.4 Medical gases		
oxygen*	Inhalation	
	For use in the management of hypoxaemia.	
	* No more than 30% oxygen should be used to initiate resuscitation of neonates less than or equal to 32 weeks of gestation.	
2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE		
2.1 Non-opioids and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medicines (NSAIMs)		
acetylsalicylic acid	Suppository: 50 mg to 150 mg.	
	Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.	
ibuprofen <b>a</b>	Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL.	
	Tablet: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.	
	<b>a</b> Not in children less than 3 months.	
paracetamol*	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 120 mg/5 mL; 125 mg/5 mL.	
	Suppository: 100 mg.	
	Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.	
	* Not recommended for anti-inflammatory use due to lack of proven benefit to that effect.	

#### 2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE (continued)

### 2.2 Opioid analgesics codeine Tablet: 30 mg (phosphate). fentanyl\* Transdermal patch: 12 micrograms/hr; 25 micrograms/hr; 50 micrograms/hr; 75 micrograms/hr; 100 micrograms/hr \* For the management of cancer pain □ morphine Granules (slow release; to mix with water): 20 mg to 200 mg (morphine sulfate). Therapeutic alternatives: hvdrormorphone Injection: 10 mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine oxycodone sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule. **Oral liquid:** 10 mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate)/5 mL. Tablet (slow release): 10 mg to 200mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate). Tablet (immediate release): 10 mg (morphine sulfate). **Complementary list** methadone\* Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg (hydrochloride) **Oral liquid:** 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride) Concentrate for oral liquid: 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL (hydrochloride) \* For the management of cancer pain. 2.3 Medicines for other common symptoms in palliative care

amitriptyline	Tablet: 10 mg; 25 mg; 75 mg.
cyclizine [c]	Injection: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg.
dexamethasone	Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 2 mg [c]; 4 mg.
diazepam	Injection: 5 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL. Rectal solution: 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 10 mg. Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg.

2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE (continued) docusate sodium Capsule: 100 mg. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. fluoxetine a Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride). **a** > 8 years. haloperidol Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL. Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 2mg; 5 mg. hyoscine butylbromide Injection: 20 mg/mL. hyoscine hydrobromide [c] Injection: 400 micrograms/mL; 600 micrograms/mL. Transdermal patches: 1 mg/72 hours. lactulose [c] Oral liquid: 3.1 to 3.7 g/5 mL. loperamide Solid oral dosage form: 2 mg. Injection: 5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. metoclopramide Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL. Solid oral form: 10 mg (hydrochloride). midazolam Injection: 1 mg/mL; 5 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 2mg/mL [c]. Solid oral dosage form: 7.5 mg; 15 mg. □ ondansetron **a** Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule (as hydrochloride). Therapeutic alternatives: - dolasetron Oral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL. - granisetron Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base. palonosetron  $|\mathbf{a}| > 1$  month. - tropisetron Oral liquid: 7.5 mg/5 mL. senna 3. ANTIALLERGICS AND MEDICINES USED IN ANAPHYLAXIS dexamethasone Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule. epinephrine (adrenaline) **Injection:** 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule. hydrocortisone Powder for injection: 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial.

# 3. ANTIALLERGICS AND MEDICINES USED IN ANAPHYLAXIS (continued)

□ loratadine*	Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL.
Therapeutic alternatives:	Tablet: 10 mg.
– cetirizine – fexofenadine	* There may be a role for sedating antihistamines for limited indications (EMLc).
□ prednisolone	Oral liquid: 5 mg/mL [c].
Therapeutic alternatives: – prednisone	<b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 25 mg.

# 4. ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS

# 4.1 Non-specific

charcoal, activated	Powder.
4.2 Specific	
acetylcysteine	Injection: 200 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 10% [c] ; 20% [c] .
atropine	Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.
calcium gluconate	Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
methylthioninium chloride (methylene blue)	<b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
naloxone	<b>Injection:</b> 400 micrograms (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule.
penicillamine	Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg.
potassium ferric hexacyano-ferrate(II) -2H₂O (Prussian blue)	Powder for oral administration.
sodium nitrite	Injection: 30 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
sodium thiosulfate	Injection: 250 mg/mL in 50 mL ampoule.
Complementary List	
deferoxamine	Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.
dimercaprol	Injection in oil: 50 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule.
fomepizole	<i>Injection:</i> 5 mg/mL (sulfate) in 20 mL ampoule or 1 g/mL (base) in 1.5 mL ampoule.
sodium calcium edetate	Injection: 200 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.
succimer	Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg.

5. ANTICONVULSANTS/ANTIEPILEPTICS carbamazepine Oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL. Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 200 mg. Tablet (scored): 100 mg; 200 mg. Gel or rectal solution: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL; 2 mL; 4 mL diazepam tubes. lamotrigine\* Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg. Tablet (chewable, dispersible): 2 mg; 5 mg; 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg. \* For use as adjunctive therapy for treatment-resistant partial or generalized seizures. □ lorazepam Injection: 2 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule; 4 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule. Therapeutic alternatives: - diazepam (injection) - midazolam (injection) magnesium sulfate\* **Injection:** 0.5 g/mL in 2 mL ampoule (equivalent to 1 g in 2 mL; 50% weight/volume); 0.5 g/mL in 10 mL ampoule (equivalent to 5 g in 10 mL; 50% weight/ volume). \* For use in eclampsia and severe pre-eclampsia and not for other convulsant disorders. midazolam Solution for oromucosal administration: 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL. Ampoule\*: 1 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL. \* For buccal administration when solution for oromucosal administration is not available. phenobarbital Injection: 200 mg/mL (sodium). Oral liquid: 15 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 15 mg to 100 mg. phenytoin Injection: 50 mg/mL (sodium) in 5 mL vial. Oral liquid: 25 mg to 30 mg/5 mL.\* Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg (sodium). Tablet (chewable): 50 mg. \* The presence of both 25 mg/5 mL and 30 mg/5 mL strengths on the same market would cause confusion in prescribing and dispensing and should be avoided.

### 5. ANTICONVULSANTS/ANTIEPILEPTICS (continued)

#### valproic acid Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL. (sodium valproate)\* Tablet (crushable): 100 mg. \* Avoid use in pregnancy and Tablet (enteric-coated): 200 mg; 500 mg. in women and girls of childbearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the hiah risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb. **Complementary List** ethosuximide Capsule: 250 mg. Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL. valproic acid Injection: 100 mg/mL in 4 mL ampoule; 100 mg/mL in (sodium valproate)\* 10 mL ampoule. \* Avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders

### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES

*in children exposed to valproate in the womb.* 

### 6.1 Anthelminthics

### 6.1.1 Intestinal anthelminthics

albendazole	Tablet (chewable): 400 mg.	
ivermectin	Tablet (scored): 3 mg.	
levamisole	Tablet: 50 mg; 150 mg (as hydrochloride).	
mebendazole	Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 500 mg.	
niclosamide	Tablet (chewable): 500 mg.	
praziquantel	Tablet: 150 mg; 600 mg.	
pyrantel	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/mL (as embonate or pamoate). <b>Tablet (chewable):</b> 250 mg (as embonate or pamoate).	

6.1.2 Antifilarials	
albendazole	Tablet (chewable): 400 mg.
diethylcarbamazine	Tablet: 50 mg; 100 mg (dihydrogen citrate).
ivermectin	Tablet (scored): 3 mg.
6.1.3 Antischistosomals and	other antitrematode medicines
praziquantel	Tablet: 600 mg.
triclabendazole	Tablet: 250 mg.
Complementary List	
oxamniquine*	<b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg.
	Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL.
	* For use when praziquantel treatment fails.
6.1.4 Cysticidal medicines	
Complementary List	
albendazole	Tablet (chewable): 400 mg.
mebendazole	Tablet (chewable): 500 mg.
praziquantel	<b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg; 600 mg.
proziguanci	<b>radict.</b> 500 mg.

#### 6.2 Antibacterials

To assist in the development of tools for antibiotic stewardship at local, national and global levels and to reduce antimicrobial resistance, the Access, Watch, Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics was developed – where antibiotics are classified into different groups to emphasize the importance of their appropriate use.

### ACCESS GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotics that have activity against a wide range of commonly encountered susceptible pathogens while also showing lower resistance potential than antibiotics in the other groups. Selected Access group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for infectious syndromes reviewed by the EML Expert Committee and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists to improve access and promote appropriate use. They are essential antibiotics that should be widely available, affordable and quality assured.

### WATCH GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotic classes that have higher resistance potential and includes most of the highest priority agents among the Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine and/or antibiotics that are at relatively high risk of selection of bacterial resistance. These medicines should be prioritized as key targets of stewardship programs and monitoring. Selected Watch group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for a limited number of specific infectious syndromes and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists.

## **RESERVE GROUP ANTIBIOTICS**

This group includes antibiotics and antibiotic classes that should be reserved for treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multi-drug-resistant organisms. Reserve group antibiotics should be treated as "last resort" options. Selected Reserve group antibiotics are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists when they have a favourable risk-benefit profile and proven activity against "Critical Priority" or "High Priority" pathogens identified by the WHO Priority Pathogens List, notably carbapenem resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*. These antibiotics should be accessible, but their use should be tailored to highly specific patients and settings, when all alternatives have failed or are not suitable. These medicines could be protected and prioritized as key targets of national and international stewardship programs involving monitoring and utilization reporting, to preserve their effectiveness.

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)		
6.2.1 Access group antibiotic	S	
amikacin	Injection: 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– High-risk febrile neutropenia	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (severe)</li> </ul>	
amoxicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 m in vial.	ng; 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium)
	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL (as trihydrate) <b>[c]</b> .	
	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 1g (as trihydrate).	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)</li> </ul>	- Acute bacterial meningitis
	<ul> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]</li> </ul>	
	- Complicated severe acute malnutrition [c]	
	- Exacerbations of COPD	
	– Otitis media	
	– Pharyngitis	
	<ul> <li>Progressive apical dental abscess</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>	
	– Sinusitis	
	- Uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition [c]	

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

amoxicillin + clavulanic acid	<ul> <li>Powder for injection: 500 mg (as sodium) + 100 mg (as potassium salt); 1000 mg (as sodium) + 200 mg (as potassium salt) in vial.</li> <li>Powder for oral liquid: 125 mg (as trihydrate) + 31.25 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL; 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL [C].</li> <li>Tablet: 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt).</li> </ul>	
	FIRST CHOICE - Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c] - Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate) - Exacerbations of COPD - Hospital acquired pneumonia - Low-risk febrile neutropenia - Lower urinary tract infections - Sinusitis - Skin and soft tissue infections	<ul> <li>SECOND CHOICE</li> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Community-acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Otitis media</li> <li>Surgical prophylaxis</li> </ul>
ampicillin	Powder for injection: 500 m	ng; 1 g (as sodium) in vial.
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections [c]</li> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition [c]</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>	– Acute bacterial meningitis

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN	IES (continued)	
benzathine benzylpenicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1.2 million IU ( $\approx$ 900 mg) in vial [c]; 2.4 million IU ( $\approx$ 1.8 g) in vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE - Syphilis	SECOND CHOICE
benzylpenicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 600 mg (= 1 million IU); 3 g (= 5 million IU) (sodium or potassium salt) in vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis [c]</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition [c]</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>	
	– Syphilis	
cefalexin	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL (anhydrous).	
	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg (as monohydrate).	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	- Skin and soft tissue	- Exacerbations of COPD
	infections	– Pharyngitis
cefazolin a	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as sodium salt) in vial. <ul> <li>a) &gt; 1 month.</li> </ul>	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Surgical prophylaxis	- Bone and joint infections
chloramphenicol	Capsule: 250 mg.	
	<b>Oily suspension for injection*:</b> 0.5 g/mL (as sodium succinate) in 2 mL ampoule.	
	* Only for the presumptive treatment of epidemic meningitis in children older than 2 years and in adults.	
	Oral liquid: 150 mg/5 mL (as palmitate).	
	Powder for injection: 1 g (sodium succinate) in vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
		- Acute bacterial meningit

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) clindamycin Capsule: 150 mg (as hydrochloride). Injection: 150 mg/mL (as phosphate); 600 mg/4 mL (as phosphate); 900 mg/6 mL (as phosphate). Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as palmitate) [c]. **FIRST CHOICE** SECOND CHOICE - Necrotizing fasciitis - Bone and joint infections □ cloxacillin\* Capsule: 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium). Therapeutic alternatives: Powder for injection: 500 mg (as sodium) in vial. – 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical Powder for oral liquid: 125 mg/5 mL (as sodium). subgroup (J01CF Beta-\* cloxacillin, dicloxacillin and flucloxacillin are preferred for oral lactamase resistant administration due to better bioavailability. penicillins) FIRST CHOICE SECOND CHOICE - Bone and joint infections - Sepsis in neonates and children [c] - Skin and soft tissue infections Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL [c]; 50 mg/5 mL doxycycline a (anhydrous) [c]. Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial. Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg [c]; 100 mg (as hyclate). **a** Use in children <8 years only for life-threatening infections when no alternative exists. **FIRST CHOICE** SECOND CHOICE - Cholera [c] - Cholera - Sexually transmitted - Community acquired infection due to pneumonia (mild to Chlamydia trachomatis *moderate*) Exacerbations of COPD

gentamicin	<b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL (as sulf in 2 mL vial.	Injection: 10 mg/mL (as sulfate); 40 mg/mL (as sulfate)	
		SECOND CHOICE	
	– Acute bacterial meningitis	– Gonorrhoea	
	in neonates [c]	– Surgical prophylaxis	
	<ul> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]</li> </ul>		
	- Complicated		
	intraabdominal infections [c]		
	<ul> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition [c]</li> </ul>		
	- Sepsis in neonates and children [c]		
metronidazole	Injection: 500 mg in 100 ml	Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.	
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg/5 mL (a	Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate).	
	Suppository: 500 mg; 1 g.		
	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg to 500 mg.		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	- C. difficile infection	– Complicated	
	<ul> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> </ul>	intraabdominal infection. (mild to moderate)	
	<ul> <li>Complicated intrabdominal infections (severe)</li> </ul>		
	– Necrotizing fasciitis		
	– Surgical prophylaxis		
	- Trichomoniasis		
nitrofurantoin	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 25 mg/5 mL [c].		
	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg.		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	<ul> <li>Lower urinary tract infections</li> </ul>		

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)		
phenoxymethylpenicillin	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 250 mg/5 mL (as potassium). <b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg (as potassium).	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)	
	– Pharyngitis	
	– Progressive apical dental abscess	
procaine benzylpenicillin*	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (= IU) in vial.	1 million IU); 3 g (=3 million
	* Procaine benzylpenicillin is not recommended as first-line treatment for neonatal sepsis except in settings with high neonatal mortality, when given by trained health workers in cases where hospital care is not achievable.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Syphilis (congenital) [c]	– Syphilis
spectinomycin	Powder for injection: 2 g (a	s hydrochloride) in vial.
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
		– Gonorrhoea
sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim	Injection: 80 mg + 16 mg/n 16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoul	nL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg + e.
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL.	
	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg; 800 mg + 160 mg.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Lower urinary tract infections</li> </ul>	– Acute invasive diarrhoea / bacterial dysentery
trimethoprim	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 200 mg.	
	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c].	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Lower urinary tract infections</li> </ul>	

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN	IES (continued)	
6.2.2 Watch group antibiotic	-s	
azithromycin	<b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg (anhydrous). <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg/5 mL.	
	FIRST CHOICE - Cholera [C] - Enteric fever - Gonorrhoea - Sexually transmitted infection due to Chlamydia trachomatis - Trachoma - Yaws	SECOND CHOICE <ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Gonorrhoea</li> </ul>
cefixime	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL <b>[c]</b> . <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg (as trihydra	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE <ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Gonorrhoea</li> </ul>
cefotaxime*	Powder for injection: 250 mg (as sodium) in vial. * 3rd generation cephalosporin of choice for use in hospitali neonates.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe)</li> <li>Hospital acquired</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>
	pneumonia – Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (severe)	

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE M	EDICINES (continued)		
ceftriaxone* a	* Do not administer with calcium hyperbilirubinaemia.	<ul> <li>Powder for injection: 250 mg; 1 g; 2 g (as sodium) in vial.</li> <li>* Do not administer with calcium and avoid in infants with hyperbilirubinaemia.</li> <li>a &gt; 41 weeks corrected gestational age.</li> </ul>	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	<ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated intrabdominal infections (severe)</li> <li>Endophthalmitis</li> <li>Enteric fever</li> <li>Gonorrhoea</li> <li>Hospital acquired pneumonia</li> <li>Necrotizing fasciitis</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or prostatiti. (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>	
cefuroxime	<i>prostatitis (severe)</i> <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 m in vial.	ng; 750 mg; 1.5 g (as sodium)	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
		– Surgical prophylaxis	

ciprofloxacin	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 250 mg/5 mL (a	nhydrous) [c] .
	Solution for IV infusion: 2 m	ng/mL (as hyclate) [c] .
	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 (as hydrochloride).	) mg; 500 mg
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> </ul>	– Cholera – Complicated
	– Enteric fever	intraabdominal infections
	– Low-risk febrile neutropenia	(mild to moderate)
	– Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (mild to moderate)	
□ clarithromycin†	Powder for oral liquid: 125	mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL.
Therapeutic alternatives:	Powder for injection: 500 m	ng in vial.
<ul> <li>erythromycin*</li> <li>* as second choice treatment for pharyngitis in children (EMLc only)</li> </ul>	Solid oral dosage form: 500	) mg.
	+ clarithromycin is also listed for use in combination regimens for eradication of <i>H. pylori</i> in adults.	
(Line only)	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Community acquired pneumonia (severe)	– Pharyngitis
piperacillin + tazobactam	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 2 g (a: (as sodium); 4 g (as sodium); 4 g (as sodium)	-
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe)	
	– High-risk febrile neutropenia	
	– Hospital acquired pneumonia	
	– Necrotizing fasciitis	
vancomycin	Capsule: 125 mg; 250 mg (as hydrochloride).	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
		– C. difficile infection

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) **Complementary List** ceftazidime *Powder for injection:* 250 mg; 1 g (as pentahydrate) in vial. FIRST CHOICE SECOND CHOICE - Endophthalmitis $\square$ meropenem\* $\boxed{\mathbf{a}}$ Powder for injection: 500 mg (as trihydrate); 1 g (as trihydrate) in vial. Therapeutic alternatives\*: $|\mathbf{a}| > 3$ months. imipenem + cilastatin \* complicated FIRST CHOICE SECOND CHOICE intraabdominal - Acute bacterial meningitis infections and highin neonates [c] risk febrile neutropenia only. Meropenem is the - Complicated preferred choice for acute intraabdominal infections bacterial meningitis (severe) in neonates. - High-risk febrile neutropenia vancomycin Powder for injection: 250 mg; 500 mg; 1 g (as hydrochloride) in vial. **FIRST CHOICE** SECOND CHOICE - Endophthalmitis - High-risk febrile neutropenia - Necrotizing fasciitis 6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics Complementary List cefiderocol **Powder for injection:** 1 q (as sulfate toxylate) in vial. ceftazidime + avibactam **Powder for injection:** 2 q + 0.5 q in vial. colistin Powder for injection: 1 million IU (as colistemethate sodium) in vial. fosfomycin Powder for injection: 2 g; 4 g (as sodium) in vial. linezolid Injection for intravenous administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag.

**Powder for oral liquid:** 100 mg/5 mL.

Tablet: 400 mg; 600 mg.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)

meropenem + vaborbactam	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as trihydrate) + 1 g in vial.
plazomicin	Injection: 500 mg/10 mL.
polymyxin B	Powder for injection: 500,000 IU in vial.

#### 6.2.4 Antileprosy medicines

Medicines used in the treatment of leprosy should never be used except in combination. Combination therapy is essential to prevent the emergence of drug resistance. Colour-coded blister packs (MDT blister packs) containing standard two-medicine (paucibacillary leprosy) or three-medicine (multibacillary leprosy) combinations for adult and childhood leprosy should be used. MDT blister packs can be supplied free of charge through WHO.

clofazimine	<b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg; 100 mg.
dapsone	Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg.
rifampicin	Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg; 300 mg.

### 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

ethambutol	Oral liquid: 25 mg/mL [c] . Tablet: 100 mg; 400 mg (hydrochloride). Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg [c] .
ethambutol + isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin	<b>Tablet:</b> 275 mg + 75 mg + 400 mg + 150 mg.
ethambutol + isoniazid + rifampicin	<b>Tablet:</b> 275 mg + 75 mg + 150 mg.
isoniazid	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c].
	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 300 mg.
	Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg [c] .
isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin	<b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 50 mg + 150 mg + 75 mg [c].
isoniazid + rifampicin	<b>Tablet:</b> 75 mg + 150 mg; 150 mg + 300 mg.
	Tablet (dispersible): 50 mg + 75 mg [c] .
isoniazid + rifapentine	<b>Tablet (scored):</b> 300 mg + 300 mg.
moxifloxacin	<b>Tablet:</b> 400 mg.
pyrazinamide	Oral liquid: 30 mg/mL [c].
	 Tablet: 400 mg; 500 mg
	Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg.
rifabutin	Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg.*
	* For use only in patients with HIV receiving protease inhibitors.
rifampicin	Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL [c].
	Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg; 300 mg.
rifapentine	Tablet: 150 mg; 300 mg.

# **Complementary List**

*Medicines for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) should be used in specialized centres adhering to WHO standards for TB control.* 

amikacin	Injection: 100 mg/2 mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial; 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.
amoxicillin + clavulanic acid*	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5mL [c]. <b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt). * For use only in combination with meropenem or imipenem+cilastatin.
bedaquiline <b>a</b>	<b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg <b>[c]</b> ; 100 mg. <b>a</b> ≥ 5 years
clofazimine	Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.
□ cycloserine Therapeutic alternatives: – terizidone	Solid oral dosage form: 125 mg [c] ; 250 mg.
delamanid <mark>a</mark>	Tablet (dispersible): 25 mg [c] $a \ge 3$ yearsTablet: 50 mg. $a \ge 6$ years
☐ ethionamide Therapeutic alternatives: – protionamide	Tablet: 125 mg; 250 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg [c] .
levofloxacin	<b>Tablet:</b> 250mg; 500 mg; 750 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg <b>[c]</b> .
linezolid	Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 600 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg [c] .
☐ meropenem Therapeutic alternatives: – imipenem + cilastatin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate); 1 g (as trihydrate) in vial.
moxifloxacin	Tablet: 400 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg [c] .
p-aminosalicylic acid	Granules: 4 g in sachet.
streptomycin [c]	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as sulfate) in vial.

6.3 Antifungal medicines	
amphotericin B	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium deoxycholate or liposomal complex) in vial.
clotrimazole	Vaginal cream: 1%; 10%. Vaginal tablet: 100 mg; 500 mg.
fluconazole	Capsule: 50 mg. Injection: 2 mg/mL in vial. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.
flucytosine	<b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg. Infusion: 2.5 g in 250 mL.
griseofulvin	Oral liquid: 125 mg/5 mL [c] . Solid oral dosage form: 125 mg; 250 mg.
itraconazole*	<ul> <li>Capsule: 100 mg.</li> <li>Oral liquid: 10 mg/mL.</li> <li>* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis, histoplasmosis, sporotrichosis, paracoccidiodomycosis, mycoses caused by <i>T. marneffei</i> and chromoblastomycosis; and prophylaxis of histoplasmosis and infections caused by <i>T. marneffei</i> in AIDS patients.</li> </ul>
nystatin	Lozenge: 100 000 IU. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c] ; 100 000 IU/mL [c]. Pessary: 100 000 IU. Tablet: 100 000 IU; 500 000 IU.
voriconazole*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 50 mg; 200 mg</li> <li>Powder for injection: 200 mg in vial</li> <li>Powder for oral liquid: 40 mg/mL</li> <li>* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis and acute invasive aspergillosis.</li> </ul>
Complementary List	
☐ micafungin Therapeutic alternatives: – anidulafungin – caspofungin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium); 100 mg (as sodium) in vial.
potassium iodide	Saturated solution.

#### 6.4 Antiviral medicines

### 6.4.1 Antiherpes medicines

🗆 aciclovir	Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL [c].
Therapeutic alternatives:	Powder for injection: 250 mg (as sodium salt) in vial.
<ul> <li>valaciclovir (oral)</li> </ul>	Tablet: 200 mg.

### 6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

Based on current evidence and experience of use, medicines in the following classes of antiretrovirals are included as essential medicines for treatment and prevention of HIV (prevention of mother-to-child transmission, pre-exposure prophylaxsis (where indicated) and post-exposure prophylaxis). WHO emphasizes the importance of using these products in accordance with global and national guidelines. WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

Scored tablets can be used in children and therefore can be considered for inclusion in the listing of tablets, provided that adequate quality products are available.

abacavir	Tablet: 300 mg (as sulfate).
lamivudine	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c] . Tablet: 150 mg.
tenofovir disoproxil fumarate†	<b>Tablet:</b> 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate –equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).† also indicated for pre-exposure prophylaxis.
zidovudine	Capsule: 250 mg. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. Solution for IV infusion: 10 mg/mL in 20 mL vial. Tablet: 300 mg.
6.4.2.2 Non-nucleoside rever	se transcriptase inhibitors

### 6.4.2.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

efavirenz	<b>Tablet:</b> 600 mg.
nevirapine <b>a</b>	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.
	Tablet: 50 mg (dispersible); 200 mg.
	a > 6 weeks

#### 6.4.2.3 Protease inhibitors

Selection of protease inhibitor(s) from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international and national treatment guidelines and experience. Ritonavir is recommended for use in combination as a pharmacological booster, and not as an antiretroviral in its own right. All other protease inhibitors should be used in boosted forms (e.g. with ritonavir).

atazanavir + ritonavir	Tablet (heat stable): 300 mg (as sulfate) + 100 mg.
darunavir <b>a</b>	<b>Tablet:</b> 75 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg; 800 mg <b>a</b> > 3 years
lopinavir + ritonavir	Solid oral dosage form: 40 mg + 10 mg [c]. Tablet (heat stable): 100 mg + 25 mg; 200 mg + 50 mg.
ritonavir	Tablet (heat stable): 25 mg; 100 mg.
6.4.2.4 Integrase inhibitors	
dolutegravir a	Tablet (dispersible, scored): 10 mg [c]. <b>a</b> $\ge 4$ weeks and $\ge 3$ kg Tablet: 50 mg <b>a</b> $\ge 25$ kg
raltegravir*	<ul> <li>Granules for oral suspension: 100 mg in sachet.</li> <li>Tablet (chewable): 25 mg.</li> <li>Tablet: 400 mg.</li> <li>* For use in pregnant women and in second-line regimens in accordance with WHO treatemnt guidelines.</li> </ul>

# 6.4.2.5 Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines

abacavir + lamivudine	Tablet (dispersible, scored): 120 mg (as sulfate) + 60 mg.	
dolutegravir + lamivudine + tenofovir	<b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg + 300 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil)	
efavirenz + □ emtricitabine + tenofovir Therapeutic alternatives: - lamivudine (for emtricitabine)	<b>Tablet:</b> 600 mg + 200 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).	
efavirenz + lamivudine + tenofovir	<b>Tablet:</b> 400 mg + 300 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil)	
<ul> <li>emtricitabine + tenofovir†</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>lamivudine (for emtricitabine)</li> </ul>	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate– equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).† combination also indicated for pre-exposure prophylaxis	
lamivudine + zidovudine	<b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg + 60 mg [c]; 150 mg + 300 mg.	
6.4.2.6 Medicines for prevention of HIV-related opportunistic infections		
isoniazid + pyridoxine + sulfamethoxazole +	<b>Tablet (scored):</b> 300 mg + 25 mg + 800 mg + 160 mg.	

trimethoprim

<b>Injection for intravenous administration:</b> 800 mg and 1 g in 10 mL phosphate buffer solution.
Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.
* For the treatment of viral haemorrhagic fevers.
<b>Tablet:</b> 450 mg.
* For the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis (CMVr).
Capsule: 30 mg; 45 mg; 75 mg (as phosphate).
* Severe illness due to confirmed or suspected influenza virus infection in critically ill hospitalized patients.
Powder for oral solution: 50 mg/mL
<b>Tablet:</b> 450 mg.
* For the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis (CMVr).

#### 6.4.4 Antihepatitis medicines

## 6.4.4.1 Medicines for hepatitis B

#### 6.4.4.1.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

entecavir	Oral liquid: 0.05 mg/mL
	<b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg
tenofovir disoproxil fumarate	<b>Tablet:</b> 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).

### 6.4.4.2 Medicines for hepatitis C

Pangenotypic direct-acting antivirals should be considered as therapeutic alternatives for the purposes of selection and procurement at national level.

### 6.4.4.2.1 Dangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

daclatasvir*	<b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg; 60 mg (as hydrochloride).           * Pangenotypic when used in combination with sofosbuvir.
daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	<b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg + 400 mg.
glecaprevir + pibrentasvir	Tablet: 100 mg + 40 mg. Granules: 50 mg + 20 mg in sachet [c] .
sofosbuvir*	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg.           * Pangenotypic when used in combination with daclatasvir.
sofosbuvir + velpatasvir	Tablet: 200 mg + 50 mg [c] ; 400 mg + 100 mg.

### 6.4.4.2.2 Non-pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

dasabuvir	Tablet: 250 mg.
ledipasvir + sofosbuvir	<b>Tablet:</b> 90 mg + 400 mg.
ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir	<b>Tablet:</b> 12.5 mg + 75 mg + 50 mg.

## 6.4.4.2.3 Other antivirals for hepatitis C

ribavirin*	<b>Injection for intravenous administration:</b> 800 mg and 1 g in 10 mL phosphate buffer solution.
	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.
	<ul> <li>For the treatment of hepatitis C, in combination with direct acting anti-viral medicines.</li> </ul>
Complementary list	
pegylated interferon alfa (2a or 2b)*	<i>Vial or pre-filled syringe:</i> 180 micrograms (peginterferon alfa-2a). 80 micrograms, 100 micrograms (peginterferon alfa-2b). * To be used in combination with ribavirin.

# 6.5 Antiprotozoal medicines

# 6.5.1 Antiamoebic and antigiardiasis medicines

diloxanide <b>a</b>	Tablet: 500 mg (furoate).
	<b>a</b> > 25 kg.
□ metronidazole	Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.
Therapeutic alternatives:	Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate).
– tinidazole	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg to 500 mg.

# 6.5.2 Antileishmaniasis medicines

amphotericin B	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg in vial (as sodium deoxycholate or liposomal complex).
miltefosine	Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg; 50 mg.
paromomycin	<b>Solution for intramuscular injection:</b> 750 mg of paromomycin base (as sulfate).
sodium stibogluconate <b>or</b> meglumine antimoniate	<b>Injection:</b> 100 mg/mL, 1 vial = 30 mL <b>or</b> 30%, equivalent to approximately 8.1% antimony (pentavalent) in 5 mL ampoule.

#### 6.5.3 Antimalarial medicines

### 6.5.3.1 For curative treatment

Medicines for the treatment of P. falciparum malaria cases should be used in combination. The list currently recommends combinations according to treatment guidelines. WHO recognizes that not all of the fixed dose combinations (FDCs) in the WHO treatment guidelines exist, and encourages their development and rigorous testing. WHO also encourages development and testing of rectal dosage formulations.

amodiaquine*	<b>Tablet:</b> 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride).* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.
artemether*	<b>Oily injection:</b> 80 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule. * For use in the management of severe malaria.
artemether + lumefantrine*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 20 mg + 120 mg.</li> <li>Tablet (dispersible): 20 mg + 120 mg [c].</li> <li>* Not recommended in the first trimester of pregnancy or in children below 5 kg.</li> </ul>
artesunate*	<ul> <li>Injection: ampoules, containing 60 mg anhydrous artesunic acid with a separate ampoule of 5% sodium bicarbonate solution.</li> <li>For use in the management of severe malaria.</li> <li>Rectal dosage form: 50 mg [c]; 100 mg [c]; 200 mg capsules (for pre-referral treatment of severe malaria only; patients should be taken to an appropriate health facility for follow-up care) [c].</li> <li>Tablet: 50 mg.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>* To be used in combination with either amodiaquine, mefloquine or sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine.</li> </ul>
artesunate + amodiaquine*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 25 mg + 67.5 mg; 50 mg + 135 mg; 100 mg + 270 mg.</li> <li>* Other combinations that deliver the target doses required such as 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride) with 50 mg artesunate can be alternatives.</li> </ul>
artesunate + mefloquine	<b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg + 55 mg; 100 mg + 220 mg.
artesunate + pyronaridine tetraphosphate <b>a</b>	Granules: 20 mg + 60 mg [c]. Tablet: 60 mg + 180 mg. a > 5 kg

Annex 1: WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 22nd List (2021)

chloroquine\* Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate). Tablet: 100 mg; 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate). \* For use only for the treatment of *Plasmodium vivax* infection. dihydroartemisinin + Tablet: 20 mg + 160 mg; 40 mg + 320 mg. piperaquine phosphate a **a** > 5 kg doxycycline\* Capsule: 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate). Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg (as monohydrate). \* For use only in combination with quinine. mefloquine\* Tablet: 250 mg (as hydrochloride). \* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg. primaguine\* Tablet: 7.5 mg; 15 mg (as diphosphate). \* Only for use to achieve radical cure of Plasmodium vivax and Plasmodium ovale infections, given for 14 days. quinine\* Injection: 300 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Tablet: 300 mg (sulfate) or 300 mg (bisulfate). \* For use only in the management of severe malaria and should be used in combination with doxycycline. sulfadoxine + **Tablet:** 500 mg + 25 mg. pyrimethamine\* \* Only in combination with artesunate 50 mg.

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)

## 6.5.3.2 For chemoprevention

amodiaquine –	Co-packaged dispersible tablets:
sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine [c]	amodiaquine 76.5 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 250 mg + 12.5 mg [1];
	amodiaquine 153 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 500 mg + 25 mg [1].
chloroquine*	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate).
	Tablet: 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate).
	* For use only in central American regions, for <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> infections.
doxycycline a	<ul><li>Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate).</li><li>a &gt; 8 years.</li></ul>
mefloquine <b>a</b>	Tablet: $250 \text{ mg}$ (as hydrochloride). $a > 5 \text{ kg or } > 3 \text{ months.}$
proguanil*	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg (as hydrochloride).* For use only in combination with chloroquine.
sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine	<b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg + 12.5 mg [c] ; 500 mg + 25 mg.

# 6.5.4 Antipneumocystosis and antitoxoplasmosis medicines

pyrimethamine	Tablet: 25 mg.
sulfadiazine	Tablet: 500 mg.
sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim	Injection: 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL [c] .
	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg <b>[c]</b> ; 800 mg + 160 mg
Complementary List	
pentamidine	Tablet: 200 mg; 300 mg (as isethionate).

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) 6.5.5 Antitrypanosomal medicines 6.5.5.1 African trypanosomiasis fexinidazole\* Tablet: 600 mg \* For the treatment of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> stage of human African trypanosomiasis due to Trypanosoma brucei gambiense infection. Medicines for the treatment of 1<sup>st</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis pentamidine\* Powder for injection: 200 mg (as isetionate) in vial. \* To be used for the treatment of Trypanosoma brucei gambiense infection. suramin sodium\* Powder for injection: 1 q in vial. \* To be used for the treatment of the initial phase of *Trypanosoma* brucei rhodesiense infection. Medicines for the treatment of 2<sup>nd</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis eflornithine\* Injection: 200 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 100 mL bottle. \* To be used for the treatment of *Trypanosoma brucei gambiense* infection. melarsoprol Injection: 180 mg/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule (3.6% solution). nifurtimox\* Tablet: 120 mg. \* Only to be used in combination with eflornithine, for the treatment of Trypanosoma brucei gambiense infection. **Complementary List** melarsoprol [c] Injection: 180 mg/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule (3.6% solution). 6.5.5.2 American trypanosomiasis benznidazole Tablet: 12.5 mg [c]; 100 mg. Tablet (scored): 50 mg. nifurtimox Tablet: 30 mg; 120 mg; 250 mg. 6.6 Medicines for ectoparasitic infections ivermectin Tablet (scored): 3 mg

#### 7. ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES

### 7.1 For treatment of acute attack

7.2. For prophyloxic	
sumatriptan	Tablet: 50 mg
paracetamol	Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL [c] ; 125 mg/5 mL [c] . Tablet: 300 mg to 500 mg.
ibuprofen [c]	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg.
acetylsalicylic acid	Tablet: 300 mg to 500 mg.

# 7.2 For prophylaxis

Tablet: 20 mg; 40 mg (hydrochloride).

□ propranolol Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)

## 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS

# 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

#### Complementary List

🗆 adalimumab*	Injection: 40 mg/0.8 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL.
Therapeutic alternatives*:	
– certolizumab pegol	
– etanercept – golimumab	
– goinnanao – infliximab	
* including quality-assured biosimilars	
azathioprine	Powder for injection: 100 mg (as sodium salt) in vial.
	Tablet (scored): 50 mg.
ciclosporin	Capsule: 25 mg.
	Concentrate for injection: 50 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.
tacrolimus	<b>Capsule (immediate-release):</b> 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg.
	Granules for oral supsension: 0.2 mg; 1 mg.
	Injection: 5 mg/mL in 1 mL vial.

## 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)

## 8.2 Antineoplastics and supportive medicines

Medicines listed below should be used according to protocols for treatment of the diseases.

# 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

#### **Complementary List**

arsenic trioxide	<b>Concentrate for solution for infusion:</b> 1 mg/mL – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia
asparaginase* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<i>Powder for injection:</i> 10 000 IU in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
bendamustine	<b>Injection:</b> 45 mg/0.5 mL; 180 mg/2 mL. – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia – Follicular lymphoma
bleomycin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 15 mg (as sulfate) in vial. – Hodgkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Testicular germ cell tumour
calcium folinate	Injection: 3 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. Tablet: 5 mg; 15 mg; 25 mg. – Burkitt lymphoma – Early stage colon cancer – Early stage rectal cancer – Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia – Metastatic colorectal cancer – Osteosarcoma
capecitabine	<b>Tablet:</b> 150 mg; 500 mg. – Early stage colon cancer – Early stage rectal cancer – Metastatic breast cancer – Metastatic colorectal cancer

8. IMMUNOMODULATOR	RS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)
carboplatin	Injection: 50 mg/5 mL; 150 mg/15 mL; 450 mg/45 mL; 600 mg/60 mL. – Cervical cancer – Early stage breast cancer – Epithelial ovarian cancer – Head and neck cancer (as a radio-sensitizer) – Low-grade glioma – Nasopharyngeal cancer – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Non-small cell lung cancer – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Retinoblastoma – Testicular germ cell tumour
chlorambucil	<b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg. – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
cisplatin	Injection: 10 mg/10 mL; 20 mg/20 mL; 50 mg/50 mL; 100 mg/100 mL. – Cervical cancer – Head and neck cancer (as a radio-sensitizer) – Low-grade glioma – Nasopharyngeal cancer (as a radio-sensitizer) – Non-small cell lung cancer – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Testicular germ cell tumour
cyclophosphamide	Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. Tablet: 25 mg, 50 mg. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma – Early stage breast cancer – Ewing sarcoma – Follicular lymphoma – Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia – Hodgkin lymphoma – Low-grade glioma – Metastatic breast cancer – Multiple myeloma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Rhabdomyosarcoma

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

8. IMMUNOMODULATO	DRS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)
cytarabine	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Acute myeloid leukaemia – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma.
dacarbazine	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg in vial. – Hodgkin lymphoma
dactinomycin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 micrograms in vial. – Ewing sarcoma – Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Rhabdomyosarcoma
daunorubicin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Acute myeloid leukaemia – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia
docetaxel	<b>Injection:</b> 20 mg/mL; 40 mg/mL. – Early stage breast cancer – Metastatic breast cancer – Metastatic prostate cancer
doxorubicin	Powder for injection: 10 mg; 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma – Early stage breast cancer – Ewing sarcoma – Follicular lymphoma – Hodgkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma – Metastatic breast cancer – Multiple myeloma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)		
etoposide	Capsule: 50 mg, 100 mg. Injection: 20 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Acute myeloid leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Ewing sarcoma – Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia – Hodgkin lymphoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Non-small cell lung cancer – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Retinoblastoma – Testicular germ cell tumour	
fludarabine	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (phosphate) in vial. <b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia.	
fluorouracil	Injection: 50 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. – Early stage breast cancer – Early stage colon cancer – Early stage rectal cancer – Metastatic colorectal cancer – Nasopharyngeal cancer	
gemcitabine	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 200 mg; 1 g in vial. – Epithelial ovarian cancer – Non-small cell lung cancer	
hydroxycarbamide	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 200 mg; 250 mg; 300 mg; 400 mg; 500 mg; 1 g – Chronic myeloid leukaemia	
ifosfamide	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. – Burkitt lymphoma – Ewing sarcoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Osteosarcoma – Rhabdomyosarcoma – Testicular germ cell tumour	

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) irinotecan Injection: 40 mg/2 mL in 2 mL vial; 100 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial; 500 mg/25 mL in 25 mL vial. Metastatic colorectal cancer – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Rhabdomyosarcoma melphalan Tablet: 2 mg. Powder for injection: 50 mg in vial. - Multiple myeloma mercaptopurine Tablet: 50 mg. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Acute promyelocytic leukaemia methotrexate Powder for injection: 50 mg (as sodium salt) in vial. Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium salt). Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia Acute promyelocytic leukaemia - Burkitt lymphoma - Early stage breast cancer - Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia - Osteosarcoma oxaliplatin Injection: 50 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial; 100 mg/20 mL in 20 mL vial; 200 mg/40 mL in 40 mL vial. Powder for injection: 50 mg; 100 mg in vial. - Early stage colon cancer - Metastatic colorectal cancer paclitaxel Injection: 6 mg/mL in vial. - Cervical cancer Epithelial ovarian cancer - Early stage breast cancer - Metastatic breast cancer – Kaposi sarcoma - Nasopharyngeal cancer - Non-small cell lung cancer - Ovarian germ cell tumour Injection: 3,750 units/5 mL in vial. pegaspargase\* \* including quality-assured Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia biosimilars procarbazine [c] Capsule: 50 mg (as hydrochloride). – Hodakin lymphoma

707

8.	IMMUNOMODULATORS AN	ND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)
	realgar-Indigo naturalis formulation	<b>Tablet:</b> 270 mg (containing tetra-arsenic tetra-sulfide 30 mg).
		<ul> <li>Acute promyelocytic leukaemia</li> </ul>
	tioguanine [c]	Solid oral dosage form: 40 mg.
		– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
	vinblastine	Injection: 10 mg/10 mL (sulfate) in vial.
		Powder for injection: 10 mg (sulfate) in vial.
		– Hodgkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma – Low-grade glioma – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Testicular germ cell tumour
	vincristine	Injection: 1 mg/mL (sulfate); 2 mg/2 mL (sulfate) in vial.
		<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 mg; 5 mg (sulfate) in vial.
		<ul> <li>Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia</li> <li>Burkitt lymphoma</li> <li>Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma</li> <li>Ewing sarcoma</li> <li>Follicular lymphoma</li> <li>Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia</li> <li>Hodgkin lymphoma</li> <li>Kaposi sarcoma</li> <li>Low-grade glioma</li> <li>Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)</li> <li>Retinoblastoma</li> <li>Rhabdomyosarcoma</li> </ul>
	vinorelbine	<b>Capsule:</b> 20 mg; 30 mg; 80 mg.
		Injection: 10 mg/mL in 1 mL vial; 50 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial.
		– Non-small cell lung cancer
		– Metastatic breast cancer
		– Rhabdomyosarcoma

## 8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# **Complementary List**

all-trans retinoid acid (ATRA)	<b>Capsule:</b> 10 mg. – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia.
bortezomib	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 3.5 mg in vial. – Multiple myeloma
dasatinib	<b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg; 50 mg; 70 mg; 80 mg; 100 mg; 140 mg. – Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia
□ erlotinib Therapeutic alternatives: – afatinib – gefitinib	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg, 150 mg. – EGFR mutation-positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer
everolimus	<b>Tablet:</b> 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 7.5 mg; 10 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 2 mg; 3 mg; 5 mg. – Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma
ibrutinib	<b>Capsule:</b> 140 mg. – Relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
imatinib	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg; 400 mg. – Chronic myeloid leukaemia – Gastrointestinal stromal tumour – Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
nilotinib	<b>Capsule:</b> 150 mg; 200 mg. – Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia
rituximab* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<b>Injection (intravenous):</b> 100 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial; 500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial. – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma – Follicular lymphoma
trastuzumab* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 60 mg; 150 mg; 440 mg in vial. – Early stage HER2 positive breast cancer – Metastatic HER2 positive breast cancer

### 8.2.3 Immunomodulators

## Complementary List

filgrastim* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<ul> <li>Injection: 120 micrograms/0.2 mL; 300 micrograms/0.5 mL; 480 micrograms/0.8 mL in pre-filled syringe.</li> <li>Injection: 300 micrograms/mL in 1 mL vial; 480 micrograms/1.6 mL in 1.6 mL vial.</li> <li>Primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for developing febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy.</li> <li>Secondary prophylaxis for patients who have experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic chemotherapy</li> <li>To facilitate administration of dose dense chemotherapy regimens</li> </ul>
lenalidomide	<b>Capsule:</b> 25 mg. – Multiple myeloma
<ul> <li>nivolumab*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives*:</li> <li>pembrolizumab</li> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul>	<b>Concentrate solution for infusion:</b> 10 mg/mL. – Metastatic melanoma
thalidomide	<b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg. – Multiple myeloma

### 8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

## **Complementary List**

☐ abiraterone Therapeutic alternatives: – enzalutamide	<b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg. – Metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer
<ul> <li>□ anastrozole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>- 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (L02BG Aromatase inhibitors)</li> </ul>	<b>Tablet:</b> 1 mg. – Early stage breast cancer – Metastatic breast cancer
<ul> <li>□ bicalutamide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>– flutamide</li> <li>– nilutamide</li> </ul>	<b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg. – Metastatic prostate cancer
dexamethasone	Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL [c]. Tablet: 2 mg [c]; 4 mg. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Multiple myeloma
hydrocortisone	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma
☐ leuprorelin Therapeutic alternatives: – goserelin – triptorelin	<b>Injection:</b> 7.5 mg; 22.5 mg in pre-filled syringe. – Early stage breast cancer – Metastatic prostate cancer.
methylprednisolone [c]	<b>Injection:</b> 40 mg/mL (as sodium succinate) in 1 mL single- dose vial and 5 mL multi-dose vials; 80 mg/mL (as sodium succinate) in 1 mL single-dose vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukamia – Burkitt lymphoma

□ prednisolone Therapeutic alternatives:	Oral liquid: 5 mg/mL [c] Tablet: 5 mg; 25 mg.
– prednisone	– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
	– Follicular lymphoma – Hodgkin lymphoma – Metastatic castration-resitsant prostate cancer – Multiple myeloma
tamoxifen	<b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg; 20 mg (as citrate). – Early stage breast cancer – Metastatic breast cancer.

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS	AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)
8.2.5 Supportive medicines	
Complementary List	
allopurinol [c]	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 300 mg. – Tumour lysis syndrome
mesna	Injection: 100 mg/mL in 4 mL and 10 mL ampoules. Tablet: 400 mg; 600 mg. – Burkitt lymphoma – Ewing sarcoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Ovarian germ cell tumour – Osteosarcoma – Rhabdomyosarcoma – Testicular germ cell tumour
rasburicase	<b>Powder and solvent for solution for infusion:</b> 1.5 mg; 7.5 mg in vial. – Tumour lysis syndrome
zoledronic acid	<b>Concentrate solution for infusion:</b> 4 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial. <b>Solution for infusion:</b> 4 mg/100 mL in 100 mL bottle. – Malignancy-related bone disease
9. ANTIPARKINSONISM MEL	DICINES
<ul> <li>biperiden</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>trihexyphenidyl</li> </ul>	<b>Injection:</b> 5 mg (lactate) in 1 mL ampoule. <b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg (hydrochloride).
levodopa + □ carbidopa Therapeutic alternatives: – benserazide (for carbidopa)	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 10 mg; 100 mg + 25 mg; 250 mg + 25 mg.

# **10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD**

## 10.1 Antianaemia medicines

ferrous salt	<b>Oral liquid:</b> equivalent to 25 mg iron (as sulfate)/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> equivalent to 60 mg iron.
ferrous salt + folic acid	<b>Tablet:</b> equivalent to 60 mg iron + 400 micrograms folic acid. * nutritional supplement for use during pregnancy
folic acid	<ul> <li>Tablet: 400 micrograms*; 1 mg; 5 mg.</li> <li>* periconceptual use for prevention of first occurrence of neural tube defects</li> </ul>
hydroxocobalamin	<b>Injection:</b> 1 mg/mL (as acetate, as hydrochloride or as sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.
Complementary List	
<ul> <li>erythropoiesis- stimulating agents*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:         <ul> <li>epoetin alfa, beta and theta</li> <li>darbepoetin alfa</li> <li>methoxy polyethylene glycol-epoetin beta</li> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<b>Injection:</b> pre-filled syringe 1000 IU/0.5 mL; 2000 IU/0.5 mL; 3000 IU/0.3 mL; 4000 IU/ 0.4 mL; 5000 IU/0.5 mL; 6000 IU/0.6 mL; 8000 IU/0.8mL; 10 000 IU/1 mL; 20 000 IU/0.5 mL; 40 000 IU/1 mL.

10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD (continued) 10.2 Medicines affecting coagulation Capsule: 110 mg; 150 mg. □ dabigatran Therapeutic alternatives: apixaban – edoxaban rivaroxaban □ enoxaparin\* Injection: ampoule or pre-filled syringe Therapeutic alternatives\*: 20 ma/0.2 mL; 40 ma/0.4 mL; 60 ma/0.6 mL; 80 ma/ dalteparin 0.8 mL; 100 mg/1 mL; 120 mg/0.8 mL; 150 mg/1 mL. - nadroparin \* including quality-assured biosimilars heparin sodium Injection: 1000 IU/mL; 5000 IU/mL; 20 000 IU/mL in 1 mL ampoule. phytomenadione Injection: 1 mg/mL [c]; 10 mg/mL in ampoule. Tablet: 10 mg. protamine sulfate Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. tranexamic acid Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. □ warfarin Tablet: 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg (sodium). Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023) Complementary List desmopressin [c] Injection: 4 micrograms/mL (as acetate) in 1 mL ampoule. Nasal spray: 10 micrograms (as acetate) per dose. heparin sodium [c] Injection: 1000 IU/mL; 5000 IU/mL in 1 mL ampoule. protamine sulfate [c] Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. □ warfarin [c] Tablet: 0.5 mg; 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg (sodium). Therapeutic alternatives

### 10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

to be reviewed (2023)

Complementary List	
□ deferoxamine	Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.
Therapeutic alternatives: – deferasirox (oral)	
hydroxycarbamide	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 500 mg; 1 g.

#### 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES

#### 11.1 Blood and blood components

In accordance with the World Health Assembly resolution WHA63.12, WHO recognizes that achieving self-sufficiency, unless special circumstances preclude it, in the supply of safe blood components based on voluntary, non-remunerated blood donation, and the security of that supply are important national goals to prevent blood shortages and meet the transfusion requirements of the patient population. All preparations should comply with the WHO requirements.

fresh-frozen plasma

platelets

red blood cells

whole blood

### 11.2 Plasma-derived medicines

All human plasma-derived medicines should comply with the WHO requirements.

#### 11.2.1 Human immunoglobulins

anti-D immunoglobulin	Injection: 250 micrograms in single-dose vial.
anti-rabies immunoglobulin	<b>Injection:</b> 150 IU/mL in vial.
anti-tetanus immunoglobulin	Injection: 500 IU in vial.
Complementary List	
normal immunoglobulin	Intramuscular administration: 16% protein solution.*
	Intravenous administration: 5%; 10% protein solution.**
	Subcutaneous administration: 15%; 16% protein solution.*
	* Indicated for primary immune deficiency. **Indicated for primary immune deficiency and Kawasaki disease.

#### 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES (continued)

#### 11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

#### **Complementary List**

□ coagulation factor VIII Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)

Powder for injection: 500 IU/vial.

□ coagulation factor IX **Powder for injection:** 500 IU/vial; 1000 IU/vial. Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)

### 11.3 Plasma substitutes

### □ dextran 70

Injectable solution: 6%.

Therapeutic alternatives:Polygeline injectable solution 3.5%

**12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES** 

# 12.1 Antianginal medicines

□ bisoprolol	Tablet: 1.25 mg; 5 mg.
Therapeutic alternatives: – carvedilol – metoprolol	
glyceryl trinitrate	Tablet (sublingual): 500 micrograms.
isosorbide dinitrate	Tablet (sublingual): 5 mg.
verapamil	Tablet: 40 mg; 80 mg (hydrochloride).

# 12.2 Antiarrhythmic medicines

☐ bisoprolol Therapeutic alternatives: – carvedilol – metoprolol	<b>Tablet:</b> 1.25 mg; 5 mg.
digoxin	Injection: 250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 50 micrograms/mL. Tablet: 62.5 micrograms; 250 micrograms.
epinephrine (adrenaline)	<b>Injection:</b> 100 micrograms/mL (as acid tartrate or hydrochloride) in 10 mL ampoule.
lidocaine	Injection: 20 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL ampoule.
verapamil	Injection: 2.5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Tablet: 40 mg; 80 mg (hydrochloride).
Complementary List	
amiodarone	Injection: 50 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 3 mL ampoule. Tablet: 100 mg; 200 mg; 400 mg (hydrochloride).

12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued) 12.3 Antihypertensive medicines □ amlodipine Tablet: 5 mg (as maleate, mesylate or besylate). Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives) □ bisoprolol Tablet: 1.25 mg; 5 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: \* atenolol should not be used as a first-line agent in uncomplicated hypertension in patients > 60 years. – atenolol\* carvedilol - metoprolol □ enalapril Tablet: 2.5 mg; 5 mg (as hydrogen maleate). Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subaroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) Powder for injection: 20 mg (hydrochloride) in ampoule. hydralazine\* Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg (hydrochloride). \* Hydralazine is listed for use only in the acute management of severe pregnancy-induced hypertension. Its use in the treatment of essential hypertension is not recommended in view of the evidence of greater efficacy and safety of other medicines. □ hydrochlorothiazide Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. Therapeutic alternatives: Solid oral dosage form: 12.5 mg; 25 mg. chlorothiazide chlorthalidone indapamide  $\Box$  lisinopril +  $\Box$  amlodipine **Tablet:** 10 mg + 5 mg; 20 mg + 5 mg; 20 mg + 10 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) (for lisinopril) - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives)

(for amlodipine)

12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued) □ lisinopril + Tablet: 10 mg + 12.5 mg; 20 mg + 12.5 mg; 20 mg + □ hydrochlorothiazide 25 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) (for lisinopril) chlorthalidone, chlorothiazide, indapamide (for hydrochlorothiazide) □ losartan Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) methyldopa\* Tablet: 250 mg. \* Methyldopa is listed for use only in the management of pregnancy-induced hypertension. Its use in the treatment of essential hypertension is not recommended in view of the evidence of greater efficacy and safety of other medicines. □ telmisartan + **Tablet:** 40 mg + 5 mg; 80 mg + 5 mg; 80 mg + 10 mg. □ amlodipine Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin Il receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) (for telmisartan) - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subaroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives) (for amlodipine) □ telmisartan + **Tablet:** 40 mg + 12.5 mg; 80 mg + 12.5 mg; 80 mg + 25 mg. □ hydrochlorothiazide Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin Il receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) (for telmisartan) - chlorthalidone, chlorothiazide, indapamide (for hydrochlorothiazide) **Complementary List** 

sodium nitroprusside

*Powder for infusion:* 50 mg in ampoule.

12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued) 12.4 Medicines used in heart failure □ bisoprolol Tablet: 1.25 mg; 5 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: carvedilol - metoprolol digoxin Injection: 250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 50 micrograms/mL. Tablet: 62.5 micrograms; 250 micrograms. □ enalapril Tablet: 2.5 mg; 5 mg (as hydrogen maleate). Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) □ furosemide Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule. Therapeutic alternatives: Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL [c]. bumetanide Tablet: 40 mg. - torasemide □ hydrochlorothiazide Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. Therapeutic alternatives: Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg. chlorothiazide chlorthalidone - indapamide □ losartan Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) spironolactone Tablet: 25 mg. Complementary List Injection: 40 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL vial. dopamine

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

.....

12. CARDIOVASCULAR MED	DICINES (continued)
12.5 Antithrombotic medic	ines
12.5.1 Anti-platelet medicin	es
acetylsalicylic acid	Tablet: 100 mg.
clopidogrel	<b>Tablet:</b> 75 mg; 300 mg.
12.5.2 Thrombolytic medicin	nes
Complementary List	
alteplase	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 10 mg; 20 mg; 50 mg in vial
alteplase streptokinase	<i>Powder for injection:</i> 10 mg; 20 mg; 50 mg in vial <i>Powder for injection:</i> 1.5 million IU in vial.
streptokinase	
streptokinase <b>12.6 Lipid-lowering agents</b> simvastatin* Therapeutic alternatives:	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1.5 million IU in vial.
streptokinase <b>12.6 Lipid-lowering agents</b> simvastatin* Therapeutic alternatives: - atorvastatin	Powder for injection: 1.5 million IU in vial. Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.
streptokinase <b>12.6 Lipid-lowering agents</b> simvastatin* Therapeutic alternatives:	Powder for injection: 1.5 million IU in vial. Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.

722

13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES (topical) 13.1 Antifungal medicines □ miconazole Cream or ointment: 2% (nitrate). Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (D01AC Imidazole and triazole derivatives) excluding combinations selenium sulfide Detergent-based suspension: 2%. sodium thiosulfate Solution: 15%. terbinafine Cream or ointment: 1% (hydrochloride). 13.2 Anti-infective medicines Cream: 2% (as calcium). mupirocin Ointment: 2% potassium permanganate Aqueous solution: 1:10 000. Cream: 1%. silver sulfadiazine a  $|\mathbf{a}| > 2$  months.

### 13.3 Anti-inflammatory and antipruritic medicines

Cream or ointment: 0.1% (as valerate).
<b>a</b> Hydrocortisone preferred in neonates.
Lotion.
Cream or ointment: 1% (acetate).

## 13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES (topical) (continued)

## 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

benzoyl peroxide	Cream or lotion: 5%.
□ calcipotriol Therapeutic alternatives: – calcitriol – tacalcitol	Cream or ointment: 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%). Lotion: 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%).
coal tar	Solution: 5%.
fluorouracil	Ointment: 5%.
<ul> <li>podophyllum resin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>podophyllotoxin</li> </ul>	<b>Solution:</b> 10% to 25%.
salicylic acid	Solution: 5%.
urea	Cream or ointment: 5%; 10%.
13.5 Scabicides and pedicul	icides
<ul> <li>13.5 Scabicides and pedicul</li> <li>benzyl benzoate a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>precipitated sulfur topical ointment</li> </ul>	icides Lotion: 25%. a) > 2 years.
<ul> <li>benzyl benzoate a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>precipitated sulfur topical</li> </ul>	Lotion: 25%.

14. DIAGNOSTIC AGENTS

## 14.1 Ophthalmic medicines

fluorescein	Eye drops: 1% (sodium salt).
<ul> <li>tropicamide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>atropine</li> <li>cyclopentolate</li> </ul>	<b>Eye drops:</b> 0.5%.
14.2 Radiocontrast media	
☐ amidotrizoate Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Injection:</b> 140 mg to 420 mg iodine/mL (as sodium or meglumine salt) in 20 mL ampoule.
barium sulfate	Aqueous suspension.
☐ iohexol Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Injection:</b> 140 mg to 350 mg iodine/mL in 5 mL; 10 mL; 20 mL ampoules.
Complementary List	
barium sulfate [c]	Aqueous suspension.
☐ meglumine iotroxate Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Solution:</b> 5 g to 8 g iodine in 100 mL to 250 mL.

# **15. ANTISEPTICS AND DISINFECTANTS**

15.1 Antiseptics	
□ chlorhexidine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Solution:</b> 5% (digluconate).
<ul> <li>ethanol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>propanol</li> </ul>	Solution: 70% (denatured).
<ul> <li>povidone iodine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>iodine</li> </ul>	<b>Solution:</b> 10% (equivalent to 1% available iodine).
15.2 Disinfectants	
alcohol based hand rub	Solution: containing ethanol 80% volume/volume. Solution: containing isopropyl alcohol 75% volume/ volume.
chlorine base compound	<b>Liquid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution. <b>Powder:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution. <b>Solid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.
<ul> <li>chloroxylenol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (D08AE Phenol</li> </ul>	Solution: 4.8%.
and derivatives)	
glutaral	Solution: 2%.

Annex 1: WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 22nd List (2021)

amiloride	Tablet: 5 mg (hydrochloride).
☐ furosemide Therapeutic alternatives: – bumetanide – torasemide	Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL [c]. Tablet: 10 mg [c] ; 20 mg [c] ; 40 mg.
<ul> <li>hydrochlorothiazide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>chlorothiazide</li> <li>chlortalidone</li> <li>indapamide</li> </ul>	Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg.
mannitol	Injectable solution: 10%; 20%.
spironolactone	Tablet: 25 mg.
Complementary List	
□ hydrochlorothiazide [c]	Tablet (scored): 25 mg.
Therapeutic alternatives: – chlorothiazide – chlortalidone	
mannitol [c]	Injectable solution: 10%; 20%.
spironolactone [c]	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL; 25 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg.

### **17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES**

### **Complementary List**

pancreatic enzymes [c]

Age-appropriate formulations and doses including lipase, protease and amylase.

### 17.1 Antiulcer medicines

<ul> <li>omeprazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (A02BC Proton pump inhibitors) excluding combinations</li> </ul>	Powder for injection: 40 mg in vial Powder for oral liquid: 20 mg; 40 mg sachets. Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.
<ul> <li>ranitidine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (A02BA H2-receptor antagonists) excluding combinations</li> </ul>	Injection: 25 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as hydrochloride). Tablet: 150 mg (as hydrochloride).
17.2 Antiemetic medicines	
dexamethasone	Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 0.5 mg/5 mL; 2 mg/5 mL. Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1.5 mg; 4 mg.
metoclopramide <b>a</b>	Injection: 5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL [c]. Tablet: 10 mg (hydrochloride). a Not in neonates.
<ul> <li>ondansetron a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>dolasetron</li> <li>granisetron</li> <li>palonosetron</li> <li>tropisetron</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule (as hydrochloride).</li> <li>Oral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL.</li> <li>Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base; Eq 24 mg base.</li> <li>a &gt; 1 month.</li> </ul>
<b>Complementary list</b>	
aprepitant	<b>Capsule:</b> 80 mg; 125 mg; 165 mg. <b>Powder for oral suspension:</b> 125 mg in sachet.

# 17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES (continued)

### 17.3 Anti-inflammatory medicines

□ sulfasalazine Therapeutic alternatives: – mesalazine	Retention enema. Suppository: 500 mg. Tablet: 500 mg.
Complementary List	
hydrocortisone	Retention enema: 100 mg/60 mL.
	Suppository: 25 mg (acetate).
prednisolone	Retention enema: 20 mg/100 mL (as sodium phosphate).
17.4 Laxatives	
🗆 senna	Tablet: 7.5 mg (sennosides) (or traditional dosage forms).
Therapeutic alternatives: – bisacodyl	

# 17.5 Medicines used in diarrhoea

oral rehydration salts – zinc	Co-package containing:
sulfate [c]	<b>ORS powder for dilution</b> (see Section 17.5.1) – zinc
	sulfate solid oral dosage form 20 mg (see Section 17.5.2)

## 17.5.1 Oral rehydration

oral rehydration salts	Powder for dilution in 200 mL	; 500 mL; 1 L.
	glucose:	75 mEq
	sodium:	75 mEq or mmol/L
	chloride:	65 mEq or mmol/L
	potassium:	20 mEq or mmol/L
	citrate:	10 mmol/L
	osmolarity:	245 mOsm/L
	glucose:	13.5 g/L
	sodium chloride:	2.6 g/L
	potassium chloride:	1.5 g/L
	trisodium citrate dihydrate*:	2.9 g/L
	<ul> <li>* trisodium citrate dihydrate may be carbonate (sodium bicarbonate) 2 of this latter formulation is very po is recommended only when manu</li> </ul>	.5 g/L. However, as the stability or under tropical conditions, it

### 17.5.2 Medicines for diarrhoea

zinc sulfate*	Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg.
	<ul> <li>* In acute diarrhoea zinc sulfate should be used as an adjunct to oral rehydration salts.</li> </ul>

18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS 18.1 Adrenal hormones and synthetic substitutes fludrocortisone Tablet: 100 micrograms (acetate). hydrocortisone Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg. 18.2 Androgens **Complementary List** Injection: 200 mg (enanthate) in 1 mL ampoule. testosterone 18.3 Estrogens 18.4 Progestogens □ medroxyprogesterone Tablet: 5 mg. acetate Therapeutic alternatives: norethisterone 18.5 Medicines for diabetes 18.5.1 Insulins insulin injection (soluble)\* Injection: 40 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial. \* including quality-assured hiosimilars intermediate-acting insulin\* Injection: 40 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial (as compound insulin zinc suspension or isophane \* including quality-assured biosimilars insulin). □ long-acting insulin Injection: 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen. analogues\* Therapeutic alternatives: - insulin degludec - insulin detemir - insulin glargine

\* including quality-assured biosimilars

.....

18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOC	RINE DISORDERS (Continued)
18.5.2 Oral hypoglycaemic a	gents
<ul> <li>empagliflozin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>canagliflozin</li> <li>dapagliflozin</li> </ul>	<b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg; 25 mg.
<ul> <li>gliclazide*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (A10BB Sulfonylureas)</li> </ul>	Solid oral dosage form: (controlled-release tablets) 30 mg; 60 mg; 80 mg. * glibenclamide not suitable above 60 years.
metformin	Tablet: 500 mg (hydrochloride).
Complementary List	
metformin [c]	Tablet: 500 mg (hydrochloride).
18.6 Medicines for hypogly	caemia
glucagon	Injection: 1 mg/mL.
glucagon Complementary List	Injection: 1 mg/mL.
	Injection: 1 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg.
Complementary List	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.
Complementary List diazoxide [c]	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.
Complementary List diazoxide [c] 18.7 Thyroid hormones and	Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg. antithyroid medicines Tablet: 25 micrograms [c] ; 50 micrograms;
Complementary List diazoxide [c] 18.7 Thyroid hormones and levothyroxine	Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg. antithyroid medicines Tablet: 25 micrograms [c]; 50 micrograms; 100 micrograms (sodium salt).
Complementary List diazoxide [c] 18.7 Thyroid hormones and levothyroxine potassium iodide	Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg. antithyroid medicines Tablet: 25 micrograms [c]; 50 micrograms; 100 micrograms (sodium salt). Tablet: 60 mg.
Complementary List diazoxide [c] 18.7 Thyroid hormones and levothyroxine potassium iodide methimazole Therapeutic alternatives: - carbimazole (depending on	Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg. antithyroid medicines Tablet: 25 micrograms [c]; 50 micrograms; 100 micrograms (sodium salt). Tablet: 60 mg.

#### 18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS (continued)

Complementary List	
Lugol's solution [c]	Oral liquid: about 130 mg total iodine/mL.
<ul> <li>methimazole [c]</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>carbimazole (depending on local availability)</li> </ul>	<b>Tablet:</b> 5mg, 10mg, 20mg.
potassium iodide [c]	Tablet: 60 mg.
propylthiouracil* [c]	<b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.
	* For use when alternative first-line treatment is not appropriate or available.

## 19. IMMUNOLOGICALS

### 19.1 Diagnostic agents

All tuberculins should comply with the WHO requirements for tuberculins.

tuberculin, purified protein Injection. derivative (PPD)

### 19.2 Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

All plasma fractions should comply with the WHO requirements.

anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies*	<b>Injection:</b> 40 IU/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 2.5 mL vial (human).
<ul> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul>	Injection: 300 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 600 IU/mL in 1 mL, 2.5 mL and 5 mL vial (murine).
antivenom immunoglobulin*	Injection.  * Exact type to be defined locally.
diphtheria antitoxin	Injection: 10 000 IU; 20 000 IU in vial.
equine rabies immunoglobulin	Injection: 150 IU/mL; 200 IU/mL; 300 IU/mL; 400 IU/mL in vial.

### **19. IMMUNOLOGICALS** (continued)

#### 19.3 Vaccines

WHO immunization policy recommendations are published in vaccine position papers based on recommendations made by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE).

WHO vaccine position papers are updated three to four times per year. The list below details the vaccines for which there is a recommendation from SAGE and a corresponding WHO position paper as at September 2020. The most recent versions of the WHO position papers, reflecting the current evidence related to a specific vaccine and the related recommendations, can be accessed at any time on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/position-papers

Vaccine recommendations may be universal or conditional (e.g., in certain regions, in some high-risk populations or as part of immunization programmes with certain characteristics). Details are available in the relevant position papers, and in the Summary Tables of WHO Routine Immunization Recommendations available on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/who-recommendations-for-routine-immunization---summary-tables

Selection of vaccines from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international recommendations, epidemiology and national priorities.

All vaccines should comply with the WHO requirements for biological substances.

WHO noted the need for vaccines used in children to be polyvalent.

#### **Recommendations for all**

BCG vaccine diphtheria vaccine

Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine

hepatitis B vaccine

human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine

measles vaccine

pertussis vaccine

pneumococcal vaccine

poliomyelitis vaccine

rotavirus vaccine

rubella vaccine

tetanus vaccine

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

19. IMMUNOLOGICALS (continued) Recommendations for certain regions Japanese encephalitis vaccine tick-borne encephalitis vaccine yellow fever vaccine Recommendations for some high-risk populations cholera vaccine dengue vaccine hepatitis A vaccine meningococcal meningitis vaccine rabies vaccine typhoid vaccine Recommendations for immunization programmes with certain characteristics influenza vaccine (seasonal) mumps vaccine varicella vaccine

734

**INHIBITORS** □ atracurium Injection: 10 mg/mL (besylate). Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023) neostigmine Injection: 500 micrograms/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule; 2.5 mg/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule. Tablet: 15 mg (bromide). suxamethonium Injection: 50 mg/mL (chloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Powder for injection: (chloride), in vial. □ vecuronium [c] Powder for injection: 10 mg (bromide) in vial. Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023) Complementary List pyridostigmine Injection: 1 mg in 1 mL ampoule. Tablet: 60 mg (bromide). □ vecuronium Powder for injection: 10 mg (bromide) in vial. Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)

21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS 21.1 Anti-infective agents Ointment: 3% w/w. aciclovir azithromycin Solution (eye drops): 1.5%. – Trachoma erythromycin Ointment: 0.5% [c]. - Infections due to Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria gonorrhoea □ gentamicin Solution (eye drops): 0.3% (sulfate). Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial blepharitis amikacin - Bacterial conjunctivitis - kanamycin - netilmicin - tobramycin natamycin Suspension (eye drops): 5% - Fungal keratitis □ ofloxacin Solution (eye drops): 0.3%. Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial conjunctivitis - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical Bacterial keratitis subaroup (S01AE Fluoroquinolones) □ tetracycline Eye ointment: 1% (hydrochloride). Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial blepharitis chlortetracycline - Bacterial conjunctivitis oxytetracycline Bacterial keratitis – Trachoma

### 21.2 Anti-inflammatory agents

☐ prednisolone Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (sodium phosphate).
21.3 Local anaesthetics	
<ul> <li>tetracaine a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (S01HA Local anaesthetics) excluding cocaine and combinations</li> </ul>	Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (hydrochloride).          a       Not in preterm neonates.

21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS (continued)

### 21.5 Mydriatics

### atropine **a**

Solution (eye drops): 0.1%; 0.5%; 1% (sulfate).

Therapeutic alternatives\*:

- cyclopentolate
   hydrochloride
- homatropine hydrobromide
- \* EMLc only

### **Complementary List**

epinephrine (adrenaline) Solution (eye drops): 2% (as hydrochloride).

**a** > 3 months.

## 21.6 Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) preparations

### **Complementary List**

bevacizumab\*

Injection: 25 mg/mL.

\* including quality-assured biosimilars

### 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE

#### 22.1 Contraceptives

## 22.1.1 Oral hormonal contraceptives

<ul> <li>ethinylestradiol +</li> <li>levonorgestrel</li> </ul>	Tablet: 30 micrograms + 150 micrograms.
Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	
<ul> <li>ethinylestradiol +</li> <li>norethisterone</li> </ul>	Tablet: 35 micrograms + 1 mg.
Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	
levonorgestrel	<b>Tablet:</b> 30 micrograms; 750 micrograms (pack of two); 1.5 mg.
ulipristal	Tablet: 30 mg (as acetate)

### 22.1.2 Injectable hormonal contraceptives

estradiol cypionate + medroxyprogesterone acetate	<b>Injection:</b> 5 mg + 25 mg.	
medroxyprogesterone	Injection (intramuscular): 150 mg mL in 1 mL vial.	
acetate	<b>Injection (subcutaneous):</b> 104 mg/0.65 mL in pre-filled syringe or single-dose injection delivery system.	
norethisterone enantate	<b>Oily solution:</b> 200 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.	
22.1.3 Intrauterine devices		
copper-containing device		
levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system	Intrauterine system: with reservoir containing 52 mg of levonorestrel	
22.1.4 Barrier methods		
condoms		
diaphragms		
22.1.5 Implantable contraceptives		
etonogestrel-releasing implant	Single-rod etonogestrel-releasing implant: containing 68 mg of etonogestrel.	
levonorgestrel-releasing implant	<b>Two-rod levonorgestrel-releasing implant:</b> each rod containing 75 mg of levonorgestrel (150 mg total).	

# 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE (continued)

22.1.6 Intravaginal contraceptives		
ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel	Vaginal ring: containing 2.7 mg + 11.7 mg	
progesterone vaginal ring*	<b>Progesterone-releasing vaginal ring:</b> containing 2.074 g of micronized progesterone.	
	* For use in women actively breastfeeding at least 4 times per day.	
22.2 Ovulation inducers		
Complementary List		
clomifene	Tablet: 50 mg (citrate).	
22.3 Uterotonics		
carbetocin	Injection (heat stable): 100 micrograms/mL	
<ul> <li>ergometrine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>methylergometrine</li> </ul>	<b>Injection:</b> 200 micrograms (hydrogen maleate) in 1 mL ampoule.	
mifepristone – misoprostol	Tablet 200 mg – tablet 200 micrograms.	
Where permitted under national law and where culturally acceptable.	<b>Co-package containing:</b> mifepristone 200 mg tablet [1] and misoprostol 200 micrograms tablet [4]	
misoprostol	Tablet: 200 micrograms.	
	<ul> <li>Management of incomplete abortion and miscarriage;</li> <li>Prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage where oxytocin is not available or cannot be safely used</li> </ul>	
	Vaginal tablet: 25 micrograms.*	
	* Only for use for induction of labour where appropriate facilities are available.	
oxytocin	Injection: 10 IU in 1 mL.	
22.4 Antioxytocics (tocolytics)		
nifedipine	Immediate-release capsule: 10 mg.	

## 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE (continued)

### 22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

dexamethasone	Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disout 1 mL ampoule.	dium phosphate salt) in
multiple micronutrient supplement*	Tablet containing:	
	Vitamin A (retinol acetate)	800 micrograms retinol activity equivalent
	Vitamin C (ascorbic acid)	70 mg
	Vitamin D (cholecalciferol)	5 micrograms (200 IU)
	Vitamin E (alpha tocopherol succinate)	10 mg alpha tocopherol equivalent
	Vitamin B1 (thiamine mononitrate)	1.4 mg
	Vitamin B2 (riboflavin)	1.4 mg
	Vitamin B3 (niacinamide)	18 mg niacin equivalent
	Vitamin B6 (pyridoxine hydrochloride)	1.9 mg
	Folic acid (folic acid)	680 micrograms dietary folate equivalent (400 micrograms)
	Vitamin B12 (cyanocobalamin)	2.6 micrograms
	Iron (ferrous fumarate)	30 mg
	lodine (potassium iodide)	150 micrograms
	Zinc (zinc oxide)	15 mg
	Selenium (sodium selenite)	65 micrograms
	Copper (cupric oxide)	2 mg
	* For use in specific context recommendations.	s. Refer to current WHO
tranexamic acid	Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10	mL ampoule

22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE (continued)

## 22.6 Medicines administered to the neonate [C]

solution (of appropriate

composition)

caffeine citrate [c]	Injection: 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL). Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).
chlorhexidine [c]	<b>Solution or gel:</b> 7.1% (digluconate) delivering 4% chlorhexidine (for umbilical cord care).
Complementary List	
☐ ibuprofen [c] Therapeutic alternatives: – indometacin	Solution for injection: 5 mg/mL.
□ prostaglandin E1 [c] Therapeutic alternatives: – prostaglandin E2	Solution for injection: 0.5 mg/mL in alcohol.
surfactant [c]	Suspension for intratracheal instillation: 25 mg/mL or 80 mg/mL.
23. PERITONEAL DIALYSIS SO	DLUTION
Complementary List	
intraperitoneal dialysis	Parenteral solution.

741

### 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS

## 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

□ chlorpromazine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride). Tablet: 100 mg (hydrochloride).
☐ fluphenazine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Injection:</b> 25 mg (decanoate or enantate) in 1 mL ampoule.
□ haloperidol	Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule.
Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Tablet: 2 mg; 5 mg.
<ul> <li>paliperidone</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>risperidone injection</li> </ul>	<b>Injection (prolonged-release):</b> 25 mg; 50 mg; 75 mg; 100 mg; 150 mg (as palmitate) in pre-filled syringe
risperidone	Solid oral dosage form: 0.25 mg to 6.0 mg.
Complementary List	
chlorpromazine [c]	Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride). Tablet: 10 mg; 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg (hydrochloride).
clozapine	Solid oral dosage form: 25 to 200 mg.
haloperidol [c]	Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL. Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg.

24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS (continued)

### 24.2 Medicines used in mood disorders

#### 24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

amitriptyline **Tablet:** 25 mg; 75mg (hydrochloride).

Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)

### □ fluoxetine

Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride).

Therapeutic alternatives:

- citalopram
- escitalopram
- fluvoxamine
- paroxetine
- sertraline

## **Complementary List**

fluoxetine **a** [c]

Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride).

 a
 > 8 years.

## 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

carbamazepine	Tablet (scored): 100 mg; 200 mg.
lithium carbonate	Solid oral dosage form: 300 mg.
<ul> <li>valproic acid</li> <li>(sodium valproate)*</li> <li>* avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child- bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to</li> </ul>	Tablet (enteric-coated): 200 mg; 500 mg.
valproate in the womb.	

## 24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

🗆 diazepam	Tablet (scored): 2 mg; 5 mg.
Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	

# 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS (continued)

# 24.4 Medicines used for obsessive compulsive disorders

clomipramine	<b>Capsule:</b> 10 mg; 25 mg (hydrochloride).		
24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use			
bupropion	Tablet (sustained-release): 150 mg (hydrochloride)		
nicotine replacement therapy (NRT)	<b>Chewing gum:</b> 2 mg; 4 mg (as polacrilex). <b>Transdermal patch:</b> 5 mg to 30 mg/16 hrs; 7 mg to 21 mg/24 hrs.		
varenicline	<b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg.		
Complementary List			
□ methadone* Therapeutic alternatives:	<b>Concentrate for oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL (hydrochloride).		
- buprenorphine	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride).		
	* The medicines should only be used within an established support programme.		

### 25. MEDICINES ACTING ON THE RESPIRATORY TRACT

25.1 Antiasthmatic medicines and medicines for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

#### □ budesonide Inhalation (aerosol): 100 micrograms per dose; 200 micrograms per dose. Therapeutic alternatives: - beclometasone ciclesonide flunisolide fluticasone mometasone □ budesonide + **Dry powder inhaler:** 100 micrograms + 6 micrograms □ formoterol per dose; 200 micrograms + 6 micrograms per dose Therapeutic alternatives: beclometasone + formoterol budesonide + salmeterol - fluticasone + formoterol – fluticasone furoate + vilanterol - mometasone + formoterol epinephrine (adrenaline) **Injection:** 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule. ipratropium bromide Inhalation (aerosol): 20 micrograms/metered dose. □ salbutamol Inhalation (aerosol): 100 micrograms (as sulfate) per dose. Therapeutic alternatives: terbutaline Injection: 50 micrograms/mL (as sulfate) in 5 mL ampoule. Metered dose inhaler (aerosol): 100 micrograms (as sulfate) per dose. Respirator solution for use in nebulizers: 5 mg/mL (as sulfate). □ tiotropium Powder for inhalaton, capsule: 18 micrograms Therapeutic alternatives: Inhalation solution: 1.25 micrograms; 2.5 micrograms - aclidinium per actuation - glycopyrronium umeclidinium

26. SOLUTIONS CORRECTING WATER, ELECTROLYTE AND ACID-BASE DISTURBANCES			
26.1 Oral			
oral rehydration salts	See section 17.5.1.		
potassium chloride	Powder for solution.		
26.2 Parenteral			
glucose	<b>Injectable solution:</b> 5% (isotonic); 10% (hypertonic); 50% (hypertonic).		
glucose with sodium chloride	<b>Injectable solution:</b> 4% glucose, 0.18% sodium chloride (equivalent to Na+ 30 mmol/L, Cl- 30 mmol/L).		
	Injectable solution: 5% glucose, 0.9% sodium chloride (equivalent to Na+ 150 mmol/L and Cl- 150 mmol/L); 5% glucose, 0.45% sodium chloride (equivalent to Na+ 75 mmol/L and Cl- 75 mmol/L) [c].		
potassium chloride	Solution: 11.2% in 20 mL ampoule (equivalent to K+ 1.5 mmol/mL, Cl- 1.5 mmol/mL). Solution for dilution: 7.5% (equivalent to K 1 mmol/mL and Cl 1 mmol/mL) [c] ; 15% (equivalent to K 2 mmol/mL and Cl 2 mmol/mL) [c].		
sodium chloride	<b>Injectable solution:</b> 0.9% isotonic (equivalent to Na+ 154 mmol/L, Cl- 154 mmol/L).		
sodium hydrogen carbonate	Injectable solution: 1.4% isotonic (equivalent to Na+ 167 mmol/L, HCO3- 167 mmol/L). Solution: 8.4% in 10 mL ampoule (equivalent to Na+ 1000 mmol/L, HCO3-1000 mmol/L).		
sodium lactate, compound solution	Injectable solution.		
26.3 Miscellaneous			
water for injection	2 ml · 5 ml · 10 ml ampoules		

water for injection

2 mL; 5 mL; 10 mL ampoules.

Annex 1: WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 22nd List (2021)

27. VITAMINS AND MINERALS ascorbic acid Tablet: 50 mg. calcium Tablet: 500 mg (elemental). □ colecalciferol [c] Oral liquid: 400 IU/mL. Therapeutic alternatives: Solid oral dosage form: 400 IU; 1000 IU. ergocalciferol □ ergocalciferol Oral liquid: 250 micrograms/mL (10 000 IU/mL). Therapeutic alternatives: Solid oral dosage form: 1.25 mg (50 000 IU). colecalciferol iodine Capsule: 190 mg. lodized oil: 1 mL (480 mg iodine); 0.5 mL (240 mg iodine) in ampoule (oral or injectable); 0.57 mL (308 mg iodine) in dispenser bottle. multiple micronutrient Sachets containing: powder [c] - iron (elemental) 12.5 mg (as coated ferrous fumarate) - zinc (elemental) 5 mg - vitamin A 300 micrograms - with or without other micronutrients at recommended daily values nicotinamide Tablet: 50 mg. Tablet: 25 mg (hydrochloride). pyridoxine retinol Capsule: 50 000 IU; 100 000 IU; 200 000 IU (as palmitate). Oral oily solution: 100 000 IU/mL (as palmitate) in multidose dispenser. Tablet (sugar-coated): 10 000 IU (as palmitate). Water-miscible injection: 100 000 IU (as palmitate) in 2 mL ampoule. riboflavin Tablet: 5 mg. thiamine Tablet: 50 mg (hydrochloride). **Complementary List** calcium gluconate Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 23rd WHO Expert Committee

28. EAR, NOSE AND THROAT MEDICINES					
acetic acid [c]	Topical: 2%, in alcohol.				
□ budesonide [c] Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Nasal spray: 100 micrograms per dose.				
□ ciprofloxacin [c] Therapeutic alternatives: – ofloxacin	<b>Solution (ear drops):</b> 0.3% (as hydrochloride).				
xylometazoline <b>a</b> [c]	Nasal spray: 0.05%.				
Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>a</b> Not in children less than 3 months.				
29. MEDICINES FOR DISEASE	S OF JOINTS				
29.1 Medicines used to treat	gout				
allopurinol	Tablet: 100 mg.				
29.2 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)					
chloroquine	Tablet: 100 mg; 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate).				
Complementary List					
azathioprine	<b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.				
hydroxychloroquine	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg (as sulfate).				
methotrexate	Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium salt).				
penicillamine	Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg.				
sulfasalazine	<b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg.				
29.3 Juvenile joint diseases					
Complementary List					
acetylsalicylic acid*	Suppository: 50 mg to 150 mg.				
(acute or chronic use)	Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.				
	* For use for rheumatic fever, juvenile arthritis, Kawasaki disease.				

30. DENTAL PREPARATIONS	
fluoride	<b>Paste, cream or gel:</b> containing between 1000 and 1500 ppm fluoride (any type). <b>In other appropriate topical formulations.</b>
glass ionomer cement	Single-use capsules: 0.4 g powder + 0.09 mL liquid. Multi-use bottle: powder + liquid. Powder (fluoro-alumino-silicate glass) contains: 25-50% silicate, 20-40% aluminium oxide, 1-20% fluoride, 15-40% metal oxide, 0-15% phosphate, remainder are polyacrylic acid powder and metals in minimal quantities. Liquid (aqueous) contains: 7-25% polybasic carboxylic acid, 45-60% polyacrylic acid.
silver diamine fluoride	Solution: 38% w/v.

# Table 1.1: Medicines with age or weight restrictions

artesunate + pyronaridine tetraphosphate	> 5 kg
atropine	> 3 months
bedaquiline	≥ 5 years
benzyl benzoate	> 2 years
betamethasone topical preparations	hydrocortisone preferred in neonates
cefazolin	> 1 month
ceftriaxone	> 41 weeks corrected gestational age
darunavir	> 3 years
delamanid	≥ 3 years (25 mg dispersible tablet) ≥ 6 years (50 mg tablet)
dihydroartemisinin + piperaquine phosphate	> 5 kg
diloxanide	> 25 kg
dolutegravir	$\ge$ 4 weeks and $\ge$ 3 kg (10 mg dispersible tablet) $\ge$ 25 kg (50 mg tablet)
doxycycline	> 8 years (except for serious infections e.g. cholera)
fluoxetine	> 8 years
ibuprofen	> 3 months (except IV form for patent ductus arteriosus)
mefloquine	> 5 kg or > 3 months
metoclopramide	Not in neonates
nevirapine	> 6 weeks
ondansetron	> 1 month
silver sulfadiazine	> 2 months
tetracaine	Not in preterm neonates
xylometazoline	> 3 months

# Table 1.2: Explanation of dosage forms

# A. Principal dosage forms used in EML – oral administration

Term	Definition
Solid oral dosage form	Refers to tablets or capsules or other solid dosage forms such as 'melts' that are immediate-release preparations. It implies that there is no difference in clinical efficacy or safety between the available dosage forms, and countries should therefore choose the form(s) to be listed depending on quality and availability.
	The term 'solid oral dosage form' is never intended to allow any type of modified-release tablet.
Tablets	Refers to:
	<ul> <li>uncoated or coated (film-coated or sugar-coated) tablets that are intended to be swallowed whole;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>unscored and scored*;</li> <li>tablets that are intended to be chewed before being swallowed;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>tablets that are intended to be dispersed or dissolved in water or another suitable liquid before being swallowed;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>tablets that are intended to be crushed before being swallowed.</li> </ul>
	The term 'tablet' without qualification is never intended to allow any type of modified-release tablet.
	<ul> <li>Scored tablets may be divided for ease of swallowing, provided that dose is a whole number of tablets</li> </ul>
Tablets (qualified)	Refers to a specific type of tablet:
	<b>chewable</b> - tablets that are intended to be chewed before being swallowed;
	<b>dispersible</b> - tablets that are intended to be dispersed in water or another suitable liquid before being swallowed;
	<b>soluble</b> - tablets that are intended to be dissolved in water or another suitable liquid before being swallowed;
	<b>crushable</b> - tablets that are intended to be crushed before being swallowed;
	<b>scored</b> - tablets bearing a break mark or marks where sub- division is intended in order to provide doses of less than one tablet;
	<b>sublingual</b> - tablets that are intended to be placed beneath the tongue.

Та	bl	e	1	.2	continued

Term	Definition
	The term 'tablet' is <i>always</i> qualified with an additional term (in parentheses) in entries where one of the following types of tablet is intended: <b>gastro-resistant</b> (such tablets may sometimes be described as enteric-coated or as delayed-release), <b>prolonged-release</b> or another modified- release form.
Capsules	Refers to hard or soft capsules. The term 'capsule' without qualification is <i>never</i> intended to allow any type of modified-release capsule.
Capsules (qualified)	The term 'capsule' with qualification refers to <b>gastro-</b> <b>resistant</b> (such capsules may sometimes be described as enteric-coated or as delayed-release), <b>prolonged-release</b> or another modified-release form.
Granules	Preparations that are issued to patient as granules to be swallowed without further preparation, to be chewed, or to be taken in or with water or another suitable liquid. The term 'granules' without further qualification is <i>never</i> intended to allow any type of modified-release granules.
Oral powder	Preparations that are issued to patient as powder (usually as single-dose) to be taken in or with water or another suitable liquid.
Oral liquid	Liquid preparations intended to be <i>swallowed</i> i.e. oral solutions, suspensions, emulsions and oral drops, including those constituted from powders or granules, but not those preparations intended for <i>oromucosal administration</i> e.g. gargles and mouthwashes.
	Oral liquids presented as powders or granules may offer benefits in the form of better stability and lower transport costs. If more than one type of oral liquid is available on the same market (e.g. solution, suspension, granules for reconstitution), they may be interchanged and in such cases should be bioequivalent. It is preferable that oral liquids do not contain sugar and that solutions for children do not contain alcohol.

# B. Principal dosage forms used in EML - parenteral administration

Term	Definition		
Injection	Refers to solutions, suspensions and emulsions including those constituted from powders or concentrated solutions.		
Injection (qualified)	Route of administration is indicated in parentheses where relevant.		
Injection (oily)	The term 'injection' is qualified by '(oily)' in relevant entries.		
Intravenous infusion	Refers to solutions and emulsions including those constituted from powders or concentrated solutions.		

# C. Other dosage forms

Mode of administration	Term to be used
To the eye	Eye drops, eye ointments.
Topical	For liquids: lotions, paints. For semi-solids: cream, ointment.
Rectal	Suppositories, gel or solution.
Vaginal	Pessaries or vaginal tablets.
Inhalation	Powder for inhalation, pressurized inhalation, nebulizer.

# Annex 2

# WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children – 8th List (2021)

# **Explanatory notes**

# This Model List is intended for use for children up to and including 12 years of age

The **core list** presents a list of minimum medicine needs for a basic health-care system, listing the most efficacious, safe and cost-effective medicines for priority conditions. Priority conditions are selected on the basis of current and estimated future public health relevance, and potential for safe and cost-effective treatment.

The **complementary list** presents essential medicines for priority diseases, for which specialized diagnostic or monitoring facilities, and/or specialist medical care, and/or specialist training are needed. In case of doubt medicines may also be listed as complementary on the basis of consistent higher costs or less attractive cost–effectiveness in a variety of settings.

The square box symbol  $(\Box)$  is intended to indicate therapeutic alternatives to the listed medicine that may be considered for selection in national essential medicines lists. Alternatives may be individual medicines, or multiple medicines within a pharmacological class or chemical subgroup, defined at the 4th level of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification, which have similar clinical effectiveness and safety. The listed medicine should be the example of the class or subgroup for which there is the best evidence for effectiveness and safety. In some cases, this may be the first medicine that is licensed for marketing; in other instances, subsequently licensed compounds may be safer or more effective. Where there is no difference in terms of efficacy and safety data, the listed medicine should be the one that is generally available at the lowest price, based on international drug price information sources. A square box is not used to indicate alternative generic brands of the same small molecule medicines, nor alternative biosimilars of biological medicines. However, the selection and use of quality-assured generics and biosimilars of essential medicines at country level is recommended.

National lists should not use a similar symbol and should be specific in their final selection, which would depend on local availability and price.

The format and numbering of the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines is used for the 8th WHO Model Essential List for Children. Some sections have been deleted because they contain medicines that are not relevant for children.

The **a** symbol indicates that there is an age or weight restriction on use of the medicine; details for each medicine are in Table 1.1 of Annex 1.

The presence of an entry on the Essential Medicines List for Children carries no assurance as to pharmaceutical quality. It is the responsibility of the relevant national or regional drug regulatory authority to ensure that each product is of appropriate pharmaceutical quality (including stability) and that when relevant, different products are interchangeable.

For recommendations and advice concerning all aspects of the quality assurance of medicines see the WHO Medicines website https://www.who.int/ teams/health-product-and-policy-standards/standards-and-specifications/ norms-and-standards-for-pharmaceuticals/guidelines/quality-assurance.

Medicines and dosage forms are listed in alphabetical order within each section and the order of listing does not imply preference for one form over another. Standard treatment guidelines should be consulted for information on appropriate dosage forms.

The main terms used for dosage forms in the Essential Medicines List can be found in Table 1.2 of Annex 1.

Definitions of many of these terms and pharmaceutical quality requirements applicable to the different categories are published in the current edition of *The International Pharmacopoeia* https://www.who.int/teams/ health-product-and-policy-standards/standards-and-specifications/norms-and-standards-for-pharmaceuticals/pharmacopoeia.

# 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES

# 1.1 General anaesthetics and oxygen

# 1.1.1 Inhalational medicines

halothane	Inhalation.
isoflurane	Inhalation.
nitrous oxide	Inhalation.
oxygen	Inhalation (medical gas).
1.1.2 Injectable medicines	
ketamine	Injection: 50 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 10 mL vial.
□ propofol*	Injection: 10 mg/mL; 20 mg/mL.
Therapeutic alternatives: – thiopental	

## 1.2 Local anaesthetics

☐ bupivacaine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Injection:</b> 0.25%; 0.5% (hydrochloride) in vial. <b>Injection for spinal anaesthesia:</b> 0.5% (hydrochloride) in 4 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution.	
☐ lidocaine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Injection: 1%; 2% (hydrochloride) in vial. Injection for spinal anaesthesia: 5% (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution. Topical forms: 2% to 4% (hydrochloride).	
lidocaine + epinephrine (adrenaline)	Dental cartridge: 2% (hydrochloride) + epinephrine 1:80 000. Injection: 1%; 2% (hydrochloride or sulfate) + epinephrine 1:200 000 in vial.	
1.3 Preoperative medication and sedation for short-term procedures		
atropine	Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1mL ampoule.	
☐ midazolam Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Injection: 1 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL. Tablet: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.	
morphine	<b>Injection</b> : 10 mg (sulfate or hydrochloride) in 1mL ampoule.	

#### 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES (continued)

#### 1.4 Medical gases

oxy	٧q	en	*۱

### Inhalation

For use in the management of hypoxaemia.

\* No more than 30% oxygen should be used to initiate resuscitation of neonates less than or equal to 32 weeks of gestation.

### 2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE

2.1 Non-opioids and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medicines (NSAIMs)		
ibuprofen a	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg. <b>a</b> Not in children less than 3 months.	
paracetamol*	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 120 mg/5 mL; 125 mg/5 mL. <b>Suppository:</b> 100 mg.	
	Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.	
	<ul> <li>Not recommended for anti-inflammatory use due to lack of proven benefit to that effect.</li> </ul>	
2.2 Opioid analgesics		
morphine Therapeutic alternatives:	<b>Granules (slow release; to mix with water):</b> 20 mg to 200 mg (morphine sulfate).	
<ul><li>hydrormorphone</li><li>oxycodone</li></ul>	<b>Injection:</b> 10 mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.	
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 10 mg/5 mL (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate).	
	<b>Tablet (slow release):</b> 10 mg to 200mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate).	
	Tablet (immediate release): 10 mg (morphine sulfate).	

## **Complementary list**

methadone\*

Tablet: 5 r	mg; 10 mg (hydrochloride).
Oral liqui	d: 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride).
Concentre	ate for oral liquid: 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL
(hydrochle	oride)
* For the m	nanagement of cancer pain.

2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE (continued)

 IIIED I CII IED	 	er title (continued)

amitriptylineTablet: 10 mg; 25 mg.cyclizineInjection: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg.dexamethasoneInjection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in
Tablet: 50 mg.dexamethasoneInjection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in
······································
1 mL ampoule. <b>Oral liquid:</b> 2 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg.
diazepam Injection: 5 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL. Rectal solution: 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 10 mg. Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg.
docusate sodium Capsule: 100 mg. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.
fluoxetine aSolid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride).a> 8 years.
hyoscine hydrobromide Injection: 400 micrograms/mL; 600 micrograms/mL. Transdermal patches: 1 mg/72 hours.
lactulose Oral liquid: 3.1 to 3.7 g/5 mL.
midazolam Injection: 1 mg/mL; 5 mg/mL. Oral liquid: 2mg/mL. Solid oral dosage form: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.
Image: ondansetron aInjection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampouleTherapeutic alternatives(as hydrochloride) dolasetronOral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL granisetronSolid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base palonosetrona > 1 month.
senna Oral liquid: 7.5 mg/5 mL.

## 3. ANTIALLERGICS AND MEDICINES USED IN ANAPHYLAXIS

dexamethasone	<b>Injection:</b> 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule.
epinephrine (adrenaline)	<b>Injection:</b> 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule.
hydrocortisone	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial.
<ul> <li>loratadine*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>cetirizine</li> <li>fexofenadine</li> </ul>	Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL. Tablet: 10 mg. * There may be a role for sedating antihistamines for limited indications.
<ul> <li>prednisolone</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>prednisone</li> </ul>	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 25 mg.

## 4. ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS

## 4.1 Non-specific

charcoal, activated	Powder.
4.2 Specific	
acetylcysteine	Injection: 200 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 10%; 20%.
atropine	Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.
calcium gluconate	Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
naloxone	<b>Injection:</b> 400 micrograms (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule.
Complementary List	
deferoxamine	Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.
dimercaprol	Injection in oil: 50 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule.
fomepizole	<b>Injection:</b> 5 mg/mL (sulfate) in 20 mL ampoule or 1 g/mL (base) in 1.5 mL ampoule.
sodium calcium edetate	Injection: 200 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.
succimer	Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg.

# 5. ANTICONVULSANTS/ANTIEPILEPTICS

carbamazepine	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet (chewable):</b> 100 mg; 200 mg. <b>Tablet (scored):</b> 100 mg; 200 mg.
diazepam	<b>Gel or rectal solution:</b> 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL; 2 mL; 4 mL tubes.
lamotrigine*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg.</li> <li>Tablet (chewable, dispersible): 2 mg; 5 mg; 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg.</li> <li>* For use as adjunctive therapy for treatment-resistant partial or generalized seizures.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>☐ lorazepam</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>– diazepam (injection)</li> <li>– midazolam (injection)</li> </ul>	<b>Injection:</b> 2 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule; 4 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.
midazolam	<ul> <li>Solution for oromucosal administration: 5 mg/mL;</li> <li>10 mg/mL.</li> <li>Ampoule*: 1 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL.</li> <li>* For buccal administration when solution for oromucosal administration is not available</li> </ul>
phenobarbital	<b>Injection:</b> 200 mg/mL (sodium). <b>Oral liquid:</b> 15 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 15 mg to 100 mg.
phenytoin	<ul> <li>Injection: 50 mg/mL (sodium) in 5 mL vial.</li> <li>Oral liquid: 25 mg to 30 mg/5 mL.*</li> <li>Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg (sodium)</li> <li>Tablet (chewable): 50 mg.</li> <li>* The presence of both 25 mg/5 mL and 30 mg/5 mL strengths on the same market would cause confusion in prescribing and dispensing and should be avoided.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>valproic acid</li> <li>(sodium valproate)*</li> <li>* avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child- bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb.</li> </ul>	Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL. Tablet (crushable): 100 mg. Tablet (enteric-coated): 200 mg; 500 mg.

# 5. ANTICONVULSANTS/ANTIEPILEPTICS (continued)

# **Complementary List**

ethosuximide	<b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg. <b>Oral liquid:</b> 250 mg/5 mL.
valproic acid (sodium valproate)*	<b>Injection:</b> 100 mg/mL in 4 mL ampoule; 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
* avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb.	

## 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES

# 6.1 Anthelminthics

## 6.1.1 Intestinal anthelminthics

albendazole	Tablet (chewable): 400 mg.
ivermectin	Tablet (scored): 3 mg.
levamisole	Tablet: 50 mg; 150 mg (as hydrochloride).
mebendazole	Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 500 mg.
niclosamide	Tablet (chewable): 500 mg.
praziquantel	Tablet: 150 mg; 600 mg.
pyrantel	Oral liquid: 50 mg (as embonate or pamoate)/mL.
	Tablet (chewable): 250 mg (as embonate or pamoate).

## 6.1.2 Antifilarials

albendazole	Tablet (chewable): 400 mg.
diethylcarbamazine	Tablet: 50 mg; 100 mg (dihydrogen citrate).
ivermectin	Tablet (scored): 3 mg.

## 6.1.3 Antischistosomals and other antitrematode medicines

praziquantel	Tablet: 600 mg.
triclabendazole	Tablet: 250 mg.
Complementary List	
oxamniquine*	Capsule: 250 mg.
	Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL.
	* For use when praziquantel treatment fails.
6.1.4 Cysticidal medicines	

# Complementary List

albendazole	Tablet (chewable): 400 mg.
mebendazole	Tablet (chewable): 500 mg.
praziquantel	<b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg; 600 mg

#### 6.2 Antibacterials

To assist in the development of tools for antibiotic stewardship at local, national and global levels and to reduce antimicrobial resistance, the Access, Watch, Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics has been developed by WHO – where antibiotics are classified into different groups to emphasize the importance of their appropriate use.

### ACCESS GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotics that have activity against a wide range of commonly encountered susceptible pathogens while also showing lower resistance potential than antibiotics in the other groups. Selected Access group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for infectious syndromes reviewed by the EML Expert Committee and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists to improve access and promote appropriate use. They are essential antibiotics that should be widely available, affordable and quality assured.

### WATCH GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotic classes that have higher resistance potential and includes most of the highest priority agents among the Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine and/or antibiotics that are at relatively high risk of selection of bacterial resistance. These medicines should be prioritized as key targets of stewardship programs and monitoring. Selected Watch group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for a limited number of specific infectious syndromes and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists.

## **RESERVE GROUP ANTIBIOTICS**

This group includes antibiotics and antibiotic classes that should be reserved for treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multi-drug-resistant organisms. Reserve group antibiotics should be treated as "last resort" options. Selected Reserve group antibiotics are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists when they have a favourable risk-benefit profile and proven activity against "Critical Priority" or "High Priority" pathogens identified by the WHO Priority Pathogens List, notably carbapenem resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*. These antibiotics should be accessible, but their use should be tailored to highly specific patients and settings, when all alternatives have failed or are not suitable. These medicines could be protected and prioritized as key targets of national and international stewardship programs involving monitoring and utilization reporting, to preserve their effectiveness.

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)			
6.2.1 Access group antibiotics			
amikacin	Injection: 250 mg/mL (as su	Injection: 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	– High-risk febrile neutropenia	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children</li> </ul>	
	– Pyelonephritis (severe)		
amoxicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 m in vial.	ng; 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium)	
	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 (as trihydrate).	mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL	
	Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg; 500 mg (as trihydrate		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	– Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)	– Acute bacterial meningitis	
	– Community acquired pneumonia (severe)		
	<ul> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition</li> </ul>		
	– Otitis media		
	– Pharyngitis		
	<ul> <li>Progressive apical dental abscess</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children</li> </ul>		
	– Sinusitis		
	<ul> <li>Uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition</li> </ul>		

amoxicillin + clavulanic acid	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg (as sodium) + 100 mg (as potassium salt); 1000 mg (as sodium) + 200 mg (as potassium salt) in vial.	
	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg (as trihydrate) + 31.25 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL; 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5mL.	
	<b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrat salt).	e) + 125 mg (as potassium
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Community acquired pneumonia (severe)	<ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Community acquired</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections</li> </ul>	pneumonia (mild to moderate)
	(mild to moderate)	– Community acquired
	– Hospital acquired pneumonia	pneumonia (severe) – Otitis media
	<ul> <li>Low-risk febrile neutropenia</li> </ul>	– Surgical prophylaxis
	<ul> <li>Lower urinary tract infections</li> </ul>	
	– Sinusitis	
	<ul> <li>Skin and soft tissue infections</li> </ul>	
ampicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium) in vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	– Community acquired pneumonia (severe)	– Acute bacterial meningitis
	<ul> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children</li> </ul>	

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)			
benzathine benzylpenicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1.2 million IU ( $\approx$ 900 mg) in vial; 2.4 million IU ( $\approx$ 1.8 g) in vial.		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	– Syphilis (congenital)		
benzylpenicillin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 600 mg (= 1 million IU); 3 g (= 5 million IU) (sodium or potassium salt) in vial.		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	– Community acquired pneumonia (severe)	– Acute bacterial meningitis	
	<ul> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children</li> </ul>		
	– Syphilis (congenital)		
cefalexin	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL (anhydrous).		
	Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg (as monohydrate).		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	<ul> <li>Skin and soft tissue infections</li> </ul>	– Pharyngitis	
cefazolin a	Powder for injection: 1 g (as <b>a</b> > 1 month.	sodium salt) in vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE	
	– Surgical prophylaxis	– Bone and joint infections	
chloramphenicol	Capsule: 250 mg.		
	<b>Oily suspension for injection*:</b> 0.5 g/mL (as sodium succinate) in 2 mL ampoule.		
	* Only for the presumptive treatment of epidemic meningitis in children older than 2 years.		
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 150 mg/5 mL (as palmitate).		
	Powder for injection: 1 g (s	odium succinate) in vial.	
	FIRST CHOICE	<b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> </ul>	
		gno	

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDIC		
clindamycin	<b>Capsule:</b> 150 mg (as hydrochloride). Injection: 150 mg/mL (as phosphate). <b>Oral liquid:</b> 75 mg/5 mL (as palmitate).	
	<b>FIRST CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>– Necrotizing fasciitis</li> </ul>	SECOND CHOICE - Bone and joint infections
<ul> <li>cloxacillin*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (J01CF Beta-</li> </ul>	Capsule: 500 mg; 1 g (as sou Powder for injection: 500 n Powder for oral liquid: 125 * cloxacillin, dicloxacillin and flue	ng (as sodium) in vial. mg/5 mL (as sodium). cloxacillin are preferred for oral
lactamase resistant penicillins)	administration due to better b FIRST CHOICE – Bone and joint infections – Skin and soft tissue infections	SECOND CHOICE  - Sepsis in neonates and children
doxycycline <b>a</b>	<ul> <li>Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL; 50 mg/5 mL (anhydrous).</li> <li>Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial.</li> <li>Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg (as hyclate).</li> <li>a Use in children &lt;8 years only for life-threatening infections when no alternative exists.</li> </ul>	
	FIRST CHOICE	<b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Cholera</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)</li> </ul>
gentamicin	Injection: 10 mg/mL (as sulfate); 40 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.	
	<ul> <li>FIRST CHOICE</li> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis in neonates</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections</li> <li>Complicated severe acute malnutrition</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and</li> </ul>	<b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Surgical prophylaxis</li> </ul>

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)		
metronidazole	Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial. Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate). Tablet: 200 mg to 500 mg.	
	FIRST CHOICE <ul> <li>C. difficile infection</li> <li>Complicated intra- abdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated intra- abdominal infections (severe)</li> <li>Necrotizing fasciitis</li> <li>Surgical prophylaxis</li> </ul>	<b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Complicated intra- abdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> </ul>
nitrofurantoin	Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 100 mg.	
	FIRST CHOICE – Lower urinary tract infections	SECOND CHOICE
phenoxymethylpenicillin	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 250 <b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg (as potassiu	
	FIRST CHOICE <ul> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Pharyngitis</li> <li>Progressive apical dental abscess</li> </ul>	SECOND CHOICE
procaine benzylpenicillin* Powder for injection: 1 g (=1 million IU) IU) in vial. * Procaine benzylpenicillin is not recommende treatment for neonatal sepsis / sepsis except high neonatal mortality, when given by train- in cases where hospital care is not achievable		t recommended as first-line sepsis except in settings with given by trained health workers
	<b>FIRST CHOICE</b> – Syphilis (congenital)	SECOND CHOICE

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICI	NES (continued)	
sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim	<b>Injection:</b> 80 mg + 16 mg/ mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg + 16 mg/ mL in 10 mL ampoule. <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg.	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE
	<ul> <li>Lower urinary tract infections</li> </ul>	– Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery
trimethoprim	Tablet: 100 mg; 200 mg.	
	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.	
	<b>FIRST CHOICE</b> – Lower urinary tract infections	SECOND CHOICE
6.2.2 Watch group antibiot	cs	
azithromycin	<b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg (anhydrous). <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg/5 mL.	
	FIRST CHOICE – Cholera – Enteric fever – Trachoma – Yaws	<b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> </ul>
cefixime	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL.	
	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg (as trihydrate).	
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE – Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MED	DICINES (continued)		
cefotaxime*	-	<ul> <li>Powder for injection: 250 mg (as sodium) in vial.</li> <li>* 3rd generation cephalosporin of choice for use in hospitalized neonates.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>FIRST CHOICE <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe)</li> <li>Hospital acquired pneumonia</li> <li>Pyelonephritis (severe)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SECOND CHOICE <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis (mild to moderate)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children</li> </ul>	
ceftriaxone* a	<ul> <li>* Do not administer with calcium hyperbilirubinaemia.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Powder for injection: 250 mg; 1 g (as sodium) in vial.</li> <li>* Do not administer with calcium and avoid in infants with hyperbilirubinaemia.</li> <li>a &gt; 41 weeks corrected gestational age.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>FIRST CHOICE <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe)</li> <li>Endophthalmitis</li> <li>Enteric fever</li> <li>Hospital acquired pneumonia</li> <li>Necrotizing fasciitis</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	SECOND CHOICE <ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelohepnritis or prostatiti. (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children</li> </ul>	

cefuroxime	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 mg; 750 mg; 1.5 g (as sodium) in vial.		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE Surgical prophylaxis	
ciprofloxacin	Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL (a Solution for IV infusion: 2 m Solid oral dosage form: 250	ng/mL (as hyclate).	
	<ul> <li>FIRST CHOICE</li> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Enteric fever</li> <li>Low-risk febrile neutropenia</li> <li>Pyelonephritis (mild to moderate)</li> </ul>	SECOND CHOICE – Cholera – Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)	
□ clarithromycin Therapeutic alternatives: – erythromycin	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL. <b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg in vial. <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 500 mg.		
	FIRST CHOICE	<b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Pharyngitis</li> </ul>	
piperacillin + tazobactam	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 2 g (as sodium) + 250 mg (as sodium); 4 g (as sodium) + 500 mg (as sodium) in vial.		
	FIRST CHOICE <ul> <li>Complicated <ul> <li>intraabdominal infections</li> <li>(severe)</li> </ul> </li> <li>High-risk febrile <ul> <li>neutropenia</li> </ul> </li> <li>Hospital acquired <ul> <li>pneumonia</li> <li>Necrotizing fasciitis</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	SECOND CHOICE	
vancomycin	Capsule: 125 mg; 250 mg (as hydrochloride).		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE – C. difficile infection	

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN	NES (continued)			
Complementary List				
ceftazidime	Powder for injection: 250 m	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 mg; 1 g (as pentahydrate) in vial.		
	<b>FIRST CHOICE</b> <i>– Endophthalmitis</i>	SECOND CHOICE		
☐ meropenem* a Therapeutic alternatives*: – imipenem + cilastatin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate); 1 g (as trihydrate) in vial <b>a</b> > 3 months.			
* complicated intraabdominal	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE		
infections and high-risk febrile neutropenia only. Meropenem is the preferred choice for acute bacterial meningitis in neonates.		– Acute bacterial meningitis in neonates		
		– Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe)		
		– High-risk febrile neutropenia		
vancomycin	Powder for injection: 250 m	g (as hydrochloride) in vial.		
	FIRST CHOICE	SECOND CHOICE		
	– Endophthalmitis	– High-risk febrile		
	– Necrotizing fasciitis	neutropenia		
6.2.3 Reserve group antibio	tics			
Complementary List				
ceftazidime + avibactam	<b>Powder for injection:</b> $2g + 0.5g$ in vial.			
colistin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 million IU (as colistemethate sodium) in vial.			
fosfomycin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 2 g; 4 g (as sodium) in vial.			
linezolid	Injection for intravenous administration: 2 mg/mL in			

300 mL bag.

polymyxin B

Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL.

*Powder for injection:* 500,000 IU in vial.

Tablet: 400 mg; 600 mg.

#### 6.2.4 Antileprosy medicines

Medicines used in the treatment of leprosy should never be used except in combination. Combination therapy is essential to prevent the emergence of drug resistance. Colour-coded blister packs (MDT blister packs) containing standard two-medicine (paucibacillary leprosy) or three-medicine (multibacillary leprosy) combinations for adult and childhood leprosy should be used. MDT blister packs can be supplied free of charge through WHO.

clofazimine	<b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg; 100 mg.
dapsone	<b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg.
rifampicin	Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg; 300 mg.

## 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

ethambutol	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 25 mg/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 400 mg (hydrochloride). <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg.
isoniazid	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 300 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg.
isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin	<b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 50 mg + 150 mg + 75 mg.
isoniazid + rifampicin	Tablet (dispersible): 50 mg + 75 mg.
isoniazid + rifapentine	<b>Tablet (scored):</b> 300 mg + 300 mg.
pyrazinamide	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 30 mg/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 400 mg; 500 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 150 mg.
rifampicin	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL. <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 150 mg; 300 mg.
rifapentine	<b>Tablet:</b> 150 mg; 300 mg.

# **Complementary List**

Medicines for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) should be used in specialized centres adhering to WHO standards for TB control.

amikacin	<b>Injection:</b> 100 mg/2 mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial; 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.
amoxicillin + clavulanic acid*	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt). * For use only in combination with meropenem.
bedaquiline <b>a</b>	<b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg;100 mg. <b>a</b> $\geq$ 5 years
clofazimine	Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.
cycloserine	Solid oral dosage form: 125 mg; 250 mg.
delamanid <b>a</b>	Tablet (dispersible): 25 mg. a ≥3 years Tablet: 50 mg. a ≥6 years
☐ ethionamide Therapeutic alternatives: – protionamide	Tablet: 125 mg; 250 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg.
levofloxacin	<b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg.
linezolid	<b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL. <b>Tablet:</b> 600 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 150 mg.
meropenem	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate); 1 g (as trihydrate) in vial.
moxifloxacin	Tablet: 400 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg.
p-aminosalicylic acid	Granules: 4 g in sachet.
streptomycin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as sulfate) in vial.

6.3 Antifungal medicines	
amphotericin B	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg in vial (as sodium deoxycholate or liposomal complex).
fluconazole	<b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg. Injection: 2 mg/mL in vial. <b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/5 mL.
flucytosine	<b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg. Infusion: 2.5 g in 250 mL.
griseofulvin	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL. <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 125 mg; 250 mg.
itraconazole*	<ul> <li>Capsule: 100 mg.</li> <li>Oral liquid: 10 mg/mL.</li> <li>* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis, acute invasive aspergillosis, histoplasmosis, sporotrichosis, paracoccidiodomycosis, mycoses caused by <i>T. marneffei</i> and chromoblastomycosis; and prophylaxis of histoplasmosis and infections caused by <i>T. marneffei</i> in AIDS patients.</li> </ul>
nystatin	Lozenge: 100 000 IU. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL; 100 000 IU/mL. Tablet: 100 000 IU; 500 000 IU.
voriconazole*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 50 mg; 200 mg.</li> <li>Powder for injection: 200 mg in vial.</li> <li>Powder for oral liquid: 40 mg/mL.</li> <li>* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis and acute invasive aspergillosis.</li> </ul>
Complementary List	
☐ micafungin Therapeutic alternatives: – anidulafungin – caspofungin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium); 100 mg (as sodium) in vial.
potassium iodide	Saturated solution.

and

### 6.4 Antiviral medicines

### 6.4.1 Antiherpes medicines

aciclovir

Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL. Powder for injection: 250 mg (as sodium salt) in vial. Tablet: 200 mg.

#### 6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

Based on current evidence and experience of use, medicines in the following classes of antiretrovirals are included as essential medicines for treatment and prevention of HIV (prevention of mother-to-child transmission and post-exposure prophylaxis). WHO emphasizes the importance of using these products in accordance with global and national guidelines. WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

Scored tablets can be used in children and therefore can be considered for inclusion in the listing of tablets, provided that adequate quality products are available.

### 6.4.2.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

lamivudine	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.
zidovudine	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.
6.4.2.2 Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors	
nevirapine <b>a</b>	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.
	Tablet (dispersible): 50 mg.
	$ \mathbf{a}  > 6$ weeks

#### 6.4.2.3 Protease inhibitors

Selection of protease inhibitor(s) from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international and national treatment guidelines and experience. Ritonavir is recommended for use in combination as a pharmacological booster, and not as an antiretroviral in its own right. All other protease inhibitors should be used in boosted forms (e.g. with ritonavir).

darunavir <mark>a</mark>	Tablet: 75 mg.a> 3 years
lopinavir + ritonavir	Solid oral dosage form: 40 mg + 10 mg. Tablet (heat stable): 100 mg + 25 mg.
ritonavir	Tablet (heat stable): 25 mg; 100 mg.
6.4.2.4 Integrase inhibitors	
dolutegravir a	Tablet (dispersible, scored): 10 mg.a) ≥4 weeks and ≥3 kgTablet: 50 mg.a) ≥ 25 kg
raltegravir*	<ul> <li>Granules for oral suspension: 100 mg in sachet.</li> <li>Tablet (chewable): 25 mg.</li> <li>* For use in second-line regimens in accordance with WHO treatment guidelines.</li> </ul>
CADE Studies and the stand of antipation include distance	

#### 6.4.2.5 Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines

abacavir + lamivudine	Tablet (dispersible, scored): 120 mg (as sulfate) + 60 mg.
lamivudine + zidovudine	<b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg + 60 mg.
6.4.2.6 Medicines for prevention of HIV-related opportunistic infections	

isoniazid + pyridoxine +	Tablet (scored): 300 mg + 25 mg + 800 mg + 160 mg.
sulfamethoxazole +	
trimethoprim	

6.4.3 Other antivirals	
ribavirin	<b>Injection for intravenous administration:</b> 800 mg and 1 g in 10 mL phosphate buffer solution.
	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.
	* For the treatment of viral haemorrhagic fevers only.
Complementary List	
oseltamivir*	<b>Capsule:</b> 30 mg; 45 mg; 75 mg (as phosphate).
	* Severe illness due to confirmed or suspected influenza virus infection in critically ill hospitalized patients.
valganciclovir*	Powder for oral solution: 50 mg/mL
	<b>Tablet:</b> 450 mg.
	* For the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis (CMVr).

#### 6.4.4 Antihepatitis medicines

#### 6.4.4.1 Medicines for hepatitis B

#### 6.4.4.1.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

entecavir	Oral liquid: 0.05 mg/mL.
	Tablet: 0.5 mg; 1 mg.

# 6.4.4.2 Medicines for hepatitis C

Pangenotypic direct-acting antivirals should be considered as therapeutically equivalent for the purposes of selection and procurement at national level.

# 6.4.4.2.1 Dangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

daclatasvir*	<b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg; 60 mg (as hydrochloride).           * Pangenotypic when used in combination with sofosbuvir.
daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	<b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg + 400 mg.
glecaprevir + pibrentasvir	Granules: 50 mg + 20 mg in sachet. Tablet: 100 mg + 40 mg.
sofosbuvir*	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg.           * Pangenotypic when used in combination with daclatasvir.
sofosbuvir + velpatasvir	<b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg + 50 mg; 400 mg + 100 mg.
6.4.4.2.2 Non-pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations	

6.4.4.2.3 Other antivirals for hepatitis C

# 6.5 Antiprotozoal medicines

# 6.5.1 Antiamoebic and antigiardiasis medicines

diloxanide <b>a</b>	Tablet: 500 mg (furoate).
	<b>a</b> > 25 kg.
□ metronidazole	Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.
Therapeutic alternatives:	Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate).
– tinidazole	Tablet: 200 mg to 500 mg.

# 6.5.2 Antileishmaniasis medicines

amphotericin B	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg in vial (as sodium deoxycholate or liposomal complex).
miltefosine	Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg; 50 mg.
paromomycin	<b>Solution for intramuscular injection:</b> 750 mg of paromomycin base (as sulfate).
sodium stibogluconate <b>or</b> meglumine antimoniate	<b>Injection:</b> 100 mg/mL, 1 vial = 30 mL <b>or</b> 30%, equivalent to approximately 8.1% antimony (pentavalent) in 5 mL ampoule.

#### 6.5.3 Antimalarial medicines

#### 6.5.3.1 For curative treatment

Medicines for the treatment of *P. falciparum* malaria cases should be used in combination. The list currently recommends combinations according to treatment guidelines. WHO recognizes that not all of the fixed dose combinations (FDCs in the WHO treatment guidelines exist, and encourages their development and rigorous testing. WHO also encourages development and testing of rectal dosage formulations.

amodiaquine*	<b>Tablet:</b> 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride).* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.
artemether*	<b>Oily injection:</b> 80 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule. * For use in the management of severe malaria.
artemether + lumefantrine*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 20 mg + 120 mg.</li> <li>Tablet (dispersible): 20 mg + 120 mg.</li> <li>* Not recommended in the first trimester of pregnancy or in children below 5 kg.</li> </ul>
artesunate*	<ul> <li>Injection: ampoules, containing 60 mg anhydrous artesunic acid with a separate ampoule of 5% sodium bicarbonate solution.</li> <li>For use in the management of severe malaria.</li> <li>Rectal dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg capsules (for pre-referral treatment of severe malaria only; patients should be taken to an appropriate health facility for follow-up care).</li> <li>Tablet: 50 mg.</li> <li>* To be used in combination with either amodiaquine, mefloquine or sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine.</li> </ul>
artesunate + amodiaquine*	<ul> <li>Tablet: 25 mg + 67.5 mg; 50 mg + 135 mg; 100 mg + 270 mg.</li> <li>* Other combinations that deliver the target doses required such as 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride) with 50 mg artesunate can be alternatives.</li> </ul>
artesunate + mefloquine	<b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg + 55 mg; 100 mg + 220 mg.
artesunate + pyronaridine tetraphosphate <b>a</b>	Granules: 20 mg + 60 mg. Tablet: 60 mg + 180 mg. a > 5 kg
chloroquine*	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate). Tablet: 100 mg; 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate). * For use only for the treatment of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> infection.

dihydroartemisinin + piperaquine phosphate <b>a</b>	<b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg + 160 mg; 40 mg + 320 mg. <b>a</b> > 5 kg
doxycycline*	<b>Capsule:</b> 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate). <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg (as monohydrate). * For use only in combination with quinine.
mefloquine*	<b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg (as hydrochloride).* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.
primaquine*	<b>Tablet:</b> 7.5 mg; 15 mg (as diphosphate).* Only for use to achieve radical cure of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> and <i>Plasmodium ovale infections</i> , given for 14 days.
quinine*	<ul> <li>Injection: 300 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.</li> <li>Tablet: 300 mg (sulfate) or 300 mg (bisulfate).</li> <li>* For use only in the management of severe malaria and should be used in combination with doxycycline.</li> </ul>
sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine*	<b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg + 25 mg.*Only in combination with artesunate 50 mg.
6.5.3.2 For chemoprevention	
amodiaquine – sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine	<b>Co-packaged dispersible tablets:</b> amodiaquine 76.5 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 250 mg + 12.5 mg [1]; amodiaquine 153 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 500 mg + 25 mg [1].
chloroquine*	Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate). Tablet: 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate). * For use only for the treatment of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> infection.
doxycycline a	Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate). <ul> <li>a &gt; 8 years.</li> </ul>
mefloquine a	Tablet: 250 mg (as hydrochloride).a> 5 kg or > 3 months.
proguanil*	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg (as hydrochloride).* For use only in combination with chloroquine.
sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine	<b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg + 12.5 mg.

782

#### 6.5.4 Antipneumocystosis and antitoxoplasmosis medicines

pyrimethamine	Tablet: 25 mg.
sulfadiazine	Tablet: 500 mg.
sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim	Injection: 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL.
	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg.

#### 6.5.5 Antitrypanosomal medicines

# 6.5.5.1 African trypanosomiasis fexinidazole\* Tablet: 600 mg \* For the treatment of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> stage of human African trypanosomiasis due to Trypanosoma brucei gambiense infection. Medicines for the treatment of 1<sup>st</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis. Powder for injection: 200 mg (as isetionate) in vial. pentamidine\* \* To be used for the treatment of Trypanosoma brucei gambiense infection. suramin sodium\* Powder for injection: 1 q in vial. \* To be used for the treatment of the initial phase of Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense infection. Medicines for the treatment of 2<sup>nd</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis eflornithine\* Injection: 200 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 100 mL bottle. \* To be used for the treatment of *Trypanosoma brucei gambiense* infection. nifurtimox\* Tablet: 120 mg. \* Only to be used in combination with eflornithine, for the treatment of Trypanosoma brucei gambiense infection. Complementary List melarsoprol Injection: 180 mg/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule (3.6% solution).

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) 6.5.5.2 American trypanosomiasis benznidazole Tablet: 12.5 mg; 100 mg. Tablet (scored): 50 mg. nifurtimox Tablet: 30 mg; 120 mg; 250 mg. 6.6 Medicines for ectoparasitic infections ivermectin Tablet (scored): 3 mg 7. ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES 7.1 For treatment of acute attack Tablet: 200 mg; 400 mg. ibuprofen Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL; 125 mg/5 mL. paracetamol Tablet: 300 mg to 500 mg. 7.2 For prophylaxis propranolol Tablet: 20 mg; 40 mg (hydrochloride). 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease **Complementary List** □ adalimumab\* Injection: 40 mg/0.8 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL. Therapeutic alternatives \*: etanercept – infliximab \* including quality-assured biosimilars azathioprine Powder for injection: 100 mg (as sodium salt) in vial. Tablet (scored): 50 mg. ciclosporin Capsule: 25 mg. Concentrate for injection: 50 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule. Capsule (immediate-release): 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1 mg; tacrolimus 2 mg; 5 mg. Granules for oral supsension: 0.2 mg; 1 mg. Injection: 5 mg/mL in 1 mL vial.

#### 8.2 Antineoplastic and supportive medicines

Medicines listed below should be used according to protocols for treatment of the diseases.

# 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

#### **Complementary List**

arsenic trioxide	<b>Concentrate for solution for infusion:</b> 1 mg/mL – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia
asparaginase* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 10 000 IU in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
bleomycin	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 15 mg (as sulfate) in vial. – Hodgkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumours – Testicular germ cell tumours
calcium folinate	<b>Injection:</b> 3 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. <b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 15 mg; 25 mg. – Burkitt lymphoma – Osteosarcoma
carboplatin	Injection: 50 mg/5 mL; 150 mg/15 mL; 450 mg/45 mL; 600 mg/60 mL. – Low-grade glioma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumours – Retinoblastoma – Testicular germ cell tumours
cisplatin	<i>Injection:</i> 10 mg/10 mL; 20 mg/20 mL; 50 mg/50 mL; 100 mg/100mL. – Low-grade glioma – Nasopharyngeal cancer – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumours – Testicular germ cell tumours

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) cyclophosphamide Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg. - Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia Burkitt lymphoma - Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma - Hodgkin lymphoma - Low-grade glioma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Rhabdomyosarcoma Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial. cytarabine - Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia Acute myeloid leukaemia – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia - Burkitt lymphoma

dacarbazine Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial. - Hodgkin lymphoma dactinomycin Powder for injection: 500 micrograms in vial. Ewina sarcoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Rhabdomyosarcoma daunorubicin Powder for injection: 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Acute promyelocytic leukaemia. doxorubicin Powder for injection: 10 mg; 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Burkitt lymphoma Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma – Hodąkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma - Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) Osteosarcoma

786

8.	. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)	
	etoposide	Capsule: 50 mg; 100 mg. Injection: 20 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Acute myeloid leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Ewing sarcoma – Hodgkin lymphoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumours – Retinoblastoma – Testicular germ cell tumours
	fluorouracil	Injection: 50 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. – Early stage colon cancer – Early stage rectal cancer – Metastatic colorectal cancer – Nasopharyngeal cancer
	hydroxycarbamide	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 200 mg; 250 mg; 300 mg; 400 mg; 500 mg; 1 g. – Chronic myeloid leukaemia
	ifosfamide	Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. – Burkitt lymphoma – Ewing sarcoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumours – Rhabdomyosarcoma – Testicular germ cell tumours
	irinotecan	<b>Injection:</b> 40 mg/2 mL in 2 mL vial; 100 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial; 500 mg/25 mL in 25 mL vial. – Metastatic colorectal cancer – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Rhabdomyosarcoma
	mercaptopurine	<b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS	AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)
methotrexate	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium salt) in vial. <b>Tablet:</b> 2.5 mg (as sodium salt). – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Osteosarcoma
oxaliplatin	Injection: 50 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial; 100 mg/20 mL in 20 mL vial; 200 mg/40 mL in 40 mL vial. Powder for injection: 50 mg; 100 mg in vial. – Early stage colon cancer – Metastatic colorectal cancer
paclitaxel	– Metastatic colorectal cancer Injection: 6 mg/mL in vial. – Ovarian germ cell tumours
pegaspargase* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<b>Injection:</b> 3,750 units/5 mL in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.
procarbazine	<b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg (as hydrochloride). – Hodgkin lymphoma
realgar-Indigo naturalis formulation	<b>Tablet:</b> 270 mg (containing tetra-arsenic tetra-sulfide 30 mg). – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia
tioguanine	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 40 mg. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
vinblastine	<b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/10 mL (sulfate) in vial. <b>Powder for injection:</b> 10 mg (sulfate) in vial. – Hodgkin lymphoma – Low-grade glioma – Ovarian germ cell tumours – Testicular germ cell tumours

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) vincristine Injection: 1 mg/mL (sulfate); 2 mg/2 mL (sulfate) in vial. Powder for injection: 1 mg; 5 mg (sulfate) in vial. - Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Burkitt lymphoma – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma - Hodgkin lymphoma - Kaposi sarcoma – Low-grade glioma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Retinoblastoma - Rhabdomyosarcoma vinorelbine Capsule: 20 mg; 30 mg; 80 mg. Injection: 10 mg/mL in 1 mL vial; 50 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial. - Rhabdomyosarcoma

# 8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# **Complementary List**

all-trans retinoid acid (ATRA)	<b>Capsule:</b> 10 mg. – Acute promyelocytic leukaemia
dasatinib	<b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg; 50 mg; 70 mg; 80 mg; 100 mg; 140 mg. – Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia
everolimus	<b>Tablet:</b> 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 7.5 mg; 10 mg. <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 2 mg; 3 mg; 5 mg. – Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma
imatinib	<b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg; 400 mg. – Chronic myeloid leukaemia – Gastrointestinal stromal tumour – Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
nilotinib	<b>Capsule:</b> 150 mg; 200 mg. – Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia
rituximab* * including quality-assured biosimilars 8.2.3 Immunomodulators	<b>Injection (intravenous):</b> 100 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial; 500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial. – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
<b>Complementary List</b> filgrastim* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<i>Injection:</i> 120 micrograms/0.2 mL; 300 micrograms/0.5 mL; 480 micrograms/0.8 mL in pre-filled syringe. <i>Injection:</i> 300 micrograms/mL in 1 mL vial; 480 micrograms/1.6 mL in 1.6 mL vial.
	<ul> <li>Primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for developing febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy</li> <li>Secondary prophylaxis for patients who have experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic chemotherapy</li> </ul>

 To facilitate administration of dose dense chemotherapy regimens

#### 8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

# Complementary List

dexamethasone	<b>Injection:</b> 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule.
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 2 mg/5 mL.
	<b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg; 4 mg. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma
hydrocortisone	<b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma
methylprednisolone	<b>Injection:</b> 40 mg/mL (as sodium succinate) in 1 mL single- dose vial and 5 mL multi-dose vials; 80 mg/mL (as sodium succinate) in 1 mL single-dose vial.
	– Acute lymphoblastic leukamia – Burkitt lymphoma
□ prednisolone	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/mL.
Therapeutic alternatives: – prednisone	<b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 25 mg. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia – Burkitt lymphoma – Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma – Hodgkin lymphoma

#### 8.2.5 Supportive medicines

#### Complementary List

allopurinol	<b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 300 mg.
	– Tumour lysis syndrome
mesna	Injection: 100 mg/mL in 4 mL and 10 mL ampoules.
	<b>Tablet:</b> 400 mg; 600 mg.
	– Burkitt lymphoma
	– Ewing sarcoma
	– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)
	– Osteosarcoma
	– Ovarian germ cell tumours
	– Rhabdomyosarcoma
	– Testicular germ cell tumours
rasburicase	<b>Powder and solvent for solution for infusion:</b> 1.5 mg;
	7.5 mg in vial.
	– Tumour lysis syndrome

# 9. ANTIPARKINSONISM MEDICINES

# **10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD**

# 10.1 Antianaemia medicines

ferrous salt	<b>Oral liquid:</b> equivalent to 25 mg iron (as sulfate)/mL. <b>Tablet:</b> equivalent to 60 mg iron.
folic acid	Tablet: 1 mg; 5 mg.
hydroxocobalamin	<b>Injection:</b> 1 mg (as acetate, as hydrochloride or as sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.
Complementary List	
<ul> <li>erythropoiesis- stimulating agents*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:         <ul> <li>epoetin alfa, beta and theta</li> <li>darbepoetin alfa</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Injection: pre-filled syringe 1000 IU/0.5 mL; 2000 IU/0.5 mL; 3000 IU/0.3 mL; 4000 IU/ 0.4 mL; 5000 IU/0.5 mL; 6000 IU/0.6 mL; 8000 IU/0.8mL; 10 000 IU/1 mL; 20 000 IU/0.5 mL; 40 000 IU/1 mL.
<ul> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul>	

# 10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD (continued)

# 10.2 Medicines affecting coagulation

<ul> <li>enoxaparin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>dalteparin</li> <li>nadroparin</li> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul>	Injection: ampoule or pre-filled syringe 20 mg/0.2 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL; 60 mg/0.6 mL; 80 mg/ 0.8 mL; 100 mg/1 mL; 120 mg/0.8 mL; 150 mg/1 mL.
phytomenadione	Injection: 1 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL in ampoule.
	Tablet: 10 mg.
Complementary List	
desmopressin	Injection: 4 micrograms/mL (as acetate) in 1 mL ampoule. Nasal spray: 10 micrograms (as acetate) per dose.
heparin sodium	Injection: 1000 IU/mL; 5000 IU/mL in 1 mL ampoule.
protamine sulfate	Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.
☐ warfarin Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg (sodium).

# 10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

# Complementary list

□ deferoxamine*	Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.
Therapeutic alternatives:	
– deferasirox (oral)	
hydroxycarbamide	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 500 mg; 1 g.

#### 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES

#### 11.1 Blood and blood components

In accordance with the World Health Assembly resolution WHA63.12, WHO recognizes that achieving self-sufficiency, unless special circumstances preclude it, in the supply of safe blood components based on voluntary, non-remunerated blood donation, and the security of that supply are important national goals to prevent blood shortages and meet the transfusion requirements of the patient population. All preparations should comply with the WHO requirements.

fresh-frozen plasma

platelets

red blood cells

whole blood

#### 11.2 Plasma-derived medicines

All human plasma-derived medicines should comply with the WHO requirements.

11.2.1	Human	immunog	lobulins
11.4.1	nunun	mmunogi	oounns

anti-rabies immunoglobulin	Injection: 150 IU/mL in vial.
anti-tetanus immunoglobulin	Injection: 500 IU in vial.
Complementary List	
normal immunoglobulin	Intramuscular administration: 16% protein solution.* Intravenous administration: 5%; 10% protein solution.**
	Subcutaneous administration: 15%; 16% protein solution.*
	* Indicated for primary immune deficiency. **Indicated for primary immune deficiency and Kawasaki disease.

11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES (continued)

#### 11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

#### **Complementary List**

□ coagulation factor VIII Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023) Powder for injection: 500 IU/vial.

□ coagulation factor IX **Powder for injection:** 500 IU/vial; 1000 IU/vial. Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)

#### 11.3 Plasma substitutes

#### dextran 70

Injectable solution: 6%.

# Therapeutic alternatives:

 Polygeline injectable solution 3.5%

#### 12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES

#### 12.1 Antianginal medicines

#### 12.2 Antiarrhythmic medicines

# 12.3 Antihypertensive medicines

□ enalapril

Tablet: 2.5 mg; 5 mg (as hydrogen maleate).

Therapeutic alternatives: – 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain)

#### 12.4 Medicines used in heart failure

digoxin	Injection: 250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule.
	Oral liquid: 50 micrograms/mL.
	Tablet: 62.5 micrograms; 250 micrograms.
furosemide	Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule.
	Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL.
	Tablet: 40 mg.

#### **Complementary List**

dopamine

*Injection:* 40 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL vial.

# 12.5 Antithrombotic medicines

#### 12.6 Lipid-lowering agents

13. DERMATOLOGICAL MED	ICINES (topical)	
13.1 Antifungal medicines		
<ul> <li>miconazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (D01AC Imidazole and triazole derivatives) excluding combinations</li> </ul>	Cream or ointment: 2% (nitrate).	
terbinafine	Cream or ointment: 1% (hydrochloride).	
13.2 Anti-infective medicines		
mupirocin	Cream: 2% (as calcium). Ointment: 2%.	
potassium permanganate	Aqueous solution: 1:10 000.	
silver sulfadiazine <b>a</b>	Cream: 1%.       a    > 2 months.	
13.3 Anti-inflammatory and antipruritic medicines		
<ul> <li>betamethasone a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (D07AC Corticosteroids, potent (group III))</li> </ul>	<b>Cream or ointment:</b> 0.1% (as valerate). <b>a</b> Hydrocortisone preferred in neonates.	
calamine	Lotion.	

Cream or ointment: 1% (acetate).

hydrocortisone

# 13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES (topical) (continued)

# 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

benzoyl peroxide	Cream or lotion: 5%.
□ calcipotriol	Cream or ointment: 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%).
Therapeutic alternatives: – calcitriol	Lotion: 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%).
– tacalcitol	
coal tar	Solution: 5%.
□ podophyllum resin	Solution: 10% to 25%.
Therapeutic alternatives:	
<ul> <li>- podophyllotoxin</li> </ul>	
salicylic acid	Solution: 5%.
urea	Cream or ointment: 5%; 10%.
13.5 Scabicides and pedicul	icides
🗖 benzyl benzoate 🖪	Lotion: 25%.
Therapeutic alternatives:	<b>a</b> > 2 years.
<ul> <li>precipitated sulfur topical ointment</li> </ul>	
permethrin	<b>Cream:</b> 5%.
	Lotion: 1%.
14. DIAGNOSTIC AGENTS	
14.1 Ophthalmic medicines	
fluorescein	<b>Eye drops:</b> 1% (sodium salt).
□ tropicamide	Eye drops: 0.5%.
Therapeutic alternatives:	
– atropine – cyclopentolate	
14.2 Radiocontrast media	
Complementary List	
barium sulfate	A
	Aqueous suspension.

# **15. ANTISEPTICS AND DISINFECTANTS**

15.1 Antiseptics	
□ chlorhexidine Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	<b>Solution:</b> 5% (digluconate).
<ul> <li>ethanol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>propanol</li> </ul>	Solution: 70% (denatured).
<ul> <li>povidone iodine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>iodine</li> </ul>	<b>Solution:</b> 10% (equivalent to 1% available iodine).
15.2 Disinfectants	
alcohol based hand rub	<b>Solution</b> containing ethanol 80% volume /volume. <b>Solution</b> containing isopropyl alcohol 75% volume/ volume.
chlorine base compound	<b>Liquid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution. <b>Powder:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution. <b>Solid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.
<ul> <li>chloroxylenol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (D08AE Phenol and derivatives)</li> </ul>	Solution: 4.8%.
glutaral	Solution: 2%.

Annex 2: WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children – 8th List (2021)

**16. DIURETICS** Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule. furosemide Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg. **Complementary List** □ hydrochlorothiazide Tablet (scored): 25 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: – chlorothiazide – chlortalidone mannitol Injectable solution: 10%; 20%. Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL; 25 mg/5 mL. spironolactone Tablet: 25 mg.

17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES	
Complementary List	
pancreatic enzymes	Age-appropriate formulations and doses including lipase, protease and amylase.
17.1 Antiulcer medicines	
<ul> <li>omeprazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (A02BC Proton pump inhibitors) excluding combinations</li> </ul>	Powder for oral liquid: 20 mg; 40 mg sachets. Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.
<ul> <li>ranitidine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (A02BA H2-receptor antagonists) excluding combinations</li> </ul>	Injection: 25 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as hydrochloride). Tablet: 150 mg (as hydrochloride).
17.2 Antiemetic medicines	
dexamethasone	Injection: 4 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule (as disodium phosphate salt). Oral liquid: 0.5 mg/5 mL; 2 mg/5 mL. Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1.5 mg; 4 mg.
metoclopramide <b>a</b>	Injection: 5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 10 mg (hydrochloride). a Not in neonates.
<ul> <li>ondansetron a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>dolasetron</li> <li>granisetron</li> <li>palonosetron</li> <li>tropisetron</li> </ul>	Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule (as hydrochloride). Oral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL. Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base. a > 1 month.
Complementary list	
aprepitant	<b>Capsule:</b> 80 mg; 125 mg; 165 mg. <b>Powder for oral suspension:</b> 125 mg in sachet.

#### 17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES (continued)

#### 17.3 Anti-inflammatory medicines

#### 17.4 Laxatives

#### 17.5 Medicines used in diarrhoea

oral rehydration salts – zinc	Co-package containing:
sulfate	ORS powder for dilution (see Section 17.5.1) – zinc
	sulfate solid oral dosage form 20 mg (see Section 17.5.2)

# 17.5.1 Oral rehydration

oral rehydration salts	Powder for dilution in 200 mL;	500 mL; 1 L.
	glucose: sodium: chloride: potassium: citrate: osmolarity: glucose: sodium chloride: potassium chloride: trisodium citrate dihydrate*:	75 mEq 75 mEq or mmol/L 65 mEq or mmol/L 20 mEq or mmol/L 10 mmol/L 245 mOsm/L 13.5 g/L 2.6 g/L 1.5 g/L 2.9 g/L
	<ul> <li>* trisodium citrate dihydrate may be carbonate (sodium bicarbonate) 2.</li> <li>of this latter formulation is very po is recommended only when manuf</li> </ul>	5 g/L. However, as the stability or under tropical conditions, it
17.5.2 Medicines for diarrho	еа	
zinc sulfate*	Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg	
	<ul> <li>* In acute diarrhoea, zinc sulfate sho oral rehydration salts.</li> </ul>	uld be used as an adjunct to

18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCI	RINE DISORDERS
18.1 Adrenal hormones and	synthetic substitutes
fludrocortisone	Tablet: 100 micrograms (acetate).
hydrocortisone	<b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg.
18.2 Androgens	
18.3 Estrogens	
18.4 Progestogens	
18.5 Medicines for diabetes	
18.5.1 Insulins	
insulin injection (soluble)* * including quality-assured biosimilars	Injection: 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial.
intermediate-acting insulin* * including quality-assured biosimilars	<b>Injection:</b> 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial (as compound insulin zinc suspension or isophane insulin).
Iong-acting insulin analogues*	Injection: 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen.
<ul> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>insulin detemir</li> <li>insulin degludec</li> <li>insulin glargine</li> <li><i>including quality-assured biosimilars</i></li> </ul>	
18.5.2 Oral hypoglycaemic a	gents
Complementary List	
metformin	Tablet: 500 mg (hydrochloride).
18.6 Medicines for hypoglyc	aemia

Injection: 1 mg/mL.

Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL

Tablet: 50 mg

glucagon

diazoxide

**Complementary List** 

#### 18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS (continued)

#### 18.7 Thyroid hormones and antithyroid medicines

levothyroxine	<b>Tablet:</b> 25 micrograms; 50 micrograms; 100 micrograms (sodium salt).
Complementary List	
Lugol's solution	Oral liquid: about 130 mg total iodine/mL.
<ul> <li>methimazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>carbimazole (depending on local availability)</li> </ul>	<b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg.
potassium iodide	<b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg.
propylthiouracil*	<b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.         * For use when alternative first-line treatment is not appropriate or available

# **19. IMMUNOLOGICALS**

#### 19.1 Diagnostic agents

All tuberculins should comply with the WHO requirements for tuberculins.

tuberculin, purified protein Injection. derivative (PPD)

#### 19.2 Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

All plasma fractions should comply with the WHO requirements.

anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies*	<b>Injection:</b> 40 IU/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 2.5 mL vial (human).
<ul> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul>	Injection: 300 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 600 IU/mL in 1 mL, 2.5 mL and 5 mL vial (murine).
antivenom immunoglobulin*	Injection. *Exact type to be defined locally.
diphtheria antitoxin	Injection: 10 000 IU; 20 000 IU in vial.
equine rabies immunoglobulin	Injection: 150 IU/mL; 200 IU/mL; 300 IU/mL; 400 IU/mL in vial

#### 19. IMMUNOLOGICALS (continued)

#### 19.3 Vaccines

WHO immunization policy recommendations are published in vaccine position papers on the basis of recommendations made by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE).

WHO vaccine position papers are updated three to four times per year. The list below details the vaccines for which there is a recommendation from SAGE and a corresponding WHO position paper as at September 2020. The most recent versions of the WHO position papers, reflecting the current evidence related to a specific vaccine and the related recommendations, can be accessed at any time on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/position-papers

Vaccine recommendations may be universal or conditional (e.g., in certain regions, in some high-risk populations or as part of immunization programmes with certain characteristics). Details are available in the relevant position papers, and in the Summary Tables of WHO Routine Immunization Recommendations available on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/who-recommendations-for-routine-immunization---summary-tables

Selection of vaccines from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international recommendations, epidemiology and national priorities.

All vaccines should comply with the WHO requirements for biological substances. WHO noted the need for vaccines used in children to be polyvalent.

#### Recommendations for all

BCG vaccine

diphtheria vaccine

Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine

hepatitis B vaccine

human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine

measles vaccine

pertussis vaccine

pneumococcal vaccine

poliomyelitis vaccine

rotavirus vaccine

rubella vaccine

tetanus vaccine

**19. IMMUNOLOGICALS** (continued)

#### Recommendations for certain regions

Japanese encephalitis vaccine

tick-borne encephalitis vaccine

yellow fever vaccine

#### Recommendations for some high-risk populations

cholera vaccine

dengue vaccine

hepatitis A vaccine

meningococcal meningitis vaccine

rabies vaccine

typhoid vaccine

#### Recommendations for immunization programmes with certain characteristics

influenza vaccine (seasonal)

mumps vaccine

varicella vaccine

# 20. MUSCLE RELAXANTS (PERIPHERALLY-ACTING) AND CHOLINESTERASE **INHIBITORS** neostigmine Injection: 500 micrograms/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule; 2.5 mg/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule. Tablet: 15 mg (bromide). suxamethonium Injection: 50 mg/mL (chloride) in 2 mL ampoule. Powder for injection: (chloride), in vial. □ vecuronium Powder for injection: 10 mg (bromide) in vial. Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023) Complementary List pyridostigmine Injection: 1 mg in 1 mL ampoule. Tablet: 60 mg (bromide).

21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS 21.1 Anti-infective agents Ointment: 3% w/w. aciclovir Solution (eye drops): 1.5%. azithromycin – Trachoma erythromycin Ointment: 0.5%. - Infections due to Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria gonorrhoeae □ gentamicin Solution (eye drops): 0.3% (sulfate). Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial blepharitis amikacin - Bacterial conjunctivitis kanamvcin netilmicin tobramvcin natamycin Suspension (eye drops): 5%. - Fungal keratitis □ ofloxacin Solution (eye drops): 0.3%. Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial conjunctivitis - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical - Bacterial keratitis subgroup (S01AE Fluoroquinolones) Eye ointment: 1% (hydrochloride). □ tetracycline Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial blepharitis - chlortetracycline - Bacterial conjunctivitis - oxytetracycline Bacterial keratitis – Trachoma

#### 21.2 Anti-inflammatory agents

☐ prednisolone Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023)	Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (sodium phosphate).
21.3 Local anaesthetics	
<ul> <li>tetracaine a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (S01HA Local anaesthetics) excluding cocaine and combinations</li> </ul>	Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (hydrochloride).          a       Not in preterm neonates.

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

#### 21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS (continued)

#### 21.4 Miotics and antiglaucoma medicines

#### 21.5 Mydriatics

#### atropine **a**

Solution (eye drops): 0.1%; 0.5%; 1% (sulfate).

Therapeutic alternatives:

- homatropine hydrobromide
- cyclopentolate hydrochloride

#### **Complementary List**

epinephrine (adrenaline) Solution (eye drops): 2% (as hydrochloride).

 $|\mathbf{a}| > 3$  months.

#### 21.6 Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) preparations

#### 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE

#### 22.1 Contraceptives

#### 22.2 Ovulation inducers

#### 22.3 Uterotonics

#### 22.4 Antioxytocics (tocolytics)

#### 22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

#### 22.6 Medicines administered to the neonate

caffeine citrate	<b>Injection:</b> 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).
	<b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).
chlorhexidine	<b>Solution or gel:</b> 7.1% (digluconate) delivering 4% chlorhexidine (for umbilical cord care).
Complementary List	
☐ ibuprofen Therapeutic alternatives: – indometacin	Solution for injection: 5 mg/mL.
□ prostaglandin E1 Therapeutic alternatives: – prostaglandin E2	<i>Solution for injection:</i> 0.5 mg/mL in alcohol.
surfactant	<b>Suspension for intratracheal instillation:</b> 25 mg/mL or 80 mg/mL

#### 23. PERITONEAL DIALYSIS SOLUTION

#### **Complementary List**

intraperitoneal dialysis solution (of appropriate composition) Parenteral solution.

# 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS

#### 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

Complementary List	mplementary Li	st
--------------------	----------------	----

chlorpromazine	Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.
	Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride).
	<b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg; 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg (hydrochloride).
haloperidol	Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule.
	Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL.
	Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg.

#### 24.2 Medicines used in mood disorders

#### 24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

#### **Complementary List**

fluoxetine **a** 

Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride).

 a
 > 8 years.

#### 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

#### 24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

#### 24.4 Medicines used for obsessive compulsive disorders

24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

# 25. MEDICINES ACTING ON THE RESPIRATORY TRACT

25.1 Antiasthmatic medicin	es
<ul> <li>budesonide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>beclometasone</li> <li>ciclesonide</li> <li>flunisolide</li> <li>fluticasone</li> <li>mometasone</li> </ul>	Inhalation (aerosol): 100 micrograms per dose; 200 micrograms per dose.
epinephrine (adrenaline)	<b>Injection:</b> 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule.
<ul> <li>salbutamol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>terbutaline</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Injection: 50 micrograms/mL (as sulfate) in 5 mL ampoule.</li> <li>Metered dose inhaler (aerosol): 100 micrograms (as sulfate) per dose.</li> <li>Respirator solution for use in nebulizers: 5 mg/mL (as sulfate).</li> </ul>

26. SOLUTIONS CORRECTING WATER, ELECTROLYTE AND ACID-BASE DISTURBANCES	
26.1 Oral	
oral rehydration salts	See section 17.5.1.
potassium chloride	Powder for solution.
26.2 Parenteral	
glucose	<b>Injectable solution:</b> 5% (isotonic); 10% (hypertonic); 50% (hypertonic).
glucose with sodium chloride	<b>Injectable solution:</b> 5% glucose, 0.9% sodium chloride (equivalent to Na+ 150 mmol/L and Cl- 150 mmol/L); 5% glucose, 0.45% sodium chloride (equivalent to Na+ 75 mmol/L and Cl- 75 mmol/L).
potassium chloride	Solution for dilution: 7.5% (equivalent to $K+1 \text{ mmol/mL}$ and Cl- 1 mmol/mL); 15% (equivalent to $K+2 \text{ mmol/mL}$ and Cl- 2 mmol/mL).
sodium chloride	<b>Injectable solution:</b> 0.9% isotonic (equivalent to Na+ 154 mmol/L, Cl- 154 mmol/L).
sodium hydrogen carbonate	Injectable solution: 1.4% isotonic (equivalent to Na+167 mmol/L, HCO3- 167 mmol/L).
	<b>Solution:</b> 8.4% in 10 mL ampoule (equivalent to Na+ 1000 mmol/L, HCO3-1000 mmol/L).
sodium lactate, compound solution	Injectable solution.
26.3 Miscellaneous	

water for injection	2 mL; 5 mL; 10 mL ampoules.
---------------------	-----------------------------

# 27. VITAMINS AND MINERALS

ascorbic acid	Tablet: 50 mg.
<ul> <li>colecalciferol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>ergocalciferol</li> </ul>	Oral liquid: 400 IU/mL. Solid oral dosage form: 400 IU; 1000 IU.
iodine	<b>Capsule:</b> 190 mg. <b>Iodized oil:</b> 1 mL (480 mg iodine); 0.5 mL (240 mg iodine) in ampoule (oral or injectable); 0.57 mL (308 mg iodine) in dispenser bottle.
multiple micronutrient powder	<ul> <li>Sachets containing: <ul> <li>iron (elemental) 12.5 mg (as coated ferrous fumarate)</li> <li>zinc (elemental) 5 mg</li> <li>vitamin A 300 micrograms</li> <li>with or without other micronutrients at recommended daily values</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
pyridoxine	Tablet: 25 mg (hydrochloride).
retinol	Capsule: 100 000 IU; 200 000 IU (as palmitate). Oral oily solution: 100 000 IU/mL (as palmitate) in multidose dispenser. Tablet (sugar-coated): 10 000 IU (as palmitate). Water-miscible injection: 100 000 IU (as palmitate) in 2 mL ampoule.
riboflavin	Tablet: 5 mg.
thiamine	Tablet: 50 mg (hydrochloride).
Complementary List	
calcium gluconate	Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.

28. EAR, NOSE AND THROAT MEDICINES acetic acid Topical: 2%, in alcohol. □ budesonide Nasal spray: 100 micrograms per dose. Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed (2023) □ ciprofloxacin Solution (ear drops): 0.3% (as hydrochloride). Therapeutic alternatives: ofloxacin □ xylometazoline **a** Nasal spray: 0.05%. Therapeutic alternatives to be **a** Not in children less than 3 months. reviewed (2023) 29. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF JOINTS 29.1 Medicines used to treat gout 29.2 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)

Compl	ementary	List
-------	----------	------

hydroxychloroquine	Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg (as sulfate).
methotrexate	Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium salt).

#### 29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

#### **Complementary List**

acetylsalicylic acid*	Suppository: 50 mg to 150 mg.	
(acute or chronic use)	Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.	
	* For use for rheumatic fever, iuvenile arthritis, Kawasaki disease.	

# **30. DENTAL PREPARATIONS**

fluoride	<b>Paste, cream or gel:</b> containing between 1000 and 1500 ppm fluoride (any type). <b>In other appropriate topical formulations.</b>
glass ionomer cement	<b>Single-use capsules:</b> 0.4 g powder + 0.09 mL liquid. <b>Multi-use bottle:</b> powder + liquid.
	Powder (fluoro-alumino-silicate glass) contains: 25-50% silicate, 20-40% aluminium oxide, 1-20% fluoride, 15-40% metal oxide, 0-15% phosphate, remainder are polyacrylic acid powder and metals in minimal quantities. Liquid (aqueous) contains: 7-25% polybasic carboxylic acid, 45-60% polyacrylic acid.
silver diamine fluoride	Solution: 38% w/v.

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035, 2021

# Annex 3

# Alphabetical list of essential medicines (with ATC codes & section numbers)

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
abacavir	J05AF06	6.4.2.1
abacavir + lamivudine	J05AR02	6.4.2.5
abiraterone	L02BX03	8.2.4
acetazolamide	S01EC01	21.4
acetic acid	S02AA10	28
acetylcysteine	V03AB23	4.2
acetylsalicylic acid	B01AC06	12.5.1
acetylsalicylic acid	N02BA01	2.1; 7.1; 29.3
aciclovir	J05AB01	6.4.1
aciclovir	S01AD03	21.1
adalimumab	L04AB04	8.1
albendazole	P02CA03	6.1.1; 6.1.2; 6.1.4
alcohol based hand rub	D08AX08	15.2
allopurinol	M04AA01	8.2.5; 29.1
all-trans retinoid acid (ATRA)	L01XF01	8.2.2
alteplase	B01AD02	12.5.2
amidotriozate	V08AA01	14.2
amikacin	J01GB06	6.2.1; 6.2.5
amiloride	C03DB01	16
amiodarone	C01BD01	12.2
amitriptyline	N06AA09	2.3; 24.2.1
amlodipine	C08CA01	12.3
amodiaquine	P01BA06	6.5.3.1
amodiaquine – sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine	P01BA06 P01BD51	6.5.3.2
amoxicillin	J01CA04	6.2.1
amoxicillin + clavulanic acid	J01CR02	6.2.1; 6.2.5

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
amphotericin B	J02AA01	6.3; 6.5.2
ampicillin	J01CA01	6.2.1
anastrozole	L02BG03	8.2.4
anti-D immunoglobulin	J06BB01	11.2.1
anti-rabies immunoglobulin	J06BB05	11.2.1
anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies	-	19.2
anti-tetanus immunoglobulin	J06BB02	11.2.1
antivenom immunoglobulin	_	19.2
aprepitant	A04AD12	17.2
arsenic trioxide	L01XX27	8.2.1
artemether	P01BE02	6.5.3.1
artemether + lumefantrine	P01BF01	6.5.3.1
artesunate	P01BE03	6.5.3.1
artesunate + amodiaquine	P01BF03	6.5.3.1
artesunate + mefloquine	P01BF02	6.5.3.1
artesunate + pyronaridine tetraphosphate	P01BF06	6.5.3.1
ascorbic acid	A11GA01	27
asparaginase	L01XX02	8.2.1
atazanavir + ritonavir	J05AR23	6.4.2.3
atracurium	M03AC04	20
atropine	A03BA01	1.3; 4.2
atropine	S01FA01	21.5
azathioprine	L04AX01	8.1; 29.2
azithromycin	J01FA10	6.2.2
azithromycin	S01AA26	21.1
barium sulfate	V08BA01	14.2
BCG vaccine	L03AX03	19.3
bedaquiline	J04AK05	6.2.5
bendamustine	L01AA09	8.2.1
benzathine benzylpenicillin	J01CE08	6.2.1

814

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
benznidazole	P01CA02	6.5.5.2
benzoyl peroxide	D10AE01	13.4
benzyl benzoate	P03AX01	13.5
benzylpenicillin	J01CE01	6.2.1
betamethasone	D07AC01	13.3
bevacizumab	S01LA08	21.6
bicalutamide	L02BB03	8.2.4
biperiden	N04AA02	9
bisoprolol	C07AB07	12.1; 12.2; 12.3; 12.4
bleomycin	L01DC01	8.2.1
bortezomib	L01XG01	8.2.2
budesonide	R03BA02	25.1
budesonide	R01AD05	28
budesonide + formoterol	R03AK07	25.1
bupivacaine	N01BB01	1.2
bupropion	N06AX12	24.5
caffeine citrate	N06BC01	22.6
calamine	D02AB	13.3
calcipotriol	D05AX02	13.4
calcium	A12AA20	27
calcium folinate	V03AF03	8.2.1
calcium gluconate	A12AA03	4.2; 27
capecitabine	L01BC06	8.2.1
carbamazepine	N03AF01	5; 24.2.2
carbetocin	H01BB03	22.3
carboplatin	L01XA02	8.2.1
cefalexin	J01DB01	6.2.1
cefazolin	J01DB04	6.2.1
cefiderocol	J01DI04	6.2.3
cefixime	J01DD08	6.2.2
cefotaxime	J01DD01	6.2.2
ceftazidime	J01DD02	6.2.2

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
ceftazidime + avibactam	J01DD52	6.2.3
ceftriaxone	J01DD04	6.2.2
cefuroxime	J01DC02	6.2.2
charcoal, activated	A07BA01	4.1
chlorambucil	L01AA02	8.2.1
chloramphenicol	J01BA01	6.2.1
chlorhexidine	D08AC02	15.1; 22.6
chlorine base compound	_	15.2
chloroquine	P01BA01	6.5.3.1; 6.5.3.2; 29.2
chloroxylenol	D08AE05	15.2
chlorpromazine	N05AA01	24.1
cholera vaccine	J07AE	19.3
ciclosporin	L04AD01	8.1
ciprofloxacin	J01MA02	6.2.2
ciprofloxacin	S02AA15	28
cisplatin	L01XA01	8.2.1
clarithromycin	J01FA09	6.2.2
clindamycin	J01FF01	6.2.1
clofazimine	J04BA01	6.2.4; 6.2.5
clomifene	G03GB02	22.2
clomipramine	N06AA04	24.4
clopidogrel	B01AC04	12.5.1
clotrimazole	G01AF02	6.3
cloxacillin	J01CF02	6.2.1
clozapine	N05AH02	24.1
coagulation factor IX	B02BD04	11.2.2
coagulation factor VIII	B02BD02	11.2.2
coal tar	D05AA	13.4
codeine	R05DA04	2.2
colecalciferol	A11CC05	27
colistin	J01XB01	6.2.3
condoms	-	22.1.4

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
copper-containing device	G02BA02	22.1.3
cyclizine	R06AE03	2.3
cyclophosphamide	L01AA01	8.2.1
cycloserine	J04AB01	6.2.5
cytarabine	L01BC01	8.2.1
dabigatran	B01AE07	10.2
dacarbazine	L01AX04	8.2.1
daclatasvir	J05AP07	6.4.4.2.1
daclatasvir + sofosbuvir	J05AP07 J05AP08	6.4.4.2.1
dactinomycin	L01DA01	8.2.1
dapsone	J04BA02	6.2.4
darbepoetin alfa	B03XA02	10.1
darunavir	J05AE10	6.4.2.3
dasabuvir	J05AP09	6.4.4.2.2
dasatinib	L01EA02	8.2.2
daunorubicin	L01DB02	8.2.1
deferoxamine	V03AC01	4.2; 10.3
delamanid	J04AK06	6.2.5
dengue vaccine	-	19.3
desmopressin	H01BA02	10.2
dexamethasone	H02AB02	2.3; 3; 8.2.4; 17.2; 22.5
dextran 70	B05AA05	11.3
diaphrams	-	22.1.4
diazepam	N05BA01	2.3; 5; 24.3
diazoxide	V03AH01	18.6
diethylcarbamazine	P02CB02	6.1.2
digoxin	C01AA05	12.2; 12.4
dihydroartemisinin + piperaquine phopshate	P01BF05	6.5.3.1
diloxanide	P01AC01	6.5.1
dimercaprol	V03AB09	4.2

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
diphtheria antitoxin	J06AA01	19.2
diphtheria vaccine	J07AF01	19.3
docetaxel	L01CD02	8.2.1
docusate sodium	A06AA02	2.3
dolutegravir	J05AJ03	6.4.2.4
dolutegravir + lamivudine + tenofovir	J05AR27	6.4.2.5
dopamine	C01CA04	12.4
doxorubicin	L01DB01	8.2.1
doxycycline	J01AA02	6.2.1; 6.5.3.1; 6.5.3.2
efavirenz	J05AG03	6.4.2.2
efavirenz + emtricitabine + tenofovir	J05AR06	6.4.2.5
disoproxil	JOJAKO	0.4.2.5
efavirenz + lamivudine + tenofovir disoproxil	J05AR11	6.4.2.5
eflornithine	P01CX03	6.5.5.1
empagliflozin	A10BK03	18.5.2
emtricitabine + tenofovir disoproxil	J05AR03	6.4.2.5
enalapril	C09AA02	12.3; 12.4
enoxaparin	B01AB05	10.2
entecavir	J05AF10	6.4.4.1.1
ephedrine	C01CA26	1.2
epinephrine	S01EA01	21.5
epinephrine (adrenaline)	C01CA24	3; 12.2; 25.1
equine rabies immunoglobulin	J06BB05	19.2
ergocalciferol	A11CC01	27
ergometrine	G02AB03	22.3
erlotinib	L01EB02	8.2.2
erythromycin	S01AA17	21.1
erythropoiesis-stimulating agents	B03XA01 B03XA02 B03XA03	10.1
estradiol cypionate + medroxyprogesterone acetate	G03AA17	22.1.2

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
ethambutol	J04AK02	6.2.5
ethambutol + isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin	J04AM06	6.2.5
ethambutol + isoniazid + rifampicin	J04AM07	6.2.5
ethanol	D08AX08	15.1
ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel	G02BB01	22.1.6
ethinylestradiol + levonorgestrel	G03AA07	22.1.1
ethinylestradiol + norethisterone	G03AA05	22.1.1
ethionamide	J04AD03	6.2.5
ethosuximide	N03AD01	5
etonogestrel- releasing implant	G03AC08	22.1.5
etoposide	L01CB01	8.2.1
everolimus	L01EG02	8.2.2
fentanyl	N02AB03	2.2
ferrous salt	B03AA02 B03AA07	10.1
ferrous salt + folic acid	B03AD02 B03AD03	10.1
fexinidazole	P01CA03	6.5.5.1
filgrastim	L03AA02	8.2.3
fluconazole	J02AC01	6.3
flucytosine	J02AX01	6.3
fludarabine	L01BB05	8.2.1
fludrocortisone	H02AA02	18.1
fluorescein	S01JA01	14.1
fluoride	A01AA	30
fluorouracil	L01BC02	8.2.1; 13.4
fluoxetine	N06AB03	2.3; 24.2.1
fluphenazine	N05AB02	24.1
folic acid	B03BB01	10.1
fomepizole	V03AB34	4.2
fosfomycin	J01XX01	6.2.3

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
fresh frozen plasma	B05AX03	11.1
furosemide	C03CA01	12.4; 16
gemcitabine	L01BC05	8.2.1
gentamicin	J01GB03	6.2.1
gentamicin	S01AA11	21.1
glass ionomer cement	_	30
glecaprevir + pibrentasvir	J05AP57	6.4.4.2.1
gliclazide	A10BB09	18.5.2
glucagon	H04AA01	18.6
glucose	B05CX01	26.2
glucose with sodium chloride	B05BA03	26.2
glutaral	-	15.2
glyceryl trinitrate	C01DA02	12.1
griseofulvin	D01BA01	6.3
Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine	J07AG01	19.3
haloperidol	N05AD01	2.3; 24.1
halothane	N01AB01	1.1.1
heparin sodium	B01AB01	10.2
hepatitis A vaccine	J07BC02	19.3
hepatitis B vaccine	J07BC01	19.3
hydralazine	C02DB02	12.3
hydrochlorothiazide	C03AA03	12.3; 12.4; 16
hydrocortisone	A07EA02	17.3
hydrocortisone	D07AA02	13.3
hydrocortisone	H02AB09	3; 8.2.4; 18.1
hydroxocobalamin	B03BA03	10.1
hydroxycarbamide	L01XX05	8.2.1; 10.3
hydroxychloroquine	P01BA02	29.2
hyoscine butylbromide	A03BB01	2.3
hyoscine hydrobromide	A04AD01	2.3

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
ibrutinib	L01EL01	8.2.2
ibuprofen	C01EB16	22.6
ibuprofen	M01AE01	2.1; 7.1
ifosfamide	L01AA06	8.2.1
imatinib	L01EA01	8.2.2
influenza vaccine	J07BB	19.3
insulin injection (soluble) (human)	A10AB01	18.5.1
Intermediate-acting insulin (human)	A10AC01	18.5.1
intraperitoneal dialysis solution	-	23
iodine	H03CA	18.7; 27
iodine	D08AG03	6.3
iohexol	V08AB02	14.2
ipratropium bromide	R03BB01	25.1
irinotecan	L01CE02	8.2.1
isoflurane	N01AB06	1.1.1
isoniazid	J04AC01	6.2.5
isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin	J04AM05	6.2.5
isoniazid + pyridoxine + sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim	J04AM08	6.4.2.6
isoniazid + rifampicin	J04AM02	6.2.5
isoniazid + rifapentine	J04AC51	6.2.5
isosorbide dinitrate	C01DA08	12.1
itraconazole	J02AC02	6.3
ivermectin	P02CF01	6.1.1; 6.1.2; 6.6
Japanese encephalitis vaccine	J07BA02 J07BA03	19.3
ketamine	N01AX03	1.1.2
lactulose	A06AD11	2.3
lamivudine	J05AF05	6.4.2.1
lamivudine + zidovudine	J05AR01	6.4.2.5

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
lamotrigine	N03AX09	5
latanoprost	S01EE01	21.4
ledipasvir + sofosbuvir	J05AP51	6.4.4.2.2
lenalidomide	L04AX04	8.2.3
leuprorelin	L02AE02	8.2.4
levamisole	P02CE01	6.1.1
levodopa + carbidopa	N04BA02	9
levofloxacin	J01MA12	6.2.5
levonorgestrel	G03AC03	22.2.1
levonorgestrel	G03AD01	22.2.1
levonorgestrel-releasing implant	G03AC03	22.1.5
levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system	G02BA03	22.1.3
levothyroxine	H03AA01	18.7
lidocaine	C01BB01	12.2
lidocaine	N01BB02	1.2
lidocaine + epinephrine	N01BB52	1.2
linezolid	J01XX08	6.2.3; 6.2.5
lisinopril + amlodipine	C09BB03	12.3
lisinopril + hydrochlorothiazide	C09BA03	12.3
lithium carbonate	N05AN01	24.2.2
long-acting insulin analogues	A10AE04 A10AE05 A10AE06	18.5.1
loperamide	A07DA03	2.3
lopinavir + ritonavir	J05AR10	6.4.2.3
loratadine	R06AX13	3
lorazepam	N05BA06	5
losartan	C09CA01	12.3; 12.4
Lugol's solution	H03CA	18.7
magnesium sulfate	B05XA05	5
mannitol	B05BC01	16

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
measles vaccine	J07BD01	19.3
mebendazole	P02CA01	6.1.1; 6.1.4
medroxyprogesterone acetate	G03AC06	22.1.2
medroxyprogesterone acetate	G03DA02	18.4
mefloquine	P01BC02	6.5.3.1; 6.5.3.2
meglumine antimoniate	P01CB01	6.5.2
meglumine iotroxate	V08AC02	14.2
melarsoprol	P01CD01	6.5.5.1
melphalan	L01AA03	8.2.1
meningococcal meningitis vaccine	J07AH	19.3
mercaptopurine	L01BB02	8.2.1
meropenem	J01DH02	6.2.2; 6.2.5
meropenem + vaborbactam	J01DH52	6.2.3
mesna	V03AF01	8.2.5
metformin	A10BA02	18.5.2
methadone	N07BC02	2.2; 24.5
methimazole	H03BB02	18.7
methotrexate	L01BA01	8.2.1
methotrexate	L04AX03	29.2
methyldopa	C02AB01	12.3
methylprednisolone	H02AB04	8.2.4
methylthioninium chloride (methylene blue)	V03AB17	4.2
metoclopramide	A03FA01	2.3; 17.2
metronidazole	J01XD01	6.2.1
metronidazole	P01AB01	6.5.1
micafungin	J02AX05	6.3
miconazole	D01AC02	13.1
midazolam	N05CD08	1.3; 2.3; 5
mifepristone – misoprostol	G03XB01 G02AD06	22.3
miltefosine	P01CX04	6.5.2
misoprostol	G02AD06	22.3

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
morphine	N02AA01	1.3; 2.2
moxifloxacin	J01MA14	6.2.5
multiple micronutrient powder	A11AA01	27
multiple micronutrient supplement	A11AA01	22.5
mumps vaccine	J07BE01	19.3
mupirocin	D06AX09	13.2
naloxone	V03AB15	4.2
natamycin	S01AA10	21.1
neostigmine	N07AA01	20
nevirapine	J05AG01	6.4.2.2
niclosamide	P02DA01	6.1.1
nicotinamide	A11HA01	27
nicotine replacement therapy	N07BA01	24.5
nifedipine	C08CA05	22.4
nifurtimox	P01CC01	6.5.5.1; 6.5.5.2
nilotinib	L01EA03	8.2.2
nitrofurantoin	J01XE01	6.2.1
nitrous oxide	N01AX13	1.1.1
nivolumab	L01FF01	8.2.3
norethisterone enantate	G03AC01	22.1.2
normal immunoglobulin	J06BA	11.2.1
nystatin	A07AA02 G01AA01	6.3
ofloxacin	S01AE01	21.1
ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir	J05AP53	6.4.4.2.2
omeprazole	A02BC01	17.1
ondansetron	A04AA01	2.3; 17.2
oral rehydration salts	A07CA	17.5.1; 26.1
oral rehydration salts – zinc sulfate	A07CA A12CB01	17.5
oseltamivir	J05AH02	6.4.3

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
oxaliplatin	L01XA03	8.2.1
oxamniquine	P02BA02	6.1.3
oxygen	V03AN01	1.1.1; 1.4
oxytocin	H01BB02	22.3
paclitaxel	L01CD01	8.2.1
p-aminosalicylic acid	J04AA01	6.2.5
pancreatic enzymes	A09AA02	17
paracetamol	N02BE01	2.1; 7.1
paromomycin	A07AA06	6.5.2
pegaspargase	L01XX24	8.2.1
pegylated interferon alfa (2a or 2b)	L03AB10 L03AB11	6.4.4.2.3
penicillamine	M01CC01	4.2; 29.2
pentamidine	P01CX01	6.5.4; 6.5.5.1
permethrin	P03AC04	13.5
pertussis vaccine	J07AJ01	19.3
phenobarbital	N03AA02	5
phenoxymethylpenicillin	J01CE02	6.2.1
phenytoin	N03AB02	5
phytomenadione	B02BA01	10.2
pilocarpine	S01EB01	21.4
piperacillin + tazobactam	J01CR05	6.2.2
platelets	B05A	11.1
plazomicin	J01GB14	6.2.3
pneumococcal vaccine	J07AL01	19.3
podophyllum resin		13.4
poliomyelitis vaccine	J07BF	19.3
polymyxin B	J01XB02	6.2.3
potassium chloride	B05XA01	26.1; 26.2
potassium ferric hexacyanoferrate (II) ·2H <sub>2</sub> O (Prussian blue)	V03AB31	4.2
potassium iodide	D08AG03	6.3

ATC code	Section
V03AB21	18.7
D08AX06	13.2
D08AG02	15.1
P02BA01	6.1.1; 6.1.3; 6.1.4
H02AB06	3; 8.2.4
S01BA04	21.2
P01BA03	6.5.3.1
J01CE09	6.2.1
L01XB01	8.2.1
G02BB02	22.1.6
P01BB01	6.5.3.2
N01AX10	1.1.2
C07AA05	7.2
H03BA02	18.7
C01EA	22.6
V03AB14	10.2
P02CC01	6.1.1
J04AK01	6.2.5
N07AA02	20
A11HA02	27
P01BD01	6.5.4
P01BC01	6.5.3.1
J07BG	19.3
J05AJ01	6.4.2.4
A02BA02	17.1
V03AF07	8.2.5
-	8.2.1
B05AX01	11.1
A11CA01	27
J05AP01	6.4.3; 6.4.4.2.3
A11HA04	27
	V03AB21 D08AX06 D08AG02 P02BA01 H02AB06 S01BA04 P01BA03 J01CE09 L01XB01 G02BB02 P01BB01 N01AX10 C07AA05 H03BA02 C01EA V03AB14 P02CC01 J04AK01 N07AA02 A11HA02 P01BD01 P01BD01 P01BC01 J07BG J05AJ01 A02BA02 V03AF07 - B05AX01 A11CA01 J05AP01

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
rifabutin	J04AB04	6.2.5
rifampicin	J04AB02	6.2.4; 6.2.5
rifapentine	J04AB05	6.2.5
risperidone	N05AX08	24.1
ritonavir	J05AE03	6.4.2.3
rituximab	L01FA01	8.2.2
rotavirus vaccines	J07BH	19.3
rubella vaccines	J07BJ	19.3
salbutamol	R03AC02	25.1
salicylic acid	D01AE12	13.4
selenium sulfide	D01AE13	13.1
senna	A06AB06	2.3; 17.4
silver diamine fluoride	-	30
silver sulfadiazine	D06BA01	13.2
simvastatin	C10AA01	12.6
sodium calcium edetate	V03AB03	4.2
sodium chloride	B05XA03	26.2
sodium hydrogen carbonate	B05XA02	26.2
sodium lactate compound solution	-	26.2
sodium nitrite	V03AB08	4.2
sodium nitroprusside	C02DD01	12.3
sodium stibogluconate	P01CB02	6.5.2
sodium thiosulfate	V03AB06	4.2; 13.1
sofosbuvir	J05AP08	6.4.4.2.1
sofosbuvir + velpatasvir	J05AP55	6.4.4.2.1
spectinomycin	J01XX04	6.2.1
spironolactone	C03DA01	12.4; 16
streptokinase	B01AD01	12.5.2
streptomycin	J01GA01	6.2.5
succimer	-	4.2
sulfadiazine	J01EC02	6.5.4
sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine	P01BD51	6.5.3.1

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim	J01EE01	6.2.1; 6.5.4
sulfasalazine	A07EC01	17.3; 29.2
sumatriptan	N02CC01	7.1
suramin sodium	P01CX02	6.5.5.1
suxamethonium	M03AB01	20
tacrolimus	L04AD02	8.1
tamoxifen	L02BA01	8.2.4
telmisartan + amlodipine	C09DB04	12.3
telmisartan + hydrochlorothiazide	C09DA07	12.3
tenofovir disoproxil fumarate	J05AF07	6.4.2.1; 6.4.4.1.1
terbinafine	D01AE15	13.1
testosterone	G03BA03	18.2
tetanus vaccine	J07AM01	19.3
tetracaine	S01HA03	21.3
tetracycline	S01AA09	21.1
thalidomide	L04AX02	8.2.3
thiamine	A11DA01	27
tick-borne encephalitis vaccine	J07BA01	19.3
timolol	S01ED01	21.4
tioguanine	L01BB03	8.2.1
tiotropium	R03BB04	25.1
tranexamic acid	B02AA02	10.2; 22.5
trastuzumab	L01FD01	8.2.2
triclabendazole	P02BX04	6.1.3
trimethoprim	J01EA01	6.2.1
tropicamide	S01FA06	14.1
tuberculin, purified protein derivative (PPD)	V04CF01	19.1
typhoid vaccine	J07AP	19.3
ulipristal	G03AD02	22.1.1
urea	D02AE01	13.4

Medicine or item as in EML	ATC code	Section
valganciclovir	J05AB14	6.4.3
valproic acid (sodium valproate)	N03AG01	5; 24.2.2
vancomycin	J01XA01 A07AA09	6.2.2
varenicline	N07BA03	24.5
varicella vaccines	J07BK	19.3
vecuronium	M03AC03	20
verapamil	C08DA01	12.1; 12.2
vinblastine	L01CA01	8.2.1
vincristine	L01CA02	8.2.1
vinorelbine	L01CA04	8.2.1
voriconazole	J02AC03	6.3
warfarin	B01AA03	10.2
water for Injection	V07AB	26.3
whole blood	B05A	11.1
xylometazoline	R01AA07	28
yellow fever vaccine	J07BL01	19.3
zidovudine	J05AF01	6.4.2.1
zinc sulfate	A12CB01	17.5.2
zoledronic acid	M05BA08	8.2.5

## SELECTED WHO PUBLICATIONS OF RELATED INTEREST

WHO Access, Watch, Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics for evaluation and monitoring of use (2021) WHO/MHP/HPS/EML/2021.04

Selection of essential medicines at country level. Using the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines to update a national essential medicines list (2019) ISBN 9789241515443

Keeping the 100-year-old promise: making insulin access universal (2021) ISBN 9789240039100

Technical report: pricing of cancer medicines and its impacts: a comprehensive technical report for the World Health Assembly Resolution 700.12: operative paragraph 2.9 on pricing approaches and their impacts on availability of medicines for the prevention and treatment of cancer (2018) ISBN 9789241515115

mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) – version 2.0 (2016) ISBN 978924154979

Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach (2021) ISBN 9789240031593

WHO Consolidated Guidelines on Tuberculosis, Module 4: Treatment - Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis Treatment (2020) ISBN 9789240007048

Guidelines on second- and third-line medicines and type of insulin for the control of blood glucose levels in non-pregnant adults with diabetes mellitus (2018) ISBN 9789241550284

WHO antenatal care recommendations for a positive pregnancy experience. Nutritional interventions update: multiple micronutrient supplements during pregnancy (2020) ISBN 9789240008120

> Further information on these and other WHO publications can be obtained from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland http://apps.who.int/bookorders e-mail: bookorders@who.int

This report presents the recommendations of the WHO Expert Committee responsible for updating the Who Model List of Essential Medicines and WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children. It contains a summary of the evidence presented and the Committee's consideration, justifications and recommendations for additions, deletions and changes to medicines on the Model Lists.

Annexes to the main report include the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 22nd list (2021), the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children – 8th list (2021), and the list of all essential medicines with Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification codes.

